# REPURPOSED DRUGS TARGETING CANCER SIGNALING PATHWAYS: CLINICAL INSIGHTS TO IMPROVE ONCOLOGIC THERAPIES

EDITED BY: Alma D. Campos-Parra, Carlos Pérez-Plasencia, Teresita Padilla-Benavides and Eduardo López-Urrutia PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Oncology





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-239-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-239-7

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

# REPURPOSED DRUGS TARGETING CANCER SIGNALING PATHWAYS: CLINICAL INSIGHTS TO IMPROVE ONCOLOGIC THERAPIES

Topic Editors:

Alma D. Campos-Parra, National Institute of Cancerology (INCAN), Mexico Carlos Pérez-Plasencia, National Institute of Cancerology (INCAN), Mexico Teresita Padilla-Benavides, Wesleyan University, United States Eduardo López-Urrutia, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

**Citation:** Campos-Parra, A. D., Pérez-Plasencia, C., Padilla-Benavides, T., López-Urrutia, E., eds. (2021). Repurposed Drugs Targeting Cancer Signaling Pathways: Clinical Insights to Improve Oncologic Therapies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-239-7

# Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Repurposed Drugs Targeting Cancer Signaling Pathways: Clinical Insights to Improve Oncologic Therapies Carlos Pérez-Plasencia, Teresita Padilla-Benavides, Eduardo López-Urrutia and Alma D. Campos-Parra
- 08 Epidrug Repurposing: Discovering New Faces of Old Acquaintances in Cancer Therapy

Michel Montalvo-Casimiro, Rodrigo González-Barrios, Marco Antonio Meraz-Rodriguez, Vasti Thamara Juárez-González, Cristian Arriaga-Canon and Luis A. Herrera

- **42** Glycosylated Nanoparticles for Cancer-Targeted Drug Delivery Sergio Andrés Torres-Pérez, Cindy Estefani Torres-Pérez, Martha Pedraza-Escalona, Sonia Mayra Pérez-Tapia and Eva Ramón-Gallegos
- 52 Repurposing Individualized Nutritional Intervention as a Therapeutic Component to Prevent the Adverse Effects of Radiotherapy in Patients With Cervical Cancer

Ana Karen Medina-Jiménez and Rebeca Monroy-Torres

- 66 Repurposing Cationic Amphiphilic Drugs and Derivatives to Engage Lysosomal Cell Death in Cancer Treatment Michelle Hu and Kermit L. Carraway
- 73 Strategies for Targeting Gene Therapy in Cancer Cells With Tumor-Specific Promoters

Mariela Montaño-Samaniego, Diana M. Bravo-Estupiñan, Oscar Méndez-Guerrero, Ernesto Alarcón-Hernández and Miguel Ibáñez-Hernández

- **91** *Repurposing of Drug Candidates for Treatment of Skin Cancer* Hernán Cortés, Octavio D. Reyes-Hernández, Sergio Alcalá-Alcalá, Sergio A. Bernal-Chávez, Isaac H. Caballero-Florán, Maykel González-Torres, Javad Sharifi-Rad, Manuel González-Del Carmen, Gabriela Figueroa-González and Gerardo Leyva-Gómez
- 99 Pathway-Based Drug-Repurposing Schemes in Cancer: The Role of Translational Bioinformatics

Enrique Hernández-Lemus and Mireya Martínez-García

- 114 CRISPR-dCas9-Based Artificial Transcription Factors to Improve Efficacy of Cancer Treatment With Drug Repurposing: Proposal for Future Research Alejandro Martinez-Escobar, Benjamín Luna-Callejas and Eva Ramón-Gallegos
- **121** *Mifepristone Repurposing in Treatment of High-Grade Gliomas* Monserrat Llaguno-Munive, Maria Ines Vazquez-Lopez, Rafael Jurado and Patricia Garcia-Lopez
- 129 Overcoming Glucocorticoid Resistance in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Repurposed Drugs Can Improve the Protocol Miguel Olivas-Aguirre, Liliana Torres-López, Igor Pottosin and Oxana Dobrovinskaya





# Editorial: Repurposed Drugs Targeting Cancer Signaling Pathways: Clinical Insights to Improve Oncologic Therapies

Carlos Pérez-Plasencia<sup>1,2</sup>, Teresita Padilla-Benavides<sup>3</sup>, Eduardo López-Urrutia<sup>1</sup> and Alma D. Campos-Parra<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratorio de Genómica Funcional, Unidad de Biomedicina, Facultad de Estudios Superiores Iztacala, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Tlalnepantla, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Laboratorio de Genómica, Instituto Nacional de Cancerología (INCan), Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>3</sup> Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemistry, Wesleyan University, Middletown, CT, United States

# OPEN ACCESS Keywords: repurposed drugs, cancer, oncologic therapies, cancer research, clinical insights

#### Edited and reviewed by:

Daniel Christian Hoessli, University of Karachi, Pakistan

\*Correspondence: Alma D. Campos-Parra adcamposparra@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 21 May 2021 Accepted: 07 June 2021 Published: 23 June 2021

#### Citation:

Pérez-Plasencia C, Padilla-Benavides T, López-Urrutia E and Campos-Parra AD (2021) Editorial: Repurposed Drugs Targeting Cancer Signaling Pathways: Clinical Insights to Improve Oncologic Therapies. Front. Oncol. 11:713040. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.713040 Editorial on the Research Topic

# Repurposed Drugs Targeting Cancer Signaling Pathways: Clinical Insights to Improve Oncologic Therapies

The analyses of drug development from different standpoints show how resource-intensive this process is, with two main disadvantages: time and cost. It takes 11 to 14 years to develop a pharmaceutical product, with a financial cost currently estimated around 161-1,800 million dollars (1). Bypassing these limitations has made drug repositioning one of the most burgeoning areas in pharmacology over the past decade. Drug repositioning finds new applications of existing drugs by testing them against diseases unrelated to their initial use; so, the availability of complete data on pharmacology, formulation, safety, and adverse effects reduces development time and cost. However, it also has disadvantages: managing patents, intellectual property, investment, market demand, and even production technology (2). Regardless, drug repositioning poses a fascinating challenge with the potential to improve human health, in particular for the treatment of various types of cancer, but also a complex challenge in the legal and regulatory fields (3).

Drug repurposing has captivated the cancer research community due to the increasing demand for new anticancer drugs. Although there are several treatments, such as chemotherapy and targeted therapies, cancer is characterized by the eventual development of resistance or lack of response to these drugs and medications, making the design of new drugs against cancer a flourishing area of study. In this regard, drug repositioning is an attractive research area that has gained tremendous popularity. Oncology has taken advantage of existing, well-characterized, widely-used, non-cancer drugs and successfully tested them as anticancer agents (4–6). To get an overall picture, we searched the Medline (pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and ClinicalTrials.gov (clinicaltrials.gov) databases for

4

reports indexed under "cancer" and "drug repositioning". We found an evident increase the number of studies and clinical trials focused on drug repurposing in cancer since 2010 in both databases (Figure 1 and Supplementary File 1). Thus, we confirm that this strategy has yielded enriched oncology's vision for treatment of cancer patients. Use of drugs approved for diabetes and hypertension, such as metformin and statins, for cancer clearly exemplifies this. Statins improved the survival in lymphoma patients (4). Metformin improved survival in type 2 diabetic patients with ovarian cancer (5). Also, beneficial anticancer effects or metformin has been shown in breast cancer patients (6). On the other hand, hydralazine, which is a typical antihypertensive drug, is employed in metastatic cervical and ovary cancer phase III clinical trial (NCT00532818 and NCT00533299, respectively). Likewise, is employed in phase II clinical trial that including breast cancer patients (NCT00395655) and in solid tumors to overcome chemotherapy resistance (NCT00404508). However, the dark side of non-oncological drugs, i.e., without single-agent activity in cancer, carries therapeutic failure risk. For instance, in preclinical studies of chloroquine, a drug originally intended to prevent or treat malarial infections, as anticancer drug have shown positive therapeutic effect; nevertheless, parameters, doses, animal models and tumor types differ strongly between studies, complicating the interpretation of the results and highlighting the need for further clinical investigations (7).

Despite the efforts made, further research is still required to advance interventional approaches as well as to accelerate the introduction of drug repositioning in the clinic, improving treatments for cancer patients. The topic is vast, and the scientific community is focused on repositioning drugs to expand and improve cancer treatment. We appreciate the interest of the researchers to participate in this topic, in which ten manuscripts were collected (one original research and nine reviews). The research presented in this topic provide valuable information and insights on novel therapeutic options for cancer with existing drugs, facilitating their use in clinical practice. A short description of these manuscripts follows. In their original research, Medina Jiménez and Monroy-Torres implemented an individualized nutritional intervention in cervical cancer patients treated simultaneously with radiotherapy. They reported the effect of personalized nutrition on the maintenance of muscle mass, weight, hemoglobin levels, and a decrease in gastrointestinal adverse effects, favoring the radiotherapy treatment outcome. Moreover, the authors suggested implementing an individualized nutritional intervention in cervical cancer patients treated with repurposing drugs to improve their efficacy and, therefore, the quality of life of oncology patients.

Martinez-Escobar et al., in their review, recommended the use of drug repurposing combined with CRISPR-dCas9-based artificial transcription factors (ATFs), as a viable alternative cancer treatment to reduce mortality. Strikingly, CRISPRdCas9-based ATFs can manipulate DNA and modify target genes, activate tumor suppressor genes, silence oncogenes and tumor resistance mechanisms for targeted therapy. In cancer research, it is imperative to identify new drug combinations that generate synergistic effects and thereby achieve more efficient therapies.

Another strategy to treat cancer is nanomedicine, which is based on glycosylated nanoparticles (NPs). NPs can carry both cancer-targeting molecules and drugs and deliver them precisely, avoiding the severe side effects derived from nonspecific drug delivery in standard chemotherapy treatments. They bind to receptors overexpressed by tumor cells, such as lectin receptors, glucose transporters (GLUT), and glycosylated immune receptors of programmed cell death. In this regard, Torres-Pérez et al. reviewed crucial nanomedicine innovations to discover more specific cancer receptors and new glycan-based ligands or repurposed drugs against these receptors as potential opportunities for cancer therapy, prevention, pathological imaging, and theranostics.

Regarding drug resistance, Hu and Carraway discussed the role of cationic amphiphilic drugs such as antidepressants, antibiotics, antiarrhythmics, and diuretics to be repurposed to trigger lysosomal cell death (LCD) and lysosomal membrane



permeabilization (LMP) within therapy-resistant tumor cell populations in their review.

Repositioning molecular strategies to fight cancer are also being studied. Montaño-Samaniego et al. reviewed gene therapy targeted toward cancer- and tumor-specific promoters. The authors focused on cancer suppressors and suicide genes by employing diverse experimental strategies, such as prevention of tumor angiogenesis, gene silencing, and gene-editing technology. The authors concluded that emerging novel recombinant DNA technologies and gene therapies respond to the need for new treatments in cancer. Nevertheless, further studies are needed to analyze its use in combination with other therapies in clinical practice.

Montalvo-Casimiro et al. summarized the use of epidrugs, which are novel epigenetic regulators that present new therapeutic candidates against cancer. The development of epidrugs, such as 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine), Hydralazine, Vorinostat (SAHA), and Valproic acid, are proposed to enhance epigenetic therapy in cancer contributing to the development of precision medicine.

Recent advances in the application of computational molecular biology and bioinformatic approaches were discussed by Hernández-Lemus and Martinez-García. In their review, the authors emphasize the importance of the use of both high-throughput-omics data analyses and mining of extensive, well-annotated databases, which should be supplemented with experimental data and clinical validation. These interdisciplinary approaches represent a comprehensive methodology to combat some of the challenges during anticancer drug repurposing.

Cortés et al. centered their review on discussing the advantages of the knowledge of the cellular and molecular mechanisms of skin cancer, which have provided essential information for drug repurposing for this disease. The authors emphasize that the evidence from ongoing clinical trials in this regard is limited. Therefore, the authors invite researchers to expand on this topic and comment that the addition of nanoformulations could improve the efficacy of drugs to treat cancer; thus, this approach will allow repurposing known drugs to treat skin cancer.

On the other hand, Llaguno-Munive et al. provide a comprehensive review on glioma, the most common and aggressive primary tumor of the central nervous system. The authors discussed the repositioning of mifepristone, an antiprogestin, as an adjuvant drug to treat high-grade gliomas. Indeed, its effectiveness against cancer is already being analyzed

# REFERENCES

- Bertolini F, Sukhatme VP, Bouche G. Drug Repurposing in Oncology–Patient and Health Systems Opportunities. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2015) 12:732–42. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.169
- Pushpakom S, Iorio F, Eyers PA, Escott KJ, Hopper S, Wells A, et al. Drug Repurposing: Progress, Challenges and Recommendations. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2019) 18:41–58. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.168
- Breckenridge A, Jacob R. Overcoming the Legal and Regulatory Barriers to Drug Repurposing. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2019) 18:1–2. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.92
- Smyth L, Blunt DN, Gatov E, Nagamuthu C, Croxford R, Mozessohn L, et al. Statin and Cyclooxygenase-2 Inhibitors Improve Survival in Newly

in clinical trials. Also, the authors summarized previous findings that reported a synergistic action when mifepristone is combined with cisplatin or temozolomide plus radiation in cancer. Mifepristone is a repositioned drug that promises improved therapeutic efficiency and more prolonged patient survival.

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is known to present resistance to conventional treatment and glucocorticoids (GC). In their work, Olivas-Aguirre et al. reviewed the pharmacological strategies that reverse GC resistance. Among them, the repositioned drugs tigecycline, cannabidiol, tamoxifen, and some anthelmintics showed promising results. The authors proposed that these medications should be considered for inclusion in chemotherapeutic protocols to treat GCresistant ALL.

Although establishing repositioned drugs appears to be a rapid strategy, several studies are undeniably required before their use in clinical practice, albeit with less time and financial resources. This topic showed that a broad range of therapeutic strategies, which span from bioinformatics analyses to cuttingedge molecular technologies, such as liposomes and CRISPR-Cas9, constitute powerful tools that are currently used in the clinic to assess the success of repositioned drugs in supplementing conventional cancer therapies.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AC-P conceived the topic. AC-P and CP-P wrote the original draft of this editorial. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all the colleagues who contributed to the present Research Topic.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2021.713040/full#supplementary-material

Diagnosed Diffuse Large B-cell Lymphoma: A Large Population-Based Study of 4913 Subjects. *Br J Haematol* (2020) 191:396–404. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16635

- Wang S-B, Lei K-J, Liu J-P, Jia Y-M. Continuous Use of Metformin can Improve Survival in Type 2 Diabetic Patients With Ovarian Cancer: A Retrospective Study. *Med (Baltimore)* (2017) 96:e7605. doi: 10.1097/ MD.000000000007605
- Dowling RJO, Niraula S, Chang MC, Done SJ, Ennis M, McCready DR, et al. Changes in Insulin Receptor Signaling Underlie Neoadjuvant Metformin Administration in Breast Cancer: A Prospective Window of Opportunity Neoadjuvant Study. *Breast Cancer Res BCR* (2015) 17:32. doi: 10.1186/ s13058-015-0540-0

 Verbaanderd C, Maes H, Schaaf MB, Sukhatme VP, Pantziarka P, Sukhatme V, et al. Repurposing Drugs in Oncology (ReDO)-chloroquine and Hydroxychloroquine as Anti-Cancer Agents. *Ecancermedicalscience* (2017) 11:781. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2017.781

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Pérez-Plasencia, Padilla-Benavides, López-Urrutia and Campos-Parra. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Epidrug Repurposing: Discovering New Faces of Old Acquaintances in Cancer Therapy**

Michel Montalvo-Casimiro<sup>1†</sup>, Rodrigo González-Barrios<sup>1†</sup>, Marco Antonio Meraz-Rodriguez<sup>1†</sup>, Vasti Thamara Juárez-González<sup>2</sup>, Cristian Arriaga-Canon<sup>1</sup> and Luis A. Herrera<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Unidad de Investigación Biomédica en Cáncer, Instituto Nacional de Cancerología-Instituto de Investigaciones Biomédicas, UNAM, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Departamento de Bioquímica, Facultad de Química, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>3</sup> Instituto Nacional de Medicina Genómica, Mexico City, Mexico

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Teresita Padilla-Benavides, Wesleyan University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Shameer Khader, AstraZeneca, United States Francisco Cuellar-Perez, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Luis A. Herrera metil@hotmail.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 12 September 2020 Accepted: 15 October 2020 Published: 18 November 2020

#### Citation:

Montalvo-Casimiro M, González-Barrios R, Meraz-Rodriguez MA, Juárez-González VT, Arriaga-Canon C and Herrera LA (2020) Epidrug Repurposing: Discovering New Faces of Old Acquaintances in Cancer Therapy. Front. Oncol. 10:605386. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.605386 Gene mutations are strongly associated with tumor progression and are well known in cancer development. However, recently discovered epigenetic alterations have shown the potential to greatly influence tumoral response to therapy regimens. Such epigenetic alterations have proven to be dynamic, and thus could be restored. Due to their reversible nature, the promising opportunity to improve chemotherapy response using epigenetic therapy has arisen. Beyond helping to understand the biology of the disease, the use of modern clinical epigenetics is being incorporated into the management of the cancer patient. Potential epidrug candidates can be found through a process known as drug repositioning or repurposing, a promising strategy for the discovery of novel potential targets in already approved drugs. At present, novel epidrug candidates have been identified in preclinical studies and some others are currently being tested in clinical trials, ready to be repositioned. This epidrug repurposing could circumvent the classic paradigm where the main focus is the development of agents with one indication only, while giving patients lower cost therapies and a novel precision medical approach to optimize treatment efficacy and reduce toxicity. This review focuses on the main approved epidrugs, and their druggable targets, that are currently being used in cancer therapy. Also, we highlight the importance of epidrug repurposing by the rediscovery of known chemical entities that may enhance epigenetic therapy in cancer, contributing to the development of precision medicine in oncology.

Keywords: epidrugs, drug repurposing, cancer therapy, cancer, epigenetic inhibitors, epigenetics

# INTRODUCTION

Since the turn of the century, epigenetics has become an important research area in human diseases study, where genetic mutations have been classically understood as the main cause in the development of human pathologies (1). The term epigenetics involves a wide variety of mechanisms that cells use to regulate the transcription of their DNA without changing its

8

genetic material (2). Whether an epigenetic modification has a facilitating or inhibiting role in the gene expression depends on the chemical nature of the mark that is placed over the chromatin, and the type of modification that is set down on the proximal environment of these genes (3). Thus, epigenetics shapes a regulatory complex that bridges the gap between genetic sequences and actionable mutations. Due to current knowledge about these epigenetic mechanisms, the importance of this regulatory system has become more evident and it has led to the understanding that epigenetic alterations are some of the main mechanisms underlying many human diseases such as cancer, which arises through aberrant genetic and epigenetic alterations, both of which have a key role in malignant transformation, tumor progression and prognosis (4).

Nowadays, it is known that as cancer progresses, there are genetic aberrations that make tumors highly prone to developing resistance to therapies (5). Emerging data on cancer-associated epigenetic alterations have shown that epigenetic modifications leading to drug resistance may be the cue for individual variation in chemotherapy response, having the potential to be reversible using epigenetic therapy (6). The possibility to reprogram the cancer epigenome is becoming a promising target therapy for both, treatment development and reversibility of drug resistance. Which focuses on the development of pharmacological compounds that can reprogram the epigenetic landscape to enhance chemotherapy response (7).

For a few years, the design of therapeutic strategies has been a growing field of query for single-target epigenetic drugs (epidrugs); however, the traditional epidrug discovery pathway is time-consuming and expensive (8, 9). Hence, a promising strategy for epidrug development is based on tracing novel potential epi-targets in previously approved drugs through a process called drug repositioning or repurposing (10, 11). Epidrug repurposing allows exploring a wide diversity of molecular combinations in multifactorial diseases such as cancer, where combinational epigenetic therapies are likely to be more effective than monotherapy to overcome chemotherapy resistance (9). This review focuses on the emerging area of epidrug repurposing, highlighting strategies to enhance cancer therapy. To further understand this, we will discuss the main mechanisms and elements involved in epigenetic alterations in cancer and its relevance in cancer therapy response.

# **Background in Epigenetics**

Epigenetics is the term coined by Conrad Hal Waddington seventy-six years ago, to refer to the molecular mechanisms that may exert their influence on gene expression that do not involve alterations in its gene code. Through these, an organism can develop and adapt its phenotype to environmental changes (12). Over time, many definitions of Epigenetics have arisen (13); however, we can understand epigenetics as reversible chemical modifications of DNA and histone proteins (epimarks) that regulate specific functions in chromatin remodeling without altering the DNA sequence (14). Epimarks are associated with the transcription and function of a gene, that may change the cellular phenotype or its functional patterns in response to a particular context, across different developmental stages, cellular differentiation, or maintenance of tissue-specific cell lineages (15).

At the molecular level, epigenetic machinery is composed mainly of three interconnected components working synergistically in the chromatin organization levels, which include DNA methylation, histone post-translational modifications, and regulatory non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) (14, 16). In the nucleus, chromatin can exist in two physical and functional states: heterochromatin (condensed chromatin), which is associated with transcriptional repression; and euchromatin (relaxed chromatin), associated with transcriptional activation (17) (Figure 1). The organizational states of the chromatin are highly regulated by epigenetic mechanisms involving nucleosome, which is the basic packaging unit of chromatin, composed by an octamer of histone proteins (two dimers of H2A-H2B and a tetramer of H3-H4 histones) (Figure 1A), that constitutes a compact structure with 147 base pairs of DNA turned almost twice around it (17, 18). N-terminal tails of histone proteins can acquire post-translational modifications through multiple mechanisms including phosphorylation, ubiquitination, methylation/demethylation, and acetylation, the latter being the most studied. Histone and direct DNA modifications constitute "the epigenetic code": an interplay between epigenetic factors and positive and negative feedback mechanisms that regulate it (18). Therefore, understanding the main mechanisms in the field of epigenetic research and their role in disease development is essential in its application in cancer therapy.

# **DNA Methylation**

Methylation on DNA's cytosine is the most broadly studied epigenetic modification in humans. It encompasses a reaction defined as "the covalent transfer of a methyl group to the C-5 position of a cytosine ring of DNA" (15, 19). Generally, in mammals, DNA methylation occurs predominantly-but not exclusively-in the context of genomic regions called CpG islands, which are formed by clusters of CpG dinucleotides, and it's catalyzed by a group of enzymes called DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). These enzymes transfer a methyl group from the donor molecule S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to the fifth carbon of a cytosine residue to form 5-methylcytosine (5mC) (18, 19) (Figure 1B). This covalent modification is able to inhibit DNA transcription; either through the steric hindrance imposed by the methyl group which prevents transcription factors from binding DNA (18-20), or by the recruitment of proteins with methyl-CpG-binding domains (MBD). These proteins also contain domains able to recruit histonemodifying and chromatin-remodeling complexes to the methylated sites, forming repressor complexes that enhance the silencing state on that chromatin region (21). Three different DNMTs generate and maintain methylation patterns. DNMT1 is the methyltransferase enzyme specialized in the maintenance of previously placed methylation patterns, and DNMT3a & DNMT3b are instead involved in the establishment of de novo methylation patterns over DNA (18, 22, 23).

DNA methylation patterns occur in different regions of the genome. Alterations in these patterns lead to diseases (18). For



instance, gene promoters which are mainly embedded in CpG islands (70%) are normally unmethylated, thus allowing transcription. Aberrant hypermethylation patterns of these gene regulatory elements lead to transcriptional inactivation and are tumor-type specific as well as a common hallmark of cancer (9). Alternatively, during diseases, other alterations occur, like the demethylation of the gene body. Such alteration allows transcription to be initiated at several incorrect sites. In consequence, DNA hypomethylation at specific regions can activate the aberrant expression of genes, some of which could behave as proto-oncogenes (18). Finally, as aforementioned, alterations of hypermethylated patterns in repetitive sequences can promote the activation of transposable elements and chromosomal instability, both phenomena being also correlated with carcinogenesis and metastasis (6).

However, the reactions that lead to altered patterns of DNA methylation can potentially be reversible and restored through DNMT inhibitors (DNMTi: see below) that contain nucleoside derivatives and non-nucleoside analogs, some of them have been highly researched and shown promise in cancer therapies (24).

# **Histone Post-Translational Modifications**

Another axis of the epigenetic machinery, closely associated with DNA methylation, are the covalent post-translational modifications of nucleosomal histones. Through the addition of chemical groups at specific sites within the amino- or carboxyterminus of each histone, different functional consequences influencing chromosome structure can be elicited. Chromatin is functionally divided into actively transcribed euchromatin and transcriptionally inactive heterochromatin, which finally regulates the accessibility to genomic DNA and has a role in the control of gene expression (18, 25). The principal histone proteins modifications include methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, sumoylation, and ribosylation, from which methylation and acetylation are the most common and characterized, and generally occur in the proximity of promoter and enhancer genomic regions (26). Each histone residue can undergo one or more modifications, which have different effects depending on which residue is modified, giving rise to crosstalk between the different marks, constituting "the histone code" altogether (18).

Multiple enzymes catalyze histone post-translational modifications with specific catalytic activity based on each histone tail's amino acids that can act as their substrates. Most of these modifications are reversible. There are specialized enzymes that can remove each type of covalent modification. Histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and deacetylases (HDACs) control acetylation, as well as histone methyltransferases (HMTs) and demethylases (HDMs) coordinate histone methylation. Acetylation and deacetylation of histones are among the most studied reversible, followed by methylation and demethylation of histone lysines (17, 27).

Due to the importance of histone epimarks in gene regulation and cellular function, aberrant histone post-translational modifications may change gene expression patterns and cause human pathologies (6). Thus, it is of great importance to understand the reversible nature of these marks as an advantageous alternative for the treatment of diseases where epigenome deregulation is one of the hallmarks.

# Histone Acetylation and Deacetylation

Histone acetylation has a key role in many biological processes (cell cycle regulation, alternative splicing, nuclear transport, among others) (28). It can promote relaxed states of the chromatin (euchromatin) and favor gene transcription, while deacetylation exerts the opposite effect, generating heterochromatin domains that can inhibit transcription (2). Two families of enzymes with reverse functions control the feedback regulation between acetylation/deacetylation of histones: histones acetyltransferases (HATs or KATs) and histones deacetylases (HDACs) (2). HATs catalyze the transfer of acetyl groups to lysine-amino-terminal residues using acetyl-CoA as a donor; this reaction neutralizes the positive charge of the Lys (17, 29) (Figure 1C). As a result, the interaction between the histone and the DNA is weakened, forming an opening domain in chromatin, leading to exposure of DNA sequences and their transcription (2, 28). HATs are divided in three families based on their catalytic domain's functional and structural identity, which bears the acetyltransferase activity for the recognition of acetyl-lysine residues (17). Several HATs associate with other protein complexes and subunits to selectively modify the different histones; however, p300/CBP is probably the most extensively studied HAT, since it is capable of acetylating all four histones along with many other coactivator or corepressor transcriptional complexes (30).

In contrast, HDACs remove acetyl groups from lysine residues through different reactions that reestablish the positive charges on histone tails, increasing its interaction with DNA and stabilizing the chromatin in place (2, 28) (**Figure 1C**). The histone deacetylase family includes 18 members (31), divided into two groups based on their enzymatic activity:  $Zn^{2+}$ -dependent enzymes, which include classes I, II, and IV HDACs, exert their function through hydrolytic catalysis; and NAD+ cofactor-dependent enzymes, that include class III sirtuins (SIRTs), with a catalytic mechanism of nucleophilic substitution for histone deacetylation (28).

Both HATs and HDACs play a key role in the maintenance and regulation of chromatin accessibility, leading gene expression regulation, among other mechanisms. Histone acetylation global imbalance is one of the prominent alterations in the diseased state and a hallmark of many tumor types, where HDACs have been found overexpressed (32) or mutated (33). Additionally, abnormal genomic events such as translocations, mutations, or deletions in HAT- and acetylation readers-related genes may occur during cancer development (18). As a result, aberrant acetylation-related proteins contribute to the progression of the disease. For instance, germline mutations and overexpression of HDACs have been observed in various cancers, resulting in a global loss of histone acetylation and the consequent silencing of tumor suppressor genes (34). Also, it has been observed that reduced lysine 16 acetylation (H4K16ac), as well as the loss of acetylation of histone 3 (H3ac) are also hallmarks of human cancer (35, 36). Furthermore, HATs and HDACs are targeted to transcriptionally-active genes by phosphorylated RNA polymerase II through the recruitment of effector proteins with specialized reader domains (18), suggesting that the mechanistic switch between acetylation/deacetylation can be manipulated and restored by specific drugs inhibiting key enzymes by targeting their catalytic reaction (HATi and HDACi; see below).

# **Histone Methylation and Demethylation**

Histone methylation occurs on arginine (R) and lysine (K) residues, and it is catalyzed by HMTs (or KMTs and RMTs) that use S-adenosyl-l-methionine (SAM) as a methyl donor group (**Figure 1C**). Lysine methyltransferases are divided into two broad groups based on the presence or the absence of a SET domain (Su(var)3-9, Enhancer-of-zeste, and Trithorax): SET-domain containing methyltransferase family and DOT1-domain lysine N-methyltransferase (37, 38).

KMTs can transfer three methyl groups onto lysine residues, prompting mono, di, and, trimethylation (me1, me2 and, me3 respectively) (17) (Figure 1D). The association of an active or repressive transcriptional state depends on the number of methyl groups and in the position of the lysine residue in the histone amino acid sequence. A repressed chromatin state (heterochromatin, constitutive, or facultative), correlates with methylation of H3K9me2,3, H3K27me2,3, and H4K20me3, while methylation of H3K4me2,3, H3K9me1, H3K27me1, H3K20me1, and H3K36me1 are associated with transcriptionally active chromatin (euchromatin) (17, 39). Besides, histone methylation also has an important role in DNA repair, DNA replication, alternative splicing, and chromosome condensation (18). Histone demethylases HDMs (or KDMs) can revert these modifications (Figure 1D), divided into two different families with distinct enzymatic mechanisms: KDM1A/LSD1 amine oxidase family, dependent on flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) as a cofactor; and the KDM2A/B dioxygenase family, which contain a Jumonji C (JmjC) domain and are iron Fe (II) and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutaratedependent to accomplish histone demethylation through methyl groups oxidation (40). The readers of methylated lysine residues

consist of various proteins with specialized domains that can recognize these modifications (17).

Besides the global loss of acetylation and DNA hypomethylation, the deregulation of histone methylation/ demethylation can lead to chromosome instability (18). It has been suggested that the aberrant expression of both histone methyltransferases and demethylases genes is the main cause of an altered distribution of histone methylation marks. Deregulation of histone methylation patterns can become a driver for mutations in many types of tumors (15). For instance, cancer cells have a global loss of activation marks, such as H4K20me3; along with a gain of methylation in repressive marks, such as H3K9me and H3K27me, as well as the monomethylation of H3K4me (35, 36) which are associated with DNA hypermethylation of silenced genes. The basal patterns of histone methylation are essential for establishing a permissive euchromatic state, allowing the expression of tumor suppressor genes. Therefore, its alteration results in the repression of some of these genes and oncogene aberrant expression (18, 35). Instead, instability of the methylation/ demethylation mechanistic switch can promote proliferation and neoplastic transformation in several cancer types (41-43).

# Epigenetic Alterations in Cancer and Cancer Therapy

As mentioned before, the cancer epigenome is characterized by global changes in DNA methylation, disruptions in histone posttranslational modification patterns, and alterations of normal chromatin-modifying enzymes expression (18, 36) (**Figure 2**) [see review (44)]. Accordingly, these changes can promote the disruption of cellular homeostasis in precancerous

cells through the deregulation of genes implicated in cancer initiation and progression (4); for instance, those genes associated with apoptosis resistance, proliferation, invasive potential, and genomic instability, as well as genes correlated to therapeutic response (45, 46). Thus, the relationship between genetic disruptions and epigenetic abnormalities are mutually beneficial in order to drive cancer development and could be playing a key role in individual differences displayed by patients in the way they respond to therapies in both toxicity or treatment efficacy (15, 46, 47). Multiple studies demonstrate that reversing epigenetic patterns through *de novo* epidrugs and epidrug repurposing can resensitize cancer cells to chemotherapy (48–50).

# **Principles of Epigenetic Therapy**

Increasing understanding of epigenetic mechanisms and their importance in disease has led to the development of therapeutic interventions targeting epigenetic modulatory mechanisms. Due to the chemical reversibility nature of DNA methylation and histone posttranslational modifications, epigenetic proteins can be druggable targets by means of small-enzymatic inhibitors that aim for the restoration of the aberrant epigenetic machinery and hold the potential for reverting epigenetic signatures in cancer (14).

Epigenetic drugs (epidrugs) are chemical agents that modify the structure of DNA and chromatin, facilitating disruption of transcriptional and post-transcription changes, primarily by controlling the enzymes required for their establishment and maintenance, reactivating the tumor suppressor and DNA repair genes that are epigenetically silenced (51). Lately, epigenetic therapy has taken relevance in the field of oncology, where epidrugs have been successfully used in treatment, mostly in combination with standard chemotherapy (52).





Epidrugs (with one-target, as well as repurposed epidrugs; see below) that are designed based on these principles can exert direct cytotoxic effects over malignant cells (14, 46), function as sensitizers in complementary therapies (53, 54), or can be used to overcome epigenetically-acquired drug resistance against the limits of chemotherapy efficacy, as there are the dynamic associations between epigenetic pattern changes and resistance to therapeutic regimes for cancer (50, 52, 55). New epidrugs compounds are continually being tested for cytotoxicity, pharmacological parameters, and a better understanding of their mode of action; in both preclinical research (in vitro and in vivo) as well as in clinical trials. Epigenetics therapy is enhanced by a combination of laboratory and clinical data. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved many epigenetic treatments and used them for treating cancer (6).

# **Epidrug Generations**

Historically, molecules designed to inhibit the catalytic function of epigenetic factors have not only resulted in the reduction of the targeted enzymatic activity but also the appearance of indirect modifications of the transcription of large gene sets (56). Several epigenetic protein families have similar cofactors and co-substrates, similar epidrugs could target several epigenetic protein families. Some compounds can inhibit the functionality of a whole family of epigenetic proteins (**Table 1**).

The quest for finding epigenetic inhibitors led to the **first generation of epidrugs**, characterized by a meager degree of selectivity (57). Epidrugs of the first generation include DNMTi and HDACi, some of which have already been approved to treat hematological malignancies (58). DNMTi are pyrimidine analogs incorporated into DNA during replication and form covalent DNA adducts that cause DNA damage response activation and eventually lead to apoptosis. This was not without cytotoxic implications (3, 59). On the other hand, first generation HDACi are molecules that inhibit the  $Zn^{2+}$  dependent HDAC enzymes, except for sirtuin inhibitors, which inhibit a specific class of histone deacetylases that depend on NAD+ to perform their catalytic activity (59).

First-generation inhibitors represented many undesirable pharmacokinetic properties and poor target selectivity, resulting in the need for the creation of **second-generation epidrugs**, which included DNMTi (such as zebularine and guadecitabine), and HDACi (including hydroxamic acid, belinostat and panobinostat, tucidinostat and valproic acid) with improved physiological properties (59).

The second generation of epidrugs was characterized by strong academic research accompanied by industrial drug discovery to find molecules that resembled first generation epidrugs. The hypothesis was that molecules with more potent inhibitor action and fewer side-effects could be found. Another thing to consider was pharmacokinetics: first generation epidrugs had poor bioavailability, were more active within non pH physiological ranges, and were targets of cellular deaminases, which ultimately meant a short half-life for these compounds.

Ultimately, the **third generation of epidrugs** reflected that epigenetic factors could write, delete, or read epigenetic marks in

the form of protein complexes. Therefore, a deeper understanding of epigenetic protein's interactome is essential for the design of highly selective epidrugs (57). Epi-drugs of third generation includes, among others, histone methyltransferase inhibitors (HMTi), histone demethylase inhibitors (HDMi), and bromodomain and extra-terminal domain inhibitors (BETi) (59).

# **DNMT** Inhibitors

DNA methylation inhibitors intercalate between DNA base pairs and suppress the CpG dinucleotide's methylation, especially important at CpG islands. These inhibitors can be classified as DNMTi nucleoside analogs and non-nucleoside analogs (60) (**Figure 3**). DNMTi cytidine analogs are usually chemically unstable, and because of their similarity to cytidine, DNA and RNA polymerases identify both compounds and add them into growing nucleic acid chains, therefore hampering their selectivity (61).

Since the first DNMTi discovery (azacytidine), the number of inhibitors of DNMT has increased exponentially. The CHEMBL database reports 841 compounds tested for DNMT1 inhibition (CHEMBL1993), 258 compounds for DNMT3A (CHEMBL1992), and 80 compounds for DNMT3B (CHEMBL6095) (62) (**Table 1**, DNMTi section).

Among azacytidine derivatives, 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine gained importance in the clinic, commonly known as "Decitabine". Decitabine contains DNA sugar deoxyribose and is only integrated into DNA, while azacytidine allows for both RNA and DNA incorporation (14). Of note, Azacitidine and decitabine have both the same action mechanism. They both behave as a suicide substrate, trapping DNMTs after metabolic conversion and incorporation into DNA (3).

Guadecitabine is a hypomethylating agent of the second generation whose active metabolite is decitabine. Guadecitabine holds an amazing property: it is not a cytidine deaminase substrate, thus improving its selectivity. This drug has shown promise in treatments and recently tested in a Phase II clinical trial for treating non-intensive chemotherapy candidates with AML (63).

In 2004, azacytidine became the first medication approved by the FDA for all stages of myelodysplastic syndrome, a bone marrow disorder with a high risk of AML progression, characterized by irregular blood cell development, followed by decitabine in 2006 (64). These two drugs are currently used as first-line MDS therapy when other therapies are insufficient (14) (**Table 2**, DNMTi section).

As mentioned before, DNMTs have two substrates, the methyl group donor cofactor SAM and the methylated cytosine. Non-nucleoside DNMTi includes analogs of the methyl donor S-adenosyl-L-methionine (SAM) and small molecules that interact with the active site of the enzyme DNMT (**Figure 3**). Indeed, it is possible to obtain potent DNMT inhibitors by designing substrate analogs and connecting them (65). This strategy has resulted in the most effective way to inhibit DNMTs and reactivate genes in cancer cells by promoting demethylation (60). Many forms of these derivatives have shown remarkable results in many models of cancer and other human diseases. These include hydralazine,

#### TABLE 1 | Current inhibition assays performed for different epigenetic factors.

Type of	inhibitor	Epigenetic Factor	Acronym	CHEMBL ID	Inhibitor molecules
DNMTi		DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase 1	DNMT1	CHEMBL1993	841
		DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase 3A	<b>DNMT3A</b>	CHEMBL1992	258
		DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase 3B	DNMT3B	CHEMBL6095	80
IDACi	HDACi (Zn dependent)	Histone deacetylase 1	HDAC1	CHEMBL325	6434
		Histone deacetylase 6	HDAC6	CHEMBL1865	4701
		Histone deacetylase 8	HDAC8	CHEMBL3192	2420
		Histone deacetylase 3	HDAC3	CHEMBL1829	2043
		Histone deacetylase 2	HDAC2	CHEMBL1937	2003
		Historie deacetylase 4	HDAC4	CHEMBL3524	1279
		Historie deacetylase 7	HDAC7	CHEMBL2716	521
		Historie deacetylase 1	HDAC11	CHEMBL3310	503
		Historie deacetylase 5	HDAC5	CHEMBL2563	460
		Histone deacetylase 3 Histone deacetylase 10	HDAC10	CHEMBL5103	400 419
					348
		Histone deacetylase 9	HDAC9	CHEMBL4145	
	SIRTi (NAD+ dependent)	NAD-dependent deacetylase sirtuin 1	SIRT 1	CHEMBL4506	2073
		NAD-dependent deacetylase sirtuin 2	SIRT 2	CHEMBL4462	2839
		NAD-dependent deacetylase sirtuin 3	SIRT 3	CHEMBL4461	634
		NAD-dependent deacetylase sirtuin 5	SIRT 5	CHEMBL2163183	250
		NAD-dependent deacetylase sirtuin 6	SIRT 6	CHEMBL2163182	221
		NAD-dependent deacetylase sirtuin 7	SIRT 7	CHEMBL2163184	10
MTi	КМТі	Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase, H3 lysine-9 specific 5	KMT1D	CHEMBL6031	238
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase, H3 lysine-9 specific 3	G9A	CHEMBL6032	92523
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase MLL	MLL1	CHEMBL1293299	17219
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase EZH2	EZH2	CHEMBL2189110	1243
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase, H3 lysine-79 specific	DOT1L	CHEMBL1795117	344
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETD7	SETD7	CHEMBL5523	204
		Histone-lysine N-lysine methyltransferase SETD8	SETD8	CHEMBL1795176	98
		Historie lysine N-lysine methyltransferase SMYD2	SMYD2	CHEMBL2169716	84
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SMYD3	SMYD3	CHEMBL2321643	54
					84
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SUV39H1	SMYD2 EZH1	CHEMBL2169716	
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase EZH1		CHEMBL2189116	32
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SUV39H2	SUV39H2	CHEMBL1795177	21
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase NSD2	NSD2	CHEMBL3108645	20
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETDB1	SETDB1	CHEMBL2321646	14
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SUV420H2		CHEMBL2321644	12
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETD2 Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase, H3 lysine-36 and H4 lysine-20	SETD2 NSD1	CHEMBL3108647 CHEMBL3588738	11 10
		specific Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase PRDM9	PRDM9	CHEMBL3588737	10
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SUV420H1	SUV420H1	CHEMBL2321645	9
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase MLL3	MLL3	CHEMBL2189113	7
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase NSD3	NSD3	CHEMBL3108646	7
			ASH1L	CHEMBL3588739	6
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase ASH1L			3
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETMAR	SETMAR	CHEMBL2189111	
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase MLL2	MLL2	CHEMBL2189114	2
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase MLL4	MLL4	CHEMBL2189112	2
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETD1B	SET1B	CHEMBL4105837	1
		Histone-lysine N-methyltransferase SETD1A	SETD1A	CHEMBL4105954	1
	RMTi	Histone-arginine methyltransferase CARM1	CARM1	CHEMBL5406	201
		Protein-arginine N-methyltransferase 1	PRMT1	CHEMBL5524	528
		Protein arginine N-methyltransferase 6	PRMT6	CHEMBL1275221	139
		Protein arginine N-methyltransferase 3	PRMT3	CHEMBL5891	138
		Protein arginine N-methyltransferase 5	PRMT5	CHEMBL1795116	91
		Protein arginine N-methyltransferase 7	PRMT7	CHEMBL3562175	25
DMi	JmjC	Probable JmjC domain-containing histone demethylation protein 2C	JHDM2C	CHEMBL3792271	1
		Histone lysine demethylase PHF8	PHF8	CHEMBL1938212	136
		Lysine-specific demethylase 2A	KDM2A	CHEMBL1938210	128
		Lysine-specific demethylase 2B	KDM2B	CHEMBL3779760	333
		Lysine-specific demethylase 3A	KDM3A	CHEMBL1938209	87
		Lysine-specific demethylase 38	KDM3B	CHEMBL3784906	9
		Lysine-specific demethylase 4A	KDM4A	CHEMBL5896	51948
		Lysine-specific demethylase 4B	KDM4B	CHEMBL3313832	73

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Туре о	f inhibitor	Epigenetic Factor	Acronym	CHEMBL ID	Inhibitor molecules
		Lysine-specific demethylase 4C	KDM4C	CHEMBL6175	878
		Lysine-specific demethylase 4D	KDM4D	CHEMBL6138	53
		Lysine-specific demethylase 4D-like	KDM4E	CHEMBL1293226	110
		Lysine-specific demethylase 5A	KDM5A	CHEMBL2424504	621
		Lysine-specific demethylase 5B	KDM5B	CHEMBL3774295	469
		Lysine-specific demethylase 5C	KDM5C	CHEMBL2163176	147
		Lysine-specific demethylase 6A	KDM6A	CHEMBL2069164	29
		Lysine-specific demethylase 6B	KDM6B	CHEMBL1938211	203
		Lysine-specific demethylase 7	KDM7A	CHEMBL2163177	35
	LSD	Lysine-specific histone demethylase 1	KDM1A	CHEMBL6136	1710
		Lysine-specific histone demethylase 1B	KDM1B	CHEMBL1938208	62
BETi	Bromo and Extra terminal	Bromodomain-containing protein 1	BRD1	CHEMBL2176774	121
	Domain	Bromodomain-containing protein 2	BRD2	CHEMBL1293289	570
		Bromodomain-containing protein 3	BRD3	CHEMBL1795186	474
		Bromodomain-containing protein 4	BRD4	CHEMBL1163125	4864
		Bromodomain testis-specific protein	BRDT	CHEMBL1795185	119



EGCG, RG108, MG98, and disulfiram (66–71) (**Table 2**, DNMTi section). MG98 is a second-generation phosphorothioate antisense oligodeoxynucleotide that inhibits translation effects of DNMT1 mRNA but has no apparent impact on tumors (72).

Despite preclinical evidence indicating a potentiating chemotherapy cytotoxic activity of HDAC inhibitors and DNMT inhibitors, clinical outcomes have been discouraging: three of the five main combination randomized trials were

#### TABLE 2 | Overview of epigenetic inhibitors currently in clinical trials for cancer therapies.

nhibitor	Mechanism of Action	Functional Molecule	Examples	CAS					Clinical Trials
		or Chemical Group			Ph	ase S	tudi	es	Conditions
					I	II	ш	IV	
ONMTi	Nucleoside analogs: Cytidine analogs incorporate into DNA instead of cytidine,	Cytidine	Azacytidine	320-67-2	272	350	58	7	MDS, CML, AML, glioma, prostate cancer, pancreatic cancer ovarian cancer, metastatic melanoma.
	covalently linking the enzyme and leading		Decitabine	2353-33-5	189	240	51	7	CML, AML, MDS, prostate cancer, thyroid cancer.
	to DNMT degradation		Guadecitabine	929901-49-5	15	23	3	0	AML, MDS, HCC, CMML, ovarian cancer, urothelial carcinor colorectal cancer, peritoneal cancer
			5-fluoro-2'-deoxycytidine	10356-76-0	3	1	0	0	AML, MDS, Head and Neck Neoplasms, Lung Neoplasms, Urinary Bladder Neoplasms, Breast Neoplasms
			4'-thio-2'-deoxycytidine	134111-30-1	2	0	0	0	Currently establishing the safety, tolerability, and MTD in patients with refractory solid tumors.
	Non-nucleoside inhibitors either block the	S-Adenosyl methionine	Sinefungin	58944-73-3	0	0	0	0	NA
	DNMTs enzyme catalytic site, interact with enzyme recognition of target sequences or	Hydrazine	Hydralazine	86-54-4	6	16	13	12	ovarian cancer, cervical cancer, refractory solid tumors, brea cancer.
	are SAM cofactor competitors.	Flavonoids (C6-C3-C6)	Epigallocatechin-3-gallate	989-51-5	18	44	14	3	Adenocarcinoma of the prostate, head and neck cancer, co cancer, pancreatic cancer, breast cancer, lung cancer, blade cancer, colorectal cancer, prostate cancer.
DACi	HDACi are molecules capable of Zinc trapping that bind to the zinc-containing catalytic domain of HDACs and supress their deacetylase enzymatic activity	Hydroxamic Acid	Vorinostat	149647-78-9	165	149	9	0	Rhabdomyosarcoma, Leiomyosarcoma, Lymphoma, melanoma, Lung carcinoma, lung cancer, head and neck cancer, leukemia, breast cancer, MDS, ovarian cancer, glioblastoma, pancreatic cancer, breast cancer.
			Trichostatin A	58880-19-6	1	0	0	0	Relapsed or Refractory Hematologic Malignancies
			Belinostat	866323-14-0	32	25	0	0	MDS, Non-Hodgkin lymphona, mantle cell lymphoma, diffus large B-cell lymphoma, breast cancer, ovarian cancer, lung cancer, glioblastoma, AML, ATLL, bladder cancer, liver can
			Panobinostat	404950-80-7	87	78	7	1	AML, MDS, lung cancer, gliosarcoma, prostate cancer, mul myeloma, CMML, breast cancer, pancreatic cancer.
			dacinostat	404951-53-7	0	0	0	0	NA
			givinostat	497833-27-9	5	15	2	0	chronic lymphocytic leukemia, multiple myeloma, hodgkin's lymphoma.
		Benzamides	Entinostat	209783-80-2	40	37	2	0	breast cancer, prostate adenocarcinoma, renal cell carcinor lymphoma, MDS, melanoma, lung cancer, AML, colorectal cancer, pancreatic cancer
			mocetinostat	726169-73-9	14	15	0	0	urothelial carcinoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, Head and Neck cancer, MDS, lung cancer, melanoma.
		Thiols	Romidepsin	128517-07-7	55	57	5	0	T cell lymphoma, glioma, multiple myeloma, CTCL, leukemia astrocytoma, pancreatic cancer, lung cancer, thyroid cance prostate cancer, male breast cancer, renal cancer, bladder cancer.
		Carboxylic Acids	Valproic acid	1069-66-5	85	115	90	89	
			Butyric Acid	107-92-6	1	3	2	0	schyzofrenic disorders

(Continued)

# Frontiers in Oncology | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 2 | Continued

Mechanism of Action

**Functional Molecule** 

or Chemical Group

Examples

CAS

Inhibitor

		or Chemical Group			Ph	Phase Studies		es	Conditions
					Ι	П	III	IV	
			Phenylbutiric Acid	1821-12-1	20	30	З	2	colon cancer, leukemia, gastric cancer, MDS.
			Pivanex	122110-53-6	1	3	0	0	melanoma, lung cancer, leukemia.
	SIRTi are small molecules, many of them	NAD+	Nicotin	54-11-5	0	0	0	0	NA
	recently discovered by cell-based	beta-naphtol	sirtinol	410536-97-9	0	0	0	0	NA
	screening assays, with multiple inhibition		splitomicin	1384339	0	0	0	0	NA
	mechanisms including reactivity with		salermide	1105698-15-4	0	0	0	0	NA
	chemical intermediates, non-competitive		cambinol	14513-15-6	0	0	0	0	NA
	inhibition with substrate and uncompetitive	indole	EX-527	49843-98-3	0	1	0	0	Endometriosis
	inhibition with NAD+.		oxyndole	59-48-3	0	0	0	0	NA
		urea	suramin	129-46-4	8	12	3	0	lung cancer, breast cancer, adrenocortical carcinoma, renal cancer, prostate cancer, bladder cancer, multiple myeloma, head and neck cancer.
		thiourea	tenovin	380315-80-0	0	0	0	0	NA
MTi	HKMTi are SAM like molecules and	S-Adenosyl methionine	Sinefungin	58944-73-3	0	0	0	0	NA
	molecules that directly inhibits the enzyme		EPZ004777	1338466-77-5	0	0	0	0	NA
	S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine hydrolase or		EPZ-5676	1380288-87-8	4	2	0	0	AML, MDS, leukemia
	interact with the cofactor binding pocket		EPZ004777	1338466-77-5	0	0	0	0	NA
	of KMTs		Valemetostat	1809336-39-7	1	1	0	0	leukemia, lymphoma, prostate cancer, renal cancer.
			tazemetostat	1403254-99-8	11	10	2	0	B cell lymphoma, prostate cancer, mesothelioma, Non Hod lymphoma, tissue sarcoma, Bladder cancer, sinonasal carcinoma, follicular lymphoma.
	Most HRMT inhibitors are molecules which	S-Adenosyl methionine	GSK3326595	1616392-22-3	2	0	0	0	neoplasms
	occupy and inhibit the SAM pocket, the substrate pocket, or both.								
DMi	HDM inhbitors are molecules that inhibit	Arylalkylamines	Phenelzine	51-71-8	4	2	0	0	breast cancer, prostate cancer.
	monomine oxidases family of enzymes or		Tranylcypromine	155-09-9	6	3	1	3	AML, MDS
	that are substrate mimics (lysine analogs).		Pargyline	306-07-0	0	0	0	0	NA
		Lysine analogs	propylhydrazine	5039-61-2	0	0	0	0	NA
	JmjC inhibitors are derivates of 20G,	2-oxoglutarate	N-oxalylglicine	5262-39-5	0	0	0	0	NA
	hydroxamic acids, catechols and	Hydroxamic Acid	Methylstat	1310877-95-2	0	0	0	0	NA
	flavonoids.	Catechols	Hematoxylin	517-28-2	0	0	0	0	NA
			Caffeic acid	331-39-5	3	1	З	1	esophagus cancer
		Flavonoids (C6-C3-C6)	Myricetin	529-44-2	0	0	0	0	NA
			Baicalein	491-67-8	0	2	0	0	Influenza
			Epigallocatechin-3-gallate	989-51-5	18	44	14	3	Adenocarcinoma of the prostate, head and neck cancer, co cancer, pancreatic cancer, breast cancer, lung cancer, blad
ст;	RET inhibitors are derivated of	Thiopotriozolodiozonia	101	1060504 70 4	0	0	0	0	cancer, colorectal cancer, prostate cancer.
ETi	BET inhibitors are derivates of	Thienotriazolodiazepines	JQ1 CPI-203	1268524-70-4	0 0	0	0 0	0	NA
	benzodiazepines that take up the			1446144-04-2		0		0	NA AML aliablatama braat appar lung appar prostate
	hydrophobic región of BET enzymes which binds acetylated lysines.		OTX015	202590-98-5	5	2	0	0	AML, glioblastoma, breast cancer, lung cancer, prostate cancer.
		Benzodiazepines	CPI-0610	1380087-89-7	3	2	0	0	Myeloma, lymphoma, leukemia, MDS.
			Molibresib	1260907-17-2	2	1	0	0	lymphoma, NUT carcinoma,

**Clinical Trials** 

stopped because of ineffectiveness or disadvantaged toxicity profiles compared to chemotherapy alone (59). The possible role of DNMT inhibitors remains unclear, but in conjunction with other therapies, these agents may theoretically still be of use.

There is a good scientific justification for combining DNMT inhibitors with HDAC inhibitors since both hypermethylated DNA and hypoacetylated histones are associated with closed chromatin states that repress gene expression by independent mechanisms. Further studies should be carried out into the efficacy of this combination at different dosages and durations of treatment. To date, hundreds of clinical trials have studied the effects of anti-DNA methylation therapy on different cancers.

## **HDAC Inhibitors**

The development of the first HDACi commenced with the finding that erythroleukemia murine cells differentiated in the presence of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Later, chemical analogs that could make similar interactions as DMSO were studied (56). This was the case of vorinostat (SAHA), a molecule capable of metal coordination and hydrogen bonding. Interestingly, natural compounds inhibitors of HDACs (trichostatin A and trapoxin A) were found to chemically resemble vorinostat at the hydroxamic acid moiety. The mechanism of action of these compounds inhibits HDACs by reversibly binding to  $Zn^{2+}$  in the enzyme's active site. Since the discovery of vorinostat, a lot of new activity assays are performed every day with inhibitor compounds (62) (**Table 1**, HDACi section).

Zinc binding is essential for the inactivation of most HDACs (56). As mentioned before, the Zn-binding hydroxamic moiety has proven to be one of the most successful inhibitors, and thousands of synthetic HDAC inhibitors with this moiety have been reported. Many of these inhibitors have focused primarily on optimizing the pharmacokinetics of vorinostat and trichostatin A (**Figure 3**; **Table 2**, HDACi section).

Currently, vorinostat therapy clinical applications have been applied to neurological conditions and, surprisingly, to reactivating chronic viral infection (73). Therapies for HIV-1 patients do not kill the virus entirely because it may be latent in reservoirs of CD4 + cells (74). Epigenetic mechanisms regulate viral latency, and so, clinical trials to test the effect of vorinostat therapy in reactivation of HIV-1 viral latency are currently being performed.

This optimizing focus led to the design of the hydroxamic acid containing HDACi, such as belinostat, dacinostat, givinostat, and panobinostat. The latter being the only HDACi with approval within the EU. As single agents, these molecules have shown limited efficacy, but when in combination with DNMTi, they have shown to be more effective, especially in patients with solid tumors (75, 76). Other metal-binding functional groups have been of great interest to this group. This is the case of thiols, benzamides, and carboxylic acids (56). Examples of these functional groups can be found in the drugs: romidepsin, entinostat, mocetinostat, and short-chain fatty acids, such as sodium butyrate, Pivanex, phenylbutyric acid, and valproic acid (**Figure 3**; **Table 2**, HDACi section).

Unlike hydroxamic acid analogs, short-chain fatty acids occupy an acetate escape tunnel, which may have a zincbinding function or compete with an acetate group released in the deacetylation reaction. These are the least potent type of HDACi (77). The benzamide inhibitor class consists of a chemical moiety capable of contacting specific amino acids in the HDAC core tube active site, with or without zinc ion binding (78). These inhibitors are active at micromolar levels. The antiproliferative and cytotoxic activity has been shown by entinostat against several tumor cell lines *in vitro*. Entinostat is a clinical trial available orally active inhibitor (79) (**Figure 3**; **Table 2**, HDACi section).

Currently, the discovery of sirtuin inhibitors (SIRTi) is an ongoing quest in which most compounds are still under preclinical investigation (80). Most efforts have been driven toward the discovery of SIRT1 and SIRT2 inhibitors. SIRT1 inhibitors have been proposed for treating cancer, for they have shown to inhibit TNBC cell growth, survival, and tumorigenesis (56, 81). Nicotinamide is the only inhibitor of sirtuin currently used in solid tumor clinics (82). SIRT1 can be categorized as  $\beta$ -naphthols (sirtinol, splitomicin, salermide, and cambinol), indoles (EX-527 and oxindole), and urea (suramin and tenovin) (83) (**Figure 3; Table 2**, SIRTi section).

HDACi have many biological effects due to changes in patterns of histone acetylation and many non-histone proteins, including proteins involved in gene expression control, extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis pathways, the progression of the cell cycle, redox pathways, mitotic division, DNA repair, cell migration and angiogenesis (56). Whether selective inhibition of HDACs will be beneficial as anti-cancer agents over broaderacting HDACi is a question that remains unanswered (56).

## **Histone Methyltransferase Inhibitors**

HMTs are enzymes that add up to three methyl groups to lysine (KMTs) or arginine (RMTs) residues in histone proteins (84). Lysine methylation may either activate or silence gene transcription depending on the lysine residue involved (85). Nearly 100 KMTs have been described which use the SAM molecule as the methyl donor (14). SAM-like molecules, such as sinefungin, compete with SAM for its binding site (Figure 3). These molecules are inhibitors of all SAM using enzymes, like HMTs (14). KMT drug discovery heavily relies on their cofactor binding pocket, which has structural characteristics convenient for inhibitor interaction and makes these enzymes appealing for the design of small molecular inhibitors for interference (80). Examples of HMTi can be found in drugs such as EPZ004777, EPZ-5676, DZNep, pinometostat, and tazemetostat. Pinometostat and tazemetostat are selective DOT1L and EZH2 inhibitors, respectively (Table 2, HMTi section).

Both inhibitors are of interest in some types of cancer because DOT1L is a KMT involved in abnormal methylation of H3K79 and expression of HOX genes that cause leukemia (Copeland et al., 2013), while elevated expression of the KMT, EZH2, is associated with many forms of cancer due to hypermethylation of H3K27 which facilitates transcriptional silencing (80). Also, in B-cell-lymphoma patients, EZH2 mutations occur with a frequency of approximately 15-20 percent in either tumor type, particularly in diffuse large-B cell-lymphomas and follicular lymphomas (86, 87). These modifications contribute to the more effective trimethylation of H3K27 by the mutant form of this protein (88). Preclinical studies showed that EZH2 inhibitors induced the arrest of proliferation, differentiation, and eventual apoptosis of DLBCL cells. These results were stronger in DLBCL cells that bear EZH2 mutations, but they also occurred in EZH2-wild-type DLBCL cells (89).

While several small molecule inhibitors have been developed for PRMTs with adequate potency, most PRMT inhibitors' selectivity remains to be improved. Therefore, the detection of PRMT inhibitors involves further analysis of novel approaches (i.e., allosteric control) (90). Three PRMT inhibitors, including PRMT5 inhibitor GSK3326595 (**Table 2**, HRMTi section), and JNJ-64619178 as well as PRMT1 inhibitor GSK3368715 have entered clinical trials so far. PRMT inhibitors with novel action mechanisms and strong drug-like properties will shed new light on developments in drug discovery and development of PRMTi (87, 90). The number of inhibitor assays reported on CHEMBL database against the enzymatic activity of the HMTs increases everyday (62) (**Table 1**, HMTi section).

## **Histone Demethylase Inhibitors**

Significant progress has been made in the development of JmjC-KDM inhibitors since the first inhibitors were identified in 2008 (91). The vast majority enter the catalytic domain and inhibit the enzyme's activity by chelating the active site Fe (II), interfering with the 2OG binding. Because of the similarity between JmjC-KDMs' active site pockets, it has proved difficult to achieve selectiveness in the broad superfamily of 2OG dioxygenases (92). The recent availability of JmjC-KDM crystal structures has encouraged medicinal chemistry efforts and has made it possible for the JmjC-KDMs to produce many chemical candidates. Examples of these inhibitors include hydroxamate derivatives, pyridinedicarboxylate derivatives, N-oxalyl amino acid derivatives, and agents which interfere with metal binding (71) (**Figure 3; Table 2**, HDMi section).

In 2004, Professor Yang Shi first described LSD1 and discovered that it had significant biological functions in a wide variety of biological processes, including cancer (93). During carcinogenesis, in AML and SCLC, elevated levels of LSD1 were observed (94). Pharmacological LSD1 inhibition with small molecules has shown that it suppresses the division, proliferation, invasion, and migration of cancer cells (95). LSD1 thus becomes an evolving clinical target for anticancer therapy. Many LSD1 inhibitors, including natural products, peptides, and synthetic compounds, have been identified.

The similarity of LSD demethylases with monoamine oxidases (MAOs) has started the quest for repurposing MAO inhibitors to find inhibitors for these types of enzymes. Initially approved by the FDA for the treatment of mood and anxiety disorders (96), the MAO inhibitor tranylcypromine (TCP) was found to be able to inhibit its homolog LSD1 moderately by forming covalent adducts (97). As a result, many MAO inhibitors (MAOi) such as pargyline, phenelzine, and tranylcypromine have been shown to inhibit HDM KDM1A (80) (**Figure 3; Table 2**, HDMi section). New studies are now ongoing in clinical trials with some TCP-based LSD1 inhibitors

alone or combined therapy with other therapeutic agents for treating cancer (98).

# Bromo and Extra Terminal Domain Inhibitors

Bromodomains are protein motifs present in several epigenetic readers including BET family, that recognize and bind to acetylated lysine residues located on histone tails. BETs consist of two bromodomains and an extra-terminal region. The BET family includes the Bromodomain testis-specific protein (BRDT), BRD2, BRD3, and BRD4 (99). BETs lead to malignancies production and progression by stimulating and enhancing the expression of main oncogenes such as *MYC* (100). Indeed, when treated with the inhibitor JQ1, BET inhibition resulted in *MYC* downregulation, which resulted in decreased levels of mRNA and protein in mouse MLL-fusion leukemia cells (101).

In various forms of cancers, including breast, neuroendocrine, ovarian, rhabdomyosarcoma, and glioma, preclinical studies of BET inhibitors have shown their efficacy (87). They disrupt the recognition by BET-containing reader proteins of acetylated lysine residues in histones, a mark associated with active transcription (102). The mechanism of BETi relies on the fact that the region that binds acetyl-lysine is hydrophobic and can be taken up by small hydrophobic molecules that specifically target this catalytic site. Examples of these inhibitors can be found in Thienotriazolodiazepines (JQ1, CPI-203, OTX015) and Benzodiazepines (CPI-0610 and molibresib) (**Figure 3; Table 2**, BETi section).

Preliminary clinical trials have demonstrated that BET inhibitors cannot induce long-lasting cytotoxic effects in human cancers when administered as single agents (103). Nevertheless, the potential of combinations with other epigenetic therapies is important (104). Although BET inhibitors' toxicity may reduce such combinations, HDACi studies indicate that combinations with reduced doses may be effective, possibly reducing toxicity. This also reflects on the number of inhibitor assays for BRDs (62) (**Table 1**, BETi section).

# The Basis for Drug Repurposing

Although epigenetic therapy has proven to be remarkably effective, epidrug discovery remains as a traditional "*de novo*" drug discovery pathway, which has significant disadvantages such as high costs, time consuming, and low success rate (105, 106) (**Figure 4**). An answer that addresses these problems and could speed up epidrugs in the clinic has arisen from the relatively recent idea of using known drugs for new targets, commonly known as drug repurposing (DR). This approach has gained considerable popularity, emerging as an interesting approach in cancer therapy research and many fields within medicine (107).

DR is the discovery process of finding new medical uses of a preexisting drug which was previously approved for another indication, withdrawn from the market due to adverse effects or disapproved for failing to prove its efficacy and safety (11, 107) (**Figure 4**).





This approach includes the selection of drugs with promising repurposing potential and it also has important advantages over the "*de novo*" drug discovery processes. Previously assessed drug safety significantly reduces both costs and time for making these drugs readily available for use in the clinic (108, 109).

Historically speaking, repurposing of medications was mainly fortuitous; if an off-target effect or newly discovered target was detected, it was sure for it to be targeted for commercial usage. Examples of this are shown in drugs like sildenafil citrate, whose repurposing for erectile dysfunction was not based on a systemic approach, nor was thalidomide repurposing for erythema nodosum leprosum (ENL) and multiple myeloma, which are still the most promising examples of DR (107). Sildenafil was first formulated as an antihypertensive medication. However, after Pfizer reprofiled it for erectile dysfunction therapy and sold it as Viagra, it held the lead market share in erectile dysfunction medications in 2012, with global sales totaling more than 2 billion (110). Thalidomide, an antiemetic first sold in 1957, was discontinued within four years due to its notorious association with teratogenic defects in infants born to mothers who took the drug during their first trimester of pregnancy (107). However, the efficacy of thalidomide, first in ENL and decades later in multiple myeloma has been successfully demonstrated. Ever since, thalidomide has achieved considerable market success for treating multiple myeloma and has also contributed to the production and authorization of many more effective formulations, such as lenalidomide, which had \$8.2 billion in worldwide revenues in 2017 (111).

These achievements have led to the implementation of systematic approaches to detect repurposable substances (109). The field of DR is fascinating, and its importance reflects in the vast number of drug projects of pharmaceutical companies that already have several candidate molecules that, although successful in phase I, they did not prosper in Phase II or III clinical trials. This gives rise to the existence of several known molecules, which are relatively safe to use in the clinic. Hence, this large reservoir of molecules provides a vast niche for the search for repositionable drugs, which is much larger than the set of approved drugs (112).

A DR approach usually consists of three phases before the target drug is taken into further development: The selection of a target molecule for a specific indication, analysis of the drug impact in preclinical models, and the evaluation of the effectiveness in clinical trials in phase II, when enough adequate safety results are available from phase I tests. These methods can be classified into computational approaches and experimental approaches, which are now both being widely used synergistically. DR is encompassed within these two large fields, focused on clinical evidence (109).

Experimental approaches include **binding assays** for the identification of novel target interactions. These types of assays come from proteomic methods, like affinity chromatography and mass spectrometry are used to detect novel targets of existing drugs (113); and **phenotypic screening**, which are approaches based on *in vitro* or *in vivo* models of disease screening of compounds can indicate clinical potential (114). These approaches offer testing in a relevant biochemical context by performing *in vitro* screening has led to systematize drug discovery, allowing ultra-high-throughput screening, analyzing up to 10,000 compounds per day (116, 117); however, the main limitation of these methodologies are the high costs of the required infrastructure, as well as nonspecific results (8).

Computational methods include the study of large sets of data (e.g., gene expression, chemical composition, genotype or proteomic data or electronic health records) that lead to the development of reprofiling hypotheses (118). Computational approaches include: signature matching, which results for comparing a drug signature such as its transcriptomic, structural or adverse effect profile to that of another pharmaceutical product or disease phenotype (119); molecular docking, a structural computational strategy focused to predict complementarity of the binding site between a drug and a receptor (120); genetic association, a high throughput analysis of genes associated with a disease which can turn out to be potential targets for drugs (121); pathway mapping, another approach that analyses biological pathways in order to develop networks of drugs or disorders based on patterns in gene expression, disease biology, protein interactions or GWAS data to better classify repurposable candidates (122); retrospective clinical analysis, a systematic review of electronic health records, data from clinical trials and surveillances post-marketing could be useful identifying repurposable drugs; and novel sources, which is the combination of large-scale in-vitro drug screens with genomic data, electronic health records and self-reported patient data represents new ways to repurpose drugs (123, 124).

In sum, these approaches allow multiple manners for conducting DR. However, these methodologies applications need to be taken with caution, as many of them seem to be reductionist (117, 125). Numerous strategies are now coupling drug networks with computational analysis to characterize different diseases' metabolic pathways. These efforts aim to identify drugs acting not only on a single target but also on a whole network of proteins (126, 127). In every computational approach, experimental validation is compulsory since the actual methods are not 100% accurate.

HTS (High-Throughput Screening) is the most common approach in DR of epidrugs, and most of them are designed to inhibit catalytic sites of epigenetic writer enzymes (128). Computational methods, such as virtual screening, aim to efficiently discover novel active compounds against epigenetic factors (8). The increasing attention on epigenetic targets as an opportunity for DR provides high expectations. Next, we will summarize the current efforts in epidrug repurposing for cancer therapy.

# Available Databases Focused on Exploration and Recompilation of DR Research

Nowadays, there is a large amount of information available focused on the search and annotation of drugs to be repurposed and the drugs that currently have research that supports their proposed new uses. Some public databases such as ChemBL, DrugBank, and DrugCentral are repositories of bioactivity data and drug chemical structures. These databases summarize multiple indications and chemical drug-target interactions. More specifically, the FDA-approved epidrugs are gathered in several databases focused on tested epidrugs and provides information about annotation tools (**Table 3**, Section Epidrugs). These databases are useful because they facilitate the integration of epidrug datasets obtained from experimental and computational approaches, reducing the manual search of information, and helping to increase collaboration on the field.

Other databases that aim to summarize the current efforts and latest frontiers in DR research are the REPOHub, repoDB, and the Project Repethio; these include clinical trials, pre-clinical tools for annotations, and information resources. Unlike the previous ones, these databases focus on gathering and matching the results from both predictive tools and experimental or clinical trials, resulting in faster results on drugs that could be repurposed (**Table 3**, Section Drug Repurposing). Tanoli et al., 2020 summarize the types of data available through multidatabase exploration focused on DR (142). Currently, the ReDO project (Repurposing Drugs in Oncology) is probably the only database focused on assembling DR for cancer targets. And it has played a crucial role in the development of research for new drugs to cancer therapy with the DR approach.

# Epidrug Repurposing in Cancer (Epi-DR)

The interest in oncological DR has emerged as a response to the declining productivity of oncological drug development (143) and as a source of low-cost treatments to meet the increased demands for novel treatments, in efforts to overcome chemoresistance and reduce the development time of *de novo* drugs (144).

Some widely used and well-known drugs for cancer therapy are examples of epi-DR, with an effect on epigenetic targets, and are either currently FDA-approved or under clinical

Category	Database name	Link	Key features	Reference
Drug-target interactions and	ChEMBL	ebi.ac.uk/chembl/	Provides bioactivity data, structures and properties, clinical trials and drug annotations references for diseases	(62)
bioactivity databases	PubChem	pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/	Provides chemical structures and physical properties, bioactivity information, current patents, toxicity and safety; among others	(129)
	DrugCentral	drugcentral.org/	Provides chemical structures, chemical entities action, drug mode of action, dosage and pharmacological indications	(130)
	DrugTargetCommons (DTC)	drugtargetcommons.fimm.fi/	Bioactivity data, protein classification, assays and clinical trials data and disease gene associations for many proteins	(131)
	DrugBank	drugbank.ca/	Matches drug bioactivity information with drug-target physiological information	(132)
Epigenetic drugs databases	HEDD	hedds.org/index.jsp	Integration of experimental epigenetic drug datasets, provides information from target-disease, and tools from high-throughput screening	(133)
	HISTome2	actrec.gov.in/histome2	Provides histone proteins data and 127 epidrugs that have been categorized by modifier type; and advanced tools for histone modifier- drug prediction	(134)
	dbEM	crdd.osdd.net/raghava/ dbem	Provides epigenetic modifiers data in normal and cancer genomes; and information for 54 drug molecules against different epigenetic proteins	(135)
Drug Repurposing databases	PROMISCUOUS	bioinformatics.charite.de/ promiscuous	Provides an exhaustive set of drugs (25,000), experimental assays and annotations from protein relationships	(136)
	REPO Hub	clue.io/repurposing	Repurposing library that assemble a collection of 4,707 compounds, experimentally confirmed, clinical trials and annotations based on literature-reported targets	(137)
	RepurposeDB	repurposedb.dudleylab.org	Provides a summarize on drug repositioning studies reported on public databases. Assemble a repertoire of drugs, drug targets and associated disease indications	(138)
	repoDB	apps.chiragjpgroup.org/ repoDB	Provides information from 1,571 compounds, both approved and failed drugs; as well as computational repositioning tools	(139)
	Project Repethio	het.io/repurpose	Provides a compilation of 3394 repurposing candidates based on computational predictions	(140)
Drug Repurposing in cancer databases	ReDO project	redo-project.org/	Provides a curated list of 270 drugs with pre-clinical and clinical evidence of anti-cancer action	(141)

development (145). The first repurposed drugs as an anticancer epidrug in the field were the 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine (decitabine) (146). At first, these drugs were both approved by the FDA to treat myelodysplastic syndromes due to their antimetabolic effects on *in vitro* assays in cancer cells (146). However, the toxicity shown by 5-azacytidine led to other chemotherapeutic regimens being preferred (146); later, it was found that azacytidine and decitabine could both inhibit DNA methylation and were incorporated by tumor cells and also in myelodysplastic syndromes (146–148).

## **DNMT** Inhibitors

The natural compound **Harmine** downregulates the expression of DNMT1, which results in reactivation of the p15 tumor suppressor gene in AML. Future studies are expected to assess if Harmine can be considered a potential therapy for AML and if it can be used as a single agent or adjuvant (149). **Chlorogenic acid** is a polyphenol coffee that has been found to suppress DNMT1. Its inhibitory activity derives from a chemical change resulting in increased S-adenosyl-L-homocysteine (SAH) production. Chlorogenic acid has been shown to inhibit DNMT1, using breast cancer cell lines, which lowers DNA methylation (150).

Laccaic acid A is a direct, competing DNMT1 natural compound inhibitor that reactivates genes silenced by promoter DNA methylation synergistically with 5-azadC in breast cancer cells (151). **Procaine** is a promising treatment

with growth-inhibiting and DNA-hypomethylation effects in cancer cells. Especially in gastric cancer where its antiproliferative and apoptotic effects have been proven (152). Its well-defined, safe use as a local anesthetic, with well-known pharmacology, should promote procaine to pre-clinical trials (153). **Procainamide**, a derivative of procaine, hinders the enzymatic activity of DNMT1 by directly reducing the enzyme affinity for both DNA and S-adenosyl-L-methionine. It would be important to analyze whether procainamide, a fairly stable non-nucleoside inhibitor of DNMT1, will prevent cancer from arising (154).

A computer-based search for similarities between a database of approved drugs and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine has recently been detected as an ideal candidate for DR. **Mahanine**, a plant derived alkaloid, was shown to induce DNMT1 and DNMT3B proteasomal degradation by inactivating Akt, which in turn restored RASSF1A expression in prostate cancer cells. Mahanine then represents a possible therapeutic agent for advanced prostate cancer when RASSF1A expression is inhibited (155).

**Hydralazine**, approved as an antihypertensive, is a nonnucleoside DNMTi that interacts with the binding domain of DNMTs, and can decrease DNMT1 and DNMT3A mRNA expression and protein levels in T cell leukemia cell lines (156). In advanced cervical cancer, bladder, and cervical cancer cell lines, respectively (157, 158), hydralazine induces DNA demethylation and decreases DNMT activity. Also, hydralazine, combined with magnesium valproate, is an opportunity to reverse imatinib resistance in patients with several malignancies, including lung (NCT00996060), cervical (NCT00404326), and locally advanced breast (NCT00395655) cancers, as well as different solid tumors which are refractory to current therapies (159–161) (NCT00404508). **Olsalazine**, an FDA approved anti-inflammatory agent, has proven its hypomethylating and very low cytotoxicity effects in cell-based screen tests (162).

**Mithramycin A**, an antibiotic with potent antitumor activity, binds to sequences of GC-rich or CG-rich DNA and upregulates tumor suppressor genes' expression by reducing the methylation of their promoters through binding and depleting the DNMT1 protein in lung cancer cells (163). **Nanaomycin A**, an anthracycline antibiotic, has demonstrated selectivity to DNMT3B in biochemical assays. Dock modeling strategies suggest that nanaomycin A is capable of binding DNMT3B's catalytic site. Treatment of the human tumor lines of the colon, lung, bone marrow with nanaomycin A demonstrated substantial genomic demethylation. While it is unclear if anthracyclines will be a successful choice for clinical DR due to certain long-term cardiotoxicity concerns, Nanaomycin A is the first non-SAH DNMT3B-selective compound that offers valuable biochemical properties for additional studies (164).

**Disulfiram** is an alcohol aversive drug that has been approved by the FDA for more than 60 years for treating alcohol abuse. It allows acetaldehyde to accumulate in the blood by inhibiting ALDH (165). Disulfiram's anticancer activity is mediated by its ability to suppress DNMT1 and through the reactivation of epigenetically silenced genes such as *APC* and *RARB* in prostate cancer cell lines (70) (**Table 4**, Section 1).

Peptides are small proteins made up of fewer than 50 amino acids. Such compounds have several roles in the human body and can modulate epigenetic pathways, raising the exciting possibility of peptide-based therapy. Such peptides may be endogenous, or food derived. Amyloid beta  $(A\beta)$ , the central component of Alzheimer's senile plaque (AD), reduces global DNA methylation but increases DNA methylation in the Neprilysin gene promoting region, an Aβ-degrading enzyme (189). Soluble A $\beta$  oligomers decrease intracellular glutathione levels by hampering cysteine uptake, followed by a global decrease in DNA methylation (174). BCM7 and GM7 are food derived peptides produced by hydrolytic casein and gliadin digestion. They decrease cysteine absorption through opioid receptor activation in neuronal and gastrointestinal cells. This reduction is followed by an increase of oxidized glutathione and an increase in DNA methylation (175, 176) (Table 4, Section 1).

# **Dual DNMT and HDAC Inhibitors**

In most cancer types, altered DNMT and HDAC activity is observed (190). Therefore, some repurposed drugs that inhibit both DNMT and HDAC enzymes could improve efficacy over one-target agents (**Table 4**, Section 2).

**Berberine**, an isoquinoline alkaloid derived from *Berberis* vulgaris (191) and used to treat bacterial, parasitic, and fungal infections, has been repurposed as a DNMT and HDAC dual inhibitor (192). In multiple myeloma cell lines, berberine

treatment showed downregulated DNMT1 and DNMT3A expression, restoring p53 expression through DNA hypomethylation (193). Berberine also inhibits Class I and II HDACs in lung cancer cell lines, down-regulates gene expression, and increases histone H3 and H4 acetylation (194). EGCG is a polyphenol found in green tea (Camellia sinensis) and is a known anti-inflammatory compound (195). It has recently been proposed as an inhibitor of DNMT by direct interaction with the catalytic site of DNMT (186-188). EGCG reduces cell growth and increases apoptosis in renal carcinoma cells through the upregulation of TFPI-2. In skin carcinoma cells, EGCG increases the levels of acetylation of histone H3 and histone H4 lysine residues through HDAC inhibition, leading to the upregulation of tumor-suppressor genes (188) (Table 4, Section 2). Resveratrol is a natural polyphenolic compound found in grapes and berries (196), and it has been proposed as a dual inhibitor of both DNMTs and HDACs. In breast cancer cell lines, resveratrol inhibits both HDAC and DNMT1 activity, decreases histone H3 lysine 27 methylation, and increases its acetylation (182-184). In thyroid cancer cell lines, treatment with resveratrol showed resensitization to therapy when in combination with retinoic acid through the demethylation of CpG sites at promoter regions of CRABP2 gene (185); the effect of resveratrol as a repurposed cancer drug was also investigated in clinical trials (NCT00256334, NCT01476592, NCT00433576). Finally, parthenolide is a terpenoid compound, isolated from Tanacetum parthenium, with anti-inflammatory properties. Parthenolide downregulates HDAC1 gene expression (179) and increases histone acetylation (177, 180). It reverses drug resistance in some cancer cell lines (178) and restores silenced gene expression through a decrease in DNA methylation levels (181) (Table 4, Section 2).

# **HDAC Inhibitors**

As previously mentioned, the use of HDACi among the chemotherapeutic agents is growing (**Table 5**, HDACi). Hydroxamic and carboxylic acids are being studied as potential HDACi; for instance, drugs like **Vorinostat (SAHA)**, approved for psoriasis treatment, and **Valproic acid** (anticonvulsant) are currently included in several clinical trials against different types of cancers (236). A complete overview about clinical trials in some of the most studied HDACi repurposed, such as **Vorinostat**, **Valproate**, **Belinostat**, **Panobinostat**, and cyclic peptide **Romidepsin** is available (236) (**Table 5**, HDACi).

Compounds with HDACi potential have been found in plants. **Ginseng** (*Panax ginseng*) is a popular plant extract commonly used in South Korea and traditional Chinese medicine, which contains several compounds (ginsenosides) with pharmacological properties (144). **Platycodi radix** (*Platycodon grandiflorum*), commonly known as balloon flower, is used to treat many diseases related to obesity in East Asia (237). Recently, Byun and cols. demonstrated that ginseng and platycodi have significant HDACi activity in Lung Carcinoma cell lines, thus upregulating p21 gene expression and promoting cell death (204). **HC toxin** is a cyclic tetrapeptide derived from a plant-fungal parasitic-association between *Helminthosporium carbonum* (ascomycetes) and its TABLE 4 | Current DNMTi and DNMT-HDAC dual inhibitors repurposed drugs with applications in cancer therapy [\*modified from Moreira-Silva et al. (9)].

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
Section 1. DNMT	inhibitors						
Non-nucleoside analogs	Hydralazine	Anti-hypertensor	DNMT1	Four high-affinity interaction points with DNMT1 through the residues Lys 162 and Arg 240 within the enzyme active site.	T-Cell Leukemia cells	Increases LFA-1 expression inhibits T Cells ERK pathway phosphorylation, decreases DNMT enzyme activity, and decreases DNMT1 and DNMT3A protein levels. Reduces <i>de novo</i> methylation due to greater affinity to hemi methylated substrates (target of DNMT1),.	(156, 166)
					Breast Cancer cells Bladder Cervical Cancer cells	In vivo induces DNA demethylation and increases expression of ER as well as RARb, p12 and p16 in vitro.	(167) (157)
					Prostate Cancer cells	Increases apoptosis, inhibits RGFR pathway, thus induces cell cycle arrest. Decreases DNMT1, DNMT3a and b protein levels. Upregulates p21 which decreases promoters DNA methylation and induces histone acetylation.	(156)
					Cervical Cancer cells	Induces APC expression, inhibits cell growth, induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Promotes DNA demethylation.	(158)
	Disulfiram (DSF)	Alcohol aversive	DNMT1	DSF could interfere with the catalytic activity of DNMT1 by reacting with a citosine ring via thiol group of catalytic site of DNMT1.	Prostate Cancer cells	Reduces global 5mC content, through inhibition of DNMT1 activity on hemimethylated substrates. Decreases methylation in APC and RARB gene promoters, thus increasing re-expression. Inhibits growth and clonogenic survival of prostate cancer cell lines.	(70)
	Procainamide	Cardiac arrythmias	DNMT1	Partially competitive inhibitor of DNMT1 that interacts with the binding	Prostate Cancer cells	Promotes GSTP1 CpG island hypomethylation, thus induces GSTP1 re-expression in LNCaP cells <i>in vitro</i> and in <i>in vivo</i> assays	(168)
				pocket of the enzyme	Breast Cancer cells	Induces DNA demethylation increases expression of ER RARb; also induces re-expression of p12 and p16 ( <i>in vitro</i> ).	(169)
					Colon Cancer cells	Greatly reduces affinity for hemi-methylated DNA and SAM in catalysis, reduces global 5mC content, thus reduces gene-specific hypermethylation at promoter CpG islands.	(154)
					Non-small Cell Lung Cancer cells	Inhibits DNMT activity and decreases promoter demethylation of WIF-1, restoring WIF-1 expression, thus downregulating the Wnt pathway	(169)
	Procaine (PCA)	Anesthesic for spinal block	DNMT1, DNMT3A	Interacts with the binding pocket of the enzyme inhibiting catalytic activity (non-nucleoside),	Breast Cancer cells	Demethylates densely hypermethylated CpG islands, reduces 5mC DNA content by 40%, restoring gene expression of RAR $\beta$ 2, and has growth-inhibitory effects, causing mitotic arrest	(153)
					Gastric Cancer cells	Inhibits DNMT1 and 3A activity through molecular docking in the catalytic binding site, disrupting the binding of DNMT to DNA. Reduces proliferation, induces apoptosis, and restores expression of	(152)
						CDKN2A and RARb	(170)
							(Continued)

(Continued)

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
					Hepatocellular Carcinoma cells	DNA demethylation and silenced gene reactivation of p16, HAI-2/PB, and NQO1. Promotes cell cycle arrest and reduces viability. Also shown significant reduction in tumor volume <i>in vivo</i> .	
					Non-small Cell Lung Cancer cells	Inhibits DNMT activity, causing promoter demethylation of WIF-1, thus restores WIF-1 expression and downregulation of Wnt pathway	(169)
Antibiotic	Nanaomycin A	Anthracycline antibiotic	DNMT3B	Interaction with active site of DNMT3B in specific a.a. (Glu697 Arg731 Arg733) of enzyme binding pocket, thus promoting a molecular docking in DNMT3B that	Colon Cancer cells Lung Cancer cells Bone marrow cells	Decreases DNMT1, 3A, 3B expression. Inhibits DNMT3B activity promoting reactivation of RASSF1A. Reduces cell proliferation and viability	(164)
	Mithramycin A (MMA)	Hypercalcemia drug, and antineoplastic agent	DNMT1	inhibits enzymatic activity Possibly interferes with DNMT1 binding at the CpG region in TSG promoters through binding DNMT1 protein or might be a form a complex between MMA, DNMT1	Lung Cancer cells	Inhibits DNMT1 activity and decreases protein level. Decreases CpG methylation on SLIT2 and TIMP-3 promoters, inducing re-expression. Inhibits invasor pehotype thus prevents metastasis	(163)
Polyphenol	Chlorogenic acid	Natural Compound (not approved)	DNMT1	and double-stranded DNA Increases SAH formation inhibiting DNA methylation through COMT mechanism (non- competitive),	Breast Cancer cells	Inhibits DNMT1 activity, reduces methylation of the promoter region of the RARb gene	(150)
	Harmine	Natural Compound (not approved)	DNMT1	Not described	Myeloid Leukemia cells	Decreases DNMT1 gene expression, induces p15 promoter demethylation. Also decreases proliferation and promotes cell cycle arrest in G0/G1 phase	(149)
	Laccaic acid A (LCA)	Natural Compound (not approved)	DNMT1	DNA-competitive DNMT inhibitor through competition for the oligonucleotide substrate	Breast Cancer cells	Inhibits directly DNMT1, also have effects on DNMT3A, 3B inhibition, and reactivates genes silenced by promoter methylation (CEACAM5, DHRS3, RGS16)	(151)
	Mahanine	Natural Compound (not approved)	DNMT1, DNMT3B	Induces proteasomal degradation of DNMT1 and DNMT3B	Prostate Cancer cells	Inhibits DNMT activity, increases expression of RASSF1A and inhibits cyclin D1. Induces proteosomal degradation on DNMT1 and DNMT3B through Akt inactivation, thus facilitates demethylation of RASSF1A promoter and increases its expression	(155, 171)
	Genistein	Natural compound; isoflavone	DNMT	Inhibits DNA methyltransferase activity in a substrate- and methyl donor-dependent	Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma cells	Promotes reversed DNA hypermethylation and reactivation of RARbeta, p16INK4a and MGMT trhough demethylation of promoter genes. Also inhibites cell growth	(172)
				manner	Prostate Cancer cells		

Montalvo-Casimiro et al.

(Continued)

TABLE 4	Continued
---------	-----------

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
					Breast Cancer cells	Induces DNA hypomethylation and reactivation of RARbeta	
					Renal Cancer cells	Inhibits DNMT1 activity, thus induces demethylation of BTG3 promoter and has antiproliferative effects through cell cycle arrest	(173)
Peptide	Beta amiloid peptide	Component of Alzheimer's senile plaque	DNMT	Drecreases SAM/ SAHlevels, promoting a global demethylation, through redox-dependent control over methionine synthase and methylation	Neuroblastoma cells	Soluble A $\beta$ oligomers decreases intracellular glutathione levels by hampering cysteine uptake, followed by a global decrease in global DNA methylation	(174)
	BCM7	Natural Compound; food-derived peptide	DNMT	Decreases SAM/SAH levels, promoting	Neuroblastoma cells	Decreases cysteine absorption through opioid receptor activation. This reduction is followed by an	(175, 176)
o .:. o Dime	GM7	Natural Compound; food-derived peptide	DNMT	decrease in cysteine levels, affecting redox status and methylation capacity of DNMTs	Neuroblastoma cells	increase of oxidized glutathione and an increase in DNA methylation	
Section 2. DNM Polyphenol	T and HDAC Dual Inhik Parthenolide	Anti-inflammatory (not	HDAC1 and DNMT1	Inhibits DNMT1possibly	Colon Cancer cells	Inhibits HDAC activity by molecular docking,	(177, 178)
		approved)		through alkylation of the proximal thiolate of Cys1226 of the catalytic	Melanoma cells	downregulates HIF-1alfa and inhibits NF-kB pathway Reduces MITF-M transcript level and HDAC1 and protein level.	(179)
				domain by its -methylene lactone	Breast Cancer cells	Induces proteasomal degradation of HDAC1, thus increasing global histone acetylation and p21/p53 expression and induces cell death.	(179–181)
					Thyroid Cancer cells	Down-regulates DNMT1 expression possibly associated with its SubG1 cell-cycle arrest. Promotes global DNA hypomethylation and reactivates HIN-1 gene trough demethylation of its promoter	(181)
					Myeloid Leukemia (AML) cells	Inhibits DNMT1 and decreases gene expression of DNMT1 and BF-kB pathway. Induces cell cycle arrest and interrupts the binding of Sp1 to DNMT1 promoter, thus reactivates tumor suppressor genes and inhibites HIF- $\alpha$	(178, 181)
	Resveratrol (RVT/ RSV)	Natural Compound polyphenol (not approved);	HDAC1 and DNMT	Fits into the binding pocket of HDAC's though interaction with amino	Hepatoblastoma cells	Antiproliferative effect on all cell lines; showed specific inhibition of HDACs and in turn a histone hyperacetylation in HepG2 cells.	(182)
		αρριονου,		acids of the catalytic site and interacts with the zinc ion, disrupting HDAC-zinc dependent activity.	Breast Cancer cells	Decreases PRMT5 EZH2 ATP2A3 and HDAC2 expression, increasing H3ac and H3K27 marks; increases global level of H3K9ac and H3K27ac marks through increasing KAT2A/3B expression. Reduces the enrichment of H4R3me2s and H3K27me3; and increases activating histone marks (H3K9/27ac) within the proximal promoter region of BRCA1, p53, and p21 restoring its expression.	(183, 184)
							(Continued)

(Continued)

Epidrug Repurposing in Cancer Therapy

26

			Drug-target interaction cancer induction indication	cancer model/new indication		
				Thyroid Cancer cells	Decreases DNMT1 activity and demethylates CpG sites at promoters regions in CRABP2.	(185)
EGCG	Natural Compound; thiol anti-inflammatory	DNMT and HDAC	Inhibitor of DNMT nuclear Squamous Cell activity by direct carcinoma cells interaction with a	Squamous Cell carcinoma cells	Induces reversal hypermethytiation in RARβ, MGMT, p16INK4a, and hMLH1 promoter genes, promotes inhibition of cell growth.	(186, 187)
			hydrophilic pocket of DNMT1 and catalytic binding site	Skin Cancer cells	Increases the levels of acetylation of histone H3 and histone H4 lysine residues through HDAC inhibition, leading to the upregulation of Cip1/p21 and p16INK4a.	(188)

host, (commonly *Poaceae* plants family). It was reported as a Maize Histone Deacetylase inhibitor (238) and proposed as an analog of **Apicidin** and **Artemisin**, a fungal metabolite (239), and antimalarial drug, respectively; with antiprotozoal HDACi activity proved for Malaria (*Plasmodium berghei*) in mice. However, recently HC-toxin has been rediscovered and identified as HDACi in different cancer cell lines (205). In breast cancer and neuroblastoma cell lines, HC toxin inhibited HDAC activity and promoted cell proliferation inhibition, cellular death, and induced H4 acetylation (205, 206). **Artemisin** has been repurposed as an HDAC1, HDAC2, and HDAC6 inhibitor in the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 (203) (**Table 5**, HDACi).

**Psammaplin A** (PsA) is a phenolic compound that derives from the marine sponge-association, Poecillastra sp. and Jaspis sp., (Pseudoceratina purpurea) whose active substances are monomers of thiol groups with enzymatic inhibition activity (210, 240). These monomers play a key role for both HDACi and DNMTi activity (241). In endometrial cancer cells, PsA showed HDAC1 and HDAC6 inhibition, reduction of HDAC1 expression the elevation of histone H3 and H4 acetylation, induction of cell cycle arrest, and apoptosis (208, 209). Burkholdacs A and B, with a structure similar to Thailandepsin A, was identified as a novel HDACi through the systematic overexpression of transcription factors associated with Burkholderia thilandensis (227). They are bicyclic depsipeptide compounds, proposed as potent HDACi in brain cancer cells, but also in other cancer cell lines (226). Using a panel of 39 human cancer cell lines, burkholdacs have shown superior HDACi activity over Ramidopsine (approved HDACi) in at least six cancer cell lines (226). Burkholdacs' affinity for HDAC1 is greater than that for HDAC6. Structural changes in burkholdacs A and B structures may increase their activity and selectivity, giving rise to isoform selective inhibition of HDACs therapeutical potential (226) (Table 5, HDACi). Other depsipeptides have also been studied for repurposing. Spiruchostatin A, and Plitidepsin (Aplidin) are natural depsipeptides derived from Pseudomonas sp. (228) and Aplidium albicans (242), respectively. In cancer cell lines, reduced spiruchostatin A effectively inhibited HDAC1, an effect not observed when oxidized, and it showed an increase in the acetylation levels of specific lysine residues of histones H3 and H4 (228). Plitidepsin is currently in clinical trials to treat multiple myeloma (243, 244) but it has also displayed interesting properties against hematological malignancies (245). Some depsipeptides display a greater affinity for HDAC1 than HDAC6 and class II HDACs, but this does not appear to limit their activity as anticancer agents judging by in vitro effects in cancer cells (208, 226, 228). Structure-function studies on depsipeptides can lead to the generation of chemical analogs with enhanced selectivity as HDACi drugs (Table 5, HDACi).

## HAT, HMT, HDM, and BET Inhibitors

Recently, HATi, HMTi, HDMi, and BETi have become of great interest for personalized cancer treatment. Multiple studies have consistently shown the enormous potential of known drugs and compounds for DR as epigenetic modulators (**Table 6**, HATi, HMTi, HDMi, and BETi).

**FABLE 4** | Continued

#### TABLE 5 | Current HDACi repurposed drugs with applications in cancer therapy [\*modified from Moreira-Silva et al. (9)].

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
HDAC inhibi	tors						
Acid	Valproate (VPA)	Antiepileptic	HDAC class I and HDAC2	Inhibits HDAC class I activity by binding to the catalytic site and promotes proteasomal degradation	Melanoma treatment	Potentiates karenitecin-induced apoptosis in multiple melanoma cell lines and on xenografted mice, however, fails to enhance chemotherapy effects on dacarbazine plus interferon-α-treated melanoma patients.	(197, 198)
				of HDAC2.	Colon Cancer cells	Reduces relative HDAC2 mRNA expression, preventing cell colony formation and migration.	(199)
					Non-small Cell Lung Cancer cells	Increases major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I chain-related protein A (MICA) expression and sensitizes cancer cells to γδ T-cell-mediated killing.	(200)
					Colon Cancer Tumor cells	Synergistically reduces viability of cancer cells in combination with mytomicin C.	(201)
					Ovarian Cancer cells	Upregulates WWOX and P27 genes and interferes with the cell cycle by promoting apoptosis and inhibiting cell proliferation, both <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> .	(202)
Phenolic	Artemisin	Antimalarial	HDAC1, HDAC2 and HDAC6	Not described	Breast Cancer cells	Inhibits cell proliferation, cell migration, invasion and induces apoptosis. Also inhibits HDAC 1, 2, 6 and up-regulates BRCA1, 2/Ras/ERα/ERβ/PR/Her expression	(203)
Ginseng	Ginseng	Nutraceutical (not approved)	HDAC	Not described	Lung Carcinoma cells	Inhibits HDAC activity, increases p21 expression and induces apoptosis.	(204)
	HC toxin	Natural Compound antiprotozoal (not	HDAC	Not described	Breast Cancer cells	Inhibits cell proliferation and induces cell cycle arrest at G2/M and apoptosis in a dose-dependent manner.	(205)
		approved);			Neuroblastoma Cells	Induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis, induces neuronal differentiation and inhibits invasive growth. Increases p-RB, p15, p16, p21, p27 expression, and reactivates the RB tumor suppressor pathway. Also induces H4 acetylation while inhibits HDAC activity	(206)
	Psammaplin A (PsA)	Enzimatic inhibitor Bromotyrosine Natural	HDAC III (SIRT1)	Inhibits HDAC activity via the coordination of zinc ion	Ovarian Cancer cells, Colon Cancer cells and Cervical Cancer cells	Displays significant cytotoxic activity, inhibits cell proliferation and upregulates expression of tumor-suppressor gene	(207, 208)
		Compound (not approved);		in catalytic pocket of HDAC with sulfhydryl group activated by a reducing agent.	Endometrial Cancer cells	gelsolin in a dose-dependent manner Inhibits cell proliferation, significantly induces H3 and H4 acetylation, upregulates expression of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, p21, and downregulates expression of pRb, cyclins, and CDKs, promoting cell cycle arrest.	(209)
					Breast Cancer cells	Inhibits proliferation induces cell cycle arrest at G2/M and reduces SIRT1 activity protein expression levels and reduces nuclear SIRT1 levels. Increases p53 acetylation (target of SIRT1) and increases DRAM expression	(208, 210)
Fatty acid	Sodium Butyrate	Anti-inflammatory	HDAC1	Not described	Gastric Cancer cells	Increases DAPK expression in human gastric cancer cells and this expression prompted apoptosis by decreasing FAK levels. Suggesting that DAPK expression prompts apoptosis by reducing the FAK protein level. Induce demethylation of the SFRP gene promoter	(211)
					Breast Cancer cells	Decreases cell proliferation induces cell cycle arrest at G1/G2 and decreases nuclear expression of DNA DSB repair proteins induced by etoposide (BRCA1 RAD51, ATM). Also increases H4 acetylation.	(212)

(Continued)

TABLE 5	Continued
---------	-----------

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
					Prostate Cancer cells	Inhibits HDAC1, 3 activity and induces H3, H4 acetylation, leading to hyperacetylation of H3 and H4 on the p21 promoter region, thus increasing p21 expression. Also induces cell cycle arrest, promoting apoptosis.	(213)
Hydroxamic acid	Trichostatin A (TSA)	Antifungal	HDAC class I, II and SIRT6	Hydroxamate. Pan-HDAC inhibitor, that obtain the binding energy associated	Breast Cancer cells	Decreases cell proliferation, inhibits HDAC activity, thus increases H4 hyperacetylation And increases ER acetylation and anti-tumor activity	(214)
				with the strength of inhibition is derived from the bidentate chelation of	Myeloid Leukemia (AML) cells	Inhibits HDAC activity leds to histone hyperacetylation. Increases H4 acetylation and reduces Myc expression ZNF278 (Myc's coactivator), NM1, HOXB6 and MKRN3	(215)
				hydroxamate	Esophageal Squamous Carcinoma cells	down-regulates cell growth by inhibiting the activation of the PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 pathways, and	(216)
					Prostate Cancer cells	increases H4 acetylation levels Increases apoptosis induces p21 expression and represses TMPRSS2-ERG expression AND affect acetylation status of p53 by inhibiting HDAC activity. Disrupts the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR),-STAT3 pathway, thus, inhibits proliferation in CRPC cells. Increases H4K16acetylation and promotes gene transcription, moreover decreases phospho- Akt pathway	(217, 218)
					Pancreatic Cancer cells	Restores cellular differentiation, reduces proliferation and restores p21 expression. Increases NDGR1 mRNA expression, also increases hypoxic responses	(219)
					Colon Cancer cells	Decreases cell growth and promotes apoptosis, down- regulates DNMT1 and HDAC1 expression, increasing p21, p27 and p57 expression	(220)
					Hepatocellular Carcinoma cells	Increases H3K9 and H3K27 acetylation and increases SERCA3 mRNA expression levels and promote ATP2A3 gene expression	(221)
	Vorinostat (SAHA)	Psoriasis disease treatmenr	HDAC class I, II and IV	inhibits HDAC activity by binding to the pocket of the catalytic site processes	Advanced Prostate Cancer treatment	In a phase II trial, it was associated with significant toxicities limiting efficacy assessment in patients with disease progression on one prior chemotherapy	(222, 223)
				by removing acetyl groups from proteins	Follicular and Mantle Cell Lymphoma treatment	In a phase I trial in follicular and mantle cell lymphomaoral vorinostat was well tolerated up to 200mg bd for 14 consecutive days every 3 weeks in Japanese patients with NHL. Shown favorable results	(224)
	Panobinostat	HDACi multiple myeloma	HDAC	Pan-HDAC inhibitor, blocks the enzymatic activity of HDAC	Multiple myeloma treatment	It has improved progression-free survival when combined with bortezomib and dexamethasone in patients with relapsed multiple myeloma who previously received bortezomib and an immunomodulatory agent	(225)
Depsipeptide	Burkholdacs A	Pathogen bacteria (not approved)	HDAC1, HDAC6	Inhibits HDAC catalytic activity by reduction of the disulfide bond which generates a free thiol group that interacts with the catalytic site in HDACs.	Brain Cancer cells Colon Cancer cells Lung Cancer cells Ovary Cancer cells Stomach Cancer cells Prostate Cancer cells	In at least six cancer cell lines, it has shown superior HDACi activity over Ramidopsine (approved HDACi). Burkholdacs A presents more affinity for HDAC1 and was determined to be superior than B with respect to its HDAC1 inhibitory activity and isoform selectivity toward HDAC1 over HDAC6 and antiproliferative activity.	(226)
							(Continu

(Continued)

#### TABLE 5 | Continued

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
	Thailandepsin (Burkholdacs B)	Pathogen bacteria (not approved)	HDAC6		Cervical Cancer cells Breast Cancer cells		(226, 227) (227)
	Spiruchostatin A	Pathogen bacteria (not approved)	HDAC1 and HDAC6	Structural similarity with HDAC inhibitor FK228 (Romidepsin) which interacts with the active- site zinc in its reduced form, preventing it from interacting with substrate.	Breast Cancer cells Ovarian Cancer cells Brain Cancer cells Colon Cancer cells	Increases acetylation levels of specific lysine residues of histones H3 and H4.	(228, 229)
	Apicidin	Antiprotozoal for Malaria	HDAC3, HDAC4 and HDAC8	Cyclic tripeptide that chelate the active site zinc ion through the terminal	Promyelocytic Leukemia treatment	Inhibits cell proliferation an cycle arrest, promoting cell death. Increases H4 acetylation and inhibits HDAC activity, thus increases p21 expression.	(230)
				carbonyl, hydroxy and/or amino functional groups	Lung, Colon and Pancreatic Cancer cells	Induces DNA demethylation via HMT suppression, reduces HP1 and DNMT1 recruitment to genes' promoter and induces p16, SALL3, and GATA4 expression. Also, decreases SUV39 and G9a expression in lung cancer cell lines.	(231)
					Cervical Cancer cells	Induces demethylation of CpG islands of the 1st exon of the PDH2 gene AND induces PHD2 and p21 gene expression and inhibits cell proliferation.	(232)
					Breast Cancer cells	Increases H3 and H4 acetylation and reduces ERalfa and ERb expression. Increases p21 and p27 expression and reduces cyclin D1 and cyclin E expression. Also reduces cell proliferation, thus promotig apoptosis.	(233)
					Endometrial Cancer cells	Increases H3 acetylation and reduces HDAC3, 4 expression, decreases cell proliferation and induces apoptosis.	(217)
					Ovarian Cancer cells	Decreases HDAC activity, reduces HDAC4 expression and blocks cell migration and invasion. Increases H3 and H4 acetylation and increases RECK expression through reducting the binding of HDAC4 to the Sp1 of its promoter, while reduces MMP-2 expression.	(234)
					Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma cells	Inhibits cell growth, proliferation and reduces HDAC8 expression. Induces apoptosis and autophagy AND increases H4 acetylation.	(235)
	Platycodi	Nutraceutical (not approved)	HDAC	Not described	Lung Carcinoma cells	Inhibits HDAC enzymatic activity and induces the expression of p21. Stimulates cell death and inhibits cell proliferation.	(204)

#### **HAT Inhibitors**

Anacardic acid, a small molecule obtained from cashew nutshell liquid with known antitumor activity, inhibits the p300's and PCAF's HAT activity. Anacardic Acid is not specific to any particular HAT group, but it can be used to synthesize other specific HAT activity modulators based on this molecule (246). Plumbagin is an in vivo, potent acetyltransferase inhibitor, hydroxynaphthoguinone isolated from the roots of Plumbago Rosea. A single hydroxyl group in Plumbagin confers its HATi properties. Replacing this group with other chemical moieties results in complete loss of its inhibitory activity. Plumbagin has also been reported to suppress the activation of NFK-B, leading to apoptosis potentiation. Plumbagin may be a potential anticancer agent, but its cell toxicity properties could be the main limitation of its use as a therapeutic molecule (253). Garcinol is a potent inhibitor of the p300 and PCAF HATs. It inhibits in vivo histone acetylation in HeLa cells but does not affect histone deacetylation. Garcinol suppresses chromatin transcription dependent on HAT p300 but does not affected transcription of DNA (249). Lunasin is a 43 amino acid peptide found in soybean, barley, wheat, and rye. Previous studies have shown that lunasin can suppress the proliferation and migration of cancer cells with no effect on wild-type cells. Lunasin is a competitive inhibitor of HATs. It inhibits histone acetylation and regulates the cell cycle. This binding is probably achieved through its helical structure, similar to chromatin-binding protein structures (267) (Table 6, HATi).

#### **HMT** Inhibitors

Allantodapsone was recovered from a virtual screening based on the PRMT1 structure. Allantodapsone inhibits H4R3 methylation in the hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2 while leaving H3K4 methylation unaffected (255). Ribavirin is an antiviral drug that has become of interest as a therapeutic agent in cancer. Ribavirine selectively inhibits pediatric osteosarcoma and improves chemosensitivity (256). It also possesses in vitro growth inhibitory effects against various malignant cell lines at clinically reasonable concentrations; also, ribavirin treatment results in the reduction of EZH2 at RNA and protein levels, inhibition of EZH2 enzyme activity, and reduction of H3K27 methylation (257). The antimalarial drug, hydroxychloroquine, has also been effective in treating rheumatoid lupus, arthritis, and porphyria cutanea tarda. Structural experiments have shown that hydroxychloroquine inhibits the allosteric binding of PRC2 to EED within the H3K27me3-binding region, thereby antagonizing the catalytic function of the PRC2. These findings suggest a new epigenetic function of hydroxychloroquine with possible therapeutic repositioning (258) (Table 6, HMTi).

#### HDM Inhibitors

**Clorgyline** is a selective MAO A inhibitor- used as an antidepressant until severe dietary adverse effects are commonly known as the "cheese effect" were reported for this drug (268). As a member of MAO inhibitors, clorgyline can also inhibit LSD1, and it has been demonstrated to have cell-type dependent synergic effects when combined with DNMTi (259). **Geranylgeranoic acid**, an acyclic diterpenoid present in medicinal plants, has recently been found to be a potent inhibitor of recombinant LSD1. Geranylgeranoic acid inhibits the proliferation and induces a neuronal phenotype through increasing the abundance of H3K4me2 of NTRK2 gene promoter in human SH-SY5Y-derived neuroblastoma cells (260). Pargyline, a MAO B selective inhibitor with antidepressant activity, affects the transition from androgen-dependent to androgen-independent in prostate cancer. Inhibition of LSD1 with a concomitant reduction of H3K4me2 and H3K9me2 levels have been reported for pargyline. Pargyline, in combination with androgen deprivation therapy, could be an effective adjunctive treatment for advanced prostate cancer (261). Unlike selective MAO inhibitors such as pargyline, nonselective MAO inhibitors strongly repress the nucleosomal demethylation of histone H3K4. Tranylcypromine, a drug used in treating severe depression, has demonstrated strong LSD1 inhibitory effects with an IC50 of less than 2 mM (262). Tranylcypromine contributes to GBM cell synergistic apoptosis in association with other HDAC inhibitors (263). Recently, molecular docking studies have highlighted the potential of approved drugs such as decitabine, entecavir, abacavir, penciclovir, and DZNep as KDM5B inhibitors. Their role as HDMi could be of great importance in lung cancer, melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, gastric cancer, and prostate cancer, among others. Decitabine is a DNMTi used in myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), abacavir, entecavir, and penciclovir are antivirals used in the treatment of HIV, hepatitis B, and herpes infections, respectively. DZNep is a specific HMTi with promising results in cancer immunotherapy (269). Finally, Polymyxin B and polymyxin E are antibiotics used in multidrug resistant bacterial infections. These compounds were shown to inhibit LSD1 by competition with its substrate at the enzyme's cleft entry. Polymyxins have significant side effects that limit their application to untreated infections, but they could still be the target of drug repurposing for other diseases, such as leukemia (264) (Table 6, HDMi).

#### **BET Inhibitors**

**Azelastine**, a selective H1 antagonist, was found to be a promising BETi, displaying a stronger binding affinity than BETi control JQ1 for human BRD4 by docking-based methodologies. These findings highlight the importance of computational methods for molecular drug design and will uncover new BRD4 inhibition candidates (265). The antibiotic approved by FDA, **nitroxoline**, disrupts the association of BRD4 bromodomain with acetylated H4. Nitroxoline has shown strong selectivity at inhibiting all BET family members compared with non-BET proteins. By causing cell cycle arrest and apoptosis, nitroxoline successfully prevents the proliferation of MLL leukemia cells. The possible use of nitroxoline and its derivatives as BET inhibitors in BET related diseases is now under investigation (266) (**Table 6**, BETi).

# **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Drug repositioning has emerged as a viable strategy to increase drug discovery's overall productivity, resulting in a new and cheaper way to generate alternative therapies for various diseases, including cancer. The drug repositioning approach is

#### TABLE 6 | Current HAT HMT, HDM, and BET inhibitors repurposed with epigenetic applications in cancer therapy [\*modified from Moreira-Silva et al., (9)].

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
HAT, HN	IT, HDM, and BET inh	ibitors					
HATI	Anacardic acid	Anti-inflammatory; food-derived (not approved)	HAT/Ep300 and Tip60	Not described	Cervical Tumor cells	Inhibits Tip60 HAT and ATM acetylation. Promotes resensitizing tumor cells to the cytotoxic effect of radiation.	(246)
					Myeloid Leukemia cells T-Cell Lymphoma cells Lung Cancer cells Prostate Cancer cells	Inhibits p300 HAT activity. Also, inhibits NF-kB activation, inhibits IkBalfa activation, p65 acetylation and nuclear translocation. It potentiates apoptosis via TNF- induced caspase activation and suppresses the expression of genes involved in invasion and angiogenesis.	(247, 248)
	Garcinol	Antioxidant benzophenone (not	HAT2B/Ep300	Not described	Cervical Cancer cells	Inhibits p300 and KAT2B activity, HAT activity and induces apoptosis.	(249)
		approved);			Breast Cancer cells	Decreases H3K18 acetylation and increases DNA damage signaling markers. Inhibits HAT activity and induces cell proliferation arrest.	(250)
					Hepatocellular Carcinoma cells	Decreases HAT activity and inhibits STAT3 activation through acetylation. Decreases proliferation, tumor growth, survival and angiogenesis.	(251)
					Esophageal Carcinoma cells	Decreases p300/CBP levels, induces cell cycle arrest, thus induces apoptosis and inhibits migration and cell invasion and proliferation. Inhibits metastasis and inhibit HAT and its cofactors, decreasing TGF-beta pathway.	(252)
	Plumbagin	Nutraceutical quinone (not approved);	НАТЗВ/рЗОО	Inhibits p300 HAT activity (non- competitive), through a single hydroxyl group of plumbagin that makes a hydrogen bond with the lysine 1358 residue of the p300 HAT domain.	Liver Carcinoma cells	Inhibits p300 HAT activity AND inhibits p300-mediated acetylation of p53 AND reduces H3 and H4 acetylation AND induces apoptosis AND modulates the enzymatic activity of p300. <i>in vivo</i> : reduces H3 acetylation.	(253)
	Lunasin	Natural Compound; food-derived peptide	НАТ	Not described. Possibly a competitive inhibitor	Cancer preventive in mouse Fibroblasts	Suppresses foci formation in mice fibroblast cells induced by chemical carcinogens by the RGD motif and its chromatin-binding property, binding to deacetylated histones, and the reduction of histone acetylation.	(254)
HMTi	Allantodapsone	Antibiotic (Dapsone- derivated)	H4R3me	Inhibitory activity toward PRMT1	Hepatocellular Carcinoma cells	Inhibits cellular H4R3 methylation to the same level as AMI-1, while the H3K4 methylation level is barely impacted.	(255)
	Ribavirin	RSV infections and Hepatitis C	EZH2	Not described. Possibly a selective inhibitor of EZH2	Solid Tumors (Atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumor)	Inhibits cell growth, induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. Also inhibits eIF4E and EZH2 activity decreasing its expression levels. Impairs cell migration, invasion and adhesion. In osteosarcoma enhances chemosensitivity.	(230, 256)
					Breast, Brain, Cervical, Colon and Prostate Cancer cells	Decreases EZH2 expression, inhibits HMT activity and decreases H3K27me3. Induces variable growth inhibition and downregulation of EZH2, eIF4E and IMPDH1.	(257)

(Continued)

#### TABLE 6 | Continued

Class	Compound	First indication	Epigenetic target	Drug-target interaction	Cancer model/New indication	Key features in mechanism	References
	Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ)	Antimalarial/Arthritis	PRC2	Disruption of PRC2-EED complex by allosteric PRC2-EED binding inhibition within the H3K27me3- binding pocket, thus antagonizing the PRC2 catalytic activity	Multiple Myeloma Cells	Decreases H3K27me3 levels in MM cells 3 by disrupting the H3K27me3- EED interaction within the PRC2 complex. Suggesting that its anti-tumor activity might rely on the reactivation of genes abnormally silenced via H3K27 hypermethylation.	(258)
HDMi	Clorgyline	MAO inhibitor	LSD1	Not described	Bladder Cancer cells Colon Cancer cells Promyelocytic Leukemia Cells	Induces DNA demethylation, inhibits LSD1, decreasing H3K4me2 and H3K4me, establishes an active chromatin state. Inhibits cell growth induces the expression of previously silenced genes by enriching H3K4me2 and H3K4me1 histone marks.	(259)
	Geranylgeranoic acid	Natural Compound (not approved)	LSD1	Not described	Neuroblastoma cells	Inhibits LSD1 activity, induces NTRK2 gene expression and increases H3K4me2. Moreover decreases cell proliferation.	(260)
	Pargyline	MAO-B inhibitor; antihypertensive	LSD1	Not described	Prostate Cancer cells	Inhibits cell migration and invasion AND inhibit EMT AND induces E-cadherin expression AND inhibits N-cadherin and Vimentin expression AND delayed PCa transition to CRPC AND decreases PSA expression AND decreases H3K4 and H3K9 di-methylation.	(261)
	Tranylcypromine	Severe depression	LSD1	Not described	Glioblastoma cells	Induces cell death AND inhibits LSD1 activity AND increases cell sensitivity to HDACi.	(262, 263)
	Polymyxin A/B	Antibiotic	LSD1	Inhibits LSD1 by competition with its substrate at the enzyme's cleft entry	Chemical inhibition of LSD1 assay	<i>In vitro</i> assays demonstrated that quinazoline core can represent a privileged scaffold for developing inhibitors that target epigenetic enzymes.	(264)
BETi	Azelastine	Anti-histaminic	BET-BRD4	Inhibits BRD4 through interactions with several key residues of the acetyl lysine binding pocket	Structural <i>in silico</i> assays by docking- based method	Docking-based database screening identified Azelastine drug as a promising novel template exhibiting binding affinity better than the control lead (+)-JQ1 for the human BRD4. Azelastine is having a low molecular weight, which gives a scope of further chemical modification to enrich its binding affinity for BRD4.	(265)
	Nitroxoline	Antibiotic	BET-BRD4	Occupies the acetylated lysine binding pocket of the first bromodomain of BRD4	MLL Leukemia cells	Prevents the binding of BRD4 to acetylated H4	(266)

Frontiers in Oncology | www.frontiersin.org

growing due to a broad range of reposition candidate molecules that already have clinical and toxicity profiling developments. One factor that has strongly driven this approach is the increasing availability of biomedical data, including genomic data, which covers various aspects of cellular mechanisms, opening a search that is not restricted to biological factors involved in a disease. This omic perspective allows the deduction of complex interactions that can be inhibited or treated to cure or reverse a pathological condition. Advances in complementary bioinformatic analytical methods provide critical substrate candidates that enable their systematic evaluation. Therefore, a window of opportunity opens where the reuse of previously synthesized drugs can be investigated and given a new direction. Epi-DR has already shown a profit in epigenetics and cancer treatment, where it has proven its efficacy. Indeed, many epidrugs emerged this way, such as 5-azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) (146), Hydralazine (156), Vorinostat (SAHA), and Valproic acid (236).

Epigenetic alterations are considered to be among the earliest and most comprehensive genomic aberrations occurring during carcinogenesis, and therefore it has been classified as a hallmark of cancer (270). The impact of epigenetics in understanding cancer has been of great interest in recent years, and even more due to the advancement of the genomic era. Several works demonstrate the importance of epigenetic biomarkers that can predict the response or prognosis in various types of cancer. The promoter methylation of the MGMT gene in gliomas is a clear example, where it helps to indicate the use of precision medicine through the drug temozolomide (271). Another example is found in EHZ2 enzyme alterations, which indicate a poor prognosis in breast, prostate, and other types of cancers.

Epigenetic mechanisms have great flexibility to respond to environmental changes and modify gene expression. Consequently, search for artificial ways to induce epigenetic remodeling, which could improve therapy in the event of a disease as cancer. Therefore, the implementation of epigenetic therapies opens a new panorama for the fight against cancer. Epidrugs show enormous potential for clinical use, especially in cancer, because in these diseases, an epigenetic imbalance is a well-known characteristic that is both of origin, development, and severity of tumors.

Even though there are already some epidrugs approved by the FDA and the current knowledge about various mechanisms involved in gene regulation, promoted by the advancement of technologies that expand the information on specific epigenetic mechanisms, challenges remain in identifying epigenetic modifications of cancer and targeting them for therapeutic purposes. Among them stands out that epigenetic changes can

## REFERENCES

- Arrowsmith CH, Bountra C, Fish PV, Lee K, Schapira M. Epigenetic protein families: a new frontier for drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2012) 11 (5):384–400. doi: 10.1038/nrd3674
- Fardi M, Solali S, Farshdousti Hagh M. Epigenetic mechanisms as a new approach in cancer treatment: An updated review. *Genes Dis* (2018) 5 (4):304–11. doi: 10.1016/j.gendis.2018.06.003

be diverse in the types of cancer and between the different clinical phases and those that are dependent on environmental conditions. Therefore, we must distinguish between the dysregulation of driver genes and those whose changes are secondary to these. Also, the generation of epigenetic therapies as well as the molecular mechanisms that coordinate them is subject to understanding, and much research is still required of several of them to safely transport them to the clinic. However, identifying epigenetic alterations that affect the tumor's fate and behavior finding drugs that target them are some of the promises of epigenetic therapy in cancer.

In this sense, the concept of reusing a medicine offers a broad scope to investigate the hidden potential behind the medicine and to recycle it. The reincorporation of a drug with the potential to remodel epigenetic characteristics, which are beneficial for cancer management, is of great interest to the field. Offering great advantages in drug development times could lead to precision medicine therapy with new and clearly encouraging prospects for the future (**Figure 4**).

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MM-C and MM-R wrote and designed the manuscript. RG-B coordinated, wrote, and designed the manuscript. RG-B and VJ-G revised the manuscript. VJ-G elaborated on the figures. CA-C wrote and revised the manuscript, and LH coordinated and directed the review development. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by the Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACyT) by the Fondo Sectorial de Investigación en Salud y Seguridad Social (FOSISS, grant no. SALUD-2017-2-290041). Marco Antonio Meraz-Rodriguez is a masters student in the "Programa de Maestría y Doctorado en Ciencias Bioquímicas, UNAM", and received a fellowship from CONACyT (CVU 659273, no. 481908).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the National Cancer Institute of Mexico (INCan) for support to the present work. We thank Juan F. Duarte-Campos and Hugo R. Barajas for their critical comments and review.

- Kelly TK, De Carvalho DD, Jones PA. Epigenetic Modifications as Therapeutic Targets. Nat Biotechnol (2010) 28(10):1069–78. doi: 10.1038/ nbt.1678
- Jerónimo C, Bastian PJ, Bjartell A, Carbone GM, Catto JWF, Clark SJ, et al. Epigenetics in Prostate Cancer: Biologic and Clinical Relevance. *Eur Urol* (2011) 60(4):753–66. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2011.06.035
- Strauss J, Figg WD. Using Epigenetic Therapy to Overcome Chemotherapy Resistance. Anticancer Res (2016) 36(1):1–4.

- Miranda Furtado CL, Dos Santos Luciano MC, Da Silva Santos R, Furtado GP, Moraes MO, Pessoa C. Epidrugs: targeting epigenetic marks in cancer treatment. *Epigenetics* (2019) 14(12):1164–76. doi: 10.1080/15592294.2019.1640546
- Rodríguez-Paredes M, Esteller M. Cancer epigenetics reaches mainstream oncology. Nat Med (2011) 17(3):330–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2305
- Naveja JJ, Dueñas-González A, Medina-Franco JL. Drug Repurposing for Epigenetic Targets Guided by Computational Methods. In: *Epi-Informatics*. Elsevier (2016). p. 327–57. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-802808-7.00012-5
- Moreira-Silva F, Camilo V, Gaspar V, Mano JF, Henrique R, Jerónimo C. Repurposing Old Drugs into New Epigenetic Inhibitors: Promising Candidates for Cancer Treatment? *Pharmaceutics* (2020) 12(5):410. doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics12050410
- Blatt J, Corey SJ. Drug repurposing in pediatrics and pediatric hematology oncology. *Drug Discovery Today* (2013) 18(1–2):4–10. doi: 10.1016/ j.drudis.2012.07.009
- Shim JS, Liu JO. Recent Advances in Drug Repositioning for the Discovery of New Anticancer Drugs. *Int J Biol Sci* (2014) 10(7):654–63. doi: 10.7150/ ijbs.9224
- 12. Waddington CH. The epigenotype. 1942. Int J Epidemiol (2012) 41(1):10–3. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyr184
- Deans C, Maggert KA. What do you mean, 'epigenetic'? *Genetics* (2015) 199 (4):887–96. doi: 10.1534/genetics.114.173492
- Ganesan A, Arimondo PB, Rots MG, Jeronimo C, Berdasco M. The timeline of epigenetic drug discovery: from reality to dreams. *Clin Epigenet* (2019) 11:1–2. doi: 10.1186/s13148-019-0776-0
- Roberti A, Valdes AF, Torrecillas R, Fraga MF, Fernandez AF. Epigenetics in cancer therapy and nanomedicine. *Clin Epigenet* (2019) 11(1):81. doi: 10.1186/s13148-019-0675-4
- el Bahhaj F, Dekker FJ, Martinet N, Bertrand P. Delivery of epidrugs. Drug Discovery Today (2014) 19(9):1337–52. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2014.03.017
- Biswas S, Rao CM. Epigenetic tools (The Writers, The Readers and The Erasers) and their implications in cancer therapy. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2018) 837:8–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.08.021
- Portela A, Esteller M. Epigenetic modifications and human disease. Nat Biotechnol (2010) 28(10):1057–68. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1685
- Moore LD, Le T, Fan G. DNA Methylation and Its Basic Function. Neuropsychopharmacology (2013) 38(1):23–38. doi: 10.1038/npp.2012.112
- Kuroda A, Rauch TA, Todorov I, Ku HT, Al-Abdullah IH, Kandeel F, et al. Insulin Gene Expression Is Regulated by DNA Methylation. *PloS One* (2009) 4(9):e6953. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006953 Maedler K (ed.).
- Esteller M. Epigenetic gene silencing in cancer: the DNA hypermethylome. Hum Mol Genet (2007) 16:R50–59. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddm018
- Suzuki MM, Bird A. DNA methylation landscapes: provocative insights from epigenomics. Nat Rev Genet (2008) 9(6):465–76. doi: 10.1038/nrg2341
- Smith BC, Denu JM. Chemical mechanisms of histone lysine and arginine modifications. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2009) 1789(1):45–57. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbagrm.2008.06.005
- Gros C, Fahy J, Halby L, Dufau I, Erdmann A, Gregoire J-M, et al. DNA methylation inhibitors in cancer: recent and future approaches. *Biochimie* (2012) 94(11):2280–96. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2012.07.025
- Peterson CL, Laniel M-A. Histones and histone modifications. *Curr Biol: CB* (2004) 14(14):R546–551. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.07.007
- Wang Z, Schones DE, Zhao K. Characterization of human epigenomes. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2009) 19(2):127–34. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2009.02.001
- Swygert SG, Peterson CL. Chromatin dynamics: interplay between remodeling enzymes and histone modifications. *Biochim Et Biophys Acta* (2014) 1839(8):728–36. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.02.013
- de Lera AR, Ganesan A. Epigenetic polypharmacology: from combination therapy to multitargeted drugs. *Clin Epigenet* (2016) 8:4–9. doi: 10.1186/ s13148-016-0271-9
- 29. Hodawadekar SC, Marmorstein R. Chemistry of acetyl transfer by histone modifying enzymes: structure, mechanism and implications for effector design. *Oncogene* (2007) 26(37):5528–40. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210619
- Dancy BM, Cole PA. Protein Lysine Acetylation by p300/CBP. Chem Rev (2015) 115(6):2419–52. doi: 10.1021/cr500452k
- Zhang Y, Fang H, Jiao J, Xu W. The structure and function of histone deacetylases: the target for anti-cancer therapy. *Curr Medicinal Chem* (2008) 15(27):2840–9. doi: 10.2174/092986708786242796

- 32. Zhu P, Martin E, Mengwasser J, Schlag P, Janssen K-P, Göttlicher M. Induction of HDAC2 expression upon loss of APC in colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell* (2004) 5(5):455–63. doi: 10.1016/s1535-6108 (04)00114-x
- 33. Ropero S, Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Hamelin R, Yamamoto H, Boix-Chornet M, et al. A truncating mutation of HDAC2 in human cancers confers resistance to histone deacetylase inhibition. *Nat Genet* (2006) 38(5):566–9. doi: 10.1038/ng1773
- 34. You JS, Jones PA. Cancer genetics and epigenetics: two sides of the same coin? *Cancer Cell* (2012) 22(1):9–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.06.008
- 35. Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Villar-Garea A, Boix-Chornet M, Espada J, Schotta G, et al. Loss of acetylation at Lys16 and trimethylation at Lys20 of histone H4 is a common hallmark of human cancer. *Nat Genet* (2005) 37(4):391–400. doi: 10.1038/ng1531
- Sharma S, Kelly TK, Jones PA. Epigenetics in cancer. Carcinogenesis (2010) 31(1):27–36. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgp220
- Feng Q, Wang H, Ng HH, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Struhl K, et al. Methylation of H3-Lysine 79 Is Mediated by a New Family of HMTases without a SET Domain. *Curr Biol* (2002) 12(12):1052–8. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00901-6
- Nguyen AT, Zhang Y. The diverse functions of Dot1 and H3K79 methylation. Genes Dev (2011) 25(13):1345–58. doi: 10.1101/gad.2057811
- Karlić R, Chung H-R, Lasserre J, Vlahovicek K, Vingron M. Histone modification levels are predictive for gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2010) 107(7):2926–31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0909344107
- Shi Y, Whetstine JR. Dynamic regulation of histone lysine methylation by demethylases. *Mol Cell* (2007) 25(1):1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel. 2006.12.010
- Dalgliesh GL, Furge K, Greenman C, Chen L, Bignell G, Butler A, et al. Systematic sequencing of renal carcinoma reveals inactivation of histone modifying genes. *Nature* (2010) 463(7279):360–3. doi: 10.1038/nature08672
- Hamamoto R, Furukawa Y, Morita M, Iimura Y, Silva FP, Li M, et al. SMYD3 encodes a histone methyltransferase involved in the proliferation of cancer cells. *Nat Cell Biol* (2004) 6(8):731–40. doi: 10.1038/ncb1151
- 43. Kondo Y, Shen L, Suzuki S, Kurokawa T, Masuko K, Tanaka Y, et al. Alterations of DNA methylation and histone modifications contribute to gene silencing in hepatocellular carcinomas. *Hepatol Res: Off J Japan Soc Hepatol* (2007) 37(11):974–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2007.00141.x
- Füllgrabe J, Kavanagh E, Joseph B. Histone onco-modifications. Oncogene (2011) 30(31):3391–403. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.121
- Berdasco M, Esteller M. Clinical epigenetics: seizing opportunities for translation. Nat Rev Genet (2019) 20(2):109–27. doi: 10.1038/s41576-018-0074-2
- 46. Lv J-F, Hu L, Zhuo W, Zhang C-M, Zhou H-H, Fan L. Epigenetic alternations and cancer chemotherapy response. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2016) 77(4):673–84. doi: 10.1007/s00280-015-2951-0
- Evans WE, Johnson JA. Pharmacogenomics: the inherited basis for interindividual differences in drug response. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet* (2001) 2:9–39. doi: 10.1146/annurev.genom.2.1.9
- Sharma SV, Lee DY, Li B, Quinlan MP, Takahashi F, Maheswaran S, et al. A chromatin-mediated reversible drug-tolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. *Cell* (2010) 141(1):69–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.027
- 49. El-Khoury V, Breuzard G, Fourré N, Dufer J. The histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A downregulates human MDR1 (ABCB1) gene expression by a transcription-dependent mechanism in a drug-resistant small cell lung carcinoma cell line model. *Br J Cancer* (2007) 97(4):562–73. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603914
- Kumar S, Kushwaha PP, Gupta S. Emerging targets in cancer drug resistance. *Cancer Drug Resist* (2019) 2(2):161-77. doi: 10.20517/ cdr.2018.27
- 51. Salarinia R, Sahebkar A, Peyvandi M, Reza Mirzaei H, Reza Jaafari M, Matbou Riahi M, et al. Epi-Drugs and Epi-miRs: Moving Beyond Current Cancer Therapies. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* (2016) 16(9):773–88. doi: 10.2174/1568009616666151207110143
- Lauschke VM, Barragan I, Ingelman-Sundberg M. Pharmacoepigenetics and Toxicoepigenetics: Novel Mechanistic Insights and Therapeutic Opportunities. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol (2018) 58(1):161–85. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010617-053021
- Brown R, Curry E, Magnani L, Wilhelm-Benartzi CS, Borley J. Poised epigenetic states and acquired drug resistance in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2014) 14(11):747–53. doi: 10.1038/nrc3819
- Kumar R, Harilal S, Gupta SV, Jose J, Thomas Parambi DG, Uddin M, et al. Exploring the new horizons of drug repurposing: A vital tool for turning hard work into smart work. *Eur J Medicinal Chem* (2019) 182:111602. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111602
- Raynal NJ-M, Da Costa EM, Lee JT, Gharibyan V, Ahmed S, Zhang H, et al. Repositioning FDA-approved drugs in combination with epigenetic drugs to reprogram colon cancer epigenome. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2017) 16(2):397–407. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-16-0588
- Nebbioso A, Carafa V, Benedetti R, Altucci L. Trials with 'epigenetic' drugs: an update. *Mol Oncol* (2012) 6(6):657–82. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2012.09.004
- 57. Cartron P-F, Cheray M, Bretaudeau L. Epigenetic protein complexes: the adequate candidates for the use of a new generation of epidrugs in personalized and precision medicine in cancer. *Epigenomics* (2019) 12 (2):171–7. doi: 10.2217/epi-2019-0169
- Bennett RL, Licht JD. Targeting Epigenetics in Cancer. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol (2018) 58:187–207. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010716-105106
- Morel D, Jeffery D, Aspeslagh S, Almouzni G, Postel-Vinay S. Combining epigenetic drugs with other therapies for solid tumours - past lessons and future promise. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17(2):91–107. doi: 10.1038/ s41571-019-0267-4
- Erdmann A, Halby L, Fahy J, Arimondo PB. Targeting DNA methylation with small molecules: what's next? *J Medicinal Chem* (2015) 58(6):2569–83. doi: 10.1021/jm500843d
- Leone G, Teofili L, Voso MT, Lübbert M. DNA methylation and demethylating drugs in myelodysplastic syndromes and secondary leukemias. *Haematologica* (2002) 87(12):1324–41.
- Gaulton A, Hersey A, Nowotka M, Bento AP, Chambers J, Mendez D, et al. The ChEMBL database in 2017. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2017) 45(D1):D945–54. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw1074
- 63. Sébert M, Renneville A, Bally C, Peterlin P, Beyne-Rauzy O, Legros L, et al. A phase II study of guadecitabine in higher-risk myelodysplastic syndrome and low blast count acute myeloid leukemia after azacitidine failure. *Haematologica* (2019) 104(8):1565–71. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018. 207118
- Azad N, Zahnow CA, Rudin CM, Baylin SB. The future of epigenetic therapy in solid tumours–lessons from the past. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2013) 10 (5):256–66. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2013.42
- Zhang J, Zheng YG. SAM/SAH Analogs as Versatile Tools for SAM-Dependent Methyltransferases. ACS Chem Biol (2016) 11(3):583–97. doi: 10.1021/acschembio.5b00812
- 66. Asgatay S, Champion C, Marloie G, Drujon T, Senamaud-Beaufort C, Ceccaldi A, et al. Synthesis and evaluation of analogues of N-phthaloyl-ltryptophan (RG108) as inhibitors of DNA methyltransferase 1. J Medicinal Chem (2014) 57(2):421–34. doi: 10.1021/jm401419p
- Candelaria M, de la Cruz-Hernandez E, Taja-Chayeb L, Perez-Cardenas E, Trejo-Becerril C, Gonzalez-Fierro A, et al. DNA Methylation-Independent Reversion of Gemcitabine Resistance by Hydralazine in Cervical Cancer Cells. *PloS One* (2012) 7(3):e29181. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029181
- Ceccaldi A, Rajavelu A, Champion C, Rampon C, Jurkowska R, Jankevicius G, et al. C5-DNA Methyltransferase Inhibitors: From Screening to Effects on Zebrafish Embryo Development. *ChemBioChem* (2011) 12(9):1337–45. doi: 10.1002/cbic.201100130
- 69. Davis AJ, Gelmon KA, Siu LL, Moore MJ, Britten CD, Mistry N, et al. and pharmacologic study of the human DNA methyltransferase antisense oligodeoxynucleotide MG98 given as a 21-day continuous infusion every 4 weeks. *Invest New Drugs* (2003) 21(1):85–97. doi: 10.1023/a:1022976528441
- 70. Lin J, Haffner MC, Zhang Y, Lee BH, Brennen WN, Britton J, et al. Disulfiram is a DNA demethylating agent and inhibits prostate cancer cell growth. *Prostate* (2011) 71(4):333–43. doi: 10.1002/pros.21247
- Lu Y, Chan Y-T, Tan H-Y, Li S, Wang N, Feng Y. Epigenetic regulation in human cancer: the potential role of epi-drug in cancer therapy. *Mol Cancer* (2020) 19:6–8. doi: 10.1186/s12943-020-01197-3
- Yang X, Lay F, Han H, Jones PA. Targeting DNA methylation for epigenetic therapy. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2010) 31(11):536–46. doi: 10.1016/ j.tips.2010.08.001

- Archin NM, Kirchherr JL, Sung JAM, Clutton G, Sholtis K, Xu Y, et al. Interval dosing with the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat effectively reverses HIV latency. J Clin Invest (2020) 127(8):3126–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI92684
- 74. Jiang C, Lian X, Gao C, Sun X, Einkauf KB, Chevalier JM, et al. Distinct viral reservoirs in individuals with spontaneous control of HIV-1. *Nature* (2020) 585:1–7. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2651-8
- 75. Connolly RM, Li H, Jankowitz RC, Zhang Z, Rudek MA, Jeter SC, et al. Combination Epigenetic Therapy in Advanced Breast Cancer with 5-Azacitidine and Entinostat: A Phase II National Cancer Institute/Stand Up to Cancer Study. *Clin Cancer Res: Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2017) 23 (11):2691–701. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1729
- Juergens RA, Wrangle J, Vendetti FP, Murphy SC, Zhao M, Coleman B, et al. Combination epigenetic therapy has efficacy in patients with refractory advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Discovery* (2011) 1(7):598–607. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-11-0214
- Mai A, Altucci L. Epi-drugs to fight cancer: from chemistry to cancer treatment, the road ahead. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2009) 41(1):199–213. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2008.08.020
- Pontiki E, Hadjipavlou-Litina D. Histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACIs). Structure-activity relationships: history and new QSAR perspectives. *Medicinal Res Rev* (2012) 32(1):1–165. doi: 10.1002/med.20200
- Jaboin J, Wild J, Hamidi H, Khanna C, Kim CJ, Robey R, et al. MS-27-275, an inhibitor of histone deacetylase, has marked in vitro and in vivo antitumor activity against pediatric solid tumors. *Cancer Res* (2002) 62 (21):6108–15.
- Prachayasittikul V, Prathipati P, Pratiwi R, Phanus-Umporn C, Malik AA, Schaduangrat N, et al. Exploring the epigenetic drug discovery landscape. *Expert Opin Drug Discovery* (2017) 12(4):345–62. doi: 10.1080/ 17460441.2017.1295954
- 81. Yardley DA, Ismail-Khan RR, Melichar B, Lichinitser M, Munster PN, Klein PM, et al. Randomized phase II, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of exemestane with or without entinostat in postmenopausal women with locally recurrent or metastatic estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer progressing on treatment with a nonsteroidal aromatase inhibitor. J Clin Oncol: Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2013) 31(17):2128–35. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.43.7251
- Tomaselli D, Lucidi A, Rotili D, Mai A. Epigenetic polypharmacology: A new frontier for epi-drug discovery. *Medicinal Res Rev* (2020) 40(1):190–244. doi: 10.1002/med.21600
- Mahajan SS, Leko V, Simon JA, Bedalov A. Sirtuin modulators. *Handb Exp* Pharmacol (2011) 206:241–55. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-21631-2\_11
- Copeland RA, Moyer MP, Richon VM. Targeting genetic alterations in protein methyltransferases for personalized cancer therapeutics. *Oncogene* (2013) 32(8):939–46. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.552
- Han D, Huang M, Wang T, Li Z, Chen Y, Liu C, et al. Lysine methylation of transcription factors in cancer. *Cell Death Dis* (2019) 10(4):1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1524-2
- Morin RD, Johnson NA, Severson TM, Mungall AJ, An J, Goya R, et al. Somatic mutations altering EZH2 (Tyr641) in follicular and diffuse large Bcell lymphomas of germinal-center origin. *Nat Genet* (2010) 42(2):181–5. doi: 10.1038/ng.518
- Sermer D, Pasqualucci L, Wendel H-G, Melnick A, Younes A. Emerging epigenetic-modulating therapies in lymphoma. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2019) 16 (8):494–507. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0190-8
- Sneeringer CJ, Scott MP, Kuntz KW, Knutson SK, Pollock RM, Richon VM, et al. Coordinated activities of wild-type plus mutant EZH2 drive tumorassociated hypertrimethylation of lysine 27 on histone H3 (H3K27) in human B-cell lymphomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2010) 107(49):20980–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1012525107
- Béguelin W, Popovic R, Teater M, Jiang Y, Bunting KL, Rosen M, et al. EZH2 is required for germinal center formation and somatic EZH2 mutations promote lymphoid transformation. *Cancer Cell* (2013) 23(5):677–92. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.04.011
- Li X, Wang C, Jiang H, Luo C. A patent review of arginine methyltransferase inhibitors (2010-2018). *Expert Opin Ther Patents* (2019) 29(2):97–114. doi: 10.1080/13543776.2019.1567711
- Rose NR, Ng SS, Mecinović J, Liénard BMR, Bello SH, Sun Z, et al. Inhibitor Scaffolds for 2-Oxoglutarate-Dependent Histone Lysine Demethylases. J Medicinal Chem (2008) 51(22):7053–6. doi: 10.1021/jm800936s

- 92. Joberty G, Boesche M, Brown JA, Eberhard D, Garton NS, Humphreys PG, et al. Interrogating the Druggability of the 2-Oxoglutarate-Dependent Dioxygenase Target Class by Chemical Proteomics. ACS Chem Biol (2016) 11(7):2002–10. doi: 10.1021/acschembio.6b00080
- Shi Y, Lan F, Matson C, Mulligan P, Whetstine JR, Cole PA, et al. Histone demethylation mediated by the nuclear amine oxidase homolog LSD1. *Cell* (2004) 119(7):941–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.12.012
- Niebel D, Kirfel J, Janzen V, Höller T, Majores M, Gütgemann I. Lysinespecific demethylase 1 (LSD1) in hematopoietic and lymphoid neoplasms. *Blood* (2014) 124(1):151–2. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-04-569525
- Yang G-J, Lei P-M, Wong S-Y, Ma D-L, Leung C-H. Pharmacological Inhibition of LSD1 for Cancer Treatment. *Molecules* (2018) 23(12):9–11. doi: 10.3390/molecules23123194
- Shih JC, Chen K, Ridd MJ. Monoamine oxidase: from genes to behavior. *Annu Rev Neurosci* (1999) 22:197–217. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro. 22.1.197
- Yang M, Culhane JC, Szewczuk LM, Jalili P, Ball HL, Machius M, et al. Structural basis for the inhibition of the LSD1 histone demethylase by the antidepressant trans-2-phenylcyclopropylamine. *Biochemistry* (2007) 46 (27):8058–65. doi: 10.1021/bi700664y
- Zheng Y-C, Yu B, Chen Z-S, Liu Y, Liu H-M. TCPs: privileged scaffolds for identifying potent LSD1 inhibitors for cancer therapy. *Epigenomics* (2016) 8 (5):651–66. doi: 10.2217/epi-2015-0002
- Shortt J, Ott CJ, Johnstone RW, Bradner JE. A chemical probe toolbox for dissecting the cancer epigenome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2017) 17(4):268. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.26
- 100. Doroshow DB, Eder JP, LoRusso PM. BET inhibitors: a novel epigenetic approach. Ann Oncol: Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol (2017) 28(8):1776–87. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx157
- 101. Zuber J, Shi J, Wang E, Rappaport AR, Herrmann H, Sison EA, et al. RNAi screen identifies Brd4 as a therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukaemia. *Nature* (2011) 478(7370):524–8. doi: 10.1038/nature10334
- 102. Morel D, Almouzni G, Soria J-C, Postel-Vinay S. Targeting chromatin defects in selected solid tumors based on oncogene addiction, synthetic lethality and epigenetic antagonism. Ann Oncol: Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol (2017) 28(2):254–69. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw552
- 103. Winkler J, Raina K, Altieri M, Dong H, Wang J, Chen X, et al. PROTAC BET degraders are more broadly effective than BET inhibitors. *Eur J Cancer* (2016) 69:S10. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(16)32621-1
- 104. Kummar S, Chen HX, Wright J, Holbeck S, Millin MD, Tomaszewski J, et al. Utilizing targeted cancer therapeutic agents in combination: novel approaches and urgent requirements. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2010) 9 (11):843–56. doi: 10.1038/nrd3216
- Li YY, Jones SJ. Drug repositioning for personalized medicine. *Genome Med* (2012) 4(3):27. doi: 10.1186/gm326
- 106. Hopkins AL. Drug discovery: Predicting promiscuity. Nature (2009) 462 (7270):167–8. doi: 10.1038/462167a
- 107. Ashburn TT, Thor KB. Drug repositioning: identifying and developing new uses for existing drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2004) 3(8):673–83. doi: 10.1038/nrd1468
- Pantziarka P. Scientific advice is drug repurposing missing a trick? Nature Reviews. Clin Oncol (2017) 14(8):455–6. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.69
- 109. Pushpakom S, Iorio F, Eyers PA, Escott KJ, Hopper S, Wells A, et al. Drug repurposing: progress, challenges and recommendations. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2019) 18(1):41–58. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.168
- 110. YCharts. *Pfizer's Expiring Viagra Patent Adversely Affects Other Drugmakers Too.* Jersey City, NJ: Forbes (2020).
- Urquhart L. Market watch: Top drugs and companies by sales in 2017. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2018) 17(4):232. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.42
- 112. Tartaglia LA. Complementary new approaches enable repositioning of failed drug candidates. *Expert Opin Invest Drugs* (2006) 15(11):1295–8. doi: 10.1517/13543784.15.11.1295
- 113. Brehmer D, Greff Z, Godl K, Blencke S, Kurtenbach A, Weber M, et al. Cellular Targets of Gefitinib. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(2):379–82.
- 114. Moffat JG, Vincent F, Lee JA, Eder J, Prunotto M. Opportunities and challenges in phenotypic drug discovery: an industry perspective. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2017) 16(8):531–43. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2017.111

- 115. Chong CR, Xu J, Lu J, Bhat S, Sullivan DJ, Liu JO. Inhibition of angiogenesis by the antifungal drug itraconazole. ACS Chem Biol (2007) 2(4):263–70. doi: 10.1021/cb600362d
- Sundberg SA. High-throughput and ultra-high-throughput screening: solution- and cell-based approaches. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* (2000) 11 (1):47-53. doi: 10.1016/s0958-1669(99)00051-8
- Reaume AG. Drug repurposing through nonhypothesis driven phenotypic screening. *Drug Discovery Today: Ther Strategies* (2011) 8(3–4):85–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ddstr.2011.09.007
- Hurle MR, Yang L, Xie Q, Rajpal DK, Sanseau P, Agarwal P. Computational drug repositioning: from data to therapeutics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* (2013) 93 (4):335–41. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2013.1
- 119. Hieronymus H, Lamb J, Ross KN, Peng XP, Clement C, Rodina A, et al. Gene expression signature-based chemical genomic prediction identifies a novel class of HSP90 pathway modulators. *Cancer Cell* (2006) 10(4):321–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.09.005
- 120. Kitchen DB, Decornez H, Furr JR, Bajorath J. Docking and scoring in virtual screening for drug discovery: methods and applications. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2004) 3(11):935–49. doi: 10.1038/nrd1549
- 121. Sanseau P, Agarwal P, Barnes MR, Pastinen T, Richards JB, Cardon LR, et al. Use of genome-wide association studies for drug repositioning. *Nat Biotechnol* (2012) 30(4):317–20. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2151
- 122. Greene CS, Voight BF. Pathway and network-based strategies to translate genetic discoveries into effective therapies. *Hum Mol Genet* (2016) 25(R2): R94–8. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddw160
- 123. Wei W-Q, Denny JC. Extracting research-quality phenotypes from electronic health records to support precision medicine. *Genome Med* (2015) 7(1):2–8. doi: 10.1186/s13073-015-0166-y
- 124. Wicks P, Vaughan TE, Massagli MP, Heywood J. Accelerated clinical discovery using self-reported patient data collected online and a patientmatching algorithm. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29(5):411–4. doi: 10.1038/ nbt.1837
- 125. Medina-Franco JL, Yoo J, Dueñas-González A. DNA Methyltransferase Inhibitors for Cancer Therapy. In: *Epigenetic Technological Applications*. Elsevier (2015). p. 265–90. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-801080-8.00013-2
- 126. Carrella D, Napolitano F, Rispoli R, Miglietta M, Carissimo A, Cutillo L, et al. Mantra 2.0: an online collaborative resource for drug mode of action and repurposing by network analysis. *Bioinf (Oxford England)* (2014) 30 (12):1787–8. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btu058
- 127. Chang RL, Xie L, Xie L, Bourne PE, Palsson BØ. Drug off-target effects predicted using structural analysis in the context of a metabolic network model. *PloS Comput Biol* (2010) 6(9):e1000938. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pcbi.1000938
- Knapp S, Weinmann H. Small-Molecule Modulators for Epigenetics Targets. *ChemMedChem* (2013) 8(11):1885–91. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201300344
- 129. Wang Y, Bryant SH, Cheng T, Wang J, Gindulyte A, Shoemaker BA, et al. PubChem BioAssay: 2017 update. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2017) 45(D1):D955–63. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw1118
- Ursu O, Holmes J, Bologa CG, Yang JJ, Mathias SL, Stathias V, et al. DrugCentral 2018: an update. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2019) 47(D1):D963–70. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky963
- 131. Tanoli Z, Alam Z, Vähä-Koskela M, Ravikumar B, Malyutina A, Jaiswal A, et al. Drug Target Commons 2.0: a community platform for systematic analysis of drug-target interaction profiles. *Database: J Biol Database Curation* (2018) 2018:1–13. doi: 10.1093/database/bay083
- 132. Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC, Shrivastava S, Hassanali M, Stothard P, et al. DrugBank: a comprehensive resource for in silico drug discovery and exploration. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2006) 34(Database issue):D668–672. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkj067
- 133. Qi Y, Wang D, Wang D, Jin T, Yang L, Wu H, et al. HEDD: the human epigenetic drug database(2016). (Accessed Accessed: 10th October 2020). doi: 10.1093/database/baw159
- 134. Shah SG, Mandloi T, Kunte P, Natu A, Rashid M, Reddy D, et al. HISTome2: a database of histone proteins, modifiers for multiple organisms and epidrugs. *Epigenet Chromatin* (2020) 13(1):31. doi: 10.1186/s13072-020-00354-8
- 135. Singh Nanda J, Kumar R, Raghava GPS. dbEM: A database of epigenetic modifiers curated from cancerous and normal genomes. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6 (1):19340. doi: 10.1038/srep19340

- von Eichborn J, Murgueitio MS, Dunkel M, Koerner S, Bourne PE, Preissner R. PROMISCUOUS: a database for network-based drug-repositioning. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2011) 39(Database issue):D1060–6. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1037
- 137. Corsello SM, Bittker JA, Liu Z, Gould J, McCarren P, Hirschman JE, et al. The Drug Repurposing Hub: a next-generation drug library and information resource. *Nat Med* (2017) 23(4):405–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.4306
- 138. Shameer K, Glicksberg BS, Hodos R, Johnson KW, Badgeley MA, Readhead B, et al. Systematic analyses of drugs and disease indications in RepurposeDB reveal pharmacological, biological and epidemiological factors influencing drug repositioning. *Briefings Bioinf* (2018) 19(4):656–78. doi: 10.1093/bib/ bbw136
- Brown AS, Patel CJ. A standard database for drug repositioning. Sci Data (2017) 4(1):170029. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2017.29
- 140. Himmelstein DS, Lizee A, Hessler C, Brueggeman L, Chen SL, Hadley D, et al. Systematic integration of biomedical knowledge prioritizes drugs for repurposing. *eLife* (2017) 6:e26726. doi: 10.7554/eLife.26726
- 141. Pantziarka P, Bouche G, Meheus L, Sukhatme V, Sukhatme VP. The Repurposing Drugs in Oncology (ReDO) Project (Accessed 10th October 2020).
- 142. Tanoli Z, Seemab U, Scherer A, Wennerberg K, Tang J, Vähä-Koskela M. Exploration of databases and methods supporting drug repurposing: a comprehensive survey. *Briefings Bioinf* (2020) 1–23. doi: 10.1093/bib/ bbaa003
- 143. Hay M, Thomas DW, Craighead JL, Economides C, Rosenthal J. Clinical development success rates for investigational drugs. *Nat Biotechnol* (2014) 32 (1):40–51. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2786
- 144. Chen S, Wang Z, Huang Y, O'Barr SA, Wong RA, Yeung S, et al. Ginseng and Anticancer Drug Combination to Improve Cancer Chemotherapy: A Critical Review. *Evidence-Based Complement Altern Med* (2014) 2014:1–13. doi: 10.1155/2014/168940
- 145. Lötsch J, Schneider G, Reker D, Parnham MJ, Schneider P, Geisslinger G, et al. Common non-epigenetic drugs as epigenetic modulators. *Trends Mol Med* (2013) 19(12):742–53. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2013.08.006
- 146. Christman JK. 5-Azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine as inhibitors of DNA methylation: mechanistic studies and their implications for cancer therapy. Oncogene (2002) 21(35):5483–95. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205699
- 147. Fenaux P, Mufti GJ, Hellstrom-Lindberg E, Santini V, Finelli C, Giagounidis A, et al. Efficacy of azacitidine compared with that of conventional care regimens in the treatment of higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes: a randomised, open-label, phase III study. *Lancet Oncol* (2009) 10(3):223–32. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(09)70003-8
- 148. Kantarjian H, Issa J-PJ, Rosenfeld CS, Bennett JM, Albitar M, DiPersio J, et al. Decitabine improves patient outcomes in myelodysplastic syndromes: results of a phase III randomized study. *Cancer* (2006) 106(8):1794–803. doi: 10.1002/cncr.21792
- 149. Oodi A, Norouzi H, Amirizadeh N, Nikougoftar M, Vafaie Z. Harmine, a Novel DNA Methyltransferase 1 Inhibitor in the Leukemia Cell Line. *Indian J Hematol Blood Transfusion: Off J Indian Soc Hematol Blood Transfusion* (2017) 33(4):509–15. doi: 10.1007/s12288-016-0770-z
- Lee WJ, Zhu BT. Inhibition of DNA methylation by caffeic acid and chlorogenic acid, two common catechol-containing coffee polyphenols. *Carcinogenesis* (2006) 27(2):269–77. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgi206
- 151. Fagan RL, Cryderman DE, Kopelovich L, Wallrath LL, Brenner C. Laccaic Acid A Is a Direct, DNA-competitive Inhibitor of DNA Methyltransferase 1. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288(33):23858–67. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.480517
- 152. Li Y-C, Wang Y, Li D-D, Zhang Y, Zhao T-C, Li C-F. Procaine is a specific DNA methylation inhibitor with anti-tumor effect for human gastric cancer. *J Cell Biochem* (2018) 119(2):2440–9. doi: 10.1002/jcb.26407
- 153. Villar-Garea A, Fraga MF, Espada J, Esteller M. Procaine is a DNAdemethylating agent with growth-inhibitory effects in human cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(16):4984–9.
- Lee BH, Yegnasubramanian S, Lin X, Nelson WG. Procainamide Is a Specific Inhibitor of DNA Methyltransferase 1. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(49):40749– 56. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M505593200
- 155. Agarwal S, Amin KS, Jagadeesh S, Baishay G, Rao PG, Barua NC, et al. Mahanine restores RASSF1A expression by down-regulating DNMT1 and DNMT3B in prostate cancer cells. *Mol Cancer* (2013) 12(1):99. doi: 10.1186/ 1476-4598-12-99

- 156. Deng C, Lu Q, Zhang Z, Rao T, Attwood J, Yung R, et al. Hydralazine may induce autoimmunity by inhibiting extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway signaling. *Arthritis Rheum* (2003) 48(3):746–56. doi: 10.1002/ art.10833
- 157. Segura-Pacheco B, Perez-Cardenas E, Taja-Chayeb L, Chavez-Blanco A, Revilla-Vazquez A, Benitez-Bribiesca L, et al. Global DNA hypermethylation-associated cancer chemotherapy resistance and its reversion with the demethylating agent hydralazine. J Trans Med (2006) 4 (1):32. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-4-32
- Song Y, Zhang C. Hydralazine inhibits human cervical cancer cell growth in vitro in association with APC demethylation and re-expression. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2009) 63(4):605–13. doi: 10.1007/s00280-008-0773-z
- 159. Candelaria M, Herrera A, Labardini J, González-Fierro A, Trejo-Becerril C, Taja-Chayeb L, et al. Hydralazine and magnesium valproate as epigenetic treatment for myelodysplastic syndrome. Preliminary results of a phase-II trial. Ann Hematol (2011) 90(4):379–87. doi: 10.1007/s00277-010-1090-2
- 160. Soto H, Sanchez K, Escobar JY, Constanzo A, Fernandez Z, Melendez C. Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Hydralazine and Magnesium Valproate LP Associated With Treatment for Adult Patients with Metastatic Recurrent or Persistent Cervical Cancer in Mexico. Value Health: J Int Soc Pharmacoeconom Outcomes Res (2014) 17(7):A639. doi: 10.1016/ j.jval.2014.08.2300
- 161. Cervera E, Candelaria M, López-Navarro O, Labardini J, Gonzalez-Fierro A, Taja-Chayeb L, et al. Epigenetic Therapy With Hydralazine and Magnesium Valproate Reverses Imatinib Resistance in Patients With Chronic Myeloid Leukemia. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leukemia* (2012) 12(3):207–12. doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2012.01.005
- 162. Méndez-Lucio O, Tran J, Medina-Franco JL, Meurice N, Muller M. Toward Drug Repurposing in Epigenetics: Olsalazine as a Hypomethylating Compound Active in a Cellular Context. *ChemMedChem* (2014) 9(3):560– 5. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201300555
- 163. Lin R-K, Hsu C-H, Wang Y-C. Mithramycin A inhibits DNA methyltransferase and metastasis potential of lung cancer cells. Anti Cancer Drugs (2007) 18(10):1157–64. doi: 10.1097/CAD.0b013e3282a215e9
- 164. Kuck D, Caulfield T, Lyko F, Medina-Franco JL. Nanaomycin A selectively inhibits DNMT3B and reactivates silenced tumor suppressor genes in human cancer cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2010) 9(11):3015–23. doi: 10.1158/ 1535-7163.MCT-10-0609
- 165. Kalra G, De Sousa A, Shrivastava A. Disulfiram in the management of alcohol dependence: A comprehensive clinical review. Open J Psychiatry (2014) 4(1):720–6. doi: 10.4236/ojpsych.2014.41007
- 166. Arce C, Segura-Pacheco B, Perez-Cardenas E, Taja-Chayeb L, Candelaria M, Dueñnas-Gonzalez A. Hydralazine target: From blood vessels to the epigenome. J Trans Med (2006) 4:10. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-4-10
- 167. Segura-Pacheco B, Trejo-Becerril C, Perez-Cardenas E, Taja-Chayeb L, Mariscal I, Chavez A, et al. Reactivation of tumor suppressor genes by the cardiovascular drugs hydralazine and procainamide and their potential use in cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res: Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2003) 9 (5):1596–603.
- 168. Lin X, Asgari K, Putzi MJ, Gage WR, Yu X, Cornblatt BS, et al. Reversal of GSTP1 CpG island hypermethylation and reactivation of pi-class glutathione S-transferase (GSTP1) expression in human prostate cancer cells by treatment with procainamide. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61(24):8611–6.
- 169. Gao Z, Xu Z, Hung M-S, Lin Y-C, Wang T, Gong M, et al. Procaine and procainamide inhibit the Wnt canonical pathway by promoter demethylation of WIF-1 in lung cancer cells. *Oncol Rep* (2009) 22 (6):1479–84. doi: 10.3892/or\_00000590
- 170. Tada M, Imazeki F, Fukai K, Sakamoto A, Arai M, Mikata R, et al. Procaine inhibits the proliferation and DNA methylation in human hepatoma cells. *Hepatol Int* (2007) 1(3):355–64. doi: 10.1007/s12072-007-9014-5
- 171. Jagadeesh S, Sinha S, Pal BC, Bhattacharya S, Banerjee PP. Mahanine reverses an epigenetically silenced tumor suppressor gene RASSF1A in human prostate cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2007) 362(1):212–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.08.005
- 172. Fang MZ, Chen D, Sun Y, Jin Z, Christman JK, Yang CS. Reversal of hypermethylation and reactivation of p16INK4a, RARbeta, and MGMT genes by genistein and other isoflavones from soy. *Clin Cancer Res: Off J*

Am Assoc Cancer Res (2005) 11(19 Pt 1):7033-41. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0406

- 173. Majid S, Dar AA, Ahmad AE, Hirata H, Kawakami K, Shahryari V, et al. BTG3 tumor suppressor gene promoter demethylation, histone modification and cell cycle arrest by genistein in renal cancer. *Carcinogenesis* (2009) 30 (4):662–70. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgp042
- 174. Hodgson N, Trivedi M, Muratore C, Li S, Deth R. Soluble oligomers of amyloid-β cause changes in redox state, DNA methylation, and gene transcription by inhibiting EAAT3 mediated cysteine uptake. J Alzheimer's Disease: JAD (2013) 36(1):197–209. doi: 10.3233/JAD-130101
- 175. Trivedi MS, Shah JS, Al-Mughairy S, Hodgson NW, Simms B, Trooskens GA, et al. Food-derived opioid peptides inhibit cysteine uptake with redox and epigenetic consequences. J Nutr Biochem (2014) 25(10):1011–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2014.05.004
- 176. Trivedi MS, Hodgson NW, Walker SJ, Trooskens G, Nair V, Deth RC. Epigenetic effects of casein-derived opioid peptides in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells. *Nutr Metab* (2015) 12(1):54. doi: 10.1186/s12986-015-0050-1
- 177. Gopal YNV, Arora TS, Van Dyke MW. Parthenolide specifically depletes histone deacetylase 1 protein and induces cell death through ataxia telangiectasia mutated. *Chem Biol* (2007) 14(7):813–23. doi: 10.1016/ j.chembiol.2007.06.007
- 178. Dawood M, Ooko E, Efferth T. Collateral Sensitivity of Parthenolide via NFκB and HIF-α Inhibition and Epigenetic Changes in Drug-Resistant Cancer Cell Lines. Front Pharmacol (2019) 10:542. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00542
- 179. Hartman ML, Talar B, Sztiller-Sikorska M, Nejc D, Czyz M. Parthenolide induces MITF-M downregulation and senescence in patient-derived MITF-Mhigh melanoma cell populations. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(8):9026–40. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7030
- Koprowska K, Czyz M. [Molecular mechanisms of parthenolide's action: Old drug with a new face]. *Postepy Higieny I Medycyny Doswiadczalnej* (2010) 64:100–14.
- 181. Liu Z, Liu S, Xie Z, Pavlovicz RE, Wu J, Chen P, et al. Modulation of DNA Methylation by a Sesquiterpene Lactone Parthenolide. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (2009) 329(2):505–14. doi: 10.1124/jpet.108.147934
- 182. Izquierdo-Torres E, Hernández-Oliveras A, Meneses-Morales I, Rodríguez G, Fuentes-García G, Zarain-Herzberg Á. Resveratrol up-regulates ATP2A3 gene expression in breast cancer cell lines through epigenetic mechanisms. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2019) 113:37–47. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2019.05.020
- 183. Chatterjee B, Ghosh K, Kanade SR. Resveratrol modulates epigenetic regulators of promoter histone methylation and acetylation that restores BRCA1, p53, p21CIP1 in human breast cancer cell lines. *BioFactors (Oxford England)* (2019) 45(5):818–29. doi: 10.1002/biof.1544
- 184. Venturelli S, Berger A, Böcker A, Busch C, Weiland T, Noor S, et al. Resveratrol as a pan-HDAC inhibitor alters the acetylation status of histone [corrected] proteins in human-derived hepatoblastoma cells. *PloS One* (2013) 8(8):e73097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073097
- 185. Liu X, Li H, Wu M-L, Wu J, Sun Y, Zhang K-L, et al. Resveratrol Reverses Retinoic Acid Resistance of Anaplastic Thyroid Cancer Cells via Demethylating CRABP2 Gene. Front Endocrinol (2019) 10:734. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00734
- 186. Lee WJ, Shim J-Y, Zhu BT. Mechanisms for the inhibition of DNA methyltransferases by tea catechins and bioflavonoids. *Mol Pharmacol* (2005) 68(4):1018–30. doi: 10.1124/mol.104.008367
- 187. Fang MZ, Wang Y, Ai N, Hou Z, Sun Y, Lu H, et al. Tea polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate inhibits DNA methyltransferase and reactivates methylation-silenced genes in cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(22):7563–70.
- Nandakumar V, Vaid M, Katiyar SK. (-)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate reactivates silenced tumor suppressor genes, Cip1/p21 and p16INK4a, by reducing DNA methylation and increasing histones acetylation in human skin cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* (2011) 32(4):537–44. doi: 10.1093/carcin/ bgq285
- 189. Chen K-L, Wang SS-S, Yang Y-Y, Yuan R-Y, Chen R-M, Hu C-J. The epigenetic effects of amyloid-beta(1-40) on global DNA and neprilysin genes in murine cerebral endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) 378(1):57–61. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.10.173

- 190. Yuan Z, Chen S, Gao C, Dai Q, Zhang C, Sun Q, et al. Development of a versatile DNMT and HDAC inhibitor C02S modulating multiple cancer hallmarks for breast cancer therapy. *Bioorg Chem* (2019) 87:200–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bioorg.2019.03.027
- 191. Cicero AFG, Baggioni A. Berberine and Its Role in Chronic Disease. Adv Exp Med Biol (2016) 928:27–45. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-41334-1\_2
- 192. Wang Z, Liu Y, Xue Y, Hu H, Ye J, Li X, et al. Berberine acts as a putative epigenetic modulator by affecting the histone code. *Toxicol Vitro* (2016) 36:10–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2016.06.004
- 193. Qing Y, Hu H, Liu Y, Feng T, Meng W, Jiang L, et al. Berberine induces apoptosis in human multiple myeloma cell line U266 through hypomethylation of p53 promoter. *Cell Biol Int* (2014) 38(5):563-70. doi: 10.1002/cbin.10206
- 194. Kalaiarasi A, Anusha C, Sankar R, Rajasekaran S, John Marshal J, Muthusamy K, et al. Plant Isoquinoline Alkaloid Berberine Exhibits Chromatin Remodeling by Modulation of Histone Deacetylase To Induce Growth Arrest and Apoptosis in the A549 Cell Line. J Agric Food Chem (2016) 64(50):9542–50. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.6b04453
- 195. Tipoe GL, Leung T-M, Hung M-W, Fung M-L. Green tea polyphenols as an anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory agent for cardiovascular protection. *Cardiovasc Hematol Disord Drug Targets* (2007) 7(2):135–44. doi: 10.2174/ 187152907780830905
- 196. Fernandes GFS, Silva GDB, Pavan AR, Chiba DE, Chin CM, Dos Santos JL. Epigenetic Regulatory Mechanisms Induced by Resveratrol. *Nutrients* (2017) 9(11):1–2. doi: 10.3390/nu9111201
- 197. Daud AI, Dawson J, DeConti RC, Bicaku E, Marchion D, Bastien S, et al. Potentiation of a Topoisomerase I Inhibitor, Karenitecin, by the Histone Deacetylase Inhibitor Valproic Acid in Melanoma: Translational and Phase I/II Clinical Trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(7):2479–87. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1931
- 198. Rocca A, Minucci S, Tosti G, Croci D, Contegno F, Ballarini M, et al. A phase I–II study of the histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid plus chemoimmunotherapy in patients with advanced melanoma. *Br J Cancer* (2009) 100(1):28–36. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604817
- 199. Patel MM, Patel BM. Repurposing of sodium valproate in colon cancer associated with diabetes mellitus: Role of HDAC inhibition. *Eur J Pharm Sci:* Off J Eur Fed Pharm Sci (2018) 121:188–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2018.05.026
- 200. Du X, Li Q, Du F, He Z, Wang J. Sodium Valproate Sensitizes Non-Small Lung Cancer A549 Cells to γδ T-Cell-Mediated Killing through Upregulating the Expression of MICA. J Biochem Mol Toxicol (2013) 27(11):492–8. doi: 10.1002/jbt.21513
- 201. Friedmann I, Atmaca A, Chow KU, Jäger E, Weidmann E. Synergistic Effects of Valproic Acid and Mitomycin C in Adenocarcinoma Cell Lines and Fresh Tumor Cells of Patients with Colon Cancer. J Chemother (2006) 18(4):415– 20. doi: 10.1179/joc.2006.18.4.415
- 202. Yan H-C, Zhang J. Effects of sodium valproate on the growth of human ovarian cancer cell line HO8910. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prevent: APJCP (2012) 13(12):6429–33. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2012.13.12.6429
- 203. Kumari K, Keshari S, Sengupta D, Sabat SC, Mishra SK. Transcriptome analysis of genes associated with breast cancer cell motility in response to Artemisinin treatment. *BMC Cancer* (2017) 17(1):858. doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3863-7
- 204. Byun MR, Lee DH, Jang YP, Lee HS, Choi JW, Lee SK. Repurposing natural products as novel HDAC inhibitors by comparative analysis of gene expression profiles. *Phytomedicine* (2019) 59:152900. doi: 10.1016/ j.phymed.2019.152900
- Joung KE, Kim D-K, Sheen YY. Antiproliferative effect of trichostatin a and hc-toxin in T47D Human breast cancer cells. *Arch Pharmacal Res* (2004) 27 (6):640–5. doi: 10.1007/BF02980164
- 206. Deubzer HE, Ehemann V, Westermann F, Heinrich R, Mechtersheimer G, Kulozik AE, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor Helminthosporium carbonum (HC)-toxin suppresses the malignant phenotype of neuroblastoma cells. *Int J Cancer* (2008) 122(8):1891–900. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23295
- 207. Park Y, Liu Y, Hong J, Lee C-O, Cho H, Kim D-K, et al. New bromotyrosine derivatives from an association of two sponges, Jaspis wondoensis and Poecillastra wondoensis. J Natural Products (2003) 66(11):1495–8. doi: 10.1021/np030162j

- Kim DH, Shin J, Kwon HJ. Psammaplin A is a natural prodrug that inhibits class I histone deacetylase. *Exp Mol Med* (2007) 39(1):47–55. doi: 10.1038/emm.2007.6
- 209. Ahn MY, Jung JH, Na YJ, Kim HS. A natural histone deacetylase inhibitor, Psammaplin A, induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human endometrial cancer cells. *Gynecol Oncol* (2008) 108(1):27–33. doi: 10.1016/ j.ygyno.2007.08.098
- 210. Kim D, Lee IS, Jung JH, Lee CO, Choi SU. Psammaplin A, a natural phenolic compound, has inhibitory effect on human topoisomerase II and is cytotoxic to cancer cells. *Anticancer Res* (1999) 19(5B):4085–90.
- 211. Shin H, Lee YS, Lee YC. Sodium butyrate-induced DAPK-mediated apoptosis in human gastric cancer cells. Oncol Rep (2012) 27(4):1111–5. doi: 10.3892/or.2011.1585
- 212. Li L, Sun Y, Liu J, Wu X, Chen L, Ma L, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor sodium butyrate suppresses DNA double strand break repair induced by etoposide more effectively in MCF-7 cells than in HEK293 cells. *BMC Biochem* (2015) 16:3–8. doi: 10.1186/s12858-014-0030-5
- 213. Cang S, Xu X, Ma Y, Liu D, Chiao JW. Hypoacetylation, hypomethylation, and dephosphorylation of H2B histones and excessive histone deacetylase activity in DU-145 prostate cancer cells. J Hematol Oncol (2016) 9:2–3. doi: 10.1186/s13045-016-0233-x
- Vigushin DM, Ali S, Pace PE, Mirsaidi N, Ito K, Adcock I, et al. Trichostatin A is a histone deacetylase inhibitor with potent antitumor activity against breast cancer in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res: Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2001) 7(4):971–6.
- 215. Chambers AE, Banerjee S, Chaplin T, Dunne J, Debernardi S, Joel SP, et al. Histone acetylation-mediated regulation of genes in leukaemic cells. *Eur J Cancer (Oxford England: 1990)* (2003) 39(8):1165–75. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(03)00072-8
- 216. Ma J, Guo X, Zhang S, Liu H, Lu J, Dong Z, et al. Trichostatin A, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, suppresses proliferation and promotes apoptosis of esophageal squamous cell lines. *Mol Med Rep* (2015) 11(6):4525–31. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2015.3268
- 217. Fortson WS, Kayarthodi S, Fujimura Y, Xu H, Matthews R, Grizzle WE, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitors, valproic acid and trichostatin-A induce apoptosis and affect acetylation status of p53 in ERG-positive prostate cancer cells. *Int J Oncol* (2011) 39(1):111–9. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2011.1014
- 218. Zhang H, Zhao X, Liu H, Jin H, Ji Y. Trichostatin A inhibits proliferation of PC3 prostate cancer cells by disrupting the EGFR pathway. *Oncol Lett* (2019) 18(1):687–93. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10384
- Tiffon C. Histone Deacetylase Inhibition Restores Expression of Hypoxia-Inducible Protein NDRG1 in Pancreatic Cancer. *Pancreas* (2018) 47(2):200– 7. doi: 10.1097/MPA.00000000000982
- 220. Sanaei M, Kavoosi F. Effect of 5-Aza-2'-Deoxycytidine in Comparison to Valproic Acid and Trichostatin A on Histone Deacetylase 1, DNA Methyltransferase 1, and CIP/KIP Family (p21, p27, and p57) Genes Expression, Cell Growth Inhibition, and Apoptosis Induction in Colon Cancer SW480 Cell Line. Adv Biomed Res (2019) 8:9–15. doi: 10.4103/abr.abr\_91\_19
- 221. Hernández-Oliveras A, Izquierdo-Torres E, Meneses-Morales I, Rodríguez G, Zarain-Herzberg Á, Santiago-García J. Histone deacetylase inhibitors promote ATP2A3 gene expression in hepatocellular carcinoma cells: p300 as a transcriptional regulator. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2019) 113:8–16. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2019.05.014
- 222. San-Miguel JF, Hungria VTM, Yoon S-S, Beksac M, Dimopoulos MA, Elghandour A, et al. Panobinostat plus bortezomib and dexamethasone versus placebo plus bortezomib and dexamethasone in patients with relapsed or relapsed and refractory multiple myeloma: a multicentre, randomised, double-blind phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2014) 15(11):1195–206. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70440-1
- 223. Bradley D, Rathkopf D, Dunn R, Stadler WM, Liu G, Smith DC, et al. Vorinostat in advanced prostate cancer patients progressing on prior chemotherapy (National Cancer Institute Trial 6862): trial results and interleukin-6 analysis: a study by the Department of Defense Prostate Cancer Clinical Trial Consortium and University of Chicago Phase 2 Consortium. *Cancer* (2009) 115(23):5541–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.24597
- 224. Watanabe T, Kato H, Kobayashi Y, Yamasaki S, Morita-Hoshi Y, Yokoyama H, et al. Potential efficacy of the oral histone deacetylase inhibitor vorinostat in a phase I trial in follicular and mantle cell lymphoma. *Cancer Sci* (2010) 101(1):196–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01360.x

- Raedler LA. Farydak (Panobinostat): First HDAC Inhibitor Approved for Patients with Relapsed Multiple Myeloma. Am Health Drug Benefits (2016) 9 (Spec Feature):84–7.
- 226. Fukui Y, Narita K, Dan S, Yamori T, Ito A, Yoshida M, et al. Total synthesis of burkholdacs A and B and 5,6,20-tri-epi-burkholdac A: HDAC inhibition and antiproliferative activity. *Eur J Medicinal Chem* (2014) 76:301–13. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.02.044
- 227. Benelkebir H, Donlevy AM, Packham G, Ganesan A. Total Synthesis and Stereochemical Assignment of Burkholdac B, a Depsipeptide HDAC Inhibitor. Organic Lett (2011) 13(24):6334–7. doi: 10.1021/ol202197q
- 228. Crabb SJ, Howell M, Rogers H, Ishfaq M, Yurek-George A, Carey K, et al. Characterisation of the in vitro activity of the depsipeptide histone deacetylase inhibitor spiruchostatin A. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2008) 76 (4):463–75. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2008.06.004
- 229. Narita K, Fukui Y, Sano Y, Yamori T, Ito A, Yoshida M, et al. Total synthesis of bicyclic depsipeptides spiruchostatins C and D and investigation of their histone deacetylase inhibitory and antiproliferative activities. *Eur J Medicinal Chem* (2012) 60:295–304. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2012.12.023
- Hong J. Apicidin, a histone deacetylase inhibitor, induces differentiation of HL-60 cells. *Cancer Lett* (2003) 189(2):197–206. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3835(02)00500-1
- 231. Wu L-P, Wang X, Li L, Zhao Y, Lu S, Yu Y, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor depsipeptide activates silenced genes through decreasing both CpG and H3K9 methylation on the promoter. *Mol Cell Biol* (2008) 28(10):3219– 35. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01516-07
- Durczak M, Jagodzinski P. Apicidin upregulates PHD2 prolyl hydroxylase gene expression in cervical cancer cells. *Anti Cancer Drugs* (2010) 21(6):619– 24. doi: 10.1097/CAD.0b013e328339848b
- 233. Im JY, Park H, Kang KW, Choi WS, Kim HS. Modulation of cell cycles and apoptosis by apicidin in estrogen receptor (ER)-positive and-negative human breast cancer cells. *Chemico Biol Interact* (2008) 172(3):235–44. doi: 10.1016/ j.cbi.2008.01.007
- 234. Ahn MY, Kang DO, Na YJ, Yoon S, Choi WS, Kang KW, et al. Histone deacetylase inhibitor, apicidin, inhibits human ovarian cancer cell migration via class II histone deacetylase 4 silencing. *Cancer Lett* (2012) 325(2):189–99. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.06.017
- 235. Ahn M-Y. HDAC inhibitor apicidin suppresses murine oral squamous cell carcinoma cell growth in vitro and in vivo via inhibiting HDAC8 expression. Oncol Lett (2018) 16(5):6552–60. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.9468
- Wagner JM, Hackanson B, Lübbert M, Jung M. Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors in recent clinical trials for cancer therapy. *Clin Epigenet* (2010) 1 (3–4):117–36. doi: 10.1007/s13148-010-0012-4
- 237. Zhao HL, Harding SV, Marinangeli CPF, Kim YS, Jones PJH. Hypocholesterolemic and anti-obesity effects of saponins from Platycodon grandiflorum in hamsters fed atherogenic diets. *J Food Sci* (2008) 73(8): H195–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2008.00915.x
- Brosch G, Ransom R, Lechner T, Walton JD, Loidl P. Inhibition of maize histone deacetylases by HC toxin, the host-selective toxin of Cochliobolus carbonum. *Plant Cell* (1995) 7(11):1941–50. doi: 10.1105/tpc.7.11.1941
- 239. Darkin-Rattray SJ, Gurnett AM, Myers RW, Dulski PM, Crumley TM, Allocco JJ, et al. Apicidin: a novel antiprotozoal agent that inhibits parasite histone deacetylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1996) 93(23):13143–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.23.13143
- 240. Liu S, Fu X, Schmitz FJ, Kelly-Borges M. Psammaplysin F, a new bromotyrosine derivative from a sponge, Aplysinella sp. J Natural Products (1997) 60(6):614–5. doi: 10.1021/np970070s
- 241. Piña IC, Gautschi JT, Wang G-Y-S, Sanders ML, Schmitz FJ, France D, et al. Psammaplins from the sponge Pseudoceratina purpurea: inhibition of both histone deacetylase and DNA methyltransferase. J Organic Chem (2003) 68 (10):3866–73. doi: 10.1021/j0034248t
- 242. Rinehart KL, Holt TG, Fregeau NL, Keifer PA, Wilson GR, Perun TJ, et al. Bioactive compounds from aquatic and terrestrial sources. J Natural Products (1990) 53(4):771–92. doi: 10.1021/np50070a001
- 243. Mateos MV, Cibeira M, Richardson PG, Prosper F, Oriol A, de la Rubia J, et al. Phase II Clinical and Pharmacokinetic Study of Plitidepsin 3-Hour Infusion Every Two Weeks Alone or with Dexamethasone in Relapsed and Refractory Multiple Myeloma. *Clin Cancer Res: Official J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2010) 16(12):3260–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0469

- 244. Spicka I, Ocio EM, Oakervee HE, Greil R, Banh RH, Huang S-Y, et al. Randomized phase III study (ADMYRE) of plitidepsin in combination with dexamethasone vs. dexamethasone alone in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. *Ann Hematol* (2019) 98(9):2139–50. doi: 10.1007/ s00277-019-03739-2
- 245. Alonso-Álvarez S, Pardal E, Sánchez-Nieto D, Navarro M, Caballero MD, Mateos MV, et al. Plitidepsin: design, development, and potential place in therapy. Drug Design Dev Ther (2017) 11:253-64. doi: 10.2147/ DDDT.S94165
- 246. Balasubramanyam K, Swaminathan V, Ranganathan A, Kundu TK. Small Molecule Modulators of Histone Acetyltransferase p300. J Biol Chem (2003) 278(21):19134–40. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301580200
- 247. Collins HM, Abdelghany MK, Messmer M, Yue B, Deeves SE, Kindle KB, et al. Differential effects of garcinol and curcumin on histone and p53 modifications in tumour cells. *BMC Cancer* (2013) 13(1):37. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-2407-13-37
- 248. Sung B, Pandey MK, Ahn KS, Yi T, Chaturvedi MM, Liu M, et al. Anacardic acid (6-nonadecyl salicylic acid), an inhibitor of histone acetyltransferase, suppresses expression of nuclear factor-kappaB-regulated gene products involved in cell survival, proliferation, invasion, and inflammation through inhibition of the inhibitory subunit of nuclear factor-kappaBalpha kinase, leading to potentiation of apoptosis. *Blood* (2008) 111(10):4880–91. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-117994
- 249. Balasubramanyam K, Altaf M, Varier RA, Swaminathan V, Ravindran A, Sadhale PP, et al. Polyisoprenylated Benzophenone, Garcinol, a Natural Histone Acetyltransferase Inhibitor, Represses Chromatin Transcription and Alters Global Gene Expression. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279(32):33716–26. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M402839200
- 250. Sethi G, Chatterjee S, Rajendran P, Li F, Shanmugam MK, Wong KF, et al. Inhibition of STAT3 dimerization and acetylation by garcinol suppresses the growth of human hepatocellular carcinoma in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Cancer* (2014) 13:66. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-13-66
- 251. Wang J, Wu M, Zheng D, Zhang H, Lv Y, Zhang L, et al. Garcinol inhibits esophageal cancer metastasis by suppressing the p300 and TGF-β1 signaling pathways. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* (2020) 41(1):82–92. doi: 10.1038/s41401-019-0271-3
- 252. Galvez AF, Chen N, Macasieb J, de Lumen BO. Chemopreventive property of a soybean peptide (lunasin) that binds to deacetylated histones and inhibits acetylation. *Cancer Res* (2001) 61(20):7473–8.
- 253. Ravindra KC, Selvi BR, Arif M, Reddy BAA, Thanuja GR, Agrawal S, et al. Inhibition of Lysine Acetyltransferase KAT3B/p300 Activity by a Naturally Occurring Hydroxynaphthoquinone, Plumbagin. J Biol Chem (2009) 284 (36):24453–64. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.023861
- 254. Casaos J, Huq S, Lott T, Felder R, Choi J, Gorelick N, et al. Ribavirin as a potential therapeutic for atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9(8):8054–67. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.23883
- 255. Hu H, Qian K, Ho M-C, Zheng YG. Small Molecule Inhibitors of Protein Arginine Methyltransferases. *Expert Opin Invest Drugs* (2016) 25(3):335–58. doi: 10.1517/13543784.2016.1144747
- 256. Chen J, Xu X, Chen J. Clinically relevant concentration of anti-viral drug ribavirin selectively targets pediatric osteosarcoma and increases chemosensitivity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2018) 506(3):604–10. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.10.124
- 257. De la Cruz-Hernandez E, Medina-Franco JL, Trujillo J, Chavez-Blanco A, Dominguez-Gomez G, Perez-Cardenas E, et al. Ribavirin as a tri-targeted antitumor repositioned drug. *Oncol Rep* (2015) 33(5):2384–92. doi: 10.3892/ or.2015.3816
- 258. Catalano R, Rocca R, Juli G, Costa G, Maruca A, Artese A, et al. A drug repurposing screening reveals a novel epigenetic activity of

hydroxychloroquine. Eur J Medicinal Chem (2019) 183:111715. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111715

- 259. Han H, Yang X, Pandiyan K, Liang G. Synergistic Re-Activation of Epigenetically Silenced Genes by Combinatorial Inhibition of DNMTs and LSD1 in Cancer Cells. *PloS One* (2013) 8(9):e75136. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0075136
- 260. Sakane C, Okitsu T, Wada A, Sagami H, Shidoji Y. Inhibition of lysinespecific demethylase 1 by the acyclic diterpenoid geranylgeranoic acid and its derivatives. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2014) 444(1):24–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbrc.2013.12.144
- 261. Wang M, Liu X, Guo J, Weng X, Jiang G, Wang Z, et al. Inhibition of LSD1 by Pargyline inhibited process of EMT and delayed progression of prostate cancer in vivo. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2015) 467(2):310–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.09.164
- 262. Lee MG, Wynder C, Schmidt DM, McCafferty DG, Shiekhattar R. Histone H3 Lysine 4 Demethylation Is a Target of Nonselective Antidepressive Medications. *Chem Biol* (2006) 13(6):563–7. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2006.05.004
- 263. Singh MM, Manton CA, Bhat KP, Tsai W-W, Aldape K, Barton MC, et al. Inhibition of LSD1 sensitizes glioblastoma cells to histone deacetylase inhibitors. *Neuro-Oncology* (2011) 13(8):894–903. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/ nor049
- 264. Speranzini V, Rotili D, Ciossani G, Pilotto S, Marrocco B, Forgione M, et al. Polymyxins and quinazolines are LSD1/KDM1A inhibitors with unusual structural features. *Sci Adv* (2016) 2(9):1–3. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1601017
- 265. Wakchaure P, Velayutham R, Roy KK. Structure investigation, enrichment analysis and structure-based repurposing of FDA-approved drugs as inhibitors of BET-BRD4. *J Biomol Struct Dynamics* (2019) 37(12):3048–57. doi: 10.1080/07391102.2018.1507838
- 266. Jiang H, Xing J, Wang C, Zhang H, Yue L, Wan X, et al. Discovery of novel BET inhibitors by drug repurposing of nitroxoline and its analogues. Organic Biomol Chem (2017) 15(44):9352–61. doi: 10.1039/C7OB02369C
- 267. Wan X, Liu H, Sun Y, Zhang J, Chen X, Chen N. Lunasin: A promising polypeptide for the prevention and treatment of cancer. Oncol Lett (2017) 13 (6):3997–4001. doi: 10.3892/ol.2017.6017
- Bortolato M, Chen K, Shih JC. Monoamine oxidase inactivation: from pathophysiology to therapeutics. *Adv Drug Delivery Rev* (2008) 60(13– 14):1527–33. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2008.06.002
- 269. Jose A, Shenoy GG, Sunil Rodrigues G, Kumar NAN, Munisamy M, Thomas L, et al. Histone Demethylase KDM5B as a Therapeutic Target for Cancer Therapy. *Cancers* (2020) 12(8):4–7. doi: 10.3390/cancers12082121
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- 271. Esteller M, Garcia-Foncillas J, Andion E, Goodman SN, Hidalgo OF, Vanaclocha V, et al. Inactivation of the DNA-repair gene MGMT and the clinical response of gliomas to alkylating agents. *New Engl J Med* (2000) 343 (19):1350–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200011093431901

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Montalvo-Casimiro, González-Barrios, Meraz-Rodriguez, Juárez-González, Arriaga-Canon and Herrera. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Glycosylated Nanoparticles for Cancer-Targeted Drug Delivery**

Sergio Andrés Torres-Pérez<sup>1</sup>, Cindy Estefani Torres-Pérez<sup>1</sup>, Martha Pedraza-Escalona<sup>2</sup>, Sonia Mayra Pérez-Tapia<sup>3</sup> and Eva Ramón-Gallegos<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratorio de Citopatología Ambiental, Departamento de Morfología, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Campus Zacatenco, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> CONACYT-UDIBI-ENCB-Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Unidad Profesional Lázaro Cárdenas, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>3</sup> Unidad de Desarrollo e Investigación en Bioprocesos (UDIBI), Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico City, Mexico

Nanoparticles (NPs) are novel platforms that can carry both cancer-targeting molecules and drugs to avoid severe side effects due to nonspecific drug delivery in standard chemotherapy treatments. Cancer cells are characterized by abnormal membranes, metabolic changes, the presence of lectin receptors, glucose transporters (GLUT) overexpression, and glycosylation of immune receptors of programmed death on cell surfaces. These characteristics have led to the development of several strategies for cancer therapy, including a large number of carbohydrate-modified NPs, which have become desirable for use in cell-selective drug delivery systems because they increase nanoparticle-cell interactions and uptake of carried drugs. Currently, the potential of NP glycosylation to enhance the safety and efficacy of carried therapeutic antitumor agents has been widely acknowledged, and much information is accumulating in this field. This review seeks to highlight recent advances in NP stabilization, toxicity reduction, and pharmacokinetic improvement and the promising potential of NP glycosylation from the perspective of molecular mechanisms described for drug delivery systems for cancer therapy. From preclinical proof-of-concept to demonstration of therapeutic value in the clinic, the challenges and opportunities presented by glycosylated NPs, with a focus on their applicability in the development of nanodrugs, are discussed in this review.

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Eduardo López-Urrutia, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Suguna Lonchin, Central Leather Research Institute (CSIR), India Estefany Medina-Reyes, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

> \*Correspondence: Eva Ramón-Gallegos eramong@ipn.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 11 September 2020 Accepted: 30 October 2020 Published: 30 November 2020

#### Citation:

Torres-Pérez SA, Torres-Pérez CE, Pedraza-Escalona M, Pérez-Tapia SM and Ramón-Gallegos E (2020) Glycosylated Nanoparticles for Cancer-Targeted Drug Delivery. Front. Oncol. 10:605037. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.605037 Keywords: drug delivery, glycoconjugates, glycosylated nanoparticles, glycodendrimers, cancer therapy, glycopolymers

# INTRODUCTION

Nanoparticles have long been known as the foremost systems to improve drug delivery for treatment of several diseases, especially cancer. However, development of effective, targeted, and safe drug delivery systems remains challenging in many cancer types due to limited target sites (1). Therefore, to develop strategies that facilitate specific delivery of therapeutic agents to the target site, reducing access to nontarget sites is urgently needed (2, 3). One strategy for applying targeted therapies is the use of carbohydrates and monosaccharides as ligands that represent crucial structures on tumor cell membranes and have been shown to be effective for cell-selective drug delivery (4).

Cancer metabolism is also a promising target for cancer therapy in the nanomedicine field. According to the classic theory known as "the Warburg effect," cancer cells require a much higher

glucose flux than normal cells because their phenotype is characterized by preferential dependence on glycolysis for energy production in an oxygen-independent manner (5). Hence, certain key proteins involved in this disruptive metabolism, such as GLUT, hexokinase-2 (HK2) and phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase (PHGDH), which are overexpressed in cancer, have been examined as possible targets (6). Additionally, energy source replacement with other monosaccharides, such as mannose, could retard tumor progression (7). Currently, repurposing of nanocarriers conjugated with glycan-based molecules is an interesting field of opportunity for cancer therapy and diagnosis. Hence, a wide range of functional nanocarriers, including polymeric, metallic, and metalorganic NPs, are being studied and developed in the biomedical field (8). NPs possess unique physical, optical, and electrical proprieties and can be conjugated with several therapeutic and target molecules that modify their interactions with cell membranes and biological systems, altering their toxicity and pharmacokinetic profiles (9). Furthermore, adsorption or conjugation of glycan structures can change the intrinsic properties and mobility of NPs in biological systems. Glycosylated nanomaterials interact differently with tumorassociated glycoprotein receptors, and generally, binding can be achieved through multivalent carbohydrates because both the membrane and microenvironment of cancer cells have been well studied (10-12). Therefore, this review aims to highlight the current novel strategies that have been developed for cancer therapy through the use of drug delivery systems that include carbohydrate-based NP systems as dendrimers, micelles, silica, and lipidic and metallic NPs, exploiting the modified metabolism of cancer cells as a therapeutic approach.

# GLUCOSE METABOLISM AND TRANSPORTERS IN CANCER CELLS

The modified metabolism in cancer cells, which resorts to preferential use of glycolysis as the main energy source for ATP generation, promotes cancer cell growth, survival, proliferation, and long-term maintenance (13). The ATP production efficiency of glycolysis is much lower than that of oxidative phosphorylation, and cancer cells adapt to this disadvantage by increasing glucose uptake (**Figure 1A**) (5). Indeed, in the clinic, it has been reported that a high blood glucose level is associated with a poor prognosis in cancer patients (15, 16). Therefore, glucose plays an important role in cancer progression because it promotes cancer cell proliferation in a dose-dependent manner (17, 18).

Glucose is a hydrophilic molecule that must be transported and modified by specific proteins in the cell. Two classes of transporters are present in cells: the family of GLUT proteins and sodium-dependent glucose transporters (SGLTs) (19). These molecules are overexpressed in cancer cells; therefore, their inhibition can be a therapeutic strategy against cancer (20, 21). The use of compounds that suppress the growth of cancer cells through inhibition of glucose transporters has been widely explored in various types of cancer, including liver, colon, ovary, prostate, brain, and breast cancer (21–26). For example, in ovarian cancer cells, GLUT-1 and GLUT-3 protein levels are increased 6.5 and 4.1 times, respectively, and a GLUT-1/-3 inhibitor prevents cell growth, targets metabolic plasticity, and overcomes the cellular rescue mechanisms of cancer cells (22).

## GLYCOSYLATION AFFECTS CANCER CELL MEMBRANES AND THE MICROENVIRONMENT

Cancer cells exhibit membranal structure changes via changes in external monosaccharide-related target molecules, such as proteins and lipids, that aid in tumorigenesis, malignant transformation, and tumor dissemination (27). For example, overexpression of sialic acid on the cell surface creates a negative charge on membranes and repulsion between cells, which helps cells enter the bloodstream (28). Changes in the intrinsic glycosylation of cell surface adhesion molecules, such as selectin ligands, integrins, and mucins, have been implicated in changes in the tumor microenvironment that can contribute to drug resistance and pH acidification (29), which lead to more aggressive cancer cell phenotypes; thus, their implications in the design of glycan-based therapies should be investigated (30). Therefore, glycans, glycoproteins, glycan-binding proteins, and proteoglycans are mechanistically implicated in cancer hallmarks (31, 32). For instance, lowered tumor extracellular pH (pHe) and upregulation of the membrane protein matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP2) in the tumor microenvironment has been exploited as a strategy to improve the selectivity of plasmid DNA release. Hence, DendriGraft poly-lysine, third-generation, (DGL-G3) conjugated with a cell-penetrating peptide (CPP), quenched by a pH-sensitive masking peptide, and linked by a metalloproteinase MMP2 substrate was a successful gene delivery system in a hepatoma cell line (32, 33).

Furthermore, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) can remodel the tumor microenvironment to reduce growth barriers, such as the dense extracellular matrix, and shift tumors towards an immunosuppressive microenvironment that protects cancer cells from targeted immune responses, making it difficult to deliver drugs with NPs larger than 100 nm (34). Glycoconjugates, such as mesoporous silica NPs (MSNs), can interrupt these biological interactions within tumors by altering TAM phenotypes through a process called polarization. By treating these MSNs with deglycosylases, the surface glycosylation of these NPs can be modulated without altering the protein coating. Reports indicate that increasing the size of silica particles can reduce their cellular uptake and minimize their M1-like macrophage polarizing capability, and surface modification of MSNs can further control their cellular uptake and modulate their polarization effects (28, 34, 35). Therefore, further investigation is required to determine the complete effects of carbohydrate changes in the external microenvironment and their role in inhibition of tumorigenesis.



**FIGURE 1** | A graphical representation of Warburg effect in cancer and experimental demonstrations of the improvement of glycosylated drug delivery systems for target cancer therapy (**A**) Metabolic differences between normal and cancer cells. In the presence of  $O_2$ , normal cells metabolize glucose in pyruvate followed by oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria generating 36 ATP per glucose molecule. In the deficiency of  $O_2$ , pyruvate is transformed to lactate *via* anaerobic glycolysis generating 2 ATP per glucose molecule. In cancer cell, mutations in mtDNA, nDNA or absence of *p*53 gene, presence of oncogenes and ROS suppress oxidative phosphorylation and enhances lactate production *via* glycolysis even in the presence of  $O_2$  (Warburg effect). (**B**) Glycosylated PAMAM dendrimers conjugated with methotrexate as a strategy for breast cancer target therapy. (**C**) Comparison of viability between MDA-MB-231 and HaCaT cell lines. Cells were exposed to OS-PAMAM-MTX-GLU and control treatments at the same concentration of free MTX and GLU was calculated in encapsulation assay for 4 h. Data represent mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 16). Statistical analysis was performed by two-way ANOVA followed by *post hoc* Tukey's multiple comparisons test. \*\*\*P < 0.001, \*<0.02. (**D**) Confocal images of MDA-MB-231 cells incubated for 2 and 12 h with OS-PAMAM-FITC and OS-PAMAM-FITC-MTX-GLU. For each group, the images from left to right showed the fluorescence of FITC (green), Hoechst 33342 (blue), and PI (red) stains. Images were acquired at 63×. Data has been contributed and modified from Torres-Pérez (14).

# CARBOHYDRATE-BASED CARRIER MOLECULES FOR CANCER THERAPY

Specificity is a crucial aspect of drug administration in treatments against cancer because nonspecific agents can damage healthy tissues, causing adverse effects in patients (36). Carbohydrate changes in the external microenvironment of cancer cells also provide specific targets for carrier-based drug delivery. Hence, these carriers must be composed of biocompatible and biodegradable materials, which should be well characterized and conjugated (37). Among these, nanomaterials have been well accepted as nontoxic and nonimmunogenic agents (38).

NPs based on carbohydrates or conjugated to them have been explored as vehicles for drug administration in cancer (39, 40). Indeed, a wide variety of polysaccharides have been used, including chitosan (41), cellulose (42), glycogen (40), chitin (43), and dextran (44, 45), among others. There are two special cases. The first is hyaluronic acid (HA), a natural polysaccharide used in gene therapy and as a based-drug carrier. HA has shown a high molecular interaction with the CD44 receptor protein, a cell-surface glycoprotein involved in cell-cell interactions that is overexpressed in several types of cancer cells (46, 47). The second is the chitosan NPs, which are self-assembled, low-cost nanostructures with high positive charges that have the ability to encapsulate and deliver hydrophobic and negatively charged

Glycosylated Nanoparticles for Cancer

drugs to cancer cells (48). Chitosan can be accumulated accurately by proving the interaction of charges and permeability with the cancer cell membrane. Also, it has shown a high biodegradability in sub-components of glutamic acid (49). This type of NP can be preferentially internalized *via* receptor-mediated endocytosis. Uptake studies have demonstrated an increase in the endocytic pathway, with both clathrin and caveolae activation, when receptors on the cellular membrane were blocked. Therefore, the intrinsic properties of NPs conjugated with ligand molecules, such as folic acid, can significantly improve drug delivery in chemotherapy strategies and reversion of multidrug resistance (50, 51).

# CONJUGATION STRATEGIES FOR GLYCOSYLATED NANOPARTICLES USED IN CANCER THERAPY

Setting up a conjugation method requires several considerations, starting from an understanding of the chemical composition of both the cargo and the carrier molecule. The chemical composition of cargo molecules influences the physicochemical properties of nano systems including size, surface charge, and shape, but also, modifying biological effects. For therapeutic purposes, glycosylated nanoparticles (G-NPs) should be biocompatible, biodegradable, and soluble in biological fluids, and most importantly, they must have receptor-targeting properties (4, 8).

The most common monosaccharides, including glucose, mannose, fructose, and galactose, have usually been applied in the synthesis of glycoconjugates because of the ease of conjugation and their specific effect as a targeting ligand to some key receptors found in cancer cells (4). Monosaccharide molecules possess several groups, such as hydroxyl groups, which can be highly reactive to generate stable conjugation with carrier NPs through various linkage approaches, such as reductive amination (52, 53). Drug carriers usually have amino-terminal groups that allow hydroxyl groups to be linked directly to both NPs and/or drugs through the following strategies (54, 55):

- 1. Direct amide linkages with sugar-bearing carboxylated or activated ester derivatives. This is beneficial for conjugation of monosaccharides, for example, in surface-amino dendrimers modified with chemo drugs against breast cancer and glioma (14, 56), including antitumor immunotherapy using chitosan NPs and TCL vaccines coupled with mannose to target specific moieties in dendritic cells (DC) (57).
- 2. Introduction of thiourea linkages formed by treatment of NPamino groups with isothiocyanate saccharide derivatives. This coupling is helpful for theragnostics when different linkage strategies must be employed for different cargo molecules or NP systems and has been used in dendrimers premodified with fluorescein isothiocyanate but also linked to gold NPs (58).

3. Monosaccharides can also be found in the derivate version containing amino groups, which are frequently used for carriers with peripheral carboxyl groups, for example, D-mannosamine conjugated to solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) through amidization. The resulting p-aminophenyl-a-D-mannopyranoside-modified SLNs (MAN-SLNs) effectively delivered docetaxel to the brain (59).

The advantages of these strategies include the following: i) the reactions are conducted at room temperature and are compatible with most drugs and degradable linkers; ii) the resulting products, such as poly(monochlorotriazine), can be conveniently derivatized (i.e. PEGylated). However, direct sacrifice of the reducing sugars, formers of extended linkers *via* amide-bond formation starting from sugar lactones described in the first syntheses, should be avoided, and the NP must have a spherical architecture to avoid a chelating effect (60).

# PHYSICAL PROPERTIES OF GLYCOSYLATED NANOPARTICLES

The performance of drug delivery systems based on NPs in cancer therapy is affected by several physical properties, mainly size, shape, and surface electric charge, which modulate NP toxicity and stability. Also, these characteristics should be considered for glycoconjugates because most interactions with altered membrane molecules are closely related to the aforementioned parameters (61). In NPs, small changes in structure can lead to significant changes in properties and reactivity. Additionally, the directional organization of molecules on the nanoparticle periphery can help by increasing the electrophile affinity to target molecules due to the high surface area to volume ratio of NPs (62, 63). Therefore, the optimum drug dispersion and homogeneity in a nanoparticle system and the linkage to cargo molecules should be well controlled and reproducible to obtain the desired therapeutic effect (64).

Regarding size, reports on organic and inorganic NPs indicate that glycosylation increases the size and molecular weight of NPs (14, 64, 65). Additionally, glycoconjugates exhibit a neutralization of zeta potential without significant alterations in colloidal stability (34, 66). Furthermore, depending on the drug conjugation approach and the therapeutic strategy, cationic saccharide molecules, such as dextran spermine and aminated pullulan, or anionic molecules, such as pectin, heparin, and hyaluronic acid, can be modulated to obtain the desired therapeutic effect (67).

Regarding cancer therapy with drugs, it is crucial to avoid side effects due to the toxicity of NPs. Nonspecific toxicity is primarily influenced by surface chemistry, functionality, size, chemical composition, and zeta potential (65, 68). Organic glycoconjugates are natural products of living systems also upshot as multifaceted drug delivery vehicles that can reduce the toxicity associated with unmodified drug carriers and

Glycosylated Nanoparticles for Cancer

therapeutic agents. An additional attribute of these carriers is their ability to positively alter the pharmacokinetic profile of drugs through stabilization (2, 38, 69). Furthermore, glycans and carbohydrates can neutralize the very positive or very negative charges of NPs, such as dendrimers or gold NPs, which can compromise the integrity of the plasma membrane, causing necrotic cell death (70, 71). Therefore, attached glycans play a critical role in maintaining NP stability and conformation and can define many of the physical properties of NP systems, which positively influences the safety of the proposed nanosystems through improvement of pharmacokinetic and biocompatibility (35, 72, 73).

# APPLICATIONS OF GLYCAN-BASED NANOPARTICLES

Glycan changes in malignant cells, a hallmark of cancer, take a variety of forms: increase in incomplete or truncated glycan expression, loss of expression or excessive expression of certain glycans, and, less frequently, the appearance of novel glycans (26, 74). Furthermore, G-NPs have been studied to improve specific delivery of known and reassigned drugs as well as DNA, proteins, and peptides like vaccines. A database search was carried out with the words "glycoconjugates," "glycopolymers," "glycodendrimers," and "glycol AND drugs" "glycosylation AND nanoparticles AND cancer" in the Scopus server and Integrity (www.integrity.clarivate.com). The search revealed the increasing amount of research on G-NPs during the last 20 years (approximately 3,500 patents), especially because the number of technology patents around the world has doubled in the last 10 years. Therefore, these types of nanosystems have the potential to be used in cancer therapy and prevention, pathological imaging diagnosis, and theragnostics.

## Glycosylated Nanoparticles as Carriers of Drugs and Small Molecules

The most common strategies for cancer therapy include the use of small molecular drugs, and NP systems improve the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles of these drugs due to the ability of NPs to remain in prolonged circulation in systemic models, increasing drug biodistribution and circulation, and reducing in vivo side effects (75, 76). For instance, overexpression of GLUT in breast cancer cells can enhance drug uptake (77). Moreover, our group performed a therapeutic strategy that included glycosylation of a one-step PAMAM dendrimer loaded with methotrexate (OS-PAMAM-MTX-GLU) (Figure 1B). This study showed that glucose conjugation led to a 150% increase in the internalization of OS-PAMAM conjugates in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells and reduced cell viability by up to 20%. Cancer cell death was significantly higher with the nanosystem than with free MTX, and the system displayed specificity because no effects were observed in noncancer cells (Figures 1C, D) (14).

Gold glyconanoparticles coupled to listeriolysin O 91–99 peptide (GNP-LLO<sub>91–99</sub>) have been used as a novel adjuvant

for cancer therapy. GNP-LLO<sub>91-99</sub> exhibited antitumor activity by inhibiting tumor growth and migration in melanoma cells and generated an immune response by recruiting and activating DC (78). In addition, other strategies, including two glycosylated systems to deliver cisplatin (CDDP), mannose-decorated tobacco mosaic virus (CDDP@TMV-Man) and lactose-decorated tobacco mosaic virus (CDDP@TMV-Lac), have been reported. CDDP@TMV-Man induced enhanced endocytosis and apoptosis in galectin-rich MCF-7 cells, whereas CDDP@TMV-Lac showed superiority in endocytosis and apoptosis in HepG2 cells with overexpression of asialoglycoprotein receptors (ASGPR) (79). Currently, other strategies for cancer drug delivery using glycosylated carriers have shown a high antitumoral effect, reaching up to 95% cell death. In particular, the high affinity of galactose for the asialoglycoprotein receptor in cancer cells has provided outstanding therapeutic strategies, with special benefits in liver cancer (Table 1).

# **G-NP Carriers of Nucleic Acids**

Due to recent developments in gene therapy, G-NPs have been employed for specific and higher nucleic acid (siRNA, DNA, and miRNA) transfection. A series of cationic block copolymers (PHML-b-PMAGal) and the statistical copolymers P(HML-st-MAGal) with pendant natural galactose and (L-)-lysine moieties were exposed to a human non-small cell lung carcinoma cell line. P(HML<sub>40</sub>-st-MAGal<sub>4</sub>) with 4.8% galactose content showed the highest gene transfection efficiency among the synthesized cationic polymers, 6.8-fold higher than the "gold standard" bPEI-25k (87). Combined treatments, such as using targeted NPs to deliver chemopeptides and gene therapeutics, have been delivered efficiently to cancer cells and tissues to avoid transfection cytotoxicity, overcome drug resistance, and stop tumor development. In one study, a novel mannosylated copolymer with a CPP grafted into Polyethylenimine (PEI) was prepared to target antigen-presenting cells (APCs) with mannose receptors. The gene transfection was significantly higher by the grafted CPP mannosylated than in control cells (88, 89).

# G-NP Applications in Immunotherapy and Vaccines

The presence of altered glycans on cancer cells has been used as a diagnostic marker and tumor cell marker (90). Glycan aberrations have not only been used as markers but can also be linked to endogenous lectins, such as galectins, sialic acidbinding immunoglobulin type lectins, and selectins (91). For example, type C lectin receptors are widely expressed on myeloid cells, such as macrophages, neutrophils, and DC. Consequently, they can mediate specific interactions with tumor antigens and facilitate tumor rejection (92, 93).

Due to their relevance, incomplete or truncated glycan structures, often covered by sialic acid and commonly known as tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens (TACA), have been studied (94). These antigens have already been seen to be overexpressed in different cancer types, such as breast, pancreas, bladder, and colon cancer (95–98). For example, glycodendrimers were evaluated due to their dual properties as

#### TABLE 1 | Applications of the recent glycosylated nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer cells.

Carrier	Average size ± SD (nm)	Ligand	Receptor	Applications	Cell line/cancer model	The decrease in tumor volume/cell viability (%)	Decrease in control cells (%)	Reference
Glycogen nanoparticles	175 ± 75	Galactose	Asialoglycoprotein receptor	The system has efficient accumulation and release of drugs at tumor sites, inhibiting tumor growth with only slight retention in normal liver tissues.	<i>In vivo</i> model HepG2/Liver epithelial cells	80	15	(40)
Solid-lipid nanoparticles	174,51 ± 5.1	Fucose	Lectin receptors	Efficient delivery of methotrexate mediated by fucose- decorated solid lipid nanocarriers in breast cancer therapy.	In vivo model MCF7/Breast epithelial cells	75	_*	(75)
Liposomes	81.9 ± 6.2	Mannose-6- phosphate	Type II insulin-like growth factor receptor	Selective induction of apoptosis in MCF7 cancer cells by specific liposomes functionalized with mannose-6- phosphate.	<i>In vitro</i> model MCF7/Breast epithelial cells	50	No significant differences with untreated cells	(80)
Polymer nanoparticles	54,84 ± 0.58	Galactose	Asialoglycoprotein receptor	Galactose-Containing Polymer-DOX Conjugates for Targeting Drug Delivery.	<i>In vitro</i> model HepG2/Liver epithelial cells	80	55	(81)
Polyethyleneimine- modified iron oxide nanoparticles	98.2 ± 2.3	Galactose	Asialoglycoprotein receptor	Targeted delivery and accumulation of siRNA in tumor cells for therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma.	<i>In vivo</i> model Hepa 1–6/Liver epithelial cells	70	-	(82)
Polymer nanoparticles	112 ± 5	Galactose	Asialoglycoprotein receptor	Polymeric NPs as potential carriers for hepatoma- targeted drug delivery and liver cancer therapy in clinical medicine.	<i>In vitro</i> model HepG2/Liver epithelial cells	95	No significant differences with untreated cells	(83)
Lipid nanoparticles	228,8 ± 5.42	Mannose	Mannose receptor	Increased supply of gemcitabine in lung cancer cells. The mannosylated formulation has higher cytotoxicity and can selectively kill cancer cells.	<i>In vitro</i> model A549/Lung epithelial cells	35	-	(84)
Lipid nanoparticles	239 ± 2,4	Galactose	Lectin receptors	Targeted delivery of doxorubicin to lung cells induces increased cytotoxicity related to that related to marked drug uptake and accumulation.	<i>In vitro</i> model A549/Lung epithelial cells	30	-	(85)
Mesoporous silica nanoparticles	180 ± 50	Mannose	Lectin receptors	Nanoparticles conjugated with D-mannose vehicles for controlled drug release in A549 cells.	<i>In vitro</i> model A549/Lung epithelial cells	45	10	(86)

\*Not determined.

Torres-Pérez et al.

targeting agents using a CD4- and CD8-directed melanoma antigen (gp100) and a glycan (LeY) recognized by the type C lectin receptors DC-SIGN and Langerin. Thus, the first glycovaccine with dual C-type lectin receptors (CLR) targeting properties was designed with glycosylated dendrimers, which reached multiple human skin DC and improved antitumor CD8+ T cell responses (99). These investigations demonstrate that glycans can be applied both in the construction of systems to detect biomarkers for tumor diagnosis and prognosis determination, as well as in the development of vaccines targeting carbohydrate antigens (91).

## **G-NPs Used in Theragnostics**

The Warburg effect is a hallmark of cancer and serves as a target for both diagnosis and therapeutic strategies (100). Several glycoconjugates, such as 99mTc-labeled deoxyglucose derivates and glucosamine functionalized with multiwalled carbon nanotubes, have been employed as diagnostic agents for heart and brain cancer and showed superior accuracy over current diagnostic methods (101, 102). However, in recent years, theragnostic systems, such as silica and hyaluronic acid-based NPs that can be used to image cancer cells and at the same time can suppress tumor growth, have been designed by improving the solubility of hydrophobic drugs and glycosylation-mediated drugs and the tumor cell targeting efficiency, with minimum toxicity (103–105).

# **CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES**

Current evidence indicates that glycosylation strategies combined with drug delivery systems and immunological therapy present potential opportunities for cancer therapy and theragnostics. In particular, nanosystems proposed for lipidic NPs with galactose are the most well studied and promising strategy against several cancer types. However, targeted G-NPs for cancer treatment involving novel nanotechnologies and medical strategies have numerous challenges and issues. One of the challenges of targeted NPs is to induce a beneficial alteration in the solubility, stability, and pharmacokinetic features of the drug carried. Other challenges are related to

## REFERENCES

- Bertrand N, Wu J, Xu X, Kamaly N, Farokhzad OC. Cancer nanotechnology: The impact of passive and active targeting in the era of modern cancer biology. *Adv Drug Delivery Rev* (2014) 66:2–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.addr.2013.11.009
- Hare JI, Lammers T, Ashford MB, Puri S, Storm G, Barry ST. Challenges and strategies in anti-cancer nanomedicine development: An industry perspective. Adv Drug Delivery Rev (2017) 108:25–38. doi: 10.1016/ j.addr.2016.04.025
- Jain K, Kesharwani P, Gupta U, Jain NK. A review of glycosylated carriers for drug delivery. *Biomaterials* (2012) 33:4166–86. doi: 10.1016/ j.biomaterials.2012.02.033
- Cai L, Gu Z, Zhong J, Wen D, Chen G, He L, et al. Advances in glycosylation-mediated cancer-targeted drug delivery. *Drug Discovery Today* (2018) 23:1126–38. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2018.02.009

control the diverse alterations in the tumoral microenvironment and the clinical safety and repeatability concerns.

Further nanomedicine innovations and basic research are crucial for the discovery of more specific cancer receptors and new glycan-based ligands or repurposed drugs against these receptors. Although the majority of carbohydrates and chemo drugs used in these experimental therapies are low-cost molecules, the sum of all the components and synthesis steps necessary to obtain the nanoconjugate can be expensive, and researchers have not fully examined the cost-effectiveness issues. Apart from accumulation of nonmetabolizable nanocomponents like gold, leakage of shelf life, toxicity of some substances employed for making NPs is another restriction. Therefore it is recommended to use organic NPs for therapeutic applications.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ST-P and ER-G designed this work of review. CT-P, ST-P and MP-E performed the literature search of the databases. ST-P and CT-P Writing—original draft preparation. ER-G, MP-E and SP-T Supervision, writing—reviewing and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This project was financed by Secretaría de Investigación y Posgrado (SIP-IPN) through project 2020205. Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACyT) through Fondo Sectorial de Investigación para la Educación through project No. A1-S-21548 and Fondo de Investigación Científica y Desarrollo Tecnológico through Instituto Politécnico Nacional.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors ST-P and CT-P were grateful for the awarded CONACyT and BEIFI-IPN scholarship. MP-E, SP-T and ER-G are COFAA, EDI, and SNI grant fellow.

- Mullapudi SS, Mitra D, Li M, Kang ET, Chiong E, Neoh KG. Potentiating anti-cancer chemotherapeutics and antimicrobials: Via sugar-mediated strategies. *Mol Syst Des Eng* (2020) 5:772–91. doi: 10.1039/C9ME00175A
- Yoshino H, Nohata N, Miyamoto K, Yonemori M, Sakaguchi T, Sugita S, et al. PHGDH as a key enzyme for serine biosynthesis in HIF2α-targeting therapy for renal cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77:6321–9. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-17-1589
- Gonzalez PS, O'Prey J, Cardaci S, Barthet VJA, Sakamaki Ji, Beaumatin F, et al. Mannose impairs tumour growth and enhances chemotherapy. *Nature* (2018) 563:719–23. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0729-3
- Anniebell S, Gopinath SCB. Polymer Conjugated Gold Nanoparticles in Biomedical Applications. *Curr Med Chem* (2018) 25:1433–45. doi: 10.2174/ 0929867324666170116123633
- Mu Q, Jiang G, Chen L, Zhou H, Fourches D, Tropsha A, et al. Chemical basis of interactions between engineered nanoparticles and biological systems. *Chem Rev* (2014) 114:7740–81. doi: 10.1021/cr400295a

- Pinho SS, Reis CA. Glycosylation in cancer: Mechanisms and clinical implications. Nat Rev Cancer (2015) 15:540–55. doi: 10.1038/nrc3982
- Zois CE, Harris AL. Glycogen metabolism has a key role in the cancer microenvironment and provides new targets for cancer therapy. *J Mol Med* (2016) 94:137–54. doi: 10.1007/s00109-015-1377-9
- Ancey PB, Contat C, Meylan E. Glucose transporters in cancer from tumor cells to the tumor microenvironment. *FEBS J* (2018) 285:2926–43. doi: 10.1111/febs.14577
- Adekola K, Rosen ST, Shanmugam M. Glucose transporters in cancer metabolism. *Curr Opin Oncol* (2012) 24:650. doi: 10.1097/CCO. 0b013e328356da72
- Torres-Pérez SA, Ramos-Godínez M del P, Ramón-Gallegos E. Glycosylated one-step PAMAM dendrimers loaded with methotrexate for target therapy in breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231. J Drug Delivery Sci Technol (2020) 58:101769. doi: 10.1016/j.jddst.2020.101769
- Zhou C, Qian W, Li J, Ma J, Chen X, Jiang Z, et al. High glucose microenvironment accelerates tumor growth via SREBP1-autophagy axis in pancreatic cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2019) 38:1–16. doi: 10.1186/ s13046-019-1288-7
- Li X, Li J, Cai Y, Peng S, Wang J, Xiao Z, et al. Hyperglycaemia-induced miR-301a promotes cell proliferation by repressing p21 and Smad4 in prostate cancer. *Cancer Lett* (2018) 418:211–20. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.01.031
- Bao Z, Chen K, Krepel S, Tang P, Gong W, Zhang M, et al. High Glucose Promotes Human Glioblastoma Cell Growth by Increasing the Expression and Function of Chemoattractant and Growth Factor Receptors. *Transl* Oncol (2019) 12:1155–63. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2019.04.016
- Han J, Zhang L, Guo H, Wysham WZ, Roque DR, Willson AK, et al. Glucose promotes cell proliferation, glucose uptake and invasion in endometrial cancer cells via AMPK/mTOR/S6 and MAPK signaling. *Gynecol Oncol* (2015) 138:668–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.06.036
- Szablewski L. Expression of glucose transporters in cancers. *Biochim Biophys* Acta Rev Cancer (2013) 1835:164–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2012.12.004
- Granchi C, Capecchi A, Del Frate G, Martinelli A, Macchia M, Tuccinardi T, et al. Development and validation of a docking-based virtual screening platform for the identification of new lactate dehydrogenase inhibitors. *Molecules* (2015) 20:8772–90. doi: 10.3390/molecules20058772
- Liu TQ, Fan J, Zhou L, Zheng SS. Effects of suppressing glucose transporter-1 by an antisense oligodeoxynucleotide on the growth of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int* (2011) 10:72–7. doi: 10.1016/S1499-3872(11)60010-6
- Reckzeh ES, Karageorgis G, Schwalfenberg M, Ceballos J, Nowacki J, Stroet MCM, et al. Inhibition of Glucose Transporters and Glutaminase Synergistically Impairs Tumor Cell Growth. *Cell Chem Biol* (2019) 26:1214–1228.e25. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.06.005
- Shin SJ, Kim JY, Kwon SY, Mun KC, Cho CH, Ha E. Ciglitazone enhances ovarian cancer cell death via inhibition of glucose transporter-1. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2014) 743:17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.09.013
- 24. Tian J, Guo F, Chen Y, Li Y, Yu B, Li Y. Nanoliposomal formulation encapsulating celecoxib and genistein inhibiting COX-2 pathway and Glut-1 receptors to prevent prostate cancer cell proliferation. *Cancer Lett* (2019) 448:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.01.002
- Peng Y, Xing SN, Tang HY, Wang CD, Yi FP, Liu GL, et al. Influence of glucose transporter 1 activity inhibition on neuroblastoma in vitro. *Gene* (2019) 689:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2018.12.010
- Wu KH, Ho CT, Chen ZF, Chen LC, Whang-Peng J, Lin TN, et al. The apple polyphenol phloretin inhibits breast cancer cell migration and proliferation via inhibition of signals by type 2 glucose transporter. *J Food Drug Anal* (2018) 26:221–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jfda.2017.03.009
- Bhat R, García I, Aznar E, Arnaiz B, Martínez-Bisbal MC, Liz-Marzán LM, et al. Lectin-gated and glycan functionalized mesoporous silica nanocontainers for targeting cancer cells overexpressing Lewis X antigen. *Nanoscale* (2018) 10:239–49. doi: 10.1039/C7NR06415B
- Chen J, Liu T, Gao J, Gao L, Zhou L, Cai M, et al. Variation in carbohydrates between cancer and normal cell membranes revealed by super-resolution fluorescence imaging. *Adv Sci* (2016) 3(12):1600270. doi: 10.1002/ advs.201600270
- 29. Asgharzadeh MR, Barar J, Pourseif MM, Eskandani M, Niya MJ, Omidi Y, et al. Molecular machineries of pH dysregulation in tumor

microenvironment: potential targets for cancer therapy. *BioImpacts* (2017) 7:115. doi: 10.15171/bi.2017.15

- Fernandes E, Ferreira D, Peixoto A, Freitas R, Relvas-Santos M, Palmeira C, et al. Glycoengineered nanoparticles enhance the delivery of 5-fluoroucil and paclitaxel to gastric cancer cells of high metastatic potential. *Int J Pharm* (2019) 570:118646. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118646
- Glavey SV, Huynh D, Reagan MR, Manier S, Moschetta M, Kawano Y, et al. The cancer glycome: Carbohydrates as mediators of metastasis. *Blood Rev* (2015) 29:269–79. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2015.01.003
- 32. Fukushima R, Kasamatsu A, Nakashima D, Higo M, Fushimi K, Kasama H, et al. Overexpression of translocation associated membrane protein 2 leading to cancer-associated matrix metalloproteinase activation as a putative metastatic factor for human oral cancer. J Cancer (2018) 9:3326–33. doi: 10.7150/jca.25666
- Huang S, Shao K, Kuang Y, Liu Y, Li J, An S, et al. Tumor targeting and microenvironment-responsive nanoparticles for gene delivery. *Biomaterials* (2013) 34:5294–302. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.03.043
- Reichel D, Tripathi M, Perez JM. Biological effects of nanoparticles on macrophage polarization in the tumor microenvironment. *Nanotheranostics* (2019) 3:66–88. doi: 10.7150/ntno.30052
- Wan S, Kelly PM, Mahon E, Stöckmann H, Rudd PM, Caruso F, et al. The "sweet" Side of the protein corona: Effects of glycosylation on nanoparticlecell interactions. ACS Nano (2015) 9:2157–66. doi: 10.1021/nn506060q
- Senapati S, Mahanta AK, Kumar S, Maiti P. Controlled drug delivery vehicles for cancer treatment and their performance. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2018) 3:1-19. doi: 10.1038/s41392-017-0004-3
- Mizrahy S, Peer D. Polysaccharides as building blocks for nanotherapeutics. *Chem Soc Rev* (2012) 41:2623–40. doi: 10.1039/C1CS15239D
- Chen Z, Wang Z, Gu Z. Bioinspired and Biomimetic Nanomedicines. Acc Chem Res (2019) 52:1255–64. doi: 10.1021/acs.accounts.9b00079
- Ahire JH, Chambrier I, Mueller A, Bao Y, Chao Y. Synthesis of d-mannose capped silicon nanoparticles and their interactions with MCF-7 human breast cancerous cells. ACS Appl Mater Interf (2013) 5:7384–91. doi: 10.1021/am4017126
- Han Y, Hu B, Wang M, Yang Y, Zhang L, Zhou J, et al. pH-Sensitive tumortargeted hyperbranched system based on glycogen nanoparticles for liver cancer therapy. *Appl Mater Today* (2020) 18:100521. doi: 10.1016/j.apmt. 2019.100521
- Liu X, Huang H, Liu G, Zhou W, Chen Y, Jin Q, et al. Multidentate zwitterionic chitosan oligosaccharide modified gold nanoparticles: Stability, biocompatibility and cell interactions. *Nanoscale* (2013) 5:3982–91. doi: 10.1039/c3nr00284e
- Metaxa AF, Efthimiadou EK, Boukos N, Kordas G. Polysaccharides as a source of advanced materials: Cellulose hollow microspheres for drug delivery in cancer therapy. J Colloid Interface Sci (2012) 384:198–206. doi: 10.1016/j.jcis.2012.04.073
- Rejinold NS, Chennazhi KP, Tamura H, Nair SV, Jayakumar R. Multifunctional Chitin Nanogels for Simultaneous Drug Delivery. ACS Appl Mater Interf (2011) 3(9):3654–65. doi: 10.1021/am200844m
- 44. Cui L, Cohen JA, Broaders KE, Beaudette TT, Fréchet JMJ. Mannosylated dextran nanoparticles: A pH-sensitive system engineered for immunomodulation through mannose targeting. *Bioconjug Chem* (2011) 22:949–57. doi: 10.1021/bc100596w
- 45. Lynn de Backer L, Naessens T, De Koker S, Zagato E, Demeester J, Grooten J, et al. Hybrid pulmonary surfactant-coated nanogels mediate efficient in vivo delivery of siRNA to murine alveolar macrophages. *J Control Release* (2015) 217:53–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2015.08.030
- 46. Zhong Y, Goltsche K, Cheng L, Xie F, Meng F, Deng C, et al. Hyaluronic acid-shelled acid-activatable paclitaxel prodrug micelles effectively target and treat CD44-overexpressing human breast tumor xenografts in vivo. *Biomaterials* (2016) 84:250–61. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.01.049
- Zhang X, Niu S, Williams GR, Wu J, Chen X, Zheng H, et al. Dual-responsive nanoparticles based on chitosan for enhanced breast cancer therapy. *Carbohydr Polym* (2019) 221:84–93. doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2019.05.081
- 48. Vivek R, Nipun Babu V, Thangam R, Subramanian KS, Kannan S. PHresponsive drug delivery of chitosan nanoparticles as Tamoxifen carriers for effective anti-tumor activity in breast cancer cells. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerf* (2013) 111:117–23. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013.05.018

- Agrawal P, Singh RP, Kumari L, Sharma G, Koch B, Muthu MS, et al. TPGSchitosan cross-linked targeted nanoparticles for effective brain cancer therapy. *Mater Sci Eng C* (2017) 74:167–76. doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2017.02.008
- Jin H, Pi J, Yang F, Jiang J, Wang X, Bai H, et al. Folate-Chitosan Nanoparticles Loaded with Ursolic Acid Confer Anti-Breast Cancer Activities in vitro and in vivo. Sci Rep (2016) 6:1–11. doi: 10.1038/srep30782
- 51. Liu Y, Zhou C, Wei S, Yang T, Lan Y, Cao A, et al. Paclitaxel delivered by CD44 receptor-targeting and endosomal pH sensitive dual functionalized hyaluronic acid micelles for multidrug resistance reversion. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerf* (2018) 170:330–40. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2018.06.024
- Friedman A, Claypool S, Liu R. The Smart Targeting of Nanoparticles. Curr Pharm Des (2013) 19:6315–29. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990375
- Rajabi M, Srinivasan M, Mousa SA. Nanobiomaterials in drug delivery. Nanobiomater Drug Deliv: Appl Nanobiomater (2016) 9:1–37. doi: 10.1016/ B978-0-323-42866-8.00001-0
- Chabre YM, Roy R. Design and creativity in synthesis of multivalent neoglycoconjugates. Adv Carbohydr Chem Biochem (2010) 63:165–393. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2318(10)63006-5
- Labieniec-Watala M, Watala C. PAMAM dendrimers: Destined for success or doomed to fail? Plain and modified PAMAM dendrimers in the context of biomedical applications. J Pharm Sci (2015) 104:2–14. doi: 10.1002/jps.24222
- Dhanikula RS, Argaw A, Bouchard JF, Hildgen P. Methotrexate loaded polyether-copolyester dendrimers for the treatment of gliomas: Enhanced efficacy and intratumoral transport capability. *Mol Pharm* (2008) 5:105–16. doi: 10.1021/mp700086j
- 57. Shi GN, Zhang CN, Xu R, Niu JF, Song HJ, Zhang XY, et al. Enhanced antitumor immunity by targeting dendritic cells with tumor cell lysateloaded chitosan nanoparticles vaccine. *Biomaterials* (2017) 113:191–202. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.10.047
- Cao Y, He Y, Liu H, Luo Y, Shen M, Xia J, et al. Targeted CT imaging of human hepatocellular carcinoma using low-generation dendrimerentrapped gold nanoparticles modified with lactobionic acid. J Mater Chem B (2015) 3(2):286–95. doi: 10.1039/C4TB01542H
- Singh I, Swami R, Jeengar MK, Khan W, Sistla R. p-Aminophenyl-α-dmannopyranoside engineered lipidic nanoparticles for effective delivery of docetaxel to brain. *Chem Phys Lipids* (2015) 188:1–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.chemphyslip.2015.03.003
- Horton D. Advances in carbohydrate chemistry and biochemistry. Oxford, UK: Academic Press (2012). 268 p.
- 61. Zhang J, Tang H, Liu Z, Chen B. Effects of major parameters of nanoparticles on their physical and chemical properties and recent application of nanodrug delivery system in targeted chemotherapy. *Int J Nanomed* (2017) 12:8483–93. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S148359
- 62. Belen'Kii LI, Nesterov ID, Chuvylkin ND. Quantum-chemical study of the affinities to electrophiles of molecules of five- Membered heterocycles with one heteroatom and of some model systems. *Khimiya Geterotsiklicheskikh Soedin* (2008) 44:1645–54. doi: 10.1007/s10593-009-0197-7
- 63. Young SL, Kellon JE, Hutchison JE. Small Gold Nanoparticles Interfaced to Electrodes through Molecular Linkers: A Platform to Enhance Electron Transfer and Increase Electrochemically Active Surface Area. J Am Chem Soc (2016) 138:13975–84. doi: 10.1021/jacs.6b07674
- 64. Flores-Fernández GM, Griebenow K. Glycosylation improves αchymotrypsin stability upon encapsulation in poly(lactic-co-glycolic)acid microspheres. *Results Pharma Sci* (2012) 2:46–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.rinphs.2012.08.001
- Dube E, Oluwole DO, Nwaji N, Nyokong T. Glycosylated zinc phthalocyanine-gold nanoparticle conjugates for photodynamic therapy: Effect of nanoparticle shape. *Spectrochim Acta Part A Mol Biomol Spectrosc* (2018) 203:85–95. doi: 10.1016/j.saa.2018.05.081
- Richards SJ, Gibson MI. Optimization of the polymer coating for glycosylated gold nanoparticle biosensors to ensure stability and rapid optical readouts. ACS Macro Lett (2014) 3:1004–8. doi: 10.1021/mz5004882
- Sampaolesi S, Nicotra F, Russo L. Glycans in nanomedicine, impact and perspectives. *Future Med Chem* (2019) 11:43–60. doi: 10.4155/fmc-2018-0368
- Mehravi B, Alizadeh AM, Khodayari S, Khodayari H, Ashtari K, Mohseni M, et al. Acute Toxicity Evaluation of Glycosylated Gd3+-Based Silica Nanoprobe. *Mol Imaging Biol* (2017) 19:522–30. doi: 10.1007/s11307-016-1025-y

- Miao T, Wang J, Zeng Y, Liu G, Chen X. Polysaccharide-Based Controlled Release Systems for Therapeutics Delivery and Tissue Engineering: From Bench to Bedside. Adv Sci (2018) 5:4. doi: 10.1002/advs.201700513
- Bodewein L, Schmelter F, Di Fiore S, Hollert H, Fischer R, Fenske M. Differences in toxicity of anionic and cationic PAMAM and PPI dendrimers in zebrafish embryos and cancer cell lines. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2016) 305:83–92. doi: 10.16/j.taap.2016.06.008
- Sood V, Katti DS. Physicochemical changes in plasma membrane mirror nanoparticle-mediated cytotoxicity. *Biorxiv* (2019). doi: 10.1101/ 2019.12.29.890236
- Roy R, Shiao TC, Rittenhouse-Olson K. Glycodendrimers: Versatile tools for nanotechnology. *Braz J Pharm Sci* (2013) 49:85–108. doi: 10.1590/S1984-82502013000700008
- Chen F, Huang G. Application of glycosylation in targeted drug delivery. Eur J Med Chem (2019) 182:111612. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111612
- Adamczyk B, Tharmalingam T, Rudd PM. Glycans as cancer biomarkers. Biochim Biophys Acta Gen Subj (2012) 1820:1347–53. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbagen.2011.12.001
- 75. Garg NK, Singh B, Jain A, Nirbhavane P, Sharma R, Tyagi RK, et al. Fucose decorated solid-lipid nanocarriers mediate efficient delivery of methotrexate in breast cancer therapeutics. *Colloids Surf B* (2016) 146:114–26. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2016.05.051
- Hoshyar N, Gray S, Han H, Bao G. The effect of nanoparticle size on in vivo pharmacokinetics and cellular interaction. *Nanomedicine* (2016) 11:673–92. doi: 10.2217/nnm.16.5
- Zhao Y, Butler EB, Tan M. Targeting cellular metabolism to improve cancer therapeutics. *Cell Death Dis* (2013) 4:1–10. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.60
- Calderon-Gonzalez R, Terán-Navarro H, García I, Marradi M, Salcines-Cuevas D, Yañez-Diaz S, et al. Gold glyconanoparticles coupled to listeriolysin O 91-99 peptide serve as adjuvant therapy against melanoma. *Nanoscale* (2017) 9:10721–32. doi: 10.1039/C7NR02494K
- Liu X, Liu B, Gao S, Wang Z, Tian Y, Niu Z, et al. Glyco-decorated tobacco mosaic virus as a vector for cisplatin delivery. J Mater Chem B (2017) 5:2078–85. doi: 10.1039/C7TB00100B
- Minnelli C, Cianfruglia L, Laudadio E, Galeazzi R, Pisani M, Crucianelli E, et al. Selective induction of apoptosis in MCF7 cancer-cell by targeted liposomes functionalised with mannose-6-phosphate. *J Drug Targeting* (2018) 26:242–51. doi: 10.1080/1061186X.2017.1365873
- Sun Y, Zhang J, Han J, Tian B, Shi Y, Ding Y, et al. Galactose-containing polymer-DOX conjugates for targeting drug delivery. *AAPS Pharmscitech* (2017) 18:749–58. doi: 10.1208/s12249-016-0557-4
- Yang Z, Duan J, Wang J, Liu Q, Shang R, Yang X, et al. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles modified with polyethylenimine and galactose for siRNA targeted delivery in hepatocellular carcinoma therapy. *Int J Nanomed* (2018) 13:1851–65. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S155537
- Wang T, Tang X, Han J, Ding Y, Guo W, Pei M. Biodegradable Self-Assembled Nanoparticles of Galactose-Containing Amphiphilic Triblock Copolymers for Targeted Delivery of Paclitaxel to HepG2 Cells. *Macromol Biosci* (2016) 16:774–83. doi: 10.1002/mabi.201500413
- Soni N, Soni N, Pandey H, Maheshwari R, Kesharwani P, Tekade RK. Augmented delivery of gemcitabine in lung cancer cells exploring mannose anchored solid lipid nanoparticles. J Colloid Interface Sci (2016) 481:107–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jcis.2016.07.020
- Jain A, Kesharwani P, Garg NK, Jain A, Jain SA, Jain AK, et al. Galactose engineered solid lipid nanoparticles for targeted delivery of doxorubicin. *Colloids Surfaces B Biointerf* (2015) 134:47–58. doi: 10.1016/ j.colsurfb.2015.06.027
- Zhou J, Hao N, De Zoyza T, Yan M, Ramström O. Lectin-gated, mesoporous, photofunctionalized glyconanoparticles for glutathioneresponsive drug delivery. *Chem Commun* (2015) 51:9833–6. doi: 10.1039/ C5CC02907D
- Sun J, Sheng R, Luo T, Wang Z, Li H, Cao A. Synthesis of diblock/statistical cationic glycopolymers with pendant galactose and lysine moieties: Gene delivery application and intracellular behaviors. *J Mater Chem B* (2016) 4:4696–706. doi: 10.1039/c6tb00969g
- Hu Y, Xu B, Ji Q, Shou D, Sun X, Xu J, et al. A mannosylated cell-penetrating peptide-graft-polyethylenimine as a gene delivery vector. *Biomaterials* (2014) 35:4236–46. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.01.065

- Khan H, Mirzaei HR, Amiri A, Kupeli Akkol E, Ashhad Halimi SM, Mirzaei H. Glyco-nanoparticles: New drug delivery systems in cancer therapy. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2019) 10:0–1. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.12.004
- 90. Kannagi R, Sakuma K, Miyazaki K, Lim KT, Yusa A, Yin J, et al. Altered expression of glycan genes in cancers induced by epigenetic silencing and tumor hypoxia: Clues in the ongoing search for new tumor markers. *Cancer Sci* (2010) 101:586–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01455.x
- Mereiter S, Balmaña M, Campos D, Gomes J, Reis CA. Glycosylation in the Era of Cancer-Targeted Therapy: Where Are We Heading? *Cancer Cell* (2019) 36:6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.06.006
- Scott E, Elliott DJ, Munkley J. Tumour associated glycans: A route to boost immunotherapy? *Clin Chim Acta* (2020) 502:167–73. doi: 10.1016/ j.cca.2019.12.015
- Yan H, Kamiya T, Suabjakyong P, Tsuji NM. Targeting C-type lectin receptors for cancer immunity. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:1–9. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2015.00408
- Beckwith DM, Cudic M. Tumor-associated O-glycans of MUC1: Carriers of the glyco-code and targets for cancer vaccine design. *Semin Immunol* (2020) 47:101389. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2020.101389
- Cazet A, Julien S, Bobowski M, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, Harduin-Lepers A, Groux-Degroote S, et al. Consequences of the expression of sialylated antigens in breast cancer. *Carbohydr Res* (2010) 345(10):1377–83. doi: 10.1016/j.carres.2010.01.024
- Balmaña M, Duran A, Gomes C, Llop E, López-Martos R, Ortiz MR, et al. Analysis of sialyl-Lewis x on MUC5AC and MUC1 mucins in pancreatic cancer tissues. *Int J Biol Macromol* (2018) 112:33–45. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijbiomac.2018.01.148
- Ferreira JA, Videira PA, Lima L, Pereira S, Silva M, Carrascal M, et al. Overexpression of tumour-associated carbohydrate antigen sialyl-Tn in advanced bladder tumours. *Mol Oncol* (2013) 7:719–31. doi: 10.1016/ j.molonc.2013.03.001
- Kawashima H. Roles of the gel-forming MUC2 mucin and its Oglycosylation in the protection against colitis and colorectal cancer. *Biol Pharm Bull* (2012) 35:1637–41. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b12-00412

- Duinkerken S, Horrevorts SK, Kalay H, Ambrosini M, Rutte L, de Gruijl TD, et al. Glyco-dendrimers as intradermal anti-tumor vaccine targeting multiple skin DC subsets. *Theranostics* (2019) 9:5797–809. doi: 10.7150/thno.35059
- 100. Tekade RK, Sun X. The Warburg effect and glucose-derived cancer theranostics. *Drug Discovery Today* (2017) 22:1637–53. doi: 10.1016/ j.drudis.2017.08.003
- 101. Sadeghzadeh M, Charkhlooiea G, Johari Daha F. Synthesis, radiolabeling and biological evaluation of 99mTc-labeled deoxyglucose derivatives for molecular imaging. *Iran J Pharm Res* (2013) 12:273–80.
- Fahrenholtz CD, Hadimani M, King SB, Torti SV, Singh R. Targeting breast cancer with sugar-coated carbon nanotubes. *Nanomedicine* (2015) 10:2481– 97. doi: 10.2217/nnm.15.90
- 103. Kim SE, Zhang L, Ma K, Riegman M, Chen F, Ingold I, et al. Ultrasmall nanoparticles induce ferroptosis in nutrient-deprived cancer cells and suppress tumour growth. *Nat Nanotechnol* (2016) 11:977–85. doi: 10.1038/ nnano.2016.164
- 104. Yang Y, Jing L, Li X, Lin L, Yue X, Dai Z. Hyaluronic acid conjugated magnetic prussian blue@quantum dot nanoparticles for cancer theranostics. *Theranostics* (2017) 7(2):466. doi: 10.7150/thno.17411
- 105. Lee SY, Kang MS, Jeong WY, Han DW, Kim KS. Hyaluronic acid-based theranostic nanomedicines for targeted cancer therapy. *Cancers (Basel)* (2020) 12:1–17. doi: 10.3390/cancers12040940

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Torres-Pérez, Torres-Pérez, Pedraza-Escalona, Pérez-Tapia and Ramón-Gallegos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Repurposing Individualized Nutritional Intervention as a Therapeutic Component to Prevent the Adverse Effects of Radiotherapy in Patients With Cervical Cancer

## Ana Karen Medina-Jiménez<sup>1,2</sup> and Rebeca Monroy-Torres<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Environmental Nutrition and Food Safety, Medicine and Nutrition Department, University of Guanajuato, Guanajuato, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Observatorio Universitario de Seguridad Alimentaria y Nutricional del Estado de Guanajuato, Guanajuato, Mexico

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Teresita Padilla-Benavides, Wesleyan University, United States

# Reviewed by:

Odette Verdejo-Torres, University of Massachusetts Medical School, United States Monserrat Olea Flores, University of Massachusetts Medical School, United States

\*Correspondence:

Rebeca Monroy-Torres rmonroy79@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 16 August 2020 Accepted: 19 October 2020 Published: 08 December 2020

#### Citation:

Medina-Jiménez AK and Monroy-Torres R (2020) Repurposing Individualized Nutritional Intervention as a Therapeutic Component to Prevent the Adverse Effects of Radiotherapy in Patients With Cervical Cancer. Front. Oncol. 10:595351. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.595351 Worldwide, cervical cancer was the fourth leading cause of cancer death among women, while in Mexico was the second cause (5.28%). Cancer patients receiving chemotherapy and radiotherapy have a high risk of malnutrition secondary to the disease and treatment, affects the patient's overall, with adverse effects on gastrointestinal symptoms. These use affects the medical therapy. The aim of the present study was to evaluate the benefits on individualized nutritional therapy on decrease weight loss and gastrointestinal adverse effects and to consider these outcomes in pharmacology research, especially in repurposing drugs. We conducted a longitudinal design with two comparation groups with medical diagnosis of cervical cancer and received radiotherapy weekly, 1) the intervention group (nutritional intervention and counseling -INC-) with 20 participants and 2) control group (retrospective cohort -CG-) with 9 participants. Weekly body composition, dietary intake, adverse effects (gastrointestinal symptoms), glucose, hemoglobin, and blood pressure were analyzed during 4 to 5 weeks. Both groups had weight loss weekly (p = 0.013 and p = 0.043 respectively) but the CG vs INC presented loss fat-free mass ≥500g in 67 and of 37% respectively. By the end of the intervention a 25% of the INC group had <10 g/dL of hemoglobin vs 60% for the CG. To compare the dietary intake of vitamins (A and folic acid), fiber (p = 0.006), iron (p = 0.03) and energy (mainly carbohydrates) (p = 0.04) were according to the recommendations in INC group (p>0.05). The number needed to treat was 4 (95% Cl, 2 to 13). The nutritional intervention and counseling weekly during radiotherapy in cervical cancer to maintain/improve muscle mass, hemoglobin, and dietary intake above 70% of the recommendations for INC group compared to the evidence. Adequate nutritional status was maintained and decrease the rate of complications, mainly gastrointestinal symptoms, in INC group. The efficacy of drug repurposing can improve through individualized nutritional therapy for preventing adverse effects of radiotherapy in patients with cervical cancer.

Keywords: nutritional intervention, cervical cancer, body composition, radiotherapy, drug repurposing

# INTRODUCTION

Cervical cancer (CC)was the fourth leading cause of cancer death (311,000 deaths) among women in worldwide while in Mexico was the second cause (5.28%) in 2018. The mortality was three times higher in Latin America and the Caribbean compared to North America (1). Women with ages 25 to 69 years and in lower socio-economic groups are more prevalent (2). Some health programs benefit the prevention of chronic degenerative diseases whose main risk factor is overweight and obesity (3). In Mexico vaginal cytology and human papiloma virus (HPV) vaccination are part of CC prevention as part of early detection programs. HPV is the main risk factor (96.6%) of CC (4, 5). There are more than 100 variants of HPV but only the 16 and 18 are associated to CC (70 to 76%) (6). The risk of having HPV increases from 2 to 10 times with the onset of sexual activity (It is exacerbated with greater number of sexual partners), an onset of sexual life before 18 years, adolescent pregnancy, multiparity and smoking (7, 8).

Nutritional intervention and individualized counseling (INC) are a nutritional therapy with dietary prescription based on the control of symptoms for avoiding the undernutrition, overnutrition or any deterioration of the patient. Unfortunately, there is not enough evidence on long term compliance and long term follow up. An INC has benefits in the treatment of many diseases and in this case, it will depend on the type of cancer or its stage (9). There is evidence the INC well implemented impacts and contributes to improve the prognosis of cancer treatment (chemotherapy and radiotherapy) but there is little evidence in cervical cancer (10).

It is known that healthy dietary habits can contribute to reduce CC risk trough maintenance immune system response due to antioxidant presence, avoiding susceptibility to infectious diseases such as HPV (11). The western diet (ultraprocessed foods and sugary drinks, low in fiber, high in saturated fat, sodium, additives) increases the risk of CC (OR = 3.26, 95% CI = 1.03, 10.3; p <0.05) (12). Some studies had associated deficiency of acid folic also other nutrients with a lack immune response (OR = 14.9, 95% CI = 2.65-84.38 and OR = 8.72, 95% CI = 1.55-48.82) (13), vitamin B12 (OR = 0.25, 95% CI, 0.10–0.58, p < 0.01 and OR = 0.40, 95% CI, 0.17–0.88, p = 0.02) with an increased risk in prevalence of CC (14). The vitamin C intake has been associated with a decreased risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasms (OR = 0.58, 95% CI = 0.38-0.89, p = 0.011; OR = 0.59, 95% CI: 0.39-0.89; OR = 0.59, 95% CI = 0.39-0.88 and OR = 0.62 95% CI = 0.40-0.95) (15), as well as the consumption of vegetables and fruits (OR = 0.50, 95% CI = 0.27-0.95). An inverse association between serum levels of carotenoids and tocopherol has high risk of cervical neoplasia (OR = 0.71, 95% CI = 0.56–0.92; p = 0.003 and OR = 0.75, 95% CI = 0.60–0.94; p = 0.008) (16). The Cervical Cancer Screening Study carried out in the United States found that a BMI greater than 29 increases the risk of HPV infection and its progressing to CC (17, 18). In Mexico is high the prevalence of obesity in women (30 to 40%) and a study found that a high energy intake and obesity were observed in women with HPV (19).

Radiotherapy (RT) in pelvic area (period of 6 weeks in average) generates adverse effects such as diarrhea (15% at

onset and a 84.7% at finish RT), vomiting (19% at onset and 65% a at finish RT), nausea (39% at onset and a 45% at finish RT) enteritis, colitis and proctitis cause intestinal malabsorption, enterocolitis, ulcers, stenosis and suboclusive symptoms (20). 83% of patients with RT in the pelvic area in the past lost weight during treatment (21-23). According to the evidence, the individualized nutritional treatment must be part of cancer treatment especially in CC that helps to reduce adverse effects of RT. The nutritional objectives must focus on reducing fat-free mass loss and maintaining its functionality as well as reducing the adverse effects generated by the toxicity of RT and improving prognosis cancer (24). Ravasco et al., evaluated the RT toxicity in patients with colon cancer in the abdominal-pelvic area found that 65% of these patients (who received only standard recommendations) had radiotherapy-induced toxicity 90 days after treatment while that the group who received an individualized nutritional intervention only 9% of the patients presented it (25).

Due the benefits of nutritional intervention on the maintenance of body composition (preserving fat free mass) in cancer during RT and its association with reducing adverse effects (mainly gastrointestinal) (26, 27), the aim of the present study was to evaluate the benefits on individualized nutritional therapy with counseling on decrease weight loss and gastrointestinal symptoms, compared with historical cohort group on adverse effects. We hope that these outcomes could be considered in pharmacology research, especially in repurposing drugs.

# **METHODS**

# **Study Population**

Guanajuato is located in central Mexico, has 5,265,529 inhabitants (28), of which 51.7% are women (41% works at home). Guanajuato has a population of 657 513 emigrants (12.48% of the total population in the state) mainly to the United States. Migration is known to be a risk factor for increasing HPV exposure in women (29, 30). Since 2012 in Guanajuato has been implemented the program "Prevention and control of women's cancer" for addressing caused of mortality of CC (31). Last epidemiologic analysis showed a rate of 4.7 death per 100,000 habitants in Guanajuato state in 2018 and 4.2 per 100,000 habitants in 2019 (32).

## **Study Design**

We conducted a longitudinal design with two comparation groups. The inclusion criteria were,for both groups, to have a medical diagnosis of CC with weekly radiotherapy in a public or private hospital, to have 18 years and over, to have been born in any city in the state of Guanajuato, medium to low socioeconomic and accept the informed consent. Participants who intake dietary supplements were not included and who did not have at least 80% weekly follow-up for cases or controls, were eliminated for the study. Non-probabilistic sample (consecutive cases by simple availability). A 100% of the cases and 70% of the controls (retrospective cohort) were selectec from the shelter "Jesús de Nazareth" located in Leon, Guanajuato.

# **Study Groups and Recruitment Phase**

The study groups were: 1) the intervention group (nutritional intervention and counseling -INC-) with 20 participants and 2) control group (retrospective cohort -CG-) with 9 participants.

According to **Figure 1**, for INC group, 36 patients were assessed for elegibility in the recruitment phase; 7 were excluded (three participants did not meet the inclusion criteria and four did not accept to participate). Twenty participants were allocated to nutritional intervention and conseling group (INC). For retrospective cohort (CG) the sample size were nine. The historical cohort were study two years ago with the same characteristics. Both groups were followed up during RT of 3 to 5 weeks.

Intervention Group: Received a nutritional intervention (with individualized diet) and counseling during the radiotherapy treatment weekly (four to five weeks). The counseling was according to the gastrointesinal adverse effects and their tolerance. Before intervention, a complete nutritional evaluation was carried out body composition, dietary intake, adverse effects (gastrointestinal symptoms), glucose, hemoglobin, and blood pressure. The recommendations for energy and nutrient intake were based on ESPEN guidelines (33) for cancer patients. The dietary calculation was based with FAO/WHO/UNU, Harris-Bennedict formulas and ESPEN guidelines (suggest 25 to 30 kcal/kg/day with 1.2 to 1.5g protein/kg/day). Macronutrients were established of 20 to 30% for protein, 30 to 40% for lipids and 40 to 50% for carbohydrates and micronutrients were according to the *Recommended Daily Intake* (*RDI*) (34). The dietary recommendations were adjustment and individualized according to comorbidities presented in participants (diabetes, hypertension, hypothyroidism). The counseling was adjustmented according to the gastrointestinal adverse effects and food tolerance (for example, prescription of astringent diet when the diarrhea was presented or to increase energy density when anorexia appered), emphasizing the intake foods rich in carotenoids and antioxidants.

Control Group (Retrospective Cohort) (CG): Standard counseling was prescribed, which included a list of foods allowed and to be avoided, as well as general recommendations for the control of adverse gastrointestinal symptoms. The CG data were draft from a study of 2016. The variables were the same for the INC group (body composition, nutritional status, adverse



effects, and dietetic intake). The sample size were 9 participants. They received only standard counseling (recommendations) weekly throughout the RT.

### **Nutritional Status**

For the nutritional estatus, the anthropometric (body composition), dietary, biochemical, and clinical indicators were measured.

# Anthropometric Variable (Body Composition)

Body composition was measured with a bioimpedance analyzer (OMRON<sup>®</sup> HBF-500INT). The definition for low fat mass was 9 to 23% percentage, acceptable value of 24 to 31% and unhealthy value for value  $\geq$ 32%. Significant loss fat free mass was considered during radiotherapy treatment with  $\geq$ 500 g. Body mass index (BMI) was considered malnutrition with <18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, adequate value with 18.5 to 24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, overweight with 25 to 29.9 kg/m2 and obesity grade 1 with 30 to 34.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and obesity grade 2 with 35 to 39.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (35). Arm, waist, and hip circumference (A value greater than 0.85 was considered cardiometabolic risk for Waist-to-hip ratio) was measured with a fiberglass tape (Vitamex<sup>®</sup>) according to the ISAK<sup>®</sup> technique (36). All anthropometric measurements were performed by a previously standardized nutritionist.

### Diet

A 24-hour Recall was applied to assess the food and beverage intake (interview was in the last 24 h) with food replicas (NASCO<sup>®</sup>). The diet data was analyzed with Nutrikcal VO<sup>®</sup> Software. The energy, macronutrients (carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids), and micronutrients (vitamins and minerals) were calculated for one day and once weekly. The adequacy percentage was calculated for energy, macronutrients and micronutrients intake respect. An aceptable value for adequacy percentage was considered with 90 to 110%.

$$Percentage of a dequacy = \frac{(Actual \ consumption*100)}{Required \ consumption}$$

A consumption frequency questionnaire was applied with 8 food groups according to the Mexican System of Equivalent Foods (37). Vegetables, fruits, cereals and tubers, legumes, animal foods, dairy products, oils and fats, and sugars with the following frequencies: once a week, two to four times a week and daily.

## **Biochemical Variables**

Hemoglobin was measured from a capillary blood sample obtained with a sterile lancet with the Hemocue 201<sup>®</sup> kit (specificity greater than 90% and a sensitivity of 80%) (38). Capilar blood glucose was measured with an Accu-Chek<sup>®</sup> glucometer. The collection was carried out under postprandial conditions with a register of food intaked.

# **Clinical: Adverse Effects**

The main adverse effects of radiotherapy, mainly the gastrointestinal symptoms, were reported by the participants weekly, considering previous studies and the experience with retrospective cohort (CG) (20, 25).

*The VGS-GP* (Subjective global assessment-generated by the patient) was applied, the score was interpreted, A: good nutritional status; B: moderate malnutrition or risk of malnutrition and C: severe malnutrition. This instrument was applied at the beginning (first week of radiotherapy) and at the end of RT.

Blood pressure: Blood pressure was measured with a digital wrist baunometer (Omron<sup>®</sup> R3), the participants were sitting and placing their wrist at heart level with the palm extended (39). This was measured at the beginning and at the end of the intervention.

Radiation Therapy Toxicity: The radiation toxicity was measured using the RTOG/EORTC acute toxicity scale for abdomen and pelvis (40). The acute toxicity scale was applied at the beginning (first week of radiotherapy) and at the end of radiotherapy.

Adherence to the intervention: Adherence to nutritional treatment was considered when the participants' attendance is at 80% of sessions (3 weeks in average).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive analysis statistics were applied according to normal or non-normal distribution. For inferential analyzes, one-way Anova, Student's t, Chi<sup>2</sup> were applied. For the nonparametric variables, the Wilcoxon rank test, Student's t test, and the Friedman test were used. To measure the effect of the intervention, the number needed to treat (NNT) was calculated. 80% power was considered with an alpha of 0.05. The association of risk factors with the main variables (weight loss, fat-free mass and adverse effects) was calculated con Odds Ratio (95% confidence intervale). Statistical analyzes were performed with SPSS<sup>®</sup> software V22 Free trial.

### **Ethical Considerations**

Participants received written informed consent with detailed explanation of the intervention. The research was carried out considering the Declaration of Helsinki, Nuremberg Code. The study was approved by the Bioethical Committee of the University of Guanajuato (No. CIBIUG-P22-2017).

# RESULTS

Their baseline characteristics showed that most participants were 51.5 years (rank 31 to 73 years) (p = 0.19). A 38.9% of participant were married for the INC group and 55.5% for the CG group (p = 0.18). A 50% of the participants in the INC group had primary complete. A 70% were housewives. The origin cities participants were originated are presented in **Figure 2**. A 44.5% of the participants in the INC group presented some comorbidities (diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hypothyroidism), while in the CG group only 22.2% presented some comorbidities (p = 0.259) (**Table 1**).

# Anthropometric Variables (Body Composition)

Regarding anthropometric indicators, body weight and body mass index showed a significant decrease during the weeks for the INC group (p = 0.013 and p = 0.043, respectively). Likewise, there was a

Repurposing and Individualized Nutritional Intervention

tendency to decrease fat-free mass and body fat observed mainly in the CG group. At the beginning of RT the INC group had overweight in 25%, 35% were obese and 40% an adequate nutritional status; in the CG group 44% were overweight, 22% were obese and 33% an adequate nutritional status. There were no changes in nutritional status in the INC group, but in the CG group one of the participants developed malnutrition at the end of the RT (**Table 2** and **Figure 3**).

In the INC group the total weight loss during RT was of 1.1 kg (Rank 0.3 to 4.7 kg) while weekly weigh loss was 0.3 kg (rank 0.1 to 0.5 kg). For the CG group a statistically non-significant weigh loss of 2.7 kg (rank 0.9 to 6.2 kg) was observed throughout the five weeks while weekly was 0.9kg (rank 0.3 to 2kg). At comparing changes of weight weekly, mainly in the form of fat-free mass, for INC group the weight increased: last week (for weight p = 0.044 and fat-free mass p = <0.001), week two (p <0.001), week three (p = 0.14), week four (p = 0.048) and week five (p = 0.008). A 55% of the participants in the INC group lost body fat with a median of 2,100g (range from 1100 to 2,700g) while in the CG group 73.6% lost body fat with a median of 1,070g (range from 370 to 4,100g) (p = 1.000).

Weight loss in fat free mass (FFM) had a median of 410g (110 to 2,500g) in the INC group and 1,060g (100 to 2,500g) in the CG group; the weekly loss was 240g (150 to 460g) and 320kg (200 to 730g), respectively. A 37% of the INC group presented a loss greater than 500 g of FFM, while in the CG group 67% presented it (RR = 0.55; 95% CI: 0.26 to 1.17) with a reduction in the relative risk of 0.45 (95% CI= -0.17-0.74), an absolute risk reduction of 0.30 (95% CI= -0.08-0.67). The NNT was 4 (95% CI= 2 to -13).

#### Diet

Energy intake decreased weekly in both groups (**Table 3** and **Figure 4**). According to adequacy percentage in the INC group



FIGURE 2 | Cities origin from Guanajuato State of the participants of this study (Leon, Celaya, Irapuato, Salamanca, Cortazar, PEnjamo, San Luis de la Paz, Tierra Blanca, Jaral del Progreso, Valle de Santiago, Yuriria and Uriangato).

-		-		
		INC n = 20	CG n = 9	Ρ
	Age*	51.5(31–73)	51(35–83)	0.19*
Marital Status	Married	8(40)	5(55.5)	0.41**
	Single	5(25)	3(33.3)	
	Other	7(35)	1(11.1)	
Education level	Highschool	9(45)	-	
	Elementary	9(45)	-	
	None	2(10)	-	
Ocupation	Housewife	14(70)	4(44.4)	0.19**
	Employee	6(30)	5(55.5)	
Birthplace	Región del Bajío	13(65)	8(88.8)	0.18**
	Valles Abajeños	3(15)	1(11.1)	
	Sierra Gorda	4(20)	O(0)	
Comorbidity	Yes	9 (45)	2(22.2)	0.24**
	No	11 (55)	7(77.7)	
Stage of cancer	Stage I	2(10)	-	
	Stage II	12 (60)	-	
	Stage III	2(10)	3(33.3)	
	Stage IV	1(5)	-	
	No data	3(15)	6(66.6)	
Treatment	RT+CT	10(50)	3(33.3)	0.40**
	Previous Surgery	7(35)	2(22.2)	

INC, Nutritional Intervention and Counseling; CG, Control Group. RT+CT, Radiotherapy and chemotherapy. Data is expressed in percentages and frequencys. \*Median (Rank). Mann Withney U test. \*\*Fisher's exact test.

during RT the energy intake was in 60 to 80% except in week five with 65%. For the CG group, in the first week a 44% had an energy intake greater than 60%, in the third week was a 50% and in the fourth week a 33%. Respect to protein intake in first week for INC group a 50% of the participants had more than 60% of requirement while a 33% for CG group. For second, third and fourth week the protein, lipids and carbohydrates intake were higher in the INC group compared to the control CG. There were no data for the fifth week in the CG group. The rest of the nutriments are presented in **Tables 3**, **4**.

Lower intake for vitamin A was observed in the first week (p = 0.04); fiber (p = 0.006) and iron (p = 0.03); for the second and fouth week the carbohydrates (p = 0.04) and folic acid (p = 0.04) intake were lower for the CG group in comparison with INC.

# **Biochemical Variables**

There was a significant decrease in hemoglobin values, weekly in the INC group (p = 0.009); in second, third and fourh week the CG group had lower values (p = 0.016, p = 0.039) (**Table 5**). At the end of treatment 21.3% of the INC group presented values less than 10 mg/dL. In the CG group, in the first week a 33% of the participants had hemoglobin values less than 10 mg/dL and at the end a 66%. maintaining blood sugar levels of 95–140 mg/ dL. The glucose was maintained in normal values during RT.

# **Clinical Indicators: Adverse Symptoms**

Regarding adverse symptoms for the first week, INC group had: nausea (58%), pain (53%), anorexia (32%) and dysgeusia (32%); in the last week, diarrhea (56%), fatigue (56%), anorexia (44%) and nausea (40%). For CG group the frequently adverse effect in the first week were nausea 33%, anorexia and a combination of diarrhea and constipation in one patient (**Table 6**). Dysgeusia

TABLE 2 | Anthropometric variables in Nutritional Intervention and Counseling group (NC) and Control Group (CG).

Indicator	w	eek 1	W	eek 2	We	ek 3	We	ek 4	W	eek 5	P va	alue*
	INC n = 20	CG n = 9	INC n = 19	CG n = 9	INC n = 17	CG n = 7	INC n = 17	CG n = 6	INC n = 15	CG n = 3	INC	CG
Weight (kg)	66.9	64.9	63.3	62	61.8	60.6	62.1	60.2	58.4	82.3**	0.01	0.40
	(42–114)	(49.1–104.3)	(41–114)	(48.7–100.1)	(41–96.3)	(47.6–90.2)	(40–111)	(43.1–98.2)	(41–109)	(75.4–98.1)		
BMI (kg/m2)	27.7	26.9	27.6	26.8	26.8	25.9	26.6	26.1	25.7	28.3	0.04	0.40
	(20-44)	(20.4-45.7)	(19–44)	(20.3-43.9)	(19–34.3)	(19.8–36.1)	(19-42.4)	(17.9–43.1)	(21-42.4)	(22.7-43)		
Arm girth (cm)	28.4	30.3	28.7	29.5	29	27	28.5	28.3	28.5	31	0.47	0.15
	(23-46.1)	(23-39.5)	(22-46)	(22.2–36.5)	(21–37.5)	(22.3–37.5)	(21-46)	(21.7–33.5)	(23-47.7)	(30-35.3)		
Waist girth(cm)	89.3	88	88	84	88	82.5	85.5	89	85.5	91	0.18	0.06
	(68–130)	(71–117)	(65–130)	(70–118)	(67–116)	(69.5–104)	(66–128)	(65.3–118)	(73–128)	(88.5–112)		
Abdominal girth (cm)	96	98	96	95	95	92.2	94	94	97	99	0.66	0.25
	(78–132)	(83-117)	(73–131)	(78–119)	(73–127)	(78–108)	(73–139)	(81.5–116)	(85–136)	(95.5–113)		
Hips girth (cm)	102	106	100	97	100	96.5	99	97	101	107	0.30	0.13
	(84–138)	(88–139)	(82-139)	(88.5–133)	(82–131)	(89–113)	79–138)	(85–135)	(85–139)	(104-130.5)		
Fat free mass (kg)	16.7	21.7**	16.9	21.5**	16.5	20.8**	16.2	21.2**	15.9	25.8**	0.57	0.40
	(10–25.3)	(16.8–30.7)	(9.5–24.3)	(17.9–31.1)	(11–21.3)	(17.5–27.6)	(11–23.3)	(15.1–29.9)	(11–23.9)	(24.4–37)		
Fat mass (kg)	29.1	25.5	28	25	27.4	22.3	22.8	23.4	24.2	46.9	0.30	0.40
. 0,	(12–58.2)	(11.2–52.6)	(11-60.3)	(14.3–50.8)	(11–49.4)	(13.9–39.7)	(11–59.5)	(14.1–50.9)	(13–56.7)	(40.2–53.7)		

\*Friedman one-way repeated measure analysis of variance by ranks, \*\*p < 0.05. Kruskall-Wallis test.

was reported throughout the RT in the INC group and decreased it to 31% in the fifth week (**Figure 5**).

### Adherence to the Intervention

About 27 participants who were initially considered for the INC group, 55% of them attended the 100% of nutritional interventional while a 45% attended 4 sessions.

## **Other Variables**

Regarding blood pressure, a significant decrease in diastolic pressure was observed in the INC group throughout RT (p = 0.003). At the beginning of nutritional intervention, the INC group 85.7% had a low nutritional risk (12 participants) and 14.3% (2 women) had a moderate risk. At the end of RT (n = 11), 90% (10 participants) remained at low risk.

The radiation toxicity was measured only in INC group (n = 14) where only one participant had grade three and the rest remained in grade 1 at the end of RT.

# **Association Analysis**

An association was found between the presence of anorexia and a lower dietary intake in the first week (p = 0.017), but there was no association between this symptom and loss of body weight, fat mass or fat-free mass at the end of RT (p=0.082). The presence of nausea, diarrhea, and dysgeusia were not associated with weight loss, fat mass, fat-free mass, and lower energy intake at the end RT (p=1.000).

Nutrients and energy intake were not associated with weight loss, fat-free mass, and fat mass (p = 0.082). An intake less than 60% of the protein requirement was associated with a loss of fat-free mass greater than 500 g in the last week of radiotherapy in the INC group (p = 0.04), while an intake less than 60% for lipids requirement was associated with a loss of body weight greater than 500 g in the INC group in the last week of RT (p = 0.028).

A higher risk of had hemoglobin level less than 10mg/dL in the second week of RT in the CG group (OR=11.25; 95% CI=1.57-80.3; p = 0.019). Other risk factors for the CG group and INC as weight loss greater than 500 g and loss of fat-free mass greater than 500 g, energy intake less than 60%, serum hemoglobin at end of radiotherapy and the presence of symptoms such as anorexia are present in **Table 6**.

## DISCUSSION

Based on the immunological aspect associated with diet, there is evidence that an individualized nutritional intervention can be effective to improve nutritional intake, conserve nutritional status and quality of life and with a reduction in radiation toxicity (41). In the present study, individualized nutritional intervention did not decrease the adverse symptoms compared with retrospective cohort, but to maintain the body weight, fatfree mass, fat mass and diastolic blood pressure in the participants. Likewise, a higher energy and nutrient intake was observed in the intervention group.

It is known that malnutrition due to low body mass index (<18.5kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and weight loss more than 5% are predictive indicators for developing radiation toxicity (42). In this study, 10% of INC group and 33% of CG group, presented loss weight greater than 5% after RT. It has been found that there is a positive association between body mass index and cervical cancer (HR 1.10; CI 99%, 1.03-1.17) (43). Furthermore, women whit overweight or obesity used not attend screening for CC (44). A 60% and 66% of the participants in both groups in this study had obesity or overweight, respectively. The obesity is known to promote inflammation through immune system dysfunction (45). Obesity is also associated with low functional level and a greater number of comorbidities in cancer patients (46). It is substancial to adrees both overweight and obesity as an especial issue that should be discussed and considered in the individualized nutrition therapy in cancer patients. The relationship between adipose tissue, muscle mass and other tissues in the body composition of the cancer patient



has important clinical implications. Bioimpedance analysis is accessible tecnique, portable and inexpensive method that give important data on body composition. Although few studies have analyzed the body composition of patients with cervical cancer, an association has been found between low values of phase angle with postoperative complications and hospital stay (47–49).

A study in 2004, carried out in patients with head and neck cancer, showed that an early and individualized nutritional intervention can decrease fat-free mass loss and considered such loss clinically significant when it was greater than 500 g, during radiotherapy, since this involves to an impact on physical functionality (50). In our study, body composition analysis demonstrated a trend toward greater fat-free mass loss in the CG group in comparison with INC group. The intention-to-treat analysis allowed to consider that receiving an individualized nutritional intervention could be a protective factor for a fat-free mass loss greater than 500g, which was 42% less likely that this occurs in the group with INC and that four is the number of patients that must be treated with an INC to avoid losing more than 500g in fat-free mass.

Respect to the dietary intake, it decreased during all treatment and weekly. A tendency to be lower was observed in the participants of the CG group, although it was not statistically significant. Interestingly, it has been observed in various studies that nutritional intervention can improve and increase dietary intake (20, 51).

In the aspect of dietary prescription to cancer patients, it is known that nutritional support could increase the speed of tumor growth however, when nutritional status is compromised, complications may be greater and have an impact on survival prognosis (52). Current recommendations encourage compliance with the energy requirement that covers from 20 to 30 kcal/kg/day, when an individualized calculation is not available, intake less of than 60% (individual requirement) is considered deficient (53), in this study the 65% of the participants in the INC group had a consumption greater than 60% and increased and maintained it at 75% the following weeks, compared to the control group, where initially 44% covered in the first week, in the third week a 50% and in the fourth week only 33% of the participants cover the requeriments.

The protein intake was in tendency to be higher (although not statistically significant) in the INC group compare with CG group. In both groups it was less than recommended in the intervention that was carried out individually, according to the needs of the participant (a contribution of 1 to 1.3 g/kg is recommended). This, together with the deficient consumption of micronutrients, which is also caused by the low dietary consumption, could constitute a significant risk to maintain an adequate weight and, therefore, avoid the problems caused by possible malnutrition. Even so, the consumption of folic acid, vitamin A and iron was significantly higher in the INC group, in the first, second and fourth weeks, respectively. This decrease in the consumption of micronutrients has also been found in other studies (54); however, it is still necessary to study the supplementation of some vitamins in these patients, so the recommendation is to follow the daily intake recommended by the national academy of sciences and for critically ill patients, evaluating each case individually (54, 55).

	Wee	ek 1	We	ek 2	Wee	k 3	Wee	ek 4	Week	5	P va	alue*
	INC n = 18	CG n = 9	INC n = 18	CG n = 9	INCn = 15	CG n = 8	INC n = 15	CG n = 3	INC n = 15	CG n = 0	INC	CG
Energy (kcal)	1222.5 (258–2219)	945 (255–2401)	1141 (557–2254)	947 (477–1550)	1222 (454–2097)	1065 (407–2552)	1260 (609–2076)	422 (273–1642)	1056 (704–1401)	-	0.50	0.81
Proteins (g)	(230-2219) 50 (8.1-77)	(233–2401) 39.2 (9.1–149)	(337-2234) 39.9 (19.3-83.4)	20.1 (13.8–82.1)	(434–2097) 45.5 (19.8–68.7)	(407–2332) 31.15 (10.2–168)	42.6 (11.3–93.6)	(273-1042) 31.4 (23-47.7)	(104–1401) 38.8 (13.4–87.4)	-	0.58	0.89
Lípids (g)	35.3 (3.6–102)	26.12 (5.2–85.8)	37.5 (2.2–104)	26.40 (14.9–77)	25.9 (2.1–88.4)	21.73 (2.70–99.8)	27.4 (11.5–72.5)	5.57 (4.6–86–3)	25.7 (10.5–55.7)	-	0.30	0.80
Carbohidrates (g)	166 (29.5–354)	131.7 (59–259.8)	199.3 (108–350)	164.9 (51.6–278)	198.6 (96.9–335)	179.4 (62.4–238)	204 (111–377.8)	62.4 (34–192)	169 (96–294.9)	-	0.60	0.61
Sugar (g)	27 (6.9–97.5)	35.2 (11.1–135)	33 (9.7–150.2)	21.90 (3.8–73.6)	40.7 (8.9–111)	29.90 (4.2–81.5)	27.7 (3.4–78.2)	15.4 (0–24.4)	29.2 (4.5–65.9)	-	0.15	0.18
Fiber (g)	14.9 (3.8–27.3)	14.3 (5.6–31.3)	18.7 (4.6–27.9)	7.90** (5.3–21.6)	17.4 (4–40.8)	12.75 (2.2–24.2)	18.8 (5.8–56.4)	2.20 (1.6–17.6)	13 (4.9–47.6)	-	0.10	0.80
Vitamin A (µg RAE/day)***	1165 (132–9688)	355** (99–1097)	1444 (34–9409)	475 (24–2293)	1155 (18–8486)	709 (45–1512)	651 (214–10612)	66 (21–1024)	540 (88–6192)	-	0.24	0.89
Vitamin B12 (mg)	1.29 (0.19–12.2)	0.45 (0–8.3)	0.95 (0–5.13)	1.2 (0–3.97)	1.1 (0–10.9)	0.43 (0–6.4)	1.04 (0–12.7)	1.2 (0.41–1.3)	1.1 (0–4.23)	-		0.71
Vitamin C (mg)	37.2 (12–199.7)	40.1 (9.5–599)	56.1 (7–126.9)	43 (12.2–145)	41.7 (13.6–201.8}	42.4 (27.1–222)	39 (1.7–131)	40.8 (0.6–76.7)	32.4 (4.3–177)	-	0.49	0.53
Folic Acid (mcg)	109.5 (29–392)	96.6 (27.3–389)	92.3 (14–379)	54.2 (7.7–554)	148 (28–922)	75.7 (18.9–224)	140 (22–1160)	18.9** (5–87)	72 (15.3–833)	-	0.57	0.80
Iron (mg)	9.01 (1.34–14.4)	5.30 (2.4–15.2)	9.15 (1.03–19)	4.4** (2.6–14)	10.2 (2.1–18.9)	6.3 (1.7–20.6)	9.8 (3.9–29.4)	3.3 (1.7–12.8)	6.9 (1.24–24.9)	-	0.52	0.80
Selenium (mg)	25 (2–57)	18 (1–51)	18 (0–46)	11 (2–52)	16 (2–74)	17.5 (4–118)	19 (1–110)	21 (13–24)	6.5 (1–105)	-	0.12	0.68
Zinc (mg)	3.3 (0–7.9)	2 (0.4–10.6)	2.6 (0–8.6)	1.7 (0–9.5)	3.1 (0–6.7)	2.1 (0.3–9.5)	2.8 (2–9.5)	2.8 (1.4–6.1)	1.4 (0–6.4)	-	0.51	0.45

#### **TABLE 3** | CompaNutritional intake in comparison between groups.

\*Friedman one-way repeated measure analysis of variance by ranks, \*\*p < 0.05. Kruskall-Wallis test. \*\*\*RE: µg retinol estimated per day.



It is important to mention that adherence to nutritional treatment is an aspect that has a great impact on the results derived from the interventions; for example, one study showed that the risk of developing colorectal cancer can decrease up to 30% by having adequate adherence to the nutritional recommendations of the World Cancer Research Fund and the American Institute for Cancer Research (55). Multiple factors influence the adherence to nutritional treatment of patients; One of the main limitations for the participants to have an adequate fulfillment of their nutritional needs has been the attention to general recommendations that are given to them when they start their treatment. These recommendations generally restrict food that they consume daily and to which they have access. For example, the consumption of legumes (mainly beans and lentils) is maintained at least once a week in approximately 60% of the participants, despite the restriction.

Food availability and its relationship with the presence of cancer in a specific population, in 2018 an ecological study was conducted where found a correlation between with red meat intake, calories and animal fat with colorectal cancer (r = 0.59 and r2 of 0.29; r = 0.56and  $r^2$  of 0.16; r = 6, respectively) while a weak correlation was found with the availability of fruits and vegetables (56). These results should be analyzed, since it has not been considered individually, for example, individual high availability would not necessarily indicate a high consumption of food. Several factors influence this situation in the cancer patient for example gastrointestinal tolerance, sociodemographic variables. The anemia is an important variable that must be considered as a predictor factor in the prognosis of patients with chemotherapy and radiotherapy, mainly with values less than 10mg/dL in the last two weeks of treatment (57, 58).

#### TABLE 4 | Dietary intake and adequacy of energy and nutrients.

Intake adequacy percentage	Week 1		Week 2		Week 3		Week 4		Week 5		P value*	
	INC n = 18	CG n = 9	INC n = 18	CG n = 9	INC n = 15	CG n = 8	INC n = 15	CG n = 3	INC n = 15	CG n = 0	INC	CG
Energy (Kcal)	78 (15–147)	59 (14–150)	81 (33–125)	55 (25–103)	81 (27–137)	60 (25–148)	83 (37–153)	20 (18–102)	65 (45–113)	-	0.65	0.81
Proteins g	60 (9.8–102)	50 (10–187)	53 (23–95)	26 (14–102)	60 (24–92)	38 (12–197)	57 (14–138)	30 (29–59)	47 (19–134)	-	0.53	0.81
Lípids g	61 (7–198)	44 (8–160)	70 (4–178)	49 (24–154)	53 (4–189)	40 (5–176)	53 (21–155)	9 (7–161) **	52 (24–107)	-	0.41	0.89
Carbohidrates g	79 (14–202)	69.7 (26–143)	104 (59–158)	78 (25–139)	108 (46–148)	83 (33–119)	105 (57–223)	23 (18–96)	90 (54–163)	-	0.53	0.53

\*Friedman one-way repeated measure analysis of variance by ranks, \*\*p < 0.05. Mann-Whitney U test.

**TABLE 5** | Weekly changes in blood pressure, glucose and hemoglobin.

	Week 1		Wee	ek 2	We	ek 3	We	Week 4		Week 5		alue*
	INC n = 20	CG n = 9	INC n = 19	CG n = 9	INC n = 16	CG n = 9	INC n = 12	CG n = 6	INC n = 15	CG n = 3	INC	CG
Systolic blood pressure mmHg	113 (90–140)	110 (94–151)	110.5 (90–131)	110 (96–133)	108 (87–161)	112 (87–126)	106 (90–117)	111 (60–124)	107 (90–130)	118 (100–127)	0.224	0.102
Diastolic blood pressure mmHg	70 (60–89)	66 (53–87)	69 (58–81)	70 (56–83)	62 (57–97)	61.5 (52–81)	60 (52–70)	78 (54–80)	61 (50–80)	75 (64–80)	0.003	0.209
Capiilar blood glucose mg/dL	114 (70–219)	110 (93–417)	126 (72–167)	137 (97–317)	123 (90–306)	130 (106–161)	128 (80–169)	02 (89–216)	136 (74–290)	138 (117–298)	0.363	0.171
Hemoglobin g/dL	12. 2(10–15.3)	11** (6.9–15)	12.1 (9.6–14.6)	10** (6.7–15.7)	12.2 (8.6–14.1)	9.4** (6.3–12.3)	11.2 (8.7–15)	9.5 (8.9–13.6)	10.9 (8.3–13.6)	9.5 (9–12.4)	0.009	0.736

\*Friedman one-way repeated measure analysis of variance by ranks, \*\*p < 0.05. Kruskall-Wallis test.

Adverse effect	Week 1			Week 2			Week 3			Week 4			Week 5		
	INC n = 20	CG n = 9	P value*	INC n = 20	CG n = 9	P value*	INC n = 16	CG n = 9	P value*	INC n = 16	CG n = 6	P value*	INC n = 16	CG n = 3	P value*
Anorexy	6(32)	1(11)	0.27	7(35)	0(0)	_	8(50)	1(11)	0.05	6(37)	0(0)	_	7(44)	0(0)	-
Nausea	11(58)	3(33)	0.28	9(45)	4(44)	0.97	6(37)	3(33)	0.83	5(31)	4(66)	0.13	6(40)	1(33)	0.89
Vomit	1(5)	0(0)	-	2(10)	O(O)	-	1(6)	0(0)	-	2(12.5)	O(O)	-	1(6)	O(O)	-
Diarrhoea	2(10)	1(11)	1.00	7(35)	2(22)	0.49	5(31)	5(55)	0.23	8(50)	4(66)	0.48	9(56)	1(33)	0.46
Fatigue	10(53)	0(0)	-	9(45)	0(0)	-	6(37)	1(11)	0.15	9(56)	1(16)	0.09	9(56)	2(66)	0.73
Dysgeusia	6(32)	0(0)	-	9(45)	0(0)	-	6(37)	0(0)	-	6(37)	O(O)	-	5(31)	O(O)	-
Pain	10(53)	_	-	6(30)	_	-	9(56)	_	-	7(44)	_	-	7(44)	-	-
Constipation	4(21)	1(11)	0.34	5(25)	0(0)	_	4(25)	0(0)	_	4(25)	O(O)	_	3(19)	O(O)	_

TABLE 6 | Weekly frequency of adverse effects during RT in both groups.

Data is expressed in frequencies and percentages. \*Fisher's exact test.

Although glucose during treatment had not significant increases because its measurement was collected in post-prandial condition; even so, the maximum ranges present an increase higher than expected in a healthy person. A factor that may have had an influence was the presence of participants with comorbidities such as diabetes, as well as the association between elevated serum glucose levels with recurrence and mortality in patients who do not have diabetes (59). In the present study, only 25% of the patients in INC group, at the end, presented <10 mg/dL, compared to the CG group with values greater than 60%. In the aspect of adverse effects, when comparing with a study carried out under the same methodology with the scale (RTOG/EORTC) with which the INC group was evaluated, in our study, in patients with chemo-radiotherapy, the frequency of participants with nausea, anemia and vomiting, it was lower (40, 50, and 6%, respectively) than that of the sample evaluated by said study (73.3, 69.2, and 20.9%). Frecuently diarrhea (56% in the INC group vs. 51.6%) was found by Izmajłowicz et al. Regarding lifestyle, risk factors such as smoking, should be addressed with re-relevance, since smoking has a RR of 2.4 (95% CI: 1.7, 3.4) and the risk remains



 TABLE 7 | Main risk factors associated with the nutritional variables in both groups.

Nutritional variables	INC n = 20	CG n = 9	OR (CI95%)	P value*
Weight loss greater than 500 gr.	15	7	1.167 (0.180–7.564)	0.631
Fat free mass greater than 500 gr.*	9	2	1.778 (0.134-23.52)	0.579
Serum hemoglobin <10mg/dl (second week)	2	5	11.25 (1.57–80.3)	0.019
Serum hemoglobin <10mlg/dl (final week)*	2	2	15.00 (0.896–251.06)	0.088
Energy consumption less than 60%	5	4	2.240 (0.424-11.837)	0.407
Anorexia	14	1	0.333 (0.33–3.335)	0.633

\*Fisher's exact test.

even with smoking cessation (RR = 1.6, 95% CI: 1.0–2.7) (60). The risk increases in women who smoked for a period of 16 years (OR: 3.23, 95% CI: 1.33, 7.69), and continue in recurrent smokers who consume more than 20 cigarettes a day (OR: 2.57, 95% CI: 1.49 to 4.45) (61).

It is important to mention that a limitation with comparison groups was the methodology to obtain the frequency of adverse effects that it was different in the CG group. In this sense, further research, and comparison of groups in which the variable of adverse effects has been measured with the same method is suggested. However, the outcomes in INC group could be used in pharmacological studies, with synergy of therapies and improve the prognosis of women with cervical cancer.

According to these findings, the implications and favorable effects of supervision, professional accompaniment in a nutritional intervention can be identified, which pays a methodology to be integrated for the research study of drug reuse and the nutritional intervention itself. The evidence shows an important synergy between some dietary components and drugs for the treatment of diseases associated with both lifestyle (hyperlipidemias, diabetes), and some, whose risk factors may be more complex, such as cancer (62, 63). A study by Kindelwal et al, in 2018, for example, showed that selenium-induced toxicity could be effective in treating breast cancer by considering an immunotherapeutic approach that can reduce the debilitating

side effects that are associated with breast cancer drugs (64). The search for treatments that generate inhibition of cell proliferation mechanisms in Cancer, such as the inhibition of the ubiquitin system, proteasome, which is responsible for the degradation of proteins in the cell, in 80 to 90% is increasingly attractive through the reuse of drugs. In this sense, there is a growing interest in the use of some natural compounds such as flavonoids, polyphenols, isoflavones, curcumin and other compounds that are found intrinsically in food, the use of which could act in synergy with the anticancer drug, with a potential lower toxicity (65).

There are several factors that increase the cancer patient's susceptibility to malnutrition, this negatively impacts the prognosis, progression, and decrease in response to treatment (**Table 7**). Oncological treatments such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy, chemo-radiotherapy, or surgery can compromise food intake, nutrient absorption and affect the patient's nutritional status (66). INC is an adjunct to the treatment of various disorders, however, the evidence regarding cervical cancer is limited. The effect of various drugs already known on various mechanisms that can improve or complement the effect of basic therapies has been analyzed. For example, evidence shows that drugs such as emetine, fluorosalan, sunitinib malate, bithionol, narasin, tribromsalan, lestaurtinih can inhibit NF-kappaB (NFKB1) signaling, by inhibiting the phosphorylation of IkappaBelpha (NFKBIA), a transcription factor that plays an important role in

the growth of cells in CC (67). On the other hand, the role of zoledronic acid as a drug that could inhibit the proliferation of cervical cancer cell lines has also been studied, and in addition, in combination with paclitaxel or deoxorubin, it showed better inhibition of Ras oncogenes (68). the proposed mechanisms also include immunomodulation through PD-1/PD-L1 blockade, which has shown a response in up to 13 to 17% of gynecological cancers, probably due to the immunosuppressive effect that occurs in the microenvironment in tumors. gynecological and altered vasculature. It has been observed that the effect of this mechanism can improve benefits in conjunction with radiotherapy (69).

The search for new drugs has improve the quality life and saved lives although they are expensive and require many years of research and the effectiveness of these depend on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics variables of each drug. The efficacy of a drug can be compromised by deterioration gastrointestinal absorption and therefore nutritional deterioration. The repurposing of drugs consists of finding new therapeutic indications for existing drugs, and therefore reducing the research times involved in the study of drugs with the advantage of knowing their risks already studied (70, 71). For cervical cancer, the treatment is chemotherapy and radiotherapy, but both have adverse effects towards the maintenance of nutritional status, which increases morbidity and mortality and therefore the prognosis of the disease. The nutritional intervention plus nutritional counseling should be reporpused as an essential part of the clinical trials for drug validation as it may improve benefits for patients with CC (71).

The design of drugs takes several years and very high costs, for which counting on the reuse of drugs and therapies as a nutritional intervention and counseling raises great hopes, since the effects of treatments (in this case, local radiation) affect all cells. The scheme for CC is to proceed with chemotherapy and radiotherapy, two systemic treatments with known adverse effects and high toxicity. On the other hand, the drugs that are developed to treat cancer and other diseases require high costs, due to the need to analyze the aspects of pharmacodynamics (absorption, distribution, elimination) where aspects such as nutritional status, gastrointestinal absorption and hemodynamic status stable. They are key to measure the effectiveness of a treatment, which is why this study supports a methodological proposal (72, 73).

It is urgently necessary to develop drugs and more effective, economic strategies that seek to decrease the resistance that has been generated to current drugs (some patients develop resistance to chemotherapy) or increase sensitivity to existing drugs or repurposing drugs.

Recommendations: The energy and nutritional intake was maintained with the intervention with adequate adherence to the intervention with, was better and remained constant weekly in the participants who received the intervention, although it remained below what was recommended. Food security could be an important factor to meet the requirements in this population; therefore, individualized nutritional intervention should consider this aspect, in the sense of food availability. Furthermore, it is recommended to conduct clinical trials with a greater sample size. What this study provides: The effect of a nutritional intervention and individualized counseling vs. standard counseling from a historical cohort on adverse effects and body composition, and the findings are expected to contribute to the methodology in the study of cancer drug repurposing and improving the effectiveness of these.

Our study had several limitations. First, the sample size for the retrospective cohort group. Second, use the retrospective cohort as the control group. Third, the equipment used to measure blood pressure, the American Heart Association recommends using a home blood pressure monitor that measures upper arm blood pressure and not using wrist or finger blood pressure monitors; Fourth measure only one a week for food intake. On the other hand, many of the findings are consistent with other studies, but the retrospective cohort will observe differences despite these limitations. Nutritional treatment is known to help prevent nutritional deterioration and improve prognosis during radiotherapy and chemotherapy, but weekly monitoring is required, at least as in our study. This is important for drug studies, where these variables must be controlled in order to measure the effect of different drugs.

# CONCLUSION

An individualized nutritional intervention and counseling with weekly monitoring and supervision throughout radiotherapy treatment demonstrated an impact on the maintenance of muscle mass, weight, hemoglobin, and a dietary intake above 70% of the recommendations for dietary intake and, a decrease in gastrointestinal adverse effects. Overweight and obesity found should be considered as part of the treatment for nutritional intervention and controlled counseling. These first findings reinforce the benefits of an individualized nutritional intervention to be implemented and reporpused in studies of drug reuse, achieving maintenance of nutritional status and a decrease in adverse effects, mainly anorexia and nausea as well as anemia. Improving the efficacy of pharmacological treatments and therefore improving their quality of life.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité Institucional de Bioética en la Investigación de la Universidad de Guanajuato (CIBIUG). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The National Council of Science and Technology of México (CONACYT/Msc CVU Register: 252903) for the scholarship.

# REFERENCES

- GLOBOCAN. Mexico Source: Globocan 2018. International Agency for Research Cancer (2018). 1:1–2. Available at: http://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/ factsheets/populations/484-mexico-fact-sheets.pdf. [cited 2018 Dec 4].
- Tratamiento del Cáncer cervicouterino. Guía de práctica clínica. Secretaría de Salud. 1:9–21. Available at: www.cenetec.salud.gob.mx. [cited 2020 Feb 28].
- Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública S de S. Encuesta Nacional de Salud 2. La salud de los adultos. Insp (2000). p. 140 p. Available at: https://www.insp.mx/ encuestoteca/Encuestas/ENSA2000/OTROS/ensa\_tomo2.pdf.
- Gutiérrez JP, Rivera-Dommarco J, Shamah-Levy T, Villalpando-Hernández S, Franco A C-NL, Romero-Martínez MH-ÁM. *Ensanut 2012*. De México: Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública (2012). p. 200. Available at: http:// ensanut.insp.mx/informes/ENSANUT2012ResultadosNacionales.pdf.
- Kse FM, Naki MM. Cervical premalignant lesions and their management. J Turkish Ger Gynecol Assoc (2014) 15(2):109–21. doi: 10.5152/jtgga. 2014.29795
- Nalliah S, Karikalan B, Kademane K. Multifaceted Usage of HPV Related Tests and Products in the Management of Cervical Cancer - a Review. *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev Cerv Cancer - A Rev Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* (2015) 16 (166):2145–50. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2015.16.6.2145
- Vegunta S, Files JA, Wasson MN. Screening Women at High Risk for Cervical Cancer: Special Groups of Women Who Require More Frequent Screening. *Mayo Clin Proc* (2017) 92: (8):1272–7. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2017.06.007
- Thulaseedharan JV, Malila N, Hakama M, Esmy PO, Cheriyan M, Swaminathan R, et al. Socio Demographic and Reproductive Risk Factors for Cervical Cancer - a Large Prospective Cohort Study from Rural India. *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev* (2012) 13(6):2991–5. doi: 10.7314/ APJCP.2012.13.6.2991
- Lambell KJ, Tatucu-Babet OA, Chapple LA, Gantner D, Ridley EJ. Nutrition therapy in critical illness: a review of the literature for clinicians. *Crit Care* (2020) 24(1):35. doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-2739-4. Wischmeyer PE. Tailoring nutrition therapy to illness and recovery. Crit Care. 2017;21(Suppl 3):316. Published 2017 Dec 28. doi:10.1186/s13054-017-1906-8.
- Van Blarigan EL, Fuchs CS, Niedzwiecki D, Zhang S, Saltz LB, Mayer RJ, et al. Association of survival with adherence to the American Cancer Society Nutrition and Physical Activity Guidelines for Cancer Survivors After Colon Cancer Diagnosis: The CALGB 89803/Alliance Trial. *JAMA Oncol* (2018) 4(6):783–90. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.0126.
- Baena Ruiz R, Salinas Hernández P. Diet and cancer: Risk factors and epidemiological evidence. *Maturitas* (2014) 77(3):202–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.maturitas.2013.11.010.
- Seo SS, Oh HY, Lee JK, Kong JS, Lee DO, Kim MK. Combined effect of diet and cervical microbiome on the risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Clin Nutr* (2016) 35(6):1434–41. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2016.03.019.
- Ragasudha PN, Thulaseedharan JV, Wesley R, Jayaprakash PG, Lalitha P, Pillai MR. A Case-control nutrigenomic study on the synergistic activity of folate and vitamin B12 in cervical cancer progression. *Nutr Cancer* (2012) 64 (4):550–8. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2012.675618
- 14. Piyathilake CJ, Macaluso M, Chambers MM, Badiga S, Siddiqui NR, Bell WC, et al. Folate and vitamin B12 may play a critical role in lowering the HPV 16 methylation-associated risk of developing higher grades of CIN. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)* (2014) 7(11):1128–37. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-14-0143

Also, we acknowledge our volunteers for this study and the Albergue Jesús of Nazareth for cancer and leukemia patients. The authors appreciate the collaboration of the nutritionists Andrés Castañeda, Gabriela Samaniego and Nikh Sierra, Marco Antonio López MD. To Jaime Naves Sánchez MD for their suggestions to the manuscript and clinical approach. As well as Sergio López Briones PhD and Esmeralda Rodriguez PhD, part of the academic core of the Master in Clinical Research, University of Guanajuato. Finally, thanks to University of Guanajuato (Health Science Division and DAIP Direction) for support the publication.

- Cao D, Shen K, Li Z, Xu Y, Wu D. Association between vitamin C Intake and the risk of cervical neoplasia: A meta-analysis. *Nutr Cancer* (2016) 68(1):48– 57. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2016.1115101
- Zhang Y-Y, Lu L, Abliz G, Mijit F. Serum carotenoid, retinol and tocopherol concentrations and risk of cervical cancer among Chinese women. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev (2015) 16(7):2981–6. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2015.16.7.2981
- Wee CC, Phillips RS, McCarthy EP. BMI and cervical cancer screening among white, African-American, and Hispanic women in the United States. *Obes Res* (2005) 13(7):1275–80. doi: 10.1038/oby.2005.152
- Violante-Montez YS, Zepeda-Romero H. Asociación que existe entre el índice de masa corporal en mujeres en edad reproductiva en la infección del tracto ingerior genital por VPH detectada por papanicolau y colposcopía. Querétaro, México: Universidad Autónoma de Querétaro (2003). p. 46.
- Monroy-Torres R, Naves-Sanchez J, Guerrero A. The Role of the Healthy Dietary Intake in Women with Human Papilloma Virus. *Immunology, Endocrine & Metabolic Agents in Medicinal Chemistry* (2014) 14(1):3-7(5). Available at: https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/ben/iemamc/2014/ 00000014/00000001/art00003, [cited 2018 Jun 11].
- Ravasco P, Monteiro-Grillo I, Vidal PM, Camilo ME. Dietary counseling improves patient outcomes: A prospective, randomized, controlled trial in colorectal cancer patients undergoing radiotherapy. J Clin Oncol (2005) 23 (7):1431–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.02.054
- American Institute for Cancer Research. Nutrición del Paciente con Cáncer. (2010). Available at: http://www.aicr.org/assets/docs/pdf/brochures/ Nutricion-del-Paciente-con-Cancer.pdf.
- Caro Marín, Laviano A, Pichard C, Gómez Candela C. Relación entre la intervención nutricional y la calidad de vida en el paciente con cáncer. Nutr Hosp (2007) 22(3):337–50.
- McGough C, Baldwin C, Frost G, Andreyev HJN. Role of nutritional intervention in patients treated with radiotherapy for pelvic malignancy. *Br J Cancer* (2004) 90(12):2278–87. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601868
- Soeters PB, Schols AM. Advances in understanding and assessing malnutrition. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2009) 12(5):487–94. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32832da243
- Ravasco P. Individualized nutrition intervention is of major benefit to colorectal cancer patients: long-term follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of nutritional therapy. *Clin Nutr* (2012) 96(6):1346–53. doi: 10.3945/ ajcn.111.018838
- 26. Kapoor N, Naufahu J, Tewfik S, Bhatnagar S, Garg R, Tewfik I. A Prospective Randomized Controlled Trial to Study the Impact of a Nutrition-Sensitive Intervention on Adult Women With Cancer Cachexia Undergoing Palliative Care in India. *Integr Cancer Ther* (2017) 16(1):74–84. doi: 10.1177/ 1534735416651968
- Ravasco P, Monteiro-Grillo I, Marques Vidal P, Camilo ME. Impact of nutrition on outcome: A prospective randomized controlled trial in patients with head and neck cancer undergoing radiotherapy. *Head Neck* (2005) 27 (8):659–68. doi: 10.1002/hed.20221.
- CONAPO. Guanajuato: Indicadores demográficos, 1990-2030. Base de datos. Secretaría de Desarrollo Social y Humano (2020). Available at: https:// portalsocial.guanajuato.gob.mx/documentos/guanajuato-indicadores-demogr %C3%A1ficos-1990-2030.
- Hernández Pastor P. Infectious diseases, migration and global health: Case study: Bolivia. Rev Integra Educativa (2013) 6(1):111–26.

- Beral V. Cancer of the cervix: a sexually transmitted infection? *Lancet* (1974) 1 (7865):1037–40. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(74)90432-2
- 31. SSG. Programa de acción específica. In: Prevención y control del cancer de la mujer 2013-2018. Secretaría de Salud. Cd. de México (2014) 25–31. Available at: http://cnegsr.salud.gob.mx/contenidos/descargas/cama/Prevenciony ControldelCancerdelaMujer\_2013\_2018.pdf.
- 32. Secretaría de Salud. Boletín epidemiológico. Sistema Nacional de Vigilancia Epidemiológica. *Sistema Único Información* (2019) 52(36):57. Semana 52.
- Arends J, Bachmann P, Baracos V, Barthelemy N, Bertz H, Bozzetti F, et al. ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients. *Clin Nutr* (2016) 1–38. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2016.07.015.
- 34. Castro-eguiluz D, Leyva-islas JA, Luvian-morales J, Martínez-roque V, Sánchez-lópez M, Trejo-durán G. Nutrient Recommendations for Cancer Patients Treated with Pelvic Radiotherapy, with or without Comorbidities. *Rev Invest Clin* (2018) 70(3):130–5. doi: 10.24875/RIC.18002526
- 35. World Health Organization. Global database on Body Mass Index an interactive surveillance tool for monitoring nutrition transition. (2006). Available at: http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp.
- Marfel-Jones J, Vaquero-Cristobal R, Esparza-Ros F. ISAK accreditation handbook .Murcia, España: International Society for the Advancement of Kinanthropometry (2018) p. 51–88.
- 37. Pérez Lizaur AB, Palacios González B, Castro Becerra AL, Flores Galicia I. Sistema Mexicano de Alimentos Equivalentes. Secretaría de Salud. Cd. de México (2014) 4:164. Available at: http://www.laleo.com/smae-sistemamexicano-de-alimentos-equivalentes-p-11366.html, [cited 2017 Mar 2].
- 38. Bishop AJ, Allen PK, Klopp AH, Meyer LA, Eifel PJ. Relationship between low hemoglobin levels and outcomes after treatment with radiation or chemoradiation in patients with cervical cancer: Has the impact of anemia been overstated? *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2015) 91(1):196–205. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.09.023
- 39. Secretaría de Salud. Modificación a la Norma Oficial Mexicana NOM-030-SSA2-1999, Para la prevención, tratamiento y control de la hipertensión arterial, para quedar como Norma Oficial Mexicana NOM-030-SSA2-2009, Para la prevención, detección, diagnóstico, tratamiento y control. In: *Diario Oficial de la Federación*. Secreatría de Salud (2009). Available at: http://dof. gob.mx/nota\_detalle\_popup.php?codigo=5144642. [cited 2017 May 27].
- Verdú Rotellar JM, Algara López M, Foro Arnalot P, Domínguez Tarragona M, Mon AB. Management of side effects of radiotherapy Atención a los efectos secundarios de la radioterapia. *MEDIFAM* (2002) 12(12):426–35. doi: 10.4321/S1131-57682002000700002
- 41. Serralde-zúñiga A, Castro-eguiluz D, Aguilar-ponce JL, Casique-pérez V, Alarcón-barrios SE, de la Garza-Salazar J. Epidemiological Data on the Nutritional Status of Cancer Patients Receiving Treatment with Concomitant Chemoradiotherapy, Radiotherapy or Sequential Chemoradiotherapy to the Abdominopelvic Area. (2018). pp. 3–5. doi: 10.24875/RIC.18002523
- 42. Lee J, Chang CL, Lin JB, Wu MH, Sun FJ, Wu CJ, et al. The Effect of Body Mass Index and Weight Change on Late Gastrointestinal Toxicity in Locally Advanced Cervical Cancer Treated With Intensity-modulated Radiotherapy. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2018) 28(7):1377–86. doi: 10.1097/IGC.000000000001312
- Bhaskaran K, Douglas I, Forbes H, dos-Santos-Silva I, Leon DA, Smeeth L. Body-mass index and risk of 22 specifi c cancers: a population-based cohort study of 5-24 million UK adults. *Lancet* (2014) 384:755–65. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(14)60892-8
- 44. Wee CC, McCarthy EP, Davis RB, Phillips RS. Screening for cervical and breast cancer: is obesity an unrecognized barrier to preventive care? *Ann Intern Med* (2000) 132(9):697–704. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-132-9-200005020-00003
- Benedetto C, Salvagno F, Canuto EM, Gennarelli G. Obesity and female malignancies. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol (2015) 29(4):528–40. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2015.01.003
- Arnold M, Leitzmann M, Freisling H, Bray F, Romieu I, Renehan A, et al. Obesity and cancer: An update of the global impact. *Cancer Epidemiol* (2016) 41:8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2016.01.003
- Barbosa-Silva MCG, Barros AJD. Bioelectric impedance and individual characteristics as prognostic factors for post-operative complications. *Clin Nutr* (2005) 24(5):830–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2005.05.005
- 48. Kyle UG, Genton L, Pichard C. Low phase angle determined by bioelectrical impedance analysis is associated with malnutrition and nutritional risk at

hospital admission. Clin Nutr (2013) 32(2):294-9. doi: 10.1016/ j.clnu.2012.08.001

- 49. Cardoso ICR, Aredes MA, Chaves GV. Applicability of the direct parameters of bioelectrical impedance in assessing nutritional status and surgical complications of women with gynecological cancer. *Eur J Clin Nutr* (2017) 71(11):1278–84. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2017.115
- Isenring EA, Capra S, Bauer JD. Nutrition intervention is beneficial in oncology outpatients receiving radiotherapy to the gastrointestinal or head and neck area. *Br J Cancer* (2004) 91(3):447–52. doi: 10.1038/ sj.bjc.6601962
- Isenring EA, Bauer JD, Capra S. Nutrition Support Using the American Dietetic Association Medical Nutrition Therapy Protocol for Radiation Oncology Patients Improves Dietary Intake Compared with Standard Practice. J Am Diet Assoc (2007) 107(3):404–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2006.12.007
- 52. Bozzetti F. Nutritional support of the oncology patient. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol (2013) 87(2):172–200. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2013.03.006
- Guren M, Tobiassen L, Trygg K, Drevon C, Dueland S. Dietary intake and nutritional indicators are transiently compromised during radiotherapy for rectal cancer. *Eur J Clin Nutr* (2006) 60:113–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602274
- Adrianza De Baptista G, Melo CM. Cáncer-vitaminas-minerales: Relación compleja, Vol. Vol. 64:220–30. (2014). Available at: http://www.scielo.org.ve/ pdf/alan/v64n4/art01.pdf, [cited 2019 Jan 16].
- Turati F, Bravi F, Di Maso M, Bosetti C, Polesel J, Serraino D, et al. Adherence to the World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research recommendations and colorectal cancer risk. *Eur J Cancer* (2017) 85:86–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2017.08.015
- Buamden S. Relación entre la disponibilidad alimentaria y la mortalidad por cáncer colorrectal en América. Salud Colect (2018) 14(1):93–107. doi: 10.18294/sc.2018.1556
- 57. Choi YS, Yi CM, Sin J-I, Ye GW, Shin IH, Lee TS. Impact of hemoglobin on survival of cervical carcinoma patients treated with concurrent chemoradiotherapy is dependent on lymph node metastasis findings by magnetic resonance imaging. *Int J Gynecol Cancer* (2006) 16(5):1846–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1438.2006.00666.x
- Jakubowicz J, Blecharz P, Skotnicki P, Reinfuss M, Walasek T, Luczynska E. Toxicity of concurrent chemoradiotherapy for locally advanced cervical cancer. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol* (2014) 35(4):393–9.
- Lee YY, Choi CH, Kim CJ, Song TJ, Kim MK, Kim TJ, et al. Glucose as a prognostic factor in non-diabetic women with locally advanced cervical cancer (IIB-IVA). *Gynecol Oncol* (2010) 116(3):459–63. doi: 10.1016/ j.ygyno.2009.11.016
- Izmajłowicz B, Rusiecka M, Sztuder A, Stępień M, Ignatowicz Pacyna A, Słocka - Romaniuk B, et al. Tolerance of combined radiochemotherapy in cervical cancer patients. *Adv Clin Exp Med* (2017) 26(4):587–94. doi: 10.17219/acem/62454
- Gadducci A, Barsotti C, Cosio S, Domenici L, Riccardo Genazzani A. Smoking habit, immune suppression, oral contraceptive use, and hormone replacement therapy use and cervical carcinogenesis: A review of the literature. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2011) 27(8):597–604. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2011.558953
- 62. Deacon JM, Evans CD, Yule R, Desai M, Binns W, Taylor C, et al. Sexual behaviour and smoking as determinants of cervical HPV infection and of CIN3 among those infected: a case-control study nested within the Manchester cohort. Br J Cancer (2000) 83(11):1565–72. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2000.1523
- Rai S, Bhatnagar S. Hyperlipidemia, Disease Associations, and Top 10 Potential Drug Targets: A Network View. OMICS (2016) 20(3):152–68. doi: 10.1089/omi.2015.0172
- Goossens JF, Bailly C. Ursodeoxycholic acid and cancer: From chemoprevention to chemotherapy. *Pharmacol Ther* (2019) 203:107396. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2019.107396
- Khandelwal S, Boylan M, Spallholz JE, Gollahon L. Cytotoxicity of Selenium Immunoconjugates against Triple Negative Breast Cancer Cells. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19(11):3352. doi: 10.3390/ijms19113352
- Goldfarb RA, Fan Y, Jarosek S, Elliott SP. The burden of chronic ureteral stenting in cervical cancer survivors. *Int Braz J Urol* (2017) 43(1):104–11. doi: 10.1590/s1677-5538.ibju.2016.0667
- 67. Miller SC, Huang R, Sakamuru S, Shukla SJ, Attene-Ramos MS, Shinn P, et al. Identification of known drugs that act as inhibitors of NF-kappaB signaling

and their mechanism of action. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2010) 79(9):1272-80. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2009.12.021

- Xu J, Pan Q, Ju W. Ras inhibition by zoledronic acid effectively sensitizes cervical cancer to chemotherapy. *Anticancer Drugs* (2019) 30(8):821–7. doi: 10.1097/CAD.00000000000779
- 69. Tuyaerts S, Van Nuffel AMT, Naert E, Van Dam PA, Vuylsteke P, De Caluwé A, et al. PRIMMO study protocol: a phase II study combining PD-1 blockade, radiation and immunomodulation to tackle cervical and uterine cancer. *BMC Cancer* (2019) 19 (1):506. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-5676-3
- Deftereos SN, Andronis C, Friedla EJ, Persidis A, Persidis A. Drug repurposing and adverse event prediction using high-throughput literature analysis. WIREs Syst Biol Med (2011) 3:323–34. doi: 10.1002/wsbm.147
- 71. Jakola AS, Werlenius K, Mudaisi M, Hylin S, Kinhult S, Bartek J Jr, et al. Disulfiram repurposing combined with nutritional copper supplement as addon to chemotherapy in recurrent glioblastoma (DIRECT): Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial [version 1; peer review: 2 approved]. *F1000Research* (2018) 7:1797. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.16786.1
- Soave CL, Guerin T, Liu J, Dou QP. Targeting the ubiquitin-proteasome system for cancer treatment: discovering novel inhibitors from nature and drug repurposing. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2017) 36(4):717–36. doi: 10.1007/ s10555-017-9705-x
- Sleire L, Førde HE, Netland IA, Leiss L, Skeie BS, Enger PØ. Drug repurposing in cancer. *Pharmacol Res* (2017) 124:74–91. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.07.013

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Medina-Jiménez and Monroy-Torres. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Repurposing Cationic Amphiphilic Drugs and Derivatives to Engage Lysosomal Cell Death in Cancer Treatment

Michelle Hu<sup>1,2</sup> and Kermit L. Carraway III<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Medicine, UC Davis School of Medicine, Sacramento, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup> UC Davis Comprehensive Cancer Center, UC Davis School of Medicine, Sacramento, CA, United States

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Alma D. Campos-Parra, National Institute of Cancerology (INCAN), Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Oscar Medina-Contreras, Federico Gómez Children's Hospital, Mexico Hernan Cortes, National Institute of Rehabilitation Luis Guillermo Ibarra Ibarra, Mexico

\*Correspondence:

Kermit L. Carraway III klcarraway@ucdavis.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 12 September 2020 Accepted: 13 November 2020 Published: 10 December 2020

#### Citation:

Hu M and Carraway KL III (2020) Repurposing Cationic Amphiphilic Drugs and Derivatives to Engage Lysosomal Cell Death in Cancer Treatment. Front. Oncol. 10:605361. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.605361 A major confounding issue in the successful treatment of cancer is the existence of tumor cell populations that resist therapeutic agents and regimens. While tremendous effort has gone into understanding the biochemical mechanisms underlying resistance to each traditional and targeted therapeutic, a broader approach to the problem may emerge from the recognition that existing anti-cancer agents elicit their cytotoxic effects almost exclusively through apoptosis. Considering the myriad mechanisms cancer cells employ to subvert apoptotic death, an attractive alternative approach would leverage programmed necrotic mechanisms to side-step therapeutic resistance to apoptosis-inducing agents. Lysosomal cell death (LCD) is a programmed necrotic cell death mechanism that is engaged upon the compromise of the limiting membrane of the lysosome, a process called lysosomal membrane permeabilization (LMP). The release of lysosomal components into the cytosol upon LMP triggers biochemical cascades that lead to plasma membrane rupture and necrotic cell death. Interestingly, the process of cellular transformation appears to render the limiting lysosomal membranes of tumor cells more fragile than non-transformed cells, offering a potential therapeutic window for drug development. Here we outline the concepts of LMP and LCD, and discuss strategies for the development of agents to engage these processes. Importantly, the potential exists for existing cationic amphiphilic drugs such as antidepressants, antibiotics, antiarrhythmics, and diuretics to be repurposed to engage LCD within therapy-resistant tumor cell populations.

Keywords: cancer treatment, therapeutic resistance, therapeutic targeting, therapeutic repurposing, necrosis, lysosomal cell death, lysosomal membrane permeabilization, cationic amphiphilic drugs

# INTRODUCTION

Despite decades of research into its underlying drivers and the development of corresponding therapeutic agents, cancer remains the second leading cause of death in the United States. Moreover, worldwide cancer incidence and death rates are predicted to increase by two-thirds over the next two decades as a result of an expanding and aging population (1). A potential barrier to therapeutic outcomes concerns the specific cytotoxic mechanism by which anti-cancer agents act. The overwhelming majority of conventional and targeted cancer therapeutics employed in the clinic today kill tumor cells *via* 

caspase-dependent apoptosis, characterized by the breakdown of cellular components and their distribution into apoptotic bodies that are consumed by phagocytic cells (2). However, suppression of apoptosis is a hallmark of cancer (3); cancer cells engage a variety of strategies to subvert apoptotic mechanisms and engage antiapoptotic pathways to promote their expansion, therapeutic resistance, and progression to malignancy. These general observations underscore the notion that engagement of nonapoptotic cell death pathways could offer an attractive alternative to the treatment of tumors that have proven refractory to currently employed therapeutic agents.

Necrotic cell death, characterized by plasma membrane rupture (2), has traditionally been considered a non-specific response to acute cellular stress. However, numerous observations over the last decade have revealed that cells can respond to stressful conditions by engaging a variety of pathways that trigger caspase-independent cell death. While these pathways appear distinct and their associated cell death mechanisms go by different names [e.g. necroptosis, ferroptosis, pyroptosis, parthanatos; (4)], their common underlying characteristic is plasma membrane rupture. Thus, our understanding of necrosis has expanded with the realization that it too is a programmed cell death mechanism (5–7). While the therapeutic potential of the various necrotic pathways for cancer remains to be fully explored, recent evidence suggests that engagement of lysosomal cell death (LCD) may offer a particularly attractive avenue.

Lysosomes canonically participate in the digestion of complex molecules such as glycoproteins and glycolipids, recycling basic building blocks such as amino acids and sugars for reuse (8). These organelles are comprised of a limiting lipid bilayer containing numerous structural proteins and channels, an internal glycocalyx lining protecting the limiting membrane from the acidic lysosomal lumen (9), and endosome-derived intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) that harbor enzymes, lipids, and cofactors involved in the highly regulated breakdown of delivered substrates (10, 11). Simultaneously, lysosomes serve as reservoirs for amino acids and  $Ca^{2+}$ , and engage in nutrient sensing and autophagy (12). However, one of the more underappreciated functions of lysosomes is their role in non-apoptotic cell death, where conditions that promote the breach of the limiting membrane (lysosomal membrane permeabilization, LMP) triggers cascades of events culminating in plasma membrane rupture (13, 14). In this mini-review we discuss LMP and LCD in detail, focusing on agents such as cationic amphiphilic drugs that promote these processes, and highlighting the potential for existing FDA-approved therapeutics to be repurposed for cancer.

# LMP AND ITS ROLE IN CANCER

Release of cathepsins into the cytosol upon LMP results in the cleavage of multiple proteins, triggering a cascade of events culminating in plasma membrane rupture and LCD (15, 16). This process is akin to caspase-mediated apoptosis following compromise of the mitochondrial outer membrane (17). Interestingly, the degree of lysosomal compromise may dictate the mechanism of cell death; some evidence suggests that

extensive LMP can initiate a largely necrotic outcome, while limited LMP can initiate an apoptotic fate (18, 19). As discussed below, a variety of external agents can induce LMP, including lysosomotropic detergents, v-ATPase inhibitors, and cationic amphiphilic drugs [CADs; (20)]. Moreover, LMP efficiency may be influenced by an array of internal factors, including reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels, cytosolic calcium concentration, and the lipid composition of the lysosomal limiting membrane (e.g. cholesterol levels), each of which is commonly dysregulated in cancer (21–23).

Transformation, the process that makes normal cells cancerous, confers marked behavioral changes to the cell, including altered metabolism, enhanced proliferation, increased invasiveness, and drug resistance. These changes are accompanied by dramatic alterations to cellular membranous components, including the cell surface and organelles (3). Increased lysosomal activity is essential to meeting the newly acquired growth demands, and tumor cells often exhibit alterations in lysosomal quantity, volume, membrane composition, hydrolase activity, and energy expended on pH maintenance (20, 21). Paradoxically, the transformationassociated changes critical to efficient tumor cell growth and invasiveness render the cancer cell limiting lysosome membrane more unstable, exposing a cancer-specific vulnerability that may be exploited therapeutically (24, 25). Upon LMP, cathepsins activate various pro-apoptotic proteins including p53, Bid, and TNF (26). However, LCD appears not to rely on p53 or caspases, but instead on ROS and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent calpain proteases (27, 28), providing support for the hypothesis that an LCD-based therapeutic strategy may be exploited in the treatment of tumors resistant to apoptosisinducing agents.

# LMP ASSAYS

Development of LCD-based therapeutic agents requires robust LMP assays that are sufficiently sensitive to detect low levels or early stages of lysosomal membrane compromise, and are readily adaptable to high throughput formats. Several assays are currently available, each with its strengths and drawbacks.

The LysoTracker probe, available in different colors, accumulates in acidic organelles such as lysosomes where its fluorescence is inversely correlated with pH (29). Thus, LysoTracker fluorescence is diminished as lysosomal pH increases from LMP induction (30), and quantification across dozens to hundreds of untreated versus treated cells can uncover the lysosomal impact of tested agents. However, loss of fluorescence can also reflect the accumulation of drug in lysosomes (31), making interpretations of untested compounds challenging.

A more direct method involves the quantification of fluorescently-tagged dextrans released from lysosomes into the cytosol upon LMP (32). Dextrans are hydrophilic polysaccharides that are endocytosed and delivered to lysosomes following their addition to media of cultured cells. Release of luminal dextrans through lysosomal pores alters fluorescence distribution from a highly punctate to a more diffuse pattern (32, 33). A strength of this method is a range of dextran sizes (10 to 250 kDa) may be employed to estimate the magnitude of drug-induced pores within the membrane (33). A weakness is the dimming of puncta can be difficult to discern at low levels of LMP. However, it has been reported that loss of signal by flow cytometry allows quantification of LMP (34), useful for comparisons across drug candidates.

A similar approach involves the release of cathepsin proteases into the cytosol following LMP. Lysosomal resident cathepsins are canonically involved in the breakdown of proteins, however their cleavage of cytosolic proteins upon LMP is capable of initiating cell death pathways (35). Microscopic analysis of fixed cells with cathepsin antibodies reveals that staining evolves from a highly punctate pattern to a more diffuse pattern with increasing LMP (15). A notable strength of this method is that it can be applied to formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissue samples to assess LMP patient samples and animal models. A variation on this theme assesses cytosolic cathepsin enzyme activity of lysed cells to quantify LMP (32).

Finally, the galectin assay sidesteps issues surrounding the subtle dimming of lysosomal puncta upon LMP, characteristic of the dextran and cathepsin assays, by inverting the strategy to assess increased lysosomal puncta in response to LMP. Galectins are a family of cytosolic and secreted lectins that bind to  $\beta$ -galactoside sugars. Upon LMP, cytosolic lectins diffuse through lysosomal pores and bind to the glycocalyx lining of the inner leaflet of the limiting lysosomal membrane (36); thus, staining of fixed cells with galectin antibodies reveals a more robust punctate pattern after cellular exposure to LMP-inducing agents (32). Galectin abundance in most cells and its immediate translocation to lysosomes make this the most sensitive of LMP assays (37). Moreover, this approach may be coupled with dextran or other lysosomal markers to facilitate high-throughput screening (33).

# LMP-INDUCING AGENTS

In general, three classes of drugs have been demonstrated to induce LMP to provoke lysosomal cell death. The physicochemical properties of lysosomotropic detergents, consisting of a weak base moiety attached to a lipophilic tail, allow these agents to partially permeabilize the limiting lysosomal membrane (38). Their selective accumulation in acidic compartments coupled with the elevated fragility of cancer cell lysosomes relative to nontransformed cells make this class of molecules attractive candidates for the development of novel anti-cancer therapeutics (39). O-methyl-serine dodecylamine hydrochloride (MSDH), a synthetic detergent under analysis as a potential anticancer therapy, appears to be endocytosed in an inert vesicular form by cells at neutral pH and reconfigures to a toxic micellar form at lysosomal pH (40), suggesting a mechanism by which MSDH may specifically act toward lysosomal membranes and not other membranous structures such as the plasma membrane. L-leucylleucine methyl ester (LLOMe), a lysosomotropic agent that provokes the death of cancer cells, also exhibits considerable toxicity toward primary cells (41), highlighting the need for further research into the mechanisms and cell type selectivities of these agents as cancer treatments. Additionally, lysosomotropic detergents have been explored as potential vehicles for directly delivering drugs to lysosomes to induce a more targeted effect (42).

v-ATPase inhibitors block the ATP-dependent proton pump involved in maintaining the cellular pH of lysosomes (20). While inhibition of proton transporters, such as Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger isoform 1 (NHE1), monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), and carbonic anhydrases (CAs), have been explored in the context of cancer because of dysregulated cytosolic and extracellular hydrogen ion concentrations associated with tumor metabolism (43), a v-ATPase inhibition anti-cancer strategy specifically focuses on disrupting lysosomal pH to provoke LMP. For instance, Bafilomycin A1, a macrolide antibiotic that targets v-ATPase, has exhibited some promise as an antitumor agent (44). Bafilomycin A1 mechanism of action involves the elevation of lysosomal pH and release of cathepsins into the cytoplasm, and has the potential to subvert therapeutic resistance (45). Interestingly, omeprazole, a gastritis and duodenal ulcer treatment targeting the H<sup>+</sup>/K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase of parietal cells through pH modification, has exhibited effectiveness in pancreatic cancer cells by eliciting alterations in lysosomal lipid metabolism to trigger cell death (46). Together, these observations underscore the potential of pH manipulation in the development of novel lysosome-acting therapeutics.

The chemical structure characteristic of CADs, a weak base moiety attached to a hydrophobic region (47), ensure that these molecules accumulate in lysosomes. At neutral pH, the hydrophobic portion permits diffusion across membranes, while at lower pH the base becomes protonated and the charged molecule becomes trapped within the lysosomal lumen (31). CADs are found among a wide variety of drug classes, including antidepressants, neuroleptics, cardiac antiarrhythmics, and tranquilizers (48). Mechanistically, lysosomally trapped CADs are thought to inhibit ILV-localized hydrolytic enzymes to suppress the breakdown of complex lipids (49), which in turn accumulate to levels that compromise lysosomal limiting membrane integrity. For example, siramesine, originally developed as a potential antidepressant, selectively kills cultured cancer cells by inhibiting the lysosomal sphingolipid catabolic enzyme acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) (50-52). Likewise, antihistamines such as loratadine and ebastine exhibit similar efficacy in killing cancer cells through lysosomal membrane destabilization, and epidemiologic evidence points to their effectiveness in reduced cancer mortalities when delivered in conjunction with chemotherapy (53). Accumulating observations suggest that CAD mechanism of action may be particularly well suited to inducing the non-apoptotic death of cancer cells.

# DRUG-INDUCED PHOSPHOLIPIDOSIS AS AN ANTICANCER STRATEGY

Phospholipidosis results from the excessive accumulation of phospholipids within cells upon CAD treatment (47). As CAD action inhibits breakdown of complex lipids delivered to the lysosome (31, 49), lipid substrates accumulate to form multilamellar bodies reminiscent of membranous cytoplasmic bodies found in lysosomal storage diseases (LSDs) such as Tay-Sachs disease and GM2 gangliosidoses (54). LSDs encompass over 70 very rare genetic diseases that arise from deleterious mutations in genes responsible for lysosomal function and homeostasis (55). While these diseases have dire human health consequences (55), often leading to death within the second or third decade, harnessing the ability of drugs to induce a transient but acutely lipidotic state to specifically kill cancer cells offers tremendous therapeutic potential for tumors refractory to other treatment options. It is important to note that clinical studies suggest CAD-induced phospholipidosis in normal tissues is reversible with drug withdrawal (54), so adverse side effects may be rapidly ameliorated.

The primary consideration in cancer therapeutic development is the ability of drug to reach its tumor tissue and molecular target at sufficient concentrations to elicit a pharmacologic effect, while minimizing the impact at normal tissues. Certainly, the intrinsic ability of CADs to concentrate in lysosomes, the site of their molecular target, facilitates efficacy, and the abundance and lability of transformed cell lysosomes relative to those of normal cells minimizes off-target concerns. At the same time, CADs tend to accumulate within tumors relative to normal tissue because of their lower cytosolic pH and the lower difference between cytosolic and lysosomal pH (56, 57). On the other hand, CADs also distribute efficiently to tissue types rich in lysosomes, including lung, liver, and kidney (56), suggesting these sites may be most susceptible to CADinduced side effects.

Siramesine and hexamethylene amiloride (HMA) are examples of CADs that illustrate the potential of the phospholipidosis induction strategy in cancer therapy. As mentioned above, siramesine specifically targets a variety of cancer cell lines through ASM inhibition (50, 51), and its mechanism of action appears to involve inhibition of ASM binding to and activation by the acidic lysosome-specific lipid bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate (BMP) within ILVs (51). Lysosomal accumulation of ASM substrates upon drug treatment may contribute to membrane destabilization and LMP. Interestingly, altered sphingomyelin metabolism common to tumors may further sensitize cells to siramesine, and evidence has been presented that siramesine can reverse drug resistance to confer tumor cell sensitivity to conventional chemotherapeutics (51), underscoring the potential of this drug as a repurposed anticancer therapeutic. HMA, a derivative of the diuretic amiloride that has been used clinically for over 50 years, is cytotoxic toward breast cancer cells independent of tumor subtype or species, while exhibiting marginal impact on non-transformed cells from a variety of tissues (58). Notably, HMA cytotoxicity contrasts with that of conventional chemotherapeutics in that it kills tumor cells trapped in G1 phase of the cell cycle, suggesting that poorly proliferative tumor cell populations resistant to traditional chemotherapeutics are susceptible to CADs. Mechanistically, HMA induces the formation of multilamellar bodies in lysosomes of treated tumor cells upon very short (1-3 h) exposure, and triggers a caspaseindependent and cathepsin-, Ca2+- and ROS-dependent cell death mechanism within 24 hours (58). Further studies assessing HMAinduced lysosomal lipid metabolism are warranted.

## NON-CAD INDUCTION OF LCD

Though CADs offer a straightforward approach to engaging LCD to combat cancer, other agents and strategies also show significant promise. In addition to the membrane-permeabilizing

lysosomotropic detergents and pH modifying v-ATPase inhibitors discussed above, agents that interfere with lysosomal iron disposition are also attractive candidate LCD inducers. As a primary store of cellular iron, acute dysregulation of lysosomal iron homeostasis triggers the ferroptosis cell death mechanism (4, 59, 60). Salinomycin, an antimicrobial used to treat coccidiosis, and its derivative ironomycin have exhibited anticancer effects, notably toward cancer stem cells (61, 62). Their mechanism of action appears to involve the sequestration of iron within the lysosome, leading to the production of high levels of ROS that destabilize the limiting membrane, induce LMP, and ultimately necrotic cell death (63).

### CONCLUSIONS

Lysosomes are powerful organelles that maintain steady-state levels of a variety of cellular metabolites by mediating their breakdown upon delivery. Acute disruption of these homeostatic processes can lead to LMP, which ultimately engages LCD programmed necrotic cell death. Figure 1 summarizes the biological and chemical factors implicated in triggering LMP, highlighting the therapeutic potential of repurposed CADs, v-ATPase inhibitors, lysosomotropic detergents, and ferroptosis inducers. Although underappreciated in the cancer therapeutics field, accumulating studies point to exploitation of this mechanism for tremendous potential in targeting apoptosisresistant tumor cell subpopulations. Advantages include the selective action of LCD inducers toward tumor versus nontransformed cells, minimizing side effects, and the ability of LCD inducers to trigger death in quiescent cell populations resistant to conventional chemotherapeutics.

A significant consideration in cancer therapeutic development concerns the effective integration of a novel drug with existing treatment paradigms. A popular approach is to incorporate the newly developed drug into current standard-of-care treatment protocols, with the hope of realizing synergistic efficacies with added agents. Such an approach could prove particularly effective with LMP-inducing agents. It has been suggested that lysosomes contribute to drug resistance by sequestering chemotherapeutics (doxorubicin, mitoxantrone, sunitinib, etc.), decreasing their availability and effective concentrations at target sites (64); thus, the abrupt release of stored chemotherapeutics into the cytosol after CAD treatment could allow for a potent one-two punch (65). On the other hand, doubling up on therapeutic agents runs the risk of developing synergistic toxicities and unwanted off-target effects. Given that LCD-inducing agents uniquely target quiescent and apoptosis- and therapy-resistant cell populations, a more fruitful strategy may involve delivery of such agents following standard-of-care treatment to eradicate remaining tumor cells and minimize chances for recurrence.

Going forward, LMP screens will identify novel agents that might be developed into more effective anti-cancer therapeutics. This is somewhat ironic in that the phospholipidosis side effect of CADs has been known for decades, and many investigators omit compounds from screens for drugs for other disease states whose structures might provoke such a phenotype. Deeper analysis will



FIGURE 1 | LMP agents and biological factors that induce lysosomal rupture and cell death. The limiting lysosomal membrane employs various glycoproteins, NPC1/2 and LAMP1/2, and a characteristic lipid composition to maintain its functional integrity as a barrier with the cytosol. Internally, ILVs delivered from endosomes *via* vesicles bind to and activate lysosomal hydrolases responsible for the metabolic breakdown of delivered glycolipids to maintain cellular steady-state levels. CADs such as siramesine and HMA compromise this metabolic pathway, likely by interfering with the activation of enzymes such as ASM by ILV-localized acidic lipids such as BMP. The resulting accumulation of glycolipid substrates such as SM leads to limiting membrane destabilization, LMP and cathepsin release, and ultimately cell death. By suppressing proton import, v-ATPase inhibitors similarly suppress lysosomal hydrolase function by elevating luminal pH beyond the optimum for catalytic activity. Lysosomotropic detergents directly disrupt the limiting membrane destabilization in lysosimes to promote ROS accumulation and limiting membrane destabilization through lipid oxidation. Internally-produced ROS from mitochondria can also contribute to limiting membrane destabilization, as can the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from intracellular stores such as the ER to activate calpains. Abbreviations: ASM, acid sphingomyelin; BMP, bis(monacylglycero)phosphate; CADs, cation camphiphilic drug; Cer, ceramides; Chol, cholesterol; EA, endoplasmic reticulum; HSP70, heat shock protein 70; HMA, hexamethylene amiloride; ILV, intraluminal vesicle; LAMP1/2, lysosomal associated membrane protein 1/2; LCD, lysosomal cell death; LMP, lysosomal membrane permeabilization; lyso-PC, lysophosphatidylcholine; NPC1/2, Niemann-Pick disease 1/2; PC, phospholipolase 2; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SAP, saposins; SM, sphingomyelins. Illustration created using Biorender.

uncover the specific mechanisms by which CADs act. In this regard, it is important to note that different CADs exhibit somewhat different phenotypes and cytotoxic parameters, not surprising given that the phenotypes of lysosomal storage diseases can differ substantially. It is likely that different CADs preferentially target different enzymes of lysosome metabolism. As the molecular targets of CADs are uncovered and their structures elucidated, rational drug design approaches may be utilized to develop inhibitors; conferring CAD characteristics to lysosomal enzyme inhibitors of moderate efficiency could markedly enhance their potency in cells by promoting their lysosomal accumulation. These approaches will likely take years to decades to fully unfold. In the meantime, efforts to repurpose roughly six dozen existing clinically-employed CAD molecules to anti-cancer purposes could give us a substantial leg up on the LCD approach.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MH and KC contributed to the research for and the writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

The authors are supported by NIH grants CA230742 and CA250211.

# REFERENCES

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin (2020) 70:7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21590
- Green DR, Llambi F. Cell Death Signaling. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2015) 7(12):27–51. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006080
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, Agostinis P, et al. Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018. *Cell Death Differ* (2018) 25:486–541. doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0102-y
- Vanden Berghe T, Linkermann A, Jouan-Lanhouet S, Walczak H, Vandenabeele P. Regulated necrosis: the expanding network of nonapoptotic cell death pathways. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2014) 15:135–47. doi: 10.1038/nrm3737
- Tait SWG, Ichim G, Green DR. Die another way-non-apoptotic mechanisms of cell death. J Cell Sci (2014) 127:2135–44. doi: 10.1242/jcs.093575
- Leist M, Jäättelä M. Four deaths and a funeral: from caspases to alternative mechanisms. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2001) 2:589–98. doi: 10.1038/35085008
- de Duve C. Lysosomes revisited. Eur J Biochem (1983) 137:391–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1983.tb07841.x
- Settembre C, Fraldi A, Medina DL, Ballabio A. Signals from the lysosome: a control centre for cellular clearance and energy metabolism. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2013) 14:283–96. doi: 10.1038/nrm3565
- Piper RC, Katzmann DJ. Biogenesis and function of multivesicular bodies. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (2007) 23:519–47. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.23.090506.123319
- Bonifacino JS, Neefjes J. Moving and positioning the endolysosomal system. Curr Opin Cell Biol (2017) 47:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2017.01.008
- Todkar K, Ilamathi HS, Germain M. Mitochondria and Lysosomes: Discovering Bonds. Front Cell Dev Biol (2017) 5:106. doi: 10.3389/ fcell.2017.00106
- Mukhopadhyay S, Panda PK, Sinha N, Das DN, Bhutia SK. Autophagy and apoptosis: where do they meet? *Apoptosis* (2014) 19:555–66. doi: 10.1007/ s10495-014-0967-2
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Kroemer G. Organelle-specific initiation of cell death. Nat Cell Biol (2014) 16:728–36. doi: 10.1038/ncb3005
- Wang F, Gómez-Sintes R, Boya P. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization and cell death. *Traffic* (2018) 19:918–31. doi: 10.1111/tra.12613
- Repnik U, Stoka V, Turk V, Turk B. Lysosomes and lysosomal cathepsins in cell death. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2012) 1824:22–33. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbapap.2011.08.016
- Tait SWG, Green DR. Mitochondrial regulation of cell death. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol (2013) 5(9):130–45. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a008706
- Kirkegaard T, Jäättelä M. Lysosomal involvement in cell death and cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta (2009) 1793:746–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2008.09.008
- Aits S, Jäättelä M. Lysosomal cell death at a glance. J Cell Sci (2013) 126:1905– 12. doi: 10.1242/jcs.091181
- Domagala A, Fidyt K, Bobrowicz M, Stachura J, Szczygiel K, Firczuk M. Typical and Atypical Inducers of Lysosomal Cell Death: A Promising Anticancer Strategy. Int J Mol Sci (2018) 19(8):2256–72. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19082256
- Serrano-Puebla A, Boya P. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization as a cell death mechanism in cancer cells. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2018) 46:207–15. doi: 10.1042/BST20170130
- Görlach A, Bertram K, Hudecova S, Krizanova O. Calcium and ROS: A mutual interplay. *Redox Biol* (2015) 6:260–71. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2015.08.010
- Boya P, Kroemer G. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization in cell death. Oncogene (2008) 27:6434–51. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.310
- Kallunki T, Olsen OD, Jäättelä M. Cancer-associated lysosomal changes: friends or foes? Oncogene (2013) 32:1995–2004. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.292
- Fehrenbacher N, Jäättelä M. Lysosomes as targets for cancer therapy. Cancer Res (2005) 65:2993–5. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0476
- Halaby R. Role of lysosomes in cancer therapy. *Res Rep Biol* (2015) 6:147–55. doi: 10.2147/RRB.S83999
- Appelqvist H, Wäster P, Kågedal K, Öllinger K. The lysosome: from waste bag to potential therapeutic target. J Mol Cell Biol (2013) 5:214–26. doi: 10.1093/ jmcb/mjt022

- Repnik U, Hafner Česen M, Turk B. Lysosomal membrane permeabilization in cell death: concepts and challenges. *Mitochondrion* (2014) 19:49–57. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2014.06.006
- Chazotte B. Labeling lysosomes in live cells with LysoTracker. Cold Spring Harb Protoc (2011) 2011:pdb.prot5571. doi: 10.1101/pdb.prot5571
- Johnson DE, Ostrowski P, Jaumouillé V, Grinstein S. The position of lysosomes within the cell determines their luminal pH. J Cell Biol (2016) 212:677–92. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201507112
- 31. Kazmi F, Hensley T, Pope C, Funk RS, Loewen GJ, Buckley DB, et al. Lysosomal sequestration (trapping) of lipophilic amine (cationic amphiphilic) drugs in immortalized human hepatocytes (Fa2N-4 cells). Drug Metab Dispos (2013) 41:897–905. doi: 10.1124/dmd.112.050054
- Aits S, Jäättelä M, Nylandsted J. Chapter 13 Methods for the quantification of lysosomal membrane permeabilization: A hallmark of lysosomal cell death. In: F Platt, N Platt, editors. *Methods in Cell Biology*. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press (2015). p. 261–85. doi: 10.1016/bs.mcb.2014.10.032
- Aits S. Methods to Detect Loss of Lysosomal Membrane Integrity. In: N Ktistakis, O Florey, editors. *Autophagy: Methods and Protocols*. New York, NY: Springer New York (2019). p. 315–29. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8873-0\_21
- Eriksson I, Öllinger K, Appelqvist H. K Öllinger, H Appelqvist, editors. *Lysosomes: Methods and Protocols*. New York, NY: Springer New York (2017). p. 179–89. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-6934-0\_11
- Turk V, Stoka V, Vasiljeva O, Renko M, Sun T, Turk B, et al. Cysteine cathepsins: from structure, function and regulation to new frontiers. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2012) 1824:68–88. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2011.10.002
- 36. Jia J, Abudu YP, Claude-Taupin A, Gu Y, Kumar S, Choi SW, et al. Galectins Control mTOR in Response to Endomembrane Damage. *Mol Cell* (2018) 70:120–35. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018.03.009
- 37. Aits S, Kricker J, Liu B, Ellegaard A-M, Hämälistö S, Tvingsholm S, et al. Sensitive detection of lysosomal membrane permeabilization by lysosomal galectin puncta assay. *Autophagy* (2015) 11:1408–24. doi: 10.1080/ 15548627.2015.1063871
- Villamil Giraldo AM, Appelqvist H, Ederth T, Öllinger K. Lysosomotropic agents: impact on lysosomal membrane permeabilization and cell death. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2014) 42:1460–4. doi: 10.1042/BST20140145
- Firestone RA, Pisano JM, Bonney RJ. Lysosomotropic agents. 1. Synthesis and cytotoxic action of lysosomotropic detergents. J Med Chem (1979) 22:1130–3. doi: 10.1021/jm00195a026
- Villamil Giraldo A-M, Eriksson I, Wennmalm S, Fyrner T, Ederth T, Öllinger K. Interactions of the Lysosomotropic Detergent O-Methyl-Serine Dodecylamide Hydrochloride (MSDH) with Lipid Bilayer Membranes-Implications for Cell Toxicity. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21:3136. doi: 10.3390/ijms21093136
- Kavčič N, Butinar M, Sobotič B, Hafner Česen M, Petelin A, Bojić L, et al. Intracellular cathepsin C levels determine sensitivity of cells to leucyl-leucine methyl ester-triggered apoptosis. *FEBS J* (2020). doi: 10.1111/febs.15326
- Villamil Giraldo AM, Fyrner T, Wennmalm S, Parikh AN, Öllinger K, Ederth T. Spontaneous Vesiculation and pH-Induced Disassembly of a Lysosomotropic Detergent: Impacts on Lysosomotropism and Lysosomal Delivery. *Langmuir* (2016) 32:13566–75. doi: 10.1021/acs.langmuir.6b03458
- Harguindey S, Arranz JL, Wahl ML, Orive G, Reshkin SJ. Proton transport inhibitors as potentially selective anticancer drugs. *Anticancer Res* (2009) 29:2127–36.
- Bowman EJ, Gustafson KR, Bowman BJ, Boyd MR. Identification of a new chondropsin class of antitumor compound that selectively inhibits V-ATPases. J Biol Chem (2003) 278:44147–52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M306595200
- 45. Nakashima S, Hiraku Y, Tada-Oikawa S, Hishita T, Gabazza EC, Tamaki S, et al. Vacuolar H+-ATPase inhibitor induces apoptosis via lysosomal dysfunction in the human gastric cancer cell line MKN-1. J Biochem (2003) 134:359–64. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvg153
- Udelnow A, Kreyes A, Ellinger S, Landfester K, Walther P, Klapperstueck T, et al. Omeprazole inhibits proliferation and modulates autophagy in pancreatic cancer cells. *PloS One* (2011) 6:e20143. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020143
- Halliwell WH. Cationic amphiphilic drug-induced phospholipidosis. *Toxicol Pathol* (1997) 25:53–60. doi: 10.1177/019262339702500111
- Vater M, Möckl L, Gormanns V, Schultz Fademrecht C, Mallmann AM, Ziegart-Sadowska K, et al. New insights into the intracellular distribution pattern of cationic amphiphilic drugs. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:44277. doi: 10.1038/srep44277
- Gulbins E, Kolesnick RN. It takes a CAD to kill a tumor cell with a LMP. Cancer Cell (2013) 24:279–81. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.08.025
- Ostenfeld MS, Fehrenbacher N, Høyer-Hansen M, Thomsen C, Farkas T, Jäättelä M. Effective tumor cell death by sigma-2 receptor ligand siramesine involves lysosomal leakage and oxidative stress. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65:8975– 83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0269
- Petersen NHT, Olsen OD, Groth-Pedersen L, Ellegaard A-M, Bilgin M, Redmer S, et al. Transformation-associated changes in sphingolipid metabolism sensitize cells to lysosomal cell death induced by inhibitors of acid sphingomyelinase. *Cancer Cell* (2013) 24:379–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.08.003
- Beckmann N, Sharma D, Gulbins E, Becker KA, Edelmann B. Inhibition of acid sphingomyelinase by tricyclic antidepressants and analogons. *Front Physiol* (2014) 5:331. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00331
- Ellegaard A-M, Dehlendorff C, Vind AC, Anand A, Cederkvist L, Petersen NHT, et al. Repurposing Cationic Amphiphilic Antihistamines for Cancer Treatment. *EBioMedicine* (2016) 9:130–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.06.013
- 54. Breiden B, Sandhoff K. Emerging mechanisms of drug-induced phospholipidosis. *Biol Chem* (2019) 401:31-46. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2019-0270
- Platt FM. Emptying the stores: lysosomal diseases and therapeutic strategies. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2018) 17:133–50. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2017.214
- Kaufmann AM, Krise JP. Lysosomal sequestration of amine-containing drugs: analysis and therapeutic implications. J Pharm Sci (2007) 96:729–46. doi: 10.1002/jps.20792
- Zhitomirsky B, Assaraf YG. The role of cytoplasmic-to-lysosomal pH gradient in hydrophobic weak base drug sequestration in lysosomes. *Cancer Cell Microenviron* (2015) 2:2. doi: 10.3390/ijms21124392
- Rowson-Hodel AR, Berg AL, Wald JH, Hatakeyama J, VanderVorst K, Curiel DA, et al. Hexamethylene amiloride engages a novel reactive oxygen species- and lysosome-dependent programmed necrotic mechanism to selectively target breast cancer cells. *Cancer Lett* (2016) 375:62–72. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.02.042
- Dielschneider RF, Henson ES, Gibson SB. Lysosomes as Oxidative Targets for Cancer Therapy. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2017) 2017:3749157. doi: 10.1155/ 2017/3749157

- Li J, Cao F, Yin H-L, Huang Z-J, Lin Z-T, Mao N, et al. Ferroptosis: past, present and future. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11:88. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-2298-2
- Gupta PB, Onder TT, Jiang G, Tao K, Kuperwasser C, Weinberg RA, et al. Identification of selective inhibitors of cancer stem cells by highthroughput screening. *Cell* (2009) 138:645–59. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009. 06.034
- Zhao B, Li X, Wang Y, Shang P. Iron-dependent cell death as executioner of cancer stem cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2018) 37:79. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0733-3
- Mai TT, Hamaï A, Hienzsch A, Cañeque T, Müller S, Wicinski J, et al. Salinomycin kills cancer stem cells by sequestering iron in lysosomes. *Nat Chem* (2017) 9:1025–33. doi: 10.1038/nchem.2778
- 64. Zhitomirsky B, Assaraf YG. Lysosomal sequestration of hydrophobic weak base chemotherapeutics triggers lysosomal biogenesis and lysosomedependent cancer multidrug resistance. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:1143–56. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2732
- Groth-Pedersen L, Jäättelä M. Combating apoptosis and multidrug resistant cancers by targeting lysosomes. *Cancer Lett* (2013) 332:265–74. doi: 10.1016/ j.canlet.2010.05.021

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Hu and Carraway. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Strategies for Targeting Gene Therapy in Cancer Cells With Tumor-Specific Promoters

Mariela Montaño-Samaniego<sup>1</sup>, Diana M. Bravo-Estupiñan<sup>1</sup>, Oscar Méndez-Guerrero<sup>1</sup>, Ernesto Alarcón-Hernández<sup>2</sup> and Miguel Ibáñez-Hernández<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratorio de Terapia Gènica, Departamento de Bioquímica, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas del Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Ciudad de México, México, <sup>2</sup> Laboratorio de Genética Molecular, Departamento de Bioquímica, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas del Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Ciudad de México, México

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Teresita Padilla-Benavides, Wesleyan University, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Antonio Di Stasi, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States Chiung-Yao Fang, Ditmanson Medical Foundation Chia-Yi Christian Hospital, Taiwan

#### \*Correspondence:

Miguel Ibáñez-Hernández mibanez@ipn.mx; mibanez\_01@hotmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 12 September 2020 Accepted: 30 October 2020 Published: 14 December 2020

#### Citation:

Montaño-Samaniego M, Bravo-Estupiñan DM, Méndez-Guerrero O, Alarcón-Hernández E and Ibáñez-Hernández M (2020) Strategies for Targeting Gene Therapy in Cancer Cells With Tumor-Specific Promoters. Front. Oncol. 10:605380. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.605380 Cancer is the second cause of death worldwide, surpassed only by cardiovascular diseases, due to the lack of early diagnosis, and high relapse rate after conventional therapies. Chemotherapy inhibits the rapid growth of cancer cells, but it also affects normal cells with fast proliferation rate. Therefore, it is imperative to develop other safe and more effective treatment strategies, such as gene therapy, in order to significantly improve the survival rate and life expectancy of patients with cancer. The aim of gene therapy is to transfect a therapeutic gene into the host cells to express itself and cause a beneficial biological effect. However, the efficacy of the proposed strategies has been insufficient for delivering the full potential of gene therapy in the clinic. The type of delivery vehicle (viral or non viral) chosen depends on the desired specificity of the gene therapy. The first gene therapy trials were performed with therapeutic genes driven by viral promoters such as the CMV promoter, which induces non-specific toxicity in normal cells and tissues, in addition to cancer cells. The use of tumor-specific promoters over-expressed in the tumor, induces specific expression of therapeutic genes in a given tumor, increasing their localized activity. Several cancer- and/or tumor-specific promoters systems have been developed to target cancer cells. This review aims to provide up-to-date information concerning targeting gene therapy with cancer- and/or tumor-specific promoters including cancer suppressor genes, suicide genes, anti-tumor angiogenesis, gene silencing, and geneediting technology, as well as the type of delivery vehicle employed. Gene therapy can be used to complement traditional therapies to provide more effective treatments.

Keywords: cancer, gene therapy, targeted treatment, specific promoters, non-viral vectors

## INTRODUCTION

# Cancer Basics and Available Treatments. Why Use Gene Therapy?

Nowadays, cancer is one of the main causes of death worldwide. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), cardiovascular disease related deaths are the main cause of death worldwide, being cancer in the second place, responsible for one in six deaths. Nevertheless, it is believed that in the future it could become the first cause of death (1, 2). Cancer is not exclusive of high economy

73

level countries; developing countries contribute with a little more than a half (56%) of new cancer diagnosis per year and with 64% of deaths due to cancer worldwide. Hence, it is considered as an important obstacle to the economic and social development among all countries. WHO estimates that by the year 2030 cancer cases could surpass 20 million cases per year worldwide, as a consequence of the current demographic exPLoSion and the increase of elderly people. Nonetheless, there is a possibility of diminishing these figures given that more than 30% of all types of cancer are preventable by avoiding the main risk factors such as smoking, alcoholism, unhealthy diets, and sedentary lifestyle plus some chronic infectious diseases, especially those of viral nature (2).

Vaccination and early diagnosis along with proper therapies are important aspects to be taken into consideration to significantly reduce cancer related deaths. All the same, these strategies have not been successful given tumor variability and complexity. Regardless of the neoplasms origins, the main features common to all tumor cells include: continuous proliferative signaling, tumor suppressors evasion, apoptosis resistance, replicative immortality, cell-energetics deregulation, metastasis, and angiogenesis activation and immune system evasion (3). Surgery and radiotherapy are the treatments used to treat local non-metastatic tumors whereas antineoplastic medicine such as chemotherapy, hormones, and biological therapies are preferably used to handle metastatic tumors. Toxicity rendered by chemotherapeutic drugs, which induce undesirable massive destruction of normal cells, next to the upgrowing knowledge of molecular biology of tumor cells and the exclusive tumor features, have arisen the need of searching alternative targeted and efficient treatments against cancer, being gene therapy one of the most promising procedures for accomplishing such a purpose. Gene therapy consists in the introduction of therapeutic nucleic acids (TNAs) into target cells in order to achieve a beneficial molecular effect for patients. TNAs' delivery into cancer cells, such as genes, oligonucleotides, or interference RNAs, has enabled cancer battling by means of gene substitution, or genetic expression regulation either overexpression or repression (4-8). Notwithstanding, TNAs effect is transient and most of the time the desired effect has not been achieved. Because of this, expression plasmid vectors have been designed and constructed with the purpose of avoiding transient effects of TNAs. At first, therapeutic genes were under transcriptional control of ubiquitous eukaryotic viral promoters such as those from cytomegalovirus (CMV), Rous sarcoma virus (long terminal repeat, LTR), simian virus 40 (SV-40), and Epstein-Barr virus (EB) (9), which mediate non-specific expression of therapeutic genes in neoplastic cells and normal cells likewise. For this reason, the need of designing new expression systems with cancer/tissue specific promoters in order to drive gene expression of therapeutic genes towards target cells has arisen.

Cancer/tumor-specific promoters have been used to perform gene therapy in many types of neoplasia; within the most studied ones we have hepatocellular carcinoma, breast, lung, colorectal, pancreas and prostate cancer (8, 10–13). Gene therapy success in cancer treatment relies not only on a good molecular strategy, which consists of the design of specific genetic material being exclusively expressed within tumor cells, but also on the need of a safe, efficient and specific gene delivery system. Accordingly, a wide variety of genetic vectors have been developed for TNAs delivery, within them, viral vectors have shown the highest efficiencies but their greatest disadvantage is their immunogenicity. In this sense, non-viral vectors have proven to be safer when it comes to *in vivo* TNAs delivery, even when they are less efficient. So, the search of a safer, more efficient and specific genetic vector is still going on.

The aim of the present review is to provide a general view of the most recent molecular strategies in which cancer/tumorspecific promoters have been used in the design and construction of appropriate genetic vectors so targeted gene therapy can be performed on specific neoplasia.

# CURRENT MOLECULAR STRATEGIES IN CANCER GENE THERAPY

Gene transferring technologies allow a wide variety of treatment possibilities which can be used in complementing conventional therapies as well as providing new treatment strategies. New delivery systems as well as more sophisticated gene expression systems are being studied with the aim of achieving cancer treatment and removal. That is why the use of nucleic acids such as recombinant DNA, interfering RNA (iRNA), microRNAs (miRNAs), zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activatorlike effector nucleases (TALENs), clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats/CRIPR-associated protein 9 (CRISPR/ Cas), and suicide genes have aroused great interest among the scientific community (14–16).

## Antisense Oligonucleotides Technology in Cancer

Antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs) are defined as singlestranded, highly modified, synthetic RNA or DNA oligonucleotides designed to selectively bind to target RNA molecules, which are encoded by the gene of interest, through Watson-Crick base-pairing with the purpose of modulating its function (17, 18). Binding of ASO to its complementary target can trigger different action mechanisms (16). These mechanisms can be classified as those that bind to RNA and interfere with its function without promoting RNA degradation and those that promote RNA degradation (19, 20). Even when several ASObased treatment candidates have gone into different clinical trial stages, none has been approved for cancer treatments yet (18). Despite this, ASO-mediated intervention is a potential therapeutic approach for targeted manipulation of gene expression for cancer treatment.

#### **Interfering RNAs**

RNA interference technology has made considerable progress, especially when it comes to cancer treatment (21), since first described in *Caenorhabditis elegans* in 1998 (22). RNAi is a

double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)-based gene silencing technology that evolved as a natural cell defense mechanism against RNA viruses. This mechanism identifies pathogenic dsRNA molecules and targets them for cleavage. Up to now, three classes of small RNAs have been described in animals: microRNAs (miRNAs), small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), and PIWI-interacting RNAs (piRNAs) (23). Usually, these RNAs guide Argonaute proteins to target RNAs *via* Watson–Crick base-pairing, usually resulting in gene silencing (24).

The miRNAs are single-stranded, non-coding RNA molecules, of 21–22 nucleotides in length, which main function is silencing gene expression at a post-transcriptional level by the imperfect binding to the target mRNA, specifically in nucleotides 2–8 of the miRNA, known as the seed region (25, 26). In cancer, some miRNAs are over-expressed, inducing tumor development (oncomirs) and others are downregulated, blocking inhibitory control over some oncogenes, or cell differentiation, and apoptosis control (tumor suppressor miRNAs) (27–29).

The siRNAs are synthetic double-stranded RNA molecules of 21–23 nucleotides in length which induce gene silencing at posttranscriptional levels by binding to the target mRNA in specific binding sites which leads it to its degradation and thus to translation inhibition (30–33). It is worth mentioning that siRNA union with its target mRNA is highly selective and when compared against miRNAs, this union is 100% complementary, discriminating sequences even with one different nucleotide (34).

The piRNAs are a kind of small non-coding RNA of 24–32 nucleotides in length, named this way because of their interactions with the PIWI subfamily of Argonaut proteins which exerts a transposon gene silencing effect besides other kinds of regulation such as epigenetics, gene and protein regulation, genome rearrangement, spermatogenesis, and germ stem cells maintenance (35–37). The piRNAs can be mainly involved in epigenetic regulation rather than post-transcriptional regulation of many biological phenomena such as cancer (38, 39).

RNA interference therapies also include small hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) (40), which are RNA molecules that can be synthesized from expression vectors within cell nucleus, to be then transported to the cytoplasm and processed by endogenous machinery to give siRNAs. Each shRNA can encode more than two siRNAs to silence the target mRNA (41, 42). The shRNAs can be transcribed by type II or type III RNA polymerase throughout type II RNA polymerase depending promoters or type III RNA polymerase depending promoters in the expression cassette design to carry on RNA interference (40, 41).

#### Gene Editing Techniques in Cancer

Development of gene editing techniques has enabled the possibility of directly targeting and modifying specific gene sequences in almost every eukaryotic cell, displaying an enormous potential for its use in many fields which range from basic research to applied biomedicine and biotechnology (43). The latest advances in the development of programmed nucleases such as ZFNs, TALENs, and CRISPR/Cas have enormously accelerated transition from basic research to the advances in gene edition within clinical practice (15).

ZFNs are proteins which arise from the specific union of a Cys<sub>2</sub>-His<sub>2</sub> protein and the Fok1 restriction endonuclease cleavage domain resulting in DNA target sequence cleavage (44–46). On the other hand, there are transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs); these ones arise from the binding of a DNA binding domain and a nuclease catalytic domain of Fok1 (47). Using gene editing techniques such as ZFNs and specific TALENs, has been specifically inhibiting cervix cancer cell growth (48–50) and acute lymphoblastic leukemia (45, 51). As well, ZFNs have been used for fighting the resistance to therapeutic agents in breast cancer cells (52).

The most recent gene editing technology developed is CRISPR/Cas. It is originally present in bacteria and archaea as an "immune system" to protect these organisms against phage and other viral infections. One interesting feature of CRISPR systems is that they use a guide RNA (gRNA) that binds to the DNA target site while a nuclease known as CRISPR-associated caspase protein (Cas) cleaves specific DNA strands which are complementary to the RNAg of the CRISPR system (53). This gene editing system can be used for raising adaptive immunity, fighting carcinomas and specific mutation editing (54). It has been shown that using this gene editing technique, the reduction of tumor size, migration capacity, and drug resistance can be achieved in pancreatic (55), prostate (56–58), colon (59), and breast cancers (60, 61).

The potential of gene editing techniques for its use in basic research as well as in clinical cancer treatment has begun to develop strongly. In the future, grouped gRNA will provide a complete set of susceptible genes which could be modified in most cancer cell lines (62). This resource, along with the available information about cancer cell line genetics and epigenetics will allow us to achieve new safer, more efficient cancer gene therapies.

### **Suicide Gene Therapy**

Suicide gene therapy is based on introducing suicide genes to express enzymes or proteins that trigger the death of tumor cells (63-65), directly or indirectly. Direct suicide gene therapy consists of a gene that encodes for a protein that is cytotoxic and when expressed within the tumor cell induces its death. This has been achieved with the diphtheria toxin A complete gene or with segments of it, whose expression can change cell membrane stability and reduce tumor cell viability (14, 66-68). Indirect suicide gene therapy uses genes that express enzymes such as the Herpes Simplex Virus Thymidine Kinase (HSV-tk) accompanied by the administration of ganciclovir (GCV) (65, 69, 70). Another gene that has been used is the Escherichia coli cytosine deaminase gene; it encodes for an enzyme that catalyzes conversion of 5-fluorocytosine (5-FC) into 5-fluoruracile (5-FU), a drug used in conventional chemotherapy of HCC, prostate, colon, and breast cancers because it causes cell proliferation inhibition and induces cell death (14, 67, 71). Furthermore, this approach has been carried out by using a suicide gene which encodes for a modified human Caspase 9 (iCas9), which is strongly recognized by the bioinert synthetic molecule (B/B Homodimer, AP20187), alone or delivered by mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), inducing a dimer formation and activation apoptosis pathway in breast and lung cancer cells (72-74).

## DIRECTING GENE THERAPY IN CANCER

In recent years, gene therapy has had considerable progress. However, the big challenge still remains: for gene therapy to be successful, the TNAs must be delivered and expressed within the target cells (75). In order to direct gene expression of TNAs on the desired cells or tissues, a specific carrier of TNAs must be developed, that is, a genetic vehicle must be designed in a fashion that it can target specific cells, such as cancer cells, and deliver TNAs in a localized manner (76–79). The second approach has to do with the presence of regulatory sequences which direct gene expression only within the target cells, even if the recombinant DNA molecule can enter cells whether they are cancer cells or not.

An important feature that determines cancer-focused gene therapy success is the regulatory sequence which controls gene expression. Because of this, expression of therapeutic genes must be controlled by cell or tissue specific promoters (80, 81). Promoters are cis-acting regulatory regions which direct transcription of mRNAs that, in turn, are translated into proteins. Functionally, a promoter is a DNA sequence located upstream the 5' end of the coding region of a gene that includes the binding regions for transcription factors (82). Currently, they are being highly studied in biotechnological processes, since they cannot only increase transcriptional activity but also provide additional levels of control, e.g., at the expression or stage-specific level of a gene in a particular organ or tissue. Ideally, such a promoter should provide the maximum specific expression of the therapeutic gene in the target tissue and must be strong enough to ensure the safety and efficiency of the system.

Some promoters show a specific activity only in certain cell types, making them potential candidates for transcriptional targeting. Promoters which can be used to transcriptionally target cancer can be classified into three different categories: tissue-specific, cancer-specific, and tumor-specific (76, 82).

### **Tissue-Specific Promoters**

Transcriptional targeting by using tissue-specific promoters resorts to promoters of genes which are specifically active in certain tissues. Although they have been widely studied for its use in cancer gene therapy (83, 84), one of the main limitations of this type of promoter is that gene expression may lead to cytotoxic effects in normal as well as in the tumor tissue derived from the same cell type. Therefore, the use of such promoters must be restricted to tissues in which damage is not critical for the survival of the host, for example, prostate, melanocytes, or thyroid. If the tissue/organ is critical, then therapeutic genes must be delivered directly to the tumor site to prevent normal tissue to be affected (85). Nonetheless, the use of cancer- and/or tumor-specific promoters rather than tissuespecific promoters could be the best option to avoid adverse effects in normal cells (86).

### **Cancer-Specific Promoters**

One of the main obstacles to current cancer therapies is the lack of tumor specificity. So, specifically targeting gene expression to tumor cells is one of the most important goals of cancer gene therapy (82, 85). Cancer-specific promoters are those that are functional for

various types of cancers without any particular tissue/tumor specificity. However, their main feature is that they are functional within cancer cells but have no activity in normal cells. Telomerase was the first gene to be classified as cancer specific and whose promoter (hTERT) has been used to drive the expression of genes selectively in a wide variety of tumor cells (85, 87, 88). It has been observed that ~90% of human cancers express high levels of telomerase, while its activity is generally absent in normal somatic cells (89, 90). Whereby, this promoter clearly has a real potential in targeting a wide range of different tumor types.

At present, other cancer specific promoters have been studied, among them is epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), human epidermal growth factor receptor/neu (HER2/NEU), vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), folate receptor (FR), transferrin receptor (CD71), mucines, tumor resistance antigen 1-60 (TRA-1-60), cyclooxygenase (COX), cytokeratin 18, cytokeratin 19, survivin and chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) (82, 91–93). Most of the genes controlled by these promoters are over-expressed in cancer cells. That is why genetic constructions have been designed using these promoters to direct gene expression of suicide genes only in tumor cells for cancer gene therapy strategies (14).

## **Tumor-Specific Promoters**

Tumor-specific promoters are those which are active in a limited type of cancer cells and their activity varies widely in different tumors. Nevertheless, their main feature is that they are little or non-active in normal cells (**Figure 1**) (13). So it can be ensured that tumor-specific promoters are specific for a malignant process but show no specificity for a certain type of tissue given that they respond and are activated by the tumor microenvironment. Within this group are alpha-fetoprotein promoter (AFP), thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF-1), glypican-3 protein (GPC3), human secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (hSLPI), ERBB2, Mucin 1 (MUC1), L-plastin,  $\alpha$  lactalbumin (LALBA), cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2), epithelial glycoprotein (EPG2), A33, uPAR, carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), breast cancer 1 (BRCA1) and BRCA2 (85, 94).

### **Genetic Vectors**

With the development of a wide variety of recombinant DNA technologies, as well as a better understanding of genetics and molecular biology, the promise of treating genetic diseases in order to cure them or to improve quality of life of the patients seems to be a closer reality. Nevertheless, there is still a long way to go. For gene therapy to be successful, one of the most important things to take into consideration is the use of appropriate gene delivery systems. One of those issues related with gene therapy is the need of delivering therapeutic nucleic acids into the target cells, tissues and/or organs in a safe and efficient way. To do so, it is imperative to develop strategies which allow us to specifically target the delivery of the therapeutic nucleic acids and in doing so, maximizing cell transfection. As of 2017, around 70% of all gene therapy clinical trials were carried out by viral vectors. However, there are several significant concerns regarding the application of viruses as a carrier, including immunogenicity, insertion mutagenesis, as well as reports of deaths following



administration of viral vectors for gene administration (95). Therefore, considerable attention has been paid to the application of non-viral vectors with the ability to specifically direct therapeutic nucleic acids to the target cells, promoting the entry and release of these within cells, to obtain the desired biological effect (96–102).

## MOST COMMON CANCERS TREATED WITH GENE THERAPY: THE POTENTIAL OF SPECIFIC PROMOTERS AND GENETIC VECTORS

As a new promising strategy in gene therapy, the use of cancer/ tumor-specific promoters for targeting TNAs has grown in recent years. Several studies have proven that, by using these types of promoters, along with different molecular strategies and delivery vectors, TNAs can be delivered safely and efficiently within the desired cells, allowing the treatment of cancer without harming healthy tissues (**Table 1**).

#### Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Hepatocellular carcinoma is one of the four types of cancer with the highest death rate worldwide causing 781,631 deaths per year (1); this is because of a late diagnosis and ineffective treatments as well as those which give rise to adverse effects. Target gene therapy seems to be a promising approach (171).

Cancer/tumor-specific promoters impede gene expression of the therapeutic gene within normal cells, reducing toxicity and all the same sustaining anti-cancer efficacy. AFP promoter is the most common tumor-specific promoter used in HCC gene therapy due to the high level of activity in this cancer. AFP promoter is usually active in the fetal stage and then suffers inactivation 6 months after birth. Notwithstanding, it can be reactivated in abnormal conditions like cirrhosis and certain types of cancer such as HCC or, less importantly, pancreatic cancer and lung cancer (11, 87, 103, 104, 172). For that reason, it has been widely used in gene therapy for HCC in order to direct the expression of genes such as sodium/iodide symporter (NIS) with the purpose of improving radiotherapy efficiency (105, 106) and HSV1-tk gene to increase tumor-sensitivity facing chemotherapy (103, 107).

Cancer type	Promoter	Type of gene used	Specificity	Advantages	Disadvantages	References
Hepatocellular carcinoma	AFP	Increase sensitivity (NIS); Suicide gene HSV1-tk; shRNA against Beclin1	High activity in liver cancer	Tumor specificity	Weak promoter	(11, 87, 103–108)
	EA4D (enhanced AFP)	Apoptotic protein tBid	High activity in liver cancer	Stronger than wild type AFP promoter and the same tumor specificity	Useless in other types of tumors	(109)
	a2bm (variant AFP)	Oncolytic adenovirus E1A	High activity in liver cancer	Stronger than wild type AFP promoter and the same tumor specificity	Useless in other types of tumors	(11, 106, 110–112)
	hTERT	Cytotoxic gene ADI	High activity in a wide variety of tumor cells	Widely used for other tumors	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(88, 112, 113)
	GPC3		High activity in liver cancer	Tumor specificity, stronger than AFP	Useless in other types of tumors	(86, 114– 116)
Breast Cancer	ErbB2	Suicide gene HSV1-tk	High activity in breast and prostate cancer	Tumor specificity	Useful in a limited number of tumors	(117–120)
	MUC1	Suicide gene HSV1-tk	High activity in breast cancer, pancreatic cancer and cholangiocarcinoma	Higher activity in tumor cells	Basal expression in some normal cells	(121, 122)
	LALBA	Adenoviral genes E1A and E1B	High activity in breast cancer	Tumor specificity	Useless in other types of tumors	(123, 124)
Lung cancer	hTERT	Pro-apoptotic protein MP-VSV	High activity in a wide variety of tumor cells	Widely used for other tumors	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(80)
	TTF-1	Tumor suppressor miR-7	High activity in lung cancer	Tumor specificity	Useless in other types of tumors	(125–128)
	hSLPI	Combinations: suicide gene HSV1- tk and IL-12 gene; miRNA targeting EGFR and CASP3	High activity in lung, breast and ovary cancer	Tumor specificity	Useful in a limited number of tumors	(8, 77, 129–131)
	CEA	Suicide gene E and drug PTX	High activity in lung, gastrointestinal, colorectal and breast cancers	Tumor specificity	Useful in a limited number of tumors	(13, 32, 132–134)
Colorectal cancer	CEA	Suicide gene E	High activity in colorectal, gastrointestinal, lung and breast cancers	Tumor specificity	Useful in a limited number of tumors	(135–138)
	COX-2	Tumor suppressor 15-PGDH	High activity in colorectal cancer	Tumor specificity	Useless in other types of tumors	(12, 91, 139–142)
	A33	Adenoviral gene E1A	High activity in colorectal, intestinal-type gastric and pancreas cancer	Higher activity in tumor cells	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(138, 143, 144)
	hTERT	Adenoviral gene E1A; combination of suicide gene HSV1-tk and IL-18 gene	High activity in a wide variety of tumor cells	Widely used for other tumors	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(69, 71, 145, 146)
	uPAR	Suicide gene HSV1-tk	High activity in a wide variety of tumor cells	Widely used for other tumors	Specificity in the invasive edge of a tumor	(147–150)
	FGF18	Suicide gene HSV1-tk	High activity in a wide variety of tumor cells	Widely used for other tumors	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(150–152)
	KDR	Combination of suicide genes HSV1-tk and CD	High activity in a wide variety of tumor cells	Widely used for other tumors	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(138, 153)
Pancreatic Cancer	CCKAR	Pro-apoptotic gene BikDD	High activity in pancreatic cancer	Tumor specificity	Useless in other types of tumors	(154, 155)
	MUC1	DTA toxin	High activity in pancreatic cancer, breast cancer and cholangiocarcinoma	Higher activity in tumor cells	Basal expression in some normal cells	(156–158)
	hTERT	Oncolytic adenovirus Telomelysin	High activity in a wide variety of tumor cells	Widely used for other tumors	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(89, 90, 159, 160)
	SHIP1		High activity in pancreatic adenocarcinoma that overexpresses PDX-1	Stronger than wild type insulin promoters	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(10, 161)

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Cancer type	Promoter	Type of gene used	Specificity	Advantages	Disadvantages	References
Prostate cancer	GRP78	Suicide gene HSV1-tk	High activity in prostate, gastric, breast, pancreatic, lung and colon cancers	Tumor specificity	Useful in a limited number of tumors	(162–164)
	hON-522E	Suicide gene HSV1-tk	High activity in prostate cancer and in a wide variety of other tumor cells	Higher activity in tumor cells	Tumor non-specificity, basal expression in normal cells	(165, 166)
	PSA	Suicide gene thymidine kinase; apoptotic protein Apoptin	High activity in prostate cancer	Higher activity in tumor cells	Tumor non-specificity, reported expression in normal cells	(167–170)
	PSMA	Apoptotic protein Apoptin	High activity in prostate cancer	Higher activity in tumor cells	Tumor non-specificity, reported expression in normal cells	(167, 168, 170)

AFP promoter has also been used in RNAi strategies (AFP-Cre/LoxP-shRNA), obtaining a specific shRNA against the cell death and autophagy regulatory protein (Beclin1) gene mRNA, inhibiting translation and HCC growth (108). Furthermore, a more transcriptionally active variant of AFP promoter (EA4D) was found and by means of the genetic construction pGL3-EA4D-tBid/H, the growth of HCC AFP+ tumors was specifically and remarkably inhibited. Nonetheless, there was no effect on AFP- tumors (109).

The main drawback of AFP promoter is that it is a weak promoter when compared to strong promoters such as CMV or CAG promoters (106, 110–112). Due to this disadvantage, its usefulness in gene therapy assays was limited. As a result, chimeric variants of AFP promoter bearing enhancers have been developed, deriving in the modified AFP promoter known as a2bm. This variant promoter bears two enhancer A and one enhancer B regions and as a result a 500-fold increase in transcription rate was obtained, besides being HCC specific. Later, AFP-a2bm was further modified using hypoxia-response elements (HRE), increasing transcriptional activity under hypoxic conditions. This allowed to overcome the hypoxic tumor environment and to target HCC with high specificity, proving it as a promising candidate for HCC treatment based on gene therapy (11).

Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) promoter is a type of cancer-specific promoter; this can be used to drive the expression of genes in a wide variety of tumor cells without any particular tumor-specificity and has also been used to target therapeutic genes towards HCC along with arginine deaminase (ADI) gene, which encodes for an arginine-degrader enzyme (88), a potential agent against arginine-auxotroph tumors such as HCC and melanomas (113). This was done by substituting CMV promoter with hTERT promoter in an adenoviral vector aiming to direct ADI expression within the cancer cells, resulting in cytotoxicity on cancer cell lines and even eliminating tumors after two weeks of treatment in a mouse model (88). This gene therapy procedure with ADI-PEG20 (ADI PEGylated with PEG 20,000) has already passed phase I/II clinical trials but due to its low efficacy and specificity has been used only as an adjuvant therapy (112, 113).

Another tumor-specific promoter for HCC is the GPC3, an oncofetal protein belonging to the proteoglycan family only expressed in fetal development. However, the expression of this protein is reactivated mostly in HCC but also has been observed in malignant melanoma, neuroblastoma, and colon cancer (114–116). GPC3 promoter activation in HCC was demonstrated using luciferase and enhanced yellow fluorescent protein (eYFP) reporter genes in HCC cell lines and compared to normal hepatocytes (86).

Prostate and breast cancer over-expressed 1 (PBOV 1) encodes for a protein which is quite over-expressed in many types of cancer but not in normal tissues (173). Nevertheless, its role in the initiation and progression of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), was unknown (174). In order to reveal the role of this gene in HCC, a study was carried out in which a PBOV-1 plasmid and a PBOV-1 siRNA plasmid were delivered into HCC cells so that its expression levels and its effects on growth and metastasis could be investigated. Then, the need for an efficient and safe genetic vehicle arises. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is a cell transmembrane protein which is known to be over-expressed in many epithelial tumors (175). So, anti-EGFR monoclonal antibodies could be potent ligands directing therapeutic nucleic acids towards epithelial tumors such as HCC. An EGFR single-chain antibody-modified graft copolymer of polyethylene glycol (PEG) and polyethylenimine (PEI) complexed with superparamagnetic iron oxide nanocrystals (SPION) was developed. The use of EGFR singlechain antibody improves tumor-targeted gene delivery, and the use of polymers is useful for nucleic acids protection against the nuclease activity in vivo. Nevertheless, the cationic and nonbiodegradable characteristics of PEG and PEI remain to be an obstacle to overcome when it comes to its use in clinical trials (176, 177).

#### **Breast Cancer**

Breast cancer is the result of an abnormal and disordered growth of epithelial cells of mammary ducts or lobules and is characterized by metastasis capability, being mainly a hormone-depending disease (65% of all breast cancer cases) (1, 2). Due to lack of early diagnosis and timely treatments, it is the fifth cause of cancer death worldwide. Therefore, different directed gene therapy strategies have been developed using tumor-specific promoters, achieving encouraging results in breast cancer treatment.

ERBB2 protein is an oncoprotein that belongs to the EGFR family (117). It is over-expressed in about 20% of invasive breast cancers. Particularly, it has been shown that ERBB2 over-expression boosts invasion and metastasis of breast cancer and is correlated with poor survival of patients (118). Identification of the deregulated ERBB2 pathway in breast cancer pathogenesis has led to the development of ERBB2 targeted therapies. In a study, HSV1-tk gene under ERBB2 251 bp promoter (p256-TK) transcriptional control was transfected in breast cancer cells, resulting in a higher ganciclovir sensibility without affecting normal cells (119, 120).

The MUC1 gene encodes a mucin-like high molecular weight glycoprotein and is over-expressed in breast cancer and cholangiocarcinoma (121). It has a 114 bp enhancer region capable of modulating heterologous promoter transcription. It has been shown that positive DF3 breast cancer cell lines are more susceptible to cell death by GCV when HSV1-tk is delivered and driven by this enhancer. Afterwards, a replica of the expression vector was constructed and introduced in an adenovirus vector to be delivered to breast cancer cells, inhibiting tumor growth and intraperitoneal metastasis in a breast cancer mouse model (122).

LALBA is a protein that regulates lactose production in the milk of most mammals. It constitutes the regulatory subunit of the lactose synthase heterodimer (LS), whereas  $\beta$ -1, 4-galactosyltransferase constitutes the catalytic domain. The dimer allows LS to synthesize lactose by transferring galactose residues to glucose (123). LALBA is breast specific and expresses in more than 60% of breast cancer tissues. LALBA promoter showed a significantly higher activity in MDA-MB-435S and T47D breast cancer cell lines when compared against normal breast cell lines or other tumor cell lines. Furthermore, the replication efficiency of the vector and as a consequence its tumor cell destroying capability were increased as shown versus normal cell lines (negative LALBA promoter cells) (124).

Cationic porphyrin microbubbles (CpMBs) have been synthesized from a porphyrin grafted lipid which has two cationic amino groups (PGL-NH2) and the fluorocarbon inert gas C3F8. This design has two purposes: first of all, the porphyrin group can be used as a photosensitizer in order to carry on photodynamic therapy (PDT); secondly, the amino groups provide positive charges which can interact with a siRNA that can be used for FOXA1 knockdown (FOXA1 KD) in estrogen receptor positive breast cancer cells (ER + BC cells) (178, 179). In vivo experiments were carried on in which female Balb/c nude mice were injected with cells from the MCF7 cancer cell line and then subjected to treatment with CpMBs/siRNA followed by ultrasound targeted microbubble destruction (UTMD) being guided by contrast enhanced ultrasound (CEUS) (180). Promising results were obtained with this novel CpMBs in combination with ultrasound technology, which lead to a more efficient accumulation of porphyrin and siRNA into tumor cells (181, 182).

New approaches aim to treat breast cancer using co-delivery systems which can transport drugs and therapeutic genes within breast cancer cells. Among the many gene delivery systems developed, inorganic materials are highly promising. Hydroxyapatite nanoparticles have shown many advantages such as low cytotoxicity, wider surface areas and they are easy to fabricate and modify (183). Amine-functionalized hydroxyapatite nanoparticles (NHAP) were synthesized from 3-aminopropyl-triethoxysilane (APS) and HAP nanoparticles. Then, candesartan (CD) and p53 plasmid were added to give a drug-gene co-delivery vehicle. These nanoparticles showed the desirable characteristics of surface charge and particle size good enough to provide pDNA condensation and protection. After 72 h post-incubation in *in vitro* assays, cells treated with these nanoparticles showed viability above 90%. Transfection efficiency of these nanoparticles was about 26%. Finally, the design of this co-delivery system showed a strong inhibitory effect on angiogenesis in vitro, and in vivo analysis demonstrated a superior anti-tumor effect in a mouse model (181, 184, 185).

#### Lung Cancer

Lung cancer is the main cause of cancer deaths worldwide, accounting for 1,761,007 deaths from the 2,093,876 new reported cases in 2018 (1) despite advances in chemotherapy, surgery, and radiotherapy.

The matrix protein (MP) of the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) induces apoptosis in tumor cells in the absence of other viral components. Wild-MP gene was used to construct pVAX-M recombinant plasmid, which showed an efficient suppression of malignant tumors growth by inducing apoptosis in *in vivo* and *in vitro* assays. Afterwards, phTERTM plasmid encoding VSV MP under transcriptional control of hTERT promoter was constructed, displaying the same anti-tumor effect but specifically directed against lung adenocarcinoma (80).

On the other hand, thyroid transcription factor 1 (TTF-1) is a member of the Nkx2 transcription factors family, classified as a tissue-specific oncogene given that it is expressed mainly in lung cancer cells but not in other types of cancer and whose expression levels are tightly linked with patient prognosis (125). Based on the above, a miR-7 expression vector under TTF-1 promoter transcriptional control was constructed (p-T-miR-7), this expression vector displayed a reduction of tumor growth rate, migration and metastasis of lung cancer cells *in vivo* and *in vitro* suggesting the usefulness of miR-7 to develop new gene therapy strategies selectively against lung cancer (126–128).

As discussed previously, suicide gene therapy is another interesting approach in cancer gene therapy. From this point of view, an expression vector was constructed from HSV1-tk and human interleukin-12 genes under transcriptional regulation of tumor-specific hSLPI (human secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor) promoter, which is known to be active in lung, breast, and ovary cancers (8, 77, 129). This vector displayed a more specific anti-tumor effect because of hSLPI promoter transcriptional regulation, besides demonstrating that suicide gene therapy combined with immune gene therapy provides a stronger anti-tumor effect than gene therapy using a single gene (77). Otherwise, a recombinant adenovirus (Ad-SLPI-EGFRamiR-SLPI-revCASP3) expressing an artificial miRNA targeting EGFR and recombinant caspase-3 (CASP3) under transcriptional regulation from SLPI promoter was constructed. This displayed a specific novel anti-cancer gene therapy strategy which combines EGFR inhibition as well as CASP3 induced apoptosis (130, 131). The inhibitory effect caused by this adenovirus was commensurable to the therapeutic effects of cis-platinum and cetuximab (8).

CEA belongs to a cell-surface glycoproteins family and is the most used tumor marker in clinical diagnosis of colorectal, gastrointestinal, lung and breast cancers (32). It is normally expressed in epithelial cells of the fetal gastrointestinal tract (132, 133); however, non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) patients have elevated CEA serum levels, something that has been correlated with low survival rates (13, 134) so that CEA promoter has been used in directing E gene (pCEA-E) along with (PTX) in order to specifically target lung cancer cells, improving anti-tumor effects of PTX. *In vivo* assays corroborated this combined therapy effectiveness and demonstrated that CEA is an excellent tumor-specific promoter for targeting therapeutic genes expression within lung cancer cells inducing apoptosis and with no harm to normal cells (13).

Human Wnt inhibitory factor-1 (hWIF-1) has been described as an effective anti-oncogene useful for NSCLC gene therapy. The use of viral vectors to deliver these therapeutic genes into NSCLC cells has failed, given the inherent disadvantages of these genetic vehicles such as immunogenicity and insertional mutagenesis. So, a novel genetic vehicle based on PEI and branched PEI1800 coated with SP5-2 peptide, which specifically targets NSCLC cells, was developed. When proved on A549 cells, this vehicle provided a 50% transfection efficiency, showing, this way, that this is a promising genetic vehicle which can be useful for delivery of therapeutic nucleic acids on cancer cells (98).

Nanocarriers, such as nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC), have proven to be potential candidates to work as non-viral genetic vehicles due to important features such as increased chemical stability, higher loading capacity of nucleic acids, lower cytotoxicity and controlled release (186). Another strategy used in the design of safer and more efficient genetic vehicles is the construction of dual ligand-decorated lipid carriers. Transferrin (Tf) is a protein which has been used for targeted gene therapy, given that most cancer cells of lung carcinoma overexpress transferrin receptors (187). In a similar way, hyaluronic acid (HA) has also been used for a similar purpose for most of the non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Then, for the sake of finding a more promising genetic vehicle, transferrin and hyaluronic acid containing polyethylene glycol-distearoyl phosphoethanolamine (PEG-DSPE) ligands were synthesized. The systemic delivery efficiency of nucleic acids using this novel genetic vehicle was evaluated in vivo in a human lung adenocarcinoma A549 cell-bearing mouse model. These nanocarriers showed a sustained release of pDNA, which can lead to the persistence of the therapeutic effect when used for in vivo purposes. Even more, the presence of the Tf and HA ligands

on the surface of NLC granted them lower cytotoxicity when compared with uncoated NLC (100, 101).

## **Colorectal Cancer**

Colorectal cancer (CRC) originates in colon and rectum, usually starting with the forming of a polyp because of an epithelial proliferation from colon and rectal mucosa. The probability for a polyp of turning into a malignant neoplasia depends on the type of polyp according to its histology. Adenomatous polyps are likely to turn into cancerous neoplasia because of their precancer nature for being a type of adenoma. Meanwhile, inflammatory, and hyperplasic polyps are not considered as pre-malignant lesions (188). CRC is the third type of cancer with the highest incidence worldwide and the second one on the list of cancers with higher death rate (1, 2).

As in lung cancer, CEA is an oncofetal tumor-marker overexpressed in more than 90% of CRC cells. High CEA levels have been found in serum as well as high levels of its mRNA in endstage CRC patients (135). CEA levels have been used in predicting and keeping track of recurrence and metastasis of CRC in stage-II patients (136, 137). CEA promoter has been used to direct therapeutic gene expression in CRC cells, such as E gene against colon cancer, triggering a high inhibition of cell growth compared to normal human colon cells. Moreover, it has been shown in mice carrying subcutaneous MC-38 colon cancer cells that there is a significant decrease in tumor size and low Ki-67 levels compared against untreated tumors (138).

COX-2 is an enzyme that catalyzes initial oxidation of arachidonic acid for prostaglandins synthesis, an essential factor in carcinogenesis and tumor evolution. COX-2 is over-expressed in 93% of colon cancers and in 87% of rectum cancers (139). Overexpression levels of COX-2 have been shown to be related to cancer progression and death rate in patients with CRC (140, 141). COX-2 gene promoter has been found to be active in CRC cell lines but not in normal human intestinal epithelial cell lines, via analysis of its transcriptional activity using luciferase reporter gene (91). This promoter has also been used to control 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase (15-PGDH) gene expression, a repressed gene in most cancers. By doing so in colon cancer cells, growth and migration of CRC cells was inhibited (12, 142).

A33 protein is a member of the transmembrane protein family of the immunoglobulin superfamily, only found in the small intestine and colon, associated with gut immune response, cell adhesion processes and cell traffic. A33 protein overexpression is correlated with many cancers such as primary and metastatic CRC (95%), diffuse gastric cancers (63%), intestinal-type gastric cancers (83%) and pancreas cancer (50%), nonetheless it has not been found in normal colon epithelium (138, 143). The A33 promoter has been used to specifically drive the expression of the E1A anti-cancer protein gene to decrease tumorigenic potential, inhibit cell growth and activate apoptosis in cancer cells. Production of favorable levels of E1A mRNA has been demonstrated in different CRC cell lines, but not in normal colon cells, with a slight activity in HCC and melanoma cell lines, so that the A33 promoter can be used as tumor-specific promoter (144).

The hTERT is synthesized in cells with high levels of enzymatic activity (*e.g.* tumor cells) but not in normal tissues (145). Telomerase is highly active in malignant tumors and high levels of hTERT mRNA have been correlated with poor prognosis for CRC patients versus patients with low telomerase levels (146). hTERT promoter has been used in directing therapeutic gene expression such as E1A, showing a high specificity towards CRC, inhibiting 75% of cancer cell growth, obtaining apoptosis and necrosis levels of 32.3 and 31.5% respectively (71). Furthermore, combined gene therapy with interleukin 18 (IL-18) gene and HSV1-tk under hTERT promoter transcriptional control has been carried out, this strategy confers a specific anti-tumor immunity, partially or completely eliminating tumors (69).

The uPAR gene encodes for a serine protease that catalyzes inert zymogenic plasminogen into plasmin. It has been observed that the uPAR gene is positively regulated by activated RAS signaling pathway, the main signaling pathway in CRC (147). This gene is over-expressed in many tumors such as those of pancreas, liver, breast and especially gastrointestinal (148). The specific tumor union of activator protein (AP-1) to uPAR promoter has been found in approximately 40% of CRC patients and 38.9% of them showed this specific tumor union in resected tumors in contrast to low or absent attachment in the corresponding normal mucosa, demonstrating the specific tumor activity of uPAR in CRC and not in normal tissues (149). uPAR promoter specific activity has been demonstrated in colon cancer cell lines (SW480) and CRC (HTC116) by means of lacZ reporter gene. By administering HSV1-tk under uPAR promoter transcriptional regulation within SW480 and HCT116 cell lines cell growth rate decreased significantly by ganciclovir administration (150).

Fibroblast growth factor 18 (FGF18) is a crucial mitogen in the embryonic stage taking part in bone and cartilage development (151). Its over-expression has been linked with different types of cancer, mainly in CRC, promoting the transition of colon carcinogenesis from adenoma to carcinoma (151, 152). Activity of FGF18 promoter has been tested with *lacZ* reporter gene in SW480 and HCT116 cell lines versus normal human umbilical cord colon cells, and it was found that galactosidase activity was much higher in cancer cells than in normal cells. Moreover, specific tumor activity of FGF18 promoter was demonstrated by expressing HSV1-tk gene within CRC cells, significatively inhibiting its growth after treatment with ganciclovir (150).

The receptor that contains the endothelial cell type specific tyrosine kinase domain (KDR) is the receptor of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which plays a vital role in the growth and development of endothelial cells. KDR expression has been detected in a wide variety of cancer cells and vascular endothelial cells but not in normal cells (153). By screening the expression of CD and HSV1-tk genes (KDR/CD-TK) in colon cancer cells, KDR promoter expression has been proven to be specific for this type of cells, finding high levels of CD/TK mRNA in SW480 and SW620 (KDR positive human colon adenocarcinoma) which were found to be highly susceptible to 5-FC and ganciclovir prodrugs and with no effect on LS174T cells (KDR negative human colon adenocarcinoma) (138).

Copolymers are becoming more attractive to scientists due to the features and advantages that emerge when using new combinations of monomers. In colorectal cancer gene therapy, a novel nanocarrier was developed using a copolymer of poly-(ethylene glycol)–poly-(caprolactone) which were used to co-loading 5-Fluorouracil and the enhanced green fluorescent protein coding gene. Transfection efficiency was tested on colorectal cancer-bearing mice, showing 70–90% of transfection percentage 24 to 72 h post-transfection, respectively (99, 189).

An interesting approach for colorectal cancer (CRC) gene therapy and, specifically, in the development of novel genetic vehicles is the construction of nanoparticles (NPs) made of mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNs) which can be modified using polymerized dopamine and AS1411aptamer (190). The use of the AS1411aptamer confers these nanoparticles high tumor specificity, given that this aptamer binds specifically to nucleolin, which is a protein over-expressed on the cell surface of many types of tumor, including CRC (191). *In vivo* and *in vitro* assays demonstrated that these NPs can effectively target CRC cells (98).

#### **Pancreas Cancer**

Pancreas cancer is one of the most aggressive malignant human neoplasia and the seventh cause of death due to cancer worldwide accounting for 458,918 of new cases and 432,242 deaths in 2018 (1), given the lack of proper therapies (82).

Cholecystokinin type A receptor (CCKAR) promoter has relatively high activity in pancreatic cancer cells when compared with normal cells, this tumor-specific promoter was modified for enhancing its activity to be used within pancreas cancer cells for directing BikDD expression, a powerful proapoptotic gene, demonstrating its effective and specific anticancer effect (154). Furthermore, the versatile expression vector "VISA" (VP16-GAL4-WPRE integrated systemic amplifier) which contained the same tumor-specific CCKAR promoter was constructed to direct the expression of BikDD in pancreas cancer *in vivo*. The targeted expression of BikDD by the CCKAR-VISA vector showed a significant antitumor effect in pancreatic cancer and prolonged survival in the mouse model used (155).

A strategy with Diphtheria toxin A (DTA) against pancreatic cancer has also been developed, using the tumor-specific promoter MUC1, due to its over-expression in pancreas ductal adenocarcinoma (PDA) and its association with tumor aggressiveness (156). This strategy has been used to direct the expression of DTA only within tumor cells, since this toxin inhibits protein synthesis and is lethal for cells (157). However, some normal cell types, such as gastrointestinal and breast epithelial cells, express MUC1 (158), so this pMUC1/DTA construct may cause gastrointestinal side effects in treated patients.

Telomelysin (OBP-401) is an oncolytic modified adenovirus in which the hTERT promoter controls viral replication, therefore it only replicates within cells that overexpress hTERT such as pancreatic cancer cells (89, 90, 159). Telomelysin has been shown to effectively lysate pancreas cancer cells and reduce xenograft tumors in murine models by itself as well as in combination with docetaxel (160).

With the purpose of developing a more efficient pancreatic cancer gene therapy, a synthetic human insulin super-promoter (SHIP1) was designed to improve the activity and specificity of the human insulin promoter. SHIP1 has been shown to be a promoter with higher activity than that of endogenous human insulin promoters and rat insulin promoters (RIP), which are used to direct expression in pancreatic adenocarcinoma that overexpresses pancreas and duodenal Homeobox gene 1 (PDX-1) (10, 161). This new gene therapy strategy using synthetic super-promoters could be used to more efficiently direct therapeutic genes expression in various types of cancers.

An interesting approach in the development of genetic vehicles for treatment of cancer is the use of exosomes to enhance targeting of oncogenic Kras in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC). Exosomes, which are vesicles of nanometric dimensions and are produced by all cells, were obtained from cell cultures of human foreskin fibroblasts (BJ) (192). Then, these exosomes were electroporated with a siRNA or a plasmid for shRNA silencing of KRAS mutations, which are the key driver of pancreatic cancer (193). After that, their biological effect was evaluated in *in vitro* and in vivo essays. Exosomes are characterized by the presence of transmembrane and membrane anchored proteins, one of these is CD47, a protein that signals for the inhibition of phagocytosis via the interaction with the ligand for signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa), allowing evasion of phagocytosis by circulating monocytes and increasing half-life of exosomes in circulation. Kras mutant cancer cells are known to have an enhanced micropinocytosis activity, so that exosomes uptake is favored, allowing the targeted delivery of the therapeutic nucleic acid (96, 194-196).

One of the most recent approaches to treat cancer is the use of engineered cells by a non-viral vector which carries a therapeutic protein which induces apoptosis in cancer cells. In this new approach, human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) are genetically modified with complexes of branched polyethyleneimine (bPEI) and TRAIL (tumor necrosis factorrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand) gene (197). To overcome the low transfection efficiency of the TRAIL-gene vector within hMSCs, photochemical internalization (PCI) was the method utilized to carry on genetic modification. After genetically modifying hMSCs, the transfection and secretion of TRAIL protein into culture supernatants was evaluated as well as the evaluation of in vivo therapeutic effect in tumor-bearing mice and histologic analysis. TRAIL is a member of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily which is able to form homotrimer with death receptors (DRs) on the cell membrane; when it does, it triggers apoptosis pathway in cancer cells and has a negligible effect on normal cells (198). To overcome the limitations of in vivo application of DNA complexes with polymers, hMSCs were applied for direct secretion of TRAIL protein; these cells were used given their ability for homing to tumor sites and their immunity privileges which prevent them from being rejected in vivo. Finally, the use of PCI is justified because it maximizes cellular internalization of DNA-bPEI complexes; this technique uses near infrared light (NIR) along with a photosensitizer, which enhances the cell membrane permeability

and allows photo-induced endosomal escape efficiency for enhanced gene transfection (97, 199–201).

#### **Prostate Cancer**

Prostate cancer is the second type of cancer with the highest incidence and the fifth cause of death among men worldwide, taking 358,989 lives per year (1) and representing a high risk for elder men.

One promoter used in the development of gene therapies against tumor cells of prostate cancer is the glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) promoter. This promoter is inactive in healthy adult tissues but it has been proven to be highly active in a wide range of cancer cells like prostate, gastric, breast, pancreatic, lung and colon (162–164). One strategy developed consisted in using GRP78 promoter as the regulatory sequence in the HSV1-TK suicide gene. Under the enzymatic action of the protein encoded by this gene, GCV is transformed into GCVmonophosphate and then into GCV-diphosphate and GCVtriphosphate. This last product showed cytotoxic effects specifically on prostate cancer cells (164).

Another promoter receiving attention is the human osteonectin promoter (hON-522E). This promoter regulates transcription of osteonectin, a protein known to play roles in cell adhesion, proliferation and migration. Osteonectin is over-expressed in many types of cancer such as prostate cancer, where it is involved in metastasis (165, 166). A vector was constructed with hON-522E promoter regulating transcription of a HSV1-TK suicide gene, demonstrating induction of cell death *in vitro* (PC3M) and slowing the growth of prostate tumors in an xenograft model, without other organ toxicity (166).

Prostate-specific antigen (PSA) is a cytoplasmic protein present in prostate gland cells and prostatic duct epithelial cells. Its expression has been documented in normal prostate tissues but is known to be over-expressed in prostate cancer cells. On the other hand, prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) is an intrinsic protein on membranes of prostatic epithelial cells and has been found to be over-expressed in prostate cancer, especially in metastasis (167, 168). Therefore, promoters of these two proteins seem to be suitable candidates for directing gene therapy in prostate cancer. One approach was constructing a plasmid containing the thymidine kinase suicide gene under transcriptional control of the human PSA enhancer/promoter fragment. Further directionality was achieved by using JC polyomavirus virus-like particles, which show tropism towards androgen receptor positive prostate cancer cells, as the genetic vehicle carrying the recombinant plasmid. The constructed plasmid could kill 22Rv1prostate cancer cells in vitro by inhibiting growth of these cells in a xenograft mouse model (169). In a similar way, a recombinant plasmid was constructed using PSA and PSMA regulatory elements ruling transcription of apoptin. When transfecting human prostatic adenocarcinoma cell line LNCaP, viability was significantly decreased (170).

Cationic polymers are known to interact with the negatively charged therapeutic nucleic acids, forming stable nanocomplexes. One of the most used cationic polymers is polyethylenimine, given that it binds DNA with high efficiency and has a proton sponge effect which is useful in endosomal escape of nucleic acids. Besides, it is a polymer that can be modified with targeting agents. Chlorotoxin is a peptide which binds in a specific fashion with matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2), which is over-expressed in certain types of cancer such as brain, prostate, skin, sarcoma, among others and plays a role in cancer metastasis (202). So, a novel genetic vehicle was constructed by conjugating chlorotoxin with PEI and forming nanocomplexes using a plasmid which contains a gene which encodes for melittin, a peptide present in bee venom and that has some anti-cancer activity. The transfection experiments showed that this genetic vehicle can reach transfection efficiencies of 49% with no cytotoxic effect (203–206).

Sometimes, it is necessary to use more than one genetic delivery strategy in order to archive the requirements of a safe and efficient transfection of mammalian cells. In an attempt to fulfill these needs, a complex consisting of 11-mercaptoundecanoic acid modified nanocages (AuNCs)/polyethylenimine (PEI)/miRNA/hyaluronic acid (HA), abbreviated as AuNCs/PEI/miRNA/HA was designed and constructed. Due to the presence of HA, these complexes can be specifically targeted for intracellular delivery of miRNA via HA receptor mediated endocytosis, using a layer-by-layer method. The use of HA as a mediator of endocytosis has additional advantages such as its unimportant nonspecific interactions with serum components, improving its in vivo availability. Attachment of PEI onto AuNPs surface making use of 11-mercaptoundecanoic acid provides the surface for the interaction with the negatively charged miRNA, besides PEI property of strong endosomal escape. Finally, the use of AuNPs has proven to be quite dynamic due to their physicochemical properties as well as the ease with which AuNPs surface can be functionally modified. Ultimately, the use of photothermal therapy, which makes use of NIR light, enhances the antitumor effect of these new genetic vehicles (98, 102, 207).

### PERSPECTIVES

As recombinant DNA technologies have arisen, the need of finding new treatments for diseases has become an important topic within the scientific community. Cancer is one of the most aggressive and deadliest diseases among humans and given its genetic basis and the lack of effective conventional treatments, it is a suitable candidate for using gene therapy. As we have reviewed in this work, there are different genetic engineering techniques which can be used for controlling or restoring normal gene expression within cancer cells. Nevertheless, that approach requires further research to be delivered safely and efficiently within cancer cells as well as being expressed just inside the tumor cells of interest rather than in normal tissues. Cancer and tumor-specific promoters have been shown to be highly effective when it comes to targeted gene expression, mainly because they direct gene expression only within a specific type of tumor cells or cancer cells and not within normal tissues, which results in targeted therapies involving cell death just for malignant tissues while keeping normal tissues safe and intact. Along with these cancer and tumor-specific promoters, the right delivery system, that is, a safe, efficient, and specific genetic vector, must be

available in order to render a highly promising therapy, with specificity and efficacy enough to ensure cancer elimination and normal tissue preservation.

So, it is of pivotal importance to continue in the search of new promoters which can direct gene expression only within the desired cells and new genetic vectors that can deliver recombinant DNA molecules also in a specific fashion with no cytotoxicity and high transfection efficiencies so that gene expression is assured to take part only where needed. To do so, cancer genetics must be further studied so that the principles controlling gene expression in cancer can be fully understood and manipulated in a beneficial way via gene therapy. Simultaneously new genetic vectors must be developed and, in doing so, new materials must be studied in order to fulfil the needs of biocompatibility, no cytotoxicity, high transfection rates, tissue specificity and high loading capacity of genetic material, with the purpose of providing a new tool in cancer treatment that can (surpass the shortcomings of the conventional therapies) complement or reduce toxicity of conventional treatments available nowadays, increasing survival rates and improving life quality of patients suffering cancer.

## CONCLUSIONS

Cancer and tumor-specific promoters have proven to be an important feature in the construction of recombinant DNA molecules for cancer gene therapy. Yet, a more advanced knowledge of cancer genetics is required in order to find effective and safe elements to control gene expression. New molecules and materials for the development of genetic vectors have opened the possibilities to deliver nucleic acids into cells, nevertheless, the challenge of finding a genetic vector that is safe and efficient remains.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MM-S: Development of most topics, figure creation, and table creation. DB-E: Participation in the development of the entire gene therapy topic of the most common cancers. OM-G: Development of the perspectives chapter and participation in the drafting of the entire article. EA-H: Participation in the organization and review of the topics. MI-H: General idea, coordination and advice of the whole article. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### **FUNDING**

Funding obtained from COFAA-IPN, linked to SIP project #20200448: Evaluación de la transfección con liposomas que contienen un nuevo lípido catiónico y determinación de la direccionalidad de la expresión genética.

## REFERENCES

- 1. GLOBOCAN. *Cancer.* (2018) [cited 2020 May 20]. Available at: http://gco. iarc.fr/today
- 2. OMS. *Cáncer*. (2018) [cited 2020 May 20]. Available at: https://www.who. int/es/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer
- 3. Hanahan D, and Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Shahbazi R, Ozpolat B, and Ulubayram K. Oligonucleotide-based theranostic nanoparticles in cancer therapy. *Nanomedicine* (2016) 11 (10):1287–308. doi: 10.2217/nnm-2016-0035
- Aiuti A, Roncarolo MG, and Naldini L. Gene therapy for ADA-SCID, the first marketing approval of an ex vivo gene therapy in Europe: paving the road for the next generation of advanced therapy medicinal products. *EMBO Mol Med* (2017) 9(6):737–40. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201707573
- Ye J, Lei J, Fang Q, Shen Y, Xia W, Hu X, et al. miR-4666-3p and miR-329 Synergistically Suppress the Stemness of Colorectal Cancer Cells via Targeting TGF-β/Smad Pathway. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:1251. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2019.01251
- Albahde MAH, Zhang P, Zhang Q, Li G, and Wang W. Upregulated Expression of TUBA1C Predicts Poor Prognosis and Promotes Oncogenesis in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma via Regulating the Cell Cycle. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:49. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00049
- Yan M, Chen J, Jiang H, Xie Y, Li C, Chen L, et al. Effective inhibition of cancer cells by recombinant adenovirus expressing EGFR-targeting artificial microRNA and reversed-caspase-3. *PLoS One* (2020) 15(8):e0237098. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237098
- Makrides SC. "Vectors for gene expression in mammalian cells". In: New Comprehensive Biochemistry. Norwood, MA, USA: EIC Laboratories, Inc. (2003) (38):9–26.
- Liu SH, Yu J, Sanchez R, Liu X, Heidt D, Willey J, et al. A novel synthetic human insulin super promoter for targeting PDX-1-expressing pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Lett* (2018) 418:75–83. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2018.01.007
- Yoon AR, Hong JW, Kim M, and Yun CO. Hepatocellular carcinomatargeting oncolytic adenovirus overcomes hypoxic tumor microenvironment and effectively disperses through both central and peripheral tumor regions. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):1–14. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-20268-6
- Satapathy SR, Topi G, Osman J, Hellman K, Ek F, Olsson R, et al. Tumour suppressor 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase induces differentiation in colon cancer via GLI1 inhibition. *Oncogenesis* (2020) 9(8):74. doi: 10.1038/s41389-020-00256-0
- Rama AR, Hernández R, Perazzoli G, Cabeza L, Melguizo C, Vélez C, et al. Specific driving of the suicide E gene by the CEA promoter enhances the effects of paclitaxel in lung cancer. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2019) 27:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41417-019-0137-3
- Izmirli M, Sonmez D, and Gogebakan B. The war against cancer: Suicide gene therapy. Adv Mod Oncol Res (2016) 2(3):139. doi: 10.18282/ amor.v2.i3.103
- Gaj T, Sirk SJ, Shui S, and Lui J. Genome-Editing Technologies: Principles and Applications. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2016) 8:1–20. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a023754
- Rossor AM, Reilly MM, and Sleigh JN. Antisense oligonucleotides and other genetic therapies made simple. *Pract Neurol* (2018) 18(2):126–31. doi: 10.1136/practneurol-2017-001764
- Dias N, and Stein CA. Antisense oligonucleotides: Basic concepts and mechanisms. Mol Cancer Ther (2002) 1(5):347–55.
- Le BT, Raguraman P, Kosbar TR, Fletcher S, Wilton SD, and Veedu RN. Antisense Oligonucleotides Targeting Angiogenic Factors as Potential Cancer Therapeutics. *Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids* (2019) 14:142–57. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2018.11.007
- Lundin KE, Gissberg O, and Smith CIE. Oligonucleotide Therapies: The Past and the Present. *Hum Gene Ther* (2015) 26(8):475–85. doi: 10.1089/ hum.2015.070
- Bennett CF, Baker BF, Pham N, Swayze E, and Geary RS. Pharmacology of Antisense Drugs. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol (2017) 57(1):81–105. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010716-104846
- 21. Karim M, Tha K, Othman I, Borhan Uddin M, and Chowdhury E. Therapeutic Potency of Nanoformulations of siRNAs and shRNAs in

Animal Models of Cancers. *Pharmaceutics* (2018) 10(2):65. doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics10020065

- 22. Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, and Mello CC. Potent and specific genetic interference by double- stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans Experimental introduction of RNA into cells can be used in certain biological systems to interfere with the function of an endogenous gene. *Nature* (1998) 391:806. doi: 10.1038/35888
- Schuster S, Miesen P, and van Rij RP. Antiviral RNAi in insects and mammals: Parallels and differences. Viruses (2019) 11(5):448. doi: 10.3390/v11050448
- 24. Carthew RW, and Sontheimer EJ. Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. *Cell* (2009) 136(4):642–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.035
- Bajan S, and Hutvagner G. RNA-Based Therapeutics: From Antisense Oligonucleotides to miRNAs. *Cells* (2020) 9(1):137. doi: 10.3390/ cells9010137
- Friedman RC, Farh KKH, Burge CB, and Bartel DP. Most mammalian mRNAs are conserved targets of microRNAs. *Genome Res* (2009) 19(1):92– 105. doi: 10.1101/gr.082701.108
- Rupaimoole R, and Slack FJ. MicroRNA therapeutics: Towards a new era for the management of cancer and other diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2017) 16(3):203–21. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.246
- Roma-Rodrigues C, Rivas-garcía L, Baptista PV, and Fernandes AR. Gene therapy in cancer treatment: Why go nano? *Pharmaceutics* (2020) 12(3):233. doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics12030233
- 29. Babaei K, Shams S, Keymoradzadeh A, Vahidi S, Hamami P, Khaksar R, et al. An insight of microRNAs performance in carcinogenesis and tumorigenesis; an overview of cancer therapy. *Life Sci* (2020) 240:117077. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2019.117077
- 30. Sharp PA. RNAi and double-strand RNA. Genes Dev (1999) (1998):139-41.
- Whitehead KA, Langer R, and Anderson DG. Knocking down barriers: Advances in siRNA delivery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2009) 8(2):129–38. doi: 10.1038/nrd2742
- 32. Shao Y, Sun X, He Y, Liu C, and Liu H. Elevated levels of serum tumor markers CEA and CA15-3 are prognostic parameters for different molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(7). doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0133830
- Lam JKW, Chow MYT, Zhang Y, and Leung SWS. siRNA Versus miRNA as Therapeutics for Gene Silencing. *Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids* (2015) 4(9):e252. doi: 10.1038/mtna.2015.23
- Schwarz DS, Ding H, Kennington L, Moore JT, Schelter J, Burchard J, et al. Designing siRNA That Distinguish between Genes That Differ by a Single Nucleotide. *PLoS Genet* (2006) 2(9):e140. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020140
- Han Y-N, Li Y, Xia S-Q, Zhang Y-Y, Zheng J-H, and Li W. PIWI Proteins and PIWI-Interacting RNA: Emerging Roles in Cancer. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2017) 44(1):1–20. doi: 10.1159/000484541
- Casier K, Boivin A, and Teysset L. Epigenetic Inheritance : Implication of PIWI Interacting RNAs. *Cells* (2019) 8:1108. doi: 10.3390/cells8091108
- Wang X, Lv C, Guo Y, and Yuan S. Mitochondria Associated Germinal Structures in Spermatogenesis: piRNA Pathway Regulation and Beyond. *Cells* (2020) 9(2):399. doi: 10.3390/cells9020399
- Kim VN. Small RNAs just got bigger: Piwi-interacting RNAs (piRNAs) in mammalian testes. *Genes Dev* (2006) 20(15):1993–7. doi: 10.1101/ gad.1456106
- Feng J, Yang M, Wei Q, Song F, Zhang Y, Wang X, et al. Novel evidence for oncogenic piRNA-823 as a promising prognostic biomarker and a potential therapeutic target in colorectal cancer. J Cell Mol Med (2020) 24(16):9028– 40. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.15537
- Xin Y, Huang M, Guo WW, Huang Q, Zhang Lz, and Jiang G. Nano-based delivery of RNAi in cancer therapy. *Mol Cancer* (2017) 16(1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0683-y
- Rao DD, Vorhies JS, Senzer N, and Nemunaitis J. siRNA vs. shRNA: Similarities and differences. Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2009) 61(9):746–59. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2009.04.004
- 42. Liu YP, von Eije KJ, Schopman NCT, Westerink JT, ter Brake O, Haasnoot J, et al. Combinatorial RNAi against HIV-1 using extended short hairpin RNAs. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(10):1712–23. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.176
- 43. Li H, Yang Y, Hong W, Huang M, Wu M, and Zhao X. Applications of genome editing technology in the targeted therapy of human diseases:

mechanisms, advances and prospects. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2020) 5:1–23. doi: 10.1038/s41392-019-0089-y

- Guha TK, and Edgell DR. Applications of alternative nucleases in the age of CRISPR/Cas9. Int J Mol Sci (2017) 18:2565. doi: 10.3390/ijms18122565
- Zhao J, Lin Q, Song Y, and Liu D. Universal CARs, universal T cells, and universal CAR T cells. J Hematol Oncol (2018) 11:132. doi: 10.1186/s13045-018-0677-2
- 46. Zhang H-X, Zhang Y, and Yin H. Genome Editing with mRNA Encoding ZFN, TALEN, and Cas9. *Mol Ther* (2019) 27(4):735–46. doi: 10.1016/ j.ymthe.2019.01.014
- Bi H, and Yang B. Gene Editing With TALEN and CRISPR/Cas in Rice. Prog Mol Biol Trans Sci (2017) 149:81–98. doi: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2017.04.006
- 48. Ding W, Zhu D, Hu Z, Jiang X, Yu L, Wang X, et al. Zinc finger nucleases targeting the human papillomavirus E7 oncogene induce E7 disruption and a transformed Phenotype in HPV16/18-positive cervical cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* (2014) 20(24):6495–503. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0250
- Shankar S, Prasad D, Sanawar R, Das AV, and Pillai MR. TALEN based HPV-E7 editing triggers necrotic cell death in cervical cancer cells. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):5500. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-05696-0
- Shankar S, Sreekumar A, Prasad D, Das AV, and Pillai MR. Genome editing of oncogenes with ZFNs and TALENs: caveats in nuclease design. *Cancer Cell Int* (2018) 18(1):169. doi: 10.1186/s12935-018-0666-0
- Qasim W, Zhan H, Samarasinghe S, Adams S, Amrolia P, Stafford S, et al. Molecular remission of infant B-ALL after infusion of universal TALEN gene-edited CAR T cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2017) 9(374). doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaj2013
- Puria R, Sahi S, and Nain V. HER21 breast cancer therapy: By CPP-ZFN mediated targeting of mTOR? *Technol Cancer Res Treat* (2012) 11(2):175– 80. doi: 10.7785/tcrt.2012.500247
- Ashmore-Harris C, and Fruhwirth GO. The clinical potential of gene editing as a tool to engineer cell-based therapeutics. *Clin Transl Med* (2020) 9(1):1– 22. doi: 10.1186/s40169-020-0268-z
- Khan FA, Pandupuspitasari NS, Chun-Jie H, Ao Z, Jamal M, Zohaib A, et al. CRISPR/Cas9 therapeutics: A cure for cancer and other genetic diseases. Oncotarget (2016) 7:52541–52. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9646
- 55. Zhao X, Liu L, Lang J, Cheng K, Wang Y, Li X, et al. A CRISPR-Cas13a system for efficient and specific therapeutic targeting of mutant KRAS for pancreatic cancer treatment. *Cancer Lett* (2018) 431:171–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.canlet.2018.05.042
- 56. Kawamura N, Nimura K, Nagano H, Yamaguchi S, Nonomura N, and Kaneda Y. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene knockout of NANOG and NANOGP8 decreases the malignant potential of prostate cancer cells. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(26):22361–74. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4293
- Ye R, Pi M, Cox JV, Nishimoto SK, and Quarles LD. CRISPR/Cas9 targeting of GPRC6A suppresses prostate cancer tumorigenesis in a human xenograft model. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2017) 36(1). doi: 10.1186/s13046-017-0561-x
- Rahimi S, Roushandeh AM, Ebrahimi A, Samadani AA, Kuwahara Y, and Roudkenar MH. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knockout of Lcn2 effectively enhanced CDDP-induced apoptosis and reduced cell migration capacity of PC3 cells. *Life Sci* (2019) 231:116586. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2019.116586
- Li W, Cho M-Y, Lee S, Jang M, Park J, and Park R. CRISPR-Cas9 mediated CD133 knockout inhibits colon cancer invasion through reduced epithelialmesenchymal transition. *PLoS One* (2019) 14(8). doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0220860
- Domenici G, Aurrekoetxea-Rodríguez I, Simões BM, Rábano M, Lee SY, Millán JS, et al. A Sox2–Sox9 signalling axis maintains human breast luminal progenitor and breast cancer stem cells. *Oncogene* (2019) 38(17):3151–69. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0656-7
- Hannafon BN, Cai A, Calloway CL, Xu YF, Zhang R, Fung KM, et al. MiR-23b and miR-27b are oncogenic microRNAs in breast cancer: Evidence from a CRISPR/Cas9 deletion study. *BMC Cancer* (2019) 19(1):642. doi: 10.1186/ s12885-019-5839-2
- Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Betge J, Ebert MP, and Boutros M. CRISPR/Cas9 for cancer research and therapy. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2019) 55:106–19. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.04.001
- Karjoo Z, Chen X, and Hatefi A. Progress and problems with the use of suicide genes for targeted cancer therapy. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* (2016) 99:113– 28. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2015.05.009

- Düzgüneş N. Suicide gene therapy. Adv Exp Med Biol (2018) 465:411–22. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-27841-9\_5558-2
- Kamimura K, Yokoo T, Abe H, and Terai S. Gene therapy for liver cancers: Current status from basic to clinics. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11(12):1865. doi: 10.3390/cancers11121865
- Navarro SA, Carrillo E, Griñán-Lisón C, Martín A, Perán M, Marchal JA, et al. Cancer suicide gene therapy: a patent review. *Expert Opin Ther Pat* (2016) 26(9):1095–104. doi: 10.1080/13543776.2016.1211640
- Rossignoli F, Grisendi G, Spano C, Golinelli G, Recchia A, Rovesti G, et al. Inducible Caspase9-mediated suicide gene for MSC-based cancer gene therapy. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2019) 26(1–2):11–6. doi: 10.1038/s41417-018-0034-1
- Shafiee F, Aucoin MG, and Jahanian-Najafabadi A. Targeted Diphtheria Toxin-Based Therapy: A Review Article. *Front Microbiol* (2019) 10:2340 (October). doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02340
- 69. Higashi K, Hazama S, Araki A, Yoshimura K, Iizuka N, Yoshino S, et al. A novel cancer vaccine strategy with combined IL-18 and HSV-TK gene therapy driven by the hTERT promoter in a murine colorectal cancer model. *Int J Oncol* (2014) 45(4):1412–20. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2014.2557
- Kuo WY, Hwu L, Wu CY, Lee JS, Chang CW, and Liu RS. STAT3/NF-κBregulated lentiviral TK/GCV suicide gene therapy for cisplatin-resistant triple-negative breast cancer. *Theranostics* (2017) 7(3):647–63. doi: 10.7150/ thno.16827
- Yang G, Meng X, Sun L, Hu N, Jiang S, Sheng Y, et al. Antitumor effects of a dual cancer-specific oncolytic adenovirus on colorectal cancer in vitro and in vivo. *Exp Ther Med* (2015) 9(2):327–34. doi: 10.3892/etm.2014.2086
- Zhou X, and Brenner MK. Improving the safety of T-Cell therapies using an inducible caspase-9 gene. *Exp Hematol* (2016) 44(11):1013–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.exphem.2016.07.011
- Mohseni-Dargah M, Akbari-Birgani S, Madadi Z, Saghatchi F, and Kaboudin B. Carbon nanotube-delivered iC9 suicide gene therapy for killing breast cancer cells in vitro. *Nanomedicine* (2019) 14(8):1033–47. doi: 10.2217/nnm-2018-0342
- 74. Hoyos V, Del Bufalo F, Yagyu S, Ando M, Dotti G, Suzuki M, et al. Mesenchymal Stromal Cells for Linked Delivery of Oncolytic and Apoptotic Adenoviruses to Non-small-cell Lung Cancers. *Mol Ther* (2015) 23(9):1497–506. doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.110
- Patil S, Gao YG, Lin X, Li Y, Dang K, Tian Y, et al. The development of functional non-viral vectors for gene delivery. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(21):1– 23. doi: 10.3390/ijms20215491
- 76. Dhungel B, Jayachandran A, Layton CJ, and Steel JC. Seek and destroy: targeted adeno-associated viruses for gene delivery to hepatocellular carcinoma. *Drug Deliv* (2017) 24(1):289–99. doi: 10.1080/ 10717544.2016.1247926
- 77. Hao S, Du X, Song Y, Ren M, Yang Q, Wang A, et al. Targeted gene therapy of the HSV-TK/hIL-12 fusion gene controlled by the hSLPI gene promoter of human non-small cell lung cancer in vitro. *Oncol Lett* (2018) 15(5):6503– 12. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.8148
- Dehshahri A, Sadeghpour H, Mohazzabieh E, Saatchi Avval S, and Mohammadinejad R. Targeted double domain nanoplex based on galactosylated polyethylenimine enhanced the delivery of IL -12 plasmid. *Biotechnol Prog* (2020) 36:1–11. doi: 10.1002/btpr.3002
- 79. Mohammadinejad R, Dehshahri A, and Madamsetty VS. In vivo gene delivery mediated by non-viral vectors for cancer therapy. J Control Release J (2020) 325:249–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.06.038R
- Zhang P, Tan J, Yang DB, Luo ZC, Luo S, Chen P, et al. Gene therapy using the human telomerase catalytic subunit gene promoter enables targeting of the therapeutic effects of vesicular stomatitis virus matrix protein against human lung adenocarcinoma. *Exp Ther Med* (2012) 4(5):859–64. doi: 10.3892/etm.2012.679
- Alekseenko IV, Pleshkan VV, Sass AV, Filyukova OB, Snezhkov EV, and Sverdlov ED. A Universal Tumor-Specific Promoter for Cancer Gene Therapy. *Dokl Biochem Biophys* (2018) 480(1):158–61. doi: 10.1134/ S1607672918030092
- Chen C, Yue D, Lei L, Wang H, Lu J, Zhou Y, et al. Promoter-Operating Targeted Expression of Gene Therapy in Cancer: Current Stage and Prospect. *Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids* (2018) 11(June):508–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.omtn.2018.04.003

- Wu C, Lin J, Hong M, Choudhury Y, Balani P, Leung D, et al. Combinatorial control of suicide gene expression by tissue-specific promoter and microrna regulation for cancer therapy. *Mol Ther* (2009) 17(12):2058–66. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.225
- 84. Chao CN, Lin MC, Fang CY, Chen PL, Chang D, Shen CH, et al. Gene therapy for human lung adenocarcinoma using a suicide gene driven by a lung-specific promoter delivered by JC virus-like particles. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(6):1–12. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157865
- Robson T, and Hirst DG. Transcriptional targeting in cancer gene therapy. J BioMed Biotechnol (2003) 2003(2):110–37. doi: 10.1155/ S1110724303209074
- Dhungel B, Andrzejewski S, Jayachandran A, Shrestha R, Ramlogan-Steel CA, Layton CJ, et al. Evaluation of the Glypican 3 promoter for transcriptional targeting of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gene Ther* (2018) 25 (2):115–28. doi: 10.1038/s41434-018-0002-2
- Kim KII, Chung HK, Park JH, Lee YJ, and Kang JH. Alpha-fetoproteintargeted reporter gene expression imaging in hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol* (2016) 22(27):6127–34. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i27.6127
- 88. Jiang H, Guo S, Xiao D, Bian X, Wang J, Wang Y, et al. Arginine deiminase expressed in vivo, driven by human telomerase reverse transcriptase promoter, displays high hepatoma targeting and oncolytic efficiency. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(23):37694–704. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17032
- Jafri MA, Ansari SA, Alqahtani MH, and Shay JW. Roles of telomeres and telomerase in cancer, and advances in telomerase-targeted therapies. *Genome Med* (2016) 8(1):69. doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0324-x
- Patel PL, Suram A, Mirani N, Bischof O, and Herbig U. Derepression of hTERT gene expression promotes escape from oncogene-induced cellular senescence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(34):E5024–33. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1602379113
- Wang ZX, Bian HB, Yang JS, De W, and Ji XH. Adenovirus-mediated suicide gene therapy under the control of Cox-2 promoter for colorectal cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2009) 8:1480–8. doi: 10.4161/cbt.8.15.8940
- 92. Habashy HO, Powe DG, Staka CM, Rakha EA, Ball G, Green AR, et al. Transferrin receptor (CD71) is a marker of poor prognosis in breast cancer and can predict response to tamoxifen. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2010) 119 (2):283–93. doi: 10.1007/s10549-009-0345-x
- Naoum GE, Zhu ZB, Buchsbaum DJ, Curiel DT, and Arafat WO. Survivin a radiogenetic promoter for glioblastoma viral gene therapy independently from CArG motifs. *Clin Transl Med* (2017) 6(1):11. doi: 10.1186/s40169-017-0140-y
- Papadakis E, Nicklin S, Baker A, and White S. Promoters and Control Elements: Designing Expression Cassettes for Gene Therapy. *Curr Gene Ther* (2005) 4(1):89–113. doi: 10.2174/1566523044578077
- Ginn SL, Amaya AK, Alexander IE, Edelstein M, and Abedi MR. Gene therapy clinical trials worldwide to 2017: An update. J Gene Med (2018) 20 (5):1–16. doi: 10.1002/jgm.3015
- 96. Altanerova U, Jakubechova J, Benejova K, Priscakova P, Pesta M, Pitule P, et al. Prodrug suicide gene therapy for cancer targeted intracellular by mesenchymal stem cell exosomes. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 144(4):897–908. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31792
- Han J, Hwang HS, and Na K. TRAIL-secreting human mesenchymal stem cells engineered by a non-viral vector and photochemical internalization for pancreatic cancer gene therapy. *Biomaterials* (2018) 182:259–68. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.08.024
- 98. Yan L-J, Guo X-H, Wang W-P, Hu Y-R, Duan S-F, Liu Y, et al. Gene Therapy and Photothermal Therapy of Layer-by-Layer Assembled AuNCs /PEI/miRNA/ HA Nanocomplexes. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* (2018) 19 (4):330–7. doi: 10.2174/1568009618666181016144855
- Osman G, Rodriguez J, Chan SY, Chisholm J, Duncan G, Kim N, et al. PEGylated enhanced cell penetrating peptide nanoparticles for lung gene therapy. J Control Release (2019) 285:35–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.07.001.PEGylated
- 100. Zhang B, Yueying Z, and Yu D. Lung cancer gene therapy: Transferrin and hyaluronic acid dual ligand-decorated novel lipid carriers for targeted gene delivery. Oncol Rep (2017) 37(2):937–44. doi: 10.3892/or.2016.5298
- 101. Dos Santos Rodrigues B, Lakkadwala S, Kanekiyo T, and Singh J. Development and screening of brain-targeted lipid-based nanoparticles with enhanced cell penetration and gene delivery properties. *Int J Nanomed* (2019) 14:6497–517. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S215941

- Rahme K, Guo J, and Holmes JD. Bioconjugated gold nanoparticles enhance siRNA delivery in prostate cancer cells. *Methods Mol Biol* (2019) 1974:291– 301. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9220-1\_21
- 103. Park JH, Kim KI, Lee KC, Lee YJ, Lee TS, Chung WS, et al. Assessment of αfetoprotein targeted HSV1-tk expression in hepatocellular carcinoma with in vivo imaging. *Cancer Biother Radiopharm* (2015) 30(1):8–15. doi: 10.1089/ cbr.2014.1716
- 104. He Y, Lu H, and Zhang L. Serum AFP levels in patients suffering from 47 different types of cancers and noncancer diseases. *Prog Mol Biol Trans Sci* (2019) 162:199–212. doi: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2019.01.001
- 105. Willhauck MJ, Sharif Samani BR, Klutz K, Cengic N, Wolf I, Mohr L, et al. α-Fetoprotein promoter-targeted sodium iodide symporter gene therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gene Ther* (2008) 15(3):214–23. doi: 10.1038/ sj.gt.3303057
- 106. Ma XJ, Huang R, and Kuang AR. AFP promoter enhancer increased specific expression of the human sodium iodide symporter (hNIS) for targeted radioiodine therapy of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Invest* (2009) 27 (6):673–81. doi: 10.1080/07357900802620885
- 107. Kim KII, Lee YJ, Lee TS, Song I, Cheon GJ, Lim SM, et al. In Vitro Radionuclide Therapy and In Vivo Scintigraphic Imaging of Alpha-Fetoprotein-Producing Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Targeted Sodium Iodide Symporter Gene Expression. Nucl Med Mol Imaging (2010) (2013) 47(1):1–8. doi: 10.1007/s13139-012-0166-4
- 108. Peng YF, Shi YH, Ding ZB, Zhou J, Qiu SJ, Hui B, et al. Alpha-Fetoprotein Promoter-Driven Cre/LoxP-Switched RNA Interference for Hepatocellular Carcinoma Tissue-Specific Target Therapy. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(2). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.005307
- 109. Hu Bg, Liu Lp, Chen GG, Ye CG, Leung KKC, Ho RLK, et al. Therapeutic efficacy of improved  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein promoter-mediated tBid delivered by folate-PEI600-cyclodextrin nanopolymer vector in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Exp Cell Res* (2014) 324(2):183–91. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.04.005
- 110. Sato Y, Tanaka K, Lee G, Kanegae Y, Sakai Y, Kaneko S, et al. Enhanced and specific gene expression via tissue-specific production of Cre recombinase using adenovirus vector. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1998) 244(2):455– 62. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1997.8087
- 111. Takikawa H, Mafune KI, Hamada H, Nettelbeck DM, Müller R, Makuuchi M, et al. An advanced strategy of enhanced specific gene expression for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int J Oncol* (2003) 22(5):1051–6. doi: 10.3892/ijo.22.5.1051
- 112. Kanegae Y, Terashima M, Kondo S, Fukuda H, Maekawa A, Pei Z, et al. High-level expression by tissue/cancer-specific promoter with strict specificity using a single-adenoviral vector. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2011) 39 (2):2–5. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq966
- 113. Ni Y, Schwaneberg U, and Sun ZH. Arginine deiminase, a potential anti-tumor drug. *Cancer Lett* (2008) 261(1):1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2007.11.038
- 114. Attallah AM, El-Far M, Malak CAA, Omran MM, Shiha GE, Farid K, et al. HCC-DETECT: a combination of nuclear, cytoplasmic, and oncofetal proteins as biomarkers for hepatocellular carcinoma. *Tumor Biol* (2015) 36 (10):7667–74. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-3501-4
- Haruyama Y, and Kataoka H. Glypican-3 is a prognostic factor and an immunotherapeutic target in hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol (2016) 22(1):275–83. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i1.275
- 116. Andisheh-Tadbir A, Ashraf MJ, Gudarzi A, and Zare R. Evaluation of Glypican-3 expression in benign and malignant salivary gland tumors. J Oral Biol Craniofacial Res (2019) 9(1):63–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jobcr.2018.09.002
- 117. del Pilar Camacho-Leal M, Sciortino M, and Cabodi S. "ErbB2 Receptor in Breast Cancer: Implications in Cancer Cell Migration, Invasion and Resistance to Targeted Therapy". In: *Breast Cancer - From Biology to Medicine*. London, United kingdom: InTech (2017). doi: 10.5772/66902
- 118. Moazzezy N, Ebrahimi F, Sisakht MM, Yahyazadeh H, Bouzari S, and Oloomi M. Relationship between erb-B2 mRNA expression in blood and tissue of invasive ductal carcinoma breast cancer patients and clinicopathological characteristics of the tumors. *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev* (2016) 17(1):249–54. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2016.17.1.249
- 119. Maeda T, O-Wang J, Matsubara H, Asano T, Ochiai T, Sakiyama S, et al. A minimum c-erbB-2 promoter-mediated expression of herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase gene confers selective cytotoxicity of human breast cancer cells to ganciclovir. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2001) 8(11):890–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.cgt.7700389

- 120. Delacroix L, Begon D, Chatel G, Jackers P, and Winkler R. Distal ERBB2 Promoter Fragment Displays Specific Transcriptional and Nuclear Binding Activities in ERBB2 Overexpressing Breast Cancer Cells. DNA Cell Biol (2005) 24(9):582–94. doi: 10.1089/dna.2005.24.582
- 121. Jing X, Liang H, Hao C, Yang X, and Cui X. Overexpression of MUC1 predicts poor prognosis in patients with breast cancer. Oncol Rep (2019) 41 (2):801–10. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6887
- 122. Woo SLC. Adenoviral-mediated suicide gene therapy for hepatic metastases of breast cancer. *Cancer Gene Ther* (1996) 3(5):339–44.
- 123. Tuohy VK, Jaini R, Johnson JM, Loya MG, Wilk D, Downs-Kelly E, et al. Targeted vaccination against human  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin for immunotherapy and primary immunoprevention of triple negative breast cancer. *Cancers (Basel)* (2016) 8(6):56. doi: 10.3390/cancers8060056
- 124. Li X, Zhang J, Gao H, Vieth E, Bae KH, Zhang YP, et al. Transcriptional targeting modalities in breast cancer gene therapy using adenovirus vectors controlled by α-lactalbumin promoter. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2005) 4(12):1850– 9. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0167
- 125. Puglisi F, Barbone F, Damante G, Bruckbauer M, Di Lauro V, Beltrami CA, et al. Prognostic value of thyroid transcription factor-1 in primary, resected, non-small cell lung carcinoma. *Mod Pathol* (1999) 12(3):318–24.
- 126. Lei L, Chen C, Zhao J, Wang HR, Guo M, Zhou Y, et al. Targeted Expression of miR-7 Operated by TTF-1 Promoter Inhibited the Growth of Human Lung Cancer through the NDUFA4 Pathway. *Mol Ther - Nucleic Acids* (2017) 6(March):183–97. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2016.12.005
- 127. Zhao J, Tao Y, Zhou Y, Qin N, Chen C, Tian D, et al. MicroRNA-7: A promising new target in cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell Int* (2015) 15(1):1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12935-015-0259-0
- 128. Xu L, Wen Z, Zhou Y, Liu Z, Li Q, Fei G, et al. MicroRNA-7-regulated TLR9 signaling-enhanced growth and metastatic potential of human lung cancer cells by altering the phosphoinositide-3-kinase, regulatory subunit 3/Akt pathway. *Mol Biol Cell* (2013) 24(1):42–55. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E12-07-0519
- 129. Curvelo JADR, Barreto ALS, Portela MB, Alviano DS, Holandino C, Souto-Padrón T, et al. Effect of the secretory leucocyte proteinase inhibitor (SLPI) on Candida albicans biological processes: A therapeutic alternative? Arch Oral Biol (2014) 59(9):928–37. doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2014.05.007
- 130. Chen J, Yang B, Zhang S, Ling Y, Ye J, Jia Z, et al. Antitumor potential of SLPI promoter controlled recombinant caspase-3 expression in laryngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2012) 19(5):328–35. doi: 10.1038/cgt.2012.5
- 131. Chen P, Zhang S-D, Lin Y, Cao J, Chen J, and Yang B-B. The construction and characterization of a novel adenovirus vector of artificial microRNA targeting EGFR. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2019) 12(6):1968–74.
- 132. Geng B, Liang M-M, Ye X-B, and Zhao W-Y. Association of CA 15-3 and CEA with clinicopathological parameters in patients with metastatic breast cancer. *Mol Clin Oncol* (2015) 3(1):232–6. doi: 10.3892/mco.2014.419
- 133. Tang S, Zhou F, Sun Y, Wei L, Zhu S, Yang R, et al. CEA in breast ductal secretions as a promising biomarker for the diagnosis of breast cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer* (2016) 23(6):813–9. doi: 10.1007/s12282-016-0680-9
- 134. Qiu Y, Peng G-L, Liu Q-C, Li F-L, Zou X-S, and He J-X. Selective killing of lung cancer cells using carcinoembryonic antigen promoter and double suicide genes, thymidine kinase and cytosine deaminase (pCEA-TK/CD). *Cancer Lett* (2012) 316(1):31–8. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.10.015
- 135. Nikolaou S, Qiu S, Fiorentino F, Rasheed S, Tekkis P, and Kontovounisios C. Systematic review of blood diagnostic markers in colorectal cancer. *Techniques Coloproctol* (2018) 22:481–98. doi: 10.1007/s10151-018-1820-3
- 136. Das V, Kalita J, and Pal M. Predictive and prognostic biomarkers in colorectal cancer: A systematic review of recent advances and challenges. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2017) 87:8–19. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2016.12.064
- 137. Zhou M, Li M, Liang X, Zhang Y, Huang H, Feng Y, et al. The significance of serum S100A9 and TNC levels as biomarkers in colorectal cancer. *J Cancer* (2019) 10(22):5315–23. doi: 10.7150/jca.31267
- Rama AR, Aguilera A, Melguizo C, Caba O, and Prados J. Tissue Specific Promoters in Colorectal Cancer. *Dis Markers* (2015) 2015:390161. doi: 10.1155/2015/390161
- 139. Lech G, Słotwiński R, Słodkowski M, and Krasnodębski IW. Colorectal cancer tumour markers and biomarkers: Recent therapeutic advances. World J Gastroenterol (2016) 22(5):1745–55. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i5.1745

- 140. Kosumi K, Hamada T, Zhang S, Liu L, da Silva A, Koh H, et al. Prognostic association of PTGS2 (COX-2) over-expression according to BRAF mutation status in colorectal cancer: Results from two prospective cohorts and CALGB 89803 (Alliance) trial. *Eur J Cancer* (2019) 111:82–93. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejca.2019.01.022
- 141. Chang J, Tang N, Fang Q, Zhu K, Liu L, Xiong X, et al. Inhibition of COX-2 and 5-LOX regulates the progression of colorectal cancer by promoting PTEN and suppressing PI3K/AKT pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2019) 517(1):1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.01.061
- 142. Kaliberova LN, Kusmartsev SA, Krendelchtchikova V, Stockard CR, Grizzle WE, Buchsbaum DJ, et al. Experimental cancer therapy using restoration of NAD+-linked 15-hydroxyprostaglandin dehydrogenase expression. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2009) 8(11):3130–9. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0270
- 143. Lopes N, Bergsland C, Bruun J, Bjørnslett M, Vieira AF, Mesquita P, et al. A panel of intestinal differentiation markers (CDX2, GPA33, and LI-cadherin) identifies gastric cancer patients with favourable prognosis. *Gastric Cancer* (2020) 23:811–23. doi: 10.1007/s10120-020-01064-6
- 144. Cafferata EG, Macció DR, Lopez MV, Viale DL, Carbone C, Mazzolini G, et al. A novel A33 promoter-based conditionally replicative adenovirus suppresses tumor growth and eradicates hepatic metastases in human colon cancer models. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(9):3037–49. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-08-1161
- 145. Hannen R, and Bartsch JW. Essential roles of telomerase reverse transcriptase hTERT in cancer stemness and metastasis. *FEBS Lett* (2018) 592:2023–31. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.13084
- 146. Torén W, Ansari D, and Andersson R. Immunohistochemical investigation of prognostic biomarkers in resected colorectal liver metastases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Cell Int* (2018) 18:217. doi: 10.1186/ s12935-018-0715-8
- 147. Di Mauro C, Pesapane A, Formisano L, Rosa R, D'Amato V, Ciciola P, et al. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR) expression enhances invasion and metastasis in RAS mutated tumors. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10062-1
- 148. Mahmood N, Mihalcioiu C, and Rabbani SA. Multifaceted role of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and its receptor (uPAR): Diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic applications. *Front Oncol* (2018) 8:24. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00024
- 149. Schewe DM, Biller T, Maurer G, Asangani IA, Leupold JH, Lengyel ER, et al. Combination analysis of activator protein-1 family members, Sp1 and an activator protein-2 $\alpha$ -related factor binding to different regions of the urokinase receptor gene in resected colorectal cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2005) 11(24):8538–48. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0786
- 150. Teimoori-Toolabi L, Azadmanesh K, and Zeinali S. Selective Suicide Gene Therapy of Colon Cancer Cell Lines Exploiting Fibroblast Growth Factor 18 Promoter. *Cancer Biother Radiopharm* (2010) 25(1):105–16. doi: 10.1089/ cbr.2009.0643
- 151. Chen T, Weiyue G, Tian H, Haijun W, Chu S, Ma J, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 18 promotes proliferation and migration of H460 cells via the ERK and p38 signaling pathways. *Oncol Rep* (2017) 37(2):1235–42. doi: 10.3892/ or.2016.5301
- 152. Sonvilla G, Allerstorfer S, Stättner S, Karner J, Klimpfinger M, Fischer H, et al. FGF18 in colorectal tumour cells: Autocrine and paracrine effects. *Carcinogenesis* (2008) 29(1):15–24. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgm202
- 153. Prakash Lalkota B, and Bhanu Prakash L. KDR gene as a Predictive Biomarker of Response to Regorafenib in Patients with Metastatic Colorectal Cancer (mCRC). J Pharmacogenomics Pharmacoproteomics (2017) 8(3):1000173. doi: 10.4172/2153-0645.1000173
- 154. Li Z, Ding Q, Li Y, Miller SA, Abbruzzese JL, and Hung M-C. Suppression of pancreatic tumor progression by systemic delivery of a pancreatic-cancerspecific promoter driven Bik mutant. *Cancer Lett* (2006) 236(1):58–63. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2005.05.001
- 155. Xie X, Xia W, Li Z, Kuo H-P, Liu Y, Li Z, et al. Targeted Expression of BikDD Eradicates Pancreatic Tumors in Noninvasive Imaging Models. *Cancer Cell* (2007) 12(1):52–65. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2007.05.009
- 156. Torres M P, Chakraborty S, Souchek J, and K. Batra S. Mucin-based Targeted Pancreatic Cancer Therapy. *Curr Pharm Des* (2012) 18(17):2472–81. doi: 10.2174/13816128112092472

- 157. Tholey RM, Lal S, Jimbo M, Burkhart RA, Blanco FF, Cozzitorto JA, et al. MUC1 promoter-driven DTA as a targeted therapeutic strategy against pancreatic cancer. *Mol Cancer Res* (2015) 13(3):439–48. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-14-0199
- 158. Cao Y, Blohm D, Ghadimi BM, Stosiek P, Xing PX, and Karsten U. Mucins (MUC1 and MUC3) of gastrointestinal and breast epithelia reveal different and heterogeneous tumor-associated aberrations in glycosylation. J Histochem Cytochem (1997) 45(11):1547–57. doi: 10.1177/002215549704501111
- 159. Nemunaitis J, Tong AW, Nemunaitis M, Senzer N, Phadke AP, Bedell C, et al. A phase i study of telomerase-specific replication competent oncolytic adenovirus (telomelysin) for various solid tumors. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18 (2):429–34. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.262
- 160. Li Y, Shen Y, Zhao R, Samudio I, Jia W, Bai X, et al. Oncolytic virotherapy in hepato-bilio-pancreatic cancer: The key to breaking the log jam? *Cancer Med* (2020) 9(9):2943–59. doi: 10.1002/cam4.2949
- 161. Yu J, Liu S-H, Sanchez R, Nemunaitis J, Rozengurt E, and Brunicardi FC. PDX1 associated therapy in translational medicine. *Ann Transl Med* (2016) 4 (11):214–4. doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.03.51
- 162. Azatian A, Yu H, Dai W, Schneiders FI, Botelho NK, and Lord RVN. Effectiveness of hsv-tk suicide gene therapy driven by the grp78 stressinducible promoter in esophagogastric junction and gastric adenocarcinomas. *J Gastrointest Surg* (2009) 13(6):1044–51. doi: 10.1007/s11605-009-0839-1
- 163. Ni M, Zhang Y, and Lee AS. Beyond the endoplasmic reticulum: Atypical GRP78 in cell viability, signalling and therapeutic targeting. *Biochem J* (2011) 434(2):181–8. doi: 10.1042/BJ20101569
- 164. Liang L, Bi W, Chen W, Lin Y, and Tian Y. Combination of MPPa-PDT and HSV1-TK/GCV gene therapy on prostate cancer. *Lasers Med Sci* (2018) 33 (2):227–32. doi: 10.1007/s10103-017-2331-6
- 165. Chen N, Ye XC, Chu K, Navone NM, Sage EH, Yu-Lee LY, et al. A secreted isoform of ErbB3 promotes osteonectin expression in bone and enhances the invasiveness of prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2007) 67(14):6544–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1330
- 166. Sung SY, Chang JL, Chen KC, Der YS, YR L, YH S, et al. Co-targeting prostate cancer epithelium and bone stroma by human osteonectinpromoter-mediated suicide gene therapy effectively inhibits androgenindependent prostate cancer growth. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(4):1–15. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153350
- 167. Cai Z, Lv H, Cao W, Zhou C, Liu Q, Li H, et al. Targeting strategies of adenovirus-mediated gene therapy and virotherapy for prostate cancer (Review). Mol Med Rep (2017) 16(5):6443–58. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.7487
- Tamura RE, de Luna IV, Lana MG, and Strauss BE. Improving adenoviral vectors and strategies for prostate cancer gene therapy. *Clinics* (2018) 73:1–7. doi: 10.6061/clinics/2018/e476s
- 169. Lin MC, Wang M, Chou MC, Chao CN, Fang CY, Chen PL, et al. Gene therapy for castration-resistant prostate cancer cells using JC polyomaviruslike particles packaged with a PSA promoter driven-suicide gene. *Cancer Gene Ther* (2019) 26(7–8):208–15. doi: 10.1038/s41417-019-0083-0
- 170. Mohammadi V, Behzad Behbahani A, Rafiee GR, Hosseini SY, Alizadeh Zarei M, Okhovat MA, et al. The effects of specific expression of apoptin under the control of PSES and PSA promoter on cell death and apoptosis of LNCaP cells. *Iran J Basic Med Sci* (2017) 20(12):1354–9. doi: 10.22038/ijbms.2017.9598
- 171. Redd Bowman KE, Lu P, Vander Mause ER, and Lim CS. Advances in delivery vectors for gene therapy in liver cancer. *Ther Deliv* (2019) 11 (1):833–50. doi: 10.4155/tde-2019-0076
- 172. Li YF, Yuan YY, Zhang YM, Zhao N, Zhang Q, Meng FX, et al. HSVtk/GCV system on hepatoma carcinoma cells: Construction of the plasmid pcDNA3.1-pAFP-TK and targeted killing effect. *Mol Med Rep* (2017) 16 (1):764–72. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.6657
- 173. Carleton NM, Zhu G, Gorbounov M, Miller MC, Pienta KJ, Resar LMS, et al. PBOV1 as a potential biomarker for more advanced prostate cancer based on protein and digital histomorphometric analysis. *Physiol Behav* (2018) 176 (1):139–48. doi: 10.1002/pros.23499.PBOV1
- 174. Xue C, Zhong Z, Ye S, Wang Y, and Ye Q. Association between the overexpression of PBOV1 and the prognosis of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncol Lett (2018) 16(3):3401–7. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.9013
- 175. Yarden Y. The EGFR family and its ligands in human cancer: Signalling mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. *Eur J Cancer* (2001) 37(SUPPL. 4):3–8. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(01)00230-1

- 176. Guo Y, Wu Z, Shen S, Guo R, Wang J, Wang W, et al. Nanomedicines reveal how PBOV1 promotes hepatocellular carcinoma for effective gene therapy. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):3430. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05764-7
- 177. Mulens-Arias V, Rojas JM, Sanz-Ortega L, Portilla Y, Pérez-Yagüe S, and Barber DF. Polyethylenimine-coated superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles impair in vitro and in vivo angiogenesis. *Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med* (2019) 21:102063. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2019.102063
- Gomes ANATP., Neves MG. PMS, and Cavaleiro JA. Cancer , Photodynamic Therapy and Porphyrin-Type Derivatives. Acad Bras Cienc (2018) 90:993– 1026. doi: 10.1590/0001-3765201820170811
- 179. Rangel N, Fortunati N, Osella-Abate S, Annaratone L, Isella C, Catalano MG, et al. FOXA1 and AR in invasive breast cancer: New findings on their coexpression and impact on prognosis in ER-positive patients. *BMC Cancer* (2018) 18(1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4624-y
- 180. Lin L, Fan Y, Gao F, Jin L, Li D, Sun W, et al. UTMD-promoted co-delivery of gemcitabine and miR-21 inhibitor by dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles for pancreatic cancer therapy. *Theranostics* (2018) 8 (7):1923–39. doi: 10.7150/thno.22834
- 181. Zhao R, Liang X, Zhao B, Chen M, Liu R, Sun S, et al. Ultrasound assisted gene and photodynamic synergistic therapy with multifunctional FOXA1-siRNA loaded porphyrin microbubbles for enhancing therapeutic efficacy for breast cancer. *Biomaterials* (2018) 173:58–70. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.04.054
- 182. Sun S, Xu Y, Fu P, Chen M, Sun S, Zhao R, et al. Ultrasound-targeted photodynamic and gene dual therapy for effectively inhibiting triple negative breast cancer by cationic porphyrin lipid microbubbles loaded with HIF1αsiRNA. *Nanoscale* (2018) 10(42):19945–56. doi: 10.1039/c8nr03074j
- 183. Xiong H, Du S, Zhang P, Jiang Z, Zhou J, and Yao J. Primary tumor and premetastatic niches co-targeting "peptides-lego" hybrid hydroxyapatite nanoparticles for metastatic breast cancer treatment. *Biomater Sci* (2018) 6 (10):2591–604. doi: 10.1039/c8bm00706c
- 184. Cheang TY, Lei YY, Zhang ZQ, Zhou HY, Ye RY, Lin Y, et al. Graphene oxide-hydroxyapatite nanocomposites effectively deliver HSV-TK suicide gene to inhibit human breast cancer growth. J Biomater Appl (2018) 33 (2):216–26. doi: 10.1177/0885328218788242
- 185. Li G, Kang W, Jin M, Zhang L, Zheng J, Jia K, et al. Synergism of wt-p53 and synthetic material in local nano-TAE gene therapy of hepatoma: Comparison of four systems and the possible mechanism. *BMC Cancer* (2019) 19(1):1–17. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-6162-7
- 186. Üner M, Yener G, and Ergüven M. Design of colloidal drug carriers of celecoxib for use in treatment of breast cancer and leukemia. *Mater Sci Eng C* (2019) 103(March):109874. doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2019.109874
- 187. Tortorella S, and Karagiannis TC. Transferrin receptor-mediated endocytosis: A useful target for cancer therapy. J Membr Biol (2014) 247 (4):291–307. doi: 10.1007/s00232-014-9637-0
- Kuipers EJ, Grady WM, Lieberman D, Seufferlein T, Sung JJ, Boelens PG, et al. Colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Dis Prim (2015) 1:15065. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2015.65
- 189. Wang Z, Wei Y, Fang G, Hong D, An L, Jiao T, et al. Colorectal cancer combination therapy using drug and gene co-delivered, targeted poly (ethylene glycol)-ε-poly(caprolactone) nanocarriers. *Drug Des Devel Ther* (2018) 12:3171–80. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S175614
- 190. Yue J, Luo Sz, Lu Mm, Shao D, Wang Z, and Dong Wf. A comparison of mesoporous silica nanoparticles and mesoporous organosilica nanoparticles as drug vehicles for cancer therapy. *Chem Biol Drug Des* (2018) 92(2):1435–44. doi: 10.1111/cbdd.13309
- 191. Cho Y, Lee YB, Lee JH, Lee DH, Cho EJ, Yu SJ, et al. Modified AS1411 Aptamer Suppresses Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Up-Regulating Galectin-14. PLoS One (2016) 11(8):1–14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0160822
- 192. Kalluri R. The biology and function of exosomes in cancer. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(4):1208–15. doi: 10.1172/JCI81135
- 193. Du L, Kim JJ, Shen J, Chen B, and Dai N. KRAS and TP53 mutations in inflammatory bowel diseaseassociated colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(13):22175–86. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14549
- 194. Kamerkar S, LeBleu VS, Sugimoto H, Yang S, Ruivo CF, Melo SA, et al. Exosomes Facilitate Therapeutic Targeting of Oncogenic Kras in Pancreatic Cancer. *Transl Cancer Res* (2017) 546(7659):S1406–8. doi: 10.1038/nature22341
- 195. Gilligan KE, and Dwyer RM. Engineering exosomes for cancer therapy. Int J Mol Sci (2017) 18(6):1122. doi: 10.3390/ijms18061122
- 196. Ishikawa K. Exosomes-Based Gene Therapy for MicroRNA Delivery Prabhu. Methods Mol Biol (2017) 1521:139–52. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-6588-5

- 197. Serakinci N, and Cagsin H. Programming hMSCs into potential genetic therapy in cancer. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr (2019) 29(4):343–50. doi: 10.1615/CritRevEukaryotGeneExpr.2019030483
- 198. Wong SHM, Kong WY, Fang CM, Ioh HS, Chuah LH, Abdullah S, et al. The TRAIL to cancer therapy: Hindrances and potential solutions. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2019) 143(December 2018):81–94. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2019.08.008
- Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, et al. Ethical and safety issues of stem cell-based therapy. *Int J Med Sci* (2018) 15(1):36–45. doi: 10.7150/ijms.21666
- 200. Naji A, Eitoku M, Favier B, Deschaseaux F, Rouas-Freiss N, and Suganuma N. Biological functions of mesenchymal stem cells and clinical implications. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2019) 76(17):3323–48. doi: 10.1007/s00018-019-03125-1
- 201. Nieddu V, Piredda R, Bexell D, Barton J, Anderson J, Sebire N, et al. Engineered human mesenchymal stem cells for neuroblastoma therapeutics. Oncol Rep (2019) 42(1):35–42. doi: 10.3892/or.2019.7152
- 202. Khanyile S, Masamba P, Oyinloye BE, Mbatha LS, and Kappo AP. Current biochemical applications and future prospects of chlorotoxin in cancer diagnostics and therapeutics. *Adv Pharm Bull* (2019) 9(4):510–20. doi: 10.15171/apb.2019.061
- 203. Mokhtarzadeh A, Parhiz H, Hashemi M, Ayatollahi S, Abnous K, and Ramezani M. Targeted Gene Delivery to MCF-7 Cells Using Peptide-Conjugated Polyethylenimine. AAPS PharmSciTech (2015) 16(5):1025–32. doi: 10.1208/s12249-014-0208-6
- 204. Tarokh Z, Naderi-Manesh H, and Nazari M. Towards prostate cancer gene therapy: Development of a chlorotoxin-targeted nanovector for toxic

(melittin) gene delivery. Eur J Pharm Sci (2017) 99:209-18. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2016.12.021

- 205. Jiang HL, Islam MA, Xing L, Firdous J, Cao W, He YJ, et al. Degradable Polyethylenimine-Based Gene Carriers for Cancer Therapy. *Top Curr Chem* (2017) 375(2):34. doi: 10.1007/s41061-017-0124-9
- 206. Jiang C, Chen J, Li Z, Wang Z, Zhang W, and Liu J. Recent advances in the development of polyethylenimine-based gene vectors for safe and efficient gene delivery. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv* (2019) 16(4):363–76. doi: 10.1080/ 17425247.2019.1604681
- 207. Hung WH, Zheng JH, Lee KC, and Cho EC. Doxorubicin conjugated AuNP/ biopolymer composites facilitate cell cycle regulation and exhibit superior tumor suppression potential in KRAS mutant colorectal cancer. *J Biotechnol* (2019) 306:149–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2019.09.015

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Montaño-Samaniego, Bravo-Estupiñan, Méndez-Guerrero, Alarcón-Hernández and Ibáñez-Hernández. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Repurposing of Drug Candidates** for Treatment of Skin Cancer

Hernán Cortés<sup>1\*</sup>, Octavio D. Reyes-Hernández<sup>2</sup>, Sergio Alcalá-Alcalá<sup>3</sup>, Sergio A. Bernal-Chávez<sup>4</sup>, Isaac H. Caballero-Florán<sup>4</sup>, Maykel González-Torres<sup>5</sup>, Javad Sharifi-Rad<sup>6,7</sup>, Manuel González-Del Carmen<sup>8</sup>, Gabriela Figueroa-González<sup>9</sup> and Gerardo Leyva-Gómez<sup>4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratorio de Medicina Genómica, Departamento de Genómica, Instituto Nacional de Rehabilitación Luis Guillermo Ibarra Ibarra, Ciudad de México, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Laboratorio de Biología Molecular del Cáncer, UMIEZ, Facultad de Estudios Superiores Zaragoza, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Ciudad de México, Mexico, <sup>3</sup> Facultad de Farmacia, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Morelos, Cuernavaca, Morelos, Mexico, <sup>4</sup> Departamento de Farmacia, Facultad de Química, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Ciudad de México, Mexico, <sup>5</sup> CONACyT-Laboratorio de Biotecnología, Instituto Nacional de Rehabilitación Luis Guillermo Ibarra Ibarra, Ciudad de México, Mexico, <sup>6</sup> Phytochemistry Research Center, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>7</sup> Facultad de Medicina, Universidad del Azuay, Cuenca, Ecuador, <sup>8</sup> Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Veracruzana, Ciudad Mendoza, Veracruz, Mexico, <sup>9</sup> Laboratorio de Farmacogenética, UMIEZ, Facultad de Estudios Superiores Zaragoza, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Ciudad de México, Mexico

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Alma D. Campos-Parra, National Institute of Cancerology (INCAN), Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Ernesto Soto-Reyes, Autonomous Metropolitan University, Mexico Rodrigo González-Barrios, National Institute of Cancerology (INCAN), Mexico

#### \*Correspondence:

Hernán Cortés hcortes@inr.gob.mx Gerardo Leyva-Gómez leyva@quimica.unam.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 13 September 2020 Accepted: 27 November 2020 Published: 08 January 2021

#### Citation:

Cortés H, Reyes-Hernández OD, Alcalá-Alcalá S, Bernal-Chávez SA, Caballero-Florán IH, González-Torres M, Sharifi-Rad J, González-Del Carmen M, Figueroa-González G and Leyva-Gómez G (2021) Repurposing of Drug Candidates for Treatment of Skin Cancer. Front. Oncol. 10:605714. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.605714 Skin cancers are highly prevalent malignancies that affect millions of people worldwide. These include melanomas and nonmelanoma skin cancers. Melanomas are among the most dangerous cancers, while nonmelanoma skin cancers generally exhibit a more benign clinical pattern; however, they may sometimes be aggressive and metastatic. Melanomas typically appear in body regions exposed to the sun, although they may also appear in areas that do not usually get sun exposure. Thus, their development is multifactorial, comprising endogenous and exogenous risk factors. The management of skin cancer depends on the type; it is usually based on surgery, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and targeted therapy. In this respect, oncological treatments have demonstrated some progress in the last years; however, current therapies still present various disadvantages such as little cell specificity, recurrent relapses, high toxicity, and increased costs. Furthermore, the pursuit of novel medications is expensive, and the authorization for their clinical utilization may take 10-15 years. Thus, repositioning of drugs previously approved and utilized for other diseases has emerged as an excellent alternative. In this mini-review, we aimed to provide an updated overview of drugs' repurposing to treat skin cancer and discuss future perspectives.

Keywords: skin cancer, drug repurposing, melanoma, nanocarriers, drug delivery systems

### INTRODUCTION

Skin cancers are highly prevalent malignancies worldwide, ranked at the twentieth place of incidence (1, 2). There were an estimated 100,000 new melanoma cases in the United States during 2020, with the approximate death of 6,850 people. The prevalence is higher in men, and the incidence varies according to the geographic region and by country (3). Skin cancers include melanomas and nonmelanoma skin cancers (NMSC). Melanomas are tumors that develop in

91

melanocytes, and these may appear in diverse body regions. Specialists consider melanoma one of the most dangerous cancers (4). Patients in advanced stages commonly have a discouraging prognosis, and the five-year survival in those patients is <5%. Remarkably, patients without treatment exhibit a median survival between six and nine months (5). The main types of NMSC include basal cell carcinoma (BCC) and squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). NMSCs have a higher occurrence than melanoma, but they are less lethal, especially if diagnosed early (6). BBCs are skin tumors produced by the abnormal growth of basal cells. It is the most frequent type of skin cancer (7), and they are curable in many cases when detected timely. On the other hand, SCC is the second most frequent skin cancer type; it develops in the squamous cells located in the epidermis (8). SCC generally exhibits a benign clinical pattern; notwithstanding, it may sometimes be aggressive and metastatic (9).

Skin cancers develop more frequently in body regions exposed to the sun; however, they may also appear in areas that do not usually get sun exposure. Thus, their development is multifactorial, comprising endogenous (skin type and genetic factors) and exogenous (degree of sun exposure and sun protection conduct) risk factors (10). Among exogenous aspects, ultraviolet radiation (UVR) is the most notable risk factor. UVR can produce DNA damage, mutations, inflammatory responses, and oxidative stress, leading to skin cancer development (11). Among the UVR types, ultraviolet A (UVA) penetrates deeper into the skin, producing more considerable skin damage than the ultraviolet B (UVB). Nevertheless, UVB is mostly related to inflammatory responses and DNA damage as a critical tumor-promoting event (12).

Skin cancer management depends on the type; it is usually based on surgery, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and targeted therapy (7, 9, 13, 14). In this respect, oncological treatments have demonstrated some progress in the last years; however, current therapies still present various disadvantages such as little cell specificity, recurrent relapses, high toxicity, and increased costs (14). Furthermore, the pursuit of novel medications is expensive, and the authorization for their clinical utilization may take 10–15 years (15). Thus, repositioning drugs previously approved and utilized for other diseases has emerged as an excellent alternative (16). In this mini-review, we aimed to provide an updated overview of drugs' repurposing to treat skin cancer and discuss future perspectives.

## DRUG REPURPOSING FOR SKIN CANCER

Drug repurposing is the process of giving new applications for existing drugs; it may considerably diminish development costs (and times) to search for effective strategies to treat skin cancer (17). Repurposing drugs possess various advantages, including data availability about clinical tests, chemical composition, and possible toxicity, which can accelerate their application in clinical trials (18). Although various drugs have been proposed for their repurposing in skin cancer (**Table 1**), most of them have only been evaluated in preclinical studies, and extensive clinical trials are needed before their approval for skin cancer treatment. Nonetheless, these drugs represent a promising alternative because almost all are cheap and without significant adverse effects on therapeutic doses. Drugs that have been suggested for repositioning in skin cancer are discussed in the next sections in alphabetical order as an example of the most prominent proposals to date.

## Digoxin

Digoxin is a compound utilized to treat arrhythmia and heart failure symptoms. Its mechanism of action includes inhibition of the hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) (42), which contributes to angiogenesis, metastasis, and tumor resistance in many cancers (43). Concerning this, Eskiocak et al. (21) suggested a therapeutic effect of digoxin against melanoma. The authors reported that digoxin exhibited low cytotoxic activity in mice xenografted with metastatic melanomas derived from patients. However, the authors found a synergistic beneficial effect when simultaneously administered with a MEK inhibitor, extending experimental mice's survival. The possible mechanism of action included acidification of cytoplasm, rises in mitochondrial Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels, depletion of ATP, and mitochondrial function reduction. Likewise, the combination of digoxin and DMXAA (an anti-vascular agent) inhibited tumors' regrowth in mice harboring B16F10 melanoma tumors (44). The enhancement in the efficacy may be explained by the inhibition of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and stimulation of the immune function. Concerning human studies, a recent clinical trial explored the effects of parallel administration of digoxin and trametinib on BRAF wild-type metastatic melanoma patients (45). The results exposed a reasonable rate of control of disease in those patients for up ten months. Thus, this approach could be useful in metastatic melanoma patients refractory or intolerant of immunotherapy; nonetheless, additional clinical trials with a higher number of patients will be crucial.

## Doxycycline

Doxycycline is a broad-spectrum tetracycline antibiotic (46). Some studies reported that doxycycline might inhibit several matrix metalloproteinases that participate in diverse cancers' metastasis (47). Thus, it has been suggested that this drug could be repositioned as an anti-cancer treatment (48). An interesting study demonstrated that doxycycline inhibited the growth of melanoma cells (49). The anti-tumor effects might be mediated by various mechanisms, including inhibition of the NF-KB pathway, decrease of antiapoptotic proteins, cytochrome C release, and activation of caspase-8 (50). Likewise, doxycycline inhibited the adhesion and migration of a melanoma cell line, with subsequent apoptosis induction (51). This activity appeared to be mediated by inhibition of focal adhesion kinase, which participates in migration and cell adhesion regulation. Likewise, a very recent study showed that doxycycline diminished the viability and proliferation of a melanoma cell line (COLO829 cells) by decreasing intracellular levels of reduced thiols and impairing the homeostasis of the cells (22). Finally, a recently finished clinical trial found that the concomitant administration of doxycycline, temozolomide, and ipilimumab produced no

#### TABLE 1 | Drugs proposed for chemoprevention and treatment of skin cancer.

Drug	Other uses	Study model	Mechanism of action	Reference
Albendazole	Useful for giardiasis, trichuriasis, filariasis, neurocysticercosis, among other diseases	A375 and A2058 metastatic melanoma cells lines	Induction of DNA damage and cells arrest in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle, sensitizes them to radiation therapy	(19)
Desmopressin	Synthetic hormone commonly used for nocturia and enuresis	Mice xenografted with B16-F0 melanoma cells	Modulation of proteolysis and coagulation	(20)
Digoxin	Antiarrhythmic agent used in heart failure, and other heart disorders such as atrial fibrillation	Primary melanocytes (hMEL1) or melanoma cells derived from patients	Inhibits the ATP1A1 Na $\wp/K$ $\wp$ pump, which is highly expressed by melanoma	(21)
Doxycycline	Antibiotic used to treat infections such as skin infections and rosacea. It can also be used to prevent malaria	Human (A2058 and A375) and mouse (B16F10) melanoma cells	Inhibition of the MMP-2 and MMP-9 metalloproteinases activity, activation of apoptosis signal-regulated kinase 1, c-Jun N-terminal kinase, and caspases, which induces apoptosis	(22, 23)
Fenofibrate	Used with other medications to reduce fatty substances such as cholesterol and triglycerides	Human (SkMell88) and mouse (B16F10) melanoma cells	Anti-metastatic activity involving down-regulation of Akt phosphorylation	(24)
Flubendazole	Anthelmintic drug used in parasitic infestations	A375, BOWES, and RPMI-7951 cells	Anti-melanoma activity related to enhanced transcription of p53 and NF- $\kappa B,$ as well as phosphorylation of JNK	(25)
Haloprogin	Antifungal drug used to treat skin infections such as athlete's foot	Mouse B16F10 skin melanoma tumor model	In combination with RAPTA-T, shown to be a profitable candidate for its use as a melanoma growth inhibitor through cancer cell death induction	(26)
Itraconazole	Used to treat fungal infections as aspergillosis, blastomycosis, and coccidioidomycosis	SK-MEL-28 and A375 human melanoma cells	Inhibits the proliferation and colony formation through the Hh, Wnt, and PI3K/mTOR signaling pathways blockade	(27)
Leflunomide	Used in active moderate-to-severe rheumatoid arthritis and psoriatic arthritis	Human melanoma cell lines	A selective inhibitor of <i>de novo</i> pyrimidine synthesis, blocking the synthesis of DNA and RNA; reduces cell proliferation and causes cells to arrest in G1 of the cell cycle.	(28)
Lidocaine	Local anesthetic and antiarrhythmic	Human keratinocytes	It induces membrane permeability and excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS).	(29)
Mebendazole	Used to treat parasitic worm infestations as ascariasis, worm infections, and giardia, among others	Human melanoma cell lines	Bcl-2 phosphorylation in melanoma cells, avoiding its interaction with pro-apoptotic Bax, through apoptosis induction	(30)
Metformin	Commonly used to treatment of type 2 diabetes, also used in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome	Human melanoma cell lines	Induces cell cycle arrest in the G0-G1 phase, and it's responsible for autophagy and apoptosis induction	(31, 32)
Naproxen	Used to treat pain, menstrual cramps, inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, and fever	Mice irradiated with UVB	Reduction in the incidence of tumor lesions by naproxen may be due to its ability to increase TNF-a levels and decrease PGE2.	(33)
Niclosamide	Anti-helminthic drug, has been used to treat tapeworm infection	In vitro: human and mouse melanoma cell lines. In vivo: a mouse xenograft model of A375	Induces cell apoptosis <i>via</i> the mitochondrial-mediated apoptotic pathway, also inhibits tumor growth by decreasing the expression of p-STAT3, MMP-2, and MMP-9	(34)
Nicotinamide	Treatment and prevention of niacin deficiency and certain conditions related such as pellagra	cell line Human keratinocytes	Chemopreventive effects, replenishes cellular ATP after UV irradiation, and enhancement of DNA repair in UV-irradiated human skin	(35)
Pimozide	Decreasing the activity of a natural substance (dopamine) in the brain, Tourette syndrome patients	B16 cell-bearing mice	Antitumor activity <i>via</i> the regulation of proliferation, apoptosis, and migration	(36)
Piroxicam	Used to the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis, acute musculoskeletal disorders, and dysmenorrhea	Patients affected by Actinic keratoses	A non-selective NSAID* that inhibits the activity of COX-1 and COX-2, inducing apoptosis and inhibit recruitment and production of growth factors and other carcinogenetic mediators	(37, 38)
Propranolol	β-blocker commonly used for high blood pressure	Patients with melanoma	Inhibition of angiogenesis and migration of cancer cells	(39)
Rafoxanide	Anthelmictic used mainly for the treatment of fasciola hepatica	A375 and A431 cells and mice xenografted with those cells	Inhibition of CDK4/6, increase of cell apoptosis, and arrest of cell cycle	(40)
Telmisartan	Angiotensin receptor 1 inhibitor widely used as an antihypertensive drug	Human melanoma cells A375, 518a2, and HTB140	Induction of apoptosis, generation of reactive oxygen species, and alteration of cell bioenergetics	(41)

\*NSAID, Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs.

significant clinical improvement in patients with melanoma (NCT01590082). Although this finding could appear disappointing, preclinical studies suggest a therapeutic usefulness of doxycycline and warrant further clinical trials.

#### Fenofibrate

Fenofibrate is an agonist of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- $\alpha$ ; it is indicated for managing mixed dyslipidemia and hypertriglyceridemia (52). A variety of studies have reported that fenofibrate exerts anti-tumor activities in several cancers (53, 54), including melanoma (55, 56). Panigraphy et al. (56) exposed that fenofibrate significantly inhibited the proliferation of melanoma cells (B16-F10 cells) and suppressed primary tumors' growth in vivo in a murine model. Those effects were mediated by the inhibition of inflammation and angiogenesis in the surrounding host tissue. Additionally, fenofibrate significantly decreased melanoma metastases when administered via oral in mice, suggesting that this compound possesses chemopreventive activity (55). Interestingly, a down-regulation in the phosphorylation of Akt might explain this anti-metastatic effect (24). Finally, a very recent study proposed that the effects of fenofibrate on growth and metastases of melanoma could be produced by inhibiting the TLR4-dependent signaling pathway (57). Despite the studies suggesting beneficial effects of fenofibrate in melanoma, currently, there are no ongoing clinical trials; thus, this drug perhaps requires additional studies in animal models before its evaluation in patients.

#### Flubendazole

Flubendazole is an anthelmintic compound (58); its mechanism of action depends on the disruption of microtubules' structure and function. This activity attracted considerable interest in the drug as a possible anti-cancer treatment (59); thus, recent studies explored the therapeutic potential of flubendazole against skin cancer (25, 60). For example, a pioneering study conducted by Čáňová et al. (25) demonstrated inhibition of cell growth and proliferation in three distinct types of melanoma cell lines (A375, BOWES, and RPMI-7951), finally leading to caspase-dependent apoptosis. A subsequent report demonstrated that these effects were related to enhanced transcription of p53 and NF-kB and phosphorylation of JNK, eventually producing cell cycle arrest and disturbances of the microtubules network (61). Likewise, another study reported that flubendazole suppressed tumor growth and prevented metastasis in mice with xenografts of human melanoma cells (60). According to the authors, those anti-tumor activities were produced by a decrease in STAT3 and PD-1 levels. This drug is not being evaluated in any clinical trial, so its application may need further evaluations in cellular and animal models.

#### Itraconazole

Itraconazole is an antimycotic drug commonly utilized worldwide, which has demonstrated the therapeutic potential for skin cancer treatment. In this regard, Kim et al. (62) revealed that itraconazole suppressed the growth of BCC in mice by inhibiting the Hedgehog signaling pathway. This exciting finding provided the foundation for a subsequent Phase II clinical trial in BCC patients (63). The research revealed that the administration of itraconazole via oral reduced cell proliferation and tumor area; thus, the authors concluded that itraconazole possesses beneficial effects against BCC in humans. Also, Liang et al. (27) reported that itraconazole inhibited the proliferation of human melanoma cells (A735 and SK-MEL-28 cells) in vitro. Interestingly, the drug also suppressed the melanoma growth in vivo in a xenograft mice model. Further experiments revealed that the effects were mediated by suppressing Wnt, Hedgehog, and PI3K/mTOR signaling pathways. All these studies provided the basis for clinical trials. In this regard, three clinical trials are studying the effects of itraconazole in patients with skin cancer. Two of them are focused on the molecular effects of locally applied itraconazole on the growth of BCC (NCT02120677 and NCT02735356), whereas the other one is assessing the efficacy and safety of orally administered itraconazole in patients with BBC (NCT02354261).

#### Leflunomide

Leflunomide is a compound utilized for the management of rheumatoid arthritis (64). This drug inhibits the enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH), which is pivotal in pyrimidine synthesis (65). Since leflunomide impedes the replication of dividing cells, it provided a rationale to propose its use in preclinical cancer studies (66). For example, White et al. (67) explored the possible benefits of utilizing leflunomide to treat skin cancer. They found that leflunomide produced a substantial reduction in melanoma development in vitro (RPM17951, A375, and Hs.294T cell lines) e in vivo (xenograft in mice). According to the authors, the inhibition of DHODH repressed transcription elongation of genes necessary for melanoma growth such as myc and mitf. More recent studies have provided more information about molecular targets for leflunomide. For example, O'Donnell et al. (68) stated that the anti-proliferative effects of leflunomide on A375 melanoma cells are dependent on the Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor. A similar study found that leflunomide caused cell cycle arrest and autophagy through the phosphorylation of Ulk1 and AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK) in A375 melanoma cells (69). Finally, another study demonstrated that the combination of leflunomide and selumetinib (an inhibitor of MEK) had a synergic effect in reducing BRAFwt and mutant melanoma cells' proliferation and growth of melanoma tumors in xenografted mice (28). Interestingly, a clinical trial intended to explore the efficacy and safety of the combination of leflunomide and vemurafenib in patients with V600 mutant metastatic melanoma was prematurely terminated due to adverse effects (NCT01611675). Therefore, despite available information about approved drugs, their possible toxicity can be a critical concern in drug repurposing when combined with other substances.

#### Mebendazole

Mebendazole is a drug employed to helminths infestation (70), which has also been proposed for drug repurposing in skin cancer (71). A pioneering study exposed that mebendazole produced apoptosis in melanoma cells (30). The apoptotic response was promoted by the phosphorylation of B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) and the decrease in X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (30, 72). Interestingly, the combination of mebendazole, temozolomide, and Bcl-2 antisense had a synergistic effect in inhibiting the growth of two melanoma cell lines (73). Likewise, the combination of mebendazole and trametinib effectively inhibited the proliferation of melanoma cells derived from patients carrying NRAS<sup>mut</sup>/BRAF<sup>WT</sup> and reduced their growth in xenografted mice (74). Therefore, the concomitant administration of mebendazole with other medications could be an alternative for melanoma treatment. However, this drug has not been assessed in any clinical trial with patients with skin cancer. Thus, its clinical evaluation could require further evidence from preclinical studies

#### Metformin

Metformin is a drug commonly used in type 2 diabetes mellitus; it reduces serum glucose levels through diverse mechanisms (75). Notably, melanoma is strongly dependent on glucose metabolism (76), and several epidemiological studies presented a relationship between the use of metformin and lower skin cancer risk (77). Concerning this, an investigation revealed that metformin inhibited tumor growth in mice xenografted with SCC cells (A431 cell line); the effect appeared to be caused by the inhibition of the mTOR and NF-KB signaling pathways (78). Similarly, Tomic et al. showed that metformin decreases the proliferation of melanoma cells in vitro and reduces tumor growth in vivo; those effects were mediated by a cell cycle arrest (31). In comparison, other studies suggested a variety of molecular mechanisms to explain the anti-melanoma properties of metformin, including the decrease of protein TRIB3 expression (79), upregulation of miRNAs expression (80), and induction of immune response in the tumor microenvironment (81). Furthermore, metformin prevented the development of metastasis in vitro e in vivo by activating the p53 tumor suppressor protein and AMPK (82). Besides, metformin enhanced the anti-proliferative effects of binimetinib (an inhibitor of MEK) in a model of metastatic melanoma cells (83). The molecular mechanism involves P-ERK downregulation and AMPK upregulation. Due to these preclinical pieces of evidence, various clinical studies have been undertaken. Remarkably, at least five clinical trials are ongoing exploring the therapeutic effects of metformin in skin cancer (NCT01638676, NCT01840007, NCT02143050, NCT03311308, and NCT04114136). Although metformin is being studied only as an adjuvant in all the studies.

#### Pimozide

Pimozide is an antagonist for dopamine receptors; it is employed to treat Gilles de la Tourette syndrome and schizophrenia (84). Additionally, pimozide has shown promising results for managing several cancers, including skin cancer (36, 85–87). An early clinical trial showed that pimozide might have beneficial effects in patients with formerly medicated metastatic melanoma (86). The possible molecular mechanism for this antimetastatic effect could be mediated by inhibition of ARPC2, a subunit of the Arp2/3 complex involved in migration and invasion (85). Moreover, preclinical studies demonstrated that the combination of pimozide with other drugs might enhance its anti-melanoma activity. For example, pimozide's simultaneous use and an inhibitor of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (an enzyme that participates in melanoma tolerance) had a synergistic effect against melanoma in a mouse xenograft model (36). The authors indicated that pimozide inhibited STAT3 and STAT5, regulating tumor immunity. Likewise, Zhao et al. (87) co-administered pimozide and siRNA targeting PD-1 to mice xenografted with melanoma cells. Their results revealed an increase in the antitumor effects by inducing apoptosis and enhancing immune function. Lastly, a cutting edge study explored the anti-cancer effects of pimozide and a CpG oligodeoxynucleotide (CpG ODN) on mice xenografted with B16 cells (88). Their results revealed that the combination of those compounds suppressed the melanoma growth and extended experimental subjects' survival. Those findings were due to the induction of apoptosis, repression of invasion, and enhancement of immune response. Despite all these findings, there are no clinical trials with this drug to date. Those studies shall be necessary to support its repurposing for skin cancer.

#### **Piroxicam**

Piroxicam is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory compound that blocks the cyclooxygenases-1 and -2 (COX-1 and COX-2) enzymes (89). Several studies have shown that those enzymes participate in the development of actinic keratoses and SCC (90, 91); thus, piroxicam could help their prevention and treatment. In support of this hypothesis, Campione et al. (38) demonstrated that piroxicam's topical application (1%) had beneficial effects in patients with actinic keratoses. Numerous studies combining piroxicam (0.8%) and sunscreens (SPF 50+) have found very similar results (92-97), which suggests that piroxicam might serve as a chemopreventive agent for SCC. On the other hand, a recent study reported that piroxicam exhibited cytotoxic activity on SCC cells (A431 cell line), highlighting the drug's therapeutic potential (98). Interestingly, piroxicam had no effects on the proliferation of melanoma A375 cells (99), suggesting that its anti-cancer activity is specific for SCC. Nevertheless, this drug has not been assessed in any clinical trial with patients with SCC; thus, its clinical efficacy has not been proven yet.

### **CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES**

The development of efficacious treatments for skin cancer is costly and time-consuming; hence, old drugs' repositioning has arisen as an affordable approach. This procedure requires a thorough search through multiple dataset analyses and structure-based virtual screening to select a suitable compound for repurposing (13, 100, 101). Moreover, extensive *in vitro* e *in vivo* analyses are necessary before undertaking clinical trials. In this respect, advances in knowledge of skin cancer cellular and molecular mechanisms have provided essential information for drug repurposing. Likewise, although clinical trial execution usually requires a long time to evidence security and efficacy, the repositioning of drugs for skin cancer will consume less time than the development of novel medications.

New Treatments for Skin Cancer

Interestingly, even with the evidence for repositioning old drugs for skin cancer, to our knowledge, there is limited evidence from ongoing clinical trials. Possibly, the degree of improvement, and therefore of clinical relevance, does not support the commercial profitability of the discoveries, except for metformin with at least five clinical trial registries, one of them in phase 2. It is noteworthy that metformin, itraconazole, leflunomide, and doxycycline have been proposed as adjuvants, so possibly they would not be one of the primary and first-choice drugs. Nevertheless, the concurrent use of drugs targeting different signaling pathways may enhance their anti-cancer effectiveness, therefore extending the patients' survival and reducing the relapse risk. Also, this clinical strategy would allow lowering costs related to expensive current anti-cancer medications.

Finally, as in other drug strategies for treating cancers, pharmaceutical technology tools are necessary for adequate administration and effect at skin cancer's cellular level. In this

#### REFERENCES

- Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, et al. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 144:1941–53. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31937
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global Cancer Statistics 2018 : GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin (2020) 70:7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21590
- Ossio R, Roldán-Marín R, Martínez-Said H, Adams DJ, Robles-Espinoza CD. Melanoma: a global perspective. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2017) 17:393–4. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.43
- Luke JJ, Flaherty KT, Ribas A, Long GV. Targeted agents and immunotherapies: optimizing outcomes in melanoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2017) 14:463–82. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.43
- Gordon R. Skin cancer: An overview of epidemiology and risk factors. Semin Oncol Nurs (2013) 29:160–9. doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2013.06.002
- Dika E, Scarfi F, Ferracin M, Broseghini E, Marcelli E, Bortolani B, et al. Basal Cell Carcinoma : A Comprehensive Review. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21:1–11. doi: 10.3390/ijms21155572
- Lazar AD, Dinescu S, Costache M. Deciphering the Molecular Landscape of Cutaneous Squamous Cell Carcinoma for Better Diagnosis and Treatment. J Clin Med (2020) 9:1–23. doi: 10.3390/jcm9072228
- Corchado-cobos R, Garcia-Sancha N, Gonzalez-Sarmiento R, Perez-Losada J, Cañueto J. Cutaneous Squamous Cell Carcinoma : From Biology to Therapy. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21:1–23. doi: 10.3390/ijms21082956
- Thompson JF, Scolyer RA, Kefforf RF. Cutaneous melanoma. Lancet (2005) 365:687–701. doi: 10.3769/radioisotopes.64.115
- Narayanan DL, Saladi RN, Fox JL. Ultraviolet radiation and skin cancer. Int J Dermatol (2010) 49:978–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2010.04474.x
- Meeran SM, Punathil T, Katiyar SK. IL-12 deficiency exacerbates inflammatory responses in UV-irradiated skin and skin tumors. J Invest Dermatol (2008) 128:2716–27. doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.140
- Khosravi A, Jayaram B, Goliaei B, Masoudi-nejad A. Active repurposing of drug candidates for melanoma based on GWAS, PheWAS and a wide range of omics data. *Mol Med* (2019) 25:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s10020-019-0098-x
- Antoszczak M, Markowska A, Markowska J, Huczyński A. Old wine in new bottles: Drug repurposing in oncology. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2020) 866:1–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2019.172784
- Shim JS, Liu JO. Recent Advances in Drug Repositioning for the Discovery of New Anticancer Drugs. Int J Biol Sci (2014) 10:654–63. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.9224

respect, several nanoformulations can enhance the efficacy of drugs to treat cancer; thus, this approach will allow well-known drugs to be used to treat skin cancer. Although nanosystems for skin cancer are not commercially available, several formulations have been proposed as nanocarriers to effectively deliver known antineoplastic therapeutic agents for skin cancers (102, 103).

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HC and GL-G conceived the article. HC, OR-H, SA-A, SB-C, GF-G, and GL-G wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MG-T, MG-C, IC-F, and JS-R contributed to the discussion and the search for information. HC, MG-T, MG-C, JS-R, and GL-G critically reviewed the manuscript and edited the final version. IC-F elaborated the **Table 1**. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Talevi A, Bellera CL. Challenges and opportunities with drug repurposing: finding strategies to find alternative uses of therapeutics. *Expert Opin Drug Discov* (2020) 15:397–401. doi: 10.1080/17460441.2020.1704729
- Gns HS, Gr S, Murahari M, Krishnamurthy M. An update on Drug Repurposing: Re-written saga of the drug's fate. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2019) 110:700–16. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.11.127
- Langedijk J, Mantel-teeuwisse AK, Slijkerman DS, Schutjens M-HDB. Drug repositioning and repurposing : terminology and definitions in literature. *Drug Discov Today* (2015) 20:1027–34. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2015.05.001
- Patel K, Doudican NA, Schiff PB, Orlow SJ. Albendazole sensitizes cancer cells to ionizing radiation. *Radiat Oncol* (2011) 6:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1748-717X-6-160
- Ripoll GV, Farina HG, Yoshiji H, Gomez DE, Alonso DF. Desmopressin reduces melanoma lung metastasis in transgenic mice overexpressing tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1. *In Vivo* (2006) 20:881–5.
- Eskiocak U, Ramesh V, Gill JG, Zhao Z, Yuan SW, Wang M, et al. Synergistic effects of ion transporter and MAP kinase pathway inhibitors in melanoma. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:1–19. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12336
- Rok J, Karkoszka M, Rzepka Z, Respondek M, Banach K, Beberok A, et al. Cytotoxic and proapoptotic effect of doxycycline - An in vitro study on the human skin melanoma cells. *Toxicol In Vitro* (2020) 65:104790. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2020.104790
- Shieh J-M, Huang T-F, Hung C-F, Chou K-H, Tsai Y-J, Wu W-B. Activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase is essential for mitochondrial membrane potential change and apoptosis induced by doxycycline in melanoma cells. *Br J Pharmacol* (2010) 160:1171–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00746.x
- Grabacka M, Plonka PM, Urbanska K, Reiss K. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha activation decreases metastatic potential of melanoma cells in vitro via down-regulation of Akt. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12:3028–36. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2556
- Čáňová K, Rozkydalová L, Vokurková D, Rudolf E. Flubendazole induces mitotic catastrophe and apoptosis in melanoma cells. *Toxicol In Vitro* (2018) 46:313–22. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2017.10.025
- Riedel T, Demaria O, Zava O, Joncic A, Gilliet M, Dyson PJ. Drug Repurposing Approach Identifies a Synergistic Drug Combination of an Antifungal Agent and an Experimental Organometallic Drug for Melanoma Treatment. *Mol Pharm* (2018) 15:116–26. doi: 10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.7b00764
- Liang G, Liu M, Wang Q, Shen Y, Mei H, Li D, et al. Itraconazole exerts its anti-melanoma effect by suppressing Hedgehog, Wnt, and PI3K/mTOR signaling pathways. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:28510–25. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.15324
- Hanson K, Robinson SD, Al-Yousuf K, Hendry AE, Sexton DW, Sherwood V, et al. The anti-rheumatic drug, leflunomide, synergizes with MEK inhibition to suppress melanoma growth. *Oncotarget* (2017) 9:3815–29. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.23378

- Raff AB, Thomas CN, Chuang GS, Avram MM, Le MH, Anderson RR, et al. Lidocaine-induced potentiation of thermal damage in skin and carcinoma cells. *Lasers Surg Med* (2019) 51:88–94. doi: 10.1002/ lsm.23027
- Doudican N, Rodriguez A, Osman I, Orlow SJ. Mebendazole induces apoptosis via Bcl-2 inactivation in chemoresistant melanoma cells. *Mol Cancer Res* (2008) 6:1308–15. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-07-2159
- Tomic T, Botton T, Cerezo M, Robert G, Luciano F, Puissant A, et al. Metformin inhibits melanoma development through autophagy and apoptosis mechanisms. *Cell Death Dis* (2011) 2:e199. doi: 10.1038/ cddis.2011.86
- 32. Jaune E, Rocchi S. Metformin: Focus on Melanoma. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2018) 9:472. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00472
- 33. González Maglio DH, Paz ML, Ferrari A, Weill FS, Nieto J, Leoni J. Alterations in skin immune response throughout chronic UVB irradiation-skin cancer development and prevention by naproxen. *Photochem Photobiol* (2010) 86:146–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-1097.2009. 00623.x
- 34. Zhu Y, Zuo W, Chen L, Bian S, Jing J, Gan C, et al. Repurposing of the antihelminthic drug niclosamide to treat melanoma and pulmonary metastasis via the STAT3 signaling pathway. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2019) 169:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2019.08.012
- Surjana D, Halliday GM, Damian DL. Nicotinamide enhances repair of ultraviolet radiation-induced DNA damage in human keratinocytes and ex vivo skin. *Carcinogenesis* (2013) 34:1144–9. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt017
- 36. Jia H, Ren W, Feng Y, Wei T, Guo M, Guo J, et al. The enhanced antitumour response of pimozide combined with the IDO inhibitor L–MT in melanoma. *Int J Oncol* (2018) 53:949–60. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2018.4473
- Micali G, Lacarrubba F, Bhatt K, Nasca MR. Medical approaches to nonmelanoma skin cancer. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2013) 13:1409–21. doi: 10.1586/14737140.2013.856759
- Campione E, Diluvio L, Paternò EJ, Chimenti S. Topical treatment of actinic keratoses with piroxicam 1% gel: a preliminary open-label study utilizing a new clinical score. Am J Clin Dermatol (2010) 11:45–50. doi: 10.2165/ 11311170-00000000-00000
- De Giorgi V, Grazzini M, Benemei S, Marchionni N, Botteri E, Pennacchioli E, et al. Propranolol for Off-label Treatment of Patients With Melanoma: Results From a Cohort Study. *JAMA Oncol* (2018) 4:1–4. doi: 10.1001/ jamaoncol.2017.2908
- Shi X, Li H, Shi A, Yao H, Ke K, Dong C, et al. Discovery of rafoxanide as a dual CDK4/6 inhibitor for the treatment of skin cancer. *Oncol Rep* (2018) 40:1592–600. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6533
- Grahovac J, Srdić-Rajić T, Francisco Santibañez J, Pavlović M, Čavić M, Radulović S. Telmisartan induces melanoma cell apoptosis and synergizes with vemurafenib in vitro by altering cell bioenergetics. *Cancer Biol Med* (2019) 16:247–63. doi: 10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2018.0375
- Eichhorn EJ, Gheorghiade M. Digoxin. Prog Cardiovasc Dis (2002) 44:251– 66. doi: 10.1053/pcad.2002.31591
- Masoud GN, Li W. HIF-1α pathway: role, regulation and intervention for cancer therapy. *Acta Pharm Sin B* (2015) 5:378–89. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb. 2015.05.007
- 44. Smolarczyk R, Cichoń T, Pilny E, Jarosz-Biej M, Poczkaj A, Kułach N, et al. Combination of anti-vascular agent - DMXAA and HIF-1α inhibitor digoxin inhibits the growth of melanoma tumors. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25688-y
- Frankel AE, Eskiocak U, Gill JG, Yuan S, Ramesh V, Froehlich TW, et al. Digoxin Plus Trametinib Therapy Achieves Disease Control in BRAF Wild-Type Metastatic Melanoma Patients. *Neoplasia* (2017) 19:255–60. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2017.01.010
- Gaillard T, Briolant S, Madamet M, Pradines B. The end of a dogma: the safety of doxycycline use in young children for malaria treatment. *Malar J* (2017) 16:1–5. doi: 10.1186/s12936-017-1797-9
- Gomez DE, Yoshiji H, Kim JC, Thorgeirsson UP. Ulex europaeus I lectin induces activation of matrix-metalloproteinase-2 in endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1995) 216:177-82. doi: 10.1006/ bbrc.1995.2607
- Barbie DA, Kennedy BK. Doxycycline: new tricks for an old drug. Oncotarget (2015) 6:19336–7. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5111

- Lamb R, Ozsvári B, Lisanti C, Tanowitz H, Howell A, Martinez-Outschoorn U, et al. Antibiotics that target mitochondria effectively eradicate cancer stem cells, across multiple tumor types: Treating cancer like an infectious disease. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:1–16. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3174
- Alexander-Savino CV, Hayden MS, Richardson C, Zhao J, Poligone B. Doxycycline is an NF-κB inhibitor that induces apoptotic cell death in malignant T-cells. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:75954–67. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12488
- Sun T, Zhao N, Ni C, Zhao X, Zhang W, Su X, et al. Doxycycline inhibits the adhesion and migration of melanoma cells by inhibiting the expression and phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK). *Cancer Lett* (2009) 285:141–50. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2009.05.004
- McKeage K, Keating GM. Fenofibrate: a review of its use in dyslipidaemia. Drugs (2011) 71:1917–46. doi: 10.2165/11208090-00000000000000
- Shigeto T, Yokoyama Y, Xin B, Mizunuma H. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha and gamma ligands inhibit the growth of human ovarian cancer. *Oncol Rep* (2007) 18:833–40. doi: 10.3892/or.18.4.833
- 54. Li T, Zhang Q, Zhang J, Yang G, Shao Z, Luo J, et al. Fenofibrate induces apoptosis of triple-negative breast cancer cells via activation of NF-κB pathway. BMC Cancer (2014) 14:1–13. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-96
- Grabacka M, Placha W, Plonka PM, Pajak S, Urbanska K, Laidler P, et al. Inhibition of melanoma metastases by fenofibrate. *Arch Dermatol Res* (2004) 296:54–8. doi: 10.1007/s00403-004-0479-y
- Panigrahy D, Kaipainen A, Huang S, Butterfield CE, Barnés CM, Fannon M, et al. PPARα agonist fenofibrate suppresses tumor growth through direct and indirect angiogenesis inhibition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2008) 105:985–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711281105
- 57. Dana N, Haghjooy Javanmard S, Vaseghi G. The effect of fenofibrate, a PPARα activator on toll-like receptor-4 signal transduction in melanoma both in vitro and in vivo. *Clin Transl Oncol* (2020) 22:486–94. doi: 10.1007/ s12094-019-02150-7
- Feldmeier H, Bienzle U, Döhring E, Dietrich M. Flubendazole versus mebendazole in intestinal helminthic infections. *Acta Trop* (1982) 39:185– 9. doi: 10.5169/SEALS-312976
- Čáňová K, Rozkydalová L, Rudolf E. Anthelmintic Flubendazole and Its Potential Use in Anticancer Therapy. Acta Med (Hradec Kralove) (2017) 60:5–11. doi: 10.14712/18059694.2017.44
- 60. Li Y, Acharya G, Elahy M, Xin H, Khachigian LM. The anthelmintic flubendazole blocks human melanoma growth and metastasis and suppresses programmed cell death protein-1 and myeloid-derived suppressor cell accumulation. *Cancer Lett* (2019) 459:268-76. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.05.026
- Rudolf K, Rudolf E. An analysis of mitotic catastrophe induced cell responses in melanoma cells exposed to flubendazole. *Toxicol In Vitro* (2020) 68:104930. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2020.104930
- Kim J, Tang JY, Gong R, Kim J, Lee JJ, Clemons KV, et al. Itraconazole, a commonly used antifungal that inhibits Hedgehog pathway activity and cancer growth. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17:388–99. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.02.027
- Kim DJ, Kim J, Spaunhurst K, Montoya J, Khodosh R, Chandra K, et al. Open-label, exploratory phase II trial of oral itraconazole for the treatment of basal cell carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2014) 32:745–51. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2013.49.9525
- Schiff MH, Strand V, Oed C, Loew-Friedrich I. Leflunomide: efficacy and safety in clinical trials for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Drugs Today* (*Barc*) (2000) 36:383–94. doi: 10.1358/dot.2000.36.6.584259
- Breedveld FC, Dayer JM. Leflunomide: mode of action in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis (2000) 59:841–9. doi: 10.1136/ ard.59.11.841
- Zhang C, Chu M. Leflunomide: A promising drug with good antitumor potential. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2018) 496:726–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbrc.2018.01.107
- White RM, Cech J, Ratanasirintrawoot S, Lin CY, Rahl PB, Burke CJ, et al. DHODH modulates transcriptional elongation in the neural crest and melanoma. *Nature* (2011) 471:518–22. doi: 10.1038/nature09882
- O'Donnell EF, Kopparapu PR, Koch DC, Jang HS, Phillips JL, Tanguay RL, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor mediates leflunomide-induced growth inhibition of melanoma cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e40926. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0040926

- Liu L, Dong Z, Lei Q, Yang J, Hu H, Li Q, et al. Inactivation/deficiency of DHODH induces cell cycle arrest and programed cell death in melanoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:112354–70. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19379
- Dayan AD. Albendazole, mebendazole and praziquantel. Review of nonclinical toxicity and pharmacokinetics. *Acta Trop* (2003) 86:141–59. doi: 10.1016/s0001-706x(03)00031-7
- 71. Guerini AE, Triggiani L, Maddalo M, Bonù ML, Frassine F, Baiguini A, et al. Mebendazole as a Candidate for Drug Repurposing in Oncology: An Extensive Review of Current Literature. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11:1–22. doi: 10.3390/cancers11091284
- Doudican NA, Byron SA, Pollock PM, Orlow SJ. XIAP downregulation accompanies mebendazole growth inhibition in melanoma xenografts. *Anticancer Drugs* (2013) 24:181–8. doi: 10.1097/CAD.0b013e32835a43f1
- 73. Doudican NA, Pennell R, Byron S, Pollock P, Liebes L, Osman I, et al. Mebendazole in the treatment of melanoma: The role of Bcl-2 in predicting response and enhancing efficacy. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28:e19021–1. doi: 10.1200/jco.2010.28.15\_suppl.e19021
- 74. Simbulan-Rosenthal CM, Dakshanamurthy S, Gaur A, Chen Y-S, Fang H-B, Abdussamad M, et al. The repurposed anthelmintic mebendazole in combination with trametinib suppresses refractory NRASQ61K melanoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:12576–95. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14990
- Nasri H, Rafieian-Kopaei M. Metformin: Current knowledge. J Res Med Sci (2014) 19:658–64.
- Haq R. Metabolic dysregulation in melanoma: cause or consequence? *Cancer Discov* (2014) 4:390–1. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0173
- 77. Tseng C-H. Metformin is associated with decreased skin cancer risk in Taiwanese patients with type 2 diabetes. J Am Acad Dermatol (2018) 78:694– 700. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2017.12.016
- Chaudhary SC, Kurundkar D, Elmets CA, Kopelovich L, Athar M. Metformin, an antidiabetic agent reduces growth of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma by targeting mTOR signaling pathway. *Photochem Photobiol* (2012) 88:1149–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-1097.2012.01165.x
- 79. Li K, Zhang T-T, Wang F, Cui B, Zhao C-X, Yu J-J, et al. Metformin suppresses melanoma progression by inhibiting KAT5-mediated SMAD3 acetylation, transcriptional activity and TRIB3 expression. *Oncogene* (2018) 37:2967–81. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0172-9
- Tseng H-W, Li S-C, Tsai K-W. Metformin Treatment Suppresses Melanoma Cell Growth and Motility Through Modulation of microRNA Expression. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11:1–20. doi: 10.3390/cancers11020209
- Pereira FV, Melo ACL, Low JS, de Castro ÍA, Braga TT, Almeida DC, et al. Metformin exerts antitumor activity via induction of multiple death pathways in tumor cells and activation of a protective immune response. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9:25808–25. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.25380
- Cerezo M, Tichet M, Abbe P, Ohanna M, Lehraiki A, Rouaud F, et al. Metformin blocks melanoma invasion and metastasis development in AMPK/p53-dependent manner. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2013) 12:1605–15. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-1226-T
- Ryabaya O, Prokofieva A, Akasov R, Khochenkov D, Emelyanova M, Burov S, et al. Metformin increases antitumor activity of MEK inhibitor binimetinib in 2D and 3D models of human metastatic melanoma cells. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2019) 109:2548–60. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.11.109
- Naguy A. Pimozide: An Old Wine in a New Bottle! Indian J Psychol Med (2017) 39:382–3. doi: 10.4103/IJPSYM.JPSYM\_400\_16
- Choi J, Lee Y-J, Yoon YJ, Kim C-H, Park S-J, Kim S-Y, et al. Pimozide suppresses cancer cell migration and tumor metastasis through binding to ARPC2, a subunit of the Arp2/3 complex. *Cancer Sci* (2019) 110:3788–801. doi: 10.1111/cas.14205
- Neifeld JP, Tormey DC, Baker MA, Meyskens FLJ, Taub RN. Phase II trial of the dopaminergic inhibitor pimozide in previously treated melanoma patients. *Cancer Treat Rep* (1983) 67:155–7.
- Zhao T, Wei T, Guo J, Wang Y, Shi X, Guo S, et al. PD-1-siRNA delivered by attenuated Salmonella enhances the antimelanoma effect of pimozide. *Cell Death Dis* (2019) 10:164. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1418-3
- Jia H, Guo J, Wang P, Sun K, Chen J, Ren W, et al. A self-designed CpG ODN enhanced the anti-melanoma effect of pimozide. Int Immunopharmacol (2020) 83:106397. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106397
- Mostafa GAE, Al-Dosseri AS, Al-Badr AA. Piroxicam. Profiles Drug Subst Excip Relat Methodol (2020) 45:199–474. doi: 10.1016/bs.podrm.2019.10.007

- Asgari M, White E, Chren M-M. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use in the prevention and treatment of squamous cell carcinoma. *Dermatol Surg* (2004) 30:1335–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4725.2004.30407.x
- Campione E, Paternò EJ, Candi E, Falconi M, Costanza G, Diluvio L, et al. The relevance of piroxicam for the prevention and treatment of nonmelanoma skin cancer and its precursors. *Drug Des Devel Ther* (2015) 9:5843–50. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S84849
- Agozzino M, Russo T, Franceschini C, Mazzilli S, Garofalo V, Campione E, et al. Effects of topical piroxicam and sun filters in actinic keratosis evolution and field cancerization: a two-center, assessor-blinded, clinical, confocal microscopy and dermoscopy evaluation trial. *Curr Med Res Opin* (2019) 35:1785–92. doi: 10.1080/03007995.2019.1626227
- 93. Babino G, Diluvio L, Bianchi L, Orlandi A, Di Prete M, Chimenti S, et al. Longterm use of a new topical formulation containing piroxicam 0.8% and sunscreen: efficacy and tolerability on actinic keratosis. A proof of concept study. *Curr Med Res Opin* (2016) 32:1345–9. doi: 10.1080/03007995.2016.1174678
- 94. Mazzilli S, Garofalo V, Ventura A, Diluvio L, Milani M, Bianchi L, et al. Effects of topical 0.8% piroxicam and 50+ sunscreen filters on actinic keratosis in hypertensive patients treated with or without photosensitizing diuretic drugs: an observational cohort study. *Clin Cosmet Invest Dermatol* (2018) 11:485–90. doi: 10.2147/CCID.S178386
- 95. Garofalo V, Ventura A, Mazzilli S, Diluvio L, Bianchi L, Toti L, et al. Treatment of Multiple Actinic Keratosis and Field of Cancerization with Topical Piroxicam 0.8% and Sunscreen 50+ in Organ Transplant Recipients: A Series of 10 Cases. Case Rep Dermatol (2017) 9:211–6. doi: 10.1159/ 000481770
- 96. Puviani M, Galloni C, Marchetti S, Sergio Pavone P, Lovati S, Pistone G, et al. Efficacy of a film-forming medical device containing sunscreen (50+) and piroxicam 0.8% in actinic keratosis and field cancerization: a multicenter, assessor-blinded, 3 month trial. *Curr Med Res Opin* (2017) 33:1255–9. doi: 10.1080/03007995.2017.1313212
- Scotti E, Deledda S, Milani M. Efficacy of a Film-Forming Medical Device Containing Piroxicam and Sun Filters in the Treatment of Multiple Actinic Keratosis Lesions in a Subject with a History of Kaposi Sarcoma. *Case Rep Dermatol* (2016) 8:254–61. doi: 10.1159/000450723
- Khodaie F, Khazaei-poul Y, Moini Zanjani T. Anti-Proliferative Effects of Piroxicam and Nimesulide on A431 Human Squamous Carcinoma Cell Line. Int J Cancer Manag (2017) 10:1–5. doi: 10.5812/ijcm.7565
- 99. Chiu LCM, Tong KF, Ooi VEC. Cytostatic and cytotoxic effects of cyclooxygenase inhibitors and their synergy with docosahexaenoic acid on the growth of human skin melanoma A-375 cells. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2005) 59(Suppl 2):S293–7. doi: 10.1016/s0753-3322(05)80049-6
- 100. Kirtonia A, Gala K, Fernandes SG, Pandya G, Pandey AK, Sethi G, et al. Repurposing of drugs: An attractive pharmacological strategy for cancer therapeutics. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.04.006
- 101. Lionta E, Spyrou G, Vassilatis DK, Cournia Z. Structure-based virtual screening for drug discovery: principles, applications and recent advances. *Curr Top Med Chem* (2014) 14:1923–38. doi: 10.2174/1568026614666140929124445
- 102. Borgheti-Cardoso LN, Viegas JSR, Silvestrini AVP, Caron AL, Praça FG, Kravicz M, et al. Nanotechnology approaches in the current therapy of skin cancer. Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2020) 153:109–36. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2020.02.005
- 103. Akhtar N, Khan RA. Liposomal systems as viable drug delivery technology for skin cancer sites with an outlook on lipid-based delivery vehicles and diagnostic imaging inputs for skin conditions'. *Prog Lipid Res* (2016) 64:192– 230. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2016.08.005

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Cortés, Reyes-Hernández, Alcalá-Alcalá, Bernal-Chávez, Caballero-Florán, González-Torres, Sharifi-Rad, González-Del Carmen, Figueroa-González and Leyva-Gómez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Pathway-Based Drug-Repurposing Schemes in Cancer: The Role of Translational Bioinformatics

Enrique Hernández-Lemus<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Mireya Martínez-García<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Computational Genomics Division, National Institute of Genomic Medicine, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Centro de Ciencias de la Complejidad, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico, <sup>3</sup> Sociomedical Research Unit, National Institute of Cardiology "Ignacio Chávez", Mexico City, Mexico

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Carlos Pérez-Plasencia, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Antonio-Daniel Martinez Gutierrez, National Institute of Cancerology (INCAN), Mexico Mercedes Bermudez, Autonomous University of Sinaloa, Mexico

#### \*Correspondence:

Enrique Hernández-Lemus ehernandez@inmegen.gob.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 12 September 2020 Accepted: 24 November 2020 Published: 14 January 2021

#### Citation:

Hernández-Lemus E and Martínez-García M (2021) Pathway-Based Drug-Repurposing Schemes in Cancer: The Role of Translational Bioinformatics. Front. Oncol. 10:605680. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.605680 Cancer is a set of complex pathologies that has been recognized as a major public health problem worldwide for decades. A myriad of therapeutic strategies is indeed available. However, the wide variability in tumor physiology, response to therapy, added to multidrug resistance poses enormous challenges in clinical oncology. The last years have witnessed a fast-paced development of novel experimental and translational approaches to therapeutics, that supplemented with computational and theoretical advances are opening promising avenues to cope with cancer defiances. At the core of these advances, there is a strong conceptual shift from gene-centric emphasis on driver mutations in specific oncogenes and tumor suppressors-let us call that the silver bullet approach to cancer therapeutics-to a systemic, semi-mechanistic approach based on pathway perturbations and global molecular and physiological regulatory patterns-we will call this the shrapnel approach. The silver bullet approach is still the best one to follow when clonal mutations in driver genes are present in the patient, and when there are targeted therapies to tackle those. Unfortunately, due to the heterogeneous nature of tumors this is not the common case. The wide molecular variability in the mutational level often is reduced to a much smaller set of pathway-based dysfunctions as evidenced by the wellknown hallmarks of cancer. In such cases "shrapnel gunshots" may become more effective than "silver bullets". Here, we will briefly present both approaches and will abound on the discussion on the state of the art of pathway-based therapeutic designs from a translational bioinformatics and computational oncology perspective. Further development of these approaches depends on building collaborative, multidisciplinary teams to resort to the expertise of clinical oncologists, oncological surgeons, and molecular oncologists, but also of cancer cell biologists and pharmacologists, as well as bioinformaticians, computational biologists and data scientists. These teams will be capable of engaging on a cycle of analyzing high-throughput experiments, mining databases, researching on clinical data, validating the findings, and improving clinical outcomes for the benefits of the oncological patients.

Keywords: pathway-based methods, drug repurposing, translational bioinformatics, computational oncology, PharmaOncology

## INTRODUCTION

Drug development is perhaps one of the most complex and challenging endeavors in biomedical science. Aside from the already daunting complexities behind pharmacological drug designs, there are also enormous difficulties derived from clinical, regulatory, intellectual property and commercial issues. Such a challenging environment has caused drug development to be a really slow and uncertain process. In the search for alternatives to treat the patients suffering from diseases such as cancer, researchers and clinicians have turned the attention to drug repurposing strategies. There are several advantages in the use of repositioning schemes for already existing validated, toxicologically safe and-no less-important-regulated pharmaceuticals to treat neoplasms. This is, however, a route not devoid of its own challenges and caveats. To cope with molecular heterogeneity (in particular mutational variances) a shift has recently made to resort to pathway-centered strategies that are aimed to approach the endeavor of drug repurposing armed with semi-mechanistic understanding of the mechanisms of action of the repurposed drugs on its new applications.

A number of successful approaches in this regard rely on the integration of methods from translational bioinformatics to face cancer data analysis with a clinician's perspective in mind; computational intelligence to diminish biases both individual and methodological and systems biology to think in terms of processes and organisms aside from molecular cues. Only by effectively combining such theoretical approaches with improved clinical diagnostics and out of the box thinking, we will be able to live up to the promise of personalized oncology. Such endeavors will be particularly relevant for the treatment of tumors with scarce therapeutic options and those prone to develop resistance to therapy.

The rest of this work will be organized as follows: the following section will discuss the essentials of pathway-based drug repurposing methods. In particular, we will elaborate on how these methods are situated in relation to de novo drug designs, and what is the role played by advances in pharmaceutical informatics and personalized medicine. We will further describe the commonalities and differences of pathway-based repurposing and mutation centered approaches, by contrasting the strengths and limitations of both strategies. The following section is a discussion of recent advances in the field, including novel computational tools, a growing emphasis on the impact of these strategies in the clinical outcomes and the role of artificial intelligence and machine learning in drug repurposing approaches in cancer. We will also discuss on the development of novel omic approaches to probe tumors, the important role of drug delivery and precision drug targeting for repurposing, and recent advances in functional proteomics relevant to drug repositioning. Finally, some brief concluding remarks are outlined.

We will now pay attention to the importance of drug repurposing schemes as compared to *de novo* drug design, as this will guide the rest of our discussion of pathway-based approaches to anti-cancer therapy.

## PATHWAY-BASED DRUG REPURPOSING

## Drug Repurposing Versus De Novo Design

Developing new anti-cancer drugs is of course a very important endeavor in itself. However, its timeline and route-maps are often very slow and costly. It is thus desirable that, in parallel with the synthesis and design of new anti-cancer compounds and their therapeutic combinations, we also consider strategies for the repurposing of the large number of already approved drugs (both anti-cancer and non-anti-cancer labelled) that may target known or soon-to-be-discover cancer players. Drug-repurposing has been considered as a good cost-effective strategy in order to widen-out the catalog of therapeutic options in oncology. A strategy that, in addition to be better suited to tackle better with molecular heterogeneity, is cheaper and faster to escalate to preclinical, clinical and tier studies stages, even up to clinical trials (1). In the case of approved drugs with known pharmacological interactions this may even pave the way to the development of tailor-made drug cocktails based on pathway-founded personalized medicine studies.

The latter point gains relevance in the light of a large body of evidence on the fact that combination therapies may lead to more powerful and effective results. In particular for the treatment of late-stage neoplastic tumors than single or sequential drugs combinations, given the large inter and intratumoral population heterogeneity (2, 3).

Of course, this is not to say that individualized, tailor-made polypharmacy therapy is free of caveats. Of notable relevance is the obvious fact that repurposing schemes did not follow the development and testing procedures that the pharmaceutical industry often impose on their new products, regarding dosage, tissue specificity and so on, and the fact that repurposed drugs were not designed with multi-therapy in mind (4).

Aside from these fundamental limitations there are other challenges to systematic approaches to drug repurposing for anticancer therapy. There are also defiances of a methodological and multi-disciplinary nature: the rational design of multi-drug repurposing schemes is a daunting task requiring the collaboration of clinical oncologists and cancer biologists with computational biologists, bioinformaticians and even experts in artificial intelligence, to name but a few disciplines. In this regard, oncologist and pharmaceutical officers need to adapt current practices to benefit from the input of professionals trained to manage the enormous wealth of information on chemical, pharmacological and genomic databases. Also, the use of biomedical informatics specialists to analyze electronic health records of the patients subjected to certain treatments. Let us consider some of these instances in more detail.

# Pharmaceutical Chemo-Informatics in Cancer Therapy

One relevant application of high level computational analysis is the use of data mining and computational intelligence for drug chemoinformatics, or pharmo-informatics. Particularly relevant for repurposing schemes is *off-target analysis*. The vast majority of drugs and other compounds used in pharmacological therapy have a large number of off-target effects (OTEs), i.e., additional targets or mechanisms aside from the main (intended) therapeutic mechanism of action (MoA). OTEs are often the actual basis of a large number of drug repurposing strategies. Due to combinatorially large "search spaces", consequence of the systemic nature of MoAs, looking at OTEs is an endeavor that is difficult (and extremely slow) to perform by humans alone. Computationally assisted interrogations of the very large datasets currently available on drugs, its targets and its MoAs, allow for a sped-up process—often by narrowing down the available options—allowing the clinician to select from a handful alternatives and not from among thousands of them (5, 6).

Additional computer-aided methods of drug-repurposing include the hybrid use of knowledge discovery in databases (KDD) and molecular profiling/modelization to search for novel drug-target interactions. The use of machine learning and other computational and statistical intelligence techniques to screen the huge molecular catalogues, searching for drug-target interactions is gaining a lot of attention. By combining KDD and machine learning with high-throughput *in vitro* assay screening (HTS) it has been possible to devise efficient therapeutic strategies to treat multifactorial diseases such as cancer, largely outperforming single-drug approaches (7).

Interestingly, not only mono-therapeutic drug target interactions need to be considered in these designs. The relevant issues of molecular and phenotypic heterogeneity in cancer tumors need to be taken into account to reach clinically-worthy anti-cancer therapeutic interventions, such as the case of targeted immunotherapy (8). Immunotherapy has gained a lot of attention recently. However, although a number of patients respond quite successfully, a large fraction does not share such benefits. This is very likely associated with the fact that there are important effects linked to the immunosuppressive nature of the particular tumor microenvironments. In such situations, it may be advisable to resort to personalized designs centered on the individually-perturbed metabolic and signaling pathways. The recent work by Li and collaborators considered how metabolic circuits are able to regulate intrinsic tumor-suppressing immunity pathways. A relevant number of these interactions have made their way onto the clinical trial stage (see, Table 1 in 8). Systematic repurposing of immunomodulatory drugs like thalidomide, lenalidomide and pomalidomide has been validated and supported by comprehensive assessment studies (e.g., QSAR) of computationally predicted biomarkers in patient-diverse cohorts (9).

The clinical oncology community remains skeptical, since the pharmacological efficacy of such treatments is still quite heterogeneous (10). One avenue to overcome skepticism (and to level up such variability) is the inclusion of immunotherapeutic drugs in polypharmacological designs. This strategy has been deeply discussed by Shen and collaborators, regarding the use of thalidomide as a drug to increase delivery and therapeutic efficacy of cis-platin (11). Thalidomide and its derivative compounds, however, are still subject of scrutiny (both as mono-drugs and in combination therapy) due to a series of reports of adverse side effects, including neurotoxicity (12) and teratogenic events (13).

### **Patient-Centric Drug Repurposing**

Aside from molecular mechanisms and off-target effects, drugrepurposing schemes face additional demands related to individual heterogeneity. These challenges start with the availability of optimal diagnostic tools that consider factors helping to stratify such heterogeneous response to therapy. This is yet another instance in which computationally-assisted methodologies (CAMs) and AI may prove useful (14–17). Aside from CAMs/AI, modelization approaches based on systems biology frameworks would permit improved phenotyping and prognostics, leading to better-suited drug repurposing strategies (18, 19). Computational studies, relying on patient-wise genomic information, are becoming an invaluable tool to study the influence of genetic alterations in tumor progression and cell survival. This information, in turn, is fundamental to unveil tumor-specific weaknesses pointing out to clues for the development of optimal constrained sets of targeted therapeutic interventions, including drug repurposing designs (20–22).

Drug repurposing schemes extend far beyond designing drug lists or drug-cocktails. Additional consideration has to be given to making proper regimes available to the patient (1, 23). The first one of such considerations deals with the establishment of appropriate dosage to achieve anti-cancer pharmacological activity, which in general may be quite different from the dosage intended for the original use of the repurposed drugs. Computational tools have been actually developed to solve this issue (24-26). There are other non-technical (or better, not biological) issues to take into account. One of them is related to intellectual property, in particular on how to deal with patent and licensing issues, both in the case of generic and proprietary treatments. There are also economic challenges to be overcome, taking into account that cancer-related clinical trials are often more expensive, need longer follow-ups and are very prone to failure than those of non-cancer drugs. Pharmaceutical companies may find the endeavor of conducting repurposing trials to be financially unworthy. Those latter issues, although relevant, are out of the scope of the present work and hence will not be further discussed, the interested reader may refer, for instance to (5) and references therein. Coming back to the drug-repurposing molecular studies issue, we will further discuss some aspects of translational bioinformatics strategies to improve the design of personalized, pathway-based anticancer drug repurposing schemes. We will start by considering mutation-targeted therapy as this was the beginning of anti-cancer treatments beyond the use of broad cytotoxic agents.

#### Mutation-Specific Therapies as an Approach to Personalized Medicine in Cancer: Pros and Cons of Silver Bullets

Since the discovery of the first cancer-associated mutations and oncogenes, one central goal of anti-cancer therapy was that of looking for *cancer-causing mutations* (in particular tumor-drivers), to later resort to a tailor-armed approach to the molecular structure of *silver-bullets*, i.e., drugs able target tumors on an extremely specific fashion, while having no significant effects on non-tumor cells, often by targeting tumor-specific mutations.

In **Figure 1A**, we present a schematic workflow for mutation profiling design of personalized anti-cancer drug repurposing. High-precision DNA sequencing is used to find a tumor specific mutation in a patient's genome. If this mutation is annotated in a "cancer-panel", the clinician will gain knowledge that may allow (specially if such a mutation is absent in the germline genome or in the healthy tissue) the search of a targeted therapy. Therapeutic alternatives may include monoclonal antibodies able to recognize the effect of the mutation at the protein level (27–29), composing an antibody-drug conjugate complex (30–33) or synthesizing a small molecule drug (34, 35). Armed with this knowledge, it is possible to look up into pharmacological databases, finding related drugs, along with off-targets and side effects (36–43). Those drugs are the long-sought *silver bullets*.

Unfortunately, with a few exceptional cases of highly penetrant mutations; most cancer patients have not benefited from these approaches (44, 45). Due to tumor mutational heterogeneity, most cancer mutations are rare, subclonal, often not causal and hence poorly annotated. The sequencing of more and more tumors, in combination with strong efforts to annotate the new variants may change this over time. However, things are not changing fast. A large scale study on the benefits of genome-driven oncology, the MOSCATO study (46, 47) concluded that purely genomic

searches for cancer therapy are able to improve clinical outcomes in the minority of patients who undergo molecular screening. These results have diminished the emphasis on mutation-centered drug designs (48, 49). Mutational heterogeneity is fundamental to understand the challenges of mutation-centric studies. In recent times, mutational tumor variability has been unveiled at an unprecedented scale (50). Furthermore, pharmacologicallyinduced mutation is known to increase the malignancy and therapeutic-resistance (51).

The mutation frequency of well-known driver genes in metastatic breast cancer, for instance, has increased as a consequence of previous pharmacological treatment (52, 53). In this regard, the APOBEC family of APO enzymes, for instance, is known to be relevant for mutational heterogeneity (54, 55). These facts have led the pharmaco-oncology and clinical oncology experts to look up for alternative ways to face cancer



therapeutics and drug repurposing. One of these avenues that is gaining a lot of momentum recently is that of pathway-based designs.

#### Combining Pathway Analysis, Network Approaches, and Data Mining: the Shrapnel Approach

Alternatives to mutation-based therapeutic design exist and are becoming relevant. This is the case of studies based on functional pathway analyses based on gene expression profiling. One of these approaches combines pathway enrichment (56), pathway crosstalk (57) with the so-called *pathway deregulation analysis* (58) and network strategies (59) including probabilistic modeling and knowledge discovery in databases (60).

**Figure 1B** presents a simplified view of a pathway-based drugrepurposing workflow. Since it is known that gene expression, although quite heterogeneous, is better aimed at capturing functional similarities at the pathway level than mutational profiling. Such methods are transcriptome-based designs instead of a genome-based. The workflow starts by taking a tumor-biopsy sample from one patient. mRNA is extracted and purified from the sample. Then gene expression levels of the sample are measured either by RNA-Sequencing or by other technologies such as expression arrays, or a Luminex panel (7).

The rationale behind such pathway based methods has to do with a systems biology view on how to cope with the emergence of complex phenotypes (say tumors and tumor responses to therapy) from a myriad of (sometimes unknown) biomolecular interactions, metabolic reactions and signaling events. In the cases when the emergence of the phenotype is largely determined by one (or a handful) mutation events, genomic-variant centered approaches have proven quite efficient. However, more often than not, the emergence of the tumorigenic and tumor response to drug phenotypes is due to the interplay of a number (perhaps large) of mutually intertwined biological processes. Pathway based approaches to drug repurposing are intended to deal with such cases.

The gene expression sample profile is analyzed in the context of this large data corpus (sometimes by clustering or subtyping it), the next step consists in database mining from pathway databases such as KEGG (61), Reactome (62, 63), and Pathway Commons (64). One may either look up for a specific set of pathways (metabolic or immune system, for instance) or consider all currently annotated pathways. Once the set of pathways has been selected, it is possible to interrogate the databases looking for pathway-targeting drugs, this is molecules targeting key genes in the deregulated pathways.

Pathway deregulation metrics will allow for further filtering *via* joint analysis of pathway deregulation, differential gene expression, drug-target interactions, off-target, and side effects databases such as PharmGKB (65, 66), DrugBank (67), the Therapeutic Target Database, TTD (68) and others. Once these steps have been followed, we end up with a list of suggested therapies mapping the abnormal pathways linked to cancer in the different patients. These prioritized lists are the starting point of the work of the clinical oncologists and pharmaco-oncologists, as such, they are intended as mere tools, which, however useful, complement but do not replace the expertise of the clinical oncologist.

This workflow belongs to a more general family of pathway-based methods for individualized anticancer drug repurposing. As is known, biological functions are often represented as an interaction network of molecules within the cells. Such interactions are often captured in semi-mechanistic terms as pathways to try to capture the plethora of higher order biological functions (61). As we have said, often pathway-based strategies are founded on gene expression and other molecular profiling studies. Let us review some general ideas in this regard.

#### Gene Expression and Other Means of Molecular Profiling

One important challenge for the development of personalized drug repurposing approaches of anticancer therapy is molecular and phenotypic heterogeneity of the tumors. To tackle such variability, large scale databases like The Cancer Genome Atlas—Genomic Data Commons— (69–72) and others (73, 74), allow for analyses helpful to discern the commonalities and differences in gene expression features and associate them with the phenotypes and survival in thousands of cancer patients. Such systematic, datadriven studies, in turn, opened-up the possibility to create dynamic maps of tumor features and vulnerabilities by classes. Using these maps such as the CMAP led to the discovery of vulnerability biomarkers to guide clinical interventions (75).

Computational biology and AI studies of these huge omic databases along with clinical, data driven translational applications, are significantly improving patient-specific diagnostics and prognostics (76, 77). These, in turn, paved the way to enhanced designs to cancer therapeutics (78). Such large computational endeavors have also increased the success of targeted assays to determine the efficacy of competing therapies such as chemotherapy and hormone-guided designs (79) or the effects of combinatorial immune therapies (8).

#### Pathway Activity Profiling

Moving on from gene expression profiling to actual biological function is a daunting, unfinished task. However, a common approximation is given by analyzing which molecular pathways are deregulated, i.e., their activity functions in abnormal ways. Perhaps, the optimal experimental way to do this would be by resorting to massive phospho-proteomic and metabolomic experiments. However, technical and logistic challenges for accuracy and reproducibility of current proteomic technologies have discouraged further studies along these lines for the present moment. Hence, gene expression profiling has become the standard proxy used in large cohort studies of oncogenic pathway activity.

#### From Deregulated Pathways to Repurposed Drugs

After analyzing the individual repertoire of dysfunctional pathways (as proxied by the expression of key genes within them), it has been possible to devise pathway-centric approximations to drug repurposing. Let us discuss some remarkable cases. The case of breast neoplasms with challenging phenotypes is quite illustrative. A recent study led to the identification of nine breast tumor subtypes (instead of the usual 4 or 5 considered in the PAM50 classification). One of these subtypes, that went unobserved until this study, comprising about 7% of the cases (on a cohort of around 2000 tumors and 144 controls) resulted deregulated for 38 PKA pathways (80).

The importance of this finding for the therapeutic options to treat these tumors lies in the fact that despite being many protein kinase-driven pathways of great phenotypic impact, most of these pathways are all inducible by a single molecule: PRKACB which is a druggable gene. PRKACB is a target for Staurosporine, a pglycoprotein/abcb1 inhibitor. Staurosporine induces cell death in (Luminal A-associated) MCF7 human breast cancer cells (81), and is known to also disrupt HUNK, a cell cycle-associated kinase in Her2+ tumors (82). In this way, Staurosporine is able to treat two different breast cancer subtypes (luminal and Her2+) by disparate yet related mechanisms that inhibit proliferation via PKA pathways. The same large scale study identified 9 EGFR-related pathways which can be targeted by FDA-approved drugs such as Anlotinib (83, 84). Anlotinib main use in cancer was already established to treat aggressively, drug-resistant tumors such as glioblastoma (85); Poziotinib (86-88). Other available EGFR-targeting molecules include Dacomitinib (89) and cationic polyamidoamine dendrimers (90).

Due to the binding nature of EGFR control, EGFR-modulation can also be attained by using glucocorticoids (91). However, hormone-mediated mechanisms of action are often less specific than other EGFR modulators mentioned, so caution must be taken (92, 93). We must notice that EGFR-centered therapies have resulted to be less effective than initially expected due to kinase repertoire heterogeneity. However, EGFR-targeting may result useful in combination therapy, for instance, to increase chemosensitivity in triple negative breast tumors. The mechanism proposed for this enhanced chemoselectivity is via reprogramming apoptotic signaling networks (94). The variability in response to EGFR-targeting is useful to introduce additional issues to be considered in the design of repurposing strategies. Two quite relevant among these issues are the effects of active pathway crosstalk and the role of secondary targets, in particular in relation to pharmacological resistance.

#### Coping With Pharmacological Resistance: The Role of Pathway Crosstalk and Secondary Targets

A final, yet extremely relevant, issue to be considered in the design of pathway-based, individualized cancer therapy is the fact that the clinical efficacy of a drug goes well beyond the (static) molecular portrait given by the action of the drug on the pathway or pathways under consideration. The dynamic nature of drug activity depends on its effect, at the level of systemic, even organismal perturbations. Such phenomena occur within a densely interconnected signal transduction and metabolic network (95, 96). Given this, one must consider the MoA not only within the single instance of the prioritized pathways, but also in the context of all other biological phenomena occurring on their close surroundings (i.e., in the pathways' network neighborhood). The phenomenon of pathway crosstalk, for instance, it is known to exert important effects on the onset and progression of pharmacological resistance (57, 97). Of course, pathway crosstalk has gone beyond network connectivity since, as stated, it is a highly dynamic process. For the cases in which one is able to anticipate crosstalk phenomena that may result

relevant to pharmacological efficacy this must be considered in the initial design. At least dosage and coadjuvant therapies to prevent or diminish its effects must be analyzed in advance (98–100).

To date, a number of bioinformatic and computational biology resources have been developed to cope with the issue of pathway crosstalk in the context of drug repurposing (101–103). A recently proposed strategy is the use of crosstalk inhibition studies (104–107). However, other approaches include the evaluation of drug synergism (108–111), as well as cohort studies to evaluate and categorize crosstalk induced resistance (57, 112–114).

Aside from pathway crosstalk phenomena, in which the activity of several interconnected pathways is cross-regulated, there is also the issue of secondary molecular (and/or functional) targets. A secondary target of a drug has been defined as any target (a gene, protein, metabolite, etc.) whose associated MoA or downstream effects are not in line with the intended therapeutic mechanisms (115–117). Secondary target studies have been carried out for a long time. However, the availability of comprehensive database resources for high throughput assessment of secondary targets is relatively recent (118, 119).

Among the more relevant resources in the context of anti-cancer therapeutics, we can mention, for instance, the one maintained by the COSMIC consortium drug resistance database (CCDRD) (https:// cancer.sanger.ac.uk/cosmic/drug\_resistance (120, 121). CCDRD is indeed a quite comprehensive catalog of drug resistance events in cancer that is, however, limited in that it only considers somatic mutations. As we have already discussed, somatic-mutation therapy provides only a narrow window for therapeutic advances limited by the mutational heterogeneity of the tumors. Other approaches, although based on less comprehensive resources are also being considered (122). An outstanding example of its applications is the case of pembrolizumab (Keytruda) which is an immune checkpoint inhibitor drug. After looking up for secondary targets of pembrolizumab, Dang and coworkers found that some of them actually provide synergistic therapeutic effects (123).

### DISCUSSION

#### **Recent Advances**

Aside from the established computational frameworks for oncological drug repurposing already discussed, there is also a series of nascent, promising strategies that may complement them. Machine learning (ML) studies, for instance, are providing means of discovery relying more on the increasing abundance of omic and clinical data than on a deep knowledge of cancer biology (which is the case for most of the approaches already presented). The recent work of Issa and collaborators (124) summarizes well recent ML applications. Of noteworthy attention is the fact that some computational learning algorithms are already being applied beyond genomic and transcriptomic data. The role machine learning (Random forests, support vector machines, LASSO optimization) for ligand-based and docking studies (125, 126) for instance, has already resulted in therapeutic advances for the patients (127, 128). Feature selection techniques applied to the characteristics of the targets and the drugs, have allowed advances in

the so-called *proteochemometrics*, which aims to optimize the metabolic efficacy of drugs, something that must not be overlooked, in particular when facing polypharmaceutical designs (129).

Machine learning algorithms in cell phenotyping are also starting to gain attention as a route to the design of anti-cancer drugs (130) and repurposing strategies (131). Machine learning in transcriptomic data has been extensively used in recent years, as already discussed. An application that stands out, having revealed the efficacy of a very common over the counter drug (cimetidine, an already off-patent approved anti-ulcer drug with favorable safety profile) to be repurposed to treat lung adenocarcinoma was presented and validated years ago by Sirota and coworkers (132) and its results have been successfully replicated by an independent group (133). The work by Sirota and collaborators exemplifies well one way in which the translational bioinformatics approach should proceed. Starting with high throughput, highly curated information from the CMAP (6), they applied machine learning tools (at that time in the state of the art), discovered novel dysregulated pathways, in lung adenocarcinoma, find key genes involved, look up for FDA approved targets. Validated their findings in cell lines and mouse xenografts and make their data and codes available to allow for replication studies. After this, they started clinical trials to make the treatment available to the patients. If one were to summarize the 'ideal' workflow of translational bioinformatics, the work by Sirota and collaborators may be a very good example (132).

Two nascent applications of ML to drug repurposing in cancer are the use of computational learning in electronic health records (EHR) databases (134, 135) and in immune profiles (17, 136). Both are promising for different reasons: On the one hand, EHR databases may provide massive access to data at a relatively low cost, enabling hypothesis generation to be tested in molecular/omic studies. On the other hand, immune 'fingerprinting' has shown to be somehow less heterogeneous at the individual level than genomic/transcriptomic profiling while at the same time being highly individual-specific.

The emergence of database resources for repurposing such as RepurposeDB (137) is also worth noticing. Particularly relevant is the fact that computational learning approaches and KDD over such databases have revealed that, aside from purely pharmacological and biochemical features, there are also epidemiological factors influencing the effectiveness of a repurposed drug. Scanning the feature selection spaces allows for innovative treatments within the spectrum of repurposed drugs. Such is the case of the DrugPredict algorithm (138) which, based on molecular and epidemiological data, have been used to repurpose the non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug Indomethacin for the treatment of chemo-resistant ovarian cancer. Since it has been demonstrated that induced robust cell death in primary patient-derived platinum-sensitive and platinumresistant ovarian cancer cells.

Computational intelligence techniques combined with systems (particularly network) biology studies constitute relevant lines of research to comprehensively map the interactions pertinent to drug repurposing. The work of the group of Dragici in this regard is worth mentioning (139). This group developed an open source bioinformatic drug repurposing tool called DrugDiseaseNet (https://github.com/azampvd/DrugDiseaseNet). With this tool, the team has managed to reproduce the results of several noteworthy repurposing studies, most notable, the one by (132).

Also, using machine learning combined with network approaches, Tan and collaborators were able to analyze the comprehensive Library of Integrated Network Cell Signatures (LINCS) database (140) to uncover specific druggable targets in glioblastoma (48).

## The Impact on Clinical Outcomes

Ultimately, the success or not of drug repurposing schemes—as in every other therapeutic intervention—must be measured in relation to their impact on clinical outcomes. Of course, there are numerous reports, including data from pre-clinical assays, clinical trials, and observational studies supporting the anticancer efficacy of a wide range of repurposed drugs (141). Indeed, one main advantage of repositioned drugs is the fact that, often there are extensive data on pharmacokinetic properties and toxicity available.

However, drug repositioning may require further validation on novel side effects-due, for instance, to different dosage-and other considerations for which clinical trials must be run. The outcome of such studies varies widely. For instance, repurposing of raloxifen (a mineral density enhancer), was validated as an anti-breast cancer therapy in a multicentric study in 180 hospitals in 25 countries and become ultimately FDA-approved as a coadjuvant in breast cancer therapy. Digoxin (a cardiac glycoside) on the other hand, even if quite promising in the experimental stage, bring no survival benefit when compared to conventional platinum-based therapy, and also had significant toxicity and pharmacological interactions (141). That was also the case for the repurposing of Latrepirdine, Ceftriaxone and Topiramate (142). All three drugs were extremely promissory on experimental pre-clinical tests and were relatively well evaluated regarding toxicity and side effects, even at anti-tumor doses, but fail to deliver at the clinical outcome test.

Interestingly, translational bioinformatic approaches have been advanced for the evaluation of clinical outcomes in relation to drug repurposing (143). By performing computational literature mining in databases such as Clinical Trials.gov and others, it has been posible to pre-evaluate clinical outcomes and focusing repurposing trials on possible *red alerts*. Aside from *positive* clinical outcomes, data mining for adverse events, side effects, and drug-drug interactions, is making possible to sped-up clinical trials for repurposing drugs by standardizing, cataloguing, and processing annotated vocabularies (143, 144). However, standardize, large scale clinical outcome data is not easily available. One alternative that has been proposed (142) is that of online, self-reported patient data (145). This approach has several advantages such as faster data collection, reduced costs, and enhanced patient-engagement, but is still facing challenges related to privacy and systematic curation.

Aside from database reporting and archiving, recent efforts have been made in the use of artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning for the large scale analysis of clinical outcomes (146). An interesting resource in this regard is the *Clinical Outcome Search Space* (COSS), an AI platform for drug repurposing (147). In spite of these advances, not all the experts agree on the actual efficacy of drug repurposing regarding clinical outcomes.

Tran and Prasad (148), for instance, recall that observational studies alone, may be extremely biased by selection and that this may affect some of the drug repurposing strategies, hence many of the repurposing clinical trials are doomed by design. In order to prevent such biases, randomized controlled trials in large, heterogeneous populations, evaluating oncological outcomes, even at the adjuvant level are needed. Such was the case, for instance for the repurposing of metformin as a neo-adjuvant therapy. As of 2020, there are 132 completed, 85 under recruitment, and 32 finishing clinical trials for metformin as an anticancer drug as reported in the Clinical Trials.gov website (149). In spite of the large samplesize of studies such as the TAXOMET, the STAMPEDE, and the METEOR, and the fact that the drug has been discussed for oncological use for some years, there is no consensus on the real significance regarding clinical outcomes. A striking contrast with this has been the relative success of statins as antineoplastic agents to treat lung cancers (150). However, the very fact that we face such enormous differences in clinical outcomes for repurposed drugs call for optimized means to evaluate a priori when a repurposing candidate drug is worth to enter clinical trial stages.

#### The Role of Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning in Drug Repurposing: Challenges and Opportunities

As we have already mentioned, one possible avenue of improvement of drug-repurposing analytics is the use of computational intelligence and machine learning approaches. Such views and methods are particularly relevant to try to cope with the enormous challenges in *interpreting* the vast amounts of heterogeneous experimental and clinical data often present in drug repurposing studies in cancer. The challenge to *make sense* of the data has been approached in several ways. One of such methodologies is *baseline regularization* (BR). Kuang and collaborators introduce BR (151) to analyze EHR data, including drug-prescriptions, physical, and biochemical measurements (lab tests, anthropometrics, etc.). BR make use of statistical relationships to account for changes in the patient's indicators correlating with the use and dosage of certain drugs of interest. These relationships are then used to identify, assess, or validate drug repurposing candidates.

Deep learning methods such as Deep Neural Networks (DNN), Convolutional Neural Networks (CNN), Support Vector Machines (SVM), and Naive Bayesian analysis (NB), as well as Natural Language Processing (NLP), have also been used to find patterns, useful to predict pharmacological effects, from transcriptomic, genomic, EHR, and bibliographic data (124). A DNN method, for instance, was introduced in a study analyzing perturbation experiments from 678 drugs across several cell lines from the LINCS project (152). ML and DNN have also been used for rational drug discovery, moving on from classic measures such as Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships (QSAR) to high-throughput, event-based studies for the identification of novel and repurposed drugs (153, 154).

Aside from trying to tackle the complexities of data interpretation in experimental and pre-clinical data, ML approaches have been also developed for the inference and prediction of drug response patterns (155). To do so, MoA data, as well as genomic and transcriptomic databases are being complemented with novel experimental techniques such as those based on single cell assays (these techniques and their use in drug repurposing may be discussed in the next subsection). Computational intelligence techniques are being applied *on tandem*, all along the drug repurposing and development strategies, in the so-called end-to-end (E2E) applications (156). However, powerful these approaches are, we have good reasons to be cautious, even skeptical of them, and as is the case with all clinically-inclined interventions, wait until their effectiveness is proven in controlled, randomized clinical trials.

#### Novel Omic Approaches: Single-Cell Sequencing, Structural Genomics, Epigenomics

Technical advances in relation to drug repurposing tools not only consist in the development of computational and bioinfomatic tools to analyze existing experimental data types. Some functional features of biological relevance for drug repurposing are indeed being able to probe only be the use of novel experimental ways to measure biological activity (157). We can mention, for instance, the rapidly developing field of single cell sequencing. Single cell biology has been envisioned as a means to comprehend intra-tumor heterogeneity with greater precision, and with this gained knowledge being able to overcome the diagnostic and therapeutic challenges often posed by such enormous cell-to-cell tumor variability (158). One outstanding example of such tumor heterogeneity is glioblastoma multiforme (GBM). One important component of the essential intractability of advanced stage glioblastoma multiforme is precisely cell-to-cell variability, even within the so-called glioma-imitating cell population. To analyze therapeutic challenges in glioblastoma, Niklasson and coworkers analyzed single cell sorted RNASeq libraries derived from biopsy-captured GBM samples (159) to evaluate mesenchymal states connected to therapy resistance via immunomodulatory mechanisms.

To study c-MET inhibitors and their potential role in overcoming drug resistance, Firuzi and collaborators studied spheroid models of pancreatic and stellate cells (160). Single cell proteomic assays confirmed previous sequencing findings regarding the relative effects of repurposed drugs tivantinib, PHA-665752 and crizontinib. Single cell RNASEq and single cell shotgun proteomics have also been used in combination to discern the role of cancer associated fibroblasts in chemoresistance inesophageal adenocarcinoma (161). This study shows that phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitors are able to regulate the activated fibroblasts phenotypes in the benign disease and are promising drugs to enhance response to chemotherapy. Multiscale modeling, including the role that single cell models of ErbB receptormediated Ras-MAPK and PI3K/AKT signaling, has been used to study the response to a drug-reposition treatment in prostate adenocarcinoma (162). There single cell sequencing assay data was used to account for subclonal heterogeneity. To evaluate ATRi/BD98 inhibition in cell cycle defects induced by ATR inhibitors in cancer cells, single cell sequencing and single cell gel electrophoresis (COMET) were used by Chory and coworkers (163). These single cell assays allowed the researchers to characterize the MoA of the ATR inhibitors

Drug Repurposing in Cancer

*via* inhibition of ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes SWI/SNF.

Aside from single-cell assays, advances in techniques to probe on structural abnormalities in the genome such as microsatellite instabilities, gene fusions and chromotripsis have revealed clues to the design and repurposing of anticancer drugs. In a recent analysis on the use of gene variants and networks for drug repurposing in colorectal cancer, Irhan and collaborators (164) discussed how to use colorectal cancer biomarkers, such as microsatellite instabilities (MSI), for the repurposing of PIK3CA modulators. Finding molecules such as copanlisib, either alone or in combination with nivolumab as promissory drugs. On a similar line of thought, Fong and To (165) presented the use of immune checkpoint inhibitors as effective therapies for colorectal cancer patients with MSI or mismatch repair variants. This has led to the FDA approval of pembrolizumab (Keytruda) combined with nivolumab as PD-1 inhibitors and of ipilimumab as a CLT4-inhibitors in those tumors. In connection to antibreast cancer therapies, pembrolizumab has also been approved for metastatic tumors with marked MSI. Such is also the case of coadjuvant theory with aspirin and Celecoxib as (anti-PD-1 antibody) for advanced stage breast cancer (166, 167). MSI has also been a factor to consider for the repurposing of co-adjuvant drugs to treat advanced stage melanoma (Indoximod), metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (Metformin), in both cases to enhance pembrolizumab activity.

Another set of structural variants of interest for anti-cancer drug repurposing is that of gene fusions. Perhaps the paradigmatic case is that of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) (168). The case of niclosamide is relevant since it targets some relatively common gene fusions (or their associated chimeric proteins), aside from targeting relevant transcription factors such as CREB, STAT3 and NF- $\kappa$ B. Chromosomal aberrations and gene fusions in intimal sarcoma have also helped to identify potential therapeutic targets (169). In particular, the PDE4NIP/NOTCH2 and the MRPS30/ ARD2 fusion positive tumors have been identified as druggable targets. In colon cancer, KCTD12/CDK1 fusion positive tumors have been shown to become vulnerable to vemurafenib *via* a coadjuvant treatment with adefovir dipivoxil (170). This allows the repurposing of the BRAF V600E inhibitor vemurafenib from melanoma to colon cancer therapy.

Epigenomic markers—most notably methylation patterns have also unveiled avenues for drug repurposing (171). Some of these were found *via* KsRepo a methylation-based drug repurposing method for acute myeloid leukemia (172) that has allowed to reposition four drugs: alitretinoin, cytarabine, panabinostat, and progesterone for AML. Methylation profiles (in particular, m<sup>6</sup>A DNA/RNA methylation) have been proven to be relevant to the action of repurposed drugs such as afatinib in non-small cell lung cancer (173). DNA methylation profiles also have been useful as a tool to find out novel and repurposed therapeutic targets in bladder cancer (174).

In particular, a novel use of 5-azacytidine a nucleoside analogue and decitabine that may function as a DNA methyltransferase inhibitor, have been found to re-activate tumor suppressor genes, inhibiting tumor cell growth and increasing apoptosis in bladder cancer cells. These results remain consistent from *in vitro* assays all along to clinical trials.

# Drug Delivery Mechanisms and Chemo-Resistance

A relevant and often overlooked challenge in drug repurposing in particular when the repositioned drug was originally a nononcological one—is the issue of drug delivery efficacy and its relationship with proper drug targeting and chemo-resistance. One example of how to overcome these challenges is the reduction of chemo-resistance *via* coadjuvant therapy with mebendazole (175). Aside from coadjuvant therapy, perhaps the best solution to optimize drug delivery to the tumors is *via* advancing delivery technologies (176, 177). Lei and coworkers, for instance, discussed the use of nanomedicine such as nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel (nab-PTX), abraxane, or a liposomal formulation of irinotecan as effective improvements of anti-cancer drug delivery for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (177).

The use of exosomes has been extensively studied recently, in particular since they may play a role, not only in drug delivery, but also in regulating autocrine and paracrine signaling pathways which may regulate drug responses (178). Extracellular vesicles have also been used to navigate through the tumor microenvironment in glioblastoma. Such vesicles have resulted useful to deliver drugs, even through the blood-brain barrier (179). Caution, however, mut be taken since these vesicles have also biological roles such as the promotion of angiogenesis, immune suppression and facilitating recurrence, all of them pro-tumor effects. Hence, a lot of research efforts must be devoted to develop effective drug delivery mechanisms that enhance drug-targeting and reduce chemoresistance in relation to anti-cancer repurposed therapy.

## **Emerging Proteome-Based Studies**

We have mentioned that most high-throughput pathway activity and drug MoA studies are based on either sequencing known genomic targets or novel mutations or measuring gene expression by RNASeq, microarrays, or Luminex-type assays. However, quite recently proteomic-wise techniques are enhancing our capacities to probe cellular activity at the (functional) proteome and phospho-proteome level. One of such techniques is isobaric labeling mass spectrometry (8). This technique has allowed to identify and dose-stratify the binding of the drug staurosphorine to 228 cellular kinases on a single experiment. Proteomic and phosphoproteomic analyses have also allowed to reveal mechanisms of activation of NEK2 and AURKA kinases in cancer (180), thus allowing the use of drugs targeting such kinases in six different cancer types within the Clinical Proteomic Tumor Analysis Consortium (CPTAC): Breast cancer, clear cell renal carcinoma, colon cancer, lung adenocarcinoma, ovarian cancer, and uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma.

Advances in the experimental tools to study cancer proteomewise, have also called for the development of new methodological, computational, and analytical techniques, useful in drug repurposing strategies. As an example, Saei and collaborators developed a comprehensive chemical proteomics profiling approach for target deconvolution of a redox active drug auranofin (originally and antirheumatic called Ridaura) as an anti-cancer drug auranofin was
found to target genes such as TXNRD1, NFKB2, and CHORDC1, all of them known to be involved in the perturbation of oxidoreductase pathways in cancer (181). Bioinformatic platforms for the predictive analytics of drug-protein-disease data are in turn, being developed. Such is the case of rb"cando.py", a bioinformatic platform to analyze changes in proteome profiles related to drug perturbation. This method has been applied successfully to analyze repurposing of ribavririn and a novel compound LMK-235 in breast cancer and AML. The results have been validated in *in vivo* experiments and are being considered to enter a clinical phase in the near future (182). These are but a handful of examples that, however, make us anticipate further, near-future developments, in the high-throughput study of phenomena of interest for systematic drug repositioning strategies to treat cancer.

## **Concluding Remarks**

Drug repurposing in cancer is a quite complex endeavor. In order to cope with all the complexities and subtleties involved, there is a need for collaborative, multidisciplinary teams, including clinical oncologists and oncological surgeons, molecular oncologists, cancer cell biologists and pharmacologists but also bioinformaticians, computational biologists and data scientists. One emergent and quite successful avenue of research and intervention, is that of basing repurposing strategies on functional, semi-mechanistic basis as the one supplied by pathway-based analysis. This comes as no surprise, since the ultimate goal of pharmacological interventions is the modulation of functional traits and processes both at the functional and physiological levels. Hence pathway-based studies provide a close proxy as to these functional processes that make us hypothesize that findings based on these may prove to be more effective in terms of providing effective anticancer therapy.

The present review discusses recent advances in the application of computational molecular biology and bioinformatic approaches

## REFERENCES

- Bertolini F, Sukhatme VP, Bouche G. Drug repurposing in oncology patient and health systems opportunities. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2015) 12:732– 42. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.169
- Yap TA, Gerlinger M, Futreal PA, Pusztai L, Swanton C. Intratumor heterogeneity: seeing the wood for the trees. *Sci Trans Med* (2012) 4:127ps10–127ps10. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003854
- Gerlinger M, Rowan AJ, Horswell S, Larkin J, Endesfelder D, Gronroos E, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med (2012) 366:883–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1113205
- Robert C, Karaszewska B, Schachter J, Rutkowski P, Mackiewicz A, Stroiakovski D, et al. Improved overall survival in melanoma with combined dabrafenib and trametinib. *New Engl J Med* (2015) 372:30–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1412690
- Barratt MJ, Frail DE. Drug repositioning: Bringing new life to shelved assets and existing drugs. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons (2012).
- Lamb J. The connectivity map: a new tool for biomedical research. Nat Rev Cancer (2007) 7:54–60. doi: 10.1038/nrc2044
- Tsherniak A, Vazquez F, Montgomery PG, Weir BA, Kryukov G, Cowley GS, et al. Defining a cancer dependency map. *Cell* (2017) 170:564–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.06.010
- Li X, Wenes M, Romero P, Huang SC-C, Fendt S-M, Ho P-C. Navigating metabolic pathways to enhance antitumour immunity and immunotherapy. Nature Reviews. *Clin Oncol* (2019) 16:425–41. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0203-7

using high throughput omic data, mining of extensive, wellannotated databases and a cycle of experimental and clinical validation, to face some of the more evident challenges for anticancer drug repurposing. The field is flourishing so this review is not meant to be comprehensive but rather to serve as an introductory journey into a wide and fascinating research topic.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EH-L devised the project, established the outline, and made the figures. EH-L and MM-G performed literature surveys and revisions. EH-L and MM-G wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (SEP-CONACYT-2016-285544 and FRONTERAS-2017-2115), and the National Institute of Genomic Medicine, México. Additional support has been granted by the Laboratorio Nacional de Ciencias de la Complejidad, from the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México. EH-L is recipient of the 2016 Marcos Moshinsky Fellowship in the Physical Sciences.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

**Figure 1** was created with BioRender.com. The authors want to thank Gabriela Graham for her professional support with language editing and proof-reading of this manuscript.

- Lopez-Girona A, Mendy D, Ito T, Miller K, Gandhi A, Kang J, et al. Cereblon is a direct protein target for immunomodulatory and antiproliferative activities of lenalidomide and pomalidomide. *Leukemia* (2012) 26:2326–35. doi: 10.1038/leu.2012.119
- Iacopetta D, Carocci A, Sinicropi MS, Catalano A, Lentini G, Ceramella J, et al. Old drug scaffold, new activity: thalidomide-correlated compounds exert different effects on breast cancer cell growth and progression. *ChemMedChem* (2017) 12:381–9. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201600629
- 11. Shen Y, Li S, Wang X, Wang M, Tian Q, Yang J, et al. Tumor vasculature remolding by thalidomide increases delivery and efficacy of cisplatin. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 38:427. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1366-x
- Islam B, Lustberg M, Staff NP, Kolb N, Alberti P, Argyriou AA. Vinca alkaloids, thalidomide and eribulin-induced peripheral neurotoxicity: From pathogenesis to treatment. J Peripher Nerv Syst (2019) 24:S63–73. doi: 10.1111/jns.12334
- Tseng S, Pak G, Washenik K, Pomeranz MK, Shupack JL. Rediscovering thalidomide: a review of its mechanism of action, side effects, and potential uses. J Am Acad Dermatol (1996) 35:969–79. doi: 10.1016/S0190-9622(96) 90122-X
- Bera K, Schalper KA, Rimm DL, Velcheti V, Madabhushi A. Artificial intelligence in digital pathology—new tools for diagnosis and precision oncology. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2019) 16:703–15. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0252-y
- Bejnordi BE, Veta M, Van Diest PJ, Van Ginneken B, Karssemeijer N, Litjens G, et al. Diagnostic assessment of deep learning algorithms for detection of lymph node metastases in women with breast cancer. *Jama* (2017) 318:2199–210. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.14580

- Steiner DF, MacDonald R, Liu Y, Truszkowski P, Hipp JD, Gammage C, et al. Impact of deep learning assistance on the histopathologic review of lymph nodes for metastatic breast cancer. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2018) 42:1636. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000001151
- Liu Y, Kohlberger T, Norouzi M, Dahl GE, Smith JL, Mohtashamian A, et al. Artificial intelligence-based breast cancer nodal metastasis detection: Insights into the black box for pathologists. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* (2019) 143:859–68. doi: 10.5858/arpa.2018-0147-OA
- Yurkovich JT, Tian Q, Price ND, Hood L. A systems approach to clinical oncology uses deep phenotyping to deliver personalized care. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17:183–94. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0273-6
- 19. Kaissis G, Ziegelmayer S, Lohöfer F, Steiger K, Algül H, Muckenhuber A, et al. A machine learning algorithm predicts molecular subtypes in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma with differential response to gemcitabine-based versus folfirinox chemotherapy. *PloS One* (2019) 14: e0218642. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0218642
- Perales-Patón J, Di Domenico T, Fustero-Torre C, Piñeiro-Yáñez E, Carretero-Puche C, Tejero H, et al. vulcanspot: a tool to prioritize therapeutic vulnerabilities in cancer. *Bioinformatics* (2019) 35:4846–8. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btz465
- Brunen D, Bernards R. Drug therapy: Exploiting synthetic lethality to improve cancer therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2017) 14:331–2. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.46
- 22. Lord CJ, Ashworth A. Targeted therapy for cancer using parp inhibitors. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2008) 8:363–9. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2008.06.016
- Pantziarka P, Bouche G, Meheus L, Sukhatme V, Sukhatme VP, Vikas P. The repurposing drugs in oncology (redo) project. *ecancermedicalscience* (2014) 8:442. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2014.485
- Barbolosi D, Ciccolini J, Lacarelle B, Barlési F, André N. Computational oncology—mathematical modelling of drug regimens for precision medicine. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2016) 13:242. doi: 10.1038/ nrclinonc.2015.204
- Powathil GG, Swat M, Chaplain MA. Systems oncology: towards patientspecific treatment regimes informed by multiscale mathematical modelling. *Semin Cancer Biol (Elsevier)* (2015) 30:13–20. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2014.02.003
- Agur Z, Elishmereni M, Kheifetz Y. Personalizing oncology treatments by predicting drug efficacy, side-effects, and improved therapy: mathematics, statistics, and their integration. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev: Syst Biol Med* (2014) 6:239–53. doi: 10.1002/wsbm.1263
- Pento JT. Monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of cancer. Anticancer Res (2017) 37:5935–9. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.12040
- Scott AM, Allison JP, Wolchok JD. Monoclonal antibodies in cancer therapy. *Cancer Immun Arch* (2012) 12:1–5.
- Weiner LM, Dhodapkar MV, Ferrone S. Monoclonal antibodies for cancer immunotherapy. *Lancet* (2009) 373:1033–40. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09) 60251-8
- Chau CH, Steeg PS, Figg WD. Antibody–drug conjugates for cancer. Lancet (2019) 394:793–804. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31774-X
- Walko CM, West HJ. Antibody drug conjugates for cancer treatment. JAMA Oncol (2019) 5:1648–8. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.3552
- Coats S, Williams M, Kebble B, Dixit R, Tseng L, Yao N-S, et al. Antibodydrug conjugates: future directions in clinical and translational strategies to improve the therapeutic index. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25:5441–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0272
- 33. Pegram MD, Miles D, Tsui CK, Zong Y. Her2-overexpressing/amplified breast cancer as a testing ground for antibody-drug conjugate drug development in solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26:775–86. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1976
- 34. Zhang T, Li J, He Y, Yang F, Hao Y, Jin W, et al. A small molecule targeting myoferlin exerts promising anti-tumor effects on breast cancer. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06179-0
- Sakoff J, Gilbert J, McCluskey A. 100 small molecules selectively targeting breast cancer cells. *Eur J Cancer* (2014) 50:36. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(14) 70226-6
- Gonzalez-Fierro A, Dueñas-González A. Drug repurposing for cancer therapy, easier said than done. In: *Seminars in cancer biology*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2019). doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.12.012

- Shuptrine CW, Surana R, Weiner LM. Monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of cancer. Semin Cancer Biol (Elsevier) (2012) 22:3–13. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2011.12.009
- Van Nuffel AM, Sukhatme V, Pantziarka P, Meheus L, Sukhatme VP, Bouche G. Repurposing drugs in oncology (redo)—clarithromycin as an anti-cancer agent. *ecancermedicalscience* (2015) 9:513. doi: 10.3332/ ecancer.2015.568
- Dan N, Setua S, Kashyap VK, Khan S, Jaggi M, Yallapu MM, et al. Antibodydrug conjugates for cancer therapy: chemistry to clinical implications. *Pharmaceuticals* (2018) 11:32. doi: 10.3390/ph11020032
- Flemming A. Fine-tuning antibody-drug conjugates. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2014) 13:178–8. doi: 10.1038/nrd4266
- Banerji U, van Herpen CM, Saura C, Thistlethwaite F, Lord S, Moreno V, et al. Trastuzumab duocarmazine in locally advanced and metastatic solid tumours and her2-expressing breast cancer: a phase 1 dose-escalation and dose-expansion study. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20:1124–35. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30328-6
- Nowak-Sliwinska P, Scapozza L, i Altaba AR. Drug repurposing in oncology: Compounds, pathways, phenotypes and computational approaches for colorectal cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA)-Rev Cancer* (2019) 1871:434–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2019.04.005
- Chen H, Wu J, Gao Y, Chen H, Zhou J. Scaffold repurposing of old drugs towards new cancer drug discovery. *Curr Top Med Chem* (2016a) 16:2107– 14. doi: 10.2174/1568026616666160216155556
- Jeibouei S, Akbari ME, Kalbasi A, Aref AR, Ajoudanian M, Rezvani A, et al. Personalized medicine in breast cancer: pharmacogenomics approaches. *Pharmacogenomics Pers Med* (2019) 12:59. doi: 10.2147/PGPM.S167886
- Chan CW, Law BM, So WK, Chow KM, Waye MM. Novel strategies on personalized medicine for breast cancer treatment: an update. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18:2423. doi: 10.3390/ijms18112423
- 46. Massard C, Michiels S, Ferté C, Le Deley M-C, Lacroix L, Hollebecque A, et al. High throughput genomics and clinical outcome in hard-to-treat advanced cancers: results of the moscato 01 trial. *Cancer Discov* (2017) 7:586–95. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-1396
- Schram AM, Hyman DM. Quantifying the benefits of genome-driven oncology. *Cancer Discov* (2017) 7:552–4. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-0380
- Tan S-H, Lee S-C, Goh B-C, Wong J. Pharmacogenetics in breast cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14:8027–41. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-0993
- 49. Huang RS, Duan S, Shukla SJ, Kistner EO, Clark TA, Chen TX, et al. Identification of genetic variants contributing to cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity by use of a genomewide approach. *Am J Hum Genet* (2007) 81:427–37. doi: 10.1086/519850
- Angus L, Smid M, Wilting SM, van Riet J, Van Hoeck A, Nguyen L, et al. The genomic landscape of metastatic breast cancer highlights changes in mutation and signature frequencies. *Nat Genet* (2019) 51(10):1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41588-019-0507-7
- Ng CK, Bidard F-C, Piscuoglio S, Geyer FC, Lim RS, De Bruijn I, et al. Genetic heterogeneity in therapy-naive synchronous primary breast cancers and their metastases. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23:4402–15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-3115
- 52. Nik-Zainal S, Morganella S. Mutational signatures in breast cancer: the problem at the dna level. (2017), Dataset.
- 53. Nik-Zainal S, Davies H, Staaf J, Ramakrishna M, Glodzik D, Zou X, et al. Landscape of somatic mutations in 560 breast cancer whole-genome sequences. *Nature* (2016) 534:47–54. doi: 10.1038/nature17676
- Swanton C, McGranahan N, Starrett GJ, Harris RS. Apobec enzymes: mutagenic fuel for cancer evolution and heterogeneity. *Cancer Discov* (2015) 5:704–12. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-0344
- Burns MB, Lackey L, Carpenter MA, Rathore A, Land AM, Leonard B, et al. Apobec3b is an enzymatic source of mutation in breast cancer. *Nature* (2013) 494:366–70. doi: 10.1038/nature11881
- García-Campos MA, Espinal-Enríquez J, Hernández-Lemus E. Pathway analysis: state of the art. *Front Physiol* (2015) 6:383. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2015.00383
- 57. de Anda-Jáuregui G, Mejía-Pedroza RA, Espinal-Enríquez J, Hernández-Lemus E. Crosstalk events in the estrogen signaling pathway may affect

tamoxifen efficacy in breast cancer molecular subtypes. Comput Biol Chem (2015) 59:42-54. doi: 10.1016/j.compbiolchem.2015.07.004

- 58. Drier Y, Sheffer M, Domany E. Pathway-based personalized analysis of cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci (2013) 110:6388-93. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1219651110
- 59. Espinal-Enriquez J, Fresno C, Anda-Jáuregui G, Hernández-Lemus E. Rnaseq based genome-wide analysis reveals loss of inter-chromosomal regulation in breast cancer. Sci Rep (2017a) 7:1-19. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-01314-1
- 60. Espinal-Enriquez J, Mejía-Pedroza R, Hernández-Lemus E. Computational approaches in precision medicine. In: Progress and Challenges in Precision Medicine. London, UK: Elsevier (2017b). p. 233-50.
- 61. Kanehisa M, Goto S. Kegg: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. Nucleic Acids Res (2000) 28:27-30. doi: 10.1093/nar/28.1.27
- 62. Croft D, O'Kelly G, Wu G, Haw R, Gillespie M, Matthews L, et al. Reactome: a database of reactions, pathways and biological processes. Nucleic Acids Res (2010) 39:D691-7. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1018
- 63. Fabregat A, Jupe S, Matthews L, Sidiropoulos K, Gillespie M, Garapati P, et al. The reactome pathway knowledge base. Nucleic Acids Res (2018) 46: D649-55. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1132
- 64. Cerami EG, Gross BE, Demir E, Rodchenkov I, Babur Ö, Anwar N, et al. Pathway commons, a web resource for biological pathway data. Nucleic Acids Res (2010) 39:D685-90. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1039
- 65. Hewett M, Oliver DE, Rubin DL, Easton KL, Stuart JM, Altman RB, et al. Pharmgkb: the pharmacogenetics knowledge base. Nucleic Acids Res (2002) 30:163-5. doi: 10.1093/nar/30.1.163
- 66. Thorn CF, Klein TE, Altman RB. Pharmgkb. Pharmacogenomics (2005) 311:179-91. (Springer). doi: 10.1385/1-59259-957-5:179
- 67. Wishart DS, Feunang YD, Guo AC, Lo EJ, Marcu A, Grant JR, et al. Drugbank 5.0: a major update to the drugbank database for 2018. Nucleic Acids Res (2018) 46:D1074-82. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1037
- 68. Zhu F, Shi Z, Qin C, Tao L, Liu X, Xu F, et al. Therapeutic target database update 2012: a resource for facilitating target-oriented drug discovery. Nucleic Acids Res (2012) 40:D1128-36. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr797
- 69. Koboldt DC, Fulton RS, McLellan MD, Schmidt H, Kalicki-Veizer J, McMichael JF, et al. Cancer Genome Atlas Network. Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature (2012) 490 (7418):61-70. doi: 10.1038/nature11412
- 70. Weinstein JN, Collisson EA, Mills GB, Shaw KRM, Ozenberger BA, Ellrott K, et al. The cancer genome atlas pan-cancer analysis project. Nat Genet (2013) 45:1113. doi: 10.1038/ng.2764
- 71. Ciriello G, Gatza ML, Beck AH, Wilkerson MD, Rhie SK, Pastore A, et al. Comprehensive molecular portraits of invasive lobular breast cancer. Cell (2015) 163:506-19. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.09.033
- 72. Berger AC, Korkut A, Kanchi RS, Hegde AM, Lenoir W, Liu W, et al. A comprehensive pan-cancer molecular study of gynecologic and breast cancers. Cancer Cell (2018) 33:690-705. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2018-3303
- 73. Curtis C, Shah SP, Chin S-F, Turashvili G, Rueda OM, Dunning MJ, et al. The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. Nature (2012) 486:346-52. doi: 10.1038/ nature10983
- 74. Pereira B, Chin S-F, Rueda OM, Vollan H-KM, Provenzano E, Bardwell HA, et al. The somatic mutation profiles of 2,433 breast cancers refine their genomic and transcriptomic landscapes. Nat Commun (2016) 7:1-16. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11479
- 75. Milioli HH, Vimieiro R, Riveros C, Tishchenko I, Berretta R, Moscato P. The discovery of novel biomarkers improves breast cancer intrinsic subtype prediction and reconciles the labels in the metabric data set. PloS One (2015) 10:e0129711. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129711
- 76. Wang M, Klevebring D, Lindberg J, Czene K, Grönberg H, Rantalainen M. Determining breast cancer histological grade from rna-sequencing data. Breast Cancer Res (2016) 18:1-13. doi: 10.1186/s13058-016-0710-8
- 77. Dadiani M, Ben-Moshe NB, Paluch-Shimon S, Perry G, Balint N, Marin I, et al. Tumor evolution inferred by patterns of microrna expression through the course of disease, therapy, and recurrence in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res (2016) 22:3651-62. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2313
- 78. Kim YH, Jeong DC, Pak K, Goh TS, Lee C-S, Han M-E, et al. Gene network inherent in genomic big data improves the accuracy of prognostic prediction

for cancer patients. Oncotarget (2017) 8:77515. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.20548

- 79. Mucaki EJ, Baranova K, Pham HQ, Rezaeian I, Angelov D, Ngom A, et al. Predicting outcomes of hormone and chemotherapy in the molecular taxonomy of breast cancer international consortium (metabric) study by biochemically-inspired machine learning. F1000Research (2016) 5:2124. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.9417.3
- 80. Livshits A, Git A, Fuks G, Caldas C, Domany E. Pathway-based personalized analysis of breast cancer expression data. Mol Oncol (2015) 9:1471-83. doi: 10.1016/j.molonc.2015.04.006
- 81. Xue L-y, Chiu S-m, Oleinick NL. Staurosporine-induced death of mcf-7 human breast cancer cells: a distinction between caspase-3-dependent steps of apoptosis and the critical lethal lesions. Exp Cell Res (2003) 283:135-45. doi: 10.1016/S0014-4827(02)00032-0
- 82. Zambrano JN, Williams CJ, Williams CB, Hedgepeth L, Burger P, Dilday T, et al. Staurosporine, an inhibitor of hormonally up-regulated neu-associated kinase. Oncotarget (2018) 9:35962. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26311
- 83. Sun Y, Niu W, Du F, Du C, Li S, Wang J, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and antitumor properties of anlotinib, an oral multi-target tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in patients with advanced refractory solid tumors. J Hematol Oncol (2016b) 9:105. doi: 10.1186/s13045-016-0332-8
- 84. Lu J, Shi Q, Zhang L, Wu J, Lou Y, Qian J, et al. Integrated transcriptome analysis reveals klk5 and l1cam predict response to anlotinib in nsclc at 3rd line. Front Oncol (2019) 9:886. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00886
- 85. Lv Y, Zhang J, Liu F, Song M, Hou Y, Liang N. Targeted therapy with anlotinib for patient with recurrent glioblastoma: A case report and literature review. Medicine (2019) 98(22):e15749. doi: 10.1097/ MD.00000000015749
- 86. Kim J-Y, Lee E, Park K, Jung HH, Park W-Y, Lee K-H, et al. Molecular alterations and poziotinib efficacy, a pan-her inhibitor, in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (her2)-positive breast cancers: Combined exploratory biomarker analysis from a phase ii clinical trial of poziotinib for refractory her2-positive breast cancer patients. Int J Cancer (2019) 145:1669-78. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32188
- 87. Park YH, Lee K-H, Sohn JH, Lee KS, Jung KH, Kim J-H, et al. A phase ii trial of the pan-her inhibitor poziotinib, in patients with her2-positive metastatic breast cancer who had received at least two prior her2-directed regimens: results of the nov120101-203 trial. Int J Cancer (2018) 143:3240-7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31651
- Robichaux JP, Elamin YY, Vijayan R, Nilsson MB, Hu L, He J, et al. Pan-88. cancer landscape and analysis of erbb2 mutations identifies poziotinib as a clinically active inhibitor and enhancer of t-dm1 activity. Cancer Cell (2019) 36:444-57. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.09.001
- 89. Kalous O, Conklin D, Desai AJ, O'Brien NA, Ginther C, Anderson L, et al. Dacomitinib (pf-00299804), an irreversible pan-her inhibitor, inhibits proliferation of her2-amplified breast cancer cell lines resistant to trastuzumab and lapatinib. Mol Cancer Ther (2012) 11:1978-87. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-11-0730
- 90. Akhtar S, Al-Zaid B, El-Hashim AZ, Chandrasekhar B, Attur S, Yousif MH, et al. Cationic polyamidoamine dendrimers as modulators of egfr signaling in vitro and in vivo. PloS One (2015) 10:e0132215. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0132215
- 91. Lauriola M, Enuka Y, Zeisel A, D'Uva G, Roth L, Sharon-Sevilla M, et al. Diurnal suppression of egfr signalling by glucocorticoids and implications for tumour progression and treatment. Nat Commun (2014) 5:1-13. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6073
- 92. Semenova G, Chernoff J. Targeting pak1. Biochem Soc Trans (2017) 45:79-88. doi: 10.1042/BST20160134
- 93. Woo T-G, Yoon M-H, Hong S-D, Choi J, Ha N-C, Sun H, et al. Anti-cancer effect of novel pak1 inhibitor via induction of puma-mediated cell death and p21-mediated cell cycle arrest. Oncotarget (2017) 8:23690. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.15783
- 94. Masuda H, Zhang D, Bartholomeusz C, Doihara H, Hortobagyi GN, Ueno NT. Role of epidermal growth factor receptor in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat (2012) 136:331-45. doi: 10.1007/s10549-012-2289-9
- 95. Yin N, Ma W, Pei J, Ouyang Q, Tang C, Lai L. Synergistic and antagonistic drug combinations depend on network topology. PloS One (2014) 9:e93960. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093960

- Logue JS, Morrison DK. Complexity in the signaling network: insights from the use of targeted inhibitors in cancer therapy. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26:641–50. doi: 10.1101/gad.186965.112
- Sun X, Bao J, You Z, Chen X, Cui J. Modeling of signaling crosstalkmediated drug resistance and its implications on drug combination. *Oncotarget* (2016a) 7:63995. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11745
- Camidge DR, Pao W, Sequist LV. Acquired resistance to tkis in solid tumours: learning from lung cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2014) 11:473. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.104
- Ivanov M, Barragan I, Ingelman-Sundberg M. Epigenetic mechanisms of importance for drug treatment. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2014) 35:384–96. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2014.05.004
- 100. Behar M, Barken D, Werner SL, Hoffmann A. The dynamics of signaling as a pharmacological target. *Cell* (2013) 155:448–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013. 09.018
- 101. Chen X, Ren B, Chen M, Wang Q, Zhang L, Yan G. Nllss: predicting synergistic drug combinations based on semi-supervised learning. *PloS Comput Biol* (2016b) 12:e1004975. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004975
- 102. Chen X, Yan CC, Zhang X, Zhang X, Dai F, Yin J, et al. Drug-target interaction prediction: databases, web servers and computational models. *Briefings Bioinf* (2016c) 17:696–712. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbv066
- 103. Kirouac DC, Du JY, Lahdenranta J, Overland R, Yarar D, Paragas V, et al. Computational modeling of erbb2-amplified breast cancer identifies combined erbb2/3 blockade as superior to the combination of mek and akt inhibitors. *Sci Signaling* (2013) 6:ra68–8. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004008
- Huang T-X, Guan X-Y, Fu L. Therapeutic targeting of the crosstalk between cancer associated fibroblasts and cancer stem cells. *Am J Cancer Res* (2019) 9:1889.
- 105. Liang F, Ren C, Wang J, Wang S, Yang L, Han X, et al. The crosstalk between stat3 and p53/ras signaling controls cancer cell metastasis and cisplatin resistance via the slug/mapk/pi3k/akt mediated regulation of emt and autophagy. Oncogenesis (2019) 8:1–15. doi: 10.1038/s41389-019-0165-8
- 106. Dhanasekaran R, Baylot V, Kim M, Kuruvilla S, Bellovin DII, Adeniji N, et al. Myc and twist1 cooperate to drive metastasis by eliciting crosstalk between cancer and innate immunity. *Elife* (2020) 9:e50731. doi: 10.7554/eLife.50731
- 107. Chen H-T, Liu H, Mao M-J, Tan Y, Mo X-Q, Meng X-J, et al. Crosstalk between autophagy and epithelial-mesenchymal transition and its application in cancer therapy. *Mol Cancer* (2019) 18:1–19. 663. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1030-2
- Sidorov P, Naulaerts S, Ariey-Bonnet J, Pasquier E, Ballester P. Predicting synergism of cancer drug combinations using nci-almanac data. *Front Chem* (2019) 7:509. doi: 10.3389/fchem.2019.00509
- 109. Li H, Li T, Quang D, Guan Y. Network propagation predicts drug synergy in cancers. *Cancer Res* (2018) 78:5446–57. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-0740
- 110. Celebi R, Don't Walk OB, Movva R, Alpsoy S, Dumontier M. In-silico prediction of synergistic anti-cancer drug combinations using multi-omics data. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9:1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45236-6
- 111. Tosi D, Pérez-Gracia E, Atis S, Vié N, Combès E, Gabanou M, et al. Rational development of synergistic combinations of chemotherapy and molecular targeted agents for colorectal cancer treatment. *BMC Cancer* (2018) 18:812. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4712-z
- 112. Norouzi S, Valokala MG, Mosaffa F, Zirak MR, Zamani P, Behravan J. Crosstalk in cancer resistance and metastasis. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2018) 132:145–53. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2018.09.017
- 113. Choe C, Shin Y-S, Kim C, Choi S-J, Lee J, Kim SY, et al. Crosstalk with cancer associated fibroblasts induces resistance of non-small cell lung cancer cells to epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition. *Onco Targets Ther* (2015) 8:3665. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S89659
- 114. Furth N, Bossel N, Pozniak Y, Geiger T, Domany E, Aylon Y, et al. Tumor suppressor crosstalk: Hippo and p53. Eur J Cancer (2016) 61:S50. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(16)61166-8
- 115. Marton MJ, DeRisi JL, Bennett HA, Iyer VR, Meyer MR, Roberts CJ, et al. Drug target validation and identification of secondary drug target effects using dna microarrays. *Nat Med* (1998) 4:1293–301. doi: 10.1038/3282
- O'Donnell III JJ, Somberg JC, O'Donnell JT. Introduction to drug discovery and development. In: *Drug Discovery and Development, Third Edition*. Boca Raton: CRC Press (2019). p. 1–13.

- 117. Bourdeau V, Desche<sup>^</sup>nes J, Laperrie<sup>^</sup>re D, Aid M, White JH, Mader S. Mechanisms of primary and secondary estrogen target gene regulation in breast cancer cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2008) 36:76–93. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkm945
- 118. Whitebread S, Dumotier B, Armstrong D, Fekete A, Chen S, Hartmann A, et al. Secondary pharmacology: screening and interpretation of off-target activities–focus on translation. *Drug Discov Today* (2016) 21:1232–42. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2016.04.021
- 119. de Anda-Jáuregui G, Espinal-Enríquez J, Hur J, Alcalá-Corona SA, Ruiz-Azuara L, Hernández- Lemus E. Identification of casiopeina ii-gly secondary targets through a systems pharmacology 698 approach. *Comput Biol Chem* (2019a) 78:127–32. doi: 10.1016/j.compbiolchem.2018.11.021
- 120. Tate JG, Bamford S, Jubb HC, Sondka Z, Beare DM, Bindal N, et al. Cosmic: the catalogue of somatic mutations in cancer. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2019) 47: D941–7. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1015
- 121. Jubb HC, Saini HK, Verdonk ML, Forbes SA. Cosmic-3d provides structural perspectives on cancer genetics for drug discovery. *Nat Genet* (2018) 50:1200–2. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0214-9
- 122. de Anda-Jáuregui G, Guo K, Hur J. Network-based assessment of adverse drug reaction risk in polypharmacy using high-throughput screening data. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019b) 20:386. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020386
- 123. Dang TO, Ogunniyi A, Barbee MS, Drilon A. Pembrolizumab for the treatment of pd-l1 positive advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2016) 16:13–20. doi: 10.1586/ 14737140.2016.1123626
- 124. Issa NT, Stathias V, Schu"rer S, Dakshanamurthy S. Machine and deep learning approaches for cancer drug repurposing. In: *Seminars in Cancer Biology*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2020). doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2019.12.011
- Maldonado AG, Doucet J, Petitjean M, Fan B-T. Molecular similarity and diversity in chemoinformatics: from theory to applications. *Mol Diversity* (2006) 10:39–79. doi: 10.1007/s11030-006-8697-1
- 126. Gilson MK, Liu T, Baitaluk M, Nicola G, Hwang L, Chong J. Bindingdb in 2015: a public database for medicinal chemistry, computational chemistry and systems pharmacology. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2016) 44:D1045–53. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv1072
- 127. Deshmukh AL, Chandra S, Singh DK, Siddiqi MII, Banerjee D. Identification of human flap endonuclease 1 (fen1) inhibitors using a machine learning based consensus virtual screening. *Mol Biosyst* (2017) 13:1630–9. doi: 10.1039/C7MB00118E
- Algamal ZY, Lee MH, Al-Fakih AM, Aziz M. High-dimensional qsar prediction of anticancer potency of imidazo [4, 5-b] pyridine derivatives using adjusted adaptive lasso. J Chemometr (2015) 29:547–56. doi: 10.1002/ cem.2741
- 129. Cortes-Ciriano I, Murrell DS, van Westen GJ, Bender A, Malliavin TE. Prediction of the potency of mammalian cyclooxygenase inhibitors with ensemble proteochemometric modeling. J Cheminform (2015) 7:1. doi: 10.1186/s13321-014-0049-z
- 130. Kadurin A, Aliper A, Kazennov A, Mamoshina P, Vanhaelen Q, Khrabrov K, et al. The cornucopia of meaningful leads: Applying deep adversarial autoencoders for new molecule development in oncology. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:10883. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14073
- 131. Simm J, Klambauer G, Arany A, Steijaert M, Wegner JK, Gustin E, et al. Repurposing high-throughput image assays enables biological activity prediction for drug discovery. *Cell Chem Biol* (2018) 25:611–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2018.01.015
- 132. Sirota M, Dudley JT, Kim J, Chiang AP, Morgan AA, Sweet-Cordero A, et al. Discovery and preclinical validation of drug indications using compendia of public gene expression data. *Sci Trans Med* (2011) 3:96ra77–7. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.3001318
- Kandela I, Aird F. Replication study: discovery and preclinical validation of drug indications using compendia of public gene expression data. *Elife* (2017) 6:e17044. doi: 10.7554/eLife.17044
- Jung K, LePendu P, Shah N. Automated detection of systematic off-label drug use in free text of electronic medical records. AMIA Summits Trans Sci Proc (2013) 2013:94.
- 135. Xu H, Aldrich MC, Chen Q, Liu H, Peterson NB, Dai Q, et al. Validating drug repurposing signals using electronic health records: a case study of

metformin associated with reduced cancer mortality. J Am Med Inf Assoc (2015) 22:179–91. doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002649

- 136. Johnson TS, Mcgaha T, Munn DH. Chemo-immunotherapy: role of indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase in defining immunogenic versus tolerogenic cell death in the tumor microenvironment. In: *Tumor Immune Microenvironment in Cancer Progression and Cancer Therapy*. Switzerland: Springer (2017) 1036, p. 91–104. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-67577-0\_7
- 137. Shameer K, Glicksberg BS, Hodos R, Johnson KW, Badgeley MA, Readhead B, et al. Systematic analyses of drugs and disease indications in repurposedb reveal pharmacological, biological and epidemiological factors influencing drug repositioning. *Briefings Bioinf* (2018) 19:656–78. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbw136
- 138. Nagaraj A, Wang Q, Joseph P, Zheng C, Chen Y, Kovalenko O, et al. Using a novel computational drug-repositioning approach (drugpredict) to rapidly identify potent drug candidates for cancer treatment. *Oncogene* (2018) 37:403–14. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.328
- Peyvandipour A, Saberian N, Shafi A, Donato M, Draghici S. A novel computational approach for drug repurposing using systems biology. *Bioinformatics* (2018) 34:2817–25. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bty133
- 140. Koleti A, Terryn R, Stathias V, Chung C, Cooper DJ, Turner JP, et al. Data portal for the library of integrated network-based cellular signatures (lincs) program: integrated access to diverse large-scale cellular perturbation response data. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2018) 46:D558–66. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx1063
- 141. Sleire L, Førde HE, Netland IA, Leiss L, Skeie BS, Enger PØ. Drug repurposing in cancer. *Pharmacol Res* (2017) 124:74–91. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.07.013
- 142. Pushpakom S, Iorio F, Eyers PA, Escott KJ, Hopper S, Wells A, et al. Drug repurposing: progress, challenges and recommendations. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2019) 18:41–58. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.168
- 143. Oprea TII, Nielsen SK, Ursu O, Yang JJ, Taboureau O, Mathias SL, et al. Associating drugs, targets and clinical outcomes into an integrated network affords a new platform for computer-aided drug repurposing. *Mol Inf* (2011) 30:100–11. doi: 10.1002/minf.201100023
- 144. Mottini C, Napolitano F, Li Z, Gao X, Cardone L. Computer-aided drug repurposing for cancer therapy: approaches and opportunities to challenge anticancer targets. In: *Seminars in Cancer Biology*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2019). doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.09.023
- 145. Wicks P, Vaughan TE, Massagli MP, Heywood J. Accelerated clinical discovery using self-reported patient data collected online and a patientmatching algorithm. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29:411–4. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1837
- 146. Palve V, Liao Y, Rix LLR, Rix U. Turning liabilities into opportunities: Offtarget based drug repurposing in cancer. In: *Seminars in Cancer Biology*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2020). doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer. 2020.02.003
- 147. Andronis C, Sharma A, Virvilis V, Deftereos S, Persidis A. Literature mining, ontologies and information visualization for drug repurposing. *Briefings Bioinf* (2011) 12:357–68. doi: 10.1093/bib/bbr005
- 148. Tran AA, Prasad V. Drug repurposing for cancer treatments: A wellintentioned, but misguided strategy. *Lancet Oncol* (2020) 21:1134–6. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30424-1
- 149. Dinić J, Efferth T, García-Sosa AT, Grahovac J, Padrón JM, Pajeva I, et al. Repurposing old drugs to fight multidrug resistant cancers. *Drug Resist Updat* (2020) 52:100713. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2020.100713
- Hassanabad AF, McBride SA. Statins as potential therapeutics for lung cancer: molecular mechanisms and clinical outcomes. *Am J Clin Oncol* (2019) 42:732–6. doi: 10.1097/COC.000000000000579
- 151. Kuang Z, Bao Y, Thomson J, Caldwell M, Peissig P, Stewart R, et al. A machinelearning based drug repurposing approach using baseline regularization. In: *Computational Methods for Drug Repurposing*. New York, NY: Springer (2019). 1903 p. 255–67. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8955-3\_15
- 152. Aliper A, Plis S, Artemov A, Ulloa A, Mamoshina P, Zhavoronkov A. Deep learning applications for predicting pharmacological properties of drugs and drug repurposing using transcriptomic data. *Mol Pharm* (2016) 13:2524–30. doi: 10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.6b00248
- 153. Zhang L, Tan J, Han D, Zhu H. From machine learning to deep learning: progress in machine intelligence for rational drug discovery. *Drug Discov Today* (2017) 22:1680–5. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2017.08.010
- Chen H, Engkvist O, Wang Y, Olivecrona M, Blaschke T. The rise of deep learning in drug discovery. *Drug Discov Today* (2018) 23:1241–50. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2018.01.039

- 155. Adam G, Rampášek L, Safikhani Z, Smirnov P, Haibe-Kains B, Goldenberg A. Machine learning approaches to drug response prediction: challenges and recent progress. *NPJ Precis Oncol* (2020) 4:1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41698-020-0122-1
- 156. Ekins S, Puhl AC, Zorn KM, Lane TR, Russo DP, Klein JJ, et al. Exploiting machine learning for end-to-end drug discovery and development. *Nat Mater* (2019) 18:435. doi: 10.1038/s41563-019-0338-z
- 157. Stein RA. Drug targets identified more discerningly: Using synthetic lethal screens, single-cell analyses, mechanism-of-action studies, and nextgeneration crispr systems, drug developers can zero in on strategic targets. *Genet Eng Biotechnol News* (2020) 40:26–8. doi: 10.1089/gen.40.09.07
- Pareja F, Marchiò C, Geyer FC, Weigelt B, Reis-Filho JS. Breast cancer heterogeneity: roles in tumorigenesis and therapeutic implications. *Curr Breast Cancer Rep* (2017) 9:34–44. doi: 10.1007/s12609-017-0233-z
- 159. Niklasson M, Bergström T, Jarvius M, Sundström A, Nyberg F, Haglund C, et al. Mesenchymal transition and increased therapy resistance of glioblastoma cells is related to astrocyte reactivity. *J Pathol* (2019) 249:295–307. doi: 10.1002/path.5317
- 160. Firuzi O, Che P, El Hassouni B, Buijs M, Coppola S, Löhr M, et al. Role of cmet inhibitors in overcoming drug resistance in spheroid models of primary human pancreatic cancer and stellate cells. *Cancers* (2019) 11:638. doi: 10.3390/cancers11050638
- 161. Hayden A, Manousopoulou A, Cowie A, Walker R, Sharpe BP, Harrington J, et al. Modulation of the tumour promoting functions of cancer associated fibroblasts by phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibition increases the efficacy of chemotherapy in human preclinical models of esophageal adenocarcinoma. *bioRxiv* (2020) 1–30. doi: 10.1101/2020.04.21.052647
- Ghosh A, Radhakrishnan R. Heterogeneous multi-scale framework for cancer systems models and clinical applications. *bioRxiv* (2019) 633933. doi: 10.1101/633933
- 163. Chory EJ, Kirkland JG, Chang C-Y, D'Andrea VD, Gourinsankar S, Dykhuizen EC, et al. Inhibition of a selective swi/snf function synergizes with atr inhibitors in cancer cell killing. *bioRxiv* (2019) 660456. doi: 10.1101/ 660456
- 164. Irham LM, Wong HS-C, Chou W-H, Adikusuma W, Mugiyanto E, Huang W-C, et al. Integration of genetic variants and gene network for drug repurposing in colorectal cancer. *Pharmacol Res* (2020) 161:105203. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.105203
- 165. Fong W, To KK. Drug repurposing to overcome resistance to various therapies for colorectal cancer. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2019) 1–24. doi: 10.1007/ s00018-019-03134-0
- 166. Pareek S, Huang Y, Nath A, Huang RS. The success story of drug repurposing in breast cancer. In: *Drug Repurposing in Cancer Therapy*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2020). p. 173–90. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-819668-7.00006-3
- 167. To KK, Cho WC. Drugs repurposed to potentiate immunotherapy for cancer treatment. In: *Drug Repurposing in Cancer Therapy*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2020). p. 311–34. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-819668-7.00012-9
- Wojcicki AV, Kadapakkam M, Frymoyer A, Lacayo N, Chae H-D, Sakamoto KM. Repurposing drugs for acute myeloid leukemia: A worthy cause or a futile pursuit? *Cancers* (2020) 12:441. doi: 10.3390/cancers12020441
- 169. Roszik J, Khan A, Conley AP, Livingston JA, Groisberg R, Ravi V, et al. Unique aberrations in intimal sarcoma identified by next-generation sequencing as potential therapy targets. *Cancers* (2019) 11:1283. doi: 10.3390/cancers11091283
- 170. Yang J, Xu WW, Hong P, Ye F, Huang X-H, Hu H-F, et al. Adefovir dipivoxil sensitizes colon cancer cells to vemurafenib by disrupting the kctd12-cdk1 interaction. *Cancer Lett* (2019) 451:79–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.canlet.2019.02.050
- 171. HemaSree G, PrasannaMarise VL, Pai RR, Jos SM, Murthy MK, Saraswathy GR. Unveiling potential anticancer drugs through in silico drug repurposing approaches. In: *Drug Repurposing in Cancer Therapy*. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier (2020). p. 81–119. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-819668-7.00004-X
- Brown AS, Kong SW, Kohane IS, Patel CJ. ksrepo: a generalized platform for computational drug repositioning. *BMC Bioinf* (2016) 17:1–5. doi: 10.1186/ s12859-016-0931-y

- 173. Meng Q, Wang S, Zhou S, Liu H, Ma X, Zhou X, et al. Dissecting the m 6 a methylation affection on afatinib resistance in non-small cell lung cancer. *Pharmacogenomics J* (2020) 20:227–34. doi: 10.1038/s41397-019-0110-4
- 174. Nunes SP, Henrique R, Jerónimo C, Paramio JM. Dna methylation as a therapeutic target for bladder cancer. *Cells* (2020) 9:1850. doi: 10.3390/ cells9081850
- 175. Guerini AE, Triggiani L, Maddalo M, Bonù ML, Frassine F, Baiguini A, et al. Mebendazole as a candidate for drug repurposing in oncology: An extensive review of current literature. *Cancers* (2019) 11:1284. doi: 10.3390/cancers11091284
- 176. Cha GD, Kang T, Baik S, Kim D, Choi SH, Hyeon T, et al. Advances in drug delivery technology for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme. *J Controlled Release* (2020) 328:350–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.09.002
- 177. Lei F, Xi X, Batra SK, Bronich TK. Combination therapies and drug delivery platforms in combating pancreatic cancer. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2019) 370:682–94. doi: 10.1124/jpet.118.255786
- Milman N, Ginini L, Gil Z. Exosomes and their role in tumorigenesis and anticancer drug resistance. *Drug Resist Updat* (2019) 45:1–12. doi: 10.1016/ j.drup.2019.07.003
- 179. Simon T, Jackson E, Giamas G. Breaking through the glioblastoma microenvironment via extracellular vesicles. Oncogene (2020) 4477–90. doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-1308-2

- 180. Deb B, Sengupta P, Sambath J, Kumar P. Bioinformatics analysis of global proteomic and phosphoproteomic data sets revealed activation of nek2 and aurka in cancers. *Biomolecules* (2020) 10:237. doi: 10.3390/biom10020237
- 181. Saei AA, Gullberg H, Sabatier P, Beusch CM, Johansson K, Lundgren B, et al. Comprehensive chemical proteomics for target deconvolution of the redox active drug auranofin. *Redox Biol* (2020) 101491. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2020.101491
- 182. Mangione W, Falls Z, Chopra G, Samudrala R. cando. py: Open source software for predictive bioanalytics of large scale drug-protein-disease data. *J Chem Inf Model* (2020) 60(9):4131–6. doi: 10.1101/845545

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Hernández-Lemus and Martínez-García. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## CRISPR-dCas9-Based Artificial Transcription Factors to Improve Efficacy of Cancer Treatment With Drug Repurposing: Proposal for Future Research

#### Alejandro Martinez-Escobar, Benjamín Luna-Callejas and Eva Ramón-Gallegos\*

Environmental Cytopathology Laboratory, Department of Morphology, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico City, Mexico

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Teresita Padilla-Benavides, Wesleyan University, United States

#### Reviewed by: Pilar Acedo-Nunez,

University College London, United Kingdom Sabriya Syed, University of Massachusetts Medical School, United States

> \*Correspondence: Eva Ramón-Gallegos eramong@ipn.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 10 September 2020 Accepted: 18 December 2020 Published: 03 February 2021

#### Citation:

Martinez-Escobar A, Luna-Callejas B and Ramón-Gallegos E (2021) CRISPR-dCas9-Based Artificial Transcription Factors to Improve Efficacy of Cancer Treatment With Drug Repurposing: Proposal for Future Research. Front. Oncol. 10:604948. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.604948 Due to the high resistance that cancer has shown to conventional therapies, it is difficult to treat this disease, particularly in advanced stages. In recent decades, treatments have been improved, being more specific according to the characteristics of the tumor, becoming more effective, less toxic, and invasive. Cancer can be treated by the combination of surgery, radiation therapy, and/or drug administration, but therapies based on anticancer drugs are the main cancer treatment. Cancer drug development requires long-time preclinical and clinical studies and is not cost-effective. Drug repurposing is an alternative for cancer therapies development since it is faster, safer, easier, cheaper, and repurposed drugs do not have serious side effects. However, cancer is a complex, heterogeneous, and highly dynamic disease with multiple evolving molecular constituents. This tumor heterogeneity causes several resistance mechanisms in cancer therapies, mainly the target mutation. The CRISPR-dCas9based artificial transcription factors (ATFs) could be used in cancer therapy due to their possibility to manipulate DNA to modify target genes, activate tumor suppressor genes, silence oncogenes, and tumor resistance mechanisms for targeted therapy. In addition, drug repurposing combined with the use of CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs could be an alternative cancer treatment to reduce cancer mortality. The aim of this review is to describe the potential of the repurposed drugs combined with CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs to improve the efficacy of cancer treatment, discussing the possible advantages and disadvantages.

Keywords: cancer treatment, drug repurposing, CRISPR-Cas9, artificial transcription factors, CRISPR-dCas9based ATFs

## INTRODUCTION

Cancer represents one of the most important health challenges in the world. It can be treated by the combination of surgery, radiation therapy, and/or drug administration. Surgery and radiation are used to treat cancer that is confined locally and drug therapy is used to kill metastasized cancer cells (1, 2). Cancer therapies provide different efficiency degrees depending on the tumor type and

114

therapy applied; however, anticancer drug-based therapies are the main treatment used in different tumor types (2). Anticancer drugs are classified as pregenomic and genomic era drugs. Pregenomic era drugs are targeted against a tumor phenotype, whereas genomic era drugs are developed after the target is identified by using molecular techniques that consider intratumoral genetic heterogeneity (1, 3, 4). Furthermore, cancer drug development takes an average of 11.4-13.5 years and an investment from 161 to 1,800 million dollars per drug (5-7). An alternative solution to this problem is drug repurposing which is the application of a drug for another indication than it was originally approved. It helps to reduce development costs and gets a more rapid return on investment in the development of repurposed drugs (7-11). Some repurposed drugs have demonstrated antitumor efficacy by inducing cancer cell death or suppressing various genes related to cancer (12). There are different mechanisms by which the repurposed drugs cause antitumor effects, however, it is important to study mechanisms that regulate gene expression related to proliferation and cell death to improve the cancer treatment efficacy and avoid drug resistance. The possibility to combine pregenomic era drugs and molecular tools could increase tumor cell killing and reduce the likelihood of drug resistance (1).

The artificial transcription factors (ATFs) are molecular tools that can manage the gene expression to induce changes in different cell stages (13, 14). Within the different types of ATFs, the emerging CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs have been used to precisely regulate gene expression in different *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. Aforementioned, these molecular tools are a promising strategy for cancer treatment at the transcriptional level (15, 16). In addition, it is important in cancer research to identify new drug combinations that generate synergistic effects and thereby achieve more efficient therapies (4, 17).

For this reason, in this review, we described the possibility to implement a cancer therapy with CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs combined with repurposed drugs, to regulate gene expression related to pharmacodynamics of the repurposed drug and/or MDR genes of the cancer cells.

## DRUG REPURPOSING USED IN CANCER THERAPIES

Cancer drug development requires preclinical and clinical studies to extensively test and characterize their pharmacological properties, efficacy, antineoplastic effects, and toxicity (5, 12). The time to develop and license new drugs are often longer than the identification of new targets for chemotherapeutic intervention (18). The pharmacodynamics of the cancer drug has to be identified and validated to proceed to clinical trials. For that reason, drug repurposing is a great opportunity for alternative cancer therapy development, since it is faster, safer, easier, and cheaper (3) and because most of the non-cancer drugs have little or tolerable adverse effects for human health, contrary to chemotherapeutic agents that have relevant side effects that significantly reduce life quality (19). Despite drug repurposing in cancer advantages, drugs are affected by multidrug-resistant (MDR) mechanisms that decrease their pharmacodynamic, enhance degradation of the drug, and reduce uptake. In this way, it is important to tackle genetic heterogeneity and drug resistance in cancer through the drug combination with molecular tools. One possible solution for this situation is to use CRISPR technology to silence MDR genes and increase cancer treatment effectiveness (1).

## **CRISPR THERAPY IN CHEMOSENSITIVITY**

Multiple drug resistance is caused by the differential expression of genes in tumor cells, commonly called multidrug resistance genes (MDR). This resistance is responsible for unsuccessful chemotherapies and causing high mortality in a short time. An alternative to overcome this challenge is to silence or inactivate these MDR genes (20–22). In recent years, the clustered, regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) in combination with a CRISPR-associated nuclease 9 (Cas9) have been used for this purpose due to its practical use, versatility, and its cleavage efficiency in almost any target sequence (20, 23). The CRISPR-Cas9 system is formed of an RNA-guided endonuclease (Cas9/sgRNA complex) which consists of the single guided RNA (sgRNA) fuses with Cas9. The sgRNA is formed by a CRISPR RNA (crRNA) and a trans-activating crRNA (tracrRNA) (21, 22).

For cancer therapy, each CRISPR therapeutic target is selected by the tumor type. For example, CRISPR-Cas9 targeting the CXC chemokine receptor 4 (CXCR4) was evaluated *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies on hepatocarcinoma, which significantly decreased its expression and inhibited cell proliferation and migration leading to less invasiveness and also significantly increased the chemosensitivity to cisplatin (24). In another study, the CRISPR-Cas9 system was used to deactivate the Nuclear Erythroid 2-Related Factor (NRF2) gene in lung cancer cells. It showed an increase in the sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents such as cisplatin and carboplatin (25).

Similarly, CRISPR has been evaluated to increase chemosensitivity in breast cancer by inactivating or downregulating the MDR1 gene (also known as ABCB1) that significantly increased the doxorubicin cytotoxicity in resistant chemotherapy breast cancer cells. These data suggested that the mutation of the MDR1 gene by intracellular administration of the CRISPR-Cas9 complex recovered the drug susceptibility and avoided multidrug resistance in breast cancer cells (26).

In ovarian cancer, chemosensitivity with CRISPR-Cas9 has also been increased from the inactivation of the MDR1 gene that encodes the P-gp protein. This decrease in expression was associated with a greater sensitivity to doxorubicin (27). Likewise, the PARP-1 gene has been suppressed by CRISPR-Cas9 in ovarian cancer and caused a greater sensitivity to cisplatin in cancer cells (28). In osteosarcoma, P-gp expression can be effectively blocked by CRISPR-Cas9, and P-gp inhibition was associated with reversal of doxorubicin resistance in MDR osteosarcoma cell lines (KHOSR2 and U-2OSR2). For that reason, the CRISPR-Cas9 system increased the long-term chemotherapy efficacy by overcoming P-gp-mediated MDR in the clinical setting (29).

Although sometimes it is enough to inactivate a gene to reverse chemotherapy resistance, the tumor types can have several target genes that can lead to the same goal of making it chemosensitive. For example, p53 was overexpressed to make cells more sensitive to doxorubicin chemotherapy and a greater effect on chemosensitization of resistant osteosarcoma cells was obtained (30).

Due to the above, the use of the CRISPR-Cas9 tool combined with chemotherapy can enhance the efficacy of the elimination of various tumor cell types. However, the specificity of Cas9/sgRNA needs to be carefully evaluated since Cas9/sgRNA can have undesired off-target targets and cut essential genes for the patient (20). For this reason, the CRISPR-dCas9 system has been used due to its deactivated nickase activity that does not make cuts in the genetic sequence and it does not permanently inactivate genes and thereby reduces desire off-target effects (31, 32).

## CRISPR-dCas9-BASED ARTIFICIAL TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS

ATFs are used to express and/or suppress target genes. They consist of molecular domains such as DNA-binding domains

(DBD) that confer sequence specificity and may target similar sites in the genome with different affinity degrees. Several DBDs are used for the design of ATFs, including zinc fingers (ZF) (Figure 1A), transcription activator-like effectors (TALEs) (Figure 1B), and the CRISPR-dCas9 system (Figure 1C) (14, 32, 33).

ATFs also have an effector domain (ED) that interact with DBD to activate or repress transcription of target genes by blocking the transcription process (14, 34, 35).

The CRISPR-dCas9 system nuclease activity is deactivated by mutations (Cas9 mutated is called dCas9) and an ED can be incorporated to allow its function as ATFs. The dCas9 retained the DNA-binding specificity of wild-type Cas9, without causing a DNA double-strand cleavage altering the host DNA sequence (26). Furthermore, the dCas9 protein requires sgRNA for its specificity. Multiple sgRNAs can be easily designed and synthesized, making the CRISPR-dCas9 system suitable for testing more than one target simultaneously (14, 35–37).

The combinatorial effect of the use of CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs with certain chemotherapeutics makes it possible to completely eradicate tumor cells. It has been seen that a long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) KCNQ1OT1 was overexpressed in squamous cell carcinoma tissues and lung cancer which were resistant to cisplatin (38, 39). By using CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs (**Figure 1C**) with interfering function in expression called CRISPR interference (CRISPRi), KCNQ1OT1 expression was inhibited in CAL27-res and SCC9-res cells that improved the





chemosensitivity to cisplatin. While using CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs with activating function in expression called CRISPR activator (CRISPRa), expression levels of KCNQ1OT1 increased by promoting cell growth and returning chemoresistance in the cells. The CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs are useful tools in gene overexpression and underexpression, which improves chemosensitivity (38).

Currently, CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs have been applied in drug resistance, epigenetic regulation, and immune regulation in various cell lines such as squamous cell carcinoma (CAL27-res and SCC9-res), breast cancer (E0771), pancreatic adenocarcinoma (Pan02), melanoma cells (B16F10), hepatoma (Hep3B), lung (H157), etc (22, 38, 40-42).

CRISPRa has been used to express the target antigenic peptide (SIINFEKL) in breast cancer (E0771), pancreatic adenocarcinoma (Pan02), and melanoma (B16F10) cells, in an orthotopic model in mice to enhance the elimination of tumor cells through the immune response generated by the peptide (40). Similarly, in lung cancer cells (H157), CRISPRa activated the expression of MASPIN (mammary serine protease inhibitor) that led to a concomitant cell proliferation inhibition and apoptosis induction (42).

Several in vivo studies with mice models have validated the use of CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs as regulators of the gene expression related to cancer development. However, more studies on the offtarget effects of this tool are still lacking before moving to clinical phases (36). In addition, CRISPR technologies in vivo transfection efficiencies are still relatively low; hence for the implementation of this technology in the clinic for cancer treatment, it is necessary to continue with scientific research on the most plausible in vivo administration of these ATFs to target tissues (43). The ideal in vivo delivery system should cause low immunogenicity and direct the dCas9/sgRNA to the interested organ or cell type (44). There is a variety of in vivo delivery systems like viral vectors (adenovirus and lentivirus) that are very efficient (36), but they could have side effects due to their potential carcinogenesis and immunogenicity (15, 45, 46). Another delivery system is the DNA plasmid. However, since the size of CRISPR/Cas9 plasmids is larger than other plasmids, they exhibit a higher charge density, and more polycations are required to condense them (46, 47). Currently, with the help of nanotechnology, different administration methods of the system based on metal, polymeric, or lipid nanoparticles have emerged (44, 48, 49). The use of these nanoparticles can improve transfection efficiency, reduce off-target effects, decrease systemic toxicity, and immune risks associated with transfection (45).

Since cancer is involved in multiple and complex cellular pathways that affect the efficacy of the therapies, drug combination therapies might be an alternative strategy to have a higher success rate in the clinical application (17). For this reason, in this review, it is proposed to use CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs for cancer therapies in combination with repurposed drugs whose action mechanisms are to regulate the expression of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes or to inactivate MDR genes. Table 1 summarizes the repurposed drugs analyzed in this study from several pharmacological classes. As selection criteria, all drugs are currently being evaluated in clinical trials for cancer therapy, and they have been observed in in vitro studies on various cancer types,

[ABLE 1 ] Repurposed drugs proposed for cancer therapy combination with CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs

(12, 53–55) (12, 56)	(12, 59) (12, 57) (12, 58)	(12, 59, 60) (4, 6, 19, 53–55) (12, 56)	(12, 61, 62)	(12, 63)	(12, 64, 65)	(12, 66, 67)	

CRISPR-dCas9-Rased ATEs for Cancer Treatment

Drug	Pharmacological class	Original indication	Effect of the drug on gene regulation related to cancer	Complementary gene regulation with CRISPR-dCas9	Cancer types	Refs.
Digitoxin Chlorpromazine	Cardiac glycosides Antipsychotic drugs	Cardiac conditions Psychosis, schi-zophrenia, bioolar disorder	Expression of p21 Expression of p21 Suppression of oncogene K-Ras	Suppression of HIF-1 and HIF-2 Expression of p53	Prostate, lung, breast Colorectal, glioma, leukemia	(12, 19, 50) (12, 51, 52)
Mebendazole	Microbiological agents	Parasitic worm infection	Expression of pro-apoptotic BcI-2	Suppression of ABL and BRAF oncogenes	Colorectal, melanoma, glioblastoma	(12, 53–55)
Ritonavir Nelfinavir	Antiviral Antiviral	HIV treatment HIV treatment	Expression of p53 Suppression of pRb Expression of DR5 and inhibition of AKT	Expression of p21 Expression of SREBP-1 and ATF6	Ovary, breast pancreatic Lung, ovary, breast	(12, 56) (12, 57)
Naproxen	NSAIDs	Antiinflammatory	Suppression of genes for COX-enzymes	Expression of PI3K	Leukemia, breast, colorectal, osteosarcoma	(12, 58)
Ibuprofen Aspirine	NSAIDs Salicylate	Pain, fever, antiinflammatory Pain, fever	Expression of Akt, p53, Bcl-2 and Bax Suppression of Sp transcription factors family	Suppression of genes for COX-enzymes Suppression of genes for COX-enzymes	Colorectal, melanoma Colorectal	(12, 59, 60) (4, 6, 19, 53–55)
Metformine	Oral antidiabetic	Diabetes II	Inhibition of mTORC1 and Activation of AMPK	Expression of AMPK	Hepatocarcinoma, breast, colorectal. prostate	(12, 56)
Artesunate	Microbiological agents	Malaria	Expression of pro-apoptotic proteins such as caspase-3	Suppression of antiapoptotic proteins and MYC oncogenes.	Lymphoma, myeloma, hepatocarcinoma	(12, 61, 62)
Itraconazole	Microbiological agents	Fungal infections	Inhibition of 14-alfa-lanosterol demethylase	Decreased AKT1 activity	Lung, prostate	(12, 63)
Doxycycline	Antibiotic	Bacterial infections	Suppression of MMP-2 and MMP-9	Expression of TIMP-2	Hepatocarcinoma, lung, prostate. colorectal	(12, 64, 65)
Lithium	Antidepressant	Depressant	Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3	Suppression Smad3 and TGFBlp	Prostate, colorectal	(12, 66, 67)

which have an action mechanism with antitumor effect due to their ability to regulate gene expression involved in cell proliferation and death (5, 12, 19). It is proposed to combine the gene regulation effects of repurposed drugs and the CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs to obtain a cancer therapy with a higher success rate. With this combination, target genes can be synergistically regulated from CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs to enhance the effect of repurposed drugs. Additionally, genes involved in the signaling pathway of processes related to cancer development can be complementarily regulated, as well as, MDR genes can be silenced to have a higher success rate in the treatment (4–6, 17, 19).

## DISCUSSION

Cancer is a complex, heterogeneous, and highly dynamic disease with multiple evolving molecular constituents. Due to the genomic instability of cancer cells, every individual cancer cell has a set of mutations. This tumor heterogeneity causes several resistance mechanisms in cancer therapy, mainly the target mutation (3, 4, 22). CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs can be used in transcriptional therapeutics to optimize gene expression and design a more controllable system, for example, repurposed drug inducible system, improving the potency of gene manipulation, multiplexing and resource limitation and dosage and gene expression pattern (68). For cancer therapy, CRISPRdCas9-based ATFs had been developed to activate tumor suppressor genes and silence oncogenes and the tumor resistance mechanisms for targeted therapy (22). Some potential strategies for CRISPR/Cas9 interventions targeting cellular genes in cancer have proposed downregulation of oncogenes (ErbB, src, abl, fps, yes, ras, raf, and myc) and genes related to chemoresistance (MDR-1, MRP, GST-p, UGT1A1 and Cytokine P450) and for upregulation of tumor suppressor genes (pRb, p53, APC, SMAD4, PTEN, BRCA1/2, and ATM) (22, 69).

For that reason, it is proposed to use CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs for cancer therapies in combination with repurposed drugs whose action mechanisms are to regulate the expression of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes or to inactivate MDR genes. This could allow for synergy or complementarity between CRISPR technology and repurposed drugs in cancer therapy since both strategies express or repress certain genes involved in cancer, and its combined use could generate a synergistic effect that enhances therapy when the repurposed drug regulates the expression of the same gene that will be the target for CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs.

For example, in **Table 1**, the digitoxin causes cell cycle arrest in the G2/M-phase since it induces the expression of p21, an inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases and they suppress HIF-1 and HIF-2 expression which are transcription factors often increased in tumors that regulate essential genes related to hypoxic environments for tumor adaptation (12, 19, 50, 51). For this reason, the CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs can be combined with these repurposed drugs to equally activate p21 expression and generate a synergistic effect or to suppress HIF family expression and generate a complementary effect to make chemotherapy more effective.

Cancer treatments are handled by multiple therapeutic tools. These can be used depending on the patient types and their diagnosis. In this sense, the repurposed drugs in combination with CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs may be an innovative alternative that promises to be able to cover certain tumor types more efficiently. Drug repurposing and CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs have been used for cancer therapy, and they have received increasing attention from biotechnology research due to the economic advantages they represent for the pharmaceutical industry, as well as the molecular advantages they confer on the patient during the cancer treatment. The use of drug repurposing alternatives for cancer treatment represents fewer side effects for patients and a wider range of applications as molecular advantages. Nevertheless, cancer efficacy of drug repurposing is still affected by MDR genes (1, 19). This challenge may be solved with CRISPR-Cas9 technology or CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs in combination with drug repurposing by the inactivation of MDR genes. Despite CRISPR-Cas9 technology providing an effective inactivation of any gene, it cleaves one target at a time and in a non-specific way, which represents other disadvantages (25, 27, 29). For this reason, CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs is the best option for cancer therapy combination since it not only has a majority of therapeutic targets but also the DNA double-strand is not broken, and the host DNA sequence is not altered. CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs are even relatively cost-effective in comparison to the de novo construction of protein-based ZF and TALEs DNA-binding domains. Other advantages are that CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs are more specific compared to TALEs and ZINC fingers and may have several genetic targets to regulate at the same time (36, 70). However, the CRISPRdCas9 specificity can decrease depending on the complexity of the DNA due to the inaccessibility to the therapeutic target (43, 71).

Regarding CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs limitations, the dCas9/sgRNA complex is bigger than other ATFs as TALEs or Zinc Fingers, and cell delivery may be difficult (14, 22, 35, 37).

Other limitations of the CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs are the off-target effects due to the possibility of dCas9 binding to nucleotide sequences similar to the target PAM sequence. However, the optimization of the length of the sgRNA allows reducing the off-target effects without sacrificing efficiency in the objective (43, 72). Despite the above, more information is needed to corroborate the real negative impact of the off-target effects generated by dCas9 since it only performs partial and temporary binding with the off-target sequences without damaging them (36, 70).

Finally, cancer therapy with drug repurposing combined with CRISPR-dCas9-based ATFs has not yet been carried out on an experimental basis; however, it is important to explore in future research the possibility to combine these methods for cancer therapy due to the potential advantages to reduce cancer mortality in a cost-effective manner and with more efficient results.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM-E and BL-C: Conceptualization, methodology, writingoriginal draft preparation. ER-G: Supervision, writingreviewing, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This project was financed by Secretaría de Investigación y Posgrado (SIP-IPN) through project 2020205 and Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACyT) through Fondo

## REFERENCES

- Al-Lazikani B, Banerji U, Workman P. Combinatorial drug therapy for cancer in the post-genomic era. *Nat Biotechnol* (2012) 30:679–92. doi: 10.1038/ nbt.2284
- Pucci C, Martinelli C, Ciofani G. Innovative approaches for cancer treatment: current perspectives and new challenges. *Ecancermedicalscience* (2019) 13:961. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2019.961
- Gonzalez-Fierro A, Dueñas-González A. Drug repurposing for cancer therapy, easier said than done. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2019) S1044-579X:30410–9. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.12.012
- Palmer AC, Sorger PK. Combination cancer therapy can confer benefit via patient-to-patient variability without drug additivity or synergy. *Cell* (2017) 171:1678–91. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.009
- Gupta SC, Sung B, Prasad S, Webb LJ, Aggarwal BB. Cancer drug discovery by repurposing: teaching new tricks to old dogs. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2013) 34:508–17. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2013.06.005
- Nowak-Sliwinska P, Scapozza L, Altaba AR. Drug repurposing in oncology: Compounds, pathways, phenotypes and computational approaches for colorectal cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer* (2019) 1871:434–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2019.04.005
- Parvathaneni V, Kulkarni NS, Muth A, Gupta V. Drug repurposing: a promising tool to accelerate the drug discovery process. *Drug Discovery Today* (2019) 24:2076–85. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2019.06.014
- Sohraby F, Aryapour H. Rational drug repurposing for cancer by inclusion of the unbiased molecular dynamics simulation in the structure-based virtual screening approach: challenges and breakthroughs. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2020) S1044-579X:30095–X. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2020.04.007
- Verbaanderd C, Meheus L, Huys I, Pantziarka P. Repurposing drugs in oncology: next steps. *Trends Cancer* (2017) 3:543–6. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.06.007
- Baker NC, Ekins S, Williams AJ, Tropsha A. A bibliometric review of drug repurposing. *Drug Discovery Today* (2018) 23:661–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.drudis.2018.01.018
- Pushpakom S, Iorio F, Eyers PA, Escott KJ, Hopper S, Wells A, et al. Drug repurposing: progress, challenges and recommendations. *Nat Rev Drug Discovery* (2019) 18:41–58. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.168
- Sleire L, Førde HE, Netland IA, Leiss L, Skeie BS, Enger PØ. Drug repurposing in cancer. *Pharmacol Res* (2017) 124:74–91. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2017.07.013
- Stanojevic D, Young RA. A highly potent artificial transcription factor. Biochemistry (2002) 41:7209–16. doi: 10.1021/bi015906b
- Heiderscheit EA, Eguchi A, Spurgat MC, Ansari AZ. Reprogramming cell fate with artificial transcription factors. *FEBS Lett* (2018) 592:888–900. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.12993
- Liu Q, Zhao K, Wang C, Zhang Z, Zheng C, Zhao Y, et al. Multistage delivery nanoparticle facilitates efficient CRISPR/dCas9 activation and tumor growth suppression in vivo. Adv Sci (2019) 6:1801423. doi: 10.1002/advs.201801423
- Rahman MM, Tollefsbol TO. Targeting cancer epigenetics with CRISPRdCAS9: Principles and prospects. *Methods* (2020) 20:1046–2023. doi: 10.1016/ j.ymeth.2020.04.006
- Zhang Z, Zhou L, Xie N, Nice EC, Zhang T, Cui Y, et al. Overcoming cancer therapeutic bottleneck by drug repurposing. *Signal Transduction Targeted Ther* (2020) 5:1–25. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-00213-8
- Mercorelli B, Palù G, Loregian A. Drug repurposing for viral infectious diseases: how far are we? *Trends Microbiol* (2018) 26:865–76. doi: 10.1016/ j.tim.2018.04.005

Sectorial de Investigación para la Educación through project No. A1-S-21548.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

AM-E and BL-C were awarded a CONACyT scholarship; ER-G is a COFAA, EDI, and SNI grant fellow.

- Turanli B, Altay O, Borén J, Turkez H, Nielsen J, Uhlen M, et al. Systems biology based drug repositioning for development of cancer therapy. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2019) S1044-579X:30265–2. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.09.020
- Xie S, Shen B, Zhang C, Huang X, Zhang Y. sgRNAcas9: a software package for designing CRISPR sgRNA and evaluating potential off-target cleavage sites. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e100448. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100448
- Hansen-Bruhn M, de Ávila BEF, Beltrán-Gastélum M, Zhao J, Ramírez-Herrera DE, Angsantikul P, et al. Active Intracellular Delivery of a Cas9/ sgRNA Complex Using Ultrasound-Propelled Nanomotors. *Angew Chem Int* Ed (2018) 57:2657–61. doi: 10.1002/anie.201713082
- Moses C, Garcia-Bloj B, Harvey AR, Blancafort P. Hallmarks of cancer: The CRISPR generation. *Eur J Cancer* (2018) 93:10–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.01.002
- Chen Y, Zhang Y. Application of the CRISPR/Cas9 System to Drug Resistance in Breast Cancer. Adv Sci (Weinh) (2018) 5:1700964. doi: 10.1002/ advs.201700964
- 24. Wang X, Zhang W, Ding Y, Guo X, Yuan Y, Li D. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome engineering of CXCR4 decreases the malignancy of hepatocellular carcinoma cells in vitro and in vivo. *Oncol Rep* (2017) 37:3565–71. doi: 10.3892/or.2017.5601
- Bialk P, Wang Y, Banas K, Kmiec E. Functional Gene Knockout of NRF2 Increases Chemosensitivity of Human Lung Cancer A549 Cells In Vitro and in a Xenograft Mouse Model. *Mol Ther–Oncolytics* (2018) 11:75–89. doi: 10.1016/j.omto.2018.10.002
- Ha JS, Byun J, Ahn DR. Overcoming doxorubicin resistance of cancer cells by Cas9-mediated gene disruption. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22847. doi: 10.1038/ srep22847
- Norouzi-Barough L, Sarookhani M, Salehi R, Sharifi M, Moghbelinejad S. CRISPR/Cas9, a new approach to successful knockdown of ABCB1/Pglycoprotein and reversal of chemosensitivity in human epithelial ovarian cancer cell line. *Iran J Basic Med Sci* (2018) 21:181–7. doi: 10.22038/ IJBMS.2017.25145.6230
- Kim SM, Yang Y, Oh SJ, Hong Y, Seo M, Jang M. Cancer-derived exosomes as a delivery platform of CRISPR/Cas9 confer cancer cell tropism-dependent targeting. *J Control Release* (2017) 266:8–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.09.013
- Liu T, Li Z, Zhang Q, De Amorim Bernstein K, Lozano-Calderon S, Choy E, et al. Targeting ABCB1 (MDR1) in multi-drug resistant osteosarcoma cells using the CRISPR-Cas9 system to reverse drug resistance. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:83502–13. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13148
- Ye S, Shen J, Choy E, Yang C, Mankin H, Hornicek P, et al. p53 overexpression increases chemosensitivity in multidrug-resistant osteosarcoma cell lines. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2016) 77:349–56. doi: 10.1007/s00280-015-2944-z
- Martella A, Firth M, Taylor BJM, Göppert A, Cuomo EM, Roth RG, et al. Systematic Evaluation of CRISPRa and CRISPRi Modalities Enables Development of a Multiplexed, Orthogonal Gene Activation and Repression System. ACS Synth Biol (2019) 8:1998–2006. doi: 10.1021/acssynbio.8b00527
- 32. Li J, Huang C, Xiong T, Zhuang C, Zhuang C, Li Y, et al. A CRISPR Interference of CBP and p300 Selectively Induced Synthetic Lethality in Bladder Cancer Cells In Vitro. *Int J Biol Sci* (2019) 15:1276–86. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.32332
- van Tol N, van der Zaal BJ. Artificial transcription factor-mediated regulation of gene expression. *Plant Sci* (2014) 225:58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci. 2014.05.015
- Waryah CB, Moses C, Arooj M, Blancafort P. Zinc Fingers, TALEs, and CRISPR Systems: A Comparison of Tools for Epigenome Editing. *Methods Mol Biol* (2018) 1767:19–63. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7774-1\_2

- Gaj T, Gersbach CA. Barbas CF 3rd. ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. *Trends Biotechnol* (2013) 31:397–405. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.04.004
- Braun CJ, Bruno PM, Horlbeck MA, Gilbert LA, Weissman JS, Hemann MT. Versatile in vivo regulation of tumor phenotypes by dCas9-mediated transcriptional perturbation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113:E3892– 900. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1600582113
- Deyell M, Ameta S, Nghe P. Large scale control and programming of gene expression using CRISPR. Semin Cell Dev Biol (2019) 96:124–32. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcdb.2019.05.013
- Zhang S, Ma H, Zhang D, Xie S, Wang W, Li Q, et al. LncRNA KCNQ10T1 regulates proliferation and cisplatin resistance in tongue cancer via miR-211-5p mediated Ezrin/Fak/Src signaling. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9:742. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0793-5
- Ren K, Xu R, Huang J, Zhao J, Shi W. Knockdown of long non-coding RNA KCNQ10T1 depressed chemoresistance to paclitaxel in lung adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol* (2017) 80:243–50. doi: 10.1007/s00280-017-3356-z
- Wang G, Chow RD, Bai Z, Zhu L, Errami Y, Dai X, et al. Multiplexed activation of endogenous genes by CRISPRa elicits potent antitumor immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20:1494–505. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0500-4
- Wang H, Guo R, Du Z, Bai L, Li L, Cui J, et al. Epigenetic Targeting of Granulin in Hepatoma Cells by Synthetic CRISPR dCas9 Epi-suppressors. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2018) 11:23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.omtn.2018.01.002
- Garcia-Bloj B, Moses C, Sgro A, Plani-Lam J, Arooj M, Duffy C, et al. Waking up dormant tumor suppressor genes with zinc fingers, TALEs and the CRISPR/dCas9 system. Oncotarget (2016) 7:60535–54. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11142
- Crauciuc A, Tripon F, Gheorghiu A, Nemes G, Boglis A, Banescu C. Review. Development, Applications, Benefits, Challenges and Limitations of the New Genome Engineering Technique. An Update Study. Acta Med Marisiensis (2017) 63:4–9. doi: 10.1515/amma-2017-0007
- Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Betge J, Ebert MP, Boutros M. CRISPR/Cas9 for cancer research and therapy. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2019) 55:106–19. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2018.04.001
- 45. Tao Y, Hou X, Zuo F, Li X, Pang Y, Jiang G. Application of nanoparticle-based siRNA and CRISPR/Cas9 delivery systems in gene-targeted therapy. *Nanomedicine* (2019) 14:511–4. doi: 10.2217/nnm-2018-0522
- Chen M, Mao A, Xu M, Weng Q, Mao J, Ji J. CRISPR-Cas9 for cancer therapy: Opportunities and challenges. *Cancer Lett* (2019) 447:48–55. doi: 10.1016/ j.canlet.2019.01.017
- 47. Li M, Xie H, Liu Y, Xia C, Cun X, Long Y, et al. Knockdown of hypoxiainducible factor-1 alpha by tumor targeted delivery of CRISPR/Cas9 system suppressed the metastasis of pancreatic cancer. J Controlled Release (2019) 304:204–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2019.05.019
- Ibrahim K, Khalid S, Idrees K. Nanoparticles: Properties, applications and toxicities. Arabian J Chem (2019) 12:908–31. doi: 10.1016/j.arabjc.2017.05.011
- Zhen S, Li X. Liposomal delivery of CRISPR/Cas9. Cancer Gene Ther (2020) 27:515–27. doi: 10.1038/s41417-019-0141-7
- Jun JC, Rathore A, Younas H, Gilkes D, Polotsky VY. Hypoxia-inducible factors and cancer. Curr Sleep Med Rep (2017) 3:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s40675-017-0062-7
- Shin SY, Kim CG, Kim SH, Kim YS, Lim Y, Lee YH. Chlorpromazine activates p21 Waf1/Cip1 gene transcription via early growth response-1 (Egr-1) in C6 glioma cells. *Exp Mol Med* (2010) 42:395–405. doi: 10.3858/emm.2010.42.5.041
- Yang CE, Lee WY, Cheng HW, Chung CH, Mi FL, Lin CW. The antipsychotic chlorpromazine suppresses YAP signaling, stemness properties, and drug resistance in breast cancer cells. *Chem-Biol Interact* (2019) 302:28–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2019.01.033
- Pantziarka P, Bouche G, Meheus L, Sukhatme V, Sukhatme VP. Repurposing Drugs in Oncology (ReDO)—mebendazole as an anti-cancer agent. *Ecancermedicalscience* (2014) 8:443. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2014.443
- Simbulan-Rosenthal CM, Dakshanamurthy S, Gaur A, Chen YS, Fang HB, Abdussamad M, et al. The repurposed anthelmintic mebendazole in combination with trametinib suppresses refractory NRASQ61K melanoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:12576–95. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14990
- 55. Younis NS, Ghanim AM, Saber S. Mebendazole augments sensitivity to sorafenib by targeting MAPK and BCL-2 signalling in nnitrosodiethylamine-induced murine hepatocellular carcinoma. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9:1–16. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-55666-x

- Batchu RB, Gruzdyn OV, Bryant CS, Qazi AM, Kumar S, Chamala S, et al. Ritonavir-mediated induction of apoptosis in pancreatic cancer occurs via the RB/E2F-1 and AKT pathways. *Pharmaceuticals* (2014) 7:46–57. doi: 10.3390/ ph7010046
- Veschi S, De Lellis L, Florio R, Lanuti P, Massucci A, Tinari N, et al. Effects of repurposed drug candidates nitroxoline and nelfinavir as single agents or in combination with erlotinib in pancreatic cancer cells. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 37:236. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0904-2
- 58. Chen Y, Wang Q, Li Z, Liu Z, Zhao Y, Zhang J, et al. Naproxen platinum (iv) hybrids inhibiting cycloxygenases and matrix metalloproteinases and causing DNA damage: synthesis and biological evaluation as antitumor agents in vitro and in vivo. *Dalton Trans* (2020) 49:5192–204. doi: 10.1039/d0dt00424c
- Ahmetaj-Shala B, Tesfai A, Constantinou C, Leszczynski R, Chan MV, Gashaw H, et al. Pharmacological assessment of ibuprofen arginate on platelet aggregation and colon cancer cell killing. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2017) 484:762–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.01.1610006-291
- Wong RS. Role of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in cancer prevention and cancer promotion. *Adv Pharmacol Sci* (2019) 2019:3418975. doi: 10.1155/2019/3418975
- Chen WY, Holmes MD. Role of aspirin in breast cancer survival. Curr Oncol Rep (2017) 19:48. doi: 10.1007/s11912-017-0605-6
- Dai X, Yan J, Fu X, Pan Q, Sun D, Xu Y, et al. Aspirin inhibits cancer metastasis and angiogenesis via targeting heparanase. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23:6267–78. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0242
- Dinić J, Efferth T, García-Sosa AT, Grahovac J, Padrón JM, Pajeva I, et al. Repurposing old drugs to fight multidrug resistant cancers. *Drug Resist Update* (2020) 52:100713. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2020.100713
- Antoszczak M, Markowska A, Markowska J, Huczyński A. Old wine in new bottles: Drug repurposing in oncology. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2020) 866:172784. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2019.172784
- 65. Dijk SN, Protasoni M, Elpidorou M, Kroon AM, Taanman JW. Mitochondria as a target to inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis of cancer cells: the effects of doxycycline and gemcitabine. *Sci Rep* (2020) 10:1–15. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-020-61381-9
- 66. Matsebatlela T, Gallicchio V, Becker R. Lithium modulates cancer cell growth, apoptosis, gene expression and cytokine production in HL-60 promyelocytic leukaemia cells and their drug-resistant sub-clones. *Biol Trace Elem Res* (2012) 149:323–30. doi: 10.1007/s12011-012-9438-1
- Huang RY, Hsieh KP, Huang WW, Yang YH. Use of lithium and cancer risk in patients with bipolar disorder: population-based cohort study. Br J Psychiatry (2016) 209:393–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.181362
- Pandelakis M, Delgado E, Ebrahimkhani MR. CRISPR-Based Synthetic Transcription Factors In Vivo: The Future of Therapeutic Cellular Programming. *Cell Syst* (2020) 10:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2019.10.003
- White MK, Khalili K. CRISPR/Cas9 and cancer targets: Future possibilities and present challenges. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7:12305–17. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.7104
- Mushtaq M, Bhat JA, Mir ZA, Sakina A, Ali S, Singh AK, et al. CRISPR/Cas approach: A new way of looking at plant-abiotic interactions. *J Plant Physiol* (2018) 224-225:156–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jplph.2018.04.001
- Hong A. CRISPR in Personalized Medicine: Industry Perspectives in Gene Editing. Semin Perinatol (2018) 42:501–7. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2018.09.008
- Xiao-Hui Z, Louis YT, Xiao-Gang W, Qun-Shan H, Shi-Hua Y. Off-target Effects in CRISPR/Cas9-mediated Genome Engineering. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* (2015) 4:2162–531. doi: 10.1038/mtna.2015.37

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Martinez-Escobar, Luna-Callejas and Ramón-Gallegos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Mifepristone Repurposing in Treatment of High-Grade Gliomas

Monserrat Llaguno-Munive, Maria Ines Vazquez-Lopez, Rafael Jurado and Patricia Garcia-Lopez $^{\ast}$ 

Laboratorio de Farmacología, Subdirección de Investigación Básica, Instituto Nacional de Cancerología, Mexico City, Mexico

Glioma is the most common and aggressive primary tumor of the central nervous system. The standard treatment for malignant gliomas is surgery followed by chemoradiotherapy. Unfortunately, this treatment has not produced an adequate patient response, resulting in a median survival time of 12–15 months and a 5-year overall survival of <5%. Although new strategies have been sought to enhance patient response, no significant increase in the global survival of glioma patients has been achieved. The option of developing new drugs implies a long and costly process, making drug repurposing a more practical alternative for improving glioma treatment. In the last few years, researchers seeking more effective cancer therapy have pursued the possibility of using anti-hormonal agents, such as mifepristone. The latter drug, an antagonist for progesterone and glucocorticoid receptors, has several attractive features: anti-tumor activity, low cytotoxicity to healthy cells, and modulation of the chemosensitivity of several cancer cell lines in vitro. Hence, the addition of mifepristone to temozolomide-based glioblastoma chemotherapy may lead to a better patient response. The mechanisms by which mifepristone enhances glioma treatment are not yet known. The current review aims to discuss the potential role of mifepristone as an adjuvant drug for the treatment of high-grade gliomas.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Eduardo López-Urrutia, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Parvez Khan, University of Nebraska Medical Center, United States Julie J. Miller, Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Patricia Garcia-Lopez pgarcia\_lopez@yahoo.com.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 16 September 2020 Accepted: 05 January 2021 Published: 18 February 2021

#### Citation:

Llaguno-Munive M, Vazquez-Lopez MI, Jurado R and Garcia-Lopez P (2021) Mifepristone Repurposing in Treatment of High-Grade Gliomas. Front. Oncol. 11:606907. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.606907 Keywords: brain cancer, glioma, mifepristone, repurposing, repurposed drug, resistance

## INTRODUCTION

Glioma is the most common primary neoplasm in the central nervous system, making up approximately 30–45% of tumors in the central nervous system (CNS). These tumors are very invasive, making a complete surgical resection impossible (1).

The World Health Organization (WHO) has classified gliomas into four grades, based on degree of malignancy. Grade 1 tumors, most frequently found in children, are considered gliomas with a low risk of malignancy and a reduced potential for proliferation. Grade 2 tumors, appearing mainly in young adults 20–30 years of age, are slow growing and in some cases have a tendency to progress to a more malignant tumor. Grade 3 tumors present a high rate of mitotic activity and are very invasive, giving a median survival time of 1–3 years. Grade 4 tumors, also called glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), correspond to the maximum degree of malignancy, being characterized by rapid growth, necrotic zones, and an accelerated rate of progression. Grade 3 and 4 are malignant or high grade gliomas, mainly characterized by a poor prognosis, resistance to chemoradiotherapy, and rapid tumor recurrence (2).

121

Additionally, in 2016, the WHO reclassified the gliomas by molecular profiling. This classification includes mutation in isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 or 2 (IDH1 or IDH2), wild type IDH, or not otherwise specified (NOS). The IDH proteins are involved in the conversion of isocitrate into alpha-ketoglutarate in the tricarboxylic acid cycle. In low-grade gliomas, isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) mutations were found with higher frequencies (83%), compared to grade III astrocytoma (70%) or primary and recurrent GBM (5%) (3). These mutations have been correlated with better prognosis, leading to a higher median survival in patients with IDH mutations in all gliomas.

Malignant gliomas are rare tumors in epidemiology. They constitute 2% of the total cases of cancer in women and 2.8% for men (4). In spite of the low prevalence of gliomas, it is urgent to find an effective medical treatment because the average survival rate is under 2 years.

#### Physiopathology of Glioma Development

Diverse reports in "The Cancer Genome Atlas" (TCGA) describe three main signaling pathways involved in the pathogenesis of gliomas. This include: RTK/RAS/PI3K (receptor tyrosine kinase, RAS, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase), p53, and retinoblastoma (5). Another important pathway involved in glioma pathology is that related to angiogenesis (the formation of new blood vessels from a pre-existing vascular network). One of the main stimulants for the expression of angiogenic factors is hypoxia. This factor induces the synthesis of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which is considered the most important signal protein mediating angiogenesis.

Various strategies have been utilized to inhibit the expression of VEGF, such as the bevacizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody. According to two prospective phase-III trials, the addition of bevacizumad to the first-line treatment (temozolomide and radiotherapy) did not improve overall survival in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. Progression-free survival was prolonged but did not reach the pre-specified improvement target (6, 7).

Yang et al. evaluated the transcriptome of patients with glioblastoma, observing differences between men and women in the gene pathways associated with survival. In men, the pathways most commonly linked to overall survival participate in cell division. Thus, the pharmacological blockage of the progression of the cell cycle may be more effective in men. In women, the genes most closely related to overall survival are involved in the regulation of invasiveness; therefore, drugs targeting integrins could function better in women (8).

Another common focus of research on glioma tumors is the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway (9). The *PTEN* gene, encoding for a protein that inhibits the PI3K/Akt pathway, is inactivated in 40 to 50% of the cases of glioblastoma. This pathway is closely related to resistance to treatment because its activation promotes proliferation, invasion, and angiogenesis, and has been related to the conversion of anaplastic astrocytoma (grade 3) into GBM (grade 4) (9, 10).

#### **Resistance to Treatment**

Treatment of malignant gliomas begins with surgical resection, which is often incomplete, leaving residual cells that are

capable of migrating and proliferating. Therefore, surgery is accompanied by 60 Grays (Gy) of radiotherapy (2 Gy/daily) and chemotherapy with the alkylating agent temozolomide (75 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, daily by 6 weeks), followed by a dose of maintenance of 150–200 mg/m<sup>2</sup> for 5 days every 28-day cycle for six cycles. However, it has not given the desired response, resulting in a median survival time of 15 months (11, 12).

Among the most important challenges in the treatment of gliomas are the restrictions on access to the brain imposed by the blood-brain barrier (BBB), the limited response to therapy, and neurotoxicity stemming from the treatments (13). The vast majority of chemotherapy treatments for glioma tumors have failed due to the reduced concentrations of the drug that reach the CNS (14, 15).

The mechanism of action of temozolomide consists of inhibiting the replication of DNA. This prodrug is spontaneously transformed into monomethyl triazeno imidazole carboxamide (MTIC) upon entering the organism. The cytotoxicity of MTIC is reportedly caused by the alkylation of guanine at positions O6 and N7 of DNA (16). Unfortunately, the adducts generated are removed by the repair enzyme 06-methylguanine-methyltransferase (MGMT), leading to resistance and recurrence. The silencing of the MGMT gene seems to improve the response to treatment in patients receiving alkalizing agents (17). The methylation of the CpG island of the MGMT enzyme promoter is associated with better survival of patients with high grade gliomas that are given alkylating agents as chemotherapy.

Besides the repair mechanisms for damaged DNA, another mechanism involved in resistance to treatment is an insufficient accumulation of the drug at the target site stemming from alterations in transporters dependent on ATP (**Figure 1**) (18). Among such transporters overexpressed in the BBB and glioma tumor cells are the P-glycoprotein multidrug resistance protein 1 (P-gp/MDR1/ABCB1) and the multidrug resistance-associated protein (MRP/ABCC1) (19). Several drugs showing affinity for P-gp include actinomycin D, taxanes, anthracyclines, and temozolomide (20, 21).

The blockage of the ATP-dependent transporters could lead to a considerable enhancement of glioma treatment. Temozolomide is reported to compete with substrates of P-gp, thus blocking their activity (20), and to diminish the activity of P-gp by inhibiting its ATPase (22). However, there is controversy about whether temozolomide actually increases or decreases the expression of this protein. According to one study, temozolomide boosts the expression of P-gp through the EGFR pathway (23), while another found a temozolomide-induced reduction in the expression of P-gp in BBB cells caused by the methylation of the WNt3a gene promoter (24). A reduced expression of P-gp would sensitize glioma cells to treatment.

### Drug Repurposing for Combination With Temozolomide in the Treatment of Gliomas

Despite extensive research on the design and development of new molecules to achieve a better response to glioma treatment, patient overall survival, and the median survival time have not



activates MAPK, and PI3K signaling promoting growth, proliferation, invasion, and metastasis. On the other hand, it has been reported that radioresistance is partly due to the presence of hypoxic regions, hypoxia is associated with tumor angiogenesis and invasiveness, therapeutic resistance, and poor prognosis. In addition to the resistance mechanisms described above, there is dysregulation of the apoptosis genes, such as the up-regulation of Bcl-2 and the down-regulation of Bax. The combination of these mechanisms contributes to a chemo-radioresistance.

yet improved. One strategy employed in recent years is the repositioning of drugs, which consists of finding new applications for approved drugs. An advantage of drug repurposing is that is known a profile of safety and efficiency, making it a candidate for rapid incorporation into other clinical treatments, implying less risk and greater cost-benefit.

Cost is an important factor in the development of new compounds for the treatment of diseases. The cost of developing new drugs is generally in the range of a billion dollars (25, 26). The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) considers glioblastoma as a rare disease, which limits the initiative of the pharmaceutical industry to invest in the development of new drugs for this neoplasm. Hence, drug repurposing may be the most suitable strategy under these circumstances. The administration of multiple therapeutic agents with various targets in malignant gliomas likely provides more benefits than standard chemotherapy based on a single agent.

Although intense research efforts have been made to improve the current treatment of glioblastoma, there are scant reports on the repositioning of drugs for use in combination with temozolomide. An experimental and clinical study on human glioma cells, on an animal model, and in patients with recurrent GBM demonstrated that the combination of temozolomide with inhibitors of the tumor promoter gene  $GSK3\beta$  (glycogen synthase kinase-3  $\beta$ ) reduces in the progression of the disease and protects against the neurodegenerative effects provoked by radiotherapy (27). Such inhibitors include cimetidine, valproate, olanzapine, and lithium carbonate (commonly prescribed to treat gastro-duodenal ulcer, epilepsy, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder).

Temozolomide was tested in combination with hydroxyurea on an orthotopic experimental model of glioma, finding an increase in the percent survival of the animals (28). Roix *et al.* (2014) evaluated 182 compounds *in vivo*, identifying three (candesartan, risedronate, terbinafine) that lead to a better response of animals when given in combination with temozolomide. Preclinical trials are still necessary to explore their efficacy (29).

In the last few years, our group has investigated mifepristone (an abortifacient drug) as a plausible repurposing candidate for treating a wide range of cancers. A synergistic action has been demonstrated when it is combined with cisplatin or temozolomide plus radiation (30-34).

## The Repositioning of Mifepristone for Cancer Treatment

Mifepristone (RU486) was the first antiprogestogen developed. In 1981, it was described as an antagonist of glucocorticoid, progesterone, and androgen receptors. Its first use was as an emergency contraceptive pill to induce abortion (35). In the year 2000, mifepristona was approved by the FDA as an abortive agent. In practice, this drug has been utilized for a great variety of diseases and clinical conditions, including the termination of pregnancy, endometriosis, Cushing's syndrome, and metabolic syndrome (36).

Due to its antiproliferative and antimetastatic activity, mifepristone has been evaluated individually as a potent agent in metastatic ovarian cancer with positive progesterone receptor (PR) (37). However, the loss of PR may represent a more aggressive panorama in the development and progression of cancer. Mifepristone is also known to produce effects not mediated by hormonal receptors, acting on hormone receptor negative cells. It was found to inhibit cell growth in ten different PR negative cancer cell lines. The mechanism described was a decrease in the activity of checkpoint Cdk2 of the cell cycle, generating cell cycle arrest in phase G1 (38). Hence, the effect of mifepristone does not require of the presence of the PR. Additional studies carried out on PR negative cancer cells support the finding of mifepristone-induced antiproliferative effects on breast (39), cervical (40), endometrial (41), ovarian (42) and prostate cancer (43).

Nowadays, there are several clinical trials in which mifepristone is used alone or in combination with another drug to treat different types of cancer. In the case of prostate cancer, a phase II clinical trial has been conducted. In this study, 200 mg of mifepristone was administered daily, which was well tolerated, with no incidence of clinical adrenal insufficiency (44).

Another clinical trial (phase I/II) is currently recruiting patients with metastatic, castration-resistant prostate cancer.

The first goal is to establish the safe and pharmacologically active dose of mifepristone and enzalutamide (androgen receptor antagonist). The second goal is to determine if mifepristone in combination with enzalutamide delays time to prostate-specific antigen (PSA) progression compared to enzalutamide alone [ClinicalTrials.gov identifier (NCT number): NCT02012296].

On breast cancer patients, the combination of paclitaxelcharged nanoparticles plus mifepristone (300 mg) was evaluated in a phase I trial. This combination was found to be well tolerable by patients (45).

Mifepristone administration has been documented to improve both length and quality of life in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (46, 47) and renal cancer (48). In advanced pancreatic cancer this drug had palliative benefits (49). Mifepristone seems to be well tolerated at a dose of 200–300 mg.

## Mifepristone as a Sensitizing Agent for Malignant Gliomas

Epidemiological studies show that the incidence of glioblastoma is approximately 40% higher in men than in woman. Furthermore, the woman/men ratio is lower in premenopausal women, and increases in parallel with the decrease in female hormone levels, which suggests that these hormones have preventive effects on gliomagenesis (50). These results correlate with a lower incidence and better overall survival for women with brain tumors (50, 51). Estrogens also improved the percentage of animal survival in an orthotopic model of experimental glioma (52). These data suggested that estrogen might be responsible for better overall survival.

On the other hand, it has been found that the expression of glucocorticoid and progesterone receptors is elevated in patients with high-grade glioma. It is known that this type of receptors play an important role in cell proliferation. In this way progesterone and glucocorticoids could promote the development of gliomas.

Experimental studies have showed that progesterone is capable of stimulating the infiltration and migration of astrocyte in the rat cortex (53). Mifepristone, due to its antiprogestational and anti-glucocorticoid action, blocks the capacity of progesterone to stimulate the growth, migration and invasion of human astrocytoma cells lines (54, 55). Nowadays, several clinical and preclinical studies are being carried out to understand and confirm the impact of steroid hormones on gliomatosis.

Recently it was demonstrated the participation of progesterone in the growth of glioblastoma stem cells (56). Several studies have suggested that stem cells may be responsible for resistance and recurrence in glioblastoma. It is still unknown whether mifepristone could inhibit the growth of glioma stem cells; however, some authors have shown that mifepristone reduces the breast cancer stem cells population (39, 57). Therefore, future research is required to determined whether mifepristone could regulated glioma stem cells.

The methylation of the MGMT promoter is a prognostic factor associated with increased temozolomide response and overall

survival in glioblastoma. Schiffgens *et al.* (2016), suggested that the silencing of the MGMT gene may be influenced by the sex. In this study a greater proportion of females presented promoter methylation in comparison with males. However, the authors mentioned that it is necessary to corroborate these results due to the low sample size in its study (50, 58).

Glucocorticoid receptor is expressed in neurons, oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, and microglia of the brain (59). Glucocorticoids as dexamethasone are frequently used in patients with high-grade glioma as a therapy to address edema and increased intracranial pressure. However, its use is controversial on glioblastoma progression (60). An increase in proliferation, angiogenesis, invasion and anti-apoptotic effects has been described in preclinical studies. In addition, dexamethasone seems to decrease the efficacy of temozolamide (61, 62). Therefore, the addition of mifepristone, as GR antagonist, could increase the effect of temozolomide and decrease cellular proliferation (60).

According to some authors, the glucocorticoids are involved in eliciting the expression of the MGMT gene, which means that these drugs could contribute to an elevated MGMT protein level. Biswas *et al.* and Ueda *et al.* detected an upregulation of MGMT in glioblastoma cell lines during glucocorticoid treatment (63, 64).

Mifepristone seems to have great potential for glioma treatment as a glucocorticoid receptor antagonist. In C6 glioma cells implanted intracranially in rats, our group recently described the capacity of mifepristone to reduce the expression of the MGMT protein. This led to a higher rate of apoptosis and consequently to diminish tumor proliferation in rats treated with the mifepristone/temozolomide combination (33, 34). Consequently, one of the mechanisms possibly involved in the mifepristone-induced sensitization to temozolomide is the modulation of the expression of the MGMT enzyme.

It is still unknown whether mifepristone epigenetically inhibits MGMT. However, different nuclear transcription factors as SP1, AP-1, NF-kappa B, and HIF-1alpha, can activate the transcription of MGMT gene in glioblastoma (65). Some of the above-mentioned transcription factors may participate in MGMT gene regulation by mifepristone.

Mifepristone has also been found to inhibit the expression of the VEGF, which is overexpressed in glioblastoma. We find that there was an additive effect by temozolamide and mifepristone in the inhibition of VEGF levels. Mifepristone also blocks the function of drug efflux proteins such as P-gp. This protein is highly expressed by endothelial cells in gliomas, and a key role has been attributed to P-gp in the chemoresistance of gliomas. In our work we show the participation of mifepristone in the inhibition of P-gp expression, and on the increased intracerebral concentration of temozolomide. The tumor growth rate was slower than that found with temozolomide alone, indicating a chemo-sensitizing effect. According to the current results, mifepristone could contribute to the modulation of tumor relapse in glioblastoma by decreasing the levels of VEGF, MGMT, and P-gp (34). Further research is needed to explore other mechanisms of drug resistance of glioblastoma tumors.

Several clinical studies show that mifepristone is capable of crossing the BBB and has demonstrated palliative effects on brain tumors, such as meningiomas (66, 67) and glioblastoma (68). It has also been found to improve the quality of life of patients with glioma. These characteristics make mifepristone an attractive repurposing candidate for the treatment of malignant gliomas. It is considered a safe drug, which even with prolonged use has relatively mild adverse effects, such as fatigue, nausea, vomiting and diarrhea. The administration of mifepristone monotherapy was reported for two clinical cases of cancer: a patient with non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) and brain metastasis, and another with bilateral kidney cancer and metastasis. In both patients, the result was a better quality of life.

Based on the experimental data, as well as in clinical trials, mifepristone appears to be a promising approach against glioblastoma. The addition of mifepristone to glioblastoma treatment could improve the quality of life of patients, and has the potential to control the progression of tumors.

### **Future Directions**

The continuous effort to identify new treatments for glioblastoma is yet to lead to significant improvements in the survival rate. The molecular complexity of glioblastoma has forced the scientific community to pay attention in new strategies, such as drug repurposing.

Recently, new evidence has emerged about the role of stem cells in the development of cancer and resistance to therapy. Several studies have suggested that cancer stem cells could be responsible not only for reduced treatment efficacy but also their recurrence (69). One of the most challenging aspects when treating gliomas is the complete elimination of cancer stem cells. Glioblastoma stem cells are reported to abundantly express the MGMT and P-gp proteins, leading to greater resistance to treatment, a higher level of hypoxia, and more frequent tumor recurrence (70, 71). As a result, these proteins have become an important therapeutic target to improve patient response to glioblastoma treatment. As we have mentioned, several studies reported that mifepristone decreased MGMT and P-gp expression (33, 34) (Figure 2). Future research is required to determine whether mifepristone can regulate glioma stem cells, offer greater benefits during tumor recurrence and improve the prognosis of patients with glioma.

## CONCLUSION

A great variety of strategies exist for the development of new glioblastoma treatments. Yet in the vast majority of cases, none of them has yet been able to control the progression of tumors or recurrence. Mifepristone has been found to improve the quality of life of patients with glioma. It is considered a safe drug that, even with prolonged use, has relatively mild adverse effects. Considering the chemoresistance mechanisms reviewed, mifepristone could possibly be a sensitizing agent in therapy against malignant gliomas and we recommend it for clinical trials on a combined mifepristone/temozolomide plus radiation



treatment for glioblastoma, which holds promise for improved therapeutic efficiency and patient overall survival.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ML-M and PG-L organized topics and contributed in manuscript drafting. MV-L and RJ collected the literature. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Adamson DC, Rasheed BA, McLendon RE, Bigner DD. Central nervous system. *Cancer Biomark* (2010) 9(1-6):193–210. doi: 10.3233/CBM-2011-0177
- Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, et al. The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. *Acta Neuropathol* (2016) 131(6):803–20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1

## FUNDING

This work was partially financed by CONACYT (Mexico) through grant CB-258823.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Bruce Allan Larsen for proofreading the manuscript.

- Huang J, Yu J, Tu L, Huang N, Li H, Luo Y. Isocitrate Dehydrogenase Mutations in Glioma: From Basic Discovery to Therapeutics Development. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:506. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00506
- Fact sheets by cancer. (2018). http://globocan.iarc.fr/Pages/fact\_sheets\_ cancer.aspx.
- Wang H, Xu T, Jiang Y, Xu H, Yan Y, Fu D, et al. The challenges and the promise of molecular targeted therapy in malignant gliomas. *Neoplasia* (2015) 17(3):239–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2015.02.002

- Gilbert MR, Dignam JJ, Armstrong TS, Wefel JS, Blumenthal DT, Vogelbaum MA, et al. A randomized trial of bevacizumab for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 370:699–708. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1308573
- Chinot OL, Wick W, Mason W, Henriksson R, Saran F, Nishikawa R, et al. Bevacizumab plus radiotherapy-temozolomide for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. N Engl J Med (2014) 370:709–22. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1308345
- Yang W, Warrington NM, Taylor SJ, Whitmire P, Carrasco E, Singleton KW, et al. Sex differences in GBM revealed by analysis of patient imaging, transcriptome, and survival data. *Sci Transl Med* (2019) 11(473):eaao5253. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aao5253
- Zhao HF, Wang J, Shao W, Wu CP, Chen ZP, To ST, et al. Recent advances in the use of PI3K inhibitors for glioblastoma multiforme: current preclinical and clinical development. *Mol Cancer* (2017) 16(1):100. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0670-3
- Xia Q, Ali S, Liu L, Li Y, Liu X, Zhang L, et al. Role of Ubiquitination in PTEN Cellular Homeostasis and Its Implications in GB Drug Resistance. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1569. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01569
- Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Xu J, Kromer C, Wolinsky Y, Kruchko C, et al. CBTRUS Statistical Report: Primary Brain and Other Central Nervous System Tumors Diagnosed in the United States in 2009-2013. *Neuro Oncol* (2016) 18 (suppl\_5):v1-v75. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now207
- Witthayanuwat S, Pesee M, Supaadirek C, Supakalin N, Thamronganantasakul K, Krusun S. Survival Analysis of Glioblastoma Multiforme. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* (2018) 19(9):2613–7. doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2018.19.9.2613
- Ozdemir-Kaynak E, Qutub AA, Yesil-Celiktas O. Advances in Glioblastoma Multiforme Treatment: New Models for Nanoparticle Therapy. *Front Physiol* (2018) 9:170. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00170
- Nam L, Coll C, Erthal LCS, de la Torre C, Serrano D, Martinez-Manez R, et al. Drug Delivery Nanosystems for the Localized Treatment of Glioblastoma Multiforme. *Mater (Basel)* (2018) 11(5):779. doi: 10.3390/ma11050779
- Bhowmik A, Khan R, Ghosh MK. Blood brain barrier: a challenge for effectual therapy of brain tumors. *BioMed Res Int* (2015) 2015:320941. doi: 10.1155/ 2015/320941
- Arora A, Somasundaram K. Glioblastoma vs temozolomide: can the red queen race be won? *Cancer Biol Ther* (2019) 20(8):1083–90. doi: 10.1080/ 15384047.2019.1599662
- Yu W, Zhang L, Wei Q, Shao A. O(6)-Methylguanine-DNA Methyltransferase (MGMT): Challenges and New Opportunities in Glioma Chemotherapy. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:1547. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01547
- Jones PM, George AM. The ABC transporter structure and mechanism: perspectives on recent research. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2004) 61(6):682–99. doi: 10.1007/s00018-003-3336-9
- Gomez-Zepeda D, Taghi M, Scherrmann JM, Decleves X, Menet MC. ABC Transporters at the Blood-Brain Interfaces, Their Study Models, and Drug Delivery Implications in Gliomas. *Pharmaceutics* (2019) 12(1):20. doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics12010020
- Munoz JL, Walker ND, Scotto KW, Rameshwar P. Temozolomide competes for P-glycoprotein and contributes to chemoresistance in glioblastoma cells. *Cancer Lett* (2015) 367(1):69–75. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.07.013
- Chung FS, Santiago JS, Jesus MF, Trinidad CV, See MF. Disrupting Pglycoprotein function in clinical settings: what can we learn from the fundamental aspects of this transporter? *Am J Cancer Res* (2016) 6(8):1583–98.
- 22. Zhang R, Saito R, Shibahara I, Sugiyama S, Kanamori M, Sonoda Y, et al. Temozolomide reverses doxorubicin resistance by inhibiting P-glycoprotein in malignant glioma cells. *J Neurooncol* (2016) 126(2):235–42. doi: 10.1007/ s11060-015-1968-x
- Munoz JL, Rodriguez-Cruz V, Greco SJ, Nagula V, Scotto KW, Rameshwar P. Temozolomide induces the production of epidermal growth factor to regulate MDR1 expression in glioblastoma cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2014) 13(10):2399– 411. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0011
- Riganti C, Salaroglio IC, Pinzon-Daza ML, Caldera V, Campia I, Kopecka J, et al. Temozolomide down-regulates P-glycoprotein in human blood-brain barrier cells by disrupting Wnt3 signaling. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2014) 71(3):499– 516. doi: 10.1007/s00018-013-1397-y
- Pushpakom S, Iorio F, Eyers PA, Escott KJ, Hopper S, Wells A, et al. Drug repurposing: progress, challenges and recommendations. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2019) 18(1):41–58. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.168

- 26. Hernandez JJ, Pryszlak M, Smith L, Yanchus C, Kurji N, Shahani VM, et al. Giving Drugs a Second Chance: Overcoming Regulatory and Financial Hurdles in Repurposing Approved Drugs As Cancer Therapeutics. *Front* Oncol (2017) 7:273. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2017.00273
- Furuta T, Sabit H, Dong Y, Miyashita K, Kinoshita M, Uchiyama N, et al. Biological basis and clinical study of glycogen synthase kinase- 3beta-targeted therapy by drug repositioning for glioblastoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8 (14):22811–24. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.15206
- Teng J, Hejazi S, Hiddingh L, Carvalho L, de Gooijer MC, Wakimoto H, et al. Recycling drug screen repurposes hydroxyurea as a sensitizer of glioblastomas to temozolomide targeting de novo DNA synthesis, irrespective of molecular subtype. *Neuro Oncol* (2018) 20(5):642–54. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox198
- Roix JJ, Harrison SD, Rainbolt EA, Meshaw KR, McMurry AS, Cheung P, et al. Systematic repurposing screening in xenograft models identifies approved drugs with novel anti-cancer activity. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(8):e101708. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101708
- Jurado R, Lopez-Flores A, Alvarez A, Garcia-Lopez P. Cisplatin cytotoxicity is increased by mifepristone in cervical carcinoma: an in vitro and in vivo study. *Oncol Rep* (2009) 22(5):1237–45. doi: 10.3892/or\_00000560
- Llaguno-Munive M, Medina LA, Jurado R, Romero-Pina M, Garcia-Lopez P. Mifepristone improves chemo-radiation response in glioblastoma xenografts. *Cancer Cell Int* (2013) 13(1):29. doi: 10.1186/1475-2867-13-29
- 32. Segovia-Mendoza M, Jurado R, Mir R, Medina LA, Prado-Garcia H, Garcia-Lopez P. Antihormonal agents as a strategy to improve the effect of chemo-radiation in cervical cancer: in vitro and in vivo study. *BMC Cancer* (2015) 15:21. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1016-4
- 33. Llaguno-Munive M, Romero-Pina M, Serrano-Bello J, Medina LA, Uribe-Uribe N, Salazar AM, et al. Mifepristone Overcomes Tumor Resistance to Temozolomide Associated with DNA Damage Repair and Apoptosis in an Orthotopic Model of Glioblastoma. *Cancers (Basel)* (2018) 11(1):16. doi: 10.3390/cancers11010016
- 34. Llaguno-Munive M, León-Zetina S, Vazquez-Lopez I, Ramos-Godinez MDP, Medina LA, Garcia-Lopez P. Mifepristone as a Potential Therapy to Reduce Angiogenesis and P-Glycoprotein Associated With Glioblastoma Resistance to Temozolomide. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:581814. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.581814
- 35. Silvestre L, Dubois C, Renault M, Rezvani Y, Baulieu EE, Ulmann A. Voluntary interruption of pregnancy with mifepristone (RU 486) and a prostaglandin analogue. A large-scale French experience. N Engl J Med (1990) 322(10):645–8. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199003083221001
- Diaz-Castro F, Monsalves-Alvarez M, Rojo LE, Del Campo A, Troncoso R. Mifepristone for Treatment of Metabolic Syndrome: Beyond Cushing's Syndrome. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 11:429. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020. 00429
- Ponandai-Srinivasan S, Lalitkumar PG, Garcia L, Varghese SJ, Carlson JW, Gemzell-Danielsson K, et al. Mifepristone mediates anti-proliferative effect on ovarian mesenchymal stem/stromal cells from female BRCA(1-/2-) carriers. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2019) 98(2):250–61. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13485
- Tieszen CR, Goyeneche AA, Brandhagen BN, Ortbahn CT, Telleria CM. Antiprogestin mifepristone inhibits the growth of cancer cells of reproductive and non-reproductive origin regardless of progesterone receptor expression. *BMC Cancer* (2011) 11:207. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-11-207
- Liu R, Shi P, Nie Z, Liang H, Zhou Z, Chen W, et al. Mifepristone Suppresses Basal Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Stem Cells by Down-regulating KLF5 Expression. *Theranostics* (2016) 6(4):533–44. doi: 10.7150/thno.14315
- Sang L, Wang X, Zhao X. Mifepristone Inhibits the Migration of Cervical Cancer Cells by Inhibiting Exocrine Secretion. *Pharmacology* (2018) 101 (5–6):322–9. doi: 10.1159/000488356
- 41. Moe BT, Vereide AB, Orbo A, Jaeger R, Sager G. Levonorgestrel, medroxyprogesterone and progesterone cause a concentration-dependent reduction in endometrial cancer (Ishikawa) cell density, and high concentrations of progesterone and mifepristone act in synergy. *Anticancer Res* (2009) 29(4):1047–52.
- Goyeneche AA, Caron RW, Telleria CM. Mifepristone inhibits ovarian cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res* (2007) 13(11):3370–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0164
- 43. Ritch SJ, Brandhagen BN, Goyeneche AA, Telleria CM. Advanced assessment of migration and invasion of cancer cells in response to mifepristone therapy

using double fluorescence cytochemical labeling. BMC Cancer (2019) 19 (1):376. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-5587-3

- 44. Taplin ME, Manola J, Oh WK, Kantoff PW, Bubley GJ, Smith M, et al. A phase II study of mifepristone (RU-486) in castration-resistant prostate cancer, with a correlative assessment of androgen-related hormones. *BJU Int* (2008) 101 (9):1084–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-410X.2008.07509.x
- 45. Nanda R, Stringer-Reasor EM, Saha P, Kocherginsky M, Gibson J, Libao B, et al. A randomized phase I trial of nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel with or without mifepristone for advanced breast cancer. *Springerplus* (2016) 5(1):947. doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-2457-1
- 46. Check JH, Check D, Poretta T. Mifepristone Extends Both Length and Quality of Life in a Patient With Advanced Non-small Cell Lung Cancer that Has Progressed Despite Chemotherapy and a Check-point Inhibitor. *Anticancer Res* (2019) 39(4):1923–6. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.13301
- Check DL, Check JH, Poretta T, Aikins J, Wilson C. Prolonged high-quality life in patients with non-small cell lung cancer treated with mifepristone who advanced despite osimertinib. *Cancer Sci Res* (2020) 3(2):1–5. doi: 10.33425/ 2639-8478.1051
- Check JH, Check D, Wilson C, Lofberg P. Long-term High-quality Survival with Single-agent Mifepristone Treatment Despite Advanced Cancer. *Anticancer Res* (2016) 36(12):6511–3. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11251
- Check JH, Maya CD, Srivastava D, Poretta T, Aikins JK. Treatment With Mifepristone Allows a Patient With End-stage Pancreatic Cancer in Hospice on a Morphine Drip to Restore a Decent Quality of Life. *Anticancer Res* (2020) 40(12):6997–7001. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.14724
- Ostrom QT, Rubin JB, Lathia JD, Berens ME, Barnholtz-Sloan JS. Females have the survival advantage in glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol* (2018) 20(4):576–7. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noy002
- Hatch EE, Linet MS, Zhang J, Fine HA, Shapiro WR, Selker RG, et al. Reproductive and hormonal factors and risk of brain tumors in adult females. *Int J Cancer* (2005) 114(5):797–805. doi: 10.1002/ijc.20776
- Barone TA, Gorski JW, Greenberg SJ, Plunkett RJ. Estrogen increases survival in an orthotopic model of glioblastoma. J Neurooncol (2009) 95(1):37–48. doi: 10.1007/s11060-009-9904-6
- 53. German-Castelan L, Manjarrez-Marmolejo J, Gonzalez-Arenas A, Camacho-Arroyo I. Intracellular Progesterone Receptor Mediates the Increase in Glioblastoma Growth Induced by Progesterone in the Rat Brain. Arch Med Res (2016) 47(6):419–26. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2016.10.002
- Gonzalez-Aguero G, Gutierrez AA, Gonzalez-Espinosa D, Solano JD, Morales R, Gonzalez-Arenas A, et al. Progesterone effects on cell growth of U373 and D54 human astrocytoma cell lines. *Endocrine* (2007) 32(2):129–35. doi: 10.1007/s12020-007-9023-0
- Pina-Medina AG, Hansberg-Pastor V, Gonzalez-Arenas A, Cerbon M, Camacho-Arroyo I. Progesterone promotes cell migration, invasion and cofilin activation in human astrocytoma cells. *Steroids* (2016) 105:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2015.11.008
- Pina-Medina AG, Diaz NF, Molina-Hernandez A, Mancilla-Herrera I, Camacho-Arroyo I. Effects of progesterone on the cell number of gliomaspheres derived from human glioblastoma cell lines. *Life Sci* (2020) 249:117536. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117536
- Ponandai-Srinivasan S, Lalitkumar PG, Garcia L, Varghese SJ, Carlson JW, Gemzell-Danielsson K, et al. Mifepristone mediates anti-proliferative effect on ovarian mesenchymal stem/stromal cells from female BRCA<sup>1-/2-</sup> carriers. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2019) 98(2):250–61. doi: 10.1111/ aogs.13485
- Schiffgens S, Wilkens L, Brandes AA, Meier T, Franceschi E, Ermani M, et al. Sex-specific clinicopathological significance of novel (Frizzled-7) and established (MGMT, IDH1) biomarkers in glioblastoma. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(34):55169–80. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10465

- Meijer OC, Buurstede JC, Schaaf MJM. Corticosteroid Receptors in the Brain: Transcriptional Mechanisms for Specificity and Context-Dependent Effects. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2019) 39(4):539–49. doi: 10.1007/s10571-018-0625-2
- Dubinski D, Hattingen E, Senft C, Seifert V, Peters KG, Reiss Y, et al. Controversial roles for dexamethasone in glioblastoma - Opportunities for novel vascular targeting therapies. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2019) 39 (8):1460–8. doi: 10.1177/0271678X19859847
- Sur P, Sribnick EA, Patel SJ, Ray SK, Banik NL. Dexamethasone decreases temozolomide-induced apoptosis in human gliobastoma T98G cells. *Glia* (2005) 50(2):160–7. doi: 10.1002/glia.20168
- 62. Shields LB, Shelton BJ, Shearer AJ, Chen L, Sun DA, Parsons S, et al. Dexamethasone administration during definitive radiation and temozolomide renders a poor prognosis in a retrospective analysis of newly diagnosed glioblastoma patients. *Radiat Oncol* (2015) 10:222. doi: 10.1186/s13014-015-0527-0
- Biswas T, Ramana CV, Srinivasan G, Boldogh I, Hazra TK, Chen Z, et al. Activation of human O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase gene by glucocorticoid hormone. Oncogene (1999) 18(2):525–32. doi: 10.1038/ sj.onc.1202320
- 64. Ueda S, Mineta T, Nakahara Y, Okamoto H, Shiraishi T, Tabuchi K. Induction of the DNA repair gene O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase by dexamethasone in glioblastomas. *J Neurosurg* (2004) 101(4):659–63. doi: 10.3171/jns.2004.101.4.0659
- Cabrini G, Fabbri E, Lo Nigro C, Dechecchi MC, Gambari R. Regulation of expression of O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase and the treatment of glioblastoma (Review). *Int J Oncol* (2015) 47:417–28. doi: 10.3892/ ijo.2015.3026
- 66. Sharma R, Garg K, Katiyar V, Tandon V, Agarwal D, Singh M, et al. The role of mifepristone in the management of meningiomas: A systematic review of literature. *Neurol India* (2019) 67(3):698–705. doi: 10.4103/0028-3886.263232
- 67. Ji Y, Rankin C, Grunberg S, Sherrod AE, Ahmadi J, Townsend JJ, et al. Double-Blind Phase III Randomized Trial of the Antiprogestin Agent Mifepristone in the Treatment of Unresectable Meningioma: SWOG S9005. J Clin Oncol (2015) 33(34):4093–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.61.6490
- 68. Check JH, Wilson C, Cohen R, Sarumi M. Evidence that Mifepristone, a progesterone receptor antagonist, can cross the blood brain barrier and provide palliative benefits for glioblastoma multiforme grade IV. *Anticancer Res* (2014) 34(5):2385–8.
- Prager BC, Bhargava S, Mahadev V, Hubert CG, Rich JN. Glioblastoma Stem Cells: Driving Resilience through Chaos. *Trends Cancer* (2020) 6(3):223–35. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2020.01.009
- Garnier D, Renoult O, Alves-Guerra MC, Paris F, Pecqueur C. Glioblastoma Stem-Like Cells, Metabolic Strategy to Kill a Challenging Target. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:118. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00118
- Zhang X, Ding K, Wang J, Li X, Zhao P. Chemoresistance caused by the microenvironment of glioblastoma and the corresponding solutions. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2018) 109:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.10.063

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Llaguno-Munive, Vazquez-Lopez, Jurado and Garcia-Lopez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Overcoming Glucocorticoid Resistance in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Repurposed Drugs Can Improve the Protocol

#### Miguel Olivas-Aguirre, Liliana Torres-López, Igor Pottosin and Oxana Dobrovinskaya\*

Laboratory of Immunobiology and Ionic Transport Regulation, University Center for Biomedical Research, University of Colima, Colima, Mexico

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are a central component of multi-drug treatment protocols against T and B acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL), which are used intensively during the remission induction to rapidly eliminate the leukemic blasts. The primary response to GCs predicts the overall response to treatment and clinical outcome. In this review, we have critically analyzed the available data on the effects of GCs on sensitive and resistant leukemic cells, in order to reveal the mechanisms of GC resistance and how these mechanisms may determine a poor outcome in ALL. Apart of the GC resistance, associated with a decreased expression of receptors to GCs, there are several additional mechanisms, triggered by alterations of different signaling pathways, which cause the metabolic reprogramming, with an enhanced level of glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation, apoptosis resistance, and multidrug resistance. Due to all this, the GC-resistant ALL show a poor sensitivity to conventional chemotherapeutic protocols. We propose pharmacological strategies that can trigger alternative intracellular pathways to revert or overcome GC resistance. Specifically, we focused our search on drugs, which are already approved for treatment of other diseases and demonstrated anti-ALL effects in experimental pre-clinical models. Among them are some "truly" re-purposed drugs, which have different targets in ALL as compared to other diseases: cannabidiol, which targets mitochondria and causes the mitochondrial permeability transition-driven necrosis, tamoxifen, which induces autophagy and cell death, and reverts GC resistance through the mechanisms independent of nuclear estrogen receptors ("off-target effects"), antibiotic tigecycline, which inhibits mitochondrial respiration, causing energy crisis and cell death, and some anthelmintic drugs. Additionally, we have listed compounds that show a classical mechanism of action in ALL but are not used still in treatment protocols: the BH3 mimetic venetoclax, which inhibits the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2, the hypomethylating agent 5-azacytidine, which restores the expression of the proapoptotic BIM, and compounds targeting the PI3K-Akt-mTOR axis. Accordingly, these drugs may be considered for the inclusion into chemotherapeutic protocols for GCresistant ALL treatments.

Keywords: acute lymphoblastic leukemia, glucocorticoid-resistance, drug repositioning, signaling pathways, tamoxifen, cannabidiol, BH3 mimetics, tigecycline

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Eduardo López-Urrutia, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Duohui Jing, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Kirsten Canté-Barrett, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

> \*Correspondence: Oxana Dobrovinskaya oxana@ucol.mx

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular and Cellular Oncology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 15 October 2020 Accepted: 16 February 2021 Published: 11 March 2021

#### Citation:

Olivas-Aguirre M, Torres-López L, Pottosin I and Dobrovinskaya O (2021) Overcoming Glucocorticoid Resistance in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Repurposed Drugs Can Improve the Protocol. Front. Oncol. 11:617937. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.617937

## INTRODUCTION

Acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) represents a heterogeneous group of hematological malignancies, originated from T (T-ALL) or B (B-ALL) cells progenitors. They suffered genetic alterations that preclude their further maturation and cause an unlimited self-renewal. Initially, malignant lymphocytes accumulate within the bone marrow (BM), where they constantly proliferate, displace healthy lymphoid precursors, devastate hematopoietic niches, and compromise the hematopoiesis. Later, a part of malignant cells leaves the BM and invades extramedullary sites, such as lymph nodes, spleen, liver, mediastinal space, and central nervous system (CNS). A proper treatment should begin immediately, otherwise clinical complications become incompatible with life (1, 2).

The established therapy consists of high-dose multi-agent protocols, which combine genotoxic drugs, antimetabolites, spindle inhibitors, and glucocorticoids (GCs). Albeit more than 80% of patients go to the remission after the induction therapy, there are also groups that are refractory to it. Many patients, who have reached the remission, will relapse later. A poor response to the initial GCs administration has been identified as a prognostic factor of unfavorable outcome (3, 4).

Over decades, synthetic GCs prednisolone (PRD), prednisone (PRED), and dexamethasone (DEX) were used widely as antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive agents due to their lympholytic properties. They were among the first drugs, which were used for ALL treatment and remain as essential components of the antileukemic chemotherapy. The recent standard protocol, adopted by the Berlin-Frankfurt-Münster group, starts with 1 week of the GCs monotherapy, which serves as a prediction test and determines the future treatment strategy. Response to GCs varies among ALL patients, and GC resistance has been associated with an elevated risk of a minimal residual disease and poor survival (5–7). A more aggressive chemotherapy with toxic adverse effects is usually prescribed for these patients (3, 7–10). The understanding of underlying mechanisms could trigger the development of novel strategies that help to overcome steroid resistance in ALL.

Nowadays, much attention is paid not only to the development of new compounds, but also to a deeper understanding of the mechanisms of action of approved drugs, which may lead to their expanded or alternative use. Drug repurposing (or repositioning) is a very rational approach, since it implies the use of already approved drugs with identified mechanisms of toxicity and known side effects, thereby reducing the cost and time of the entire "from bench to bedside" process (11).

In the present review we have critically analyzed the available data regarding GC effects on leukemic cells, seeking the way to overcome the GC resistance by usage of certain repurposed drugs. The manuscript is divided into three parts. The first chapter describes the mechanisms of GC toxicity in sensitive cells. In the second chapter we discuss the mechanisms of GC resistance in ALL, with a focus on where the involved signaling pathways converge. In the third chapter we propose some drugs, already approved for treatments of other diseases, which can affect these converging points, thus overcoming/reverting GC resistance in ALL.

# FACTORS DETERMINING GCs EFFECTS IN LYMPHOID CELLS

### **Endogenous and Synthetic GCs**

Primary endogenous GCs (cortisol in humans) are steroid hormones, generally produced by adrenal cortex in a response to physiological and/or emotional stress. GC synthesis is under the regulation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis. The duration of GC secretion is rather short, the clearance rate is rapid, and elevated GC levels, achieved during acute stress response, quickly return to their basal values. Because most cellular types in mammals express receptors for GCs (GRs), GCs display systemic effects, including a potent immunosuppression [reviewed in (12)]. According to early observations, adrenocorticotropic hormone administration leads to a decrease in mass of lymphoid organs in rats (13). Numerous subsequent studies demonstrated that GCs change the production of some interleukins, cytokines, and adhesion molecules, and cause cell death in lymphocytes (12).

Inverse relationship between the size of adrenal gland and thymus, the primary lymphoid organ, where T lymphocytes maturate, was also observed (14). At the same time, local GCs are naturally produced by stromal cells in the thymic cortex, providing the GC-rich microenvironment required for the T cells selection (15, 16). A crosstalk between the T cell receptor (TCR)- and GR- triggered pathways determines pro-survival or pro-apoptotic fates of thymocytes (17, 18).

Pharmacological effects of endogenous and synthetic GCs are similar. But synthetic GCs possess a greater relative potency and are significantly more stable [reviewed in (12)].

## **Structural and Functional Diversity of GRs**

GCs, being small lipophilic molecules, diffuse freely across the plasma membrane into target cells. Classically, they exert their

Abbreviations: AML, Acute Myeloid Leukemia; ALL, Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia; ATG, Autophagy Related Gene; AURKB, Aurora Kinase B; BCR, B Cell Receptor; B-ALL, B cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia; BM, Bone Marrow; CA4, Carbon Anhydrase 4; CB, Cannabinoid Receptor; CBD, Cannabidiol; CLL, Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia; CNS, Central Nervous System; CRAC, Calcium Release Calcium Activated Channel; CREB, Cyclic-AMP Responsive Element Binding Protein; DEX, Dexamethasone; ER, Estrogen Receptors; ETP, Early T cell Precursor; GAPDH, Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase; GC, Glucocorticoids; GLUT, Glucose Transporter; GR, Glucocorticoid Receptors; GRE, Glucocorticoid Response Element; GSI, Gamma Secretase Inhibitor; HIF-1α, Hypoxia-inducible Factor-1 alpha; HMA, Hypomethylating Agents; HTS, High-Throughput Screening; IL, Interleukin; KD, Knockdown; LSO, Lymphocyte-Specific Open Chromatin; LSC, Lymphocyte-Specific Closed Chromatin; MAPK, Mitogen Activated Protein Kinases; MDM2, Murine Double Minute 2; MDR, Multidrug Resistance pump; mPTP, Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore; mTOR, Mammalian Target of Rapamycin; OXPHOS, Oxidative Phosphorylation; P-gp, P-glycoprotein; PI3K, Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase; PRD, Prednisolone; PRED, Prednisone; PTEN, Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog; SGK1, Serum and Glucocorticoid inducible Kinase 1; TAM, Tamoxifen; TCA, Tricarboxylic Acid; TCR, T Cell Receptor; TGC, Tigecycline; TRAIL, TNF-Related Apoptosis Inducing Ligand; T-ALL, T cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia; VDAC, Voltage Dependent Anion Channel;  $\Delta \Psi m$ , Mitochondrial Membrane Potential.

effects by binding to their specific intracellular GRs, which are ligand-inducible transcriptional factors, belonging to the nuclear receptor superfamily. In the absence of a specific ligand, GRs are retained in the cytoplasm by their association with chaperone proteins. Ligand binding causes a formation of the GC-GR complex, its conformational change, and translocation to the nucleus, where it exerts genomic effects either through the direct binding to the specific DNA binding motif (the GC response element, GRE) or through the interaction with other transcriptional factors. GRE is an enhancer element, capable to modulate the activity of associated gene promoters, causing activation (transactivation) or inhibition (transrepression) of target genes expression [reviewed in (19, 20)]. Another, less appreciated regulatory function of GRs is related to the ability of GC-GR complexes to bind mRNA, triggering its rapid degradation (21, 22).

Although all GRs are encoded by unique *NR3C1* gene, their structure, stability, and functional characteristics are diverse. This diversity is generated by multilevel mechanisms at the transcriptional, post-transcriptional, translational, and post-translational levels [reviewed in (23–26)]. Based on these comprehensive reviews, here we briefly describe the mechanisms, relevant for GC resistance in ALL.

At the transcriptional level, there are several promoters that have alternative binding sites for various transcriptional factors that can increase or alternatively suppress the expression of the *NR3C1* gene (23). Among activators there are AP-1/AP-2, NF- $\kappa$ B, estrogen receptor (ER), cyclic-AMP responsive element binding protein (CREB), whereas GC responsive factor-1 and c-Ets-1/2 are reported as repressors. Interestingly, NF- $\kappa$ B also controls expression of anti-apoptotic and proliferative genes and it is frequently constitutively upregulated in ALL and may be related to drug resistance (27–29). AP-1 is involved in the GC response in ALL patients (30) and high CREB expression was correlated with a poor outcome (31).

Remarkably, *NR3C1* possesses binding sites for GRs themselves, providing an autoregulatory loop (23). Interactions of GRs with other relevant transcriptional factors can upregulate (interaction with c-Myb) or downregulate (interaction with c-Ets) the *NR3C1* expression (23). c-Myb was shown to interact with GR and enhances its expression level in pre-B-ALL (32, 33). Accordingly, a different tissue microenvironment and cellular context may contribute to the control of the *NR3C1* expression through upregulation of different transcriptional factors.

A different translation initiation of the GR transcript and an alternative RNA splicing result in a formation of several receptor isoforms, which possess different functional features (23–26).

Classical GR $\alpha$  protein is the most abundant isoform, accounting for about 90% of GR transcripts in all tissues (23). It efficiently binds GCs, possesses the nucleus-targeted sequence and DNA binding domain. Remarkably, there are eight alternative translation initiation sites in exon 2, resulting in eight GR $\alpha$  translational isoforms, named GR $\alpha$ -A to D, which are characterized by a different length of the N-terminal and by unique transcriptional target genes (34, 35).

Alternative splicing of the  $9\beta$  instead of the  $9\alpha$  exon results in the GR $\beta$  isoform, which is unable to bind GCs, but is

transcriptionally active (36). It resides constitutively in the nucleus and can alternatively regulate many genes, controlled by the GR $\alpha$  (37, 38).

GR $\gamma$  isoform is less studied, but intriguing data evidencing unique GR $\gamma$  properties were reported (39). GR $\gamma$  is identical to GR $\alpha$  but contains an insertion of a single arginine near the nuclear localization signal, which slows down the nucleus-cytosol shuttling upon ligand binding when compared to GR $\alpha$ . GC and DNA binding capacities are similar to those of GR $\alpha$ , but their target genes are distinct. In particular, it was shown that GR $\gamma$  controls nuclear genes, encoding mitochondrial proteins. GR $\gamma$  is predominantly localized in the cytoplasm and in its unbound state targets mitochondria. The authors suggest unique functional profile of GR $\gamma$ , which includes the regulation of mitochondrial function and ATP production.

Thus, distinct GR isoforms demonstrate non-redundant properties. Importantly, more than one isoform is usually found in the same cell, forming the cell-specific pattern. Consequently, cellular response to the GC application is the result of their complex crosstalk.

Stability of the GR mRNA is another factor, which may determine the GR expression level. mRNA stability is controlled by various mechanisms, including microRNAs (miRNAs) (23–26) and a previously mentioned GC-dependent mRNA decay (21, 22).

Further on, numerous GR mutations and polymorphisms may be related to either GC hypersensitivity or resistance [complete lists of GR mutations and polymorphisms known up to 2018 can be seen in (26)]. Finally, post-translational modifications, occurred at different physiological and pathological conditions, such as phosphorylation, ubiquitination, acetylation, nitrosylation or oxidation, are all capable to change the GR functional activity (23).

#### Effects of GCs on Sensitive Lymphocytes

Effects of GCs on lymphoid cells include G1-phase cell cycle arrest and cell death, predominantly via the intrinsic (mitochondrial) apoptotic pathway (17, 20, 40–43).

To understand the early response of leukemic cells to GCs, parallel time-course metabolomics, proteomics and isotopetracing studies were performed recently, using the B-ALL derived cell line RS4;11 (44). The earliest genomic effect (4 h after the GC exposure) is a downregulation of the proto-oncogenic transcription factor *MYC*. CDK4, responsible for cell cycle progression, is decreased, whereas apoptotic markers *BCL2L11* (encoded BIM protein) and *CD93* are increased over time.

Puffal's group reported that DEX repressed the expression of genes, coding for key regulators of the early B cell development (*ITGA4, IL7R, BCL6*) as well as various genes related to the B cell receptor (BCR) signaling (*CD79B, CSK, FYN, BTK, PIK3CD, PIK3C2B, PIK3R2*). Pro-survival *BCL2* and *MYC* as well as *CXCR4* coding for the BM homing receptor were reported among the repressed, whereas pro-apoptotic *BCL2L11* and the major regulator of cellular redox signaling *TXNIP* among the activated genes. Remarkably, the mechanisms of cell death are most likely redundant, because no one among pro-apoptotic genes was determined as absolutely required (45).



effects (5). The lower panel shows the formation of alternative GR isoforms. See Chapter 1 for more details.

IL7R and BCR pathways, in turn, work through the PI3K $\delta$  stimulation, leading to the activation of ERK/MAPK and Akt/mTOR axes, involved in growth and survival (45, 46). Accordingly, PI3K $\delta$  inhibition enhances the GC-regulated cell death even in resistant B-ALL (45). Different ALL were shown to be heterogeneous in the strength of the PI3K signaling [(47), and references therein].

Cell and tissue specificities of GC effects also depend on a specific pattern of the chromatin accessibility. Although the GR-associated transcriptome of lymphoid cells has not yet been decoded, lymphocyte-specific open (LSOs) and closed (LSCs) chromatin domains, characterized by different methylation degree, were described. The Bcl-2 family member *BCL2L11* was recently identified in highly accessible chromatin regions, critical for the GC-induced cell death in lymphocytes (48). BIM protein, which precludes the anti-apoptotic activity of Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, and Mcl-1, was demonstrated to trigger apoptosis in GC-sensitive cells (48, 49).

It is well-known that endogenous GCs are essential for regulation of energy metabolism in different human tissues under physiological and stress conditions (50). Expression of metabolism-related genes changed considerably in a response to GC treatments in ALL, causing strong alterations in cell metabolism (51–54). DEX treatment reduces the surface expression of the glucose transporter GLUT1, resulting in a decreased glucose uptake and a profound inhibition of glycolysis, both in cell lines and primary ALL (55). A consequent apoptotic cell death was correlated with the inhibition of glucose uptake (55). GLUT1 gene is not a direct target for GRs. The mechanism, underlying the inhibition of glycolysis, seems to be related to MYC, which is known to induce the expression of glucose transporters and some glycolytic enzymes in leukemic cells, and it is downregulated rapidly during GC treatments (44).



2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG), 1-(2,4-dichlorobenzyl)-1H-indazol-3 carboxylic acid) (lonidamine, LND) needs to be considered. Some re-purposed drugs may improve antileukemic protocols: (1) TGC, which targets mitochondria and OXPHOS; (2) CBD, which targets mitochondria, causes the MTP-driven necrosis and inhibits P-gp; (3) TAM, which targets mitochondria, induces autophagy, inhibits P-gp and enhances the sensitivity to GCs; (4) anthelmintics, which inhibit GLUT1 and Hes1. For more details please consult the text.

A switch to the mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) for ATP production is a rescue strategy in GC-treated leukemic cells, in case of suppressed glycolysis (56, 57). When glycolysis is inhibited, mitochondrial activity appears to rely on autophagy (56, 58). There are various reports on a massive accumulation of autophagosomes in GC-treated ALL cells (44, 59, 60). Originally, autophagy was evolved as a prosurvival mechanism under starvation, but when the threshold level is exceeded, it can eventually lead to cell death (61). A non-protective autophagy was suggested to be an important

process, preceding cell death in GC-treated leukemic cells (44, 59, 60).

Some rapid effects of GCs could be explained by nongenomic mechanisms. In particular, the translocation of the GC-GR complex to mitochondria instead of nucleus, with a subsequent direct interaction with the Bcl-2 superfamily proteins and triggering on the intrinsic apoptotic pathway was evidenced in experiments on mouse thymocytes (16, 62, 63). Another mechanism proposed the interaction with surface GRs and triggering of alternative signaling pathways (64).

ALL phenotype	Leukemic cells	Status/modifications	GC sensitivity	GR expression	Notch dependence	Components of resistance mechanism	References
T-ALL cell lines							
CD3+ CD4+ CD8-	Jurkat parental (wt)	Relapse CD4+	Resistant	*	+	GRs↓ Notch↑ PTEN↓ Akt↑ nuclear GR translocation↓	(66–69)
	Jurkat /GR-A Jurkat /GR-B Jurkat /GR-C Jurkat /GR-D	Stable expression of GR translational isoforms in Jurkat (wt)	Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive Resistant	**** **** ****	ND	Reverted sensitivity to GCs Reverted sensitivity to GCs Reverted sensitivity to GCs Resistant, like Jurkat (wt)	(70)
CD3+ CD4+ CD8-	CCRF-CEM parental (wt)	Relapse	Sensitive	***	+	-	(68, 71–73)
	CEM-C7-14	Sub-clone of CCRF-CEM	Sensitive	***as parental	ND	-	(74, 75)
	CEM-C1-15	Sub-clone of CCRF-CEM, isolated without selective GC pressure	Resistant	***as parental	+	ND	(7, 73–75)
	CEM-C7//HDR	Prolong culturing CEM-C7-14 under hypoxia +single Dex treatment	Resistant	*/-	ND	GRs↓	(75)
	CEM-C7//H	Prolong culturing CEM-C7–14 under hypoxia (no Dex)	Sensitive	***	ND	-	(75)
	6T-CEM	HPRT-deficient	Sensitive	***	ND	-	(66)
	CCRF-CEM/MTX R3	Selected for resistance to MTX	Resistant	**	ND	GRs↓, nuclear GR translocation↓	(68, 72)
cyCD3+ CD4+ CD8+	MOLT-3	Relapse	Resistant	*	+	Notch↑ PTEN↓ Akt↑ GRs↓ nuclear GR translocation↓	(67, 76)
CD3+ CD4+ CD8+	CUTLL1	Relapse	Resistant	**	+	Notch/HES↑	(77, 78)
CD3+ CD4+ CD8+	UP-A t(8:14)(q24;q11) translocation LL13	Diagnosis	Sensitive	ND	-	-	(79)
CD3+ CD4+ CD8+	HBP-ALL	Diagnosis	Resistant	***	+	Notch↑	(66, 80), (81
CD3+ CD4+ CD8+	T-ALL1	Relapse	Resistant	ND	+	Notch↑	(66, 77, 80)
CD3- CD4+ CD8+	ALL-SIL	Relapse	Sensitive	**	+	-	(7, 66, 80)
Precursor T lymphoblast	DND-41	ND	Sensitive	**	+	-	(76, 80)
	KOPTK-1	ND	Resistant	*	-	Akt↑ Notch↑	(76, 80)
ALL lymphoblasts	KE-37	Diagnosis	Sensitive	***	+	-	(68)
B-ALL cell lines							
Pro-B	HAL-01 CD3-	t (17, 19)(q22;p13) TCF3-HLF (E2A-HLF) fusion gene	Resistant	*	ND	Apoptosis resistance nuclear GR translocation↓	(68)
Pro-B	UOC-B1	Relapse TBL1XR1 delitions	Resistant	****	ND	Decreased GR recruitment at gene regulatory regions nuclear GR translocation↓	(68, 82)
Pre-B	Reh parental (wt)	Relapse	Resistant	*/_	ND	GRs↓ BIM↓ p53↓ apoptosis resistance	(66, 68, 82)

(Continued)

Repurposed Drugs in ALL Treatment

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

ALL phenotype	Leukemic cells	Status/modifications	GC sensitivity	GR expression	Notch dependence	Components of resistance mechanism	References
	Reh/MEK4-KD	Reh wt MEK4 shRNA	Sensitive	**	ND	Reverted sensitivity to GCs: GR↑ + BIM↑	(82)
	Reh/MEK2-KD	Reh wt MEK2 shRNA	Sensitive	*/- as parental	ND	Reverted sensitivity to chemotherapy in general: pERK↓ + p53↑	(82)
Pre-B	NALM6 parental (wt)	Relapse	Sensitive	***	+	-	(66, 68, 83)
	NALM6/ DEX	NALM6 wt prolong exposure to DEX	Resistant	*	ND	$GRs\downarrow + FLT3$ point mutations	(84)
	NALM6/ HDR	NALM6 wt Prolong culturing under hypoxia + single Dex treatment	Resistant	ND	ND	Similar to CEM-C7//HDR?	(75)
	NALM6/ CELCR2-KO	NALM6 wt shCELSR2	Resistant	Lower than NALM6 (wt)	ND	Low ratio of BIM:BCL2 after PRED treatment	(85)
Pre-B	(697) parental (wt)	Relapse t(l;19) translocation	Sensitive	***	ND	-	(86)
	(697)/Bcl-2	Infected with recombinant Bcl-2 retrovirus	Resistant	*	ND	$BCL\text{-}2\uparrow + GRs \downarrow + GSH \uparrow$	(87)
	(697)/DEX	(697): prolong exposure to DEX	Resistant	*	ND	GRs↓ + GSH↑	(84, 87)
Pre-B	RS4;11 Parental (wt)	Relapse	Sensitive	****	ND	-	(84)
	RS4;11/DEX	RS4;11: prolong exposure to DEX	Resistant	*/	ND	GRs↓+ FLT3↑ point mutations	(84)
Pre-B	(380) parental	Relapse Translocations: t (8, 14); t (14, 18)	Resistant	ND	ND	<i>IGH-BCL2</i> fusion <i>MYC-IGH</i> fusion Bcl-2↑ + Myc↑	(86, 88)
Primary samples	N 6						(0.0)
Pediatric ALL patients (no phenotypes reported)	Xenografts	ND	Variable sensitivity depending on NR3C1 polymorphism	**	ND	BIM↓ in resistant samples	(68)
Pediatric ALL patients (no phenotypes reported)	In vitro primary samples	Relapse GR Somatic mutations not found in 49/50 patients	Variable sensitivity	Positive variable	ND		(89)
Pediatric ALL patients (no phenotypes reported)	Primary culture (BM/PB)	Diagnosis (43) Relapse (11)	Variable sensitivity	***	ND	Higher relation $GR\gamma/GR\alpha$ in resistant samples?	(90)
B-ALL	Freshly isolated (BM) primary cultures	Diagnosis	Resistant Sensitive	Variable	ND	Lower CELSR2 and higher BCL2 in GC resistant samples	(85)
Ph+-ALL	Xenograft derived strain (ALL-4CL)	Relapse	Resistant	**	ND	BIM ↓ Apoptosis resistance	(68)
CD11a+, CD19+;CD20+ CD38-; CD49e+	IM-9	ND	Sensitive	*	ND	-	(91)
Biphenotypic leukemias	Xenograft derived strain (ALL-7CL)	Diagnosis	Resistant	****	ND	BIM↓ Apoptosis resistance	(68)

(Continued)

Repurposed Drugs in ALL Treatment

-							
ALL phenotype	Leukemic cells	Status/modifications	GC sensitivity	GR expression Notch depen	Notch dependence	Components of resistance mechanism	References
9 ALL lymphoblasts	Primary cultures; patients Relapse exposed to PRD (n=49)	Relapse	Sensitive Resistant	* * * * *	Q	Positive correlation between endogenous expression of NR3C1 in ALL cells and sensitivity to GCs and clinical outcomes	(66)
ALL lymphoblasts	Primary culture of patients ND exposed to PRD (n=9)	QN	Sensitive Resistant	* * *	QN		(92)
T-ALL (incl. ETP) lymphoblasts	Primary culture from BM / Diagnosis Periphereal blood	Diagnosis	Resistant Variable depending on mutation	/- *** (mutated)	QN	GRs↓ (deletion) Truncated GR, unable to bind to DNA [G (371)X mutation]	(93)
ETV6/RUNX1- ALL	BM	Relapse	Resistant	-/*	QN	Patients with <i>NR3C1</i> aberrations (94) display a poor prognosis	\$ (94)
*Veny low expression; **Moderate expression; *** ND, Not determined. HPRT, hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase.	derate expression; ***Intermedic horibosyl transferase.	"Very low expression; ""Moderate expression; ""Intermediate expression; """Increased expression; """"Very high expression. ND, Not determined. HPRT, hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase.	n; *****Very high expression.				

Finally, the accumulation of highly lipophilic GC molecules in plasma membrane was postulated, which alters the function of membrane integral proteins such as ion channels or receptors (65). Proposed mechanisms of the GC action in sensitive cells are summarized in the **Figure 1**.

### **MECHANISMS OF GC RESISTANCE IN ALL**

Here we present evidence for multiple mechanisms of GCs resistance (summarized graphically in the **Figure 2**). Most likely, different mechanisms may be responsible for GC resistance in the same leukemic clone.

# GC Resistance May Be Caused by an Altered GRs Expression

#### **GRs Expression Is Heterogeneous in ALL**

The level of the GRs expression among ALL patients and derived cell lines appears to be highly heterogeneous (**Table 1**). Sensitivity to GCs in hematological malignances was initially thought to be directly dependent on the number of functional GRs. This assumption seems to be logical and various reports confirmed it (66, 94–98), although conflicting results were also reported (7, 51, 71, 89). Regarding lineage differences, the levels of GRs were reported to be lower in T-ALL (90, 99–102), which is in line with the fact that T-ALL display GC resistance more frequently than B-ALL (6, 7). Additionally, a reduced binding affinity to DEX was revealed in T-ALL clinical samples as compared to B-ALL (102).

Importantly, GCs by itself may cause an acute decrease in GR expression. This effect varied significantly, depending on the leukemic phenotype and on the chosen therapeutic protocol. The receptor re-establishment was observed predominantly during the first 15 days after the last DEX administration (90, 103). Remarkably, GC-resistant clones isolated from relapsed ALL patients usually express lower GRs levels due to alterations in *NR3C1* expression (66, 92, 94, 103–106). These data suggest that a chronic exposition to GCs in newly diagnosed ALL patients can promote the appearance and selection of ALL clones with a low GR expression, their evasion and re-appearance during the relapse.

However, high GR expression was found also in GC-resistant cases (**Table 1**). The opposite situation, when a high GC sensitivity is paralleled with a low level of GRs, is rare. Some early studies reported GC resistant clones, derived from sensitive cell lines, with apparently unaltered functional cytosolic GRs (74). These data argue for alternative mechanisms of the GC resistance, rather than simply to be caused by a decreased GR expression.

#### Somatic Loss-of-Function Mutations and Polymorphisms in the NR3C1 Gene May Alter GC Sensitivity

Somatic loss-of-function mutations in the *NR3C1* gene may change a proper functionality of GRs. Recurrent *NR3C1* inactivating aberrations, including deletions, missense, and nonsense mutations, which can be detected already at the first diagnosis, were reported to be responsible for GC resistance in pediatric T-ALL patients (93). Xiao et al. (98) reported

TABLE 1 | Continuec

methotrexate.

glutation.

GSH, g MTX, r frequent relapse-specific genetic alterations in adult patients with B-ALL, revealed by the longitudinal whole-exome sequencing analysis on diagnosis/ relapse pairs. In particular, recurrent truncated mutations were detected in the *NR3C1* gene (98). *NR3C1* deletions were also reported in ETV6/RUNX1-positive relapsed patients (94). Ectopic expression of the *NR3C1* reverses GC resistance, while the *NR3C1* deletion, in contrast, confers a resistance to GCs in ALL cell lines and xenograft models (66). Polymorphisms were found in healthy individuals and ALL patients. Moreover, it has been observed that GR polymorphisms conferred an increased or decreased GC sensitivity (107).

## Epigenetic Regulation of *NR3C1* Expression May Be Altered in ALL

Alterations in the GR protein expression, associated with the methylation status of the *NR3C1* gene, have been described in some human pathologies [reviewed in (108)], but not in ALL. However, there are other epigenetic mechanisms regulating the *NR3C1* expression, such as silencing or repressive RNA. ALL patients exhibit high levels of miRNAs. In particular, miR-124 is overexpressed in GC resistant leukemic cell lines and poor PRD responders. *NR3C1* was found to be a target for miR-124, which acts as a GR suppressor, inhibiting the apoptosis induced by DEX (109). Conversely, *FKBP51*, a GR repressor that decreases GR autoregulation and activity, was shown to be a target for miR-100 and miR-99a. miRNA expression, which limits the *FKBP51*, reestablishes the *NR3C1* autoregulation and activity and confers GC sensitivity (110).

#### Differential Expression of GR Isoforms in ALL

Since GR isoforms are functionally non-redundant (see section Structural and Functional Diversity of GRs), their pattern in leukemic cells may be associated with a different GC sensitivity. In particular, GC resistance was associated with a high GR  $\beta/\alpha$  ratio (111–113) that may be explained by the fact that GR $\beta$  alternatively regulates GR $\alpha$ -dependent genes (discussed in Structural and Functional Diversity of GRs). Pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 can selectively upregulate the GR $\beta$ expression, as it was demonstrated for leukemic cell lines (112). Remarkably, leukemic niches in B-ALL are characterized by a proinflammatory microenvironment, producing enhanced levels TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 and IL-12 (114) that may support the GC resistant phenotype.

GR $\gamma$  is an important positive regulator of mitochondrial function (see section Structural and Functional Diversity of GRs). GR $\gamma$  up-regulation is related to an increase in the mitochondrial mass, oxygen consumption, and ATP production (39). Accordingly, an enhanced GR $\gamma$  expression is associated with some GC resistant cases (90, 115).

As far as different GR translational isoforms can mediate differential regulatory patterns of GC-induced genes, the question about their capacity to induce apoptosis in ALL was addressed. With genetically modified Jurkat cells, expressing individual GR isoforms GR $\alpha$ -A-D, it was demonstrated that DEX efficiently decreased Myc expression and induced apoptosis in GR $\alpha$ -A-B but not in GR $\alpha$ -D expressing cells (70).

#### GR May Be Cleaved by Upregulated Caspase 1

A low somatic methylation of the *CASP1* gene and its activator *NLRP3* was observed in ALL patients, with a resulting upregulation of caspase 1. It was revealed that GR may serve as a target for inflammasome and may be cleaved by caspase 1, resulting in a decreased receptors' number (116).

## Alterations in Signaling Pathways in ALL May Be Involved in GC Resistance

Genetic alterations, which cause ALL, occur in two steps. Chromosomal rearrangements, which result in upregulation of oncogenic proteins and maturation arrest, are considered as driving leukemogenic events and are associated with unique expression profile. Gene rearrangements in ALL often place the oncogenic transcriptional factors under the control of promoters or enhancers of the BCR/TCR or BCL11B genes, among others. During the pre-leukemic phase additional mutations occur and give rise to ALL. These secondary mutations alter basic cellular processes, including survival, cell cycle progression, proliferation, and apoptosis. They are related to a variety of signaling pathways, including Notch, Il7R/JAK/STAT, RAS/MEK/ERK, and PTEN/PI3K/AKT/mTOR ones. Several comprehensive reviews, which describe in detail sequential genetic rearrangements and mutations in leukemogenesis were published recently (117-120). Targeting mutated genes and pathways was proposed as a basis for the "precision medicine" (121, 122). However, this strategy requires further studies, concerning a complex crosstalk between altered signaling pathways, to reveal the most promising therapeutic targets, in particular when patients present multiple genomic lesions (120). In addition, whereas genetic biomarkers are widely used for risk predictions in B-ALL, few genetic abnormalities were reported to show a prognostic significance in T-ALL (119, 123). Accordingly, functional studies should be of a primary importance. In a continuation we will discuss those signaling pathways, which are upregulated in GC resistant phenotypes, and intend to determine the most frequent abnormalities and convergent points.

#### Notch Activation

More than 50% of human T-ALL are known to exhibit Notch activating mutations (80, 119, 124). An enhanced expression of Notch receptors was also reported in B-ALL primary samples and cell lines (125). Remarkably, an aberrant Notch upregulation is associated not only with an increased proliferation but also with chemoresistance. Notch inhibition by a highly potent  $\gamma$  secretase inhibitor (GSI) reversed chemo- and GC- resistance in both B-and T-ALL [(77, 125); **Table 1**].

Notch is involved in the regulation of the *NR3C1* expression and GR protein levels. The underlying mechanism was shown to involve *HES1*, a transcriptional repressor, which is upregulated by Notch signaling and binds to *NR3C1* promoters, responsible for the GR autoregulation (67, 77, 126). Notch-dependent positive regulation of mTOR pathway in ALL is also related to *HES1* (127). *HES1* inhibits the tumor suppressor phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), which is a negative regulator of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), whereas the activation of PI3K is the primary step in the PI3K–AKT–mTOR1 axis (128). Notch acts as a positive modulator of the interleukin 7 (IL-7) receptor, IL7R (129).

## Upregulation of Cytokines' Receptors in GC Resistance

IL-7 is a cytokine, produced by thymic and BM stroma, which supports survival and proliferation of both healthy and leukemic lymphocytes. Activating mutations in the IL7Ra gene was reported in 6% of pediatric ALL, with a higher prevalence in T-ALL (130, 131). Primary T-ALL samples developed GC resistance, when cultured with IL-7 (123). GCs induce their own resistance by activating the IL7R (123). IL7R mediates its downstream effects through the JAK/STAT and PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways. Deprivation of IL-7 or blockade of downstream effectors enhances the efficiency of DEX in T-ALL cells (132, 133). Whole genome and targeted exome sequencing, undertaken recently in T-ALL patients, revealed frequent (32%) IL7R mutations among the abnormalities, identified for 151 genes (134). Specific IL7R mutation, when expressed in steroid-sensitive cell lines, induces GC resistance through an upregulation of MEK-ERK and PI3K/Akt/mTOR. Accordingly, IL7R inhibitors revert the apoptosis development in response to GCs (134). Inhibitors of MEK and PI3K/Akt efficiently block the IL7R signaling (135).

The cytokine fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 ligand (FL) and its receptor FLT3 form an important axis in the hematopoiesis regulation. An aberrant up-regulation of FLT3 is commonly found in ALL, including a high intrinsic FLT3 level or gain-of-function mutations that promote constitutive FLT3 activity (136). Similar to IL-7, the FLT3 signaling converges with the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. Some GC resistant ALL cells are characterized by a constitutive activation of the FLT3 signaling. They also exhibit a suppressed GR activity due to the Akt-mediated phosphorylation (76, 84).

#### **MAPK Axis**

Genome-scale short hairpin RNA screening was used to identify the mediators of GC resistance in B-ALL cell lines (137). Two different mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), MEK2 and MEK4, were shown to be important for GC resistance but act through distinct mechanisms. MEK4 knockdown (KD) significantly increases both GR expression and transcriptional activity. The latter phenomenon seems to be related to the phosphorylation of GR on Ser226, which may cause its nuclear export and degradation. Accordantly, PRD-induced expression levels of *GILZ* and *BIM*, related to apoptosis, are higher in MEK4 KD samples. In contrast, MEK2 KD does not affect the GR expression but increases the sensitivity to various cytotoxic agents. Underlying mechanism involve the MEK2-dependent ERK suppression, which in turn causes an upregulation of the p53 and sensitizes leukemic cells to a drug-induced apoptosis (137).

#### Metabolic Re-programming and Upregulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR Pathway Is Related to GC Resistance in ALL

As for other cancer types, a re-programmed energy metabolism is typical for ALL. It includes the upregulation of both glycolysis

and OXPHOS. ATP production predominantly via glycolysis (Warburg effect) gives the advantage to use the truncated tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle for biosynthesis of lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids (57, 138). The expression pattern of genes, associated with the glucose metabolism, is different in GCsensitive and GC-resistant B-ALL. In particular, expression levels of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF-1α), glucose transporters, carbonic anhydrase 4 (CA4), and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) are significantly higher in GC-resistant ALL (52, 139). An enhanced glucose consumption and glycolytic rate are correlated with GC resistance in ALL. Inhibition of glycolysis, either by RNA of interference or by synthetic compounds, reverts GC resistance in cell lines and primary samples of both B- and T-ALL (52, 54). Inhibitors of glycolysis and OXPHOS pathways were shown to enhance the sensitivity to GCs in T-ALL in vitro (54). A synergy between GCs and metabolic inhibitors was suggested as a valuable strategy for ALL treatments (56).

Under conditions of an increased rate of glycolysis and, as a consequence, limited availability of pyruvate, the TCA cycle is replenished with glutamine, which also leads to an increase in the rate of glutaminolysis in most types of cancer (57, 138, 140). Leukemic cells require a rapid source of ATP and, at the same time, enough biosynthetic precursors, for their accelerated proliferation. Consequently, ALL, especially GCresistant ones, predominantly make ATP via glycolysis (54), whereas glutaminolysis serves as an extra source of biosynthetic precursors (57, 140). In Notch1-induced T-ALL, glutaminolysis represents a key carbon source and is critically dependent on the up-regulation of mTOR pathway (127, 141, 142). This metabolic reprogramming was shown to induce resistance to anti-Notch1 therapy (141). Consequently, the inhibition of glutaminolysis and mTOR was proposed as a potential strategy against Notch1driven and, even, against anti-Notch1 therapy resistant ALL (141, 142). GCs not only suppress glycolysis, but also prevent the entry of glutamine into TCA cycle (44). It remains to be elucidated, whether the suppression of glutaminolysis by GCs in GC-resistant ALL is insufficient to minimize its metabolic contribution.

A balance between OXPHOS and glycolysis is under the control of the outer mitochondrial voltage-dependent anion channel, VDAC1, which mediates ion and metabolite exchange between mitochondria and cytosol (143). A comparison of GC-resistant and GC-sensitive B-ALL lines revealed that an enhanced VDAC1 expression is a crucial biomarker for GC-resistance (144). In addition to its role in the metabolic reprogramming, the VDAC1 closed or open conformation favors ALL death or survival, respectively (57).

PI3K-Akt pathway is constitutively hyperactivated in more than 80% of primary T- and B-ALL (45, 47, 145–149). Mutations in *PIC3CA* and *PIKRA*, encoding catalytic and regulatory PI3K subunits, are observed frequently in different ALL subtypes (150). Akt up-regulation is required for an increased glucose metabolism, which underlies a sustained cell growth (126, 151). Akt up-regulation is characteristic for GC-resistant phenotypes (152). Akt phosphorylates GR at Ser134, which prevents its translocation from the cytosol to the nucleus (76). In T-ALL, the inhibition of Akt2 enhances the sensitivity to GCs more efficiently than the inhibition of Akt1 (152).

Critical downstream effector of the Akt is the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), which is upregulated in many cancers (153, 154). mTOR contributes to leukemogenesis and GC resistance in ALL (155). PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway appears to be critical for a proliferative response of leukemic cells to CXCL12, IL-7 and different stroma-derived mediators (156). Notch1 and Akt pathways interplay in ALL through *HES1*, which negatively controls *PTEN*, the main negative regulator of Akt signaling [(126, 151), see also section Notch Activation]. Overall, T-ALL patients often display an increased PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway activation (145, 157). mTOR is known as an important regulator of a balance between survival, autophagy, and cell death (153, 154). The underlying mechanism to a large extent is related to mTOR involvement into the regulation of mitochondrial function and biogenesis [(158) and references therein].

#### Autophagy May Be Involved in GC Response

Autophagy is an essential recycling process, which is responsible for degradation of unnecessary, dysfunctional or damaged organelles and proteins in living cells. mTOR is a central checkpoint that negatively regulates autophagy. Metabolic stress is known to cause autophagy (61). In the context of anticancer treatments, autophagy may allow cells to survive during chemotherapy but may also act as a pro-death mechanism. This dual outcome is reported for various types of cancer (159, 160), including acute leukemias of myeloid and lymphoid lineages (161).

During unfavorable metabolic circumstances, caused by chemotherapy, autophagy may provide energy and macromolecules, required for survival and proliferation of cancer cells. Autophagy is an important mechanism, which maintains OXPHOS in leukemic cells, when glycolysis is inhibited by GCs (see section Effects of GCs on Sensitive Lymphocytes). As a result, GC-treated cells may be more sensitive to mitochondria-targeted compounds. A combination of these two classes of drugs was shown to cause a synergistic effect (56).

The expression of autophagy-associated genes was studied in samples, derived from B-ALL pediatric patients, where a differential expression was demonstrated for the GC-sensitive group as compared to the GC-resistant one (162). In general, key autophagy inducer genes are downregulated, while the inhibitors of autophagy are upregulated in GC-resistant cells (162). Activation of *BECN1*, a key autophagy inducer, is required for the DEX-dependent cell death in ALL (42) and for a sensitization of DEX-resistant ALL cells to obatoclax (163, 164) and MEK1/2 inhibitor (165).

In GC-resistant, in contrast to GC-sensitive ALL cell lines, autophagy is not induced by DEX (60, 164). Interestingly, a sensitization to GCs is achieved in GC-resistant Jurkat cells by a co-treatment with the autophagy-inducing drug tamoxifen (TAM) (166). Obatoclax reverts the GC resistance through the autophagy-dependent necroptosis, while knock-down of the autophagy-related gene 7 (*ATG7*) and *BECN1* completely prevents the re-sensitization to DEX (163, 164). These

data indicate that autophagy can contribute to death of GC-treated cells.

## Hypoxic Conditions Favor the GC Resistant Phenotype

BM leukemic niches represent a sanctuary for blasts, which therefore evade chemotherapy and are responsible later for a relapse. Like hematopoietic niches, they possess a hypoxic microenvironment (167). Leukemic cells, cultured under hypoxic conditions in vitro, were shown to develop the GC resistance (75, 168). Hypoxia is a signal, regulated mainly by the HIF-1α. Under hypoxic conditions, T-ALL cells up-regulate the HIF-1α expression, which activates Notch1 signaling, favoring cell cycle progression and limiting GC sensitivity [(67, 77, 169); discussed in Notch Activation]. Under hypoxic conditions, HIF- $1\alpha$  is overexpressed and ALL cells response to PRED is impaired, as evidenced by lower levels of BIM and higher levels of antiapoptotic proteins Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 (168). Therefore, hypoxia, together with a high production of IL-7 and Notch ligands (see Notch Activation and Upregulation of Cytokines' Receptors in GC Resistance), form a complex microenviromental network in leukemic niches, favorable for the maintenance of GC resistant clones. GC-resistant ALL cell lines, derived from relapsed cases, show mostly a low GR level (Table 1).

## Resistance to GCs Can Be Mediated by Ion Channels and $Ca^{2+}$ Signaling: The Role of SGK1

 $Ca^{2+}$  signaling is a principal component in the activation of healthy lymphocytes via TCR/BCR and the expression of about  $\frac{3}{4}$  of genes, involved in the activation, is  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent (170). ALL cells proliferation does not depend on the antigen binding to TCR or BCR, but still relies on the otherwise altered  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling. There is also an invariant signaling axis for the proliferation of both healthy lymphocytes and ALL cells, including a sustained  $Ca^{2+}$  influx via the plasma membrane  $Ca^{2+}$  channel, CRAC,  $Ca^{2+}$ -binding protein calmodulin, which activates calcineurin; the latter dephosphorylates the NFAT, allowing its import by nucleus and a consequent initiation of genes transcription [**Figure 2**; for a review see (170, 171)].

GCs acutely induce the expression of serum-andglucocorticoid-inducible kinase-1 (SGK1), which is involved in a variety of pathologies, including tumor growth and resistance to GC-chemotherapy [for a review see (172, 173)]. In particular, SGK1 was found among key upregulated genes in GC-resistant B-ALL (162). Among multiple SKG1 targets is the Orai-1, the main channel-forming subunit of CRAC. SGK1 phosphorylates the Nedd4-2 protein, which binds then the 14-3-3 protein. The resulting protein complex is unable to ubiquinate the Orai-1 protein, thus precluding its degradation (174). An enhanced CRAC activity underlies pro-survival scenarios in tumor cells (174, 175). Activation of CRAC by thapsigargin suppresses, whereas chelation of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> potentiates, the sensitivity of ALL to the GC treatment (176).

CRAC is not unique route for  $Ca^{2+}$  entry. TRPV5 and TRPV6 channels, which display a high  $Ca^{2+}/Na^+$  selectivity, are scarcely expressed in quiescent healthy T cells, but robustly in T-ALL (177, 178). SGK1 activity increases the membrane surface

expression of TRPV5 and TRPV6 channels (174, 179). Another important member of the TRP channels family, TRPC3, is less selective albeit permeable for Ca<sup>2+</sup>. In T-ALL upon the mitogenic stimulation it can mediate an extra  $Ca^{2+}$  signal, additional to the CRAC-generated one (180). Notably, TPC3 gene expression is strongly upregulated upon T-cells activation (177). A specific block of the TRPC3 by Pyr3 suppresses the GC-induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> signal in ALL and synergistically enhances the DEX-mediated cell death (176). K<sup>+</sup> efflux via K<sup>+</sup>-selective channels causes membrane repolarization, which underlies a sustained Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry via CRAC [Figure 2; (170, 171)]. Voltage-dependent K<sup>+</sup> channels in B and T cells are functionally represented by the single member, Kv1.3 (181, 182). The Kv1.3 current is robustly presented in T-ALL, albeit it is lacking in B-ALL (183, 184). The surface expression of Kv1.3 channels is downregulated by Nedd4-2 and upregulated by different SGK isoforms (185). Therefore, it may be hypothesized that an increase in the Kv1.3-mediated current by SGK1 may contribute to the GC-resistance in T-ALL but not in B-ALL, via a promotion of Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry. In several malignant tumors, including ALL, there is an aberrant expression of the cardiac K<sup>+</sup> channel hERG, which in its nonconducting (closed) state forms the signaling complex with  $\beta$ integrin and CRC4. This aberrant signaling complex mediates both ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt pro-survival pathways, which cause the SKG1 induction. Consequently, hERG1 contributes to the GC resistance in B-ALL, whereas a pharmacological block of hERG1 sensitizes B-ALL to GC treatments (186). Development of low molecular weight inhibitors with a high (100-fold) preference for SGK1 as compared to the generically similar kinase Akt and preclinical tests on colorectal cancer supports a synergistic effect of the SGK1 inhibitors with radio- and chemotherapy (173). At the same time, SGK1 can increase the degradation and ubiquitylation of Notch protein (187) and Notch pathway is up-regulated in most patients with T-ALL [reviewed in (171)].

## Alterations in the Regulation of Apoptosis Are Related to GC Resistance

#### Bcl-2 Superfamily

The GC-induced cell death in sensitive leukemic cells is executed mainly through the intrinsic apoptotic pathway (discussed in section Effects of GCs on Sensitive Lymphocytes). Specific pattern and interactions of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins of the Bcl-2 family determines the sensitivity to the apoptosis in leukemias (57).

The pro-apoptotic BIM, belonging to the BH3-only group, is the most studied in ALL. As it was mentioned previously, GC administration causes BIM overexpression in sensitive cells (68, 188), since GCs bind and stimulate the promoter, situated in lymphocyte-specific open chromatin domains (48, 49). In contrast, BIM enhancer was found to be highly methylated and therefore inaccessible for transcription in the GC resistant ALL (48).

Transcription factor FoxO3a is a well-known BIM regulator, which binds to BIM promoter and enhances BIM expression in a sensitive phenotype (152, 189). Akt2 kinase, up-regulated in the GC-resistant ALL, is responsible for Fox3a phosphorylation

at Ser253. Resulting p-FoxO3a (Ser253) form is unable to translocate to the nucleus. Akt2 possesses a stronger binding capacity to FoxO3a than Akt1. Akt2 silencing significantly decreases FoxO3a phosphorylation at Ser253 and Akt2 inhibitors efficiently restore the GC resistance in ALL. DEX administration can upregulate the FoxO3a expression and decrease the p-FoxO3a, as a result favoring BIM expression and apoptosis (152).

In T-ALL, the inactivation of Notch signaling as well as limitation of the PI3K/mTOR pathway leads to a decreased Akt expression and activity, thus, promoting FoxO3a nuclear translocation and upregulation of BIM expression (77, 190).

Mutations of genes, which activate the extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) pathway, are recurrently found in ALL. It has been also observed that BIM protein can be phosphorylated by ERK at Ser55, Ser65, and Ser100, preventing its efficient interaction with BAX, and, consequently, impeding apoptosis (191, 192).

ALL cells usually display high levels of anti-apoptotic proteins [reviewed in (35)]. In particular, a high level of Mcl-1 expression was associated with the resistance to PRED in MLL-rearranged infantile ALL clinical samples (193). Downregulation of Mcl-1 by RNA of interference induces PRED sensitivity in an ALL cell line (193). A comparative analysis of gene expression in clinical samples, obtained from children diagnosed with B-ALL, reveales an upregulation of the pro-survival Bcl-2 family members Mcl-1 and Bcl-2A1 (A1) in GC-resistant samples (162). Overexpression of Bcl-2 as well as of Mcl-1 tends to protect against the GC-induced apoptosis in vitro (139, 194). It was suggested that upregulation of Mcl-1 is related to upregulation of Akt/mTOR pathway (127). In this context, mTOR inhibitor rapamycin causes Mcl-1 downregulation and sensitizes ALL cells to GCs (188). Similarly, PI3K/mTOR inhibitor BEZ235 decreases the levels of the pro-survival Bcl-2 members but increases that of BIM (190).

#### p53 and MDM2

Mutations that inactivate p53, a genome-guardian protein, responsible for genetic stability and DNA repair, are frequently observed in several cancer types. The murine double minute 2 (MDM2) protein represents the main negative regulator of the p53 activity. MDM2 overexpression has been found in BM samples from ALL patients. Interestingly, p53 expression in MDM2 overexpressing patients is poorly detected, which correlates with an unfavorable outcome (195). In 11 different Tand B-ALL cell lines high levels of MDM2 are detected. Also, the analysis of 42 B-ALL relapsed patients demonstrated that most of them possess MDM2 alterations. Those, who failed to re-induce a remission after the chemotherapy with the use of PRED, were characterized with a high level of MDM2 expression (196, 197). MDM2 contribution to GC resistance was also evidenced in a preclinical ALL model. Mixed lineage leukemic xenografts in deficient mice were treated with DEX and, additionally, with RG7112, a MDM2 inhibitor. Mice, treated with RG7112, display p53 overexpression and cell cycle arrest, while DEX efficiency to induce apoptosis is increased (198). It has been reported that GR can interact with p53 and, upon GC administration, MDM2 was recruited, promoting a degradation of both GR and p53 (199).

# Multidrug Resistance Contributes to GC Resistance

Other aspect that might explain the lack of sensitivity to GCs is a higher expression of drug-efflux pumps or transporters such as P-glycoprotein (P-gp), multidrug resistance 1 (MDR1) pump, and multidrug resistance-associated protein, MRP1 (200). Although P-gp is overexpressed both in GC- resistant and sensitive pre-B ALL cells, its activity does not correlate with GC sensitivity (87, 201). As it was demonstrated recently, inhibition of an upregulated MDR1 in a GC-resistant B-ALL sensitized cells to DEX (202).

## Integrative Genomic Analysis as a Tool to Reveal Key Elements in GC Resistance

Many pathways are involved in GC resistance in ALL (see sections GC Resistance May Be Caused by an Altered GRs Expression, Alterations in Signaling Pathways in ALL May Be Involved in GC Resistance, Alterations in the Regulation of Apoptosis Are Related to GC Resistance, and Multidrug Resistance Contributes to GC Resistance). The challenge is to reveal how these different pathways interact, to determine the exact position of each component and key elements in a complex signaling.

Functional genomics studies and a genome-wide shRNA screen, performed by Pufall's group, have identified two classes of GC-regulated genes, which contribute to GC sensitivity in B-ALL: (a) effector genes, which contribute to cell death and (b) buffering genes, which decrease GC efficacy. Aurora kinase B (AURKB) is overexpressed in resistant ALL in the relapse and is involved in the GC signaling by phosphorylation and suppression of the GR coregulator complex EHMT1/2. AURKB inhibitors potentiate GC sensitivity in B-ALL cell lines and relapsed clinical samples by enhancing GC regulation of effector genes (203).

Pharmacogenetic complex approach, based on three novel methods, was recently suggested by Evans group (85). They combine the polygenomic analysis of primary B- and T-ALL cells with an advanced biostatistical method, in order to identify genes, associated with GC resistance. Further on, they undertook a genomewide CRISP-knockout screening in human ALL cell lines, to prioritize genes, which determine GC resistance. This integrated approach corroborated a polygenomic character of GC resistance. Numerous previously known genes and pathways were confirmed, namely, those involved in B cell development, BCR and IL7R signaling, apoptosis, drugs transport, and inflammation. But, in addition, 14 previously not tagged genes, underlying GC resistance, were identified. Among these is CELSR2, which is suppressed in GC resistant samples, possessing also a lower NR3C1 and a higher BCL2 expression. A novel resistance mechanism was suggested, where the CELSR2 protein, as a mediator of a non-canonical Wnt signaling (204), positively controls the NR3C1 and negatively the BCL2. Based on these findings, a combined treatment with PRD and Bcl-2 antagonist venetoclax was proposed and successfully validated on CELSR2 knock-down leukemia cells and xenografted models.

The whole genome sequencing on paired diagnostic and remission T-ALL samples revealed mutations, associated with

a resistance to different therapeutics. In particular, IL7R, JAK1, NRAS, and AKT abnormalities are related to the GC resistance, without affecting the sensitivity to vincristine or L-asparaginase (205). Subsequent functional studies revealed that GC resistance was associated with MEK-ERK and AKT/mTOR axes, and upregulation of the pro-apoptotic MCL1 and BclXL.

## RE-PURPOSED DRUGS CAN HELP TO OVERCOME GC- AND CHEMORESISTANCE IN ALL

Metabolic upregulation and apoptosis resistance represent convergent points for various signaling pathways, involved in GC resistance in ALL (chapter 2). Consequently, in this section we will introduce the compounds that target precisely these mechanisms, with the focus on the agents already approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for treatments of some types of cancer or other diseases that demonstrate promising results in preclinical models of the GC-resistant ALL. These drugs may be divided into two groups: (1) drugs with a novel mechanism of cytotoxicity in ALL, which was not considered at the initial approval; (2) drugs that demonstrate the classical mechanism of cytotoxicity in ALL. The data are summarized in the **Table 2** and drugs effects are shown in the **Figure 2**.

# Re-purposed Drugs With a Novel Mechanism in ALL

#### Antibiotic Tigecycline Can Efficiently Control Infections and Kill Leukemic Cells by Targeting Mitochondria

Tigecycline (TGC) is the first commercially available glycylcicline, belonging to a new class of antibiotics, derived from tetracycline (211). TGC binds the bacterial 30S ribosomal subunit and inhibits the bacterial protein translation. It is extremely effective against a broad spectrum of gram-positive and gramnegative pathogens, including the multidrug-resistant ones. Due to similarities between bacterial and mitochondrial ribosomes, TGC is able to suppress the synthesis of mitochondria-encoded proteins, required for OXPHOS, and is efficient in a suppression of some cancer types (212, 229-234). At the same time, TGC exhibits a low toxicity for healthy tissues (229, 233, 234). In addition to the effect on mitochondrial function, TGC inhibits the Wnt signaling and induces autophagy in cervical and gastric cancers (230, 231). Remarkably, TGC is especially effective against therapy-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells: it inhibits OXPHOS and proliferation and increases their sensitivity to antileukemic drugs (212). As it was discussed in the previous chapter (see section Metabolic Re-programming and Upregulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR Pathway Is Related to GC Resistance in ALL), an increased OXPHOS level is a hallmark of GC resistance in ALL. Thus, a possibility of TGC use in therapeutic protocols against ALL is worth to be explored. Up to now, a single pre-clinical study of TGC cytotoxicity against ALL is reported (213). They demonstrated that TGC inhibited mitochondrial respiration, effectively triggered apoptosis and acted synergistically with standard TABLE 2 | Candidates for drug repurposing against the GC-resistant ALL.

Compound and original mechanism	Original indications	ALL Model	Mechanism/ Effects in pre-clinical experiments with ALL	Considerations	References Clinical trials identification number*
2.A. Repurposed drugs with novel n	nechanisms described in ALL				
Cannabidiol The mechanism is uncertain or there are multiple mechanisms. Different receptors/ targets were proposed as candidates: cannabinoid receptors CB1/CB2; orphan receptors GPR55, serotonin 5-HT <sub>1A</sub> receptors, $\mu$ – and $\sigma$ – opioid receptors, some ion channels.	FDA approved for treatments of Lennox-Gastaut and Dravet epileptic syndromes: Epidiolex® (oral solution); Sativex® (spray, equal amount of CBD and THC) Arvisol® (oral tablets with pure CBD)	GC-resistant and GC-sensitive continuous T-and B-ALL cell lines	The novel mechanism: targets the VDAC channel in the outer mitochondrial membrane, promotes the formation of mPTP and disturbs calcium homeostasis. <i>Effects</i> : enhances autophagy (at low concentrations) and the MPT-related necrosis (at high concentrations), decreases migration.	Routes of administration, vehicle, concentrations, and synergism with other drugs should be considered	(206, 207) <i>Clinical trials.</i> As a single agent: NCT02255292 (solid tumors); in a combination with surgery/ radiation: NCT04428203 (prostate cancer); in a combination with chemo- and radiotherapy: NCT03246113, NCT03529448 (glioma); NCT03607643 (gastrointestinal malignancies, glioblastoma multiforme and multiple myeloma).
Ivermectin Milbemycin Moxidectin	FDA approved (Stromectol®) for the treatment of intestinal parasites	B and T lymphoblasts from relapsed patients, cocultured with stromal cells and xenografts	The novel mechanism: promotes the intracellular chloride increase and mitochondrial permeabilization <i>Effects</i> : induction of the intrinsic apoptosis	Synergism with BH3 mimetics and GCs	(208)
Mebendazole Benzimidazole anthelminticagent; binds to the β-tubulin and inhibits cell proliferation.	FDA approved (Vermox <sup>TM</sup> ) for the treatment of gastrointestinal worm infections	GC-resistant and GC-sensitive T cell lines.	The novel mechanism: promote Notch1 and Hes1 suppression. <i>Effects:</i> enhances the GR autoregulation.	Relatively safe even at high doses, effective in nM concentrations, can be administrated by via oral	(73, 209) <i>Clinical trials</i> NCT03925662 (colon cancer); NCT02644291 (brain tumors); NCT03628079, (gastric cancer); NCT01729260, NCT01837862 (glioma); NCT02201381 (different cancers)
Niclosamide	FDA approved (Niclocide ®) for the treatment of tapeworm infections	GC-resistant and GC-sensitive T cell lines (CCRF-CEM, CEM/ADR5000).	The novel mechanism: binds to the glutathione synthetase and limits the NFAT expression. Effects: ROS accumulation, decreases the proliferation, interleukin production.	Effective doses are achievable and safe	(210) <i>Clinical trials</i> NCT03123978, NCT02807805, NCT02532114 (prostatic cancer); NCT02687009, (colon cancer); NCT02519582 (cancer colorectal); NCT04296851 (adenomous polyposis)
Tamoxifen A non-steroid competitive antagonist of nuclear estrogen receptors.	FDA approved (Nolvadex®) for the treatment of metastatic ER-positive breast cancer	GC-resistant cell line (Jurkat)	The novel mechanism: binding to the GPER and "off-target" effects Effects: causes the autophagy and reverses the sensitivity to GC (non-toxic concentrations); decreases proliferation, causes cell death (at high concentrations)	Effective doses, the protocol for application in pediatric patients	(166) <i>Clinical trials</i> NCT00108069 (glioma); NCT00256230, NCT00492505 (melanoma); NCT00710970; NCT02197897 (bladder cancer).

Repurposed Drugs in ALL Treatment

(Continued)

Olivas-Aguirre et al.

#### TABLE 2 | Continued

Compound and original mechanism	Original indications	ALL Model	Mechanism/ Effects in pre-clinical experiments with ALL	Considerations	References Clinical trials identification number*
<b>Tigecycline</b> The glycylcycline, a broad spectrum tetracycline antibiotic derivative; binds to the bacterial/organellar ribosome and suppresses the protein synthesis	FDA approved (Tygacil®) for the treatment of complicated skin and skin structure infections, complicated intra-abdominal infections and the community-acquired bacterial pneumonia in adults.	GC-sensitive and GC-resistant T-ALL cell lines Primary samples derived from ALL patients. Xenograft mouse models	The novel mechanism: inhibits mitochondrial respiration, causing the energy crisis, oxidative stress, and apoptotic cell death. A synergistic effect with doxorubicine and vincristine	Effective doses	(211–213) <i>Clinical trials</i> NCT01332786 (R/R AML)
2.B. Candidate drugs suggested to	be extended for therapeutic application	tion in ALL			
Azacitidine 5-Azacytidine An hypomethylating agent	FDA approved (Vidaza®) for treatment of the myelodysplastic syndrome. <i>The mechanism</i> : a hypomethylating agent.	The ALL-7R cell line: GC-resistant, GR-positive	The mechanism: a conventional hypomethylating agent. Effects: decreases the DNA methylation in the BIM region, increases BIM expression, and reverts the GC resistance.	A toxicity due to an unspecific action and activation of multiple genes; caspase 1 activation, and GR cleavage	(48, 214–216) <i>Clinical trials</i> NCT02828358; NCT01861002 (relapsed/ refractory ALL)
BEZ235 NVP-BEZ235 Dactolisib; A dual inhibitor of the class I PI3K and mTOR kinases by capturing their ATP-binding sites.	Phase I Study in adult R/R ALL patients. Phase Ib study in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma: an early termination due to the toxicity and a lack of clinical efficacy.	GC-resistant and GC-sensitive continuous T- and B-ALL cell lines. Primary T- and B-ALL cells co-cultured with hBM HS5 stromal cells. Systemic <i>in vivo</i> models of T-ALL (including a patient-derived xenograft).	The mechanism: a conventional dual inhibition of class I PI3K and mTOR kinases by capturing their ATP-binding sites. Effects: enhances the dexamethasone-induced apoptosis in ALL cells (preferentially T-ALL); down regulates McI-1 and increases BIM expression; enhances DEX efficiency in T-ALL xenograft models (the tumor load and burden decreases, the EFS increases).	Toxicity	(190, 217–224) <i>Clinical trials</i> Next clinical trials were closed due drug toxicity: NCT01453595, NCT01658436, NCT01717898. No one clinical trial registered at the Clinical.trials.gov page provided results about drug safety.
Venetoclax (ABT-199/GDC-0199) A specific Bcl-2 protein suppressor	FDA approved (Venclexta®) for adult chronic lymphocytic leukemia and small lymphocytic leukemia	GC-resistant and GC-sensitive continuous T- ALL cell lines Primary R/R and ETP ALL	<i>The mechanism</i> : a conventional, specific Bcl-2 protein suppressor. <i>Effects</i> : the mitochondria-dependent apoptosis	Effectiveness in ALL with the upregulation of multiple pro-survival Bcl-2 proteins; safety	(225–228) <i>Clinical trials</i> in R/R ALL: NCT03181126, NCT03808610, NCT03504644, NCT03576547, NCT03319901

\*ClinicalTrials.gov, https://clinicaltrials.gov.

ETP ALL, ALL of early T cell precursors. GPER, G protein coupled estrogen receptors. MPT, the mitochondrial permeability transition. R/R ALL, Relapsed/ Refractory ALL.

R/R AML, Relapsed/ Refractory acute myeloid leukemia. VDAC, the voltage-dependent anion channel.

EFS, the event free survival. ER, estrogen receptors.
chemotherapeutic drugs vincristine and doxorubicin in multiple GC sensitive and GC resistant ALL cell lines. TGC is also efficient against both newly diagnosed and treatment-refractory clinical samples. Importantly, TGC causes less cytotoxicity in normal hematopoietic cells from leukemia patients. Considering the TGC effectiveness against life-threatening bacterial and fungi infection as well as its good tolerance in ALL patients, including children (235, 236), one may presume that TGC may have a dual function in antileukemic protocols, by targeting heterogeneous populations of leukemic cells, perhaps even primitive leukemia-initiating ones and, at the same time, controlling bacterial and fungal infections.

# A Multi-Target Drug Tamoxifen May Be Effective Against the GC Resistant ALL

TAM is widely recognized as the gold standard in treatments of the ER positive breast cancer over half a century. However, antiproliferative and cytotoxic effects of TAM against tumor cells of different histogenesis, which do not express classical ERs, including brain and pancreatic cancers, pediatric rhabdoid tumors, melanoma, uterine carcinoma, and T-ALL were reported. Successful in vitro experiments and clinical trials represent a solid fundament to reveal the underlying mechanisms and search for new TAM prescriptions as an anticancer drug. TAM easily permeates biological membranes and multiple "non-classical" intracellular TAM targets were reported. TAM suppresses protein kinase C and PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways and causes a direct suppression of multidrug resistance proteins. In mitochondria, TAM affects membrane fluidity and interacts with pore proteins of the inner membrane, electron transport chain proteins and proteins of the Bcl-2 family. As a result, cell metabolism and proliferation are decreased, and apoptosis is triggered on. TAM also targets lysosomes: it increases the permeability of the lysosomal membrane, causing a release of cathepsine D and activation of autophagy [reviewed in (237)].

Several studies reported a cytotoxic effect of TAM in nonbreast cancers, such as melanoma, bladder, and lung ones [reviewed in (238)]. Importantly, TAM shows a synergistic effect with chemotherapeutic drugs, acting via different mechanisms. In particular, TAM enhances the anticancer effect of protein phosphatase 2 inhibitors in pancreatic cancer cell lines through the inhibition of the protein kinase C (239). TAM also enhances the therapeutic effect of a nucleoside analog gemcitabine in the cholangiocarcinoma (240). In the metastatic malignant melanoma, treatment with TAM in a combination with an alkylating agent dacarbazine is more successful than with dacarbazine alone (241). In rhabdoid tumor cells, pan-inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases flavopiridol inhibits tumor growth more efficiently, when it is combined with TAM (242).

As it was discussed previously, a GC resistant phenotype in ALL possesses efficient mechanisms for a rapid adaptation to glycolysis inhibition, caused by GCs, by a switch to mitochondrial OXPHOS, with an up-regulation of both glycolysis and mitochondrial metabolism (see section Metabolic Re-programming and Upregulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR Pathway Is Related to GC Resistance in ALL). Additionally, autophagy is involved in this switch, but an excessive autophagy observed in a GC-sensitive phenotype is related to a subsequent cell death (see section Effects of GCs on Sensitive Lymphocytes). Thus, TAM, which targets mitochondria and lysosomes and efficiently provokes autophagy, may represent a favorable candidate for ALL treatments.

In our hands, TAM causes mitochondrial dysfunction and autophagy, induces cell cycle arrest and reduces cell viability in GC-resistant Jurkat cells. Autophagy is triggered through the novel membrane G protein-coupled estrogen receptor, GPER. Remarkably, being added in sub-toxic concentrations, TAM partially reverses GC resistance. Healthy lymphocytes are less sensitive to TAM treatment (166).

Although TAM treatment may cause a rapid decrease of the BM cellularity, it shows only a minor effect on a steady state hematopoiesis (243). As TAM has a long history in its clinical use and now proved to exert the antileukemic activity, it may be considered as an appropriate repurposed drug for ALL treatments. But, the application of TAM to pediatric patients requires a more careful consideration.

Several clinical trials, which evaluate the safety and efficacy of TAM for different tumors were successfully undertaken or are in course (**Table 2**).

#### Cannabidiol Targets Mitochondria

A non-intoxicating cannabinoid cannabidiol (CBD) has a longterm safety and treatment efficacy in pediatric and adult patients with treatment-resistant epilepsies (206). Accordingly, it has been recently approved by FDA for treatments of Lennox-Gastaut and Dravet syndromes [(244); Table 2]. For a long time, CBD was considered as a palliative agent, to improve negative effects of the anticancer therapy, such as pain, nausea, and appetite loss (245-247). At the same time, antineoplastic properties of cannabinoids have been also reported in numerous experimental cancer models (248, 249). In contrast to tetrahydrocannabiol, CBD shows a low affinity for classical cannabinoid receptors CB1 and CB2 and has no undesirable effects on CNS (250). Consequently, its use in anticancer protocols is widely discussed (248-251). On the other hand, the mechanism of CBD cytotoxicity is uncertain. Due to its high lipophilicity, CBD can readily permeate biologic membranes and therefore targets both surface and intracellular structures. Among putative CBD molecular targets some members of the TRP channels family, the orphan cannabinoid receptor GPR55 and mitochondrial VDAC channel have been suggested (207, 248, 251).

Importantly, VDAC acts as a main gatekeeper in the outer mitochondrial membrane that mediates exchange of principal metabolites and ions between mitochondria and cytosol [(143), discussed in Metabolic Re-programming and Upregulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR Pathway Is Related to GC Resistance in ALL]. It may adopt different substates, e.g., the completely open one, favoring the transport of metabolites, or the "closed state," facilitating the mitochondrial  $Ca^{2+}$  uptake and preventing the ATP export. A moderate increase of intramitochondrial  $Ca^{2+}$  is optimal for the TCA enzymes. Therefore, VDAC exerts the coordination between the aerobic glycolysis in cytosol and OXPHOS in mitochondria, ensuring the metabolic plasticity of a cancer cell. Additionally, VDAC interacts with Bcl-2 family

proteins, being involved also in the maintenance of the apoptosisresistant status. As it was mentioned previously, an upregulation of the aerobic glycolysis and OXPHOS as well as an unpaired apoptosis are classical features of the GC-resistant phenotype in ALL (57, 143).

In our recent study we have tested the CBD efficiency against ALL (207). We have demonstrated that CBD suppressed the viability and impaired the migration of leukemic cells, wherein the T-ALL cell lines were significantly more sensitive than the B-ALL ones. In case of the T-ALL cell line Jurkat mitochondria are proved to be a direct CBD target. CBD seems to directly interact with VDAC channel in the outer mitochondrial membrane, favoring its Ca<sup>2+</sup>-permeable configuration. The resulting Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload promotes the formation of the mitochondrial transition pore (MTP), membrane potential collapse, and cell death via the MTP-driven necrosis. In our experiments, CBD demonstrates a similar efficiency in both GC-sensitive and GC-resistant cell lineages.

Remarkably, cannabinoids (and CBD in particular) were shown to decrease the P-gp expression and to reverse the MDR activity in ALL cell lines (252). They also inhibit the multidrug transporter ABCG2 (253).

Obviously, the vehicles and routes of the CBD administration, which are necessary to reach the effective concentration in a chemotherapeutic protocol, will differ from those used for the epilepsy treatment. In general, cannabinoids possess a low solubility in aqueous solutions and are relatively unstable (sensitive to oxidation, light and temperature) that should be taken into a consideration during the development of formulations for chemotherapeutic protocols. The effectiveness of CBD, encapsulated in polymeric microparticles, was demonstrated recently in the experimental model of breast cancer [(254), and references therein].

Another important issue to be considered should be the combined effect of CBD with the conventional anti-cancer therapy. The effectiveness of the CBD-loaded microparticles as a potent formulation to improve the doxorubicin- and paclitaxelbased chemotherapy was recently reported (254). Similarly, CBD acts synergistically with the TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) and enhanced the effectiveness of the photodynamic therapy against the colorectal cancer in preclinical models (255, 256). The synergism of CBD with temozolomide and radiotherapy was reported against the glioblastoma (257-259). The effect of CBD in a combination with the conventional therapy was also studied in preclinical models of hematological neoplasms. A synergistic effect of CBD with ibrutinib was demonstrated in cell lines of the diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and mantle cell lymphoma (260). Similarly, a synergism with vincristine and vinblastine was reported in studies with T-ALL and myeloid leukemia- derived cell lines (261). Notably, CBD decreases the cardiocytotoxicity of doxorubicin, which is also used in anti-ALL chemotherapy (262, 263). Thus, the inclusion of CBD in existing anti-leukemic protocols may improve the outcome. However, low CBD concentrations stimulate the T-ALL cells proliferation (207). Thus, the issues of tissue distribution, specific targeting, and safety should be also considered. Additionally, the CBD use in infants and pediatric patients needs to be evaluated. There are several clinical trials in course, which evaluate the safety and efficacy of CBD as a single agent and in a combination with chemo- and radiotherapy against different tumors (**Table 2**).

#### Anthelmintic Compounds Show Antileukemic Activity

Anthelmintics possess a disruptive activity over the parasite's microtubules, altering the parasite vital functions. Several anthelmintics such as flubendazole, albendazole, and niclosamide demonstrate antitumor properties in several cancer types, including resistant leukemias (73, 208-210, 264-266), albeit the affinity of anthelmintics to the mammalian tubulin appears to be weaker than to the helminthic one (265). The anticancer potential of anthelmintics is also evidenced by several clinical trials, studying safety and efficacy of mebendazole and niclosamide against colorectal, gastric, hepatic, and brain tumors (Table 2). The antileukemic activity of anthelmintics seems to rely on diverse mechanisms. Albendazole alters the MAPK signaling, promotes the mitochondrial dysfunction, such as  $\Delta \Psi m$  loss, ROS production, cytochrome c (Cyt-c) release, and causes the intrinsic apoptosis (266). Niclosamide limits the antioxidant system and promotes ROS production by glutathione synthetase inhibition and reduces the NFAT signaling, a vital pathway for leukemic progression (210). Mebendazole was found to inhibit T-ALL by decreasing Notch 1 signaling (reviewed in section Notch Activation) and limiting the NR3C1 repressor HES1 (73). Mebendazole in both GC resistant and sensitive leukemias represses c-Myc, a key regulator of glucose transporters and cell metabolism. Several groups independently reported that mebendazole targets glucose uptake, reduces cell metabolism, and promotes apoptosis (209). Recently, Mezzatesta and colleagues, using B and T cells from relapsed leukemic patients and patient-derived xenografts for ex-vivo experiments, screened 2487 FDA-approved compounds (208). Of the tested anthelmintics, three (ivermectin, moxidectin and milbemycin) display a high cytotoxic effect against leukemic blasts with IC50 values in a low micromolar range, independently on the ALL phenotype. Moxidectin exhibits synergistic effects with DEX and ABT-263 (208).

It should be noted that cancer patients, receiving chemotherapy, show an increased vulnerability to parasite infections [reviewed in (267)] so that the usage of anthelmintics may be justified also by this fact.

# Drugs With a Conventional Mechanism in ALL

# Hypomethylating Agents May Restore the Expression of the Pro-poptotic BIM Protein

Hypo- and hypermethylation can act as a promoter or a repressor of expression of certain genes, which favor the oncogenic phenotype of a certain cancer, e.g., an overexpression of antiapoptotic genes, conferring the resistance to cell death induced by chemotherapy, or the inactivation of tumor suppressor genes. Indeed, the methylation profile can be helpful for the diagnosis and prognosis of the patient outcome (268). An aberrant DNA hypermethylation, associated with drug resistance and early relapse, was described in hematologic disorders, in particular, in the myelodysplastic syndrome (214).

Hypomethylating agents (HMA) were proposed, therefore, to be included into chemotherapy protocols. The cytotoxic drug azacitidine (5-Azacytidine, 5-AZA) was shown to act at lower concentrations as a DNA methyltransferase inhibitor, which induces a global DNA hypomethylation (215). 5-AZA (Vidaza<sup>TM</sup>) was approved by FDA for treatments of the myelodysplastic syndrome, where it prolongs the time to the leukemia transformation (216). GC resistance in some cases of ALL is determined by the hypermethylation in lymphocytespecific open regions of DNA, resulting in a decreased accessibility and a prevention of the correct docking of GC-GR complexes with target genes as the pro-apoptotic BIM [(48), discussed in Effects of GCs on Sensitive Lymphocytes)]. In this study, a gradual decrease of the DNA methylation in the BCL2L11 region was observed in the GC-resistant ALL-7R cell line during 6 days of the exposure to 5-AZA. Importantly, the combined (5-AZA + DEX) treatment significantly increases BIM expression already at 48 h, causes a synergistic cytotoxicity in vitro, decreases the bone marrow infiltration and increases the survival in ALL-7R engrafted mice. However, it should be noted, that the demethylating effect of the HMA is unspecific and can lead to the activation of undesirable genes. For example, the administration of HMA can increase the expression of caspase 1, capable to cleave the GR [(116), discussed in GR May Be Cleaved by Upregulated Caspase 1]. Several clinical trials with a participation of patients with relapsed/ refractory ALL are going on, or are concluded, but their results are still awaiting the FDA approval (Table 2).

## BH3 Mimetics Inhibits the Anti-apoptotic Members of the Bcl-2 Family

The failure of apoptosis is a hallmark of many types of tumors, including ALL. Proteins of the Bcl-2 family represent a complex network in the apoptosis regulation. The apoptosis execution is ensured by the oligomerization of BAK and BAX proteins in the outer mitochondrial membrane, which mediates its permeabilization and a liberation of Cyt-c and other proapoptotic factors into the cytosol. In a pro-survival mode, antiapoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family proteins (Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, Mcl-1, BFL-1/A1, or Bcl-A1) sequester the BAK and BAX, preventing their oligomerization and apoptosis. Apoptotic and stress stimuli differentially activate other Bcl-2 family members, namely, small proteins, possessing only the BH3 domain ("BH3 only" proteins), such as BIM, Bid, Noxa, and Puma, among others. A balance and interactions between pro-survival and proapoptotic proteins determines the threshold for the apoptotic response. Based on this idea, synthetic small molecules that structurally mimic "BH3 only" proteins ("BH3 mimetics") were developed. BH3 mimetics are capable to bind to and inhibit anti-apoptotic proteins and, accordingly, lower the threshold for apoptosis in cancer cells. Multiple BH3 mimetics with a different specificity were developed. For example, venetoclax (ABT-199/GDC-0199) possesses a high selectivity for the Bcl-2 protein, navitoclax (ABT-263) is dual inhibitor of Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL, whereas a broad spectrum obatoclax (GX15-070) and sabutoclax (B1-97C1) efficiently bind to Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, Mcl-1, and A1 with submicromolar IC50 values. At present, only venetoclax is approved by the FDA (Venclexta®) for treatmentd of adult patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and small lymphocytic leukemia [(269), and references therein].

Serious alterations in the Bcl-2 proteins profile were found in the GC resistant ALL (discussed in Bcl-2 Superfamily). Bcl-2 is upregulated in the highly aggressive early T precursor (ETP) leukemia, which underlies its sensitivity to venetoclax (225). A mature GC resistant phenotype is characterized by the overexpression of different pro-survival members, including Bcl-2, Bcl-XL, Mcl-1 and, in some highly malignant cases, A1 (57, 139, 162, 194). At the same time, the pro-apoptotic "BH-3 only" BIM protein is downregulated due to the hypermethylation of corresponding gene BCL2L11 [(48), discussed in Bcl-2 Superfamily]. BIM possesses a high binding affinity to and can efficiently antagonize all members of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 proteins family. Its down-regulation results in enhanced levels of all of them. Thus, the pharmacologic strategy to restore the apoptosis triggering in a GC resistant phenotype would consist in (a) application of HMA to restore the BIM expression (see section Hypomethylating Agents May Restore the Expression of the Pro-apoptotic BIM Protein); (b) antagonization of the pro-survival Bcl-2 proteins, using the synthetic BH3 mimetics (269), and (c) a combination of both. However, the narrow anti-Bcl-2 spectrum of venetoclax might reduce its efficiency in malignant cells, which express other anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins. Therefore, the use of broad spectrum BH3 mimetics looks more promising. Unfortunately, broad BH3 mimetics may cause severe collateral effects. The Bcl-XL targeting causes the thrombocytopenia. In turn, Mcl-1 plays an important physiologic role in hepatic and cardiac tissues, neurons, and pluripotent stem cells. Thus, for effective BH3 mimetics use in ALL treatment one needs to verify first the therapeutic window and their safe tolerability profile (270).

Venetoclax has shown an activity against primary ETP samples (225). Despite its narrow specificity to the Bcl-2 protein, venetoclax is also effective against T-ALL cell lines (226). Moreover, it demonstrates very promising results in a combination with classical chemotherapy in clinical trials with the refractory/relapsed T-ALL and ETP patients (227, 228). It turns out that venetoclax therapy is safe, with no clinically significant tumor lysis syndrome and no early patients' death. However, a moderate myelosuppression was reported. There are several ongoing clinical trials, evaluating the Bcl-2 inhibition as a therapeutic strategy for relapsed or refractory ALL (**Table 2**). The combination of HMA with venetoclax was suggested as a safe and most promising strategy in the AML therapy (271). Thus, it may be considered also for ALL treatments.

The pan-active inhibitor obatoclax sensitizes the GC-resistant ALL cell lines to DEX and causes apoptosis, autophagy, and autophagy-dependent necroptosis (163, 164). Similarly, obatoclax efficiently kills leukemic cells, derived from infants, diagnosed with ALL in *in vitro* assays. It promotes multiple death scenarios, including apoptosis, necroptosis, and autophagy. Importantly, obatoclax acts synergistically with conventional drugs, including DEX (272). Several clinical trials, evaluating the

obatoclax safety and effectiveness in hematologic malignances, are in course.

#### PI3K/AKT/mTOR Pathway Inhibitors Are Effective Against ALL

The blockade of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway, which is upregulated in different types of tumors, including the GCresistant ALL (see section Metabolic Re-programming and Upregulation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR Pathway Is Related to GC Resistance in ALL), is proposed as a rational therapeutic approach (153, 273). Allosteric mTOR1 inhibitors (rapamycin and its analogs, rapalogs) display promising effects in preclinical models of T-ALL (274, 275) and in a combination with GC synergistically decrease the ALL cells viability (276). Such effects were attributed to the capacity of mTOR to regulate the balance between pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins (188). However, mTOR encompasses two distinct complexes, mTORC1 and mTORC2, which differ in their structure, substrate specificity, and function (277, 278). While mTORC1 induces cell growth by affecting the translational regulators S6K1 and 4E-BP1, mTORC2 mediates cell proliferation and survival via the Akt phosphorylation (279, 280). Therefore, rapalogs could hyperactivate the Akt due to feedback loops between mTORC1, PI3K, and Akt (155). Accordingly, the imidazoquinoline derivative NVP-BEZ235, which inhibits class I PI3K as well as mTORC1/mTORC2 kinases by capturing their ATP-binding sites, may be preferable for treatments (281).

In a panel of T-ALL cell lines and patient-derived T lymphoblasts, NVP-BEZ235 causes cell cycle arrest and apoptosis, and, importantly, also synergizes with the first-line chemotherapeutic agents such as cyclophosphamide, cytarabine, and DEX (282). Activation of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway leads to autophagy (283). It is not surprising that NVP-BEZ235 causes the autophagy activation in T-ALL, and, importantly, the NVP-BEZ235-induced autophagy is not protective against apoptosis (282). However, considering that autophagy may play both pro- and anti-tumor functions, this phenomenon should be studied in more detail.

Using B-ALL patient-derived long-term cultures, the effectiveness of dual inhibitors NVP-BEZ235 (dactolisib) and NVP-BGT226 was tested and compared with those of the pan-PI3K inhibitor NVP-BKM120, combined mTORC1/mTORC2 inhibitors Torin1, PP242, KU-0063794, and the allosteric mTORC1 inhibitor RAD001. Dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitors exerted pronounced antiproliferative and pro-apoptotic effects on ALL cells of different genetic subtypes (284). Yet, a rather variable response of different human B-ALL xenografts was observed in the alternative study, where some xenografts responded better to the single mTOR inhibition (285).

A synergistic antileukemic effect of DEX and NVP-BEZ235 was observed in T-ALL, including *in vitro* (continuous cell lines and primary T-ALL) and systemic *in vivo* models (patient-derived xenograft), but not in B-ALL (190, 286). In T-ALL, NVP-BEZ235 and DEX, added simultaneously, are able to increase BIM and decrease Mcl-1 expression (190). However, rapamycin strongly blocks the GR phosphorylation at Ser211, which is required for its translocation to the nucleus (287).

Up to date, many research groups continue to test dual inhibitors NVP-BEZ235 and NVP-BGT226 in experimental cancer models. Phase I clinical trials were undertaken in patients with different cancers (217–223). Beneficial effects were observed in a small group of relapsed ALL patients (223). However, the unacceptable toxicity of the drug was reported by various researchers (272–277, **Table 2**). Taking into account that the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway is a central regulator of so many metabolic functions in healthy cells and tissues, the clinical perspective for its inhibitors is highly questionable (224).

# High-Throughput Drug Screening Reveals GC Sensitizers Against ALL

The high-throughput screening (HTS) is an efficient strategy for drug discovery. Novel class of drugs with a thioimidazoline moiety, capable to sensitize ALL to GC, was revealed recently by this method (78, 288, 289). In particular, the compound J9 in low nontoxic concentrations is able to increase the GR expression (290). Accordingly, the gene expression pattern in GC-resistant cells co-treated with J9 and DEX is similar to that caused by GCs in sensitive cells. In another study, compound GCS-3 significantly increases the BIM enhancer binding to GRs, resulting in upregulation of BIM and downregulation of C-Myc expression (288, 289). Importantly, GCS-3 is effective against GC-resistant and GC-sensitive xenografts of B-ALL, T-ALL (including ETP), and Philadelphia chromosome positive ALL (288, 289). The knowledge of the action mechanism of effective drugs on their molecular targets, approximation of their interaction mechanisms, and consequent HTS of FDAapproved drugs may reveal new repurposed drugs candidates for ALL treatments.

## CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In general, mechanisms responsible for GC resistance can be divided into the two large groups: those associated with a reduced expression of functional GRs and those that are not. Among the latter, attention should be paid to: (a) general metabolic up-regulation, including glycolysis and OXPHOS, and mechanisms of a flexible switch between them; (b) resistance to apoptosis due to a specific pattern of the Bcl-2 family proteins, including upregulation of different pro-survival members and downregulation of pro-apoptotic proteins (mainly of BIM); (c) upregulation of MDR transporters. A decreased level of the GR expression determines GC resistance by itself, but not necessarily the unresponsiveness to other anticancer compounds. These are abnormalities unrelated to changes in the GR expression that link the GC resistance to the resistance to other drugs and an overall poor prognosis. Then the strategy to improve the outcome for the patients with the GC-resistant ALL is to invoke alternative mechanisms, including the use of some repurposed drugs.

One of the strategies already used in the therapy against the AML is a simultaneous application of BH3 mimetics to inhibit the pro-survival Bcl-2 members and HMA to enhance the BIM expression (see sections Hypomethylating Agents May Restore

the Expression of the Pro-apoptotic BIM Protein and BH3 Mimetics Inhibits the Anti-Apoptotic Members of the Bcl-2 Family). As a result, the pro-apoptotic balance among Bcl-2 members will be reached, to restore the apoptosis development in a response to chemotherapy. Another strategy may be metabolic inhibition, to lower a threshold for the regulated cell death, different from apoptosis, such as the autophagy-related cell death, necroptosis, and MTP-related necrosis. In this regard, TAM, a traditional drug, used as an ER antagonist for the chemotherapy of breast cancer, may be an option, due to its numerous "off target" anticancer effects. TAM is proposed as an adjuvant in the therapy in different types of cancers and demonstrates promising antileukemic effects in the preclinical model of T-ALL (discussed in A Multi-Target Drug Tamoxifen May Be Effective Against the GC Resistant ALL). CBD is another highly attractive candidate (discussed in Cannabidiol Targets Mitochondria). CBD, which targets mitochondria in ALL, triggers different antileukemic processes, such as inhibition of glycolysis and OXPHOS, mitochondrial damage, and induction of the MTP-related necrosis. In addition, CBD and TAM inhibit MDR proteins and demonstrate a cardioprotective effect. In case of CBD, its reduced bioavailability maybe the problem. However, a synergistic effect, observed with different chemotherapeutic drugs, allows a significant lowering of the CBD effective concentration. Providing, CBD is integrated in conventional chemotherapeutic protocols, it would also improve a general status and life quality of patients, due to its palliative and cardioprotective effects. Yet additional experiments are

### REFERENCES

- 1. Larson R. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia. In: Kaushansky K, editor. *Williams Hematology*. 9th ed. New York, NY: McGraw Hill Education (2018).
- Brown PA, Wieduwilt M, Logan A, DeAngelo DJ, Wang ES, Fathi A, et al. Guidelines insights: acute lymphoblastic leukemia, version 1.2019. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. (2019) 17:414–23. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2019.0024
- Pui CH, Evans WE. Treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med. (2006) 354:166–78. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra052603
- Pui CH, Evans W E. A 50-year journey to cure childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Semin Hematol.* (2013) 50:185– 96. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2013.06.007
- Reiter A, Schrappe M, Parwaresch R, Henze G, Müller-Weihrich S, Sauter S, et al. Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas of childhood and adolescence: results of a treatment stratified for biologic subtypes and stage–a report of the Berlin-Frankfurt-Münster Group. J Clin Oncol. (1995) 13:359– 72. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1995.13.2.359
- Beesley AH, Palmer ML, Ford J, Weller RE, Cummings AJ, Freitas JR, et al. Authenticity and drug resistance in a panel of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia cell lines. *Br J Cancer*. (2006) 95:1537–44. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603447
- Beesley AH, Weller RE, Senanayake S, Welch M, Kees UR. Receptor mutation is not a common mechanism of naturally occurring glucocorticoid resistance in leukaemia cell lines. *Leuk Res.* (2009) 33:321–5. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2008.08.007
- Pieters R, den Boer ML, Durian M, Janka G, Schmiegelow K, Kaspers GJ, et al. Relation between age, immunophenotype and *in vitro* drug resistance in 395 children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia—implications for treatment of infants. *Leukemia*. (1998) 12:1344–8.
- Inaba H, Pui CH. Glucocorticoid use in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: comparison of prednisone and dexamethasone. *Lancet Oncol.* (2010) 11:1096–106. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70114-5

required to determine the CBD formulation, administration routes, and dosage. The antibiotic TGC also targets mitochondria and causes cytotoxicity in preclinical ALL models. In addition, it demonstrates an extraordinary effectiveness against drugresistant infections and good tolerance in ALL patients (see section Antibiotic Tigecycline Can Efficiently Control Infections and Kill Leukemic Cells by Targeting Mitochondria). In a conclusion, the use of the BH3 mimetics and HMA agents as well as repositioning of TGC, TAM, CBD and some anthelminthics (see section Anthelmintic Compounds Show Antileukemic Activity) may substantially improve chemotherapeutic protocols for treatment of the GC-resistant ALL in future. It is expected that the list of FDA-approved compounds for anti-ALL treatments will be extended and new repurposed drugs candidates will be revealed by means of the HTS technology.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MO-A and OD contributed to the concept and design of the review. MO-A, LT-L, IP and OD wrote the first draft. MO-A and OD composed the tables. MO-A designed the figures. All authors contributed to the manuscript revision, have read and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by FORDECyT 303072 grant to OD.

- Pufall MA. Glucocorticoids and cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2015) 872:315– 33. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2895-8\_14
- Pushpakom S, Iorio F, Eyers PA, Escott KJ, Hopper S, Wells A, et al. Drug repurposing: progress, challenges and recommendations. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2018) 18:41–58. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2018.168
- Spencer RL, Kalman BA, Dhabhar FS. Role of endogenous glucocorticoids in immune system function: regulation and counterregulation. In: Ronald T, editor. *Comprehensive Physiology*. Columbia, CS: Wiley online Library (2011). p. 381–423. doi: 10.1002/cphy.cp070418
- Heilman FR, Kendall EC. The influence of 11-dehydr0-17hydr0xycorticosterone (compound E) on the growth of a malignant tumor in the mouse. *Endocrinology*. (1944) 34:416–420.
- 14. Kendall EC. Hormones. Annu Rev Biochem. (1941) 1:285–336.
- Vacchio MS, Ashwell JD. Thymus-derived glucocorticoids regulate antigen-specific positive selection. J Exp Med. (1997) 185:2033–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.185.11.2033
- Boldizsár F, Pálinkás L, Czömpöly T, Bartis D, Németh P, Berki T. Low glucocorticoid receptor (GR), high Dig2 and low Bcl-2 expression in double positive thymocytes of BALB/c mice indicates their endogenous glucocorticoid hormone exposure. *Immunobiology*. (2006) 211:785–96. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2006.06.005
- Herold MJ, McPherson KG, Reichardt HM. Glucocorticoids in T cell apoptosis and function. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2006) 63:60–72. doi: 10.1007/s00018-005-5390-y
- Erlacher M, Knoflach M, Stec IE, Bock G, Wick G, Wiegers GJ. TCR signaling inhibits glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis in murine thymocytes depending on the stage of development. *Eur J Immunol.* (2005) 35:3287– 96. doi: 10.1002/eji.200526279
- Whitfield GK, Jurutka PW, Haussler CA, Haussler M. R. Steroid hormone receptors: evolution, ligands, and molecular basis of biologic function. J Cell Biochem. (1999) (Suppl.)

75:110-22. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-4644(1999)75:32+<110::aid-jcb14>3. 0.co;2-t

- Cain, DW, Cidlowski JA. Immune regulation by glucocorticoids. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:233–47. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.1
- Park OH, Do E, Kim YK. A new function of glucocorticoid receptor: regulation of mRNA stability. *BMB Rep.* (2015) 48:367–8. doi: 10.5483/bmbrep.2015.48.7.131
- Park OH, Park J, Yu M, An HT, Ko J, Kim YK. Identification and molecular characterization of cellular factors required for glucocorticoid receptor-mediated mRNA decay. *Genes Dev.* (2016) 30:2093–105. doi: 10.1101/gad.286484.116
- Vandevyver S, Dejager L, Libert C. Comprehensive overview of the structure and regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor. *Endocr Rev.* (2014) 35:671– 93. doi: 10.1210/er.2014-1010
- Sacta MA, Chinenov Y, Rogatsky I. Glucocorticoid signaling: an update from a genomic perspective. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2016) 78:155–80. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021115-105323
- Scheschowitsch K, Leite JA, Assreuy J. New insights in glucocorticoid receptor signaling-more than just a ligand-binding receptor. Front Endocrinol. (2017) 8:16. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00016
- Vitellius G, Trabado S, Bouligand J, Delemer B, Lombès M. Pathophysiology of glucocorticoid signaling. Ann Endocrinol. (2018) 79:98–106. doi: 10.1016/j.ando.2018.03.001
- Kordes U, Krappmann D, heissmeyer V, Ludwig WD, Scheidereit C. Transcriptional factor NF-kappaB is constitutively activated in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Leukemia*. (2000) 14:399–402. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2401705
- Wu W, Nie L, Zhang L, Li Y. The notch pathway promotes NF-κB activation through Asb2 in T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Cell Mol Biol Lett.* (2018) 23:37. doi: 10.1186/s11658-018-0102-4
- Chen YL, Tang C, Zhang MY, Huang WL, Xu Y, Sun HY, et al. Blocking ATM-dependent NF-κB pathway overcomes niche protection and improves chemotherapy response in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2019) 33:2365–78. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0458-0
- Chen DW, Saha V, Liu JZ, Schwartz JM, Krstic-Demonacos M. Erg and AP-1 as determinants of glucocorticoid response in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Oncogene*. (2013) 32:3039–48. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.321
- van der Sligte NE, Kampen KR, ter Elst A, Scherpen FJ, Meeuwsen-de Boer TG, et al. Essential role for cyclic-AMP responsive element binding protein 1 (CREB) in the survival of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:14970–81. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3911
- 32. Sarvaiya PJ, Schwartz JR, Hernandez CP, Rodriguez PC, Vedeckis WV. Role of c-Myb in the survival of pre B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia and leukemogenesis. *Am J Hematol.* (2012) 87:969–76. doi: 10.1002/ajh.23283
- Sarvaiya PJ, Schwartz JR, Geng CD, Vedeckis WV. c-Myb interacts with the glucocorticoid receptor and regulates its level in pre-B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2012) 361:124– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2012.03.024
- Lu NZ, Cidlowski JA Translational regulatory mechanisms generate Nterminal glucocorticoid receptor isoforms with unique transcriptional target genes. *Mol Cell*. (2005) 18:331–42. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005.03.025
- Lu NZ, Cidlowski JA. Glucocorticoid receptor isoforms generate transcription specificity. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2006) 16:301–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2006.04.005
- Lewis-Tuffin LJ, Jewell CM, Bienstock RJ, Collins JB, Cidlowski JA. Human glucocorticoid receptor beta binds RU-486 and is transcriptionally active. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2007) 27:2266–82. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01439-06
- Oakley RH, Jewell CM, Yudt MR, Bofetiado DM, Cidlowski JA. The dominant negative activity of the human glucocorticoid receptor beta isoform. Specificity and mechanisms of action. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:27857–66. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.39.27857
- Yudt MR, Jewell CM, Bienstock RJ, Cidlowski JA. Molecular origins for the dominant negative function of human glucocorticoid receptor beta. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2003) 23:4319–30. doi: 10.1128/mcb.23.12.4319-4330.2003
- Morgan DJ, Poolman TM, Williamson AJ, Wang Z, Clark NR, Ma'ayan A, et al. Glucocorticoid receptor isoforms direct distinct mitochondrial programs to regulate ATP production. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:26419. doi: 10.1038/srep2641

- Distelhorst CW. Recent insights into the mechanism of glucocorticosteroid-induced apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. (2002) 9:6–19. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4400969
- Wang D, Müller N, McPherson K, Reichardt HM. Glucocorticoids engage different signaling transduction pathways to induce apoptosis in thymocytes and mature T cells. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:1695– 702. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1695
- Laane E, Panaretakis T, Pokrovskaja K, Buentke E, Corcoran M, Soderhall S, et al. Dexamethasone-induced apoptosis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia involves differential regulation of Bcl-2 family members. *Haematologica*. (2007) 92:1460–9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.10543
- Boldizsár F, Talaber G, Szabo M, Bartis D, Pálinkas L, Nemeth P, et al. Emerging pathways of non-genomic glucocorticoid (GC) signalling in T cells. *Immunobiology*. (2010) 215:521–6. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2009.10.003
- Dyczynski M, Vesterlund M, Bjöklund AC, Zachariadis V, Janssen J, Gallart-Ayala H, et al. Metabolic reprogramming of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells in response to glucocorticoid treatment. *Cell Death Dis.* (2018) 9:846. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0625-7
- Kruth KA, Fang M, Shelton DN, Abu-Halawa O, Mahling R, Yang H, et al. Suppression of B-cell development genes is key to glucocorticoid efficacy in treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2017) 129:3000– 8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-766204
- Weigelt B, Downward J. Genomic determinants of PI3K pathway inhibitor response in cancer. Front Oncol. (2012) 2:109. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00109
- Mues M, Karra L, Romero-Moya D, Wandler A, Hangauer MJ, Ksionda O, et al. High-complexity shRNA libraries and PI3 kinase inhibition in cancer: high-fidelity synthetic lethality predictions. *Cell Rep.* (2019) 27:631– 47.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.03.045
- Jing D, Huang Y, Liu X, Sia KCS, Zhang JC, Tai X, et al. Lymphocytespecific chromatin accessibility pre-determines glucocorticoid resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Cell.* (2018) 34:906–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.11.002
- 49. Jing D, Bhardi VA, Beck D, Thoms JA, Yacob NA, Jason WH, et al. Opposing regulation of Bim and Bcl 2 controls glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Blood.* (2015) 125:273–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-576470
- Rose AJ, Herzig S. Metabolic control through glucocorticoid hormones: an update. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2013) 380:65– 78. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.03.007
- Beesley AH, Firth MJ, Ford J, Weller RE, Freitas JR, Perer KU, et al. Glucocorticoid resistance in T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukaemia is associated with a proliferative metabolism. *Br J Cancer*. (2009) 100:1926– 36. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605072
- Hulleman E, Kazemier KM, Holleman A, VanderWeele DJ, Rudin CM, Broekhuis MJ, et al. Inhibition of glycolysis modulates prednisolone resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Blood.* (2009) 113:2014– 21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-05-157842
- 53. Samuels AL, Beesley AH, Yadav BD, Papa RA, Sutton R, Anderson D, et al. A pre-clinical model of resistance to induction therapy in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood Cancer J* (2014) 4:e232. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2014.52
- Samuels AL, Heng JY, Beesley AH, Kees UR. Bioenergetic modulation overcomes glucocorticoid resistance in T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. (2014) 165:57–66. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12727
- Buentke E, Nördstrom A, Lin H, Björklund AC, Laane E, Harada M, et al. Glucocorticoid-induced cell death is mediated through reduced glucose metabolism in lymphoid leukemia cells. *Blood Cancer.* (2011) 1:e31. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2011.27
- 56. Aoki S, Morita M, Hirao T, Yamaguchi M, Shiratori R, Kikuya M, et al. Shift of energy metabolism caused by glucocorticoids enhances the effects of cytotoxic anti-cancer drugs against acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:94271–85. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2 1689
- Olivas-Aguirre M, Pottosin I, Dobrovinskaya O. Mitochondria as emerging targets for therapies against T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2019) 105:935-46. doi: 10.1002/JLB.5VMR0818-330RR
- 58. Kawaguchi M, Aoki S, Hirao T, Morita M, Ito K. Autophagy is an important metabolic pathway to determine leukemia cell survival following suppression

of the glycolytic pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2016) 471:188–92. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.04.098

- Swerdlow S, McColl K, Rong Y, Lam M, Gupta A, Distelhorst CW. Apoptosis inhibition by Bcl-2 gives way to autophagy in glucocorticoidtreated lymphocytes. *Autophagy*. (2008) 4:1–9. doi: 10.4161/auto.5920
- Laane E, Pokrovskaya Tamm K, Buentke E, Ito K, Kharaziha P, Oscarsson J, et al. Cell death induced by dexamethasone in lymphoid leukemia is mediated through initiation of autophagy. *Cell Death Differ*. (2009) 16:1018–29. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2009.46
- Galluzzi L, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Levine B, Green DR, Kroemer G. Pharmacological modulation of autophagy: Therapeutic potential and persisiting obstacles. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2017) 16:487–511. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2017.22
- Sionov RV, Cohen O, Kfir S, Zilberman Y, Yefenof E. Role of mitochondrial glucocorticoid receptor in glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:189–201. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050433
- 63. Prenek L, Boldizsár F, Kugyelka R, Ugor E, Berta G, Németh P, et al. The regulation of the mitochondrial pathway by glucocorticoid receptor in collaboration with Bcl-2 family proteins in developing T cells. *Apoptosis*. (2017) 22:239–53. doi: 10.1007/s10495-016-1320-8
- Buttgereit F, Scheffold A. Rapid glucocorticoid effects on immune cells. Steroids. (2002) 67:529 –34. doi: 10.1016/s0039-128x(01)00171-4
- Stahn C, Buttgereit F. Genomic and nongenomic effects of glucocorticoids. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol. (2008) 4:525–33. doi: 10.1038/ncprheum0898
- 66. Xiao H, Ding Y, Gao Y, Wang LM, Wang H, Ding L, et al. Haploinsufciency of NR3C1 drives glucocorticoid resistance in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells by down-regulating the mitochondrial apoptosis axis, and is sensitive to Bcl-2 blockage. *Cancer Cell Int.* (2019) 19:218. doi: 10.1186/s12935-019-0940-9
- Cialfi S, Palermo R, Manca S, Checquolo S, Bellavia D, Pelullo M. Glucocorticoid sensitivity of T-cell lymphoblastic leukemia/lymphoma is associated with glucocorticoid receptor-mediated inhibition of Notch1 expression. *Leukemia*. (2013) 27:485–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2012.192
- Bachmann PS, Gorman R, Papa RA, Bardell JE, Ford J, Kees UR, et al. Divergent mechanisms of glucocorticoid resistance in experimental models of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:4482– 90. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4244
- 69. Riml S, Schmidt S, Ausserlechner MJ, Geley S, Kofler R. Glucocorticoid receptor heterozygosity combined with lack of receptor auto-induction causes glucocorticoid resistance in Jurkat acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Cell Death Differ*. (2004) 11 Suppl 1:S65–72. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.44 01413
- Wu I, Shin S, Cao Y, Bender IK, Jafari N, Feng G, et al. Selective glucocorticoid receptor translational isoforms reveal glucocorticoid-induced apoptotic transcriptomes. *Cell Death Dis.* (2013) 4:453. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2012.193
- Bhadri VA, Trahair TN, Lock RB. Glucocorticoid resistance in paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J Paediatr Child Health. (2012) 48:634– 40. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.2011.02212.x
- 72. Catts VS, Farnswoorth ML, Haber M, Norris MD, Lutze-Mann LH, Lock RB. High level resistance to glucocorticoids, associated with a dysfunctional glucocorticoid receptor, in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells selected for methotrexate resistance. *Leukemia*. (2001) 15:929– 35. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402128
- Wang X, Lou K, Song X, Ma H, Zhou X, Xu H, et al. Mebendazole is a potent inhibitor to chemoresistant T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* (2020) 396:115001. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2020. 115001
- Zawydiwski R, Harmon JM, Thompson EB. Glucocorticoid-resistant human acute lymphoblastic leukemic cell line with functional receptor. *Cancer Res.* (1983) 43:3865–73.
- Gu L, Zhang G, Zhang Y. A novel method to establish glucocorticoid resistant acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell lines. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. (2019) 38:269. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1280-2
- 76. Piovan E, Yu J, Tosello V, Herranz D, Ambesi-Impiobato A, Da Silva AC, et al. Direct reversal of glucocorticoid resistance by AKT inhibition in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Cell.* (2013) 24:766– 76. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.10.022

- Real PJ, Tosello V, Palomero T, Castillo M, Hernando E, Stanchina E, et al. Gamma-secretase inhibitors reverse glucocorticoid resistance in T-ALL. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:50–8. doi: 10.1038/nm.1900
- Cantley AM, Welsch M, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Sanchez-Martin M, Kim MY, Bauer A, et al. Small molecule that reverses dexamethasone resistance in T-cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (T-ALL). ACS Med Chem Lett. (2014) 5:754–9. doi: 10.1021/ml500044g
- 79. Tosello V, Milani G, Martines A, Macri N, Van Loocke W, Matthijssens F, et al. A novel t(8;14)(q24;q11) rearranged human cell line as a model for mechanistic and drug discovery studies of notch1-independent human T-cell leukemia. *Cells*. (2018) 7:160. doi: 10.3390/cells7100160
- Weng AP, Ferrando AA, Lee W, Morris JP, Silverman LB, Sanchez-Irizarry C, et al. Activating mutations of NOTCH1 in human T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Science*. (2004) 306:269–71. doi: 10.1126/science.1102160
- Nakao Y, Tsuboi S, Fujita T, Masaoka T, Morikawa S, Watanabe S. Glucocorticoid receptors and terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase activities in leukemic cell. *Cancer.* (1981) 47:1812–7. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19810401)47:7<1812::aid-cncr2820470715>3 .0.co;2-c
- Jones CL, Bhatla T, Blum R, Wang J, Paugh SW, Wen X, et al. Loss of TBL1XR1 disrupts glucocorticoid receptor recruitment to chromatin and results in glucocorticoid resistance in a B-lymphoblastic leukemia model. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:20502–15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.569889
- Zweidler-McKay P, He Y, Xu L, Rodriguez CG, Karnell FG, Carpenter AC et al. Notch signaling is a potent inducer of growth arrest and apoptosis in a wide range of B-cell malignancies. *Blood.* (2005) 106:3898– 906. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-01-0355
- Chougule RA, Shah K, Moharram SA, Vallon-Christersson J, Kazi JU. Glucocorticoid-resistant B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia displays receptor tyrosine kinase activation. *NPJ Genom Med.* (2019) 4:7. doi: 10.1038/s41525-019-0082-y
- Autry RJ, Paugh SW, Carter R, Shi L, Liu J, Ferguson DC, et al. Integrative genomic analyses reveal mechanisms of glucocorticoid resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Cancer.* (2020) 1:329–44. doi: 10.1038/s43018-020-0037-3
- Alnemri ES, Fernandes TF, Haldar S, Croce CM, Litwack G. Involvement of BCL-2 in glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of human pre-B-leukemias. *Cancer Res.* (1992) 52:491–5.
- Inoue H, Takemura H, Kawai Y, Yoshida A, Ueda T, Miyashita T. Dexamethasone-resistant Human Pre-B leukemia 697 cell line evolving elevation of intracellular glutathione level: an additional resistance mechanism. *Jpn J Cancer Res.* (2002) 93:582–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2002.tb01294.x
- Pegoraro L, Palumbo A, Erikson J, Falda M, Giovanazzo B, Emanuel BS, et al. A 14;18 and an 8;14 chromosome translocation in a cell line derived from an acute B-cell leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1984) 81:7166– 70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.81.22.7166
- 89. Irving JA, Minto L, Bailey S, Hall AG. Loss of heterozygosity and somatic mutations of the glucocorticoid receptor gene are rarely found at relapse in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia but may occur in a subpopulation early in the disease course. *Can Res.* (2005) 65:9712– 8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1227
- Haarman EG, Kaspers GJL, Pieters R, Rottier MMA, Veerman AJP. Glucocorticoid receptor alpha, beta and gamma expression vs *in vitro* glucocorticoid resistance in childhood leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2004) 18:530– 7. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403225
- Rosewicz S, McDonald AR, Maddux BA, Goldfine ID, Miesfeld RL Logsdon C. Mechanism of glucocorticoid receptor down-regulation by glucocorticoids. *J Biol Chem.* (1988) 263:2581–84.
- Shipman GF, Bloomfield CD, Smith KA, Peterson BA, Munck A. The effects of glucocorticoid therapy on glucocorticoid receptors in leukemia and lymphoma. *Blood.* (1981) 58:1198–202. doi: 10.1182/blood.V58.6.1198.1198
- van der Zwet JCG, Smits W, Buijs-Gladdines JGCAM, Pieters R, Meijerink JPP. Recurrent NR3C1 aberrations at first diagnosis relate to steroid resistance in pediatric T-Cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients. *Hemasphere*. (2020) 5:e513. doi: 10.1097/HS9.00000000000051
- 94. Kuster L, Grausenburger R, Fuka G, Kaindl U, Krapf G, Inthal A, et al. ETV6/RUNX1-positive relapses evolve from an ancestral clone and

frequently acquire deletions of genes implicated in glucocorticoid signaling. *Blood.* (2011) 117:2658-67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-03-275347

- Mullighan CG, Phillips LA, Su X, Ma J, Miller CB, Shurtleff SA, et al. Genomic analysis of the clonal origins of relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Science*. (2008) 322:1377–80. doi: 10.1126/science.1164266
- Gruber G, Carlet M, Turtscher E, Meister B, Irving JA, Ploner C, et al. Levels of glucocorticoid receptor and its ligand determine sensitivity and kinetics of glucocorticoid-induced leukemia apoptosis. *Leukemia*. (2009) 23:820–23. doi: 10.1038/leu.2008.360
- Emadali A, Hoghoughi N, Duley S, Hajmirza A, Verhoeyen E, Cosset FL, et al. Haploinsufficiency for NR3C1, the gene encoding the glucocorticoid receptor, in blastic plasmacytoid dendritic cell neoplasms. *Blood.* (2016) 127:3040–53. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-09-671040
- Xiao H, Wang LM, Luo Y, Lai X, Li C, Shi J, et al. Mutations in epigenetic regulators are involved in acute lymphoblastic leukemia relapse following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:2696–708. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6259
- Yarbro GS, Lippman ME, Johnson GE, Leventhal BG. Glucocorticoid receptors in subpopulations of childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer Res.* (1977) 37:2688–95.
- Costlow ME, Pui CH, Dahl GV. Glucocorticoid receptors in childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer Res.* (1982) 42:4801–6.
- Quddus FF, Leventhal BG, Boyett JM, Pullen DJ, Crist WM, Borowitz MJ. Glucocorticoid receptors in immunological subtypes of childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia cells: a Pediatric Oncology Group Study. *Cancer Res.* (1985) 45:6482–6.
- 102. Haarman EG, Kaspers GJL, Pieters R, Rottier MMA, Den Boer ML, Janka-Schaub GE, et al. *In vitro* glucocorticoidresistance in childhoodleukemia correlates with receptor affinity determined at 37°C, but not with affinity determined at room temperature. *Leukemia.* (2002) 16:1882–4. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402606
- 103. Shipman GF, Bloomfield CD, Peczalska KJG, Munck A, Smith KA. Glucocorticoids and lymphocytes. III. Effects of glucocorticoid administration on lymphocyte glucocorticoid receptors. *Blood.* (1983) 61:1086–90. doi: 10.1182/blood.V61.6.1086.1086
- 104. Bloomfield CD, Smith KA, Peterson BA, Gajl-Peczalska KJ, Munck AU. In vitro glucocorticoid studies in human lymphoma: clinical and biological significance. J Steroid Biochem. (1981)15:275-84. doi: 10.1016/0022-4731(81)90284-3
- 105. Klumper E, Pieters R, Veerman AJ, Huisman DR, Loonen AH, Hahlen K, et al. *In vitro* cellular drug resistance in children with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (1995) 86:3861-8. doi: 10.1182/blood.V86.10.3861.bloodjournal86103861
- 106. Wandler AM, Huang BJ, Craig JW, Hayes K, Yan H, Meyer LK, et al. Loss of glucocorticoid receptor expression mediates in vivo dexamethasone resistance in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2020) 34:2025– 37. doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0748-6
- 107. Tissing WJE, Meijerink JPP, den Boer ML, Pieters R. Molecular determinants of glucocorticoid sensitivity and resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2003) 17:17–25. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.240273
- 108. Watkeys O, Kremerskothen K, Quidé Y, Fullerton JM, Green M. Glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) DNA methylation in association with trauma, psychopathology, transcript expression, or genotypic variation: a systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 95:85–122. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.08.017
- 109. Liang YN, Tang YL, Ke ZY, Chen YQ, Luo XQ, Zhang H, et al. MiR-124 contributes to glucocorticoid resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia by promoting proliferation, inhibiting apoptosis and targeting the glucocorticoid receptor. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. (2017) 172:62– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.05.014
- 110. Li XJ, Luo XQ, Han BW, Duan FT, Wei PP, Chen, YQ. MicroRNA-100/99a, deregulated in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia, suppress proliferation and promote apoptosis by regulating the FKBP51 and IGF1R/mTOR signalling pathways. *Br J Cancer.* (2013) 109:2189–98. doi: 10.1038/bjc.20 13.562
- Longui CA, Vottero A, Adamson PC, Cole DE, Kino T, Monte O, et al. Low glucocorticoid receptor alpha/beta ratio in T cell lymphoblastic leukemia. *Horm Metab Res.* (2000) 32:401–6. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-978661

- 112. Webster JC, Oakley RH, Jewell CM, Cidlowski JA. Proinflammatory cytokines regulate human glucocorticoid receptor gene expression and lead to the accumulation of the dominant negative beta isoform: a mechanism for the generation of glucocorticoid resistance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:6865–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.121455098
- 113. Koga Y, Matsuzaki A, Suminoe A, Hattori H, Kanemitsu S, Hara T. Differential mRNA expression of glucocorticoid receptor alpha and beta is associated with glucocorticoid sensitivity of acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2005) 45:121–7. doi: 10.1002/pbc.20308
- 114. Vilchis-Ordoñez A, Contreras-Quiroz A, Vadillo E, Dorantes-Acosta E, Reyes-López A, Quintela-Nuñez del Prado HM, et al. Bone marrow cells in acute lymphoblastic leukemia create a proinflammatory microenvironment influencing normal hematopoietic differentiation fates. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:386165. doi: 10.1155/2015/386165
- 115. Beger C, Gerdes K, Lauten M, Tissing WJ, Fernandez-Munoz I, Schrappe M, et al. Expression and structural analysis of glucocorticoid receptor isoform gamma in human leukaemia cells using an isoform-specific real-time polymerase chain reaction approach. *Br J Haematol.* (2003) 122:245–52. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04426.x
- 116. Paugh SW, Bonten EJ, Savic D, Ramsey LB, Thierfelder WE, Gurung P, et al. NALP3 inflammasome upregulation and CASP1 cleavage of the glucocorticoid receptor cause glucocorticoid resistance in leukemia cells. *Nat Genet.* (2015) 47:607–14. doi: 10.1038/ng.3283
- Iacobucci I, Mullighan CG. Genetic Basis of Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. J Clin Oncol. (2017) 35:975–83. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.7836
- Terwilliger T, Abdul-Hay M. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. *Blood Cancer J.* (2017) 7: e577. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2017.53
- 119. Liu Y, Easton J, Shao Y, Maciaszek J, Wang Z, Wilkinson MR, et al. The genomic landscape of pediatric and young adult T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Genet.* (2017) 49:1211–8. doi: 10.1038/ng.3909
- 120. Evans WE, Pui CH, Yang JJ. The Promise and the Reality of Genomics to Guide Precision Medicine in Pediatric Oncology: The Decade Ahead. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* (2020) 107:176–80. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1660
- Relling MV, Evans WE. Pharmacogenomics in the clinic. Nature. (2015) 526:343–50. doi: 10.1038/nature15817
- DuBois SG, Corson LB, Stegmaier K, Janeway KA. Uhsering in the next generation of precision trials for pediatric cancer. *Science*. (2019) 363:1175– 81. doi: 10.1126/science.aaw4153
- 123. Meyer LK, Huang BJ, Delgado-Martin C, Roy RP, Hechmer A, Wandler AM, et al. Glucocorticoids paradoxically facilitate steroid resistance in T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias and thymocytes. J Clin Invest. (2020) 130:863–76. doi: 10.1172/JCI130189
- Aster JC, Pear WS, Blacklow SC. Notch signalling in T-cell lymphoblastic leukaemia/lymphoma and other haematological malignancies. *J Pathol.* (2011) 223:262–73. doi: 10.1002/path.2789
- 125. Kamga PT, Dal Collo G, Midolo M, Adamo A, Delfino P, Mercuri A, et al. Inhibition of Notch signaling enhances chemosensitivity in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 79:639–49. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-1617
- 126. Palomero T, Sulis ML, Cortina M, Real PJ, Barnes K, Ciofani M, et al. Mutational loss of PTEN induces resistance to NOTCH1 inhibition in T-cell leukemia. *Nat Med.* (2007) 13:1200–10. doi: 10.1038/nm1636
- 127. Chan SM, Weng AP, Tibshirani R, Aster JC, Utz PJ. Notch signals positively regulate activity of the mTOR pathway in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2007) 110:278–86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-039883
- 128. Hales EC, Taub JW, Matherly LH. New insights into Notch1 regulation of the PI3K-AKT-mTOR1 signaling axis: targeted therapy of γ-secretase inhibitor resistant T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cell Signal.* (2014) 26:149–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.09.021
- 129. Mendes RD, Canté-Barrett K, Pieters R, Meijerink JP. The relevance of PTEN-AKT in relation to NOTCH1-directed treatment strategies in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*. (2016) 101:1010– 7. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.146381
- 130. Shochat C, Tal N, Bandapalli OR, Palmi C, Ganmore I, te Kronnie G et al. Gain-off function mutations in interleukin-7 receptor-alpha (IL7R) in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemias. J Exp Med. (2011) 208:901– 8. doi: 10.1084/jem.20110580

- Zenatti PP, Ribeiro D, Li W, Zuurbier L, Silva MC, Paganin M et al. Oncogenic IL7R gain-of-function mutations in childhood T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Genet.* (2011) 43: 932–9. doi: 10.1038/ng. 924
- 132. Akkapedi P, Fragoso R, Hixon JA, Ramalho AS, Oliveira ML, Carvalho T, et al. A fully human anti-IL-7Rα antibody promotes antitumor activity against T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2019) 33:2155–68. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0434-8
- 133. Delgado-Martin C, Meyer LK, Huang BJ, Shimano KA, Zinter MS, Nguyen JV, et al. JAK/STAT pathway inhibition overcomes IL7-induced glucocorticoid resistance in a subset of human T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias. *Leukemia*. (2017) 31:2568–76. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.136
- 134. Li Y, Buijs-Gladdines JG, Canté-Barrett K, Stubbs AP, Vroegindeweij EM, Smits WK, et al. IL-7 receptor mutations and steroid resistance in pediatric T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a genome sequencing study. *PLoS Med.* (2016) 13:e1002200. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002200
- 135. Canté-Barrett K, Spijkers-Hagelstein JA, Buijs-Gladdines JG, Uitdehaag JC, Smits WK, van der Zwet J, et al. MEK and PI3K-AKT inhibitors synergistically block activated IL7 receptor signaling in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2016) 30:1832–43. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.83
- Small D. Targeting FLT3 for treatment of leukemia. Semin Hematol. (2008) 45:17–21. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2008.07.007
- 137. Jones CL, Gearheart CM, Fosmire S, Delgado-Martin C, Evensen NA, Bride K, et al. MAPK signaling cascades mediate distinct glucocorticoid resistance mechanisms in pediatric leukemia. *Blood.* (2015) 126:2202– 12. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-04-639138
- Boag JM, Beesley AH, Firth MJ, Freitas JR, Ford J, Hoffmann K, et al. Altered glucose metabolism in childhood pre-B acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Leukemia*. (2006) 20:1731–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404365
- 139. Holleman A, Cheok MH, den Boer ML, Yang W, Veerman AJ, Kazemier KM, et al. Gene-expression patterns in drug-resistant acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells and response to treatment. N Engl J Med. (2004) 351:533–42. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa033513
- 140. Yang L, Venneti S, Nagrath D. Glutaminolysis: a hallmark of cancer metabolism. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. (2017) 19:163– 94. doi: 10.1146/annurev-bioeng-071516-044546
- 141. Herranz D, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Sudderth J, Sánchez-Martín M, Belver L, Tosello V, et al. Metabolic reprogramming induces resistance to anti-NOTCH1 therapies in T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:1182–9. doi: 10.1038/nm.3955
- 142. Nguyen TL, Nokin MJ, Terés S, Tomé M, Bodineau C, Galmar O, et al. Downregulation of glutamine synthetase, not glutaminolysis, is responsible for glutamine addiction in Notch1-driven acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Mol Oncol.* (2020) doi: 10.1002/1878-0261.12877. [Epub ahead of print].
- Mazure NM. VDAC in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta. (2017) 1858:665– 73. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2017.03.002
- 144. Jiang N, Kham SK, Koh GS, Suang Lim JY, Ariffin H, Chew FT, et al. Identification of prognostic protein biomarkers in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). J Proteomics. (2011) 74: 843– 57. doi: 10.1016/j.jprot.2011.02.034
- 145. Silva A, Yunes A, Cardoso BA, Martins LR, Jotta PY, Abecasis M, et al. PTEN posttranslational inactivation and hyperactivation of the PI3K/Akt pathway sustain primary T cell leukemia viability. J Clin Invest. (2008) 118:3762–74. doi: 10.1172/JCI34616
- 146. Neri LM, Cani A. Martelli AM, Simioni C, Tabellini G, Ricci F, et al. Targeting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway in B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia and its therapeutic potential. *Leukemia*. (2014) 28:739–48. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.226
- 147. Morishita N, Tsukahara H, Chayama K, Ishida T, Washio K, Miyamura T, et al. Activation of Akt is associated with poor prognosis and chemotherapeutic resistance in pediatric B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*. (2012) 59:83–9. doi: 10.1002/pbc. 24034
- 148. Gutierrez A. Sanda T, Grebliunaite R, Carracedo A, Salmena L, Ahn Y, et al. High frequency of PTEN, PI3K and AKT abnormalities in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2009) 114:647–50. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-206722

- 149. Meyer LK, Delgado-Martin C, Maude SL, Shannon KM, Teachey DT, Hermiston ML. CRLF2 rearrangement in Ph-like acute lymphoblastic leukemia predicts relative glucocorticoid resistance that is overcome with MEK or Akt inhibition. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0220026. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0220026
- 150. Montaño A, Forero-Castro M, Marchena-Mendoza D, Benito R, Hernández-Rivas JM. New challenges in targeting signaling pathways in acute lymphoblastic leukemia by NGS approaches: an update. *Cancers.* (2018) 10:110. doi: 10.3390/cancers10040110
- Palomero T, Dominguez M, and Ferrando AA. The role of the PTEN/AKT pathway in NOTCH1 induced leukemia. *Cell Cycle*. (2008) 7:965–70. doi: 10.4161/cc.7.8.5753
- 152. Xie M, Yang A, Ma J, Wu M, Xu H, Wu K, et al. Akt2 mediates glucocorticoid resistance in lymphoid malignancies through FoxO3a/Bim axis and serves as a direct target for resistance reversal. *Cell Death Dis.* (2019) 9:1013. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-1043-6
- Guertin DA, Sabatini, DM. Defining the role of mTOR in cancer. *Cancer Cell.* (2007) 12:9–22. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2007.05.008
- 154. Saxton RA, Sabatini DM. mTOR signaling in growth, metabolism, and disease. *Cell*. (2017) 168:960–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.004
- Easton JB, Houghton PJ. mTOR and cancer therapy. Oncogene. (2006) 25:6436–46. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209886
- 156. Juarez J, Baraz R, Gaundar S, Bradstock K, Bendall L. Interaction of interleukin-7 and interleukin-3 with the CXCL12-induced proliferation of Bcell progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica*. (2007) 92:450– 9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.10621
- 157. Zhao WL. Targeted therapy in T-cell malignancies: dysregulation of the cellular signaling pathways. *Leukemia*. (2010) 24:13– 21. doi: 10.1038/leu.2009.223
- 158. de la Cruz López KG, Toledo Guzmán ME, Sánchez EO, García Carrancá A. mTORC1 as a regulator of mitochondrial functions and a therapeutic target in cancer. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 9:1373. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01373
- 159. Sui X, Chen R, Wang Z, Huang Z, Kong N, Zhang M, et al. Autophagy and chemotherapy resistance: a promising therapeutic target for cancer treatment. *Cell Death Dis.* (2013) 4:e838. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.350
- 160. Ho CJ, Gorski SM. Molecular mechanisms underlying autophagymediated treatment resistance in cancer. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:775. doi: 10.3390/cancers11111775
- 161. Evangelisti C, Evangelisti C, Chiarini F, Lonetti A, Buontempo F, Neri LM, et al. Autophagy in acute leukemias: a double-edged sword with important therapeutic implications. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2015) 1853:14–26. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.09.023
- 162. Sarang Z, Gyurina K, Scholtz B, Kiss C, Szegedi I. Altered expression of autophagy-related genes might contribute to glucocorticoid resistance in precursor B-cell-type acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Eur J Haematol.* (2016) 97:453–60. doi: 10.1111/ejh.12753
- 163. Heidari N, Hicks MA, Harada H. GX15-070 (obatoclax) overcomes glucocorticoid resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia through induction of apoptosis and autophagy. *Cell Death Dis.* (2010) 1:e76. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2010.53
- 164. Bonapace L, Bornhauser BC, Schmitz M, Cario G, Ziegler U, Niggli FK, et al. Induction of autophagy-dependent necroptosis is required for childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to overcome glucocorticoid resistance. J Clin Invest. (2010) 120:1310–23. doi: 10.1172/JCI39987
- 165. Polak A, Kiliszek P, Sewastianik T, Szydłowski M, Jabłońska E, Białopiotrowicz E, et al. MEK inhibition sensitizes precursor B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) cells to dexamethasone through modulation of mTOR activity and stimulation of autophagy. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0155893. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155893
- 166. Torres-López L, Maycotte P, Liñán-Rico A, Liñán-Rico L, Donis-Maturano L, Delgado-Enciso I, et al. Tamoxifen induces toxicity, causes autophagy, and partially reverses dexamethasone resistance in jurkat T cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2019) 105:983–98. doi: 10.1002/JLB.2VMA0818-328R
- 167. Schepers K, Campbell TB, Passegué E. Normal and leukemic stem cell niches: insights and therapeutic opportunities. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2015) 16:254– 67. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.014
- 168. Petit C, Gouel F, Dubus I, Heuclin C, Roget K, Vannier JP. Hypoxia promotes chemoresistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell

lines by modulating death signaling pathways. *BMC Cancer.* (2016) 16:746. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2776-1

- 169. Zou J, Lu F, Liu N, Dai J, Ye J, Qu X, et al. Notch1 is required for hypoxia-induced proliferation, invasion and chemoresistance of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. J Hematol Oncol. (2013) 6:3. doi: 10.1186/1756-8722-6-3
- 170. Lang F, Voelkl J. Therapeutic potential of serum and glucocorticoid inducible kinase inhibition. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs*. (2013) 22:701– 14. doi: 10.1517/13543784.2013.778971
- 171. Talarico C, Dattilo V, D'Antono L, Menniti M, Bianco C, Ortuso F, et al. SGK1, the new player in the game of restance: chemo-radio molecular target and strategy for inhibition. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2016) 39:1863– 76. doi: 10.1159/000447885
- Feske S, Skolnik EY, Prakriya M. Ion channels and transporters in lymphocyte function and immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2012) 12:235– 47. doi: 10.1038/nri3233
- 173. Dobrovinskaya O, Delgado-Enciso I, Quintero-Castro LJ, Best-Aguilera C, Rojas-Sotelo RM, Pottosin I. Placing ion channels into a signaling network of T cells: from maturing thymocytes to healthy T lymphocytes and leukemic T lymphoblasts. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:750203. doi: 10.1155/2015/750203
- 174. Lang F, Pelzl L, Hauser S, Hermann A, Stournaras C, Schöls L. To die or not to die SKG1-sensitive ORAI/STIM in cell survival. *Cell Calcium*. (2018) 74:29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2018.05.001
- 175. Yu W, Honisch S, Schmidt S, Yan J, Schmid E, Alkahtani S, et al. Chorein sensitive Orail expression and store operated Ca2+ entry in rhabdomyosarcoma cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2016) 40:1141– 52. doi: 10.1159/000453168
- 176. Abdoule-Azize S, Dubus I, Vannier JP. Improvement of dexamethasone sensitivity by chelation of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells through the prosurvival kinase ERK1/2 deactivation. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:27339–52. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16039
- 177. Wenning AS, Neblung K, Strauss B, Wolfs MJ, Sappok A, Hoth M, Schwarz EC. TRP expression pattern and the functional importance of TRPC3 in primary human T-cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2011) 1813:412– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.12.022
- 178. Vassilieva IO, Tomilin VN, Marakhova II, Shatrova AN, Negulyaev YA, Semenova SB. Expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid channels TRPV5 and TRPV6 in human blood lymphocytes and Jurkat lekemia T cells. *J Membr Biol.* (2013) 246:131–40. doi: 10.1007/s00232-012-9511-x
- 179. Sopjani M, Kunert A, Czarkowski K, Klaus F, Laufer J, Föller M, et al. Regulation of the Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel TRPV6 by the kinases SGK1, PKB/Akt, and PIKfyve. *J Membr Biol.* (2010) 233:35–41. doi: 10.1007/s00232-009-9222-0
- 180. Pang B, Shin DH, Park KS, Huh YJ, Woo J, Zhang YH, et al. Differential pathways for calcium influx activated by concavalin A and CD3 stimulation in Jurkat T cells. *Pflügers Arch Eur J Physiol.* (2012) 463:309– 18. doi: 10.1007/s00424-011-1039-x
- 181. Wulff H, Calabresi PA, Allie R, Yun S, Pennington M, Beeton,C, et al. The voltage-gated Kv1.3 KC channel in effector memory T cells as new target for MS. J Clin Invest. (2003) 111:1703–13. doi: 10.1172/JCI200316921
- Wulff H, Knaus HK, Pennington M, Chandy KG. K<sup>+</sup> channel expression during B cell differentiation: immunomodulation and autoimmunity. J Immunol. (2004) 173:776–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.2.776
- 183. Valle-Reyes S, Valencia-Cruz G, Liñan-Rico L, Pottosin I, Dobrovinskaya O. Differential activity of voltaje- and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent potassium channels in leukemic T cell lines: Jurkat cells represent an exceptional case. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:499. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.0 0499
- Valle JS, Castellanos R, Olivas MA, Pottosin I, Dobrovinskaya O, Schnoor M. (2020). Kv1.3 channel is a potential marker for B acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *FASEB J*. (2020) 34:3096. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.2020.34.s1.03096
- 185. Henke G, Maier C, Wallsch S, Boehmer C, Lang F. Regulation of the voltage gated K+ channel Kv1.3 by the ubiquitin ligase Nedd4-2 and the serum and glucocorticoid inducible kinase SKG1. J Cell Physiol. (2004) 199:194–9. doi: 10.1002/jcp.10430
- 186. Pillozzi S, Masselli M, De Lorenzo E, Accordi B, Cilia E, Crociani O, et al. Chemotherapy resistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia requires hERG1 channels and is overcome by hERG1 blockers. *Blood*. (2011) 117:902– 14. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-262691

- 187. Mo JS, Ann EJ, Yoon JH, Jung J, Choi YH, Kim HY, et al. Serum- and glucocorticoid-inducible kinase 1 (SGK1) controls Notch1 signaling by downregulation of protein stability through Fbw7 ubiquitin ligase. J Cell Sci. (2011) 124:100–12. doi: 10.1242/jcs.073924
- 188. Wei G, Twomey D, Lamb J, Schlis K, Agarwal J, Stam RW, et al. Gene expression-based chemical genomics identifies rapamycin as a modulator of MCL1 and glucocorticoid resistance. *Cancer Cell.* (2006) 10:331– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2006.09.006
- Gilley J, Coffer PJ, Ham J. FOXO transcription factors directly activate bim gene expression and promote apoptosis in sympathetic neurons. *J Cell Biol.* (2003) 162:613–22. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200303026
- 190. Hall CP, Reynolds CP, Kang MH. Modulation of glucocorticoid resistance in pediatric T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia by increasing BIM expression with the PI3K/mTOR inhibitor BEZ235. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:621– 32. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0114
- 191. Knight T, Irving JAE. Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway activation in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia and its therapeutic targeting. *Front Oncol.* (2014) 4:160. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00160
- 192. Rambal AA, Panaguiton ZLG, Kramer L, Grant S, Harada H. MEK inhibitors potentiate dexamethasone lethality in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells through the pro-apoptotic molecule BIM. *Leukemia*. (2009) 23:1744– 54. doi: 10.1038/leu.2009.80
- 193. Stam RW, Den Boer ML, Schneider P, de Boer J, Hagelstein J, Valsecchi MG, et al. Association of high-level MCL-1 expression with *in vitro* and *in vivo* prednisone resistance in MLL-rearranged infant acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2010) 115:1018–25. 10.1182/blood-2009-02-205963
- 194. Hartmann BL, Geley S, Loffler M, Hattmannstorfer R, Strasser-Wozak EM, Auer B, et al. Bcl-2 interferes with the execution phase, but not upstream events, in glucocorticoid-induced leukemia apoptosis. *Oncogene.* (1999) 18:713–19. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202339
- 195. Gustafsson B, Stal O, Gustafsson B. Overexpression of MDM2 in acute childhood lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatr Hematol Oncol.* (1998) 15:519– 26. doi: 10.3109/08880019809018313
- 196. Zhou M, Yeager AM, Smith SD, Findley HW. Overexpression of the MDM2 gene by childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells expressing the wildtype p53 gene. *Blood.* (1995) 85:1608–14.
- 197. Zhou M, Gu L, Abshire TC, Homans A, Billet AL, Yeager AM, et al. Incidence and prognostic significance of MDM2 oncoprotein overexpression in relapsed childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2000) 14:61–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2401619
- 198. Richmond J, Carol H, Evans K, High L, Mendono A, Robbins A, et al. Effective targeting of the p53–MDM2 axis in preclinical models of infant MLL-rearranged acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:1395–405. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2300
- 199. Sengupta S, Wasylyk B. Ligand-dependent interaction of the glucocorticoid receptor with p53 enhances their degradation by Mdm2. *Genes Dev.* (2001) 15:2367–80. doi: 10.1101/gad.202201
- 200. Chauncey TR. Drug resistance mechanisms in acute leukemia. Curr Opin Oncol. (2001) 13:21–6. doi: 10.1097/00001622-200101000-00005
- 201. Wuchter C, Leonid K, Ruppert V, Schrappe M, Büchner T, Schoch C, et al. Clinical significance of P-glycoprotein expression and function for response to induction chemotherapy, relapse rate and overall survival in acute leukemia. *Haematologica*. (2000) 85:711–21.
- 202. Tabata M, Tsubaki M, Takeda T, Tateishi K, Tsurushima K, Imano M, et al. Dasatinib reverses drug resistance by downregulating MDR1 and survivin in burkitt lymphoma cells. *BMC Complement Med Ther.* (2020) 20:84. doi: 10.1186/s12906-020-2879-8
- 203. Poulard C, Kim HN, Fang M, Kruth K, Gagnieux C, Gerke DS, et al. Relapse-associated AURKB blunts the glucocorticoid sensitivity of B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:3052– 61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1816254116
- 204. Sugimura R, He XC, Venkatraman A, Arai F, Box A, Semerad C, et al. Noncanonical Wnt signaling maintains hematopoietic stem cells in the niche. *Cell.* (2012) 150:351–65. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.041
- 205. Li B, Brady SW, Ma X, Shen S, Zhang Y, Li Y, et al. Therapyinduced mutations drive the genomic landscape of relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2020) 135:41–55. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019 002220

- 206. Szaflarski JP, Bebin EM, Comi AM, Patel A D, Joshi C, Checketts D, et al. Long-term safety and treatment effects of cannabidiol in children and adults with treatment-resistant epilepsies: Expanded access program results. *Epilepsia*. (2018) 59:1540–8. doi: 10.1111/epi.14477
- 207. Olivas-Aguirre M, Torres-López L, Valle-Reyes JS, Hernández-Cruz A, Pottosin I, Dobrovinskaya O. Cannabidiol directly targets mitochondria and disturbs calcium homeostasis in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cell Death Dis.* (2019) 10:779. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-2024-0
- Mezzatesta C, Abduli L, Guinot A, Eckert C, Schewe D, Zaliova M, et al. Repurposing anthelmintic agents to eradicate resistant leukemia. *Blood Cancer J.* (2020) 10:1–11. doi: 10.1038/s41408-020-0339-9
- 209. Maali A, Ferdosi-Shahandashti E, Sadeghi F, Aali E. The antihelminthic drug, mebendazole, induces apoptosis in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma cancer cells: *in-vitro* trial. *Int J Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Res.* (2020) 14:257– 64. doi: 10.18502/ijhoscr.v14i4.4482
- Hamdoun S, Jung P, Efferth T. Drug repurposing of the anthelmintic niclosamide to treat multidrug-resistant leukemia. *Front Pharmacol.* (2017) 8:110. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00110
- Rose WE, Rybak MJ. Tigecycline: first of a new class of antimicrobial agents. *Pharmacotherapy*. (2006) 26:1099–110. doi: 10.1592/phco.26.8.1099
- 212. Kuntz EM, Baquero P, Michie AM, Dunn K, Tardito S, Holyoake TL. Targeting mitochondrial oxidative phosphrylation eradicates therapy-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:1234–40. doi: 10.1038/nm.4399
- 213. Fu X, Liu W, Huang Q, Wang Y, Li H, Xiong Y. Targeting mitochondrial respiration selectively sensitizes pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell lines and patient samples to standard chemotherapy. *Am J Cancer Res.* (2017) 7:2395–405. eCollection 2017.
- 214. Sun W, Triche TJr, Malvar J, Gaynon P, Sposto R, Yang X, et al. A phase 1 study of azacitidine combined with chemotherapy in childhood leukemia: a report from the TACL consortium. *Blood.* (2018) 131:1145-48. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-09-803809
- 215. Khan R, Schmidt-Mende J, Karimi M, Gogvadze V, Hassan M, Ekström TJ, et al. Hypomethylation and apoptosis in 5-azacytidine-treated myeloid cells. *Exp Hematol.* (2008) 36:149–57. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2007.10.002
- Kaminskas E, Farrell AT, Wang YC, Sridhara R, Pazdur R. FDA drug approval summary: azacitidine (5-azacytidine, Vidaza) for injectable suspension. *Oncologist.* (2005) 10:176–82. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.10-3-176
- 217. Carlo MI, Molina AM, Lakhman Y, Patil S, Woo K, DeLuca J, et al. Aphase Ib study of BEZ235, a dual inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma. *Oncologist.* (2016) 21:787– 8. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2016-0145
- 218. Wise-Draper TM, Moorthy G, Salkeni MA, Karim NA., Thomas HE, Mercer CA, et al. a phase ib study of the dual pi3k/mtor inhibitor dactolisib (bez235) combined with everolimus in patients with advanced solid malignancies. *Target Oncol.* (2017) 12:323–32. doi: 10.1007/s11523-017-0482-9
- 219. Seront E, Rottey S, Filleul B, Glorieux P, Goeminne JC, Verschaeve V, et al. Phase II study of dual phosphoinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) and mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitor BEZ235 in patients with locally advanced or metastatic transitional cell carcinoma. *BJU Int*. (2016) 118:408– 15. doi: 10.1111/bju.13415
- 220. Salazar R, Garcia-Carbonero R, Libutti SK, Hendifar AE, Custodio A, Guimbaud R, et al. Phase II study of BEZ235 versus everolimus in patients with mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor-naive advanced pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Oncologist.* (2018) 23:766–90. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0144
- 221. Wei XX, Hsieh AC, Kim W, Friedlander T, Lin AM, Louttit M, et al. A phase I study of abiraterone acetate combined with BEZ235, a Dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitor, in metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer. Oncologist. (2017) 22:503–43. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.20 16-0432
- 222. Rodon J, Pérez-Fidalgo A, Krop IE, Burris H, Guerrero-Zotano A, Britten CD, et al. Phase 1/1b dose escalation and expansion study of BEZ235, a dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitor, in patients with advanced solid tumors including patients with advanced breast cancer. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2018) 82:285–98. doi: 10.1007/s00280-018-3610-z

- 223. Lang F, Wunderle L, Badura S, Schleyer E, Brüggemann M, Serve H, et al. A phase I study of a dual PI3-kinase/mTOR inhibitor BEZ235 in adult patients with relapsed or refractory acute leukemia. *BMC Pharmacol Toxicol.* (2020) 21:70. doi: 10.1186/s40360-020-00446-x
- 224. Pongas G, Fojo T. BEZ235: when promising science meets clinical reality. Oncologist. (2016) 21:1033–34. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2016-0243
- 225. Chonghaile TN, Roderick JE, Glenfield C, Ryan J, Sallan SE, Silverman LB, et al. Maturation stage of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia determines BCL-2 versus BCL-XL dependence and sensitivity to ABT-199. Cancer Discov. (2014) 4:1074–87. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0353
- 226. Peirs S, Matthijssens F, Goossens S, Van de Walle I, Ruggero K. de Bock CE, et al. ABT-199 mediated inhibition of BCL-2 as a novel therapeutic strategy in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2014) 124:3738– 47. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-574566
- 227. El-Cheikh J, Moukalled NM, El Darsa H, Massoud R, Kanj SS, Mahfouz R, et al. Feasibility of the combination of venetoclax and asparaginase-based chemotherapy for adult patients with relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk.* (2018) 18: e441–4. doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2018.07.289
- 228. Richard-Carpentier G, Jabbour E, Short NJ, Rausch CR, Savoy JM, Bose P, et al. Clinical experience with venetoclax combined with chemotherapy for relapsed or refractory T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk*. (2020) 20:212–18. doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2019.09.608
- 229. Skrtic M, Sriskanthadevan S, Jhas B, Gebbia M, Wang X, Wang Z, et al. Inhibition of mitochondrial translation as a therapeutic strategy for human acute myeloid leukemia. *Cancer Cell.* (2011) 20:674–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.05.004
- Li H, Jiao S, Li X, Banu H, Hamal S, Wang X. Therapeutic effects of antibiotic drug tigecycline against cervical squamous cell carcinoma by inhibiting Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2015) 467:14– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.09.140
- 231. Tang CL, Yang LQ, Jiang XL, Xu C, Wang M, Wang QR, et al. Antibiotic drug tigecycline inhibited cell proliferation and induced autophagy in gastric cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2014) 446:105– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.02.043
- 232. Norberg E, Lako A, Chen PH, Stanley IA, Zhou F, Ficarro SB, et al. Differential contribution of the mitochondrial translation pathway to the survival of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma subsets. *Cell Death Differ*. (2016) 24:251–62. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2016.116
- 233. Xiong Y, Liu W, Huang Q, Wang J, Wang Y, Li H, et al. Tigecycline as a dual inhibitor of retinoblastoma and angiogenesis via inducing mitochondrial dysfunctions and oxidative damage. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:11747. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29938-x
- 234. Wang Y, Xie F, Chen D, Wang L. Inhibition of mitochondrial respiration by tigecycline selectively targets thyroid carcinoma and increases chemosensitivity. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol.* (2019) 46:890–97. doi: 10.1111/1440-1681.13126
- 235. Yu J, Chen Y, Fang J, Zhang K. Successful treatment of disseminated fusariosis in a patient with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a case report and literature review. *Medicine*. (2019) 98:e16246. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000016246
- Lin S, Zhang C, Ye S. Preliminary experience of tigecycline treatment for infection in children with hematologic malignancies. *Int J Clin Pharm.* (2018) 40:1030–6. doi: 10.1007/s11096-018-0690-0
- 237. Bogush TA, Polezhaev BB, Mamichev IA, Bogush EA, Polotsky BE, Tjulandin SA, et al. Tamoxifen never ceases to amaze: new findings on non-estrogen receptor molecular targets andmediated effects. *Cancer Invest.* (2018) 36:211–20. doi: 10.1080/07357907.2018.1453933
- Farrar MC, Jacobs TF. *Tamoxifen. StatPearls*. Tresure Island, FL StatPearls Publishing (2020) Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK532905/ (accessed April 28, 2020).
- 239. Xie X, Wu MY, Shou LM, Chen LP, Gong FR, Chen K, et al. Tamoxifen enhances the anticancer effect of cantharidin and norcantharidin in pancreatic cancer cell lines through inhibition of the protein kinase C signaling pathway. *Oncol Lett.* (2015) 9:837–44. doi: 10.3892/ol.2014.2711
- 240. Jing G, Yuan K, Turk AN, Jhala NC, Arnoletti JP, Zhang K, et al. Tamoxifen enhances therapeutic effects of gemcitabine on cholangiocarcinoma tumorigenesis. *Lab Invest.* (2011) 91:896–904. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2011.60

- 241. Cocconi G, Bella M, Calabresi F, Tonato M, Canaletti R, Boni C, et al. Treatment of metastatic malignant melanoma with dacarbazine plus tamoxifen. N Engl J Med. (1992) 327:516–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199208203270803
- 242. Cimica V, Smith ME, Zhang Z, Mathur D, Mani S, Kalpana GV. Potent inhibition of rhabdoid tumor cells by combination of flavopiridol and 4OH-tamoxifen. *BMC Cancer.* (2010) 10:634. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-634
- 243. Sánchez-Aguilera A, Arranz L, Martín-Pérez D, García-García A, Stavropoulou V, Kubovcakova L, et al. Estrogen signaling selectively induces apoptosis of hematopoietic progenitors and myeloid neoplasms without harming steady-state hematopoiesis. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2014) 15:791–804. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.002
- 244. Yang YT, Szaflarski JP. The US Food and Drug Administration's Authorization of the First Cannabis-Derived Pharmaceutical: are we out of the Haze? *JAMA Neurol.* (2019) 76:135– 6. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.3550
- Sledziński P, Zeyland J, Słomski R, Nowak A. The current state and future perspectives of cannabinoids in cancer biology. *Cancer Med.* (2018) 7:765– 75. doi: 10.1002/cam4.1312
- 246. Wang J. Wang Y, Tong M, Pan H, Li D. New prospect for cancer cachexia: medical cannabinoid. J Cancer. (2019) 10:716–20. doi: 10.7150/jca.28246
- 247. Abrams DI. Should Oncologists recommend cannabis? Curr Treat Options Oncol. (2019) 20:59. doi: 10.1007/s11864-019-0659-9
- 248. Massi P, Solinas M, Cinquina V, Parolaro D. Cannabidiol as potential anticancer drug. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2013) 75:303–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04298.x
- Ladin DA, Soliman E, Griffin L, Van Dross R. Preclinical and clinical assessment of cannabinoids as anti-cancer agents. *Front Pharmacol.* (2016) 7:361. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00361
- Russo EB. Cannabidiol claims and misconceptions. Trends Pharmacol Sci. (2017) 38:198–201. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2016.12.004
- 251. Rimmerman N, Ben-Hail D, Porat Z, Juknat A, Kozela E, Daniels MP, et al. Direct modulation of the outer mitochondrial membrane channel, voltage-dependent anion channel 1 (VDAC1) by cannabidiol: a novel mechanism for cannabinoid-induced cell death. *Cell Death Dis.* (2013) 4:e949. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.471
- 252. Holland ML, Panetta JA, Hoskins JM, Bebawy M, Roufogalis BD, Allen JD, et al. The effects of cannabinoids on P-glycoprotein transport and expression in multidrug resistant cells. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2006) 71:1146–54. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2005.12.033
- Holland ML, Lau DT, Allen JD, Arnold JC. The multidrug transporter ABCG2 (BCRP) is inhibited by plant-derived cannabinoids. Br J Pharmacol. (2007) 152:815–24. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.07 07467
- 254. Fraguas-Sánchez AI, Fernández-Carballido A, Simancas-Herbada R, Martin-Sabroso C, Torres-Suárez AI. CBD loaded microparticles as a potential formulation to improve paclitaxel and doxorubicinbased chemotherapy in breast cancer. *Int J Pharm.* (2020) 574:118916. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.118916
- 255. Kim JL, Kim BR, Kim DY, Jeong YA, Jeong S, Na YJ, et al. Cannabidiol enhances the therapeutic effects of TRAIL by upregulating DR5 in colorectal cancer. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:642. doi: 10.3390/cancers110 50642
- 256. Nkune NW, Kruger CA, Abrahamse H. Possible enhancement of photodynamic therapy (PDT) colorectal cancer treatment when combined with cannabidiol. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem.* (2021) 21:137–48. doi: 10.2174/1871520620666200415102321
- 257. Scott KA, Dalgleish AG, Liu WM. The combination of cannabidiol and  $\Delta$ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol enhances the anticancer effects of radiation in an orthotopic murine glioma model. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2014) 13:2955–67. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-0402
- López-Valero I, Saiz-Ladera C, Torres S, Hernández-Tiedra S, García-Taboada E, Rodríguez-Fornés F, et al. Targeting glioma initiating cells with a combined therapy of cannabinoids and temozolomide. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2018) 157:266–74. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.09.007
- 259. López-Valero I, Torres S, Salazar-Roa M, García-Taboada E, Hernández-Tiedra S, Guzmán M. Optimization of a preclinical therapy of cannabinoids

in combination with temozolomide against glioma. Biochem Pharmacol. (2018) 157:275-84. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.08.023

- Strong T, Rauvolfova J, Jackson E, Pham LV, Bryan J. Synergic effect of cannabidiol with conventional chemotherapeutic treatment. *Blood.* (2018) 132 (suppl. 1):5382. doi: 10.1182/blood-9-116749
- 261. Scott KA, Dalgleish AG, Liu WM. Anticancer effects of phytocannabinoids used with chemotherapy in leukaemia cells can be improved by altering the sequence of their administration. *Int J Oncol.* (2017) 51:369– 77. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2017.4022
- 262. Hao E, Mukhopadhyay P, Cao Z, Erdélyi K, Holovac E, Liaudet L, et al. Cannabidiol protects against doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy by modulating mitochondrial function and biogenesis. *Mol Med.* (2015) 21:38–45. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2014.00261
- Fouad AA, Albuali WH, Al-Mulhim AS, Jresat I. Cardioprotective effect of cannabidiol in rats exposed to doxorubicin toxicity. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol.* (2013) 36:347–57. doi: 10.1016/j.etap.2013.04.018
- 264. Hamilton G, Rath B. Repurposing of anthelminthics as anticancer drugs. Oncomedicine. (2017) 2:142–9. doi: 10.7150/oncm.20563
- 265. Cánová K, Rozkydalová L, Rudolf E. Anthelmintic flubendazole and its potential use in anticancer therapy. Acta Medica. (2017) 60:5– 11. doi: 10.14712/18059694.2017.44
- 266. Wang LJ, Lee YC, Huang CH, Shi YJ, Chen YJ, Pei SN, et al. Nonmitotic effect of albendazole triggers apoptosis of human leukemia cells via SIRT3/ROS/p38 MAPK/TTP axis-mediated TNF-α upregulation. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2019) 162:154–68. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.11.003
- Plata JD, Castañeda X. Parasites in cancer patients. Oncologic Critical Care. (2020) 1441-1450. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-74698-2\_126-1
- Davis CD, Uthus EO. DNA methylation, cancer susceptibility, and nutrient interactions. *Exp Biol Med.* (2004) 229:988– 95. doi: 10.1177/153537020422901002
- 269. Croce CM, Reed JC. Finally, an apoptosis-targeting therapeutic for cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:5914–20. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1248
- 270. Wei AH, Roberts AW, Spencer A, Rosenberg AS, Siegel D, Walter RB. Targeting MCL-1 in hematologic malignancies: rationale and progress. *Blood Rev.* (2020) 2020:672. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2020.100672
- 271. Mei M, Aldoss I, Marcucci G, Pullarkat V. Hypomethylating agents in combination with venetoclax for acute myeloid leukemia: update on clinical trial data and practical considerations for use. *Am J Hematol.* (2019) 94:358– 62. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25369
- 272. Urtishak KA, Edwards AY, Wang LS., Hudome A, Robinson BW, Barrett J S, et al. Potent obatoclax cytotoxicity and activation of triple death mode killing across infant acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2013) 121:2689– 703. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-425033
- Liu P, Cheng H, Roberts TM, Zhao JJ. Targeting the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2009) 8:627– 44. doi: 10.1038/nrd2926
- 274. Teachey DT, Obzut DA, Cooperman J, Fang J, Carroll M, Choi JK, et al. The mTOR inhibitor CCI-779 induces apoptosis and inhibits growth in preclinical models of primary adult human ALL. *Blood.* (2006) 107:1149– 55. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-05-1935
- 275. Teachey DT, Sheen C, Hall J, Ryan T, Brown VI, Fish J, et al. mTOR inhibitors are synergistic with methotrexate: an effective combination to treat acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood.* (2008) 112:2020–3. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-02-137141
- Evangelisti C, Chiarini F, McCubrey JA, Martelli AM. Therapeutic targeting of mTOR in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia: an update. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:1878. doi: 10.3390/ijms19071878
- 277. Sparks CA, Guertin DA. Targeting mTOR: prospects for mTOR complex 2 inhibitors in cancer therapy. Oncogene. (2010) 29:3733-44. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.139
- 278. Wullschleger S, Loewith R, Hall MN. TOR signaling in growth and metabolism. *Cell*. (2006) 124:471–84. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.01.016
- 279. Ma XM, Blenis J. Molecular mechanisms of mTOR-mediated translational control. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2009) 10:307–18. doi: 10.1038/nrm2672
- 280. Feldman ME, Apsel B, Uotila A, Loewith R, Knight ZA, Ruggero D, et al. Active-site inhibitors of mTOR target rapamycin-resistant outputs of mTORC1 and mTORC2. PLOS Biol. (2009) 7:e38. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio

- 281. Maira SM, Stauffer F, Brueggen J, Furet P, Schnell C, Fritsch C, et al. Identification and characterization of NVP-BEZ235, a new orally available dual phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor with potent in vivo antitumor activity. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2008) 7:1851–63. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163
- 282. Chiarini F, Grimaldi C, Ricci F, Tazzari PL, Evangelisti C, Ognibene A, et al. Activity of the novel dual phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/ mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor NVP-BEZ235 against T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:8097–107. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472
- Morselli E, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Vicencio JM, Criollo A, Maiuri MC, et al. Anti- and pro-tumor functions of autophagy. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2009) 1793:1524–32. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009.01.006
- 284. Badura S, Tesanovic T, Pfeifer H, Wystub S, Nijmeijer BA, Liebermann M, et al. Differential effects of selective inhibitors targeting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *PLos ONE*. (2013) 8:e80070. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080070
- Wong J, Welschinger R, Hewson J, Bradstock KF, Bendall LJ. Efficacy of dual PI-3K and mTOR inhibitors *in vitro* and in vivo in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Oncotarget*. (2014) 5:10460–72. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2260
- 286. Schult C, Dahlhaus M, Glass A, Fischer K, Lange S, Freund M, et al. The dual kinase inhibitor NVP-BEZ235 in combination with cytotoxic drugs exerts anti-proliferative activity towards acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. *Anticancer Res.* (2012) 32:463–74
- 287. Lesovaya E, Agarwal S, Readhead B, Vinokour E, Baida G, Bhalla P, et al. Rapamycin modulates glucocorticoid receptor function, blocks atrophogene

REDD1, and protects skin from steroid atrophy. J Invest Dermatol. (2018) 138:1935–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2018.02.045

- 288. Toscan CE, Rahimi M, Bhadbhade M, Pickford R, McAlpine SR, Lock RB. Thioimidazoline based compounds reverse glucocorticoid resistance in human acute lymphoblastic leukemia xenografts. Org Biomol Chem. (2015) 13:6299–312. doi: 10.1039/c5ob00779h
- 289. Toscan CE, Jing D, Mayoh C, Lock RB. Reversal of glucocorticoid resistance in paediatric acute lymphoblastic leukaemia is dependent on restoring BIM expression. Br J Cancer. (2020) 122:1769–81. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-0824-8
- 290. Toscan CE, Failes T, Arndt GM, Lock RB. High-throughput screening of human leukemia xenografts to identify dexamethasone sensitizers. *J Biomol Screen*. (2014) 19:1391–401. doi: 10.1177/1087057114546550

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Olivas-Aguirre, Torres-López, Pottosin and Dobrovinskaya. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

